JORGENSEN EARLE M CO /DE/ Form S-4/A December 22, 2004 Table of Contents

As filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on December 22, 2004

Registration No. 333-111882

SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION

WASHINGTON, D.C. 20549

AMENDMENT NO. 2 TO

FORM S-4

REGISTRATION STATEMENT

UNDER

THE SECURITIES ACT OF 1933

EARLE M. JORGENSEN COMPANY

(Exact name of Registrant as specified in its charter)

Delaware (State or other jurisdiction of

5051 (Primary Standard Industrial 95-0886610 (I.R.S. Employer

incorporation or organization)

Classification Code Number)

Identification Number)

10650 Alameda Street

Lynwood, California 90262

(323) 567-1122

(Address and telephone number of registrant s principal executive offices)

William S. Johnson

Vice President, Chief Financial Officer and Secretary

Earle M. Jorgensen Company

10650 Alameda Street

Lynwood, California 90262

(323) 567-1122

(Name, address and telephone number of agent for service)

Copy to:

Mark A. Conley, Esq.

Katten Muchin Zavis Rosenman

2029 Century Park East, Suite 2600

Los Angeles, CA 90067

Approximate date of commencement of proposed sale to the public: As soon as practicable after this registration statement becomes effective and the effective time of the merger of Earle M. Jorgensen Holding Company, Inc. with and into EMJ Metals LLC, a wholly owned subsidiary of the Registrant, as described in the Agreement and Plan of Merger and Reorganization, dated as of December 17, 2004, included as Annex A to the proxy statement/prospectus forming a part of this registration statement.

If the securities being registered on this form are to be offered in connection with the formation of a holding company and there is compliance with General Instruction G, check the following box.

If this form is filed to register additional securities for an offering pursuant to Rule 462(b) under the Securities Act, check the following box and list the Securities Act registration statement number of the earlier effective registration statement for the same offering.

If this form is a post-effective amendment filed pursuant to Rule 462(d) under the Securities Act, check the following box and list the Securities Act registration statement number of the earlier effective registration statement for the same offering.

CALCULATION OF REGISTRATION FEE

Title of Each Class of	Amount to be				
Securities to be Registered	Registered (1)	Proposed Maximum Offering Price Per Share	Proposed Maximum Aggregate Offering Price (2)	Amount of Registration Fee	
Common Stock, \$0.001 par					
value	40,063,466 shares	N/A	-\$147,387,628	\$	0.00*

- * \$9,389.24 of this registration fee was previously paid. No additional registration fee is now due in connection with the filing of this second amendment.
- (1) Represents the maximum number of shares of common stock, \$0.001 par value per share, of the Registrant that may be issued in connection with the merger described herein, if the price of a share of Earle M. Jorgensen Company common stock is \$5.00 per share, the lowest price permitted by the merger agreement, and the gross proceeds of the offering are \$250,000,000.
- (2) Estimated solely for the purposes of calculating the registration fee required by the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, pursuant to Rule 457(f)(2) under the Securities Act, as (A) one third of the sum of (i) the aggregate par value of the issued and outstanding Earle M. Jorgensen Holding Company, Inc. capital stock to be exchanged in connection with the merger, plus the shares of such capital stock issuable in respect of the warrants of the Earle M. Jorgensen Holding Company, Inc. to be exchanged in connection with the merger, which had an aggregate par value of \$142,799.16 as of November 30, 2004, the latest practicable date prior to the date of filing of this registration statement, and (ii) the principal amount of Earle M. Jorgensen Holding Company, Inc. s indebtedness, which was \$257,069,318.15, as of November 30, 2004, the latest practicable date prior to the date of filing of this registration statement, to be exchanged in connection with the merger less (B) the amount of cash to be paid by the Registrant to the security holders of Earle M. Jorgensen Company in connection with the merger which is expected to total \$233,125,000. Earle M. Jorgensen Holding Company, Inc. is a privately held corporation with no market for its securities and an accumulated deficit.

The information in this proxy statement/prospectus is not complete and may be changed. We may not sell these securities until the Registration Statement filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission (the Commission) of which this proxy statement/prospectus is a part is effective. This proxy statement/prospectus is not an offer to sell these securities, and we are not soliciting offers to buy these securities, in any state where the offer or sale is not permitted. The Registrant hereby amends this Registration Statement on such date or dates as may be necessary to delay its effective date until the Registrant shall file a further amendment which specifically states that this Registration Statement shall thereafter become effective in accordance with Section 8(a) of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, or until this Registration Statement shall become effective on such date as the Commission, acting pursuant to said Section 8(a), may determine.

Earle M. Jorgensen Holding Company, Inc.

10650 Alameda Street

Lynwood, California 90262

, 2005

Dear Stockholder:

We cordially invite you to attend a special meeting of stockholders of Earle M. Jorgensen Holding Company, Inc. The meeting will be held on , 2005, at a.m., Time, at . At the special meeting, you will be asked to consider and vote on an Agreement and Plan of Merger and Reorganization, dated as of December 17, 2004, among Earle M. Jorgensen Holding Company, Inc., or Holding, Earle M. Jorgensen Company, or EMJ, and EMJ Metals LLC, a newly formed wholly owned subsidiary of EMJ. The merger and associated financial restructuring would change our capital structure as follows:

each share of Holding s common stock will convert into one share of EMJ s common stock;

each share of Holding s series A preferred stock will convert into a combination of cash and shares of EMJ s common stock equal to \$816.68; and

each share of Holding s series B preferred stock will convert into a combination of cash and shares of EMJ s common stock equal to the series B preferred stock liquidation value of \$1,000 per share.

Concurrently with and subject to completion of the merger, Kelso Investment Associates IV, L.P., or KIA IV, a controlling stockholder of Holding, has agreed to exchange all of their Holding notes, plus accrued interest through September 29, 2004, for a combination of cash and shares of EMJ s common stock, and all of their warrants to purchase Holding common stock for shares of EMJ common stock.

Concurrently with the merger and financial restructuring, EMJ expects to consummate an initial public offering of its common stock. The price of the EMJ common stock issued in the public offering will establish its value as consideration in the merger and financial restructuring and the net cash proceeds of the public offering will be used to pay the cash portion of the consideration for the Holding notes, series A preferred stock and series B preferred stock. If you hold Holding notes or preferred stock, the exact number of shares of EMJ common stock and the exact amount of cash that you will receive will be determined by the initial public offering price of EMJ common stock and the amount of net proceeds received by EMJ in the public offering. Consummation of the merger and financial restructuring is conditioned on completion of the public offering.

Approval of the merger and financial restructuring requires the affirmative vote of a majority of (a) all issued and outstanding shares of Holding common stock and series B preferred stock, voting together as a class; (b) all issued and outstanding shares of Holding common stock and series B preferred stock, voting together as a class, but excluding the shares of such stock held by KIA IV and its affiliates; (c) all issued and outstanding shares of series A preferred stock, voting separately as a class; and (d) all issued and outstanding shares of series A preferred stock, voting separately as a class, but excluding the shares of series A preferred stock held by affiliates of KIA IV. KIA IV and its affiliates have agreed to vote all of the Holding stock owned by them in favor of the merger and financial restructuring.

Our board of directors unanimously adopted and approved the merger agreement and the merger and financial restructuring and recommends that you vote for approval of the merger agreement and the merger and financial restructuring. Some of our directors have potential conflicts of interest arising from their relationship with KIA IV and its affiliates that are more fully described in Summary Interests of Certain Persons in Matters to be Acted Upon at page 5 and Certain Relationships and Related Transactions at page 139 of the attached proxy statement/prospectus.

The attached proxy statement/prospectus provides you with detailed information about the merger and financial restructuring and the special meeting. Please carefully review the entire proxy statement/prospectus, including the matters discussed under Risk Factors beginning on page 21 of the attached proxy statement/prospectus, before voting.

Your vote is important. Whether or not you plan to attend the special meeting, please complete, sign and return your proxy as soon as possible in the enclosed, postage prepaid (if mailed within the United States of America), self-addressed return envelope prior to the special meeting so that your shares will be represented at the special meeting. If you have any questions, or need assistance in voting your proxy, you may call William S. Johnson, our corporate secretary, at (323) 567-1122.

David M. Roderick Maurice S. Nelson, Jr.

Chairman of the Board President and Chief Executive Officer and

Chief Operating Officer

Neither the Securities and Exchange Commission nor any state securities commission has approved or disapproved of the securities to be offered pursuant to this proxy statement/prospectus or passed upon the adequacy or accuracy of this proxy statement/prospectus. Any representation to the contrary is a criminal offense.

This proxy statement/prospectus is dated , 2005, and is first being mailed to stockholders on or about , 2005.

Earle M. Jorgensen Holding Company, Inc.

10650 Alameda Street

Lynwood, California 90262

NOTICE OF SPECIAL MEETING OF STOCKHOLDERS

TO BE HELD ON . 2005

We will hold a special meeting of stockholders of Earle M. Jorgensen Holding Company, Inc., or Holding, on , 2005 at a.m., Time, at . The purpose of the special meeting is to allow you to consider and vote on a proposal to adopt and approve an Agreement and Plan of Merger and Reorganization, or merger agreement, dated as of December 17, 2004, by and among Earle M. Jorgensen Holding Company, Inc., Earle M. Jorgensen Company, or EMJ, and EMJ Metals LLC, a newly formed, wholly owned subsidiary of EMJ, pursuant to which Holding will merge with and into EMJ Metals LLC, with EMJ Metals LLC as the survivor. A copy of the merger agreement is attached to this proxy statement/prospectus as Annex A.

The accompanying proxy statement/prospectus describes the proposed merger, the merger agreement and related matters in more detail. We encourage you to read the entire document carefully. In particular, you should carefully consider the discussion entitled Risk Factors beginning on page 21. The proxy statement/prospectus sets forth certain appraisal rights that may exist in the event the proposed merger is approved.

The board of directors of Holding set , 2005 as the record date for the special meeting. As a result, holders of record of Holding s series A preferred stock, series B preferred stock and common stock at the close of business on , 2005 are entitled to notice of, and to vote with respect to, all matters applicable to such classes of securities to be acted upon at the special meeting or any adjournment or postponement thereof. A complete list of such stockholders will be available at the headquarters of Holding at 10650 Alameda Street, Lynwood, California 90262, for examination by any stockholder of Holding, for any purpose related to this special meeting, during normal business hours for a period of ten days prior to this special meeting.

All stockholders are cordially invited to attend the special meeting in person. However, whether or not you plan to attend the special meeting in person, each stockholder is urged to complete, sign, date and return the enclosed proxy card(s) in the envelope provided as soon as possible. The proxy card requires no postage if mailed in the United States in the enclosed, self-addressed return envelope. You may revoke your proxy in the manner described in the accompanying proxy statement/prospectus at any time before the proxy has been voted at the special meeting, including by attending the meeting and voting your shares in person.

Your vote is important. If you fail to vote, this will have certain results. If you own shares directly, your failure to vote those shares or an abstention will have the same effect as a vote against the merger and financial restructuring. If you are a participant in the stock bonus plan and your capital stock has been allocated to a rollover account and you fail to direct the plan s trustee as to how those shares are to be voted, the trustee will not vote those shares. This will also have the same effect as a vote against the merger and financial restructuring. If you are a participant in the stock bonus plan and your capital stock has not been allocated to a rollover account and you fail to direct the plan s trustee as to how those shares are to be voted, the trustee will vote those shares at the direction of the benefits committee in favor of the merger and financial restructuring.

You should not send Holding stock certificates with your proxy card. After completion of the merger, the exchange/paying agent will send you written instructions for exchanging Holding stock certificates for cash and/or EMJ stock certificates.

By order of the Board of Directors

William S. Johnson

VICE PRESIDENT, CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER

AND SECRETARY

Lynwood, California

, 2005

TABLE OF CONTENTS

<u>QUESTIONS AND ANSWERS REGARDING THE MERGER AND FINANCIAL RESTRUCTURING</u>	QA-1
ADDITIONAL SUMMARY INFORMATION	1
About the Companies	2
Earle M. Jorgensen Company	2
Earle M. Jorgensen Holding Company, Inc.	2
EMJ Metals LLC	3
Comparison of Stockholder Rights	3
The Special Meeting	5
Solicitation of Proxies and Expenses	5
Interests of Certain Persons in Matters to be Acted Upon	5
Conditions to Completion of the Merger Under the Merger Agreement	7
<u>Options</u>	8
Public Offering Bonus	8
Effective Time of Merger and Financial Restructuring	8
Termination of the Merger Agreement	8
Appraisal Rights	9
Accounting Treatment	9
SUMMARY CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL AND OTHER DATA OF EMJ	10
SUMMARY CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL AND OTHER DATA OF HOLDING	13
UNAUDITED PRO FORMA CONDENSED COMBINED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS	16
RISK FACTORS	21
Risks relating to the merger and financial restructuring	21
Risks relating to receiving our common stock as part of the merger and exchange consideration	23
Risks relating to our business	27
Risks relating to our indebtedness	32
THE AMENDED CONSENT ORDER	34
THE MERGER AND FINANCIAL RESTRUCTURING	36
The Background of the Merger and Financial Restructuring	36
Recommendation of the Special Committee	48
Recommendation of the Board of Directors	51
Opinion of Wachovia Capital Markets, LLC to the Special Committee of Earle M. Jorgensen Holding Company, Inc.	53
Opinion of Duff & Phelps, LLC to the Benefits Committee of Earle M. Jorgensen Holding Company, Inc.	59

i

Table	of	Contents

THE SPECIAL MEETING	67
Date, Time and Place of the Special Meeting	67
Purpose of the Special Meeting	67
Record Date, Shares Entitled to Vote and Voting Power	67
Quorum and Vote Required	67
Participants in Holding s Stock Bonus Plan	68
Proxies, Voting and Revocation	68
Solicitation of Proxies and Expenses	69
MATERIAL PROVISIONS OF THE MERGER AGREEMENT AND EXCHANGE AGREEMENT	70
Background	70
The Merger	70
Closing of the Merger and Financial Restructuring; Effective Time	70
Consideration to be Received in the Merger	70
Procedures for Exchanging Holding Capital Stock	71
Treatment of Options	71
Directors and Officers	71
Representations and Warranties	71
Conduct of Business Before the Merger	72
Conditions to the Completion of the Merger Under the Merger Agreement	73
Termination of the Merger Agreement	75
<u>Expenses</u>	75
Amendment or Waiver of the Merger Agreement	75
The Exchange Agreement	76
Appraisal Rights	77
Federal Securities Law Consequences	80
Lock-up Agreements	81
Transfer Restriction Agreements	81
DESCRIPTION OF OUR CAPITAL STOCK, CERTIFICATE OF INCORPORATION AND BYLAWS	82
Common Stock	82
Preferred Stock	83
Anti-Takeover Effects of Certificate of Incorporation, Bylaw, Indenture and Domestic Credit Facility Provisions	83
Limitation Of Liability and Indemnification Matters	84
Transfer Agent and Registrar	84
Listing	84
Regulation M	84
Stock Bonus Plan	85
	05

Table	e of	Con	tents
-------	------	-----	-------

COMPARISON OF SECURITIES AND STOCKHOLDER RIGHTS	87
ACCOUNTING TREATMENT	95
FEDERAL INCOME TAX CONSEQUENCES	95
Material Federal Income Tax Consequences	95
Holding Common Stock: Receipt of EMJ Common Stock	96
Series A Preferred Stock and Series B Preferred Stock: Receipt of Cash and EMJ Common Stock	96
Possible Treatment of Cash as a Dividend	97
Cash Received in Lieu of a Fractional Share of EMJ Common Stock	98
Effect of Possible Alternative Characterization	98
Information Reporting and Backup Withholding	98
MANAGEMENT S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS OF EMJ	99
<u>Overview</u>	99
Revenues Control of the Control of t	100
Cost of Sales	100
Gross Profit	100
Expenses	100
Company Owned Life Insurance	100
Segment Segmen	101
Critical Accounting Policies	101
Results of Operations	103
Quarterly Results of Operations	110
Liquidity and Capital Resources	110
Contractual Obligations	112
Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements	112
Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk	113
Recent Accounting Developments	113
MANAGEMENT S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS OF	
HOLDING	115
General Control of the Control of th	115
BUSINESS	116
Industry Overview	116
Competitive Strengths	117
Operating and Growth Strategy	118
Products And Suppliers	119
Customers and Markets	120
<u>Competition</u>	121

iii

Ta	abl	le	of	Coi	ntents

Information Management Systems	121
Intellectual Property and Licenses	121
<u>Employees</u>	121
<u>Properties</u>	122
Foreign Operations	123
Health and Safety Regulations	123
Environmental Matters	123
Legal Proceedings	124
MANAGEMENT .	127
Executive Officers and Directors	127
Board of Directors	129
Committees of the Board of Directors	129
Director Compensation	130
Compensation Committee Interlocks and Insider Participation	131
Executive Compensation	132
Option Grants in Fiscal 2004	133
Fiscal 2004 Option Values	133
Fiscal Year-End Stock Option Values	133
Holding Stock Option Plan	133
Stock Incentive Plan	134
Stock Bonus Plan	134
Supplemental Plan	135
Management Incentive Compensation Plan	135
Public Offering Bonus Plan	135
SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS AND MANAGEMENT	136
Our Common Stock	136
Capital Stock of Holding	136
CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACTIONS	139
<u>Kelso</u>	139
Maurice S. Nelson, Jr., EMJ s Chief Executive Officer	140
Messrs. Roderick, Marquard, Rutledge and Mason	141
<u>Holding</u>	141
LEGAL MATTERS	141
EXPERTS	141
WHERE YOU CAN FIND ADDITIONAL INFORMATION ABOUT US	142
INDEX TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS	F-1

LIST OF ANNEXES

Annex A Agreement and Plan of Merger and Reorganization

Annex B Exchange Agreement

Annex C Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation of EMJ

Annex D Amended and Restated Bylaws of EMJ

Annex E Amended and Restated Charter of the Audit Committee

Annex F Opinion of Wachovia Capital Markets, LLC

Annex G Opinion of Duff & Phelps, LLC

Annex H Section 262 of the Delaware General Corporation Law

You should rely only on the information contained in this document or to which we have referred you. We have not authorized anyone to provide you with information that is different. This document may only be used where it is legal to sell these securities. The information in this document may only be accurate on the date of this document.

V

OUESTIONS AND ANSWERS REGARDING THE MERGER AND FINANCIAL RESTRUCTURING

O: WHAT AM I BEING ASKED TO VOTE ON AT THE MEETING?

A: Earle M. Jorgensen Holding Company, Inc., or Holding, has entered into an agreement and plan of merger and reorganization, or merger agreement, with Earle M. Jorgensen Company, or EMJ, and EMJ Metals LLC, a newly formed wholly owned subsidiary of EMJ. Holding has also entered into an exchange agreement with EMJ, Kelso Investment Associates, L.P., or KIA, Kelso Equity Partners II, L.P., or KP II, KIA III Earle M. Jorgensen, L.P., or KIA III, and Kelso Investment Associates IV, L.P., or KIA IV. The merger agreement and the exchange agreement set forth the terms of the proposed merger and associated financial restructuring. A copy of each of the merger agreement and exchange agreement is attached to this proxy statement/prospectus as Annex A and Annex B, respectively. For a description of each, see Material Provisions of the Merger Agreement and Exchange Agreement.

The purpose of the special meeting to be held on , 2005 is to allow the stockholders of Holding to consider and vote on a proposal to adopt and approve the merger agreement and the merger and financial restructuring. You are receiving these materials in connection with Holding s solicitation of proxies for the special meeting and because this document is also EMJ s prospectus for the shares of common stock that it will issue in the merger and financial restructuring.

Q: HOW WILL THE MERGER AND FINANCIAL RESTRUCTURING RELATE TO THE CONCURRENT INITIAL PUBLIC OFFERING OF EMJ COMMON STOCK?

A: Concurrently with the merger and financial restructuring, EMJ expects to consummate its initial public offering of shares of its common stock. As reflected in EMJ s preliminary prospectus dated , 2005, relating to the EMJ public offering, EMJ currently expects to sell shares in the public offering and receive net proceeds of approximately \$ at an assumed public offering price of \$ per share, the mid-point of the range described on the cover of the preliminary prospectus. See Q: HOW WILL THE MERGER CONSIDERATION AND THE CONSIDERATION TO BE ISSUED IN EXCHANGE FOR THE HOLDING NOTES BE DETERMINED? The net proceeds of the offering will be allocated to the payment of the cash portion of the exchange consideration of the Holding notes and the cash portion of the merger consideration of the series A preferred stock and the series B preferred stock.

Completion of the merger and financial restructuring is conditioned upon (1) consummation of the public offering of EMJ common stock at a public offering price that is not less than \$5.00 and (2) the offering resulting in at least \$100 million of net proceeds to EMJ. The closing of the public offering is conditioned upon, and will occur on the same day as, the closing of the merger and financial restructuring.

Q: WHAT IS THE RECOMMENDATION OF THE SPECIAL COMMITTEE AND HOLDING S BOARD OF DIRECTORS?

A: A special committee of Holding s board of directors, consisting of Messrs. Mason and Nelson, has unanimously approved the merger agreement and the merger and financial restructuring and unanimously recommended that Holding s board of directors approve the merger agreement and the merger and financial restructuring. Holding s board of directors unanimously adopted and approved the merger agreement and the merger and financial restructuring and recommended that its stockholders vote FOR the approval of the merger agreement and the merger and financial restructuring.

QA-1

O: WHY WAS THE SPECIAL COMMITTEE FORMED?

A: The special committee was formed because of potential conflicts of interest arising from the relationship of certain directors of Holding with Kelso and its affiliates. As of November 30, 2004, KIA IV, the other Kelso funds and Kelso affiliates, including one of our directors, held 8,259,799 shares of Holding common stock, which represented 73.4% of the issued and outstanding shares of Holding common stock, and 24,519 shares of series A preferred stock, which represented 40.9% of the issued and outstanding shares of series A preferred stock. As of November 30, 2004, KIA IV also held approximately \$257.1 million of the Holding notes (including accrued but unpaid interest through September 29, 2004) and warrants to purchase 2,937,915 shares of Holding common stock, which represented all of the outstanding Holding notes and all of the outstanding Holding warrants. Kelso designates five of seven Holding and EMJ directors, two of whom are also principals of Kelso; and Kelso provides financial advisory services to Holding and EMJ for a fee and reimbursement of expenses. Such relationships make Kelso and its affiliates interested parties in the proposed transaction. To eliminate the effects of potential conflicts of interest arising from the interests of Kelso and its affiliates in evaluating, negotiating and recommending strategic alternatives to Holding s board of directors, including a possible financial restructuring, Holding s board of directors formed the special committee, composed of two disinterested directors who are not affiliated with Kelso. See Interests of Certain Persons in Matters to be Acted Upon beginning at page 5.

Q: WHY IS HOLDING S BOARD OF DIRECTORS RECOMMENDING THAT I VOTE FOR THE MERGER?

A: Holding s board of directors believes that the merger and financial restructuring is in the best interests of Holding and its stockholders for the following reasons:

The merger and financial restructuring and the public offering, which is a condition to closing the merger and financial restructuring, will result in

the conversion of all outstanding Holding notes, including interest accrued through September 29, 2004, valued at approximately \$257.1 million, into EMJ common stock and cash, which will stop the accretion of interest at the rate of 18% per annum (currently resulting in interest accruals of approximately \$48.9 million per year) that adversely affects the value of each class of capital stock owned by Holding s stockholders;

the conversion of all shares of series A preferred stock issued and outstanding as of November 30, 2004, valued at \$49.0 million in the aggregate (including dividends accrued through September 29, 2004), and all shares of series B preferred stock issued and outstanding as of November 30, 2004, valued at \$28.7 million in the aggregate (including dividends accrued through September 29, 2004), into shares of EMJ common stock and cash, which will stop the accretion of dividends at rates of 18% and 15½% per annum, respectively (currently resulting in dividend accruals of approximately \$11.2 million per year in the aggregate), that adversely affects the value of the Holding common stock;

the elimination of the liquidation preference of Holding s indebtedness relative to Holding s capital stock and the elimination of the liquidation preference of Holding s preferred stock relative to Holding s common stock;

simplification of Holding s capital structure;

the receipt by the holders of the series A preferred stock of cash for % of their existing investment, assuming the public offering results in \$ of net proceeds to EMJ (as set forth under Use of Proceeds in the public offering preliminary prospectus); and

the receipt by the holders of the series B preferred stock of cash for public offering results in \$ of net proceeds to EMJ.

% of their existing investment, assuming the

QA-2

Table of Contents

The merger and financial restructuring and concurrent initial public offering of EMJ common stock represents the most attractive currently obtainable value for Holding s preferred and common stockholders (other than Kelso and its affiliates) as a whole.

The merger and financial restructuring will result in a capital structure that will provide greater long-term value for the holders of Holding s capital stock than the existing capital structure because of the elimination of accreting interest payments and dividend payments that would increasingly adversely affect the equity value of Holding and the elimination of preferences that could adversely affect the allocation of the proceeds of sale or liquidation to the holders of the series A preferred stock, the series B preferred stock and the Holding common stock.

No strategic transaction alternative likely to be available now or in the immediate future would result in equal or better compensation to Holding s stockholders, other than Kelso and its affiliates, after providing for the repayment of the Holding notes.

Upon completion of the merger and financial restructuring and the public offering, EMJ will have greater flexibility to pursue capital markets alternatives and strategic alternatives that are not currently available.

The holders of the series A and series B preferred stock will receive a portion of their merger consideration in cash and, therefore, will be able to diversify a portion of their investments in the securities of Holding.

Completion of the merger and financial restructuring and public offering transactions will provide the holders of Holding s capital stock, other than Kelso and its affiliates, more liquidity in their investments in EMJ.

For more detail see the recommendations of the special committee and Holding s board of directors beginning on pages 48 and 51, respectively.

Q: WHAT WILL HAPPEN AS A RESULT OF THE MERGER AND FINANCIAL RESTRUCTURING?

A: As a result of the merger and financial restructuring, Holding and EMJ Metals, LLC, a wholly owned subsidiary of EMJ, will be combined, Holding will cease to exist as the parent company of EMJ, and Holding security holders will become the stockholders of EMJ. Holding currently has four different securities (other than warrants and options to purchase its common stock) outstanding:

Holding notes that bear interest at 18% per annum compounded semiannually and have priority over all of the other securities of Holding on liquidation;

series A preferred stock that is entitled to a cumulative annual dividend of 18% and has priority over the series B preferred stock and common stock of Holding on liquidation;

series B preferred stock that is entitled to cumulative quarterly dividends of 15½% per annum and has priority over Holding common stock on liquidation; and

common stock that does not pay dividends and is the lowest ranking security of Holding on liquidation.

As a result of the merger and financial restructuring, each owner of Holding securities (other than common stock) will receive cash and common stock of EMJ in exchange for his, her or its Holding securities, and EMJ will have only one class of securities issued and outstanding. Common stock of Holding will be converted into EMJ common stock on a one-for-one basis.

QA-3

Table of Contents

Q: WHAT WILL I RECEIVE IN THE MERGER?

A: Each share of Holding s common stock will be converted into one share of EMJ s common stock. Assuming that the public offering price is s, the mid-point of the range described on the cover of the public offering preliminary prospectus, and the net proceeds of the public offering applied to payment of the cash portion of the merger and exchange consideration are s (as set forth under Use of Proceeds in the preliminary prospectus), in the merger and financial restructuring:

each share of series A preferred stock will be converted into \$\ in cash and \quad shares of EMJ s common stock based on a per share price equal to \$816.68, which is equal to the appraised value as of March 31, 2004, including accumulated and unpaid dividends from April 1, 2004 through September 29, 2004; and

each share of series B preferred stock will be converted into \$\ in cash and \ shares of EMJ s common stock based on a per share price of \$1,000, which is equal to the liquidation value of each share of series B preferred stock (all accumulated dividends have been paid in-kind through September 29, 2004).

A change in the public offering price from the assumed price will affect the number of shares of EMJ common stock received in exchange for each share of series A preferred stock and series B preferred stock. See Q: HOW WILL THE PUBLIC OFFERING PRICE OF THE EMJ COMMON STOCK AFFECT THE MERGER CONSIDERATION? A change in the net proceeds of the public offering will affect the amount of cash and the number of shares of EMJ common stock received in exchange for each share of series A preferred stock and series B preferred stock. See Q: HOW WILL THE AMOUNT OF NET PROCEEDS OF THE PUBLIC OFFERING AFFECT THE MERGER CONSIDERATION?

Q: WHAT ARE THE OTHER COMPONENTS OF THE MERGER AND FINANCIAL RESTRUCTURING?

A: Assuming that the public offering price is \$, the mid-point of the range described on the cover of the public offering preliminary prospectus, and the net proceeds of the public offering applied to payment of the cash portion of the merger and exchange consideration are \$ (as set forth under Use of Proceeds in the preliminary prospectus), the merger and financial restructuring also provides that:

Holding s indebtedness will be exchanged for an aggregate of \$\) in cash and shares of EMJ s common stock;

the outstanding warrants to purchase shares of Holding common stock will be exchanged for shares of EMJ s common stock;

the obligations of Holding to issue 3,053,662 shares of common stock under the outstanding Holding stock option agreements will be assumed by EMJ. Upon exercise of such options, EMJ will be obligated to issue an equal number of shares of its common stock at the same exercise price and on the same terms and conditions as provided in the Holding stock option agreements and stock option plan;

EMJ will establish a new stock incentive plan with shares of its common stock available for issuance equal to 5% of the total number of shares of EMJ common stock expected to be issued and outstanding upon consummation of the merger and financial restructuring and public offering. (See Management Stock Incentive Plan at page 133); and

as soon as practicable after, and conditioned upon consummation of, the public offering, EMJ has committed to pay a taxable bonus to its employees on the closing date who are also participants in the stock bonus plan in an aggregate amount of \$7.5 million, to be allocated to such employees in the

QA-4

Table of Contents

proportion that the number of shares of Holding common stock allocated to an employee s stock bonus plan account on December 16, 2004 bears to the aggregate number of shares of Holding common stock allocated to the stock bonus plan accounts of all such employees, which bonus is expected to be approximately \$3.27 per share of Holding common stock.

Q: HOW WILL THE MERGER CONSIDERATION AND THE CONSIDERATION TO BE ISSUED IN EXCHANGE FOR THE HOLDING NOTES BE DETERMINED?

A: Concurrently with the merger and financial restructuring, EMJ expects to consummate an initial public offering of its common stock. The price of a share of EMJ common stock in the public offering will be used in calculating the number of shares of EMJ common stock to be issued as merger consideration and exchange consideration. For the purpose of this proxy statement/prospectus, we have assumed that the public offering price of the EMJ common stock will be \$, the mid-point of the range described on the cover of the public offering preliminary prospectus, and that the net proceeds of the public offering applied to the payment of the cash portion of the merger and exchange consideration are \$ (as set forth under Use of Proceeds in the preliminary prospectus).

Upon completion of the public offering and except as described below with respect to the underwriters over-allotment option, all of the net proceeds of the public offering will be applied pro rata to the payment of the Holding notes, the series A preferred stock and the series B preferred stock in the proportion that their respective amounts bear to the aggregate value of the Holding notes, issued and outstanding as of November 30, 2004 (including interest accrued through September 29, 2004), and the series A preferred stock and the series B preferred stock, issued and outstanding as of November 30, 2004 (including dividends accreted through September 29, 2004). The aggregate value of the series A preferred stock outstanding as of November 30, 2004 was \$49.0 million, the aggregate value of the series B preferred stock outstanding as of November 30, 2004 was \$28.7 million and the aggregate value of the Holding notes as of November 30, 2004 (including accrued interest and dividends through September 29, 2004) was \$257.1 million. Accordingly, approximately 14.6% of the assumed net proceeds will be applied to the series A preferred stock, 8.6% of the assumed net proceeds will be applied to the Holding notes. The balance of the respective values of the series A preferred stock, the series B preferred stock and the Holding notes outstanding as of November 30, 2004 will be converted into or exchanged for EMJ common stock at the public offering price.

The underwriters in the public offering have the option to purchase up to an additional shares of common stock from EMJ at the public offering price within 30 days after consummation of the public offering to cover over-allotments. Net proceeds, if any, from the exercise of such option will be applied to the payment of the Holding notes in lieu of the issuance of shares of EMJ common stock. Unless otherwise noted, the disclosure in this proxy statement/prospectus does not reflect the underwriters exercise of their over-allotment option.

Q: HOW WILL THE PUBLIC OFFERING PRICE OF THE EMJ COMMON STOCK AFFECT THE MERGER CONSIDERATION?

A: We have assumed for purposes of the disclosure in this proxy statement/prospectus that the public offering price will be \$ per share of EMJ common stock, the mid-point of the range described on the cover of the public offering preliminary prospectus. The actual public offering price will be determined when the public offering is priced, which is expected to occur soon after the special meeting. If the public offering price is greater than \$, the holders of the series A preferred stock, the series B preferred stock and the Holding notes will receive fewer shares of EMJ common stock for their Holding securities. If the public offering price is less than \$, the holders of the series A preferred stock, the series B preferred stock and the Holding notes will receive more shares of EMJ common stock for their Holding securities.

QA-5

The completion of the merger and financial restructuring is conditioned upon (1) the simultaneous completion of the public offering at a public offering price that is not less than \$5.00 and (2) the public offering resulting in at least \$100 million of net proceeds to EMJ.

The following table illustrates how the public offering price will affect the number of shares issued to the Holding security holders, assuming that the net proceeds of the offering are \$\frac{\text{million}}{\text{million}}\$ in the preliminary prospectus). For purposes of the following table, we have assumed the following four different potential public offering price scenarios: (1) \$\frac{\text{per share}}{\text{the low end of the range described on the cover of the preliminary prospectus, (2) \$\frac{\text{per share}}{\text{the mid-point of the range described on the cover of the preliminary prospectus, and (4) \$5.00 per share, the lowest price permitted under the merger agreement.

Shares of EMJ Common Stock Issued in the Merger and Financial Restructuring

		Per Share Merger Consideration		EMJ Common Stock Ownership			
		Shares of EMJ Common Stock	Cash	Aggregate Shares Issued	Shares Issued to Employees(1)	Employees % Ownership(2)	
Offering price of \$ Common stock Series A preferred stock Series B preferred stock Holding notes	per share	1.00					
Offering price of \$ Common stock Series A preferred stock Series B preferred stock Holding notes	per share	1.00					
Offering price of \$ Common stock Series A preferred stock Series B preferred stock Holding notes	per share	1.00					
Offering price of \$5.00 per Common stock Series A preferred stock Series B preferred stock Holding notes	r share	1.00					

⁽¹⁾ Represents shares of EMJ common stock expected to be issued directly to employees and to the stock bonus plan for Holding capital stock.

⁽²⁾ Employee percentage ownership was calculated based on the number of shares of EMJ common stock expected to be outstanding upon completion of the merger and financial restructuring and the public offering. The number of shares of EMJ common stock issued does not include 3,053,662 shares of EMJ common stock issuable upon the exercise of stock options that are expected to be outstanding at closing and 2,496,703 shares of EMJ common stock that are reserved for issuance to the stock bonus plan pursuant to Holding s obligation to make a special contribution to the stock bonus plan.

Q: HOW WILL THE AMOUNT OF NET PROCEEDS OF THE PUBLIC OFFERING AFFECT THE MERGER CONSIDERATION?

A: We have assumed for purposes of the disclosure in this proxy statement/prospectus that the public offering will yield net proceeds of \$ (as set forth under Use of Proceeds in the public offering preliminary prospectus), based on a public offering price of \$, the mid-point of the range described on the cover of the public offering preliminary prospectus and shares of EMJ common stock being sold in the public offering, as described on the cover of the public offering preliminary prospectus. If the net proceeds are greater than \$, we will pay more cash and, if the public offering price is the same as the mid-point of the range set forth on the cover of the preliminary prospectus, issue fewer shares to the holders of the series A preferred stock, the series B preferred stock and the Holding notes. Conversely, if the net proceeds are less than \$, we will pay less cash and, if the public offering price is the same as the mid-point of the range set forth on the cover of the preliminary prospectus, issue more shares to the holders of the series A preferred stock, the series B preferred stock and Holding notes.

The following table illustrates how the changes in the net proceeds of the public offering will affect the number of shares issued to the Holding security holders, assuming that the price at which shares are sold in the offering is \$. For purposes of the following table, we have assumed four different potential scenarios, for the net proceeds received by EMJ in the public offering: (1) \$ of net proceeds, the estimated net proceeds as set forth under Use of Proceeds in the preliminary prospectus, (2) \$100 million of net proceeds, the minimum net proceeds required by the merger agreement, (3) \$ million of net proceeds, and (4) \$ million of net proceeds.

Shares of EMJ Common Stock to be Issued in the Merger and Financial Restructuring

	Per Share Merger Consideration		EMJ Common Stock Ownership			
	Shares of EMJ Common Stock	Cash	Aggregate Shares Issued	Shares Issued to Employees(1)	Employees % Ownership(2)	
Net Proceeds of \$						
Common stock	1.00					
Series A preferred stock						
Series B preferred stock						
Holding notes						
Net Proceeds of \$100 million						
Common stock	1.00					
Series A preferred stock						
Series B preferred stock						
Holding notes						
Net Proceeds of \$						
Common stock	1.00					
Series A preferred stock						
Series B preferred stock						
Holding Notes						
Net Proceeds of \$						
Common stock	1.00					
Series A preferred stock						
Series B preferred stock						
Holding Notes						

(1) Represents shares of EMJ common stock expected to be issued directly to employees and to the stock bonus plan for Holding capital stock.

QA-7

Table of Contents

(2) Employee percentage ownership was calculated based on the number of shares of EMJ common stock expected to be outstanding upon completion of the merger and financial restructuring and the public offering. The number of shares of EMJ common stock issued does not include 3,053,662 shares of EMJ common stock issuable upon the exercise of stock options that are expected to be outstanding at closing and 2,496,703 shares of EMJ common stock that are reserved for issuance to the stock bonus plan pursuant to Holding s obligation to make a special contribution to the stock bonus plan.

Q: HOW WILL SHARES OF EMJ COMMON STOCK BE VALUED FOLLOWING THE MERGER AND FINANCIAL RESTRUCTURING?

A: Following the consummation of the merger and financial restructuring and the public offering, the value of shares of EMJ common stock will be established by trading on the New York Stock Exchange. All of the shares of EMJ common stock issued in connection with the merger and financial restructuring and the public offering will be registered under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, or the Securities Act, in accordance with this registration statement and the registration statement on Form S-1 filed in connection with the public offering and listed for trading on the New York Stock Exchange under the trading symbol JOR. This means the shares issued pursuant to the merger and financial restructuring and public offering transactions will be freely tradable without restriction or further registration under the Securities Act, unless held by an affiliate as that term is defined in Rule 144 under the Securities Act or subject to the terms of certain lock-up agreements, transfer restriction agreements or restrictions on transfer contained in the stock bonus plan. See Material Provisions of the Merger Agreement and Exchange Agreement Federal Securities Law Consequences at page 80, Lock-up Agreements at page 81, Transfer Restriction Agreements at page 81, Comparison of Securities and Stockholder Rights at page 87 and Stock Bonus Plan at page 85. The underwriters in the public offering have informed us that they intend to make a market in EMJ common stock. Notwithstanding, the underwriters are not obliged to make a market in EMJ common stock and any market-making may be discontinued at anytime without prior notice. Therefore, an active trading market for EMJ common stock may not develop or, if it does develop, may not continue. As a result, the market price for EMJ common stock, as well as your ability to sell EMJ common stock, could be adversely affected. Therefore, you should not view the public offering price as any indication of the prices that will prevail in the trading market.

Following the completion of the public offering, EMJ will cease obtaining appraisals for its common stock.

Pursuant to Section 262 of the Delaware General Corporation Law, any holder of any class of Holding capital stock that does not wish to accept the merger consideration may dissent from the merger and financial restructuring and elect to have the fair value of such stockholder s shares of Holding capital stock (exclusive of any element of value arising from the accomplishment or expectation of the merger and financial restructuring) judicially determined and paid to the stockholder in cash, together with the fair rate of interest. See Q: WHAT RIGHTS DO I HAVE IF I OPPOSE THE MERGER AND FINANCIAL RESTRUCTURING at page QA-12.

Q: WHO IS ELIGIBLE TO VOTE ON THE MERGER AND FINANCIAL RESTRUCTURING?

A: Each holder of record of the common stock, series A preferred stock and series B preferred stock of Holding as of date, is eligible to vote. Each such holder will have one vote for each share of capital stock owned by him, her or it. Holding s stock bonus plan is the record owner of certain shares of common stock, series A preferred stock and series B preferred stock. Each participant in Holding s stock bonus plan will be entitled to instruct the trustee of the stock bonus plan how to vote the shares of Holding common stock, series A preferred stock and series B preferred stock allocated to the participant s account.

Q: HOW DO I VOTE ON THE MERGER AND FINANCIAL RESTRUCTURING?

A: If you own your shares of Holding capital stock directly (i.e., not through the stock bonus plan), you may use the enclosed proxy card to vote. Just indicate on your proxy card how you want to vote, sign your proxy card

QA-8

Table of Contents

and mail it in the enclosed postage-paid envelope as soon as possible so that your shares of capital stock will be represented at the special meeting. You may attend the special meeting and vote your shares of capital stock in person, rather than voting by proxy.

Shares of series A preferred stock, series B preferred stock and/or common stock represented at the special meeting by properly executed proxies received prior to or at the special meeting, and not revoked, will be voted at the special meeting, and at any adjournments or postponements of that meeting, in accordance with the instructions on those proxies. If a proxy is duly executed and submitted without voting instructions, the shares of series A preferred stock, series B preferred stock and/or common stock represented by that proxy will be voted FOR the approval of the merger agreement and the merger and financial restructuring.

If you are a participant in Holding s stock bonus plan, you are entitled to direct the trustee as to how to vote the capital stock of Holding held in your stock bonus plan account. You have been provided with an instruction card to instruct the trustee how to vote. You should indicate on your instruction card how you want your shares to be voted and mail the instruction card in the enclosed postage paid envelope to the trustee of Holding s stock bonus plan. It must be received by the trustee not later than five days prior to the special meeting.

Q: WHAT VOTE IS REQUIRED TO APPROVE THE MERGER AND FINANCIAL RESTRUCTURING?

A: The approval of the merger and financial restructuring will require:

the approval of a majority of the shares of Holding s issued and outstanding common stock and series B preferred stock, voting together as a class;

the approval of a majority of the shares of Holding sissued and outstanding series A preferred stock, voting separately as a class;

the approval of a majority of the shares of Holding s issued and outstanding common stock and series B preferred stock, voting together as a class, but excluding shares of such stock owned by Kelso and its affiliates; and

the approval of a majority of the shares of Holding s issued and outstanding series A preferred stock, voting separately as a class, but excluding shares of such stock owned by Kelso and its affiliates.

As of November 30, 2004, Kelso and its affiliates held an aggregate of 8,259,799 shares of Holding s common stock, which represented 73.4% of Holding s issued and outstanding shares of Holding common stock and 61.9% of Holding s issued and outstanding common stock and series B preferred stock, and KIA held 24,519 shares of Holding s series A preferred stock, which represented 40.9% of issued and outstanding series A preferred stock. Each of the Kelso affiliates has agreed to vote all of the Holding common stock and series A preferred stock owned by it in favor of the merger and financial restructuring, so, as a practical matter, the determination of whether or not the merger and financial restructuring is approved will turn on the vote of the stockholders other than Kelso and its affiliates.

Q: WHAT IF I DO NOT CAST A VOTE?

A: If you own shares directly, the failure to vote those shares or an abstention will have the same effect as a vote against the merger and financial restructuring.

If you are a participant in the stock bonus plan and your capital stock has been allocated to a rollover account and you fail to direct the trustee as to how those shares are to be voted, the trustee will not vote those shares. This will have the same effect as a vote against the merger and financial restructuring.

If you are a participant in the stock bonus plan and your capital stock has not been allocated to a rollover account and you fail to direct the trustee as to how those shares are to be voted, the trustee will vote those shares at the direction of the benefits committee in favor of the merger and financial restructuring.

QA-9

Table of Contents

Q: HOW CAN I CHANGE MY VOTE?

A: If you own your shares directly, you may revoke your proxy. A proxy may be revoked by the person who executed it at, or before, the special meeting by: (1) delivering to Holding s corporate secretary a written notice of revocation of a previously-delivered proxy bearing a later date than the proxy; (2) duly executing, dating and delivering to Holding s corporate secretary a subsequent proxy; or (3) attending the special meeting and voting in person. Attendance at the special meeting will not, in and of itself, constitute revocation of a proxy.

If you are a participant in Holding s stock bonus plan, you must notify the trustee of Holding s stock bonus plan if you desire to change your vote, by submitting a new instruction card, which must be received by the trustee not later than five days prior to the special meeting. To get a new instruction card you must call Holding s corporate secretary, William S. Johnson, at (323) 567-1122.

Q: WHAT IF I RECEIVE MORE THAN ONE PROXY CARD?

A: This may mean your Holding shares are registered in different ways or are in more than one account. Please provide voting instructions for all proxy cards you receive to ensure that all of your Holding shares are voted at the special meeting.

Q: WHAT ARE THE PRINCIPAL NEGATIVE CONSEQUENCES OF THE MERGER AND FINANCIAL RESTRUCTURING?

A: As a result of the merger and financial restructuring and the public offering, Holding stockholders will lose certain rights and benefits that they currently have:

Series A preferred stockholders will lose:

the preference that they have over the series B preferred stock and the common stock with respect to dividends and the proceeds of liquidation, including a sale transaction;

the right to receive dividends at the rate of 18% per annum, which dividends are not paid on a current basis and can only be realized upon the exercise of put rights on termination of employment, diversification of a participant s account in accordance with the terms of the stock bonus plan or upon a liquidation, including a sale of Holding;

certain class voting rights which may enable the holders of a majority of the series A preferred stock to block a transaction, such as a sale transaction, that adversely affects their rights; and

the right of the holders of a majority of the series A preferred stock to elect one member of the Holding board of directors.

Series B stockholders will lose:

the preference that they have over the common stock with respect to dividends and proceeds of liquidation, including a sale transaction; and

the right to receive dividends at the current rate of 15½% per annum, which dividends are paid in additional shares of series B preferred stock and can only be realized upon the exercise of put rights on termination of employment, diversification of a participant s account in accordance with the terms of the stock bonus plan or upon a liquidation, including a sale of Holding.

Holders of common stock will suffer significant dilution of their voting power. In addition, upon consummation of the merger and financial restructuring and the public offering, the Holding stockholders agreement will terminate, including the right of the employee stockholders to appoint two members of the board of directors pursuant to that agreement.

QA-10

Table of Contents

For more detail see Risk Factors beginning on page 21 and Additional Summary Information Comparison of Stockholder Rights beginning on page 3.

Q: WHAT STEPS DID THE SPECIAL COMMITTEE AND HOLDING S BOARD OF DIRECTORS TAKE TO DETERMINE THAT THE PRICE PER SHARE I WILL RECEIVE IN THE PROPOSED MERGER AND FINANCIAL RESTRUCTURING IS FAIR TO ME FROM A FINANCIAL POINT OF VIEW?

A: The special committee engaged Wachovia Capital Markets, LLC, or Wachovia Securities, as its financial advisor to assist it in connection with a potential financial restructuring of Holding, and Wachovia Securities has provided a written opinion addressed to the special committee that, as of December 16, 2004, and subject to and based upon assumptions made, procedures followed, matters considered and limitations of the review undertaken, the aggregate consideration to be received by the stockholders of Holding, other than Kelso and its affiliates, in connection with the merger and financial restructuring pursuant to the merger agreement, is fair from a financial point of view to such stockholders of Holding. The fairness opinion of Wachovia Securities compares the value of the cash and new EMJ common stock to be received in the merger and financial restructuring to the value of the Holding common stock, series A preferred stock and series B preferred stock owned by the stockholders other than Kelso and its affiliates prior to consummation of the transaction. Wachovia Securities performed its valuation analysis in support of its fairness opinion as of December 16, 2004, using current financial information for Holding and EMJ and other available industry information. Delivery of an updated fairness opinion by Wachovia Securities immediately prior to closing, using current financial information of Holding and EMJ and other available industry information and reaching the same conclusion as to fairness of the transaction as the December 16, 2004 opinion, is a condition to closing that cannot be waived by Holding. For a more detailed discussion of the reasons for the determination of the special committee and Holding s board of directors see the discussions beginning on pages 48 and 51, respectively. For a more detailed discussion of the Wachovia Securities fairness opinion see the discussions beginning on pages 53.

Q: WHAT STEPS DID THE BENEFITS COMMITTEE TAKE ON BEHALF OF THE STOCK BONUS PLAN TO EVALUATE THE PROPOSED MERGER AND FINANCIAL RESTRUCTURING?

A: The benefits committee engaged Duff & Phelps, LLC, or Duff & Phelps, as its financial advisor to assist it in connection with a potential merger and financial restructuring of Holding, and Duff & Phelps has provided a written opinion addressed to the benefits committee that, as of December 16, 2004, and subject to and based upon assumptions made, procedures followed, matters considered and limitations of the review undertaken, (1) the aggregate consideration to be received by the stock bonus plan in connection with the merger and financial restructuring of Holding and its subsidiaries and the public offering is fair to the stock bonus plan and its participants from a financial point of view, and (2) the consideration to be received by the stock bonus plan pursuant to the merger agreement in exchange for the (a) series A preferred stock, (b) series B preferred stock and (c) Holding common stock, considered independently in each case, is not less than the respective fair market value of such securities. The fairness opinion of Duff & Phelps compares the value of the cash and new EMJ common stock to be received in the merger and financial restructuring to the value of each of the Holding securities owned by the stock bonus plan and the participants prior to the proposed transaction. Duff & Phelps performed its valuation analysis in support of its fairness opinion as of December 16, 2004, using current financial information for Holding and EMJ and other available industry information and reaching the same conclusion as to fairness of the transaction as the December 16, 2004 opinion, is a condition to closing that cannot be waived by Holding. For a more detailed discussion of the Duff & Phelps fairness opinion see the discussions beginning on page 59.

Based on all of the information available to them, including their familiarity with EMJ, its business, financial condition and prospects, the fairness opinion, presentation and analysis provided by Duff & Phelps and management s projections for EMJ s next fiscal year, the members of the benefits committee determined in good

QA-11

Table of Contents

faith that the stock bonus plan would receive not less than the fair market value for each class of Holding s equity securities converted into cash and/or EMJ common stock in the merger and financial restructuring.

Q: WHAT ARE THE TAX CONSEQUENCES OF THE MERGER AND FINANCIAL RESTRUCTURING TO ME?

A: If the merger is completed, the exchange of shares of Holding common stock by Holding stockholders in return for the EMJ common stock should generally be a nontaxable transaction for federal income tax purposes for Holding common stockholders. The exchange of series A preferred stock and series B preferred stock for cash and EMJ common stock will generally cause a Holding stockholder (other than the stock bonus plan) to recognize gain, if any, to the extent of the cash received but not a loss, for federal income tax purposes. To review the tax consequences of the merger and financial restructuring in greater detail, see Material Federal Income Tax Consequences beginning on page 95. Your tax consequences will depend on your personal situation. You should contact your own tax advisors for a full understanding of the applicable federal, state, local, foreign, and other tax consequences to you resulting from the merger and financial restructuring.

Q: WHAT RIGHTS DO I HAVE IF I OPPOSE THE MERGER AND FINANCIAL RESTRUCTURING?

A: In addition to voting against the merger and financial restructuring, under Section 262 of the Delaware General Corporation Law, any holder of any class or series of Holding capital stock who does not wish to accept the merger consideration may dissent from the merger and financial restructuring and elect to have the fair value of such stockholder s shares of Holding capital stock (exclusive of any element of value arising from the accomplishment or expectation of the merger and financial restructuring) judicially determined and paid to the stockholder in cash, together with the fair rate of interest, if any, provided that the stockholder complies with Section 262 of the Delaware General Corporation Law. A participant in the stock bonus plan who wishes to have the trustee exercise appraisal rights must request the trustee to exercise such rights on the participant s behalf if the participant elects to exercise such rights in lieu of voting for the merger and financial restructuring and receiving the applicable merger consideration. The trustee has advised us that when a participant requests the trustee to exercise appraisal rights, the trustee will exercise such rights. If, however, you have failed to perfect or have effectively withdrawn or lost your right to appraisal and payment under Delaware law, your shares will be deemed to have been converted, as of the effective time of the merger and financial restructuring, into the right to receive the merger consideration and your shares shall no longer be dissenting shares. The procedures for exercising dissenter s rights are described under Appraisal Rights on pages 77-80.

Q: WHEN DO YOU EXPECT THE MERGER AND FINANCIAL RESTRUCTURING TO BE COMPLETED?

A: We intend to complete the merger and financial restructuring as soon as possible after the special meeting and at the same time as completion of the public offering of EMJ common stock, which we expect will be three or four business days after the special meeting. However, because we do not know exactly when the public offering will be completed and because we must satisfy other conditions before we can close the merger and financial restructuring, we cannot predict exactly when we will close the merger and financial restructuring.

Q: IF THE MERGER AND FINANCIAL RESTRUCTURING IS COMPLETED, WHEN CAN I EXPECT TO RECEIVE THE MERGER CONSIDERATION FOR MY SHARES OF HOLDING STOCK?

A: Promptly after the merger and financial restructuring is completed, each record owner will receive detailed instructions from American Stock Transfer & Trust Company, the Company s exchange/paying agent, regarding the surrender of your stock certificates in exchange for the merger

consideration in the form of cash

QA-12

Table of Contents

and/or shares of EMJ common stock. You should not send your stock certificates to us or anyone else until you receive those detailed instructions. The stock bonus plan trustee will take all necessary action to exchange the share certificates issued in the name of the stock bonus plan.

Q: WHAT WILL HAPPEN TO MY SHARES OF HOLDING STOCK AFTER THE MERGER AND FINANCIAL RESTRUCTURING?

A: After completion of the merger and financial restructuring, each of your shares of Holding capital stock will represent solely the right to receive the applicable merger consideration in the form of cash and/or shares of EMJ s common stock. The EMJ common stock will be listed for trading on the New York Stock Exchange under the symbol JOR.

Q: HOW DOES THE AMENDED CONSENT ORDER AND RELEASE ENTERED INTO BY HOLDING, THE STOCK BONUS PLAN AND THE DEPARTMENT OF LABOR AFFECT THE MERGER AND FINANCIAL RESTRUCTURING?

A: Holding, the stock bonus plan and the United States Department of Labor, or DOL, agreed to amend the consent order and release and the amended consent order was entered on , 2004. Pursuant to the amended consent order, Holding is no longer required to use the appraisal methodology followed in the past by its appraisal firm in performing the annual appraisal for the stock bonus plan, and the Holding guaranty that certain shares of common stock held by the stock bonus plan will be repurchased at a price that is not less than \$4.25 per share has been reduced to \$2.15 per share. The amended consent order provides for termination of the floor price upon consummation of a transaction such as the merger and financial restructuring.

To offset the reduction in the appraised value of shares of Holding common stock that will result from the change in appraisal methodology, Holding committed to make contributions over the next two years to its stock bonus plan, a supplemental stock bonus plan and a special cash bonus plan. The aggregate economic effect of the Holding commitment is to issue and/or pay to each stock bonus plan participant 1.0817 additional shares of common stock (or, in certain cases where the participant is no longer employed by EMJ, its cash equivalent) with respect to each share of common stock held by the stock bonus plan. The compensating contributions will be made in the form of contributions of Holding common stock (or, after the merger and financial restructuring, EMJ common stock) to the stock bonus plan, the allocation of units (equivalent to a share of Holding common stock) to the accounts of certain employees in a supplemental stock bonus plan and the payment of cash bonuses to former employees of EMJ who still have shares of Holding common stock in the stock bonus plan, all in a manner that complies with the requirements of the Internal Revenue Code and the Employee Retirement Income Security Act of 1974, or ERISA.

Q: WHAT DO I NEED TO DO NOW?

A: This proxy statement/prospectus contains important information regarding the special meeting, the merger agreement and the merger and financial restructuring, as well as information about EMJ and Holding. It also contains important information about what Holding s board of directors and the special committee considered in approving the merger agreement and the merger and financial restructuring. We urge you to read this proxy statement/prospectus carefully, including its appendices, and vote your shares. You may also want to review the public offering preliminary prospectus. Please see Where You Can Find Additional Information About Us at page 142 for instructions if you wish to read and copy the registration statement on Form S-4 and all of its exhibits and schedules, which we filed with the Commission and which contains this proxy statement/prospectus; or if you wish to read and copy the registration statement on Form S-1 and all of its exhibits and schedules, which we filed with the Commission in connection with the public offering and which contains the public offering preliminary prospectus.

QA-13

WHO CAN HELP ANSWER YOUR QUESTIONS

If you would like additional copies of this document, or if you would like to ask any additional questions about the merger, you should contact:

Earle M. Jorgensen Company 10650 Alameda Street Lynwood, California 90262 (323) 567-1122 Attention: William S. Johnson Vice President, Chief Financial Officer and Secretary Katten Muchin Zavis Rosenman 2029 Century Park East, Suite 2600 Los Angeles, California 90067 (310) 788-4690 Attention: Mark A. Conley, Esq.

QA-14

ADDITIONAL SUMMARY INFORMATION

THIS SUMMARY HIGHLIGHTS ONLY SOME OF THE INFORMATION IN THIS PROXY STATEMENT/PROSPECTUS AND MAY NOT CONTAIN ALL OF THE INFORMATION THAT IS IMPORTANT TO YOU. WE URGE YOU TO READ CAREFULLY THE ENTIRE DOCUMENT AND OTHER DOCUMENTS ANNEXED TO OR REFERRED TO IN THIS DOCUMENT TO FULLY UNDERSTAND THE MERGER AND FINANCIAL RESTRUCTURING PROPOSAL. IN PARTICULAR, YOU SHOULD READ THE DOCUMENTS ATTACHED TO THIS PROXY STATEMENT/PROSPECTUS, INCLUDING THE MERGER AGREEMENT AND THE FORM OF THE EARLE M. JORGENSEN COMPANY S AMENDED AND RESTATED CERTIFICATE OF INCORPORATION, WHICH ARE ATTACHED AS ANNEX A AND ANNEX C, RESPECTIVELY.

In this	proxy	statement/	prospectus	, we may	refer to:	

Agreement and Plan of Merger and Reorganization, dated as of December 17, 2004,

among Holding, EMJ and EMJ Metals LLC

Exchange Agreement, dated as of December 17, 2004, among Holding, EMJ and the

Kelso funds

Earle M. Jorgensen Company, a Delaware corporation and wholly owned subsidiary of

Holding

Earle M. Jorgensen Holding Company, Inc., a Delaware corporation

Earle M. Jorgensen Holding Company, Inc. Stock Option Plan

EMJ Metals LLC, a Delaware limited liability company and wholly owned subsidiary of

EMJ, formed to effect the merger

Special Committee on Recapitalization of the Board of Directors of Earle M. Jorgensen

Holding Company, Inc.

Kelso & Company, L.P.

Kelso Investment Associates, L.P.

Kelso Equity Partners II, L.P.

Kelso Investment Associates III - Earle M. Jorgensen, L.P.

Kelso Investment Associates IV, L.P., the controlling stockholder of Holding and holder

of the Holding Debt

KIA, KEP II, KIA III and KIA IV collectively

Kelso Partners I, L.P. Kelso Partners III, L.P. Kelso Partners IV, L.P.

Holding s 13% Cumulative Preferred Stock, \$.01 par value Holding s Variable Rate Cumulative Preferred Stock, \$.01 par value

Earle M. Jorgensen Employee Stock Ownership Plan

Earle M. Jorgensen Employee Stock Ownership Plan

Preliminary prospectus of EMJ, dated as of

initial public offering of its common stock

Series A Variable Rate Notes issued by Holding to KIA IV, which are due on June 30,

2013

Securities and Exchange Commission

United States Department of Labor

United States Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended

as:

merger agreement

exchange agreement

we, us, our, EMJ or the Company

Holding

Holding s stock option plan or the

stock option plan

EMJ Metals LLC

special committee

Kelso

KIA KEP II

KIA III

KIA IV

Kelso funds

KP I KP III KP IV

series A preferred stock

series B preferred stock

Holding s stock bonus plan or the

lan

preliminary prospectus

Holding notes

Commission

Department of Labor or DOL Internal Revenue Code

1

, 2005, relating to EMJ s proposed

About the Companies

Earle M. Jorgensen Company

We are a leading distributor of metal bar and tubular products used by North American manufacturing companies and have been in business for over 80 years. We purchase over 25,000 different metal products in large quantities from primary producers, including a broad mix of carbon steel, stainless steel and aluminum bar, tubular and plate products. We sell these metal products in smaller quantities to over 35,000 customers spanning various industries, including machine tools, industrial equipment, transportation, fluid power, oil, gas and energy, fabricated metal, construction and agricultural equipment. We distribute our broad range of metal products and provide our customers value-added metal processing and inventory management services from our distribution network of 36 strategically located service and processing centers in the United States and Canada.

Our metal processing services consist of cutting to length, burning, sawing, honing, shearing, grinding, polishing and performing other similar services on most of the metal products we sell, all to customer specifications. As part of our inventory management services, we schedule deliveries in the quantities and at the times required by just-in-time manufacturing processes employed by a growing number of leading manufacturing companies and provide our customers with an on-time product delivery guarantee.

In the 12 months ended September 29, 2004, we had revenues of \$1,321.8 million, net income of \$59.9 million and EBITDA of \$138.0 million. EBITDA is defined and discussed in footnote 4 under the heading Summary Consolidated Financial and Other Data. During fiscal 2004 and the first six months of fiscal 2005, we handled approximately 7,900 and 8,200 sales transactions per business day, respectively, at an average sale price of approximately \$520 and \$730 per transaction, respectively.

During the past several years, we have focused our management efforts on automating and reconfiguring our facilities to increase workflow, enhancing our information management systems to improve customer service, and streamlining our management structure, reducing headcount and decreasing corporate overhead to reduce costs. We believe that our efficient operating structure enables us to achieve gross profit per employee levels that are considerably higher than those of our major competitors. From the end of fiscal 1998 to the end of fiscal 2004, we reduced our total headcount by approximately 27% to 1,616 employees. During the same time period, we increased our tons shipped per employee by approximately 65% to 407 in fiscal 2004 and EBITDA per employee by approximately 70% to \$49,604 in fiscal 2004, based on the average number of employees in the applicable fiscal year.

We were formed on May 3, 1990, when affiliates of Kelso & Company, a private investment firm, acquired control of and combined two leading metals distributors, Earle M. Jorgensen Company (founded in 1921) and Kilsby-Roberts Holding Co. (successor to C.A. Roberts Company, founded in 1915). In connection with the combination of these two companies, we became a wholly owned subsidiary of Earle M. Jorgensen Holding Company, Inc., or Holding.

Our principal executive offices are located at 10650 Alameda Street, Lynwood, California 90262, and our telephone number is (323) 567-1122.

Earle M. Jorgensen Holding Company, Inc.

Holding was formed in 1990 to be our parent company. Holding has no operations and no significant assets other than EMJ common stock. Holding has three classes of outstanding capital stock: common stock, series A preferred stock and series B preferred stock. As of November 30, 2004, KIA IV, the other Kelso funds and other Kelso affiliates, including one of our directors, held 8,259,799 shares of Holding common stock, which represented 73.4% of the issued and outstanding shares of Holding common stock, and 24,519 shares of Holding

2

Table of Contents

series A preferred stock, which represented 40.9% of the issued and outstanding shares of Holding series A preferred stock. As of November 30, 2004, KIA IV also held approximately \$257.1 million of the Holding notes (including accrued but unpaid interest through September 29, 2004) and warrants to purchase 2,937,915 shares of Holding common stock, which represented all of the outstanding notes and all of the outstanding Holding warrants. After the merger and financial restructuring, Holding will cease to exist and the noteholder and stockholders of Holding will become stockholders of EMJ. Holding is located at 10650 Alameda Street, Lynwood, California 90262. Its telephone number is (323) 567-1122.

EM.I Metals LLC

EMJ Metals LLC was formed as a wholly owned subsidiary of EMJ in order to effect the merger. Prior to the merger and financial restructuring, EMJ Metals LLC will have no assets or operations other than incident to its formation. After the merger and financial restructuring, EMJ Metals LLC will continue to be a subsidiary of EMJ. EMJ has no plans to contribute assets to EMJ Metals LLC or conduct any of its business through EMJ Metals LLC. EMJ Metals LLC is located at 10650 Alameda Street, Lynwood, California 90262. Its telephone number is (323) 567-1122.

Comparison of Securities and Stockholder Rights (Page 87)

Holding currently has three classes of equity securities the series A preferred stock, the series B preferred stock and common stock. The Holding capital stock is subordinate to approximately \$257.1 million of indebtedness represented by the Holding notes.

As a result of the merger and financial restructuring, all of Holding s securities will be converted into or exchanged for cash and/or common stock of EMJ. The holders of all of Holding s capital stock will benefit from the elimination of accruing interest on the Holding notes at the rate of 18% per annum, compounding semiannually, and the elimination of the first right of the holders of the Holding notes to receive the proceeds of any sale or liquidation of Holding or EMJ.

As a result of the merger and financial restructuring, the former holders of the series A preferred stock will no longer be entitled to

a fixed dividend of 18% per annum;

a preference upon liquidation over series B preferred stock and common stock;

the right to elect one member to the board of directors because dividends have not been paid; and

the right to a class vote on certain transactions such as a merger or sale of Holding and changes to the terms of the series A preferred stock that would have adversely affected their rights.

However, the former holders of the series A preferred, as holders of EMJ common stock after the merger and financial restructuring, will receive the following additional benefits:

the right to directly participate in the increase (or decrease) in the equity value of EMJ, together with other holders of EMJ common stock; and

more liquidity with respect to shares of EMJ common stock held by the stock bonus plan and shares of EMJ common stock that are owned directly than they had with the series A preferred stock, subject to restrictions imposed by Rules 144 and 145 of the Securities Act, applicable lock-up agreements, transfer restriction agreements and limitations on the ability of participants to transfer shares of employer stock held in the stock bonus plan. See Material Provisions of the Merger Agreement and Exchange Agreement Federal Securities Law Consequences at page 80, Lock-up Agreements at page 81, Transfer Restriction Agreements at page 81, Comparison of Securities and Stockholder Rights at page 87 and Stock Bonus Plan at page 85.

3

Table of Contents

The holders of the series A preferred stock will also receive cash for a portion of their investment, giving them the opportunity to diversify their savings into alternative investments other than EMJ capital stock if they wish.

As a result of the merger and financial restructuring, the former holders of the series B preferred stock will no longer be entitled to

a fixed dividend of 15 1/2% per annum; and

a preference upon liquidation over the common stock.

The former holders of series B preferred stock, as holders of EMJ common stock after the merger and financial restructuring, will receive the following benefits:

the right to directly participate in any increase (or decrease) in the equity value of EMJ, together with the other holders of common stock; and

more liquidity with respect to shares of EMJ common stock held by the stock bonus plan and shares of EMJ common stock that are owned directly than they had with the series B preferred stock, subject to restrictions imposed by Rules 144 and 145 of the Securities Act, applicable lock-up agreements, transfer restriction agreements and limitations on the ability of participants to transfer shares of employer stock held in the stock bonus plan. See Material Provisions of the Merger Agreement and Exchange Agreement Federal Securities Law Consequences at page 80, Comparison of Securities and Stockholder Rights at page 87 and Stock Bonus Plan at page 85.

The holders of series B preferred stock will also receive cash for a portion of their investment, giving them the opportunity to diversify their savings into alternative investments other than EMJ capital stock if they wish.

The former holders of Holding common stock will have essentially the same rights after the merger and financial restructuring as they have currently, except that they will have more liquidity with respect to shares of EMJ common stock held by the stock bonus plan and shares of EMJ common stock that are owned directly than they had with the shares of Holding common stock, subject to restrictions imposed by Rules 144 and 145 of the Securities Act, applicable lock-up agreements and transfer restriction agreements and limitations on the ability of participants to transfer shares of employer stock held in the stock bonus plan. See Material Provisions of the Merger Agreement and Exchange Agreement - Federal Securities Law Consequences at page 80, Lock-up Agreements at page 81, Transfer Restriction Agreements at page 81, Comparison of Securities and Stockholder Rights at page 87 and Stock Bonus Plan at page 85.

In addition to transfer restrictions under securities laws and a lack of a trading market, the shares of series A preferred stock, series B preferred stock and Holding common stock currently held by EMJ employees can only be sold after termination of employment or in limited quantities after age 55 pursuant to the diversification provisions of the stock bonus plan. While the limitations on the ability of participants to transfer shares of employer stock held in the stock bonus plan are expected to continue after the completion of the merger and financial restructuring and the public offering, EMJ will amend the stock bonus plan effective at the closing of the merger and financial restructuring to increase the ability of participants to diversify the investment in EMJ common stock in their accounts. See Stock Bonus Plan at page 85.

Notwithstanding that EMJ common stock will have substantially the same rights as Holding s common stock, because the number of shares of our common stock outstanding following the merger and financial restructuring will be significantly greater than the number of shares of Holding common stock currently outstanding, the percentage share ownership held by holders of Holding common stock will decrease. In addition, upon consummation of the merger and financial restructuring and the public offering, the Holding stockholders

4

Table of Contents

agreement will be terminated and the employee stockholders will no longer have the right to designate two members of the board of directors. For a more detailed discussion, see the section of this proxy statement/ prospectus entitled Risk Factors The voting power of the existing holders of common stock of Holding will be diluted significantly.

The Special Meeting (Page 67)

A special meeting of stockholders of Holding will be held on , 2005, at a.m., Time, at

Solicitation of Proxies and Expenses

Neither Holding nor EMJ has engaged the services of a proxy solicitor. We intend to use the services of our officers and employees to solicit proxies on behalf of Holding, none of whom shall receive additional compensation for doing so. The cost of solicitation of proxies on behalf of Holding will be borne by us.

Interests of Certain Persons in Matters to be Acted Upon

Certain of Holding s stockholders, directors, executive officers and employees have interests in the merger and financial restructuring that are different from, or in addition to, the interests that apply to our stockholders generally, and that may be regarded as significant in evaluating the merger and financial restructuring proposal.

As of November 30, 2004, KIA IV, the other Kelso funds and Kelso affiliates, including Mr. Nickell, one of our directors, held 8,259,799 shares of Holding common stock, which represented 73.4% of the issued and outstanding shares of Holding common stock, and 24,519 shares of Holding series A preferred stock, which represented 40.9% of the issued and outstanding shares of Holding series A preferred stock. The Kelso funds have agreed to vote all of the Holding capital stock owned by them in favor of the merger agreement and the merger described above. As of November 30, 2004, KIA IV also held approximately \$257.1 million of the Holding notes (including accrued but unpaid interest through September 29, 2004) and warrants to purchase 2,937,915 shares of Holding common stock, which represented all of the outstanding Holding notes and all of the outstanding Holding warrants. Upon consummation of the merger and financial restructuring and the public offering, the Kelso funds will own shares of our common stock, representing % of our issued and outstanding common stock, and receive in cash, assuming a public offering price of \$ per share, the mid-point of the range shown on the cover of the public offering preliminary prospectus, and net proceeds of the public offering of \$ (as set forth under Use of Proceeds in the public offering preliminary prospectus).

In connection with the formation of EMJ, we agreed to pay Kelso an annual fee of \$1,250,000 for financial advisory services and to reimburse it for out-of-pocket expenses incurred in connection with rendering these services. Kelso waived this annual fee for fiscal years 2000, 2001, 2002, 2003 and 2004. Amounts paid to Kelso in fiscal years 2000, 2001, 2002, 2003 and 2004 for reimbursement of expenses incurred by directors designated by KIA IV in attending our board meetings were not significant. No amounts have been paid to date in fiscal 2005 to Kelso pursuant to this agreement. We have agreed to pay Kelso a fee of \$6,250,000 to terminate EMJ s obligation to pay fees to Kelso under its financial advisory agreement with Kelso. Kelso s obligation to provide advisory services and our obligations with respect to the reimbursement of expenses and indemnification of Kelso will survive.

Two of our directors, Messrs. Nickell and Wahrhaftig, are general partners of partnerships that control KIA IV and KIA III, Kelso affiliates that collectively hold a substantial portion of Holding s common stock, all of Holding s indebtedness and the warrants to purchase Holding common stock as described above. Mr. Nickell

5

Table of Contents

is also the general partner of a partnership that controls the Kelso affiliate that owns 24,519 shares of Holding s series A preferred stock. Such relationships, particularly the relationship with KIA IV, the owner of Holding s indebtedness, constitute interests that conflict with the interests of other stockholders of Holding.

Each of Messrs. Roderick, Marquard and Rutledge is one of the nominees of Kelso on our board of directors and beneficially owns shares of Holding common stock as set forth in Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management. Mr. Roderick is a member of the board of directors of Kelso & Companies, Inc. and in the past served on the board of directors of other Kelso portfolio companies including, American Standard, Inc., a former Kelso portfolio company. Mr. Roderick received annual fees of \$70,000 in 2001, 2002 and 2003 for his service as a director of Kelso & Companies, Inc. Mr. Marquard is a member of the board of directors of Kelso & Companies, Inc. and until July 2004, was a director and Chairman of the Board of Directors of Arkansas Best Corporation, a former Kelso portfolio company. He also was the Chairman of the Board of American Standard, Inc. and a director of Mosler, Inc. during Kelso s ownership. Mr. Marquard received annual fees of \$140,000 in 2001, 2002 and 2003 for his service as a director of Kelso & Companies, Inc. Kelso & Companies, Inc. is the general partner of Kelso which is a private investment firm that manages Kelso investment funds like KIA III and KIA IV. Messrs. Roderick, Marquard and Rutledge have invested in Kelso transactions in the future.

Maurice S. Nelson, Jr. is President and Chief Executive Officer of EMJ and Holding and a member of the special committee and the boards of directors of EMJ and Holding. EMJ has paid Mr. Nelson a one time bonus of \$3.5 million for his services to EMJ in 2004, including, without limitation, his efforts to improve the operating performance of EMJ and his efforts to implement the merger and financial restructuring and the public offering. In addition, on December 16, 2004, Holding agreed to pay Mr. Nelson a cash payment of \$3,006,000 (equal to the difference between the appraised value of the Holding common stock as of March 31, 2004 of \$13.76 and the exercise price of \$5.41 per share) in consideration of the cancellation of options to purchase 360,000 shares of Holding common stock. Concurrently with the amendment of the consent order and after the buyout of Mr. Nelson s options, Holding amended its stock option plan to adjust the exercise price and the number of shares of Holding common stock that can be purchased pursuant to each option grant to offset the reduction in the appraised value of the Holding common stock resulting from the change in valuation methodology required by the amended consent order. As a result of this change, Mr. Nelson s options to purchase 960,000 shares of Holding common stock at \$5.41 per share were converted into options to purchase 1,693,538 shares of Holding s common stock at an exercise price of \$3.07 per share. In connection with the merger and financial restructuring, all of the issued and outstanding options to purchase shares of Holding common stock will be converted into options to purchase an equal number of shares of EMJ common stock at the same exercise price.

After giving effect to the amendment to the Holding stock option plan, Messrs. Roderick, Marquard and Rutledge hold options to purchase 176,410, 70,564 and 70,564 shares of Holding common stock, respectively, at weighted-average exercise prices of \$3.32, \$3.39 and \$3.39, respectively. Upon consummation of the merger and financial restructuring, the options held by Messrs. Roderick, Marquard and Rutledge will be converted into an equal number of options to purchase EMJ common stock at the same exercise prices as the Holding stock options held by each of them.

On December 16, 2004, Holding agreed to pay Mr. Roderick a bonus of \$202,640 as compensation for his service as chairman of the Holding and EMJ boards of directors.

Mr. Nelson has agreed with EMJ that he will continue to serve as President and Chief Executive Officer of EMJ until at least the second anniversary of the closing of the public offering and, for the same period, he will not sell any shares of EMJ common stock acquired by him upon conversion of Holding capital stock in the merger and financial restructuring or by the exercise of Holding stock options that were converted in the merger and financial restructuring or by the exercise of any options that may be granted to him under the new EMJ stock

incentive plan. In consideration of Mr. Nelson s agreement to continue his service as President and Chief Executive Officer of EMJ and compliance with the transfer restrictions described above, EMJ has agreed to pay Mr. Nelson a stay bonus of \$3,000,000 and to extend the exercise period of his outstanding stock options two years to January 31, 2009. See Certain Relationships and Related Transactions at page 139.

Conditions to Completion of the Merger Under the Merger Agreement (Page 73)

The completion of the merger and financial restructuring depends on the satisfaction of a number of conditions, including, but not limited to, the following:

entering of an amended consent order with respect to the litigation brought by the Department of Labor against Holding and the stock bonus plan, which was done on , 2004;

adoption of certain amendments to the stock bonus plan, a supplemental stock bonus plan and a cash bonus plan providing for the special contribution with respect to shares of Holding common stock held by the stock bonus plan, which was done on December 17, 2004;

execution and delivery of a transfer restriction agreement by the executive officers and members of senior management, as described under Transfer Restriction Agreements at page 81.

approval by the Holding board of directors of the price range of EMJ common stock to be set forth on the cover of the public offering preliminary prospectus;

approval of the merger agreement and the merger and financial restructuring by the holders of Holding s capital stock;

absence of any legal prohibition or restraint that would prevent consummation of the merger and financial restructuring;

absence of any stop order suspending the effectiveness of the registration statement of which this proxy statement/prospectus is a part;

stockholders of Holding shall not have exercised dissenter s rights with respect to more than five percent of the issued and outstanding shares of any class of the capital stock of Holding;

amendment and restatement of EMJ s certificate of incorporation;

receipt of consent and/or an amendment under our credit agreement;

receipt of updated fairness opinions from Wachovia Securities and Duff & Phelps as soon as practicable prior to the closing, in each case based on the current financial information of Holding and EMJ and other industry information then-available, and in each case stating the same conclusion as to fairness as the opinions delivered when the transaction was approved by the board of directors;

completion of the EMJ public offering at a price of not less than \$5.00 per share of EMJ common stock and resulting in not less than \$100 million of net proceeds to EMJ;

assumption by EMJ of all obligations of Holding with respect to the stock bonus plan, the supplemental stock bonus plan and a former employees bonus plan;

approval for listing of the shares of EMJ common stock to be issued in the merger and financial restructuring on the New York Stock Exchange subject to official notice of issuance; and

assumption by EMJ of all obligations of Holding with respect to the outstanding Holding stock options and written notice to each holder of Holding stock options of such assumption.

7

Options

Holding adopted the Earle M. Jorgensen Holding Company, Inc. Stock Option Plan, effective January 30, 1997, as amended, for the purpose of providing an equity incentive program for our employees and directors. Concurrently with the amendment of the consent order, Holding amended its stock option plan to offset the adverse effect on the value of the stock options because of the reduction in the appraised value of the Holding common stock resulting from the change in valuation methodology required by the amended consent order. Pursuant to the amendment, the number of shares of Holding common stock that could be purchased upon the exercise of Holding stock options was increased by a factor of 1.7641 and the exercise price of each outstanding stock option was reduced by multiplying the original exercise price by a factor of 0.5669. Holding also increased the number of shares reserved for issuance under the stock option plan to 4,000,000. At the effective time of the merger, each stock option issued by Holding under the stock option plan, whether vested or unvested, that is then outstanding and unexercised pursuant to the Holding stock option plan shall be assumed by us and become an option to purchase an equal number of shares of our common stock, at a per share exercise price equal to the exercise price of such Holding stock option. These options will be subject to the same vesting schedules as the Holding stock options.

In addition, EMJ has adopted a new stock incentive plan to become effective upon consummation of the merger and financial restructuring and the public offering. Shares of common stock will be available for issuance under EMJ s new stock incentive plan in an aggregate amount equal to 5% of the total number of shares of EMJ common stock issued and outstanding after giving effect to the consummation of the merger and financial restructuring and public offering. To date, no awards have been granted under EMJ s new stock incentive plan. (See Management Stock Incentive Plan at page 134.)

Public Offering Bonus

As soon as practicable after, and conditioned upon consummation of, the public offering, EMJ has committed to pay a taxable bonus to its employees on the closing date who are also participants in the stock bonus plan in an aggregate amount of \$7.5 million, to be allocated to such employees in the proportion that the number of shares of Holding common stock allocated to an employee s stock bonus plan account on December 16, 2004 bears to the aggregate number of shares of Holding common stock allocated to the stock bonus plan accounts of all such employees, which bonus is expected to be approximately \$3.27 per share of Holding common stock.

Effective Time of Merger and Financial Restructuring

The merger and financial restructuring will become effective as of the date and time specified in the merger agreement and otherwise in accordance with the Delaware General Corporation Law, which is expected to occur as soon as practicable after stockholder approval of the merger agreement and the merger and financial restructuring and the satisfaction or waiver of all other conditions to closing contained in the merger agreement and at the same time as closing of the public offering of EMJ s common stock.

Termination of the Merger Agreement (Page 75)

Holding may terminate the merger agreement, even after adoption by its stockholders, if its board of directors determines to do so by a majority vote.

Appraisal Rights (Page 77)

Holding s stockholders are entitled to appraisal rights under the Delaware General Corporation Law. EMJ may terminate the merger agreement and the merger and financial restructuring if the holders of more than 5% of the issued and outstanding shares of any class of Holding capital stock elect to exercise appraisal rights.

Accounting Treatment (Page 95)

For accounting purposes, our reorganization will be accounted for as a transfer of assets and exchange of shares between entities under common control. As such, the transaction will be accounted for in a manner similar to a pooling-of-interests. Accordingly, the financial position and results of operations of Holding will be included in our consolidated financial statements on a historical cost basis.

9

SUMMARY CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL AND OTHER DATA OF EMJ

The following table presents our summary consolidated financial and other data for the periods and as of the date presented below. We derived the data for the fiscal years ended March 31, 2002, 2003 and 2004 and as of March 31, 2003 and 2004 from our audited consolidated financial statements for those periods that are included in this proxy statement/prospectus. We derived the data for the fiscal years ended March 31, 2000 and 2001 and as of March 31, 2000, 2001 and 2002 from our audited consolidated financial statements for those periods that are not included in this proxy statement/prospectus. We derived the data for the six months ended September 29, 2003 and 2004 and as of September 29, 2004 from our unaudited consolidated financial statements for those periods that are included in this proxy statement/prospectus and, in the opinion of management, reflect all adjustments, consisting only of normal recurring accruals, necessary for a fair presentation of our results of operations and fiscal position for those periods and as of that date. Results for the six months ended September 29, 2004 are not necessarily indicative of results for the full fiscal year. We derived the data for the 12 months ended September 29, 2004 from our audited consolidated financial statements for the six months ended September 29, 2003 and 2004 that are included in this proxy statement/prospectus. You should read the following information along with Selected Consolidated Financial and Other Data, Management s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations and our consolidated financial statements and the related notes, each of which is included elsewhere in this proxy statements/prospectus.

EARLE M. JORGENSEN COMPANY

			Fiscal Year En	ded		Six Mont	ths Ended,		Twelve Months Ended
			March 31,			September 29,		September 29,	
	2000	2001	2002	2003	2004	2003	2004		2004
				(dollars	in thousands)	(unai	ıdited)	(u	ınaudited)
Statement of Operations Data:									
Revenues	\$ 938,252	\$ 1,059,68	\$ 895,058	\$ 919,927	\$ 1,040,367	\$ 469,516	\$ 750,906	\$	1,321,757
Costs of goods sold	662,803	767,26	641,991	658,562	754,266	338,414	534,803		950,655
Gross profit	275,449	292,41	8 253,067	261,365	286,101	131,102	216,103		371,102
Expenses(1)	208,058	228,54	204,713	210,277	216,629	100,870	128,744		244,503
Income from operations	67,391	63,87		51,088	69,472	30,232	87,359		126,599
Net interest expense(2)	41,595	44,85		47,206	51,093	25,210	26,433		52,316
Income before income taxes	25,796	19,02		3,882	18,379	5,022	60,926		74,283
Net income	23,987	17,79	5,354	2,382	15,252	4,045	48,647		59,854
Cash Flow Data:									
Capital expenditures	\$ 9,525	\$ 14,47	5 \$ 24,531	\$ 15,335	\$ 10,530	\$ 4,293	\$ 14,668	\$	20,905
Dividends paid(3)	13,372	5,51	4 14,963	35,587	5,781	71	123		5,833
Other Data (unaudited):									
EBITDA(4)	\$ 77,342	\$ 74,91	1 \$ 59,803	\$ 62,457	\$ 80,756	\$ 35,877	\$ 93,096	\$	137,975
COLI effect(5)	(717)	(2,37	(4) (1,738)	(1,752)	(561)	(207)	(2,303)		(2,657)
Revenues per employee(6)	484	51	7 496	539	639	285	455		811
EBITDA per employee(4)(6)	40	3	33	37	50	22	56		85
Average number of employees	1,938	2,05	1,805	1,706	1,628	1,647	1,650		1,629
Tons shipped	601,532	679,61	0 581,243	603,310	662,213	302,327	386,533		746,419

Sen	tember	29.	2004

	,	chousands)
Balance Sheet Data:		
Cash and cash equivalents	\$	11,557
Total working capital		208,155
Total assets		661,168
Long-term debt		345,537
Total debt		349,425
Total stockholders equity		11,648

- (1) Expenses include restructuring charges aggregating \$2,432, \$3,320, and \$1,861 for the fiscal years ended March 31, 2000, 2001 and 2002 in connection with workforce reductions and consolidations and losses from the sale of significant assets in those fiscal years and a special compensation charge of \$2,000 in connection with a payment to our chief executive officer in fiscal 2001.
- (2) Net interest expense includes amortization and write-off of debt issue costs aggregating \$1,482, \$1,482, \$1,792, \$1,416, \$1,323, \$661, \$660 and \$1,322 for the fiscal years ended March 31, 2000, 2001, 2002, 2003, 2004 and the six months ended September 29, 2003 and 2004 and the 12 months ended September 29, 2004, respectively, net of interest income of \$636, \$1,179, \$164, \$83, \$81, \$55, \$14 and \$40 for the fiscal years ended March 31, 2000, 2001, 2002, 2003, 2004 and the six months ended September 29, 2004, respectively.
- (3) Represents dividends paid to Holding in connection with the repurchase of its capital stock from terminated EMJ employees, as required by the terms of Holding s stockholders agreement and Holding s stock bonus plan. In fiscal 2003, we also paid a dividend to Holding of \$25,000 to be used to repay a portion of the Holding notes.
- EBITDA represents net income before net interest expense, provision for income taxes and depreciation and amortization. Consistent with Item 10(e) of Regulation S-K promulgated under the Securities Act, our EBITDA has not been adjusted to exclude any other non-cash charges or liabilities, such as LIFO adjustments of \$(9,022), \$887, \$590, \$(3,354), \$14,343, \$0, \$24,405 and \$38,748 and accruals for stock bonus plan contributions and postretirement benefits aggregating \$2,862, \$11, \$249, \$498, \$619, \$375, \$401 and \$645 for the fiscal years ended March 31, 2000, 2001, 2002, 2003 and 2004, the six months ended September 29, 2003 and 2004 and the 12 months ended September 29, 2004, respectively. In addition, our EBITDA has not been adjusted for the following items: provisions for workforce reductions and consolidations and losses from the sale of significant assets aggregating \$2,432, \$3,320 and \$1,861 for the fiscal years ended March 31, 2000, 2001 and 2002, respectively; special compensation of \$2,000 payable to our chief executive officer in fiscal 2001; excise tax of \$1,919 related to an IRS settlement in fiscal 2002; and a loss of \$12,278 related to early retirement of debt in fiscal 2003. We believe EBITDA is useful to investors because it is frequently used by securities analysts, investors and other interested parties in the evaluation of company performance in our industry. Our management believes that EBITDA is useful in evaluating our operating performance between periods and compared to that of our competitors because the calculation of EBITDA generally eliminates the effects of financing and income taxes and the accounting effects of capital spending and acquisitions, which items may vary between periods and for different companies for reasons unrelated to overall operating performance. As a result, our management uses EBITDA as a significant component when measuring our performance in connection with determining incentive compensation. EBITDA is not a recognized measure of operating income, financial performance or liquidity under U.S. generally accepted accounting principles. The items excluded from EBITDA are significant components in understanding and assessing financial performance. Therefore, while providing useful information, our EBITDA should not be considered in isolation or as a substitute for consolidated statement of operations and cash flows data prepared in accordance with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles and should not be construed as an indication of a company s operating performance or as a measure of liquidity. In addition, it should be noted that companies calculate EBITDA differently and, therefore, EBITDA as presented for us may not be comparable to EBITDA reported by other companies. A reconciliation of net income to EBITDA for each of the respective periods indicated is as follows:

		Fisc	cal Year Ei	ıded		Six M Enc		N	Fwelve Aonths Ended
		March 31,					ber 29,	September 29,	
	2000	2001	2002	2003	2004	2003	2004		2004
				(in	thousands)	(unaudited)		(unaudited)	
Reconciliation of EBITDA:						`	ĺ		ĺ
Net income	\$ 23,987	\$ 17,798	\$ 5,354	\$ 2,382	\$ 15,252	\$ 4,045	\$ 48,647	\$	59,854
Depreciation and amortization	9,951	11,035	11,449	11,369	11,284	5,645	5,737		11,376
Net interest expense	41,595	44,855	42,545	47,206	51,093	25,210	26,433		52,316
Provision for income taxes	1,809	1,223	455	1,500	3,127	977	12,279		14,429
EBITDA	\$ 77,342	\$ 74,911	\$ 59,803	\$ 62,457	\$ 80,756	\$35,877	\$ 93,096	\$	137,975

11

(5) We are the owner and beneficiary of life insurance policies on (1) all former non-union employees of a predecessor company, including certain current employees of EMJ, and (2) key man life insurance policies on certain current and former executives of EMJ. The effect of these company owned life insurance policies (COLI) on our pre-tax income consists of premium expense, policy dividend growth, and proceeds (death benefits) (which are reported as general and administrative expense) and policy interest expense on policy borrowings (which is reported as a component of interest expense). Under current U.S. federal tax law, the policy dividend growth is not currently taxable, the premium is non-deductible, the proceeds (death benefits) are tax exempt and the interest is deductible up to 96% of the contract rate.

						Six M	lonths	
		Fise	cal Year End March 31,		ded iber 29,	Twelve Months Ended September 29		
	2000	2001	2002	2003	2004	2003	2004	2004
				(in the	ousands)	(unau	dited)	(unaudited)
Calculation of COLI effect:						(022200	,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,	(22002200)
Cash surrender value policy dividend growth Cash surrender value insurance premium Proceeds (death benefits)	\$ 14,029 (2,101)	\$ 13,010 (2,217) 1,230	\$ 13,521 (2,325) 3,062	\$ 17,156 (2,866) 1,754	\$ 17,751 (3,081) 4,851	\$ 7,915 (1,824) 3,524	\$ 9,940 (1,808) 318	\$ 19,776 (3,065) 1,645
Trocceds (death benefits)		1,230	5,002	1,751	1,031	3,321		
Total operating income impact of COLI	11,928	12,023	14,258	16,044	19,521	9,615	8,450	18,356
Cash surrender value interest	(12,645)	(14,397)	(15,996)	(17,796)	(20,082)	(9,822)	(10,753)	(21,013)
Total pre-tax income impact of COLI	\$ (717)	\$ (2,374)	\$ (1,738)	\$ (1,752)	\$ (561)	\$ (207)	\$ (2,303)	\$ (2,657)

⁽⁶⁾ Calculated based on the average number of employees during the applicable period.

SUMMARY CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL AND OTHER DATA OF HOLDING

The following table presents Holding summary consolidated financial and other data for the periods and as of the date presented below. We derived the data for the fiscal years ended March 31, 2002, 2003 and 2004 and as of March 31, 2003 and 2004 from Holding s audited consolidated financial statements for those periods that are included in this proxy statement/prospectus. We derived the data for the fiscal years ended March 31, 2000 and 2001 and as of March 31, 2000, 2001 and 2002 from Holding s audited consolidated financial statements for those periods that are not included in this proxy statement/prospectus. We derived the data for the six months ended September 29, 2003 and 2004 and as of September 29, 2004 from Holding s unaudited consolidated financial statements for those periods that are included in this prospectus and, in the opinion of management, reflect all adjustments, consisting only of normal recurring accruals, necessary for a fair presentation of our results of operations and fiscal position for those periods and as of that date. Results for the six months ended September 29, 2004 are not necessarily indicative of results for the full fiscal year. We derived the data for the 12 months ended September 29, 2004 from Holding s audited consolidated financial statements for the fiscal year ended March 31, 2004 and Holding s unaudited consolidated financial statements for the six months ended September 29, 2003 and 2004 that are included in this proxy statement/prospectus. You should read the following information along with Selected Consolidated Financial and Other Data, Management s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations and Holding s consolidated financial statements and the related notes, each of which is included elsewhere in this proxy statement/prospectus.

EARLE M. JORGENSEN HOLDING COMPANY, INC.

		Year E	nded March	31, 2004		-	ths Ended aber 29,		Ended Ended otember 29,	
	2000	2001	2002	2003	2004	2003	2004		2004	
		(dol	llars in thousa	ınds)		(unau	ıdited)	(u	(unaudited)	
Statement of Operations Data:										
Revenues	\$ 938,252	\$ 1,059,681	\$ 895,058	\$ 919,927	\$ 1,040,367	\$ 469,516	\$ 750,906	\$	1,321,757	
Costs of goods sold	662,803	767,263	641,991	658,562	754,266	338,414	534,803		950,655	
Gross profit	275,449	292,418	253,067	261,365	286,101	131,102	216,103		371,102	
Expenses (1)	208,023	228,498	204,684	210,250	216,609	100,856	128,744		244,497	
Income from operations	67,426	63,920	48,383	51,115	69,492	30,246	87,359		126,605	
Net interest expense (2)	64,313	69,951	72,433	82,486	89,927	44,194	47,875		93,608	
Net income (loss)	1,304	(7,254)	(24,505)	(32,871)	(23,562)	(14,925)	27,205		18,568	
Cash Flow Data:										
Capital expenditures	\$ 9,525	\$ 14,475	\$ 24,531	\$ 15,335	\$ 10,530	\$ 4,293	\$ 14,668	\$	20,905	
Purchase of stock (3)	13,372	5,514	14,963	10,587	5,781	71	123		5,833	
Other Data (unaudited):										
EBITDA(4)	\$ 77,377	\$ 74,955	\$ 59,832	\$ 62,484	\$ 80,776	\$ 35,891	\$ 93,096	\$	137,981	
COLI effect (5)	(717)	(2,374)	(1,738)	(1,752)	(561)	(207)	(2,303)		(2,657)	
Revenues per employee (6)	484	517	496	539	639	285	455		811	
EBITDA per employee (4)(6)	40	37	33	37	50	22	56		85	
Average number of employees	1,938	2,051	1,805	1,706	1,628	1,647	1,650		1,629	
Tons shipped	601,532	679,610	581,243	603,310	662,213	302,327	386,533		746,419	

HOLDING

	(in t	tember 29, 2004 thousands) naudited)
Balance Sheet Data:		
Cash and cash equivalents	\$	11,592
Total working capital		203,257
Total assets		661,886
Long-term debt		591,419
Total debt		595,307
Total stockholders equity (deficit)		(239,379)

- (1) Expenses include restructuring charges aggregating \$2,432, \$3,320 and \$1,861 for the fiscal years ended March 31, 2000, 2001 and 2002 in connection with workforce reductions and consolidations and losses from the sale of significant assets in those fiscal years and a special compensation charge of \$2,000 in connection with a payment to our chief executive officer in fiscal 2001.
- (2) Net interest expense includes amortization and write-off of debt issue costs aggregating \$1,482, \$1,482, \$1,792, \$1,416, \$1,323, \$661, \$660 and \$1,322 for the fiscal years ended March 31, 2000, 2001, 2002, 2003, 2004 and the six months ended September 29, 2003 and 2004 and the 12 months ended September 29, 2004, respectively, net of interest income of \$505, \$1,179, \$164, \$394, \$159, \$133, \$14 and \$40 for the fiscal years ended March 31, 2000, 2001, 2002, 2003, 2004 and the six months ended September 29, 2004, respectively.
- (3) Represents the repurchase of capital stock from terminated EMJ employees, as required by the terms of Holding s stockholders agreement and Holding s stock bonus plan. In fiscal 2003, excludes cash payment made by EMJ to pay a dividend to Holding of \$25,000 in fiscal 2004 used to pay a portion of Holding s
- EBITDA represents net income before net interest expense, provision for income taxes and depreciation and amortization. Consistent with Item 10(e) of Regulation S-K promulgated under the Securities Act, our EBITDA has not been adjusted to exclude any other non-cash charges or liabilities, such as LIFO adjustments of \$(9,022), \$887, \$590, \$(3,354), \$14,343, \$0, \$24,405 and \$38,748 and accruals for stock bonus plan contributions and postretirement benefits aggregating \$2,862, \$11, \$249, \$498, \$619, \$375, \$401 and \$645 for the fiscal years ended March 31, 2000, 2001, 2002, 2003, 2004 and the six months ended September 29, 2003 and 2004 and the 12 months ended September 29, 2004, respectively. In addition, our EBITDA has not been adjusted for the following items: provisions for workforce reductions and consolidations and losses from the sale of significant assets aggregating \$2,432, \$3,320 and \$1,861 for the fiscal years ended March 31, 2000, 2001 and 2002, respectively; special compensation of \$2,000 payable to our chief executive officer in fiscal 2001; excise tax of \$1,919 related to an IRS settlement in fiscal 2002; and a loss of \$12,278 related to early retirement of debt in fiscal 2003. We believe EBITDA is useful to investors because it is frequently used by securities analysts, investors and other interested parties in the evaluation of company performance in our industry. Our management believes that EBITDA is useful in evaluating our operating performance between periods and compared to that of our competitors because the calculation of EBITDA generally eliminates the effects of financing and income taxes and the accounting effects of capital spending and acquisitions, which items may vary between periods and for different companies for reasons unrelated to overall operating performance. As a result, our management uses EBITDA as a significant component when measuring our performance in connection with determining incentive compensation. EBITDA is not a recognized measure of operating income, financial performance or liquidity under U.S. generally accepted accounting principles. The items excluded from EBITDA are significant components in understanding and assessing financial performance. Therefore, while providing useful information, our EBITDA should not be considered in isolation or as a substitute for consolidated statement of operations and cash flows data prepared in accordance with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles and should not be construed as an indication of a company s operating performance or as a measure of liquidity. In addition, it should be noted that companies calculate EBITDA differently and, therefore, EBITDA as presented for us may not be comparable to EBITDA reported by other companies. A reconciliation of net income to EBITDA for each of the respective periods indicated is as follows:

		Year	Six Month	Months Ended September 29,					
	2000	2001	2002	2003	2004	2003	2004	2	2004
		(dol	lars in thous	ands)		(unaudited)		(unaudited)	
Reconciliation of EBITDA:									
Net income	\$ 1,304	\$ (7,254)	\$ (24,505)	\$ (32,871)	\$ (23,562)	\$ (14,925)	\$ 27,205	\$	18,568
Depreciation and amortization(4)	9,951	11,035	11,449	11,369	11,284	5,645	5,737		11,376
Net interest expense	64,313	69,951	72,433	82,486	89,927	44,194	47,875		93,608
Provision for income taxes	1,809	1,223	455	1,500	3,127	977	12,279		14,429

Twolve

EBITDA \$77,377 \$74,955 \$59,832 \$62,484 \$80,776 \$35,891 \$93,096 \$137,981

14

(5) We are the owner and beneficiary of life insurance policies on (1) all former non-union employees of a predecessor company, including certain current employees of EMJ, and (2) key man life insurance policies on certain current and former executives of EMJ. The effect of these company owned life insurance policies (COLI) on our pre-tax income consists of premium expense, policy dividend growth, and proceeds (death benefits) (which are reported as general and administrative expense) and policy interest expense on policy borrowings (which is reported as a component of interest expense). Under current U.S. federal tax law, the policy dividend growth is not currently taxable, the premium is non-deductible, the proceeds (death benefits) are tax exempt and the interest is deductible up to 96% of the contract rate.

						Six M	Ionths		
	Fiscal Year Ended March 31,						ded nber 29,	Twelve Months Ended September 29,	
	2000	2001	2002	2003	2004	2003	2004		2004
				(in the	ousands)	(unau	ıdited)	(un:	audited)
Calculation of COLI effect:						(1	,	(2.1	,
Cash surrender value policy dividend growth	\$ 14,029	\$ 13,010	\$ 13,521	\$ 17,156	\$ 17,751	\$ 7,915	\$ 9,940	\$	19,776
Cash surrender value insurance premium	(2,101)	(2,217)	(2,325)	(2,866)	(3,081)	(1,824)	(1,808)		(3,065)
Proceeds (death benefits)		1,230	3,062	1,754	4,851	3,524	318		1,645
Total operating income impact of COLI	11,928	12,023	14,258	16,044	19,521	9,615	8,450		18,356
Cash surrender value interest	(12,645)	(14,397)	(15,996)	(17,796)	(20,082)	(9,822)	(10,753)		(21,013)
Total pre-tax income impact of COLI	\$ (717)	\$ (2,374)	\$ (1,738)	\$ (1,752)	\$ (561)	\$ (207)	\$ (2,303)	\$	(2,657)

(6) Calculated based on the average number of employees during the applicable period.

UNAUDITED PRO FORMA CONDENSED COMBINED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Earle M. Jorgensen Company

The following unaudited pro forma condensed combined consolidated balance sheet as of September 29, 2004, and the unaudited pro forma condensed combined consolidated statement of operations for the year ended March 31, 2004, and six months ended September 29, 2004, are based on the historical financial statements of EMJ and Holding after giving effect to the merger and financial restructuring and public offering as a combination of entities under common control and the assumptions and adjustments described in the accompanying notes to the unaudited pro forma condensed combined consolidated financial statements.

The pro forma information is based on the assumptions set forth in the notes to such information. Pro forma adjustments are necessary to reflect the combination and new capital structure. Pro forma adjustments are also necessary to reflect the reduction of interest expense related to the Holding notes.

The unaudited pro forma condensed combined consolidated financial statements should be read in conjunction with EMJ s and Holding s historical consolidated financial statements and accompanying notes for their fiscal year ended March 31, 2004, and six month period ended September 29, 2004, included elsewhere in this proxy statement/prospectus. The unaudited pro forma condensed combined consolidated financial statements are not intended to represent or be indicative of the consolidated results of operations or financial condition of the combined company that would have been reported had the merger and financial restructuring and public offering been completed as of the dates presented, and should not be taken as representative of the future consolidated results of operations or financial condition of the combined company.

For the purpose of additional analysis, the unaudited pro forma condensed combined consolidated financial statements present the condensed consolidated balance sheets and statements of operations of EMJ and Holding prior to the consolidation along with details of intercompany eliminations, which result in the consolidated condensed balance sheet as of September 29, 2004, and consolidated condensed statement of operations for the year ended March 31, 2004, and six months ended September 29, 2004.

As a result of actions approved at the board of directors meetings of Holding and EMJ on December 16, 2004, the Company has incurred financial liability for the following actions that will be recorded in the financial results for quarter ended December 31, 2004: (1) a special stock bonus plan contribution of 2,496,703 shares for current employees who are in the plan and \$1,416,905 cash for participants who are no longer employees, for a total expense in December 2004 of approximately \$17,920,000; (2) payment to Mr. Nelson of \$3,006,000 in consideration of the cancellation of options to purchase 360,000 shares of Holding common stock, which will be recorded as an equity transaction; (3) the adoption of SFAS No. 123 **Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation**, on a modified prospective basis retroactive to April 1, 2004, and the incurrence of a non-cash charge of approximately \$1,600,000 during the December quarter resulting from the modification of terms of existing options; (4) payment of a special bonus of \$3,500,000 to Mr. Nelson, (5) payment of a termination fee to Kelso & Co. of \$6,250,000 and (6) payment of a bonus of \$202,640 to Mr. Roderick. The above items are not contingent upon the merger and financial restructuring or the public offering and therefore are not included in the pro-forma adjustments.

UNAUDITED PRO FORMA CONDENSED COMBINED CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET

Earle M. Jorgensen Company and Earle M. Jorgensen Holding Company, Inc.

As of September 29, 2004

				Consolidated	Pro Forma	
	EMJ (a)	Holding (b)	Eliminations (c)	EMJ Holding (d)	Adjustments	Pro Forma
			(dollars	s in thousands)		
Assets						
Current assets:	¢ 11 557	\$ 35	\$	\$ 11.592	\$	\$ 11.592
Cash Accounts receivable, less allowance for	\$ 11,557	\$ 33	\$	\$ 11,592	ф	\$ 11,592
doubtful accounts	179,860			179,860		179,860
Inventories	285,844			285,844		285,844
Other current assets	8,550			8,550		8,550
Other current assets	6,550			8,550		0,550
Total current assets	485,811	35		485,846		485,846
Net property, plant and equipment, at cost	121,182			121,182		121,182
Intercompany		(113,642)	113,642			
Investment in subsidiaries		17,142	(17,142)			
Cash surrender value of life insurance						
policies	46,155			46,155		46,155
Debt issue costs, net of accumulated						
amortization	6,249			6,249		6,249
Other assets	1,771	683		2,454		2,454
Total assets	\$ 661,168	\$ (95,782)	\$ 96,500	\$ 661,886	\$	\$ 661,886
Liabilities and Stockholders Equity Current liabilities:						
Accounts payable	\$ 178,438	\$	\$	\$ 178,438	\$	\$ 178,438
Accrued liabilities	77,813	4,848	85	82,746	(11,188)(e)	77,667
					7,500 (f) (1,391)(f)	
Deferred income taxes	17,517			17,517	(1,371)(1)	17,517
Current portion of long-term debt	3,888			3,888		3,888
Total current liabilities	277,656	4,848	85	282,589	(5,079)	277,510
Holding Dobt	2/5 527	245 002		501.410	(245 992)(5)	245 527
Holding Debt Deferred income taxes	345,537 17,869	245,882		591,419 17,869	(245,882)(e)	345,537 17,869
Other long-term liabilities	8,458	930		9,388		9,388
Stockholder s equity:	0,430	930		9,300		9,366
Preferred and common stock subject to						
redemption			97,726	97,726	(97,726)(e)	
Series A preferred stock not subject to			71,120	71,120	(71,120)(6)	
redemption		24,755	(3,853)	20,902	(20,902)(e)	
Series B preferred stock not subject to		21,733	(3,033)	20,702	(20,702)(0)	
redemption		31,018	(31,002)	16	(16)(e)	
Common stock		133	(27)	106	[](e)	[]
Capital in excess of par value	29,380	99,407	(51,608)	77,179	[](e)	i i

Reclassification to value			(34,717)	(34,717)	34,717 (e)	
Foreign currency translation adjustment	410			410		410
Additional minimum pension liability	(2,625)			(2,625)		(2,625)
Accumulated deficit	(15,517)	(444,048)	119,896	(339,669)	(6,109)(f)	(345,778)
Treasury stock		(58,707)		(58,707)	58,707 (e)	
Total stockholder s equity (deficit)	11,648	(347,442)	96,415	(239,379)	[]	[]
Total stockholder s equity (deficit)	11,648	(347,442)	96,415	(239,379)	[]	[]
Total stockholder s equity (deficit) Total liabilities and stockholder s equity	11,648 \$ 661,168	(347,442)	96,415	(239,379)	[] \$	\$ 661,886

See accompanying notes.

Notes to Unaudited Pro Forma Condensed Combined Consolidated Balance Sheet

- (a) EMJ s unaudited consolidated condensed balance sheet as of September 29, 2004, as reported elsewhere in this proxy statement/prospectus, which in the opinion of management reflects all adjustments, consisting of normal recurring adjustments, which are necessary for a fair presentation of our results of operations.
- (b) Balance sheet accounts of Holding as of September 29, 2004, prior to consolidation with EMJ.
- (c) Intercompany eliminating adjustments with respect to the consolidation of Earle M. Jorgensen Holding Company, Inc. and Earle M. Jorgensen Company as of September 29, 2004.
- (d) Holding s unaudited consolidated condensed balance sheet as of September 29, 2004, as reported elsewhere in this proxy statement/prospectus, which in the opinion of management reflects all adjustments, consisting of normal recurring adjustments, which are necessary for a fair presentation of our results of operations.
- (e) The adjustments to effect the merger and financial restructuring (based on shares and values at September 29, 2004), assuming that the public offering price will be \$ per share of EMJ common stock and net proceeds of the public offering are \$, include the following:

Exchange of all issued and outstanding Holding debt and accrued interest thereon totaling \$257,069,318 for \$ in cash and shares of EMJ common stock.

Exchange of warrants to purchase 2,937,915 shares of Holding common stock for exercise price of \$0.01 per share.

Conversion of 11,399,860 issued and outstanding shares (not including 1,938,676 shares held in treasury and retired) of Holding common stock into 11,399,860 shares of EMJ common stock. The difference between the number of shares of Holding common stock converted into EMJ common stock at September 29, 2004 and the number of shares converted at the date of the merger and financial restructuring is attributable to the shares repurchased from former employees who cashed out their stock bonus plan accounts and former employees who exercised put rights pursuant to Holding s stockholder agreement.

Conversion of 63,045 shares of Holding s series A preferred stock (not including 184,502 shares held in treasury and retired) for \$ in cash and shares of EMJ common stock. The difference between the number of shares of Holding s series A preferred stock at September 29, 2004 and the number of shares at the date of the merger and financial restructuring is attributable to the shares repurchased from former employees who cashed out their stock bonus plan accounts.

Conversion of 31,018 shares of Holding s series B preferred stock for \$\\$ in cash and shares of EMJ common stock. The difference between the number of shares of Holding s series B preferred stock at September 29, 2004 and the number of shares at the date of the merger and financial restructuring is attributable to the shares repurchased from former employees who cashed out their stock bonus plan accounts.

The adjustment to the caption reclassification to value represents the cumulative changes in the market value, based on annual appraisals, related to Holding s preferred and common stock which are converted in the merger and financial restructuring.

Upon completion of the merger and financial restructuring, subject to the assumptions herein, shares of EMJ common stock will be issued and outstanding.

(f) Contingent upon consummation of the merger and financial restructuring and public offering, EMJ has committed to pay a taxable bonus to its employees in the aggregate amount of \$7,500,000, to be allocated to such employees in the proportion to the number of shares of Holding common stock allocated to an employee s stock bonus plan account on December 16, 2004 bears to the aggregate number of shares of Holding common stock allocated to the stock bonus plan accounts of all such employees, net of income taxes at the estimated fiscal 2005 effective rate.

18

UNAUDITED PRO FORMA CONDENSED COMBINED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF OPERATIONS

Earle M. Jorgensen Company and Earle M. Jorgensen Holding Company, Inc.

Year Ended March 31, 2004

	EMJ (a)	Holding (b)	Consolidated EMJ Holding (c)	Pro Forma Adjustments	Pro Forma				
		(dollars in thousands)							
Revenues	\$ 1,040,367	\$	\$ 1,040,367	\$	\$ 1,040,367				
Cost of sales	754,266		754,266		754,266				
Gross profit	286,101		286,101		286,101				
Expenses									
Warehouse and delivery	135,421		135,421		135,421				
Selling	38,254		38,254		38,254				
General and administrative	42,954	(20)	42,934		42,934				
Total expenses	216,629	(20)	216,609		216,609				
Income from operations	69,472	20	69,492		69,492				
Interest expense, net	51,093	38,834	89,927	(38,834)(d)	51,093				
Income before income taxes	18,379	(38,814)	(20,435)	38,834	18,399				
Income tax expense	3,127		3,127		3,127(e)				
Net income (loss)	\$ 15,252	\$ (38,814)	\$ (23,562)	\$ 38,834	\$ 15,272				

See accompanying notes.

Notes to Unaudited Pro Forma Condensed Combined Consolidated Statement of Operations

- (a) EMJ s unaudited consolidated condensed statement of operations for the year ended March 31, 2004 as reported elsewhere in this proxy statement/prospectus.
- (b) Statement of operations accounts of Holding for the year ended March 31, 2004 prior to consolidation with EMJ.
- (c) Holding s unaudited consolidated condensed statement of operations for the year ended March 31, 2004 as reported elsewhere in this proxy statement/prospectus.
- (d) Reduction of interest expense resulting from the exchange of the Holding notes for \$ in cash and shares of newly issued EMJ common stock.
- (e) Adjustment has not been made to income tax expense as EMJ has a net operating loss carryforwards in the United States and a corresponding valuation allowance on its deferred income tax assets for the year ended March 31, 2004.

UNAUDITED PRO FORMA CONDENSED COMBINED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF OPERATIONS

Earle M. Jorgensen Company and Earle M. Jorgensen Holding Company, Inc.

Six Months Ended September 29, 2004

	EMJ (a)	Holding (b)	Consolidated EMJ Holding (c)	Pro Forma Adjustments	Pro Forma			
		(dollars in thousands)						
Revenues	\$ 750,906	\$	\$ 750,906	\$	\$ 750,906			
Cost of sales	534,803		534,803		534,803			
Gross profit	216,103		216,103		216,103			
Expenses	210,100		210,100		210,100			
Warehouse and delivery	76,088		76,088		76,088			
Selling	25,310		25,310		25,310			
General and administrative	27,346		27,346		27,346			
Total expenses	128,744		128,744		128,744			
Income from operations	87,359		87,359		87,359			
Interest expense, net	26,433	21,442	47,875	(21,442)(d)	26,433			
Income before income taxes	60,926	(21,442)	39,484	21,442	60,926			
Income tax expense	12,279	(6,350)	5,929	6,350 (e)	12,279			
								
Net income (loss)	\$ 48,647	\$ (15,092)	\$ 33,555	\$ 15,092	\$ 48,647			

See accompanying notes.

Notes to Unaudited Pro Forma Condensed Combined Consolidated Statement of Operations

- (a) EMJ s unaudited consolidated condensed statement of operations for the six months ended September 29, 2004 as reported elsewhere in this proxy statement/prospectus, which in the opinion of management reflects all adjustments, consisting of normal recurring adjustments, which are necessary for a fair presentation of our results of operations.
- (b) Statement of operations accounts of Holding for the six months ended September 29, 2004 prior to consolidation with EMJ.
- (c) Holding s consolidated condensed statement of operations for the six months ended September 29, 2004 as reported elsewhere in this proxy statement/prospectus, which in the opinion of management reflects all adjustments, consisting of normal recurring adjustments, which are necessary for a fair presentation of our results of operations.
- (d) Reduction of interest expense resulting from the exchange of the Holding notes for \$ in cash and shares of newly issued EMJ common stock.
- (e) Income tax expense has been adjusted based on estimated effective income tax rates for fiscal year 2005.

20

RISK FACTORS

You should carefully consider the risks described below before deciding how to vote on the proposed merger and financial restructuring. By voting in favor of the merger and financial restructuring, you will be choosing to invest in the common stock of EMJ. If any of the following risk factors occurs, then our business, financial condition or results of operations could be materially and adversely affected. In that event, the value of our common stock could decline significantly, and you might lose all or part of your investment.

Risks relating to the merger and financial restructuring

If the merger and financial restructuring is not approved by Holding s stockholders or otherwise is not consummated, the value of Holding s equity securities may be adversely impacted.

If the merger and financial restructuring is not approved by Holding s stockholders or otherwise is not consummated, the compounding interest of the Holding notes and the compounding dividends on the series A preferred stock and the series B preferred stock will continue to grow, which, in turn, may have a negative effect on the value of Holding s equity securities, particularly the Holding common stock.

Presently, the Holding notes accumulate interest at 18% per annum, compounded annually, and the aggregate principal amount of this indebtedness as of September 29, 2004 was approximately \$257.1 million. The series A preferred stock accumulates dividends at the rate of 18% per annum and provides that dividends are not declared unless Holding is able to pay such dividends in cash. To date, no dividends have been declared and the aggregate value of the series A preferred stock issued and outstanding as of November 30, 2004 is approximately \$49.0 million, including accumulated dividends through September 29, 2004. The series B preferred stock accumulates dividends at rates between 15 \(^{1}/2\%\) per annum and 19 \(^{1}/2\%\) per annum, paid quarterly. Dividends have been paid through the issuance of additional shares of series B preferred stock. The aggregate value of the series B preferred stock issued and outstanding as of November 30, 2004 is approximately \$28.7 million, including accumulated dividends through September 29, 2004.

Unless measures are taken to reduce or eliminate the accretion of interest and dividends on the Holding notes and the series A preferred stock and series B preferred stock, through either a restructuring transaction similar to that contemplated by the merger and financial restructuring, a refinancing or a strategic transaction, notwithstanding EMJ s strong financial performance in fiscal year 2004 and so far in fiscal year 2005, it is possible that the net income of EMJ will not be sufficient to overcome the adverse impact of the accumulating interest and dividends on the value of Holding s equity securities.

If the merger and financial restructuring and public offering are not consummated and other acceptable financial restructuring or strategic transaction alternatives are not available, EMJ could be adversely affected in several ways, including: (1) EMJ s management s equity incentives would be rendered ineffective due to the diminution in value of Holding s equity securities, (2) EMJ s ability to attract and retain employees might be reduced due, in particular, to a deterioration in the value of their retirement savings as a consequence of the diminution in value of Holding s equity securities, and (3) there would be misalignment of employee incentives because of differences in the allocation of common stock and series A preferred stock and series B preferred stock among EMJ s employees based on historical factors without regard to responsibility or performance (see The Merger and Financial Restructuring Recommendation of the Special Committee at page 48).

The amount of cash and number of shares of EMJ common stock the holders of series A preferred stock, series B preferred stock and Holding notes will receive as consideration in connection with the merger and financial restructuring is uncertain and will depend on the pricing of a share of EMJ common stock in the public offering and amount of net proceeds received by EMJ as a result of the public offering.

The holders of series A preferred stock, series B preferred stock and Holding notes will receive a combination of cash and shares of EMJ common stock in exchange for their securities, in connection with the

21

Table of Contents

merger and financial restructuring. The amount of cash and number of shares of EMJ common stock to be received by the holders of those securities is uncertain and ultimately will be determined when the public offering price of the EMJ common stock and the net proceeds of the public offering are determined at the time of the public offering.

For purposes of disclosure in this proxy statement/prospectus, we have made certain assumptions concerning the public offering price of the EMJ common stock and the net proceeds of the public offering, for illustrative purposes.

With respect to the public offering price of EMJ common stock, we have assumed that the public offering price will be \$, the mid-point of the range described on the cover of the preliminary prospectus. If, however, the public offering price is greater than the assumed price of \$, the holders of the series A preferred stock, the series B preferred stock and the Holding notes will receive fewer shares of EMJ common stock for their Holding securities than estimated on page QA-6 of this proxy statement/prospectus. Similarly, if the public offering price is less than the assumed price of \$, the holders of the series A preferred stock, the series B preferred stock and the Holding notes will receive more shares of EMJ common stock for their Holding securities than estimated on page of this proxy statement/prospectus. See Q: WHAT WILL I RECEIVE IN THE MERGER? at page QA-4 and Q: HOW WILL THE PUBLIC OFFERING PRICE OF THE EMJ COMMON STOCK AFFECT THE MERGER CONSIDERATION? at page QA-5.

With respect to the net proceeds of the public offering, we have assumed for purposes of the disclosure in this proxy statement/prospectus net proceeds of \$. Assuming the public offering price is \$, if the net proceeds are greater than \$, we will pay more cash and issue fewer shares to the holders of the series A preferred stock, the series B preferred stock and the Holding notes than was estimated on page QA-7 of this proxy statement/prospectus. Conversely, assuming the offering price is \$, if the net proceeds are less than \$, we will pay less cash and issue more shares to the holders of the series A preferred stock, the series B preferred stock and the Holding notes than was estimated on page QA-7 of this proxy statement/prospectus. See Q: HOW WILL THE AMOUNT OF NET PROCEEDS OF THE PUBLIC OFFERING AFFECT THE MERGER CONSIDERATION? at page QA-7.

The value of the shares of EMJ common stock to be received by the holders of Holding common stock will depend on the public offering price.

The merger and financial restructuring provides that holders of Holding common stock will exchange their shares of Holding common stock one-for-one for shares of EMJ common stock. The value of the EMJ common stock to be received by the holders of Holding common stock will depend on the actual public offering price, which may be above or below the offering price we have assumed for the purposes of the disclosure in this proxy statement/prospectus or the appraised value of the Holding common stock as of March 31, 2004 (using the new methodology required by the amended consent order).

Holders of series A preferred stock and series B preferred stock will lose their right to receive dividends and their liquidation preferences.

In the merger and financial restructuring, each share of series A preferred stock will be exchanged for a combination of cash and shares of EMJ s common stock equal to \$816.68, the appraised value of \$749.42 per share as of March 31, 2004, plus accrued dividends at the rate of 18% per annum through September 29, 2004, and the series B preferred stock will be exchanged for cash and shares of EMJ common stock equal to \$1,000, the liquidation value of a share of series B preferred stock. As a result, current holders of series A preferred stock and series B preferred stock will no longer be entitled to a fixed dividend or liquidation amount (including upon a deemed liquidation upon a sale or conveyance of, or transfer or sale of substantially all of the assets of, EMJ) or other priority over any other class of security holders. Instead, current holders of

series A preferred stock and series B preferred stock will hold the most junior securities issued by EMJ, with no right to receive a fixed

22

amount of dividends or a distribution in liquidation at any specific times. Former holders of series A preferred stock and series B preferred stock will lose their right to dividends accruing from and after September 29, 2004, but they will participate as holders of common stock in changes in the equity value of EMJ.

The voting power of the existing holders of capital stock of Holding will be diluted significantly. The right of employee stockholders to designate directors will cease upon termination of the Holding stockholders agreement, and the right of the holders of series A preferred stock to designate a director will cease.

The number of shares of our common stock outstanding following the merger and financial restructuring and the public offering will be significantly greater than the number of shares of common stock of Holding currently outstanding. As a result of the merger and financial restructuring and the public offering, the percentage ownership of the common stock of EMJ held by holders of common stock of Holding will decrease, thereby diluting the voting rights of these holders. After the merger and financial restructuring, the shares of our common stock held by current stockholders of Holding, assuming the public offering price and net proceeds of the public offering as described above and no exercise of the outstanding options and excluding the special contribution of 2,496,703 shares of EMJ common stock to the stock bonus plan, will represent only % of EMJ s voting power, compared with % of the voting power held by holders of common stock to the stock bonus plan, the shares of our common stock held by these holders, will represent only % of EMJ s voting power, compared with % of the voting power held by holders of common stock of Holding at present, on the same fully-diluted basis.

In addition, upon completion of the merger and financial restructuring, the Holding stockholders agreement will be terminated and the employee stockholders will cease to have the right to designate two directors of Holding and EMJ that was provided under that agreement. In addition, the holders of series A preferred stock will no longer have the right to designate a director of EMJ and will no longer have the right to block certain transactions, including a sale of EMJ to a third party.

Alternatives to the proposed merger and financial restructuring and the public offering may not be available to us and any available alternatives may achieve less favorable results.

We believe that the completion of the merger and financial restructuring and public offering is in the best interest of our stockholders. If our financial restructuring is not completed through the merger and public offering, our board of directors may determine that it is necessary to pursue other strategic and capital markets alternatives. An alternative financial restructuring arrangement or plan, a refinancing of the Holding notes, or a sale of Holding or EMJ may not be available, or if available, may not be on terms as favorable to our equity holders, other than Kelso and its affiliates, as the terms of the merger and financial restructuring proposed in this proxy statement/prospectus.

Risks related to receiving our common stock as part of the merger and exchange consideration

You will incur dilution in the future as a result of the exercise of stock options and the contribution of shares of common stock to Holding s stock bonus plan.

You will incur additional dilution if the holders of outstanding options to purchase shares of our common stock at prices below our net tangible book value per share exercise their options after the merger and financial restructuring and public offering transactions. Upon consummation of

the merger and financial restructuring and the public offering transactions, there will be 3,053,662 shares of common stock that will be issuable upon the exercise of outstanding stock options that were converted from the former Holding stock options, with a weighted average exercise price of \$3.35 per share. In addition, EMJ expects to grant options under its new stock incentive plan to certain executive officers, senior management and directors after the consummation of the merger and financial restructuring and the public offering, at an exercise price equal to the then current fair market value, that may cause you to incur further dilution. The contribution, after consummation of the merger

Table of Contents

and financial restructuring and the public offering, of up to 2,496,703 shares of common stock to Holding s stock bonus plan pursuant to the proposed amendment to Holding s stock bonus plan may cause you to incur further dilution. In addition, our certificate of incorporation will permit the issuance of up to 80 million shares of common stock. Thus, in addition to the shares reserved for issuance pursuant to outstanding stock options, our stock incentive plan and our stock bonus plan, we have the ability to issue substantial amounts of common stock in the future, which would dilute the percentage ownership held by the investors who receive our shares in the merger and financial restructuring.

Sales of a substantial number of shares of our common stock following the merger and financial restructuring and the public offering may adversely affect the market price of our common stock, and the issuance of additional shares will dilute all other stockholdings.

Sales of a substantial number of shares of our common stock in the public market following the merger and financial restructuring and the public offering, or the perception that large sales could occur, could cause the market price of our common stock to decline or limit our future ability to raise capital through an offering of equity securities. Shares of our common stock outstanding upon consummation of the merger and financial restructuring and the public offering will be freely tradable without restriction or further registration under the federal securities laws, unless held by affiliates of EMJ or Holding within the meaning of Rule 144 under the Securities Act or subject to the lock-up agreements, limitations on the ability of participants to transfer shares of employer stock held in Holding s stock bonus plan and certain transfer restriction agreements. See Material Provisions of the Merger Agreement and Exchange Agreement Federal Securities Law Consequences at page 80, Comparison of Securities and Stockholder Rights at page 87, Stock Bonus Plan at page 85 and Transfer Restriction Agreements at page 81. Shares of EMJ common stock exchanged for shares of Holding capital stock that were held by affiliates of Holding at the time of the merger and financial restructuring will be restricted securities and will be subject to the volume and manner of sale restrictions of Rules 144 and 145.

We, each of our directors, each of our executive officers, the Kelso funds and each of their affiliates that will own our common stock following the merger and financial restructuring and the public offering, the stock bonus plan, and certain other stockholders have agreed for a period of 180 days after the date of the public offering prospectus, subject to extensions in certain limited circumstances, to not, without the prior written consent of the lead underwriters in the public offering, Credit Suisse First Boston LLC and Goldman, Sachs & Co., directly or indirectly, offer to sell, sell, pledge or otherwise dispose of any shares of our common stock, subject to certain permitted exceptions. Following the expiration of the lock-up period, all of the shares of common stock subject to these agreements will be available for sale in the public market, subject to the restrictions on sales by affiliates under the Securities Act, limitations on the ability of participants to transfer shares of employer stock held in Holding s stock bonus plan and applicable transfer restriction agreements. Pursuant to transfer restriction agreements, each of our executive officers and district managers have agreed to limit their right to sell their shares of EMJ common stock for a period of up to two years after the consummation of the public offering without the prior written consent of EMJ.

Following the effectiveness of the registration statement on Form S-1 under the Securities Act in connection with the public offering, we intend to file a registration statement on Form S-8 under the Securities Act covering (1) 3,053,662 shares of common stock that will be issuable upon exercise of options under the Holding stock option plan upon our assumption of those options in connection with the consummation of the merger and financial restructuring and (2) shares of common stock that will be issuable pursuant to our new stock incentive plan. Accordingly, subject to applicable vesting requirements and exercise with respect to options, the provisions of Rules 144 and 145 with respect to affiliates and, if applicable, expiration of the 180-day lock-up agreements and the transfer restriction agreements, shares registered under the registration statement on Form S-8 will be available for sale in the open market. In addition, we have granted the Kelso funds registration rights with respect to their shares of our common stock, including the shares of our common stock they will own upon consummation of the merger and financial restructuring and the public offering.

24

Shares of EMJ common stock held by the stock bonus plan can be transferred only if the participant meets certain requirements specified in the stock bonus plan.

Shares of EMJ common stock held by the stock bonus plan can be transferred only if the participant meets certain requirements specified in the stock bonus plan. The shares of EMJ common stock held by the stock bonus plan may be sold (1) by the trustee of the stock bonus plan upon direction from an eligible participant who has attained age 55 and completed ten years of service in accordance with the diversification provisions of the stock bonus plan, (2) by the participant following distribution to such participant upon termination of employment, and (3) by the trustee of the stock bonus plan upon direction from the benefits committee, if the benefits committee determines that the sale of the EMJ common stock is required for the benefits committee to exercise its fiduciary duties. Effective at closing of the public offering, EMJ will amend the stock bonus plan to provide that shares of EMJ common stock will become eligible for diversification in increments of 25% of the balance of shares of EMJ common stock in each participant s account each six months after the consummation of the public offering commencing six months after consummation of the public offering, with all shares of EMJ common stock in a participant s account being eligible for diversification 24 months after consummation of the public offering.

Because the Kelso funds will continue to have the ability to significantly influence us after the merger and financial restructuring and the public offering, your influence as public stockholders over significant corporate actions will be limited and there may be circumstances in which the interests of the Kelso funds could be in conflict with us or your interests as public stockholders.

After the completion of the merger and financial restructuring and the public offering, assuming the offering price of EMJ common stock is \$, the mid-point of the range as described on the cover of the public offering preliminary prospectus, and net proceeds of \$ from the public offering (as set forth under Use of Proceeds in the preliminary prospectus), the Kelso funds will control approximately % of our outstanding common stock, or approximately % if the underwriters exercise their over-allotment option in full. As a result, after the merger and financial restructuring and public offering, the Kelso funds will continue to have the power to significantly influence all matters submitted to our stockholders, including the election of our directors and amendments to our certificate of incorporation. The Kelso funds also will have the ability to significantly influence the approval or disapproval of any transaction that requires the approval of stockholders regardless of whether or not other stockholders believe that any such transaction is in their own best interests. So long as the Kelso funds continue to own a significant amount of the outstanding shares of our common stock, they will continue to be able to strongly influence our decisions.

Further, in deciding how to vote on matters concerning us, the Kelso funds may be influenced by interests that conflict with our interests or your interests. These conflicts may not be resolved in our or your favor. For example, the Kelso funds, through their significant ownership in us, may seek to cause us to take actions that, in their judgment, enhances their investment in us, but which might involve risks to, or otherwise adversely affect, us or you. In addition, after the merger and financial restructuring and public offering a number of our board members will continue to be affiliated with the Kelso funds. Furthermore, we have agreed with the Kelso funds that for so long as the Kelso funds own in excess of 20% of our issued and outstanding common stock, the Kelso funds will be entitled to designate two directors, and for so long as the Kelso funds own in excess of 10% of our issued and outstanding common stock, the Kelso funds will be entitled to designate one director, to be included in the slate of directors nominated by us for election to our board of directors in our annual proxy statement. These relationships could create or appear to create potential conflicts of interest when these individuals are faced with decisions that could have different implications for us and the Kelso funds.

Our common stock does not have a trading history, and you may not be able to trade our common stock if an active trading market does not develop.

Prior to the public offering, there has been no public market for our common stock. We have applied for listing of our common stock on the New York Stock Exchange under the symbol JOR. Although the underwriters in the public offering have informed us that they intend to make a

market in our common stock,

25

they are not obligated to do so, and any market-making may be discontinued at any time without prior notice. Therefore, an active trading market for our common stock may not develop or, if it does develop, may not continue. As a result, the market price of our common stock, as well as your ability to sell our common stock, could be adversely affected. You should not view the public offering price as any indication of prices that will prevail in the trading market.

The value of your investment may be subject to sudden decreases due to the potential volatility of the price of our common stock.

The market price of our common stock may be highly volatile and subject to wide fluctuations in response to each of various factors which could also cause variations in our quarterly results of operations. These factors may include the factors discussed in other risk factors, and the following factors:

press releases or publicity relating to us or our competitors or relating to trends in the metals service industry;

changes in the legal or regulatory environment affecting our business;

changes in expectations as to our future financial performance, including financial estimates by securities analysts and investors;

the operating and stock performance of other companies that investors may deem comparable;

developments affecting us, our customers or our suppliers;

inability to meet securities analysts and investors quarterly or annual estimates or targets of our performance; and

general domestic or international economic, market and political conditions.

These factors may adversely affect the trading price of our common stock, regardless of our actual operating performance, and could prevent you from selling your common stock at or above the public offering price or the value of the shares at the closing of the merger and financial restructuring. In addition, the stock markets from time to time experience extreme price and volume fluctuations that may be unrelated or disproportionate to the operating performance of companies. In the past, some stockholders have brought securities class action lawsuits against companies following periods of volatility in the market price of their securities. We may in the future be the target of similar litigation. Securities litigation, regardless of whether we are ultimately successful, could result in substantial costs and divert management s attention and resources.

Because we do not anticipate paying dividends on our common stock in the foreseeable future, you should not expect to receive dividends on shares of our common stock.

We currently anticipate that we will retain all future earnings, if any, to finance the growth and development of our business and do not anticipate paying cash dividends on our common stock in the foreseeable future. Any payment of cash dividends will depend upon our financial condition, capital requirements, earnings and other factors deemed relevant by our board of directors. In addition, our domestic credit facility

prohibits us from paying, and the indenture for our $9^3/4\%$ senior secured notes limits our ability to pay, dividends after the merger and financial restructuring. We are restricted from paying cash dividends and making other distributions to our stockholders under the indenture unless 50% of our consolidated net income, as adjusted, exceeds prior distributions to stockholders, subject to certain other limitations. As a result of these limitations and our expectation that we will not pay dividends in the near future, our common stock may be less attractive to investors that seek dividend payments.

Provisions of our certificate of incorporation and our bylaws could delay or prevent a takeover of us by a third party.

Our certificate or incorporation and our bylaws could delay, defer or prevent a third party from acquiring us, despite the possible benefit to our stockholders, or otherwise adversely affect the price of our common stock and

26

your rights as a holder of our common stock. For example, our certificate of incorporation and bylaws will: (1) permit our board of directors to issue one or more series of preferred stock with rights and preferences designated by our board and (2) impose advance notice requirements for stockholder proposals and nominations of directors to be considered at stockholder meetings. These provisions may discourage potential takeover attempts, discourage bids for our common stock at a premium over market price or adversely affect the market price of, and the voting and other rights of the holders of, our common stock. These provisions could also discourage proxy contests and make it more difficult for you and other stockholders to elect directors other than the candidates nominated by our board. See Description of our Capital Stock, Certificate of Incorporation and Bylaws for additional information on the anti-takeover measures applicable to us. In addition, our domestic credit facility and the indenture for our 9 3/4% senior secured notes contain limitations on our ability to enter into change of control transactions.

Risks relating to our business

The prices we pay for metals may fluctuate due to a number of factors beyond our control, which could adversely affect our operating results if we cannot pass on higher metal prices to our customers.

We purchase large quantities of carbon steel, stainless steel, aluminum and other metals, which we sell to a variety of end-users. The prices we pay for these metals and the prices we charge for our products may change depending on many factors outside of our control, including general economic conditions (both domestic and international), competition, production levels, import duties and other trade restrictions, currency fluctuations and surcharges imposed by our suppliers. For example, in recent months our suppliers have added various surcharges to the price of metals related to increases in the costs of scrap, energy, raw material and other inputs. These surcharges may or may not continue in the future and could be increased, decreased or eliminated by the suppliers that have imposed them.

Our service centers maintain substantial inventories of metal to accommodate the short lead times and just-in-time delivery requirements of our customers. Accordingly, we purchase metal in quantities we believe to be appropriate to satisfy the anticipated needs of our customers based on information derived from customers, market conditions, historic usage and industry research. Our commitments for metal purchases are generally at prevailing market prices in effect at the time we place our orders or at the time of shipment. During periods of rising prices for metal, we may be negatively impacted by delays between the time of metal price increases and price increases in our products if we are unable to pass these increases on to our customers. In addition, when metal prices decline, customer demands for lower prices could result in lower sale prices for our products and, as we use existing inventory that we purchased at higher metal prices, lower margins. Consequently, during periods in which we use this existing inventory, the effects of changing metal prices could adversely affect our operating results.

We operate in an industry that is subject to cyclical fluctuations and any downturn in general economic conditions or our customers industries could negatively impact our revenues, gross profit and net income.

The metals service center industry is cyclical, impacted by both market demand and metals supply. Periods of economic slowdown or recession in the United States, Canada or other countries, or the public perception that these may occur, would decrease the demand for our products and adversely affect our pricing. For example, the general slowing of the economy in fiscal 2002 and fiscal 2003 adversely impacted our product sales and pricing. While we experienced significantly improved sales volumes and pricing in fiscal 2004 and in the first six months of fiscal 2005, this trend may not continue. Changing economic conditions could depress or delay demand for our products, which could adversely affect our revenues, gross profit and net income.

We sell many products to industries that are cyclical, such as the industrial equipment, oil, gas and energy, construction and agricultural equipment, and transportation industries. The demand for our products is directly related to, and quickly impacted by, demand for finished goods

manufactured by our customers in these industries, which may change as a result of the general U.S., Canadian or worldwide economy, domestic exchange rates,

27

energy prices or other factors beyond our control. If we are unable to accurately project the product needs of our customers over varying lead times, we may not have sufficient inventory to be able to provide sought-after products on a timely basis. In addition, if we are not able to increase sales of products to customers in other industries when one or more of the cyclical industries that we serve is experiencing a decline, our revenues, gross profit and net income may be adversely affected.

The price of metals is subject to fluctuations in the supply and demand for metals worldwide and changes in the worldwide balance of supply and demand could negatively impact our revenues, gross profit and net income.

Metal prices are volatile due to, among other things, fluctuations in foreign and domestic production capacity, metals consumption and foreign currency rates. For example, in the past few years, China has significantly increased its consumption of metals and metal products. This large and growing demand for metals has significantly affected the metals industry, diverting supply to China and contributing to the recent increase in metal prices. If, in the future, China experiences a downturn in general economic conditions or increases its internal production of metals, its demand for metals produced outside of China could decrease. Such a decrease could cause a reduction in metal prices globally, which could adversely affect our revenues, gross profit and net income. Additionally, significant currency fluctuations in the United States or abroad could negatively impact our cost of metals and the pricing of our products. Recently, the decline in the dollar relative to foreign currencies resulted in increased prices for metals and metal products in the United States as imported metals became relatively more expensive. If, in the future, the dollar increases in value relative to foreign currencies, the domestic market may be more attractive to foreign producers, resulting in increased supply that could cause decreased metal prices and adversely affect our revenues, gross profit and net income.

We compete with a large number of companies in the metals service center industry, and if we are unable to compete effectively, our revenues, gross profit and net income may decline.

We compete with a large number of other general-line distributors and specialty distributors in the metals service center industry. Competition is based principally on price, inventory availability, timely delivery, customer service, quality and processing capabilities. Competition in the various markets in which we participate comes from companies of various sizes, some of which have greater financial resources than we do and some of which have more established brand names in the local markets we serve. Accordingly, these competitors may be better able to withstand changes in conditions within our customers—industries and may have greater operating and financial flexibility than we have. To compete for customer sales, we may lower our prices or offer increased services at a higher cost to us, which could reduce our revenues, gross profit and net income.

If our customers, which are primarily North American manufacturing and industrial companies, relocate operations or outsource functions overseas, we would lose their business.

Our customer base is located in the United States and Canada and consists primarily of manufacturing and industrial companies. We do not currently operate facilities outside of North America. Therefore, in the event our customers relocate production operations or outsource particular functions overseas, we would lose their business, which could have an adverse effect on our revenues, gross profit and net income.

If we were to lose any of our primary suppliers or otherwise be unable to obtain sufficient amounts of necessary metals on a timely basis, we may not be able to meet our customers needs and may suffer reduced sales.

Because we have no long-term contracts to purchase metals, our primary suppliers of carbon steel, stainless steel, aluminum or other metals could curtail or discontinue their delivery of these metals to us in the quantities we need. Our ability to meet our customers needs and provide value-added inventory management services depends on our ability to maintain an uninterrupted supply of metal products from our suppliers. If our suppliers experience production problems, lack of capacity or transportation disruptions, the lead times for receiving our

28

supply of metal products could be extended and the cost of our inventory may increase. If, in the future, we are unable to obtain sufficient amounts of the necessary raw materials at competitive prices and on a timely basis from our traditional suppliers, we may not be able to obtain these metals from acceptable alternative sources at competitive prices to meet our delivery schedules. Even if we do find acceptable alternative suppliers, the process of locating and securing these alternatives may be disruptive to our business, which could have an adverse impact on our ability to meet our customers—needs and reduce our sales, gross profit and net income. In addition, if a significant domestic supply source is discontinued and we cannot find acceptable domestic alternatives, we may need to find a foreign source of supply. Dependence on foreign sources of supply could lead to longer lead times, increased price volatility, less favorable payment terms and certain tariffs and duties.

Our business may be adversely affected by our on-time or free delivery guarantee if we are unable to deliver our products on a timely basis.

We provide customers with an on-time or free delivery guarantee. Therefore, significant disruptions to timely deliveries of our products could lead to increased customer credits, harm to our reputation and a loss of market share.

As a decentralized business, we depend on both senior management and our key operating employees; if we are unable to attract and retain these individuals, our ability to operate and grow our business may be adversely affected.

Because of our decentralized operating style, we depend on the efforts of our senior management, including our chief executive officer, Maurice S. Nelson, Jr., and key operating employees. We may not be able to retain these individuals or attract and retain additional qualified personnel when needed. Except for a stay bonus agreement with Mr. Nelson that is described under Additional Summary Information Interests of Certain Persons in Matters to be Acted Upon beginning on page 5, we do not have employment agreements with any of our officers or employees in the United States, which may mean they may have less of an incentive to stay with us when presented with alternative employment opportunities. In addition, our senior management and key operating employees hold stock options that have vested and common stock in Holding s stock bonus plan. These individuals may, therefore, be more likely to leave us if the shares of our common stock significantly appreciate in value. The loss of any key officer or employee will require remaining officers and employees to direct immediate and substantial attention to seeking a replacement. Our inability to retain members of our senior management or key operating employees or to find adequate replacements for any departing key officer or employee on a timely basis could adversely affect our ability to operate and grow our business.

Damage to our computer infrastructure and software systems could harm our business.

The unavailability of any of our information management systems for any significant period of time could have a material adverse effect on our operations. In particular, our ability to deliver products to our customers when needed, collect our receivables and manage inventory levels successfully largely depends on the efficient operation of our computer hardware and software systems. Through our information management systems, we track and allocate inventory among all of our locations, improve customer service through better order and product reference data and monitor operating results. Difficulties associated with upgrades, installations of major software or hardware, and integration with new systems could lead to business interruptions that could harm our reputation, increase our operating costs and decrease our profitability. In addition, these systems are vulnerable to, among other things, damage or interruption from power loss, computer system and network failures, loss of telecommunications services, operator negligence, physical and electronic loss of data, or security breaches and computer viruses.

We have outsourced the maintenance and operation of our hardware to a third-party service provider that also provides us with backup systems in the event that our information management systems are damaged. It is possible that the backup facilities and other protective measures we take could prove to be inadequate. Moreover, it is possible that an event or disaster at our service provider s facilities could materially and

adversely affect our ability to meet our customers needs and the ability of each of our locations to operate efficiently.

29

Our business could be adversely affected by a disruption to our Chicago facility s operations.

During the first six months of fiscal 2005, our Chicago facility processed and shipped an average of 2,370 inventory line items per day, or approximately 29% of the line items shipped from all of our facilities during that period. Our Chicago facility serves its regional customers and also supplies products to all of our other service centers. Therefore, any disruption to our operations at this facility could adversely impact the performance of our other service centers and impair our ability to deliver products and services to our customers throughout the United States on a timely basis. Our operations at the Chicago facility could be disrupted in the event of:

damage to, or inoperability of, its automated warehouse system;

a hardware or software error, failure or crash;

a power or telecommunications failure; or

fire, flood or other natural disaster.

Any disruption could damage our reputation, cause customers to cease purchasing metals from us and cause customers to incur substantial losses. We could be subject to claims or litigation with respect to these losses. Our property and business interruption insurance may not adequately compensate us for all losses we may incur.

If we do not successfully implement our satellite operations growth strategy, our ability to grow our business could be impaired.

A key aspect of our growth strategy is the establishment of satellite operations, a physical presence in geographic markets (1) in which we have several significant customers or there are several potential customers that have a demand for our products and services and (2) that is supported by inventory, inside salespeople and the general management of one of our larger service centers. We may not be able to identify suitable locations for these operations or enter into agreements to purchase or lease locations upon satisfactory terms. In addition, we could fail to generate, or suffer a loss of, or a decrease in, purchases by one or more significant customers served by a satellite location, which could prevent us from realizing the expected benefits of such satellite location. Any of these occurrences could impair our ability to grow our business.

Labor disruptions could adversely affect our operations.

We have entered into collective bargaining agreements with union locals at our facilities that expire on staggered dates through 2010, including two agreements that expire in the next 12 months and cover 81 employees at two locations as of September 29, 2004. We may not be able to extend one or more of these contracts on favorable terms and conditions prior to expiration, which could lead to labor disruptions at the affected facility. A work stoppage at one of our facilities that lasts for a significant period of time could cause us to lose sales, incur increased costs and adversely effect our ability to meet customers needs.

Our ability to consummate a change of control transaction could be hampered by the consequences it triggers under our debt instruments, including the required repurchase of our $9^{3}/4\%$ senior secured notes and the possible acceleration of repayment of our domestic credit facility.

If in the future we experience a change of control as defined under the indenture for our 1/9% senior secured notes, we are required to make a change of control offer, to purchase all of our 1/9% senior secured notes issued and then outstanding at a purchase price equal to 101% of the principal amount thereof plus accrued interest thereon, as of the date of purchase. Any change of control under the indenture also would constitute a default under our domestic credit facility pursuant to which the lenders under our credit facility could accelerate and require immediate payment of all of the then outstanding obligations under our credit facility.

If in the future we experience a change of control, it is likely that we would be unable to repay all of our obligations under our domestic credit facility, our 9³/4% senior secured notes and any other indebtedness that might become payable upon the occurrence of the change of control. Accordingly, it is likely that a prospective

30

acquiror of all or substantially all of our assets or of more than 50% of our common stock would, in order to avoid the occurrence of a default under our indebtedness, either fund our purchase of the notes tendered in the change of control offer or seek to refinance our notes, and credit facility and other indebtedness. Such funding or refinancing may have the effect of delaying, deferring or preventing such an acquisition.

If the merger and financial restructuring and the public offering result in an ownership change, the availability of certain tax benefits for us will be adversely affected and our tax liability may increase.

We had net operating loss carryforwards, or NOLs, available for U.S. federal income tax purposes of \$3.3 million as of September 29, 2004. In addition, significant additional NOLs may be generated as a result of our operations and the repayment of the Holding notes with the proceeds of the public offering. However, Holding will likely not be permitted an interest deduction for U.S. federal income tax purposes for accrued but previously non-deductible interest on the Holding notes as a result of the retirement of these notes with our stock. We expect that the merger and financial restructuring and the public offering will result in an ownership change within the meaning of Section 382 of the Internal Revenue Code. As a result of such ownership change, there will likely be specific limitations on our ability to use our NOLs from periods prior to the merger and financial restructuring and the public offering. This could result in an increase in our U.S. federal income tax liability in future taxable periods, which could adversely affect our cash flow from operations.

Holding may recognize cancellation of indebtedness income as a result of the merger and financial restructuring and the public offering, which may adversely affect the availability of certain tax benefits for us.

If the fair market value of the EMJ common stock and the consideration that is issued to retire the Holding notes is less than the amount of such indebtedness (including accrued interest) that is retired, Holding may recognize taxable cancellation of indebtedness income to the extent of this shortfall. Available NOLs may be utilized to offset such cancellation of indebtedness income. However, even if any cancellation of indebtedness income is fully offset by available NOLs, a tax liability may still result for alternative minimum tax purposes. Any NOLs used to offset cancellation of indebtedness income would be unavailable to offset our future operating income.

We are subject to various environmental and employee safety and health regulations, which could subject us to significant liabilities and compliance expenditures.

We are subject to extensive federal, state and local environmental laws and regulations concerning air emissions, wastewater discharges, underground storage tanks and solid and hazardous waste disposal at or from our facilities. Our operations are also subject to various employee safety and health laws and regulations, including those concerning occupational injury and illness, employee exposure to hazardous materials and employee complaints. Environmental and employee safety and health regulations are comprehensive, complex and frequently changing. Some of these laws and regulations are subject to varying and conflicting interpretations. We may be subject from time to time to administrative and/or judicial proceedings or investigations brought by private parties or governmental agencies with respect to environmental matters and employee safety and health issues. For example, there are currently remediation and/or investigation activities at certain former facilities where soil and/or groundwater contamination is present, and we have been notified of a potential claim relating to possible off-site contamination of river sediments from one of these facilities, which is our former Forge facility located in Seattle, Washington. As of September 29, 2004, we have accrued approximately \$0.3 million for future environmental investigation and remediation costs for compliance and sampling work in connection with an Administrative Order of Consent (AOC) that we executed at the request of the United States Environmental Protection Agency. This amount may not be sufficient to cover our costs under the AOC or other costs or liabilities that may arise in the future in connection with the Forge facility.

31

We also entered into a funding and participation agreement with the current owners of the Forge facility that requires us to fund 85% of the costs incurred with the investigation activities to be performed under the AOC. We do not carry environmental insurance coverage. Proceedings and investigations with respect to environmental matters and any employee safety and health issues could result in substantial costs to us, divert our management s attention and result in significant liabilities, fines or the suspension or interruption of our service center activities. Some of our current properties are located in industrial areas with histories of heavy industrial use. The location of these properties may require us to incur expenditures and to establish environmental liabilities for costs that arise from causes other than our operations. Future events, such as changes in existing laws and regulations or their enforcement, new laws and regulations or the discovery of conditions not currently known to us, could create material compliance or remedial liabilities and costs which may constrain our operations or make such operations more costly.

We have also accrued approximately \$0.5 million for investigation and remediation work at our former facility at Clinton Drive in Houston, Texas.

Our operating results have fluctuated, and are expected to continue fluctuating, depending on the season, and such fluctuations may adversely affect our stock price.

Many of our customers are in seasonal businesses, including customers in the construction equipment and agricultural industries. In particular, our revenues in the months of July, November and December traditionally have been lower than in other months because of increased vacation days and holiday closures for various customers. Consequently, you should not rely on our results of operations during any particular quarter as an indication of our results for a full year or any other quarter. In addition, if analysts and investors inaccurately estimate our results of operations in one or more future quarters and our operating results fall below expectations, our stock price may decline.

The beneficial effects of our company owned life insurance policies will decline in future years as the insured employees die and the value of the remaining policies decreases.

EMJ currently benefits from the net after-tax cash flow effects of its company owned life insurance policies derived from borrowings against the insurance policies, death benefit proceeds and deductibility of interest payments on the insurance policy loans. Based on actuarial analysis, we expect the value of the net benefit to us will begin to decline in 2035 as the number of insured employees who have died increases and aggregate value of the remaining policies decreases.

Risks relating to our indebtedness

Our substantial indebtedness could impair our financial condition and reduce the funds available to us for other purposes and our failure to comply with the covenants contained in our debt instruments could result in an event of default that could adversely affect our operating results.

We are, and after the merger and financial restructuring and the public offering will continue to be, highly leveraged and have substantial debt service obligations. As of September 29, 2004, on a pro forma basis assuming consummation of the merger and financial restructuring and the public offering, our total consolidated debt would have been approximately \$349.4 million. Our substantial indebtedness could adversely affect us in the following ways:

our ability to obtain additional financing in the future for working capital, capital expenditures, acquisitions, general corporate purposes or other purposes may be impaired;

a significant portion of our cash flow from operations must be dedicated to the payment of interest and principal on our debt (including the maturity of our credit facility in 2006), which reduces the funds available to us for our operations or other purposes;

32

Table of Contents

some of our debt is, and will continue to be, at variable rates of interest, which may result in higher interest expense in the event of increases in interest rates;

because we may be more leveraged than some of our competitors, our debt may place us at a competitive disadvantage;

our leverage will increase our vulnerability to economic downturns and limit our ability to withstand adverse events in our business by limiting our financial alternatives; and

our ability to capitalize on significant business opportunities and to plan for and respond to competition and changes in our business may be limited.

Our debt agreements contain, and any agreements to refinance our debt likely will contain, financial and restrictive covenants that limit our ability to incur additional debt, including to finance future operations or other capital needs, and to engage in other activities that we may believe are in our long-term best interests, including to dispose of or acquire assets. Our failure to comply with these covenants may result in an event of default which, if not cured or waived, could accelerate the maturity of our indebtedness or prevent us from accessing availability under our domestic credit facility. If our indebtedness is accelerated, we may not have sufficient cash resources to satisfy our debt obligations and we may not be able to continue our operations as planned.

We may not be able to generate sufficient cash flow to meet our debt service obligations.

Our annual debt service obligations until April 7, 2006, when our domestic credit facility is expected to mature, will be primarily limited to interest payments on our 9 3/4% senior secured notes, our domestic credit facility, our industrial revenue bonds and principal payments on our industrial revenue bonds. The principal payments on our outstanding industrial revenue bonds are approximately \$0.7 million in the remainder of fiscal 2005, \$1.2 million in fiscal 2006, \$0.7 million in fiscal 2007 and \$2.2 million in the aggregate thereafter through fiscal 2010. Our ability to generate sufficient cash flow from operations to make scheduled payments on our debt obligations will depend on our future financial performance, which will be affected by a range of economic, competitive and business factors, many of which are outside of our control. For example, we may not generate sufficient cash flow from operations to repay our domestic credit facility when it matures in fiscal 2007 or our 9 3/4% senior secured notes when they mature in fiscal 2013. If we do not generate sufficient cash flow from operations to satisfy our debt obligations, we expect to undertake alternative financing plans, such as refinancing or restructuring our debt, selling assets, reducing or delaying capital investments or seeking to raise additional capital. We may not be able to consummate any such transaction at all or on a timely basis or on terms, and for proceeds, that are acceptable to us. Furthermore, these transactions may not be permitted under the terms of our various debt instruments then in effect. Our inability to generate sufficient cash flow to satisfy our debt obligations, or to timely refinance our obligations on acceptable terms, could adversely affect our ability to serve our customers and could cause us to discontinue our operations as planned. Our domestic credit facility is secured by a first priority lien on all of our domestic inventory and accounts receivable. Our ability to refinance our 9 3/4% senior secured notes or se

33

THE AMENDED CONSENT ORDER

In March, 2002, the DOL filed suit against EMJ, Holding, the stock bonus plan and members of our benefits committee alleging that the valuations of Holding s common stock used to make contributions to the stock bonus plan for plan years 1994 to 2000 contained significant errors resulting in the common stock contributed to the stock bonus plan in those years being overvalued.

On January 27, 2003, a settlement agreement, or consent order, was reached between these parties that included the following provisions: (1) Holding was prohibited from making further common stock contributions to the stock bonus plan until its common stock became publicly traded; (2) Holding was required to continue to obtain annual appraisals using methodologies consistent with prior appraisals and to use such appraised values as the purchase price for repurchases of common stock as was done in the past; and (3) if the annual appraised value of Holding common stock was less than \$4.25 per share, Holding was required to repurchase shares of Holding common stock from departing employees at a price of \$4.25, known as the floor price guaranty, with respect to those shares that were originally contributed to the stock bonus plan for the plan years 1994-2000.

In late February 2004, after EMJ initially filed the registration statement, of which this proxy statement/prospectus is a part, with the Commission on January 13, 2004, the DOL requested meetings with Wells Fargo Bank, N.A., the trustee of the stock bonus plan, and the benefits committee to review their procedures in connection with their respective evaluations of the initially proposed terms of the merger and financial restructuring and other strategic alternatives, as well as compliance of the initially proposed transaction with the provisions of the consent order. However, the DOL review of the transaction resulted in delays that, combined with other transactional requirements, precluded the consummation of the merger and financial restructuring on the terms originally proposed, and in May 2004, the legal counsel of the benefits committee advised the DOL and the stock bonus plan trustee that the special committee and the benefits committee had reached that conclusion.

In its review, the DOL urged the benefits committee to consider changes to the merger and financial restructuring that would eliminate on a going-forward basis the valuation methodology that was agreed upon in the DOL consent order. In response, the special committee, the benefits committee and their respective advisors held various discussions over the next several months to develop an alternative transaction similar to the initially proposed merger and financial restructuring that would also eliminate on a going-forward basis the valuation methodology that was agreed to in the DOL consent order, and reviewed the alternative transaction with Kelso to determine that it would be acceptable to them. Representatives of the special committee and the benefits committee then presented the alternative transaction proposal to the DOL. On August 18, 2004, the benefits committee proposed to the DOL an amendment to the consent order that would eliminate on a going-forward basis the valuation methodology that was agreed to in the consent order. Representatives of Holding and EMJ indicated that they intended to pursue a merger and financial restructuring and public offering as described in this proxy statement/prospectus, but that consummation of such a transaction would not be a condition to amending the consent order. See The Merger and Financial Restructuring The Background of the Merger and Financial Restructuring.

Holding and the benefits committee have agreed with the DOL to amend the consent order that settled the DOL litigation, and an amended consent order was entered by the court on December , 2004. The amendment provides that:

to the extent that the stock bonus plan is required to obtain appraisals after the date of the amended consent order, the appraisals will be prepared in accordance with generally accepted appraisal principles and the stock bonus plan will no longer be required to use the appraisal methodology that historically had been employed, which as of March 31, 2004 resulted in an appraised value of \$13.76 per share of Holding common stock;

after the date of the amended consent order, all repurchases of Holding common stock from stock bonus plan participants who elect to put shares of Holding common stock to Holding or to sell shares of

Table of Contents

Holding common stock to Holding in connection with diversification of their account will be at an appraised value based on the new methodology, which as of March 31, 2004 resulted in an appraised value of \$7.80 per share of Holding common stock;

the floor price guaranty was reduced from \$4.25 to \$2.15 per share to reflect the changes in the appraisal methodology and the effect of the special contribution, and after the date of a reorganization or similar event, such has the merger and financial restructuring, the floor price guaranty will cease; and

upon completion of the merger and financial restructuring and the public offering, the shares of common stock held by the stock bonus plan will no longer be valued by appraisal and the participants will cease to have the right to put shares of Holding common stock to Holding or EMJ.

In order to offset the change of the appraisal methodology as a result of the amended consent order, Holding has decided to implement a program to make a special contribution of additional shares of Holding common stock or common stock equivalents to (1) the stock bonus plan, (2) a supplemental stock bonus plan and (3) a cash bonus plan. Holding has committed to make a special contribution of 1.0817 shares of Holding common stock or its equivalent with respect to each share of Holding common stock held by the stock bonus plan. This amount is equal to (a) the difference between the appraised value as of March 31, 2004 using the old methodology and the appraised value as of March 31, 2004 using the new methodology, divided by (b) the appraised value as of March 31, 2004 using the new methodology, adjusted for the dilutive effect of such contribution. After giving effect to the special contribution, the stock bonus plan participants holding Holding common stock will continue to have shares of Holding common stock with the same aggregate value, notwithstanding the change in valuation methodology, which otherwise would have had the effect of reducing the aggregate value of their equity interests. There are currently 2,506,309 shares of Holding common stock in the stock bonus plan. The special contribution will consist of 2,496,703 shares of Holding common stock or its equivalent and cash bonuses paid through the new cash bonus plan of \$1,416,905 in the aggregate to participants who are no longer employed by EMJ.

To ensure compliance with the Internal Revenue Code and ERISA requirements, the first contribution will be made after the completion of the plan year ending March 31, 2005. Due to certain Internal Revenue Service rules limiting the amount of contributions that can be made in a single year, the contributions will be made over two years, and affected participants who are no longer employed by EMJ may have to receive at least part of the program benefits in cash payments outside the stock bonus plan. Holding has adopted an amendment to the stock bonus plan that provides for stock contributions for the plan years ending March 31, 2005 and March 31, 2006. To the extent legally permissible, each participant will receive 1.0817 additional shares of Holding common stock for each share of Holding common stock which remained in their account as of the date of the amended consent order. Other Internal Revenue Service rules limit contributions that discriminate in favor of highly compensated employees. To the extent participants do not receive their full allocation under the stock bonus plan over the two years, the program benefits will be provided under a cash bonus plan or through credits of units under a phantom stock plan called the supplemental stock bonus plan. The program has been designed to ensure that each participant will receive the equivalent value of their allocation of the special contribution determined as of the date of the amended consent order, whether or not they continue to be employed by EMJ or continue to be a plan participant.

If the merger and financial restructuring and the public offering are consummated, EMJ will assume Holding s obligations under all aspects of the program and the stock contributions will be made in EMJ common stock.

35

THE MERGER AND FINANCIAL RESTRUCTURING

The Background of the Merger and Financial Restructuring

Holding and EMJ were formed in a transaction completed in May 1990. A total of approximately \$475 million was required to consummate the transaction, of which approximately \$125 million was financed by equity investments in Holding and the balance was financed with indebtedness incurred by EMJ. During the period since 1990, Holding has become progressively more leveraged. Upon completion of the transaction in May 1990, Holding s capitalization was as follows:

		Aggregate
Security	No. of Shares	Value of Stock
Common stock, \$0.01 par value at a purchase price of \$10.00 per share	9,815,000	\$ 98,150,000
Series A preferred stock, \$0.01 par value at a purchase price of \$100.00 per share	247,570	\$ 24,757,000

In addition, EMJ issued \$75.0 million in aggregate principal amount of its variable rate subordinated notes to KIA IV. The notes had an interest rate of 14% per annum, payable in cash every six months. In September 1990, Holding completed an offering of 338,000 shares of its common stock at \$10.00 per share primarily to employees of EMJ. In October 1990, KIA IV exchanged \$20.0 million in principal amount of EMJ s variable rate subordinated notes for 2.0 million newly issued shares of Holding common stock.

In December 1991, Holding created the series B preferred stock and contributed 6,567 shares to Holding s stock bonus plan. An additional 6,687 shares and 5,287 shares of series B preferred stock were contributed to Holding s stock bonus plan in December 1992 and August 1993, respectively.

In March 1993, Holding and EMJ were restructured and EMJ s variable rate subordinated notes were exchanged for the Holding notes. After completion of this transaction, as of March 31, 1993, Holding s capitalization was as follows:

		Aggregate
Security	Val	ue of Securities
Holding notes	\$	55,000,000
Series A preferred stock, 247,546 shares, having an appraised value of \$120.18 per share, as of March 31, 1993	\$	29,750,000
Series B preferred stock, 16,600 shares, having an appraised value of \$1,000 per share, as of March 31,		
1993	\$	16,600,000
Common stock, 15,462,676 shares, having an appraised value of \$8.06 per share, as of March 31, 1993	\$	124,629,000

Since March 31, 1993, the balances of Holding s securities have changed as follows:

The Holding notes have accumulated interest at 18% per annum, compounding semi-annually. A cash interest payment of \$41.3 million was made in May 1998. In addition, a cash interest payment of \$25.3 million was made in June 2003. All other interest payments have been paid by issuing additional Holding notes.

The series A preferred stock accumulated dividends at the rate of 13% per annum from May 3, 1990 through December 31, 2002 and thereafter at 18% per annum. Since March 31, 1993, Holding has repurchased 187,576 shares of series A preferred stock. The series A preferred stock provides that dividends are not declared unless Holding is able to pay the dividend in cash. No dividends have been declared. Therefore, dividends have accumulated and are reflected in the appraised value.

36

The series B preferred stock accumulated dividends at rates between $15^{1}/2\%$ per annum and $19^{1}/2\%$ per annum, paid quarterly. Dividend payments have been paid through the issuance of additional shares of series B preferred stock. Since March 31, 1993, Holding has repurchased 38,360 shares of series B preferred stock.

Holding has contributed approximately 4,162,000 shares of common stock to Holding s stock bonus plan and repurchased approximately 4,828,000 shares of common stock from departing employees.

The resulting Holding capital structure at March 31, 2003 was as follows:

		Agg	regate Amount/
Security	No. of Shares	Aj	opraised Value
Holding senior notes		\$	196,715,000
Series A preferred stock, having an appraised value of \$607.51 per share as of March			
31, 2003	65,641	\$	39,878,000
Series B preferred stock, having an appraised value of \$1,000 per share as of March			
31, 2003	27,081	\$	27,081,000
Common stock, having an appraised value of \$5.46 per share as of March 31, 2003	11,636,844	\$	65,537,000

The compounding interest on the Holding notes and the compounding dividends on the series A preferred stock and series B preferred stock led our management to explore ways to create a simpler Holding capital structure without accreting securities. The amount of the Holding notes, the series A preferred stock and series B preferred stock and the financial performance of EMJ during this period, limited Holding s available options to refinance or otherwise alter the Holding capital structure.

From time to time, Mr. Nelson discussed Holding s capital structure with representatives of Kelso. Among other things, Mr. Nelson expressed his concern about the adverse effect of the significant interest and dividend obligations of Holding on the value of the Holding common stock. Mr. Nelson and representatives of Kelso continued to discuss Holding s capital structure and the alternatives available to change the structure or otherwise mitigate the effects of the accreting interest and dividends on the Holding common stock. These discussions were complicated by separate ongoing negotiations with the Department of Labor relating to their investigation of the stock bonus plan.

On March 8, 2002, the Department of Labor broke off settlement discussions and filed the DOL litigation against EMJ, Holding, the stock bonus plan and members of the benefits committee. The lawsuit alleged that the valuations of Holding s common stock used to make contributions to the stock bonus plan for plan years 1994 to 2000 contained significant errors resulting in the common stock contributed to the stock bonus plan in those years being overvalued.

In May 2002, we completed a refinancing of substantially all of EMJ s operating company indebtedness. In connection with the refinancing, we paid a dividend of \$25.0 million to Holding for the purpose of paying a portion of the Holding notes. In connection with the refinancing, KIA IV, as holder of the Holding notes, agreed to extend the maturity of the Holding notes from June 30, 2008 to June 30, 2013, and Mr. Nelson and Kelso agreed to explore restructuring alternatives for Holding after completion of that refinancing. The application of the dividend was subsequently deferred until June 30, 2003, when it was applied to the payment of interest on the Holding notes.

In July 2002, Kelso asked Wachovia Securities to meet with our senior management and review Holding s capital structure and evaluate strategic alternatives. Wachovia Securities agreed on the understanding that Wachovia Securities would not be engaged by Kelso or Holding and would not be compensated for the work, but that Wachovia Securities would be considered for any future work involving a financial restructuring or other strategic alternatives for Holding. Prior to that time, Wachovia Securities had not provided any services to or with respect to EMJ or Holding.

On August 5, 2002, Wachovia Securities met with Messrs. Nelson, McCaffery and Johnson of Holding and Mr. Conley of Katten Muchin Zavis Rosenman, or KMZR, Holding s legal counsel. Mr. Sanders of Wachovia Securities discussed his background, his past involvement in other transactions with Kelso and his understanding that he had been asked to discuss with management their concerns about Holding s capital structure, to review the financial condition of Holding and to evaluate the strategic alternatives available to Holding. As part of this discussion, Mr. Sanders disclosed that, prior to July 2002 when Wachovia Securities first was asked to meet with our senior management and review Holding s capital structure and evaluate strategic alternatives, Wachovia Securities and its various predecessor firms were engaged to provide advisory services to two companies owned or controlled by Kelso or its affiliates and unaffiliated with EMJ or Holding (other than through Kelso ownership). He also disclosed that Wachovia Securities and its various predecessor firms and affiliates had acted as lenders to companies owned or controlled by Kelso or its affiliates prior to that date, none of which was affiliated with EMJ or Holding (other than through Kelso ownership). Mr. Sanders also discussed his personal, historical involvement with Kelso, including, while still in private legal practice, prior to his joining Wachovia Securities, providing services to and sitting on the boards of directors of three Kelso portfolio companies.

In September 2002, Wachovia Securities met and discussed their analysis with representatives of Kelso. Wachovia Securities made the following observations:

Wachovia Securities valuation of Holding noted the potential for an adverse impact on equity values of Holding due to the accretion of the Holding notes and the series A preferred stock and series and B preferred stock;

Wachovia Securities noted that management had expressed apprehension that declining equity values could cause employees to leave the Company;

Continued operation under the current capital structure would not resolve concerns about Holding s equity value without significant improvement in operating company performance above current forecasts;

Wachovia Securities view that there did not appear to be any opportunity for a sale of the Company or a strategic combination at that time that would yield a valuation of Holding that would be acceptable to the various constituencies of Holding;

Wachovia Securities view that without a financial restructuring (1) access to the markets for initial public offerings was still very limited in general and that the outlook for the metals industry in particular was very uncertain, (2) a public offering at a valuation that would be acceptable to the various constituencies of Holding, and not dilutive of existing holders, was not feasible, and (3) it was unlikely that the proceeds of a public offering would be sufficient to redeem the Holding notes and the series A preferred stock and series and B preferred stock; and

A financial restructuring could facilitate other strategic alternatives.

In September 2002, we asked our legal counsel to outline the approval requirements and practical obstacles to a financial restructuring, and to review the issues with Kelso.

In December 2002, Holding and the Department of Labor resumed settlement negotiations, leading to a settlement agreement, or consent order, on January 27, 2003 that included the following provisions:

Holding was prohibited from making further common stock contributions to the stock bonus plan until its common stock becomes publicly traded;

Holding was required to obtain annual appraisals using methodologies consistent with prior appraisals and to use such appraised values as the purchase price for repurchases of common stock as was done in the past; and

38

If the annual appraised value of Holding common stock was less than \$4.25 per share, Holding was required to repurchase shares of Holding common stock from departing employees at a price of \$4.25, known as the floor price guaranty, for shares that were originally contributed to the stock bonus plan for the plan years 1994-2000.

In April 2003, Mr. Nelson met Mr. Sanders and outlined to him an alternative proposal for the repurchase of the capital stock held by Holding s stock bonus plan and all other employee-owned Holding capital stock at a discounted price. Subsequently, senior management forwarded the proposal to Kelso for their review. The proposal stipulated that the funds for the purchase could come from the \$25.0 million dividend to Holding in 2002 and additional borrowings of \$35.0 million under our credit facility, subject to receipt of necessary consents. Shortly thereafter, Kelso advised Mr. Nelson that Kelso did not believe the proposal was practicable. Kelso also stated that it was engaged in continuing internal discussions as to the advisability of a Holding financial restructuring.

Company management and Kelso continued discussions regarding a financial restructuring from April until July 2003.

On July 29, 2003, at a meeting of the Holding board of directors, Mr. Nickell stated that Kelso was prepared to engage in negotiations for a financial restructuring. The Holding board of directors then formed a special committee of independent directors to develop, consider, evaluate and negotiate a financial restructuring, and to consider and evaluate other strategic alternatives for Holding. After considering the qualifications and relationships of Holding s directors with Kelso, the Holding board appointed Mr. Nelson and Mr. Mason to serve on the special committee. The Holding board of directors also authorized the benefits committee to coordinate efforts with the trustee of Holding s stock bonus plan to consider, evaluate and negotiate a recapitalization, restructuring or other strategic alternative on behalf of the stock bonus plan.

On August 27, 2003, the special committee met with and engaged KMZR as legal counsel. In making its selection of counsel, the special committee considered the firm s experience in similar transactions, its familiarity with Holding and EMJ and the provisions of our indebtedness and the Holding notes, equity securities and stock bonus plan and KMZR s familiarity with management and management s concerns about the capital structure.

After considering proposals from Wachovia Securities and one other investment banking firm, the special committee selected Wachovia Securities to serve as its financial advisor in connection with a possible financial restructuring of Holding. When making the proposal for Wachovia Securities, Mr. Sanders disclosed that, prior to July 2002 when Wachovia Securities first was asked to meet with our senior management and review Holding s capital structure and evaluate strategic alternatives, Wachovia Securities and its various predecessor firms were engaged to provide advisory services to two companies owned or controlled by Kelso or its affiliates and unaffiliated with EMJ or Holding (other than through Kelso ownership). He also disclosed that Wachovia Securities and its various predecessor firms and affiliates had acted as lenders to companies owned or controlled by Kelso or its affiliates prior to that date, none of which was affiliated with EMJ or Holding (other than through Kelso ownership). Mr. Sanders also discussed his personal, historical involvement with Kelso, including, while still in private legal practice, prior to his joining Wachovia Securities, providing services to and sitting on the boards of directors of three Kelso portfolio companies. The members of the special committee expressed a number of reasons for their determination, including Wachovia Securities familiarity with the capital structure of Holding and its problems, Wachovia Securities familiarity with management and its concerns about the capital structure, Wachovia Securities experience in dealing with Kelso on behalf of adverse parties in other situations, and the experience of the Wachovia Securities team in similar financial restructuring transactions.

On September 17, 2003, Mr. Mason, Mr. McCaffery and Mr. Johnson met with Wachovia Securities and KMZR to review Wachovia Securities preliminary analysis of Holding s financial condition, the strategic alternatives and a financial restructuring plan. Representatives of Wachovia Securities specifically reviewed the strategic alternatives potentially available to the Company other than a financial restructuring. Wachovia

39

Table of Contents

Securities identified a variety of factors to be considered by the Company in evaluating potential strategic alternatives, including valuation, liquidity, certainty and the potential for Holding stockholders to participate in future growth or appreciation of equity value. Wachovia Securities evaluated alternatives based on a wide range of valuations for the Company using a variety of valuation methodologies.

Wachovia Securities first evaluated the possibility of a public offering of equity securities. They observed that, at that time, access to the markets for initial public offerings was still very limited in general, and that the outlook for the metals industry was particularly uncertain. Wachovia Securities believed that a public offering at a valuation that would be acceptable to the various constituencies of Holding would not be feasible given then current or anticipated market conditions. In addition, it was unlikely that the proceeds of a public offering would be sufficient to pay off the Holding notes and the series A preferred stock and the series B preferred stock in full. The ability to effect a common stock public offering at a satisfactory valuation would be adversely affected by the presence in the post-offering capital structure of outstanding Holding notes and the series A preferred stock and the series B preferred stock.

Wachovia Securities then addressed the prospects for a strategic combination or other sale of the Company. Wachovia Securities identified several potential strategic partners and presented an evaluation of the prospects of consummating a transaction with each of them. Wachovia Securities noted that there did not appear to be any opportunity for a sale of the Company or a strategic combination at that time, that in their view, would yield a valuation of Holding that would be acceptable to various constituencies of Holding. Wachovia Securities also analyzed the financing capacity of potential candidates to acquire Holding. Wachovia Securities concluded that, at that time, based on publicly available information and additional information proprietary to Wachovia Securities, the most likely acquiring parties would not be interested in a transaction involving EMJ. Wachovia Securities arrived at this conclusion after consulting with its personnel who were in regular contact with metal service center companies. Among the reasons Wachovia Securities reached this conclusion were the following: (1) no potential acquiring party had approached EMJ management or Kelso regarding a potential transaction, despite the knowledge in the industry that EMJ was majority owned by Kelso, a private equity group, and would therefore be receptive to serious acquisition proposals, (2) the universe of potential strategic acquirers was limited because of the small number of companies involved in the metal service center industry with the size and financial capacity to acquire EMJ, and the financial condition and/or strategic direction of those companies that seemed to be likely candidates did not appear to be consistent with either a common stock or a cash acquisition of the magnitude necessary for EMJ, (3) the universe of potential financial sponsor acquirers was limited by the leverage constraints in the market which, in conjunction with EMJ s already high level of debt, would likely prohibit valuation levels that the Holding s board of directors would find acceptable, and (4) the capital structure of EMJ presented structural complexities which could adversely affect the valuation of EMJ by any potential acquiror or strategic partner. In addition, Wachovia Securities believed that potential acquisition candidates would be unlikely to find sufficient financing to pay a significant portion of the purchase price in cash. Based on the special committee s evaluation of the materials and analysis provided by Wachovia Securities, the special committee determined that it should continue to work toward a financial restructuring transaction.

On September 18, 2003, a meeting was scheduled with the trustee of the stock bonus plan to brief the trustee on the contemplated financial restructuring transaction. On September 22, 2003, the trustee informed the representatives of the special committee that because the trustee would be directed by the stock bonus plan participants or the benefits committee of the stock bonus plan in connection with the approval of such a transaction, the trustee would not be making any discretionary decisions as to the desirability of any transaction. Accordingly, it was not necessary to involve the trustee with respect to the structuring and negotiation of the terms of the financial restructuring.

After consultation with its legal advisors, the special committee determined that it would recommend to Holding s benefits committee that the benefits committee engage a financial advisor to assist it in considering, evaluating and negotiating the terms of the financial restructuring on behalf of the stock bonus plan.

40

Table of Contents

On October 2, 2003, after receiving a presentation from Duff & Phelps, LLC, the benefits committee selected Duff & Phelps to serve as its financial advisor. Duff & Phelps indicated it had been engaged from time to time to perform valuation work for certain Kelso portfolio companies. The benefits committee expressed its desire to work with Duff & Phelps for a number of reasons, including Duff & Phelps familiarity with Holding, the stock bonus plan and the benefits committee from its work in the DOL litigation, Duff & Phelps detailed understanding of the past appraisals of Holding and its capital stock, and Duff & Phelps extensive experience in dealing with ESOPs, stock bonus plans and the special ERISA issues affecting those plans.

On October 13, 2003, Wachovia Securities met with the special committee, Messrs. McCaffery and Johnson, Duff & Phelps and the legal counsel to the special committee to make a presentation outlining their analysis of the financial condition of Holding, the alternatives available to Holding to deal with Holding s capital structure and a proposal for a financial restructuring.

Wachovia Securities and the members of the special committee considered general objectives of a financial restructuring proposal from the perspective of the special committee and its constituencies, principally the employee stockholders of Holding, including the following:

to treat the employee stockholders fairly and provide them with the best available opportunity for preserving current value without sacrificing the opportunity for future appreciation;

to align incentives for management and employees with other stockholders and to provide an equity incentive for employees;

to be cognizant of the fact that the vast majority of the employee ownership is in a retirement savings plan; and

to recognize that the current capital structure is likely to adversely affect preferred and common equity value.

The special committee and its advisors also considered the competing priority claims arising from KIA IV s ownership of the Holding notes and the employee put rights under Holding s stockholders agreement and the stock bonus plan and the need to balance those claims to achieve an effective compromise.

As a result of discussions with its advisors, the special committee developed a financial restructuring proposal in which all security holders would receive common stock of EMJ at the most recent appraised value of \$5.46 per share, without any additional consideration being allocated for interest and dividend accruals since March 31, 2003. The special committee also stated that any transaction should afford employees the opportunity to quit or retire and resell their stock to EMJ at the March 31, 2003 valuation and that the floor price guaranty from the consent order be continued.

Duff & Phelps observed that the proposal would be most favorable to the holders of Holding common stock, which included many employee stockholders, but noted that Kelso was the owner of approximately two-thirds of the common stock on a fully diluted basis. The proposal would be least favorable to the holders the Holding notes and series A preferred stock and the series B preferred stock. Duff & Phelps indicated that they would complete their valuation due diligence and evaluate the proposal as outlined and provide comments and suggestions.

On October 17, 2003, representatives of Duff & Phelps met with Messrs. Nelson, McCaffery and Johnson for diligence purposes and to discuss their views of the proposal with them as members of the benefits committee.

On October 21, 2003, the special committee met with its financial and legal advisors, Messrs. McCaffery and Johnson and representatives of Duff & Phelps to receive and discuss comments. Duff & Phelps said that they were generally supportive of the special committee s proposal, but suggested that stock bonus plan participants

41

Table of Contents

be entitled to a floor price guaranty of \$5.46 for the put rights applicable to the shares of EMJ common stock received by stock bonus plan participants as merger consideration in exchange for their series A and B preferred stock.

After discussing the proposal with its advisors, the special committee directed Wachovia Securities to make a proposal to Kelso as follows:

all securities of Holding outstanding upon completion of the merger and financial restructuring would be exchanged for or converted into common stock of EMJ using the appraised value of \$5.46 per share of the common stock of Holding as of March 31, 2003 to calculate the number of shares of EMJ common stock to be issued;

a floor price guaranty of \$5.46 that would apply if participants in the stock bonus plan exercised their put rights following a termination of employment with respect to the shares of EMJ common stock issued to the stock bonus plan as merger consideration in exchange for shares of preferred stock of Holding; and

voluntary continuation of the floor price guaranty with respect to shares of EMJ common stock issued to the stock bonus plan as merger consideration in exchange for the shares of common stock of Holding contributed to the stock bonus plan for plan years 1994-2000, as provided in the consent order in the DOL Litigation, and continued use of the same methodology in future appraisals prepared for the stock bonus plan.

After the meeting, the benefits committee met to review the proposal. The benefits committee unanimously (except for Mr. Hoffman who was absent) supported the proposal.

On October 21, 2003, Wachovia Securities submitted the special committee s proposal to Kelso. On October 22, 2003, Kelso responded to the proposal and indicated that they would be willing to agree to a financial restructuring that resulted in all of Holding s securities, including the Holding notes, being converted into EMJ common stock based on a price of \$5.46 per share, but that they would not agree to a floor price applicable to put rights for the EMJ common stock issued to the stock bonus plan in exchange for shares of Holding s series A preferred stock and the series B preferred stock.

Between October 22, 2003 and November 3, 2003, the special committee and Kelso negotiated over alternative formulations for a floor price applicable to puts by stock bonus plan participants of shares of EMJ common stock received as merger consideration for shares of Holding series A preferred stock and the series B preferred stock. On November 3, 2003, the special committee proposed to Kelso that a floor price guaranty of \$5.46 per share of EMJ common stock be available to the former holders of the series A preferred stock and the series B preferred stock only until March 31, 2005. If a participant in the stock bonus plan terminated his employment on or prior to March 31, 2005, the purchase price for the common stock issued as merger consideration for the Holding preferred stock would be the greater of the applicable appraised value and \$5.46 per share.

On November 6, 2003, Kelso advised the special committee and its advisors that it had been approached by an investment banking firm that was interested in evaluating the feasibility of a high-yield debt financing that would partially refinance the Holding notes. Kelso advised that the investment banking firm was reviewing the appropriateness of refinancing transactions on behalf of several of Kelso s portfolio companies given the then-current availability of high-yield financing. Kelso asked management and counsel to consider the feasibility of such a transaction. Management provided additional financial information to Kelso, and counsel outlined the mechanics for a combined refinancing and financial restructuring.

Over the next several days, Mr. Nelson and Wachovia Securities expressed their views to Kelso that a partial refinancing without a concurrent financial restructuring would not be acceptable to the special committee. The special committee and its advisors made several inquiries about the possible structure for such a transaction,

42

Table of Contents

particularly whether such a transaction would involve debt forgiveness in connection with KIA IV receiving a cash payment for a portion of the Holding notes. Kelso advised that the investment bankers thought that debt forgiveness would be impractical because it could adversely affect the market for a refinancing.

In an effort to resolve open issues, Wachovia Securities asked whether Kelso would drop consideration of the refinancing if the special committee withdrew its request for the floor price. After internal discussion, Kelso indicated that if the proposed floor price for the preferred stock was withdrawn, they would no longer consider a high-yield refinancing.

On November 21, 2003, after consideration of the alternatives and discussions with Wachovia Securities and Duff & Phelps, the special committee decided to withdraw the floor price proposal and proceed with finalizing the details of a financial restructuring. In lieu of the floor price proposal the special committee requested that the financial restructuring provide an opportunity for a limited period of time for employees who elect to terminate their employment to receive payment on their stock bonus plan account at the greater of March 31, 2003 and March 31, 2004 valuations. Kelso agreed to that provision.

On November 25, 2003, counsel to the special committee circulated a draft of a proposed merger agreement providing for the financial restructuring.

Kelso and its representatives negotiated several drafts of the merger agreement and related documents with the special committee and its representatives. In the course of such negotiations the special committee and Kelso agreed that the value of the Holding senior notes and the series A preferred stock and series B preferred stock would be fixed as of November 30, 2003 (in the case of the series A preferred stock and series B preferred stock, on the same basis as the prior appraisal) and would include accrued interest and dividends through such date, but not thereafter. On December 8, 2003, Kelso and the special committee agreed in principal on all significant terms of the transaction.

On December 11, 2003, Duff & Phelps met with the members of the benefits committee to deliver their fairness opinion orally and review their underlying analysis and the reasons for their conclusions. Based on all of the information available to them, including their familiarity with EMJ, its business, financial condition and prospects, the fairness opinion, presentation and analysis provided by Duff & Phelps and management s projections for EMJ s next fiscal year, the members of the benefits committee concluded that the stock bonus plan would receive adequate consideration (as that term is defined under ERISA) for each class of Holding s equity securities converted into EMJ common stock in the merger and financial restructuring. The benefits committee also determined that (1) shares held by the stock bonus plan that are not allocated to a rollover account for which a participant fails to provide the trustee with voting instructions shall be voted for adoption and approval of the merger agreement and the merger and financial restructuring and (2) participants will be advised in the disclosure materials that their shares held in the stock bonus plan will be voted accordingly.

On December 11, 2003, in a separate meeting, the special committee met with Wachovia Securities, Duff & Phelps and management to receive the oral fairness opinions of Wachovia Securities and Duff & Phelps and to review their underlying analysis and reasons for their conclusions. After discussion, the special committee unanimously determined to approve the merger agreement and the merger and financial restructuring and to recommend to the Holding board of directors their approval of the merger agreement and the merger and financial restructuring.

On December 11, 2003, after the meeting of the special committee, the Holding board of directors met with the special committee and its advisors. As part of this discussion, Mr. Sanders disclosed that, prior to July 2002 when Wachovia Securities was first asked to meet with our senior management and review Holding s capital structure and evaluate strategic alternatives, Wachovia Securities and its various predecessor firms were engaged to provide advisory services to two companies owned or controlled by Kelso or its affiliates and were also engaged in late

2003 to provide advisory services to another company owned or controlled by Kelso or its

43

Table of Contents

affiliates and unaffiliated with EMJ or Holding (other than through Kelso ownership). In addition, Wachovia Securities and its various predecessor firms have acted as lenders to companies owned or controlled by Kelso or its affiliates both prior to and after July 2002, none of which was affiliated with EMJ or Holding (other than through Kelso ownership). Mr. Sanders also discussed his personal, historical involvement with Kelso, including, while still in private legal practice, prior to joining Wachovia Securities, providing services to and sitting on the boards of directors of three Kelso portfolio companies. After reviewing the reports of the special committee and its advisors, all of the members of the Holding board of directors present at the meeting (Messr. Marquard and Rutledge were absent) adopted and approved the merger agreement and the merger and financial restructuring and recommended its approval to the stockholders of Holding. On December 11, 2003, all of the members of the EMJ board of directors present at the meeting (Messr. Marquard and Rutledge were absent) also met and approved the transaction.

Following approval of the merger agreement and the merger and financial restructuring by the boards of directors of Holding and EMJ on December 11, 2003, the parties executed the merger agreement on December 18, 2003, and EMJ initially filed its registration statement, of which this proxy statement/prospectus is a part, with the Commission on January 13, 2004. EMJ then apprised Wells Fargo Bank, N.A., as trustee of the stock bonus plan, of the status of the transaction and anticipated vote on the merger and provided Wells Fargo with materials related to the review and consideration of the proposed transaction by the benefits committee of the stock bonus plan and the draft disclosure materials for the solicitation of votes of the stock bonus plan participants, including the initial draft of this registration statement. In February and March 2004, members of the benefits committee and its representatives had various discussions and exchanged correspondence and other written materials with Wells Fargo regarding the merger, the procedures followed by the benefits committee in evaluating the merger and other strategic alternatives and the disclosures to be made to stock bonus plan participants regarding the merger in seeking the approval of the merger by these participants.

In late February 2004, the Department of Labor requested meetings with Wells Fargo and the benefits committee to review their procedures in connection with their respective evaluations of the proposed transaction and other strategic alternatives, as well as compliance of the proposed transaction with the provisions of the consent order. Representatives of Wells Fargo and the benefits committee of the stock bonus plan met with the Department of Labor on March 16, 2004 and March 18, 2004, respectively. In addition, on March 15, 2004, Holding and the stock bonus plan received a subpoena from the Department of Labor requesting that they provide to the Department of Labor certain materials regarding the merger and the stock bonus plan. Holding and the benefits committee responded in full to the subpoena.

The Department of Labor review of the transaction resulted in delays that, combined with other transactional requirements, precluded the consummation of the merger and financial restructuring on the terms originally proposed, and in May 2004, the legal counsel of the benefits committee advised the Department of Labor and the stock bonus plan trustee that the special committee and the benefits committee had reached that conclusion. In its review, the Department of Labor urged the benefits committee to consider changes to the merger and financial restructuring that would eliminate on a going-forward basis the valuation methodology that was agreed upon in the DOL consent order.

During the next few weeks, the special committee, the benefits committee and their respective advisors developed an alternative transaction similar to the initially proposed merger and financial restructuring that would also eliminate on a going-forward basis the valuation methodology that was agreed to in the consent order, and reviewed the alternative transaction with Kelso to determine that it would be acceptable to them. On June 14, 2004, representatives of the special committee, the benefits committee and their respective advisors outlined a proposal to the Department of Labor to amend the consent order and eliminate use of the old valuation methodology that included the following:

amend the consent order to eliminate the provisions requiring use of the old valuation methodology and the floor price guaranty;

44

Table of Contents

make a special contribution to the stock bonus plan (or comparable benefits under other programs) with respect to the shares of Holding common stock contributed to the stock bonus plan from 1994 through 2000 to offset the adverse effect on the value of such common stock resulting from the change in valuation methodology; and

complete a merger and financial restructuring transaction similar to the merger and financial restructuring originally proposed that would result in the conversion of the Holding common stock, series A preferred stock and series B preferred stock and the exchange of the Holding notes for EMJ common stock.

That proposal contemplated that the number of shares to be contributed to the stock bonus plan in the special contribution would be calculated based on the ratio of the value of the Holding common stock using the new valuation methodology. The proposal also provided that the special contribution would be made primarily in the form of shares of Holding common stock, but, to comply with certain provisions of the Internal Revenue Code limiting contributions to a stock bonus plan, the special contribution would be made in two increments in April 2005 and April 2006, a portion of the contribution would be made by creating a supplemental stock bonus plan and crediting the accounts under the stock bonus plan of certain participants with phantom stock units and a portion of the special contribution would be satisfied by making cash payments.

The representatives of the Department of Labor indicated that in general terms an amendment to the consent order and a transaction along the lines of the new proposal would be feasible, but that they would like to see more specific details of such a proposal based on a new appraisal of Holding as of March 31, 2004.

In June and July 2004, EMJ began to receive serious indications of interest from investment banking firms regarding the possibility of an initial public offering. Representatives of EMJ and their advisors discussed with the investment bankers a possible transaction involving a concurrent merger and financial restructuring and public offering, in which the value of the EMJ common stock issued in exchange for Holding securities in the merger and financial restructuring would be based on the offering price of the EMJ common stock and a substantial portion of the net proceeds of the public offering would be used to pay the exchange consideration for the Holding notes and the merger consideration for the series A preferred stock and the series B preferred stock.

On July 29, 2004, the representatives of the special committee and the benefits committee reported to the board of directors on the status of the discussions with the Department of Labor, and the board of directors discussed and decided to continue to pursue an amendment of the consent order along the lines initially proposed to the Department of Labor, but not contingent on the occurrence of a merger and financial restructuring or an initial public offering. The board also directed management to continue to meet with investment bankers and pursue a concurrent merger and financial restructuring and initial public offering contingent upon amendment of the consent order.

On August 18, 2004, the benefits committee sent its proposal for an amendment of the consent order together with the annual appraisal of Holding as of March 31, 2004, a separate sheet showing how the appraisal would change if the consent order was amended as proposed and documents necessary to implement the special contribution to the stock bonus plan. The proposal was essentially the same as the one outlined on June 14, 2004, except that it was not contingent on a merger and financial restructuring. The benefits committee informed the Department of Labor that Holding and EMJ still were diligently pursuing a merger and financial restructuring and concurrent public offering.

The special committee and the benefits committee met with their advisers on August 20, 2004 to prepare a proposal for the terms of the merger and financial restructuring. On September 2, 2004, representatives of the special committee had a conference call with representatives of Kelso to discuss the proposal in detail. As a

45

Table of Contents

result of those discussions and several additional conversations, the special committee and Kelso agreed on general terms of the merger and financial restructuring as follows:

Holding would merge into a newly formed subsidiary of EMJ and the securities of Holding would convert into or be exchanged for a combination of cash and EMJ common stock as follows:

each share of Holding common stock would convert into one share of EMJ common stock;

each share of series A preferred stock would convert into \$686.81, in cash (which amount is equal to the liquidation value of a share of series A preferred stock plus all accumulated and unpaid dividends, through September 29, 2004);

the Holding notes would be exchanged for a combination of cash and EMJ common stock equal to \$257.1 million (the aggregate amount of principal and accrued interest through September 29, 2004); and

each share of series B preferred stock would be exchanged for a combination of cash and EMJ common stock equal to \$1,000 (which amount is equal to the liquidation value of a share of series A preferred stock, including dividends through September 29, 2004).

The merger and financial restructuring would be concurrent with an initial public offering of the common stock of EMJ, and the public offering price of the EMJ common stock would establish the value of the EMJ common stock to be used as merger consideration and exchange consideration in the merger and financial restructuring.

The special committee also proposed, and Kelso agreed to consider, that the net proceeds of the offering would be allocated to the merger and exchange consideration (1) <u>first</u>, to the payment in cash of the series A preferred stock; (2) <u>second</u>, to the payment to the Holding notes, until the Holding notes have received an amount that is equal to 76.8% of all distributions from clause (1) and this clause (2); and (3) <u>third</u>, to the payment of the Holding notes and the Holding series B preferred stock in the proportion that these respective amounts represent of the aggregate remaining amounts of the Holding Notes and the series B preferred stock. Because the series A preferred stock was to be paid in full in cash, the holders of the series A preferred stock would have no right to vote on the transaction.

The proposed merger and financial restructuring was contingent on agreement with the DOL on an amended consent order and the making of a special contribution to the stock bonus plan substantially as proposed to the Department of Labor, and completion of a concurrent public offering of EMJ common stock on terms satisfactory to EMJ and Kelso.

The special committee and Kelso agreed that negotiations with respect to the treatment of the Holding stock options and the shares of Holding common stock held by the stock bonus plan that were not the result of employer contributions to the stock bonus plan would be deferred until after agreement had been reached with the DOL on the proposed amended consent order.

During September 2004, EMJ proceeded with preparations for a public offering and filed its registration statement on Form S-1, of which the public offering preliminary prospectus is a part, with the Commission on October 1, 2004. At the same time representatives of the special committee and the benefits committee continued to have discussions with the DOL.

In October 2004, Kelso and its representatives negotiated several drafts of the merger agreement and related documents with the special committee and its representatives. On October 15, 2004, the special committee, after consulting with the benefits committee, requested a change in the terms of the transaction.

Table of Contents

The benefits committee requested that the holders of the series A preferred stock to receive a combination of cash and EMJ common stock equal to the appraised value of the series A preferred stock as of March 31, 2004, plus dividends accrued from April 1, 2004 through September 29, 2004, for a total of \$816.68 per share of series A preferred stock. As a result of such change, the series A preferred stock would not receive a preferential allocation of cash proceeds and a lower redemption price, but would receive cash and EMJ common stock and a higher appraised value. Kelso and the special committee agreed to such change and that the net proceeds of the public offering should be applied to the Holding notes, the series A preferred stock and the series B preferred stock outstanding at closing in the same proportion that their respective aggregate values as of September 29, 2004 bear to the aggregate values of the Holding notes, the series A preferred stock and the series B preferred stock, as of September 29, 2004.

On October 15, 2004, the DOL provided the representatives of the benefits committee with comments on the proposed amended consent order. On October 27, 2004, the benefits committee submitted to the DOL a revised amended consent order and a memorandum outlining the program for the special contribution to the stock bonus plan.

On November 5, 2004, Kelso submitted a proposal to management and the benefits committee and its advisors for the treatment of the Holding stock options, the treatment of the shares of Holding common stock held by the stock bonus plan that were not the result of contributions to the stock bonus plan, and the liquidity of shares of common stock held by the stock bonus plan, executive officers and certain other management of EMJ. Kelso proposed that (1) the Holding stock options would be modified by increasing the number of shares of Holding common stock issuable upon exercise of an option and reducing the exercise price, (2) the special contribution to the stock bonus plan would be increased to cover all shares of Holding common stock held by the stock bonus plan, not just the shares of Holding common stock contributed to plan for plan years 1994 2000, (3) the stock bonus plan would be amended to provide for a gradual increase in the ability of plan participants to diversify their account holdings of EMJ common stock after the consummation of a public offering, (4) executive officers and senior management of EMJ would agree to restrictions on their ability to sell their holdings of EMJ common stock for a period of two years after a public offering and (5) EMJ would establish a new stock incentive plan with authorized shares equal to approximately five percent of the EMJ common stock expected to be outstanding after consummation of the merger and financial restructuring and the public offering to be granted by the EMJ board of directors or compensation committee over the next three years.

On November 15, 2004, management and the benefits committee met with its advisors and discussed the Kelso proposals and the status of negotiations with the DOL. On November 17, 2004, the DOL indicated that it had agreed in principle on a draft of the amended consent order. After further discussion with and internal review by the DOL, Holding, EMJ the benefits committee and the DOL agreed on the form of the amended consent order, and the order was entered on December 2004.

Representatives of Kelso and the special committee negotiated changes in the merger agreement, the exchange agreement and related documents. The benefits committee asked for an additional bonus payable to employees with Holding common stock allocated to their accounts in the stock bonus plan. In response to discussions with representatives of the benefits committee, Holding agreed to pay a bonus of \$7.5 million in the aggregate, payable if the public offering was completed, to active employees who are participants in the stock bonus plan based on the number of shares of Holding common stock in their stock bonus plan accounts. After additional negotiation, on December 15, 2004, Kelso and the special committee agreed in principle on all significant terms of the transaction.

On December 15, 2004, Duff & Phelps met with the members of the benefits committee to deliver their fairness opinion orally and review their underlying analysis and the reasons for their conclusions. Based on all of the information available to them, including their familiarity with EMJ, its business, financial condition and prospects, the fairness opinion, presentation and analysis provided by Duff & Phelps and management s projections for EMJ s next fiscal year, the members of the benefits committee concluded that under the terms of

the transaction, including a minimum price of \$5.00 for a share of EMJ common stock in the public offering and a minimum of \$100 million of net proceeds from the public offering, the stock bonus plan would receive not less than the fair market value for each class of Holding s equity securities converted into EMJ common stock or EMJ common stock and cash in the merger and financial restructuring. The benefits committee also determined that (1) shares held by the stock bonus plan that are not allocated to a rollover account for which a participant fails to provide the trustee with voting instructions shall be voted for adoption and approval of the merger agreement and the merger and financial restructuring and (2) participants will be advised in the disclosure materials that their shares held in the stock bonus plan will be voted accordingly.

On December 16, 2004, in a separate meeting, the special committee met with Wachovia Securities, Duff & Phelps and management to receive the oral fairness opinions of Wachovia Securities and Duff & Phelps and to review their underlying analysis and reasons for their conclusions. After discussion, the special committee unanimously determined to approve the merger agreement and the merger and financial restructuring, including a minimum price of \$5.00 for a share of EMJ common stock in the public offering and a minimum of \$100 million of net proceeds from the public offering, and to recommend to the Holding board of directors their approval of the merger agreement and the merger and financial restructuring.

On December 16, 2004, after the meeting of the special committee, the Holding board of directors met with the special committee and its advisors. As part of this discussion, Mr. Sanders reviewed and updated his prior disclosure regarding involvement by Wachovia Securities and its various predecessor firms with other companies owned or controlled by Kelso or its affiliates both prior to and after July 2002. Mr. Sanders also reviewed his prior personal, historical involvement with Kelso and Kelso portfolio companies. He had nothing new to add to the prior disclosures. After reviewing the reports of the special committee and its advisors, the Holding board of directors unanimously adopted and approved the merger agreement and the merger and financial restructuring, including a minimum price of \$5.00 for a share of EMJ common stock in the public offering and a minimum of \$100 million of net proceeds from the public offering, and recommended its approval to the stockholders of Holding. On December 16, 2004, the EMJ board of directors also met and approved the transaction.

Following approval of the merger agreement and the merger and financial restructuring by the boards of directors of Holding and EMJ, the parties executed the merger agreement on December 17, 2004, and EMJ filed an amendment to the registration statement of which this proxy statement/prospectus is a part with the Commission.

Recommendation of the Special Committee

The special committee evaluated and negotiated the transaction based on the interests of all of the stockholders of Holding excluding the Kelso funds. The special committee identified the following as its principal goals in evaluating the merger and financial restructuring against other alternatives:

stopping the accretion of interest on Holding s indebtedness and and dividends on its outstanding series A preferred stock and series B preferred stock;

completing a transaction that is fair to the holders (other than the Kelso funds) of each class of Holding s outstanding equity securities;

eliminating the liquidation preference of Holding s indebtedness relative to Holding s capital stock and eliminating the liquidation preference of Holding s preferred stock relative to Holding s common stock; and

simplifying Holding s capital structure.

The special committee unanimously determined that the merger and financial restructuring are fair and in the best interests of Holding and its stockholders other than the Kelso funds and recommended that Holding s board of directors adopt and approve the merger agreement and the merger and financial restructuring. The

48

special committee also recommended that the Holding board of directors recommend to the Holding stockholders that they approve and adopt the merger agreement and the merger and financial restructuring. In the course of reaching its decision, the special committee consulted with Holding s management, the special committee s legal counsel and financial advisor, and Holding s benefits committee, its legal counsel and its financial advisor, and considered the following material factors:

1. The information provided to the special committee and its financial advisors as to our financial condition, future prospects and available alternatives, including:

concerns about the long-term ability of Holding to service the accreting interest on the Holding notes and accreting dividends on the series A preferred stock and series B preferred stock based on the cyclical nature of the industry and management s financial projections;

concerns that current economic conditions, a robust metals service center industry, record financial results for EMJ and the availability of capital markets for a public offering by EMJ would not continue indefinitely;

concerns about the effect of Holding s capital structure on management s equity incentives and the ability of EMJ to retain its employees;

concerns about the effect that a deterioration in the value of Holding s equity securities could have on the retirement savings of our employees;

concerns about the misalignment of employee incentives because of the differences in the allocation of common stock, series A preferred stock and series B preferred stock among our employees based on historical factors without regard for responsibility or performance; and

the likelihood that delay in taking action to effect changes in our capital structure would likely adversely impact the value of Holding s equity securities.

- 2. The agreement to the terms of the amended consent order, the change in the appraised value of Holding s common stock resulting from the change in valuation methodology required by the amended consent order, and the special contribution to the stock bonus plan and the adjustment in the exercise price of the Holding stock options and the number of shares subject to the Holding stock options to offset the effect on the value of the Holding common stock resulting from the change in valuation methodology.
- 3. The special committee s belief, based on negotiations among the special committee and Kelso and discussions with its financial and legal advisors, that a financial restructuring of Holding and a concurrent public offering of EMJ common stock represents the most attractive currently obtainable value for Holding s preferred and common stockholders as a whole.
- 4. The special committee s belief, based on its negotiations with Kelso, that KIA IV would not agree to exchange the Holding notes for cash and EMJ common stock and relinquish its rights to accrual of interest and its priority unless the holders of the series A preferred stock and the series B preferred stock also agreed to convert their securities into cash and EMJ common stock and relinquish their corresponding rights to accrual of dividends and their preferences on terms no less favorable to the holders of the Holding notes than the terms provided to the holders of the series A preferred stock and the series B preferred stock.
- 5. The benefit to the holders of the series A preferred stock, the series B preferred stock and the Holding common stock of converting Holding s accreting indebtedness to cash and common stock and the benefit to the holders of the common stock of converting

Holding s series A preferred stock and the series B preferred stock to cash and common stock as a result of the merger and financial restructuring.

6. The benefit to the holders of the series A preferred stock, the series B preferred stock and the Holding common stock of eliminating the priority of the indebtedness with respect to the proceeds of a sale or other liquidation, and the benefit to the holders of the Holding common stock of eliminating the priority of the series A preferred stock and the series B preferred stock on sale or other liquidation.

49

Table of Contents

- 7. The special committee s belief that no strategic transaction alternative likely to be available now or in the immediate future would result in equal or better compensation to Holding s stockholders, other than Kelso and its affiliates, after providing for the repayment of the Holding notes. This belief was based upon the special committee s advisor s review of the most likely potential candidates for a strategic transaction. The advice was based on an assessment of the available financing capacity and apparent or announced strategies of the potential candidates, market multiples in comparable transactions, and the absence of meaningful expressions of interest in EMJ in the past several years by third parties and during the extended period while it has been public knowledge that EMJ has been working to effect a financial restructuring.
- 8. The increased flexibility of EMJ to pursue capital markets alternatives or strategic alternatives after consummation of the merger and financial restructuring and the public offering that are not currently available.
- 9. The fact that the stockholders of EMJ would participate in proportion to the number of shares of EMJ common stock held by them in the proceeds of any strategic transaction after the merger and would no longer be subordinate to and subject to the priority of the Holding notes.
- 10. The fact that holders of the series A preferred stock and series B preferred stock would receive a portion of their merger consideration in cash and thereby would have the ability to diversify a portion of their investment in the stock bonus plan.
- 11. The opinion of Wachovia Securities, the financial advisor to the special committee, that as of the date of its opinion, and subject to and based upon assumptions made, procedures followed, matters considered and limitations of the review undertaken, the aggregate consideration to be received by the stockholders of Holding, other than Kelso and its affiliates, in connection with the merger pursuant to the merger agreement is fair, from a financial point of view, to such stockholders of Holding.
- 12. The opinion of Duff & Phelps, the financial advisor to Holding s benefits committee, that as of the date of its opinion, and subject to and based upon assumptions made, procedures followed, matters considered and limitations of the review undertaken, (1) the aggregate consideration to be received by the stock bonus plan, in connection with the merger and financial restructuring of Holding and its subsidiaries and the public offering is fair to the stock bonus plan and its participants from a financial point of view, and (2) the consideration to be received by the stock bonus plan pursuant to the merger agreement in exchange for the (a) series A preferred stock, (b) series B preferred stock and (c) Holding common stock, considered independently, in each case, is not less than the respective fair market value of such securities.
- 13. The historical appraised values of Holding and its equity securities in the annual appraisals prepared for Holding s stock bonus plan and the valuation analyses prepared by the special committee s financial advisor, including the most recent appraisal as adjusted to give effect to the change in valuation methodology required by the amended consent order.
- 14. The ability of the Holding stockholders (including stock bonus plan participants) who do not support the merger to exercise dissenter s rights under Delaware law.

The special committee also considered that:

As a result of the series A preferred stock and the series B preferred stock being exchanged for cash and shares of EMJ common stock, former holders of the series A preferred stock and the B preferred stock would no longer be entitled to a fixed dividend or liquidation amount (including upon a deemed liquidation upon a sale or conveyance of, or transfer or sale of substantially all of the assets of, the Company) or other priority over any other class of security holders;

As a result of the merger and financial restructuring, the former holders of the series A preferred stock would no longer be entitled to a blocking right with respect to certain transactions including a sale of EMJ to a third party;

The merger and financial restructuring would have the effects of decreasing the percentage of common stock ownership by current holders of Holding common stock, thereby effectively diluting the voting rights of these holders, and terminating the rights of the employee stockholders to designate two directors;

Holders of Holding common stock (more than ninety percent (90%) of which shares are held by the Kelso funds) who had not acquired their Holding common stock at a price based on the old methodology did not receive the benefits of an adjustment to offset the effects of the change in valuation methodology required by the amended consent order; and

The public offering price may be more than, equal to, or less than the fair market value of those shares as determined by the appraisal as of March 31, 2004.

The special committee discussed and determined that the considerations listed above addressed the material information and material factors considered by the special committee in its consideration of the merger, including material factors that support the merger as well as those that may weigh against it, but concluded that, in view of the variety of factors and the amount of information considered, it was not practicable to, and therefore, the special committee did not specifically make assessments of, quantify or otherwise assign relative weights to the various factors and analyses considered in reaching its determination. The special committee acknowledged that in considering the material factors described above, individual members of the special committee may have given different weight to different factors and it was not necessary that they agree on the weight assigned to various factors. The special committee considered all these factors as a whole and believed the factors supported its decision to recommend that our board of directors adopt and approve the merger and the merger agreement and that our stockholders approve and adopt the merger agreement.

Recommendation of the Board of Directors

Holding s board of directors consists of seven directors, two of whom serve on the special committee. In reporting to Holding s board of directors its determination and recommendations, the special committee, with its legal and financial advisors participating, discussed this transaction and several alternative transactions with the other members of Holding s board of directors on several occasions, and discussed the process the special committee underwent to reach its determination that the terms of the merger agreement and the merger and financial restructuring, including the aggregate consideration payable to Holding s stockholders, are advisable and in the best interests of Holding and its stockholders other than Kelso and its affiliates and the merger agreement and the merger are substantively and procedurally fair to, and in the best interests of, Holding s stockholders other than Kelso and its affiliates.

Holding s board of directors, based upon the determination and unanimous recommendation of the special committee and the board s own independent analysis of the proposed transaction, determined by a unanimous vote that the terms of the merger agreement and the merger and financial restructuring are advisable and in the best interests of Holding and its stockholders other than Kelso and its affiliates and that the merger agreement and the merger and financial restructuring are substantively and procedurally fair to, and in the best interests of, Holding s stockholders other than Kelso and its affiliates. Holding s board of directors, considered the following factors in reaching this determination and recommending that its stockholders vote FOR adoption and approval of the merger agreement and the merger and financial restructuring:

- 1. The unanimous recommendation of the special committee.
- 2. The opinion of Wachovia Securities, the financial advisor to the special committee, that as of the date of its opinion, and subject to and based upon assumptions made, procedures followed, matters considered and limitations of the review undertaken, the aggregate consideration to be received by the stockholders of Holding, other than Kelso and its affiliates, in connection with the merger pursuant to the merger agreement is fair, from a financial point of view, to such stockholders of Holding.

51

- 3. The opinion of Duff & Phelps, the financial advisor to Holding s benefits committee, that as of the date of its opinion, and subject to and based upon assumptions made, procedures followed, matters considered and limitations of the review undertaken, (1) the aggregate consideration to be received by the stock bonus plan, in connection with the merger and financial restructuring of Holding and the public offering, is fair to the stock bonus plan and its participants from a financial point of view, and (2) the consideration to be received by the stock bonus plan pursuant to the merger agreement in exchange for the (a) series A preferred stock, (b) series B preferred stock and (c) Holding common stock, considered independently, in each case, is not less than the respective fair market value of such securities.
- 4. The factors referred to above as having been taken into account by the special committee.
- 5. The following additional procedural factors:

the special committee consisted entirely of disinterested directors appointed by the Holding board of directors to consider and negotiate the transaction;

the special committee retained and was advised by its own independent financial advisor to assist it in evaluating the merger agreement and the merger and provide it with financial advice and by legal counsel of its choice;

the benefits committee of Holding also retained and was advised by its own legal counsel and independent financial advisor to assist it in evaluating the merger agreement and the merger and financial restructuring on behalf of the stock bonus plan and the holders of each separate class of Holding s stock by the participants in the plan;

the special committee, in consultation with the benefits committee, engaged in extensive negotiations and deliberations in evaluating the merger agreement and the merger and financial restructuring;

the fact that the value of the EMJ common stock for purposes of calculating the merger consideration and the exchange consideration will be determined in a public offering; and

the merger agreement and the merger and financial restructuring must be approved by: (a) a majority of the shares of Holding s common stock and series B preferred stock voting together as a class, excluding the shares of such stock owned by Kelso and its affiliates, and (b) a majority of the shares of series A preferred stock voting separately as a class, excluding the shares of such stock owned by Kelso and its affiliates.

Holding s board of directors discussed and determined that the considerations listed above address the material information and material factors considered by Holding s board of directors in its consideration of the merger, including material factors that support the merger as well as those that may weigh against it, but concluded that in view of the variety of factors and the amount of information considered, it was not practicable to, and therefore, the board of directors did not specifically make assessments of, quantify or otherwise assign relative weights to the various factors and analyses considered in reaching its determination. Holding s board of directors acknowledged that in considering the material factors described above, individual members of Holding s board of directors may have given different weight to different factors and it was not necessary that they agree on the weight assigned to various factors. Holding s board of directors relied on the experience and expertise of Wachovia Securities, as financial advisor, for quantitative analysis of the financial terms of the merger. The determination was made after collectively considering all of these factors.

Holding s board of directors recommends that our stockholders vote FOR the adoption and approval of the merger agreement and the merger and financial restructuring.

Opinion of Wachovia Capital Markets, LLC to the Special Committee of Earle M. Jorgensen Holding Company, Inc.

On August 25, 2003, the special committee retained Wachovia Securities to act as its financial advisor in connection with a possible financial restructuring of Holding. The special committee selected Wachovia Securities to act as its financial advisor based on Wachovia Securities qualifications, expertise and reputation and its knowledge of Holding s and EMJ s respective business and affairs. On August 20, 2004, the special committee extended the engagement of Wachovia Securities to serve as its financial advisor in connection with the revised merger and financial restructuring transaction. On December 16, 2004, the special committee held a meeting, in which Wachovia Securities participated, to evaluate the merger and financial restructuring. At that meeting, Wachovia Securities rendered its oral opinion, confirmed in writing as of December 16, 2004, that, as of the date of its opinion, and subject to and based upon assumptions made, procedures followed, matters considered and limitations of the review undertaken, the aggregate consideration to be received by the stockholders of Holding, other than Kelso and its affiliates, in connection with the merger and financial restructuring pursuant to the merger agreement is fair, from a financial point of view, to such stockholders of Holding.

The full text of Wachovia Securities opinion, dated as of December 16, 2004, which is attached as Annex F to this proxy statement/prospectus, sets forth, among other things, the assumptions made, procedures followed, matters considered, and limitations of the review undertaken by Wachovia Securities, which are described below. You are urged to, and should, read Wachovia Securities opinion carefully and in its entirety.

Wachovia Securities opinion, which is directed to the special committee, addresses only the fairness, from a financial point of view, of the aggregate consideration to be received by the stockholders of Holding, other than Kelso and its affiliates, in connection with the merger and financial restructuring pursuant to the merger agreement.

With the consent of the special committee, Wachovia Securities opinion did not address Holding s underlying business decision to proceed with or effect the merger and financial restructuring, nor did it constitute a recommendation to any Holding stockholder as to how any stockholder should vote with respect to the merger. Wachovia Securities was neither asked to, nor did it, offer any opinion as to any term of the merger agreement or the form of the merger and financial restructuring, other than as to the fairness, from a financial point of view, as of the date of the opinion and subject to and based on the assumptions made, procedures followed, matters considered and limitations of the review undertaken, of the aggregate consideration to be received by the stockholders of Holding, other than Kelso and its affiliates, in connection with the merger and financial restructuring pursuant to the merger agreement. In rendering its opinion, Wachovia Securities assumed, with the consent of the special committee, that each party to the merger agreement would comply with all the material terms of the merger agreement, including, without limitation, consummation of the transactions contemplated by the exchange agreement.

In arriving at its opinion, Wachovia Securities, among other things:

Reviewed the merger agreement and the exchange agreement, including the financial terms of the merger and the exchange.

Reviewed the draft Form S-1 (dated October 1, 2004) for the proposed initial public offering and the draft Form S-4 (dated November 19, 2004) for the proposed merger and financial restructuring.

Reviewed certain business, financial, and other information regarding EMJ that was publicly available.

Reviewed certain business, financial, and other information regarding Holding and its prospects that was furnished to Wachovia Securities by, and that Wachovia Securities has discussed with, the management of Holding.

Reviewed certain business, financial, and other information regarding EMJ and its prospects that was furnished to Wachovia Securities by, and that Wachovia Securities has discussed with, the management of EMJ.

53

Table of Contents

Compared certain business, financial, and other information regarding Holding with similar information regarding certain publicly traded companies that Wachovia Securities deemed relevant.

Compared the proposed financial terms of the merger agreement and the exchange agreement with the financial terms of certain other business combinations and transactions that Wachovia Securities deemed relevant.

Developed discounted cash flow models for Holding based upon management s estimates.

Reviewed the potential pro forma impact of the merger on EMJ s financial statements.

Reviewed the valuation of Holding s capital stock as of March 31, 2003 prepared by Houlihan Lokey Howard & Zukin.

Reviewed the valuation of Holding capital stock as of March 31, 2004, prepared by Duff & Phelps.

Considered other information such as financial studies, analyses, and investigations as well as financial, economic and market criteria that Wachovia Securities deemed relevant.

In connection with its review, Wachovia Securities relied upon the accuracy and completeness of the foregoing financial and other information, and Wachovia Securities did not assume any responsibility for any independent verification of such information. Wachovia Securities relied upon assurances of the management of Holding and EMJ that they were not aware of any facts or circumstances that would make such information about Holding or EMJ inaccurate or misleading. With respect to projections and financial forecasts, Wachovia Securities relied on estimates prepared by management of Holding and EMJ. Wachovia Securities assumed that the projections, financial forecasts, estimates, judgments, and all assumptions expressed by management of Holding and EMJ were reasonably formulated and that they were the best currently available projections, financial forecasts, estimates and judgments of management of Holding and EMJ. Wachovia Securities discussed the projections, financial forecasts, estimates and judgments, as well as the assumptions on which they were based, with management of Holding and EMJ, but Wachovia Securities assumed no responsibility for, and expressed no view of, such projections, financial forecasts, estimates, judgments or the assumptions upon which they were based. In arriving at its opinion, Wachovia Securities did not conduct any physical inspection or assessment of the facilities of EMJ and did not make and was not provided with any evaluations or appraisals of the assets or liabilities of either of Holding or EMJ. Wachovia Securities relied on advice of counsel of Holding as to all legal matters with respect to Holding and the transactions contemplated by the merger agreement.

In rendering its opinion, Wachovia Securities assumed that the transactions contemplated by the merger agreement and the exchange agreement would be consummated on the terms described in the merger agreement and the exchange agreement, without waiver of any material terms or conditions, and that in the course of obtaining any necessary legal, regulatory or third-party consents or approvals, no restrictions would be imposed that would have a material adverse effect on such transactions or other actions contemplated by the merger agreement.

The opinion does not address any other aspect of the merger and financial restructuring or any related transaction, nor does the opinion address the merits of the underlying decision by Holding, the special committee or the board of directors of Holding to enter into the merger agreement nor the relative merits of the merger compared with other business strategies that may have been considered by Holding, the special committee and the board of directors of Holding.

Wachovia Securities opinion is necessarily based on economic, market, financial and other conditions and information that were made available to it and that could be evaluated as of December 16, 2004. Although subsequent developments may affect its opinion, Wachovia Securities does not have any obligation to update, revise or reaffirm its opinion.

The financial analyses summarized below include information presented in tabular format. Wachovia Securities believes that its analyses and the summary of its analyses must be considered as a whole and that

54

Table of Contents

selecting portions of its analyses and factors or focusing on the information presented below in tabular format, without considering all analyses and factors or the full narrative description of the financial analysis, including the methodologies and assumptions underlying the analyses, could create a misleading or incomplete view of the process underlying its analyses and opinion. The tables alone do not constitute a complete description of Wachovia Securities financial analyses.

No limitations were imposed by the special committee on the scope of Wachovia Securities investigation or the procedures to be followed by Wachovia Securities in rendering its opinion. In connection with the preparation and delivery of its opinion, Wachovia Securities performed a variety of financial and comparative analyses, which are described below.

In arriving at its opinion, Wachovia Securities did not ascribe a specific range of value to Holding or EMJ, but rather made its determination on the basis of the multiple financial and comparative analyses described below. In addition, Wachovia Securities did not consider, nor did it express any opinion with respect to, the relative values, rights or priorities of the common stock, series A preferred stock or series B preferred stock of Holding compared to either or both such other class or classes of capital stock.

Summary of Analyses. The following is a summary of the material financial and comparative analyses utilized by Wachovia Securities in arriving at its opinion.

Comparable Public Companies Trading Multiples Analysis. Wachovia Securities compared financial and operating data of Holding to the following selected publicly traded companies in the distribution and value-added processing services industry for metal goods:

A.M Castle & Co. Metals USA Novamerican Steel, Inc. Olympic Steel, Inc. Reliance Steel & Aluminum Co. Russel Metals, Inc. Ryerson Tull, Inc. Worthington Industries, Inc.

Utilizing publicly available information for each of the comparable companies, Wachovia Securities calculated, among other things, the multiples, based upon closing stock prices on December 13, 2004, of enterprise value (defined as equity market value plus net debt) to earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation and amortization (EBITDA) for the latest 12 month (LTM) period, and enterprise value to estimated EBITDA for the 12 month periods ending December 31, 2004 (CY2004E EBITDA) and December 31, 2005 (CY2005E EBITDA).

The high, low and median multiples for the selected comparable companies were as follows:

Enterprise Value to LTM EBITDA(1)

High	7.0x
Low	3.4x
Median	4.1x

(1) The relevant data for A.M. Castle & Co. was not included in this table.

Enterprise Value to CY2004E EBITDA(1)

High	10.5x
Low	2.9x
Median	4.2x

(1) The relevant data for A.M. Castle & Co., Novamerican Steel, Inc., Olympic Steel, Inc. and Ryerson Tull Inc. were not included in this table.

Enterprise Value to CY 2005E EBITDA(1)

High	9.0x
Low	5.4x
Median	6.2x

⁽¹⁾ The relevant data for A.M. Castle & Co., Novamerican Steel, Inc., Olympic Steel, Inc. and Ryerson Tull Inc. were not included in this table.

Discounted Cash Flow Analysis. Wachovia Securities performed discounted cash flow analyses to estimate a range of present enterprise values, assuming Holding continued to operate as a stand-alone entity. Wachovia Securities determined the range of present values of Holding by calculating the sum of (1) the present value of projected free cash flows of Holding over the four fiscal year period of Holding from 2006 through 2009, (2) the present value of the estimated perpetuity value of Holding in year 2009, and (3) the cash surrender value of the corporate-owned life insurance assets. In calculating a perpetuity value, Wachovia Securities assumed growth rates ranging from 1% to 5% during the perpetuity period, with particular focus on growth rates between 2% to 4%. The projected free cash flows and Adjusted EBITDA of Holding used by Wachovia Securities in its analysis were reviewed by management. The free cash flows and terminal value were discounted to present value using discount rates (based on the weighted average cost of capital) ranging from 8% to 12%, with particular focus on discount rates between 9% to 11%. Wachovia Securities viewed this range of discount rates as appropriate for companies with the risk characteristics of Holding and was based upon several factors, including Wachovia Securities knowledge of Holding and the industry in which it operates, the business risks of Holding, and the overall interest rate environment as of December 13, 2004.

Wachovia Securities utilized its discounted cash flow analysis to compute representative ranges of enterprise values for Holding. In computing the representative ranges of the value of the stock held by the stockholders of Holding, other than Kelso and its affiliates, before and after the merger and financial restructuring, including the consummation of the public offering, Wachovia Securities added to its computed representative

range of enterprise value for Holding the cash surrender value of Holding s company-owned life insurance assets, deducted from that total the net debt of both Holding and EMJ, and then gave effect to the respective liquidation preferences of the series A preferred stock and series B preferred stock. Based upon the foregoing, before giving effect to the merger and financial restructuring, including the consummation of the public offering, Wachovia Securities determined that Holding had an enterprise value ranging from approximately \$560 million to \$819 million, resulting in a range of multiples of 3.7x to 5.4x to calendar year 2005 estimated Adjusted EBITDA of Holding.

The discounted cash flow analyses of Holding do not necessarily indicate actual values or actual future results and do not purport to reflect the prices at which any securities of Holding may trade at the present or at any time in the future. Discounted cash flow analysis is a widely used valuation methodology, but the results of this methodology are highly dependent on the numerous assumptions that must be made, including earnings growth rates, perpetuity values and discount rates.

Comparable Transactions Analysis. Using publicly available information, Wachovia Securities considered selected transactions in the distribution and value-added processing services industry for metal goods that it deemed to be relevant. Specifically, Wachovia Securities reviewed the following transactions:

TargetAcquirorIntegris Metals Corp.Ryerson Tull, Inc.International Steel GroupIspat International

Precision Strip Inc. Delta Tubular Processing Leroux Steel, Inc.

Inland Steel, Inc. Chatham Steel, Corp.

Instel Southwest LP

Ispat International NV
Reliance Steel & Aluminum Co.
Lone Star Technologies Inc.
Russel Metals, Inc.
Ryerson Tull, Inc.

Reliance Steel & Aluminum Co.

Metals USA, Inc.

Using publicly available information concerning each of the target companies, Wachovia Securities calculated, based upon historical financial information for the latest reported twelve months immediately preceding the announcement of each of the transactions, the following multiples: enterprise value to LTM sales, and enterprise value to LTM EBITDA.

The high, low, median and mean multiples for the selected comparable transactions were as follows:

Enterprise Value to LTM Sales

High	2.1x
Low	0.2x
Median	0.6x
Mean	0.8x

Enterprise Value to LTM EBITDA

High	15.6x
Low	4.2x
Median	7.1x
Mean	8.9x

Wachovia Securities utilized its selected comparable public companies trading multiples, discounted cash flow and comparable transactions analyses to compute representative ranges of enterprise values for Holding. In computing the representative ranges of the value of the stock held by the stockholders of Holding, other than Kelso and its affiliates, before and after the merger and financial restructuring, including the consummation of the initial public offering, Wachovia Securities added to its computed representative range of enterprise value for Holding the cash surrender value of Holding s company-owned life insurance assets, deducted from that total the net debt of both Holding and EMJ, and then gave effect to the respective liquidation preferences of the series A preferred stock and series B preferred stock. Based upon the foregoing, before giving effect to the merger and financial restructuring, and applying enterprise value multiples of 5.5x to 7.5x to Holding s estimated EBITDA,

Table of Contents

Table of Contents

after deducting net income from the company-owned life insurance assets and excluding certain non-recurring charges (the Adjusted EBITDA) for the calendar year ending December 31, 2005 (2005E), Wachovia Securities determined that the total value of the stock of Holding held by stockholders other than Kelso and its affiliates ranged from \$149.8 million to \$282.2 million or 27.4% to 33.1% of Holding s total stockholder value. After giving effect to the merger and financial restructuring, and using the same enterprise value multiples, assuming gross proceeds of \$250 million from the initial public offering and using a 15% discount to EMJ s equity value after the consummation of the initial public offering (as commonly applied by underwriters in initial public offerings), Wachovia Securities determined that the total value of EMJ common stock to be received by the stockholders of Holding, other than Kelso and its affiliates, would range from \$68.5 million to \$181.1 million, or 14.6% to 24.9% of EMJ s total stockholder value.

Wachovia Securities also assessed the potential value of the stock held by the stockholders of Holding, other than Kelso and its affiliates, before and after the merger and financial restructuring, including the consummation of the initial public offering, as of the end of Holding s fiscal years dated March 31, 2006 and March 31, 2007. Wachovia Securities applied a multiple of 5.5x to Adjusted EBITDA for the subsequent twelve month period, respectively, as projected by Holding, to compute the enterprise value of Holding for each such fiscal year. Wachovia Securities added to its computed representative range of enterprise value for Holding the cash surrender value of Holding s company-owned life insurance assets, deducted from that total the net debt of both Holding and EMJ, and then gave effect to the respective liquidation preferences of the series A preferred stock and series B preferred stock. Based upon the foregoing, before giving effect to the merger and the financial restructuring, Wachovia Securities determined that the total value of Holding common stock to be held by stockholders of Holding, other than Kelso and its affiliates, would be \$0.0 or 0.0% of Holding s total stockholder value. After giving effect to the merger and the financial restructuring, and using the same enterprise value multiple, assuming gross proceeds of \$250 million from the initial public offering, Wachovia Securities determined that the total value of EMJ common stock to be received by the stockholders of Holding, other than Kelso and its affiliates, as of March 31, 2006 would be \$33.7 million and as of March 31, 2007 would be \$26.3 million, or, in each case, 14.6% of EMJ s total stockholder value.

General. The preparation of a fairness opinion is a complex analytical process involving various determinations as to the most appropriate and relevant methods of financial analysis and the application of those methods to the particular circumstances. Therefore, a fairness opinion is not readily susceptible to partial analysis or summary description. In arriving at its opinion, Wachovia Securities did not attribute any particular weight to any analysis or factor that it considered, but rather made qualitative judgments as to the significance and relevance of each analysis and factor.

In performing its analyses, Wachovia Securities made numerous assumptions with respect to industry performance, general business and economic conditions and other matters, many of which are beyond Holding s and EMJ s control. No company, transaction or business used in the analyses described above is identical to Holding or the proposed merger. Any estimates contained in Wachovia Securities analysis are not necessarily indicative of future results or actual values, which may be significantly more or less favorable than those suggested by these estimates. The analyses performed were prepared solely as a part of Wachovia Securities analysis of the fairness, from a financial point of view, as of the date of the opinion and subject to and based on the assumptions made, procedures followed, matters considered and limitations of the review undertaken, of the aggregate consideration to be received by the stockholders of Holding, other than Kelso and its affiliates, in connection with the merger pursuant to the terms of the merger agreement and were conducted in connection with the delivery by Wachovia Securities of its opinion dated as of December 16, 2004, to the special committee.

The consideration to be paid to stockholders of Holding in the merger agreement was determined through negotiations among Holding, EMJ and EMJ Metals LLC, members of their respective senior management teams and their respective advisors, and was approved by the special committee and the board of directors of Holding. Wachovia Securities did not recommend any specific consideration to Holding or that any given consideration constituted the only appropriate consideration for the merger and financial restructuring.

136

Table of Contents

Wachovia Securities opinion to the special committee was one of the many factors taken into consideration by the special committee and the board of directors of Holding in making their determination to approve the merger. Wachovia Securities analyses summarized above should not be viewed as determinative of the opinion of the special committee or the board of directors of Holding with respect to Holding s value or of whether the special committee or the board of directors of Holding would have been willing to consider different financial terms for the merger and financial restructuring.

Wachovia Securities is a nationally recognized investment banking and advisory firm and a subsidiary of Wachovia Corporation. Wachovia Securities, as part of its investment banking and financial advisory business, is continuously engaged in the valuation of businesses and their securities in connection with mergers and acquisitions, negotiated underwritings, competitive biddings, secondary distributions of listed and unlisted securities, private placements and valuations for corporate and other purposes. Wachovia Securities sold its limited partner position in Kelso Investment Associates VI, L.P., a Delaware limited partnership, in January 2003 to an investor that is unaffiliated with Wachovia Securities, Holding or EMJ, and Wachovia Securities and its affiliates currently have outstanding loan commitments to several portfolio companies of Kelso. Wachovia Securities and its affiliates (including Wachovia Corporation and its affiliates) have provided and may provide banking services, including, but not limited to, investment banking services, to Holding, EMJ or Kelso and its affiliates in the future for which it will be paid fees. Prior to July 2002, when Wachovia Securities was asked to meet with our senior management and review Holding s capital structure and evaluate strategic alternatives, Wachovia Securities and its various predecessor firms provided advisory services to two companies owned or controlled by Kelso and its affiliates and were paid an investment banking fee in connection with those services. In November 2003, Peebles, Inc., a portfolio company of a Kelso affiliate, engaged Wachovia Securities in connection with its sale to Stage Stores, Inc. and paid Wachovia Securities an investment banking fee upon the closing of that transaction in November 2003.

Holding has paid Wachovia Securities a fee of \$100,000, which represented a non-refundable advisory fee paid to Wachovia Securities upon its acceptance of the engagement. The full amount of this fee became fully earned and payable at the time Wachovia Securities accepted the engagement, and no part of such fee was contingent upon the delivery of a fairness opinion by Wachovia Securities or the approval or consummation of the merger and the exchange. Holding also paid Wachovia Securities an additional non-refundable cash fee of \$75,000 per month (commencing on March 1, 2004) up to the maximum aggregate amount of \$225,000. In addition, Holding paid Wachovia Securities a fee of \$500,000, which represented a non-refundable cash fee paid to Wachovia Securities upon the delivery of its fairness opinion to the special committee. The full amount of this fee became fully earned and payable at the time Wachovia Securities rendered its fairness opinion, and no part of such fee was contingent upon the approval or consummation of the merger and the exchange. Holding has also agreed to pay Wachovia Securities an additional fee of approximately \$325,000 for its financial advisory services in connection with the merger and financial restructuring, which additional fee is contingent on the consummation of the merger and financial restructuring. If the merger and financial restructuring is consummated, Wachovia Securities will be entitled to aggregate compensation of \$1,150,000. Holding has also agreed to reimburse Wachovia Securities for its expenses incurred in performing its services and to indemnify Wachovia Securities and its affiliates, their respective directors, officers, agents and employees and each person, if any, controlling Wachovia Securities or any of its affiliates against certain liabilities and expenses, including certain liabilities under federal securities laws, related to or arising out of Wachovia Securities engagement and any related transactions.

Opinion of Duff & Phelps, LLC to the Benefits Committee and Board of Directors of Earle M. Jorgensen Holding Company, Inc.

On October 1, 2003, Holding s benefits committee retained Duff & Phelps to provide financial advisory services with respect to the proposed transaction and to render an opinion as to the fairness of the proposed transaction, from a financial point of view, to the participants in the stock bonus plan. On December 11, 2003, Duff & Phelps delivered its final presentation and a written opinion letter to the benefits committee in connection

59

with the merger and financial restructuring as originally proposed. Duff & Phelps continued to provide financial advisory services in connection with discussions with the DOL and negotiations with Kelso on a revised merger and financial restructuring. On October 21, 2004, Holding s benefits committee formally extended its retention of Duff & Phelps to provide financial advisory services with respect to the revised merger and financial restructuring transaction and to render an opinion as to the fairness of the revised transaction, from a financial point of view, to the participants in the stock bonus plan.

On December 14, 2004, Duff & Phelps delivered a draft written summary presentation of its underlying analysis to the benefits committee. On December 15, 2004, Duff & Phelps participated in a conference call with the benefits committee to discuss its previously transmitted written presentation and to answer any questions regarding its analysis and conclusions. On December 16, 2004, Duff & Phelps participated in two additional conference calls with the special committee and the board of directors of Holding, also to discuss its previously transmitted written presentation and to answer any questions regarding its analysis and conclusions. On December 16, 2004, Duff & Phelps delivered its final presentation and written opinion letter to the benefits committee stating, in part, that as of December 16, 2004 and based upon and subject to the factors and assumptions set forth in its opinion: (1) the aggregate consideration to be received by the stock bonus plan in connection with the merger and financial restructuring of Holding and its subsidiaries and the public offering is fair to the stock bonus plan and its participants from a financial point of view, and (2) the consideration to be received by the stock bonus plan pursuant to the merger agreement in exchange for the series A preferred stock, series B preferred stock and Holding common stock, considered independently in each case, is not less than the respective fair market value of such securities.

The full text of Duff & Phelps opinion, dated as of December 16, 2004, which is attached as Annex G to this proxy statement/prospectus, sets forth, among other things, the assumptions made, procedures followed, matters considered, and limitations of the review undertaken by Duff & Phelps, which are described below. You are urged to, and should, read Duff & Phelps opinion carefully and in its entirety.

In connection with its opinion, Duff & Phelps made such reviews, analyses and inquiries, as they deemed necessary and appropriate under the circumstances. Duff & Phelps due diligence with regard to the merger and financial restructuring included, but was not limited to, the items summarized below.

Held discussions with the following individuals at EMJ:

Mr. Maurice S. Nelson, Jr., President, Chief Executive Officer and Chief Operating Officer

Mr. R. Neil McCaffery, Executive Vice President

Mr. William S. Johnson, Chief Financial Officer and Vice President

Subsequent telephonic discussions were held with EMJ management; members of the benefits committee; O Melveny & Meyers, legal counsel to the benefits committee; members of the special committee of Holding s board of directors; Katten Muchin Zavis Rosenman, legal counsel to the special committee; and Wachovia Securities, financial advisor to the special committee.

Visited EMJ s headquarters in Lynwood, California;

Reviewed relevant agreements, including but not limited to:

Agreement and Plan of Merger and Reorganization (draft dated November 9, 2004);

Exchange Agreement (draft dated November 10, 2004);

Form S-4 Registration Statement, including Amendments thereto (latest draft dated December 16, 2004);

Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation of Earle M. Jorgensen Company;

Stockholders Agreement of Earle M. Jorgensen Company;

60

Table of Contents

Consent Order and Release by and between Elaine L. Chao, Secretary of the United States Department of Labor and EMJ dated January 27, 2003;

Amended Consent Order (draft as of November 17, 2004); and

Lock-Up Agreement (draft dated October 2004);

Reviewed the valuation of Holding capital stock as of March 31, 2003 and March 31, 2004 prepared by Houlihan, Lokey, Howard and Zukin and Duff & Phelps, respectively;

Reviewed EMJ s financial statements and Commission filings, including the annual report on Form 10-K for the years ended March 31, 2001 through 2004 and quarterly reports on Form 10-Q for the periods ended September 29, 2003 and 2004;

Reviewed Holding s audited financial statements for the fiscal years ended March 31, 2001 through 2004;

Reviewed Holding s internal financial statements for the fiscal years ended March 31, 2001 through 2004 and the six-month periods ended September 29, 2003 and 2004;

Reviewed financial projections prepared by EMJ management for the fiscal years ended March 31, 2005 through 2008 and for the calendar year ended December 31, 2005;

Reviewed and analyzed market trading prices and indicated valuation metrics for comparable public companies;

Reviewed other operating, financial and legal information regarding EMJ and Holding;

Reviewed pertinent economic and industry information; and

Reviewed and prepared other studies, analyses and investigations as we deemed appropriate.

Duff & Phelps also took into account its assessment of general economic, market and financial conditions, and its experience in securities and business valuation, in general, and with respect to transactions similar to the merger and financial restructuring. In particular. Duff & Phelps did not make any independent evaluation, appraisal or physical inspection of EMJ s or Holding s solvency or of any specific assets or liabilities (contingent or otherwise). Duff & Phelps opinion should not be construed as a credit rating, solvency opinion, an analysis of EMJ s or Holding s credit worthiness or otherwise as tax advice or as accounting advice. In rendering its opinion, Duff & Phelps relied upon the fact that the benefits committee, EMJ and Holding have been advised by counsel as to all legal matters with respect to the merger and financial restructuring, including whether all procedures required by law to be taken in connection with the merger and financial restructuring have been duly, validly and timely taken; and Duff & Phelps did not make, and assumes no responsibility to make, any representation, or render any opinion, as to any legal matter.

In preparing its forecasts, performing its analysis and rendering its opinion with respect to the merger and financial restructuring, Duff & Phelps: (1) relied upon the accuracy, completeness, and fair presentation of all information, data, advice, opinions and representations obtained from public sources or provided to it from private sources, including EMJ and Holding management, and did not attempt to independently verify such information, (2) assumed that any estimates, evaluations and projections furnished to Duff & Phelps were reasonably prepared and based upon

the last currently available information and good faith judgment of the person furnishing the same, and (3) assumed that the final versions of all documents reviewed by them in draft form conform in all material respects to the drafts reviewed. Duff & Phelps opinion further assumes that information supplied and representations made by EMJ and Holding management are substantially accurate regarding EMJ, Holding, and the merger and financial restructuring. Neither Holding management nor its board of directors placed any limitations upon Duff & Phelps with respect to the procedures followed or factors considered by Duff & Phelps in rendering its opinion.

61

Table of Contents

In its analysis and in connection with the preparation of its opinion, Duff & Phelps made numerous assumptions with respect to industry performance, general business, market and economic conditions and other matters, many of which are beyond the control of any party involved in the merger and financial restructuring. Duff & Phelps has also assumed that all of the conditions precedent required to implement the merger and financial restructuring will be satisfied and that the merger and financial restructuring will be completed in accordance with the merger agreement that was provided for its review.

The basis and methodology for Duff & Phelps opinion have been designed specifically for the express purposes of the benefits committee, the special committee and the board of directors and may not translate to any other purposes.

To the extent that any of the foregoing assumptions or any of the facts on which Duff & Phelps opinion is based proves to be untrue in any material respect, its opinion cannot and should not be relied upon.

Duff & Phelps prepared its opinion effective as of December 16, 2004. The opinion is necessarily based upon market, economic, financial and other conditions as they existed and could be evaluated as of such date, and Duff & Phelps disclaims any undertaking or obligation to advise any person of any change in any fact or matter affecting the opinion which may come or be brought to the attention of Duff & Phelps after the date hereof.

Duff & Phelps opinion should not be construed as creating any fiduciary duty on Duff & Phelps part to any party.

Duff & Phelps opinion is not a recommendation as to how any stockholder should vote or act with respect to any matters relating to the merger and financial restructuring, or whether to proceed with the merger and financial restructuring or any related transaction, nor does it indicate that the consideration received is the best possible attainable under any circumstances. The decision as to whether to proceed with the merger and financial restructuring or any related transaction may depend on an assessment of factors unrelated to the financial analysis on which Duff & Phelps opinion is based. As a result, the opinion and presentation of Duff & Phelps was only one of many factors taken into consideration by the benefits committee, the special committee and the board of directors in making their respective determinations with respect to the merger and financial restructuring.

The preparation of a fairness opinion is a complex process and is not necessarily susceptible to partial analysis or summary description. In addition, the process of preparing a fairness opinion necessarily requires a broad range of subjective judgments with respect to appropriate comparable companies, appropriate multiples of various selected financial data, appropriate discount rates and other financial and other factors. Duff & Phelps made numerous assumptions with respect to industry performance, general business, market and economic conditions and other matters, many of which are beyond the control of any party involved in the merger and financial restructuring. Analyses and estimates of the values of companies do not purport to be appraisals or necessarily reflect the prices at which companies or their securities may actually be sold.

In preparing its opinion, Duff & Phelps performed certain financial and comparative analyses summarized in the following paragraphs. Duff & Phelps believes that its analyses must be considered as a whole and that selecting portions of such analyses and the factors it considered, without considering all such analyses and factors, could create an incomplete view of the analyses and the process underlying its opinion. While the conclusions reached in connection with each analysis were considered carefully by Duff & Phelps in arriving at its opinion, Duff & Phelps made various subjective judgments in arriving at its opinion and did not consider it practicable to, nor did it attempt to, assign relative weights to the individual analyses and specific factors considered in reaching its opinion. Although these paragraphs include some information in tabular format, those tables are not intended to stand alone, and must be read together with the full text of each summary and the limitations and qualifications in the opinion.

Duff & Phelps analysis was comprised of two primary components: (1) an analysis of the probable range of fair market value of Holding s securities on a pre-transaction basis, and (2) an analysis of the fair market value of

62

Table of Contents

the consideration to be received by the stock bonus plan assuming the consummation of the merger and financial restructuring.

In its pre-transaction analysis, Duff & Phelps derived a range of enterprise values for EMJ s operations using a discounted cash flow analysis, a comparable public company analysis and a comparable transaction analysis. Each of these analyses is summarized below.

Discounted Cash Flow Analysis. Duff & Phelps performed a discounted cash flow analysis to derive indications of total enterprise value. A discounted cash flow analysis is designed to provide insight into the intrinsic value of a business based on the projected earnings and capital requirements as well as the net present value of projected debt-free cash flows. Duff & Phelps based its discounted cash flow analysis on projections of debt-free cash flows of Holding for the remainder of fiscal 2005 and fiscal years ended March 31, 2006 through 2008. These projections were provided by Holding s management and were not independently verified by Duff & Phelps. In its analysis, Duff & Phelps used discount rates ranging from 10.0% to 11.0% to reflect the overall risk associated with Holding s operations and financial performance. Duff & Phelps calculated a terminal value at the end of 2008 using two methods; a constant growth dividend discount model, which incorporated a range of perpetuity growth rates from 4.5% to 5.5%, and the capitalization of EBITDA method using an EBITDA multiple in the range of 7.5x to 8.5x.

Duff & Phelps discounted cash flow analysis yielded a total enterprise value for Holding ranging from \$668 million to \$859 million.

Comparable Public Company Analysis. Duff & Phelps comparable company analysis was based on a selected group of comparable public companies. No company used in this analysis is identical to Holding, and, accordingly, a comparable company analysis involves complex and subjective considerations and judgments concerning differences in financial and operating characteristics of businesses and other factors that affect trading prices of the various companies being compared.

In the selection of comparable public companies, Duff & Phelps used multiple databases to identify domestic public companies that are the most similar to EMJ from an investment perspective. It is unusual that any public company is identical, or a close substitute, for a private company. Typically, however, public companies can be identified which have a similar product line, customer base, or other business attributes which would cause an investor to group the companies in the same broad industry class for investment purposes. Duff & Phelps ultimately included the eleven companies listed below in the comparison group based on their investment risks, products and services offered, and target markets:

A. M. Castle & Co. Commercial Metals Friedman Industries Gibraltar Industries Metals USA Novamerican Steel Olympic Steel Quanex Reliance Steel and Aluminum Ryerson Tull Steel Technologies

63

Duff & Phelps then compared selected financial information of Holding with corresponding data of the selected comparable public companies. Duff & Phelps derived valuation multiples based on the ratio of total enterprise value to latest twelve months EBITDA and earnings before interest and taxes (EBIT) and total enterprise value to projected calendar year 2005 EBITDA and EBIT. The table below summarizes the valuation multiples for the eleven comparable public companies:

Enternrice	Value ac a	Multiple of
Enter brise	value as a	viuitible of

Company Name	terprise Value	LTM EBITDA	Projected EBITDA	LTM EBIT	Projected EBIT			
	 •04							
Castle (AM) & Co.	\$ 281	3.8x	NA	4.4x	NA			
Commercial Metals	1,649	4.7	4.4x	5.8	5.4x			
Friedman Industries	57	8.7	NA	10.1	NA			
Gibraltar Steel	942	8.4	7.2	10.7	8.8			
Metals USA Inc.	550	3.8	5.7	3.8	5.8			
Novamerican Steel Inc.	397	3.9	NA	4.2	NA			
Olympic Steel Inc.	316	3.5	3.5	3.9	3.9			
Quanex Corp.	1,195	8.1	8.0	12.1	12.1			
Reliance Steel & Aluminum Co.	1,741	5.2	6.5	6.0	7.9			
Ryerson Tull Inc.	792	2.2	7.9	2.3	10.1			
Steel Technologies	422	5.9	5.1	7.4	6.3			
Mean	\$ 758	5.3x	6.1x	6.4x	7.5x			
Median	\$ 550	4.7x	6.1x	5.8x	7.1x			

Notes:

NA = Not available. Analyst projections of EBITDA and EBIT were not available through published sources for AM Castle & Co, Friedman Industries, and Novamerican Steel.

LTM EBITDA and EBIT Multiples have been adjusted for LIFO charges, if any.

Based on an assessment of current valuation multiples and a comparison of Holding with the selected public companies in terms of size, growth, profitability and other relevant quantitative and qualitative factors, Duff & Phelps selected the following ranges of valuation multiples for Holding: 4.5x to 5.0x latest twelve months EBITDA; 5.5x to 6.0x projected calendar year 2005 EBITDA; 5.0x to 5.5x latest twelve months EBIT; and 6.0x to 6.5x projected calendar year 2005 EBIT.

Duff & Phelps then applied the selected valuation multiples to Holding s adjusted EBITDA and EBIT for the twelve months ending September 29, 2004 as well as projected EBITDA and EBIT for calendar year ended December 31, 2005 as provided by management. Both EBITDA and EBIT as reported in Holding s financial statements were adjusted by Duff & Phelps to remove the effect of certain non-recurring expenses, and also to remove the effect of any income and expenses associated with Holding s corporate-owned life insurance, which was accounted for separately in the analysis. In addition, with respect to latest twelve months EBIT and EBITDA, Duff & Phelps made an adjustment to remove LIFO reserve expenses from Holding s income as well as that of the selected comparable companies. The application of selected multiples to the relevant financial measures is summarized in the table below.

(in \$000s)	Representative	Selected	Indicated Range of
			Enterprise Values
	Level		<u> </u>

			Range of Valuation Multiples	
EBITDA LTM	\$ 164,100	×	$4.5x \ 5.0x =$	\$ 738,450 \$820,500
EBITDA Projected Calendar 2005	\$ 151,500	×	5.5x 6.0x =	\$ 833,250 \$909,000
EBIT LTM	\$ 152,700	×	$5.0x \ 5.5x =$	\$ 763,500 \$839,850
EBIT Projected Calendar 2005	\$ 138,600	×	6.0x 6.5x =	\$ 831,600 \$900,900

As shown above, Duff & Phelps comparable company analysis yielded a total enterprise value for Holding ranging from \$738 million to \$909 million. Duff & Phelps did not consider any one of these value indications to be any more or less significant than any other indication in arriving at its conclusions.

Table of Contents

Comparable Transaction Analysis. Similar to the comparable public company analysis, Duff & Phelps used multiple databases and resources to identify comparable controlling interest transactions involving companies with similar product lines, customers, or other business attributes. Duff & Phelps identified seven pending or completed comparable transactions for which adequate financial data was available.

The range of valuation multiples identified from the controlling transaction search was not used to directly value Holding. Instead, the range of valuation multiples was examined in conjunction with the discounted cash flow and comparable company analyses to assess the reasonableness of the concluded value of Holding. After consideration of various factors, including differences in business characteristics and company specific profitability, as well as changes in industry-wide conditions since the announcement of the identified transactions, it was Duff & Phelps opinion that the observed transaction multiples provided reasonable support for its valuation conclusions under the above-described methodologies.

Concluded Range of Enterprise Values Operations. Based on its discounted cash flow and comparable public company analyses, Duff & Phelps determined that a range of enterprise values from \$715 million to \$860 million was reasonable.

Adjustments to Enterprise Value. To allocate total enterprise value across Holding s preferred and common equity securities, Duff & Phelps reduced its concluded enterprise values by the amount of operating company debt and the September 29, 2004 balance of the Holding debt, net of cash. This resulted in total equity value ranging from \$120.1 million to \$265.1 million. Next, Duff & Phelps added the \$46.2 million cash surrender value of Holding s corporate-owned life insurance policy to arrive at a range of total equity values between \$166.3 million and \$311.3 million, which was then allocated among the series A preferred stock, series B preferred stock and common stock.

Preferred Stock Analysis. In connection with ongoing administration of the stock bonus plan, Duff & Phelps prepared an appraisal of the series A preferred stock as of March 31, 2004. The appraised value as of that date was \$749.42 per share. Duff & Phelps determined that any change in value since March 31, 2004 is solely attributable to the passage of time and the accompanying accretion of additional dividends. Additional accretion at 18% per annum was calculated from March 31, 2004 to September 29, 2004, resulting in a value of \$816.68 per share, or an aggregate value of \$48.98 million based on 59,971 shares issued and outstanding.

Duff & Phelps followed the same methodology in determining the fair market value of the series B preferred stock. However, on September 29, 2004 the cut-off date for dividend accretion under the terms of the merger and financial restructuring dividends on the series B preferred stock were paid by Holding in the form of additional shares of such stock. Because dividends are current as of the cut-off date, Duff & Phelps valued the series B preferred stock at its liquidation preference of \$1,000 per share, or an aggregate value of \$28.72 million based on 28,718 shares issued and outstanding.

Concluded Range of Common Equity Values. Duff & Phelps determination of common equity value was derived by deducting the aggregate value of series A preferred stock and series B preferred stock from the total equity value. Duff & Phelps also deducted its estimated value of outstanding common stock options. Common stock options were valued in a range from \$6.9 million to \$28.5 million using the Black-Scholes option valuation model. Based on the range of total equity value outlined above, Duff & Phelps determined that the aggregate value of Holding s common equity ranged from \$81.7 to \$205.1 million on a fully diluted basis.

Finally, dividing its concluded fully diluted common equity value by 16.69 million common shares resulted in rounded values ranging from \$5.00 per share to \$12.25 per share on a pre-transaction, fully diluted basis.

It should be noted that Duff & Phelps calculation of per share value is based on 16.69 million shares of common stock, which includes 11.25 million shares issued and outstanding, 2.94 million warrants, and the special contribution of 2.50 million shares. The special contribution shares were included in this calculation

65

Table of Contents

based on Duff & Phelps understanding that Holding and the DOL will enter into the amended consent order, and Holding will commit to making the related special contribution, regardless of whether or not the remainder of the merger and financial restructuring is completed.

Conclusion

Duff & Phelps fairness opinion conclusion was based on an assessment of the total consideration to be received for each class of security, and the stock bonus plan as a whole, and a comparison of such consideration with the value of participants holdings on a pre-transaction basis.

With regard to both classes of Holding preferred stock, holders will receive a combination of cash and common stock with a total value equal to the September 29, 2004 fair market value of their pre-transaction holdings. Duff & Phelps reasoned that since a portion of the consideration will consist of cash, and since the number of shares of common stock that will be received as the non-cash portion of consideration will be determined based on a market price, that total consideration will, by definition, represent market value. Based on the foregoing, as long as the public offering takes place within the size and pricing parameters set forth as conditions to closing, it was Duff & Phelps opinion that the series A preferred stock and series B preferred stock will receive consideration that is not less than their respective fair market values.

With respect to holders of Holding common stock, the consideration to be received is limited to an exchange for new EMJ common stock. Duff & Phelps further reasoned that if the new EMJ common stock, which will also be sold to the public and used to redeem debt and Holding preferred stock, were priced too low, then existing Holding common stock holders would be unfairly diluted and the value of their existing holdings would decrease. However, as long as the offering price is determined in the open market and is equal to or greater than \$5.00 per share, then by definition all securities will have been sold and/or exchanged at their fair market value.

Duff & Phelps is a nationally recognized investment banking firm that is regularly engaged to render financial opinions in connection with mergers and acquisitions, tax matters, ESOP and ERISA matters, corporate planning, and other purposes. Previously, Duff & Phelps has provided Holding with: (1) financial advisory services with respect to Holdings litigation with the Department of Labor, (2) the appraisal of capital stock for administration of the stock bonus plan, and (3) a fairness opinion in connection with a prior attempt to consummate a merger and financial restructuring.

Holding has paid Duff & Phelps a fee of \$125,000 in connection with the services provided by it under this engagement and \$200,000 in connection with the prior fairness opinion. No portion of Duff & Phelps fees was contingent upon consummation of the merger and financial restructuring or the conclusion reached by Duff & Phelps in its fairness opinion. Holding has also agreed to reimburse Duff & Phelps for its expenses incurred in performing its services and to indemnify Duff & Phelps and its affiliates, their respective directors, officers, agents and employees and each person, if any, controlling Duff & Phelps or any of its affiliates against certain liabilities and expenses, including certain liabilities under federal securities laws, related to or arising out of Duff & Phelps engagement and any related transactions. Additional professional services beyond advising the benefits committee, providing the fairness opinion, and assisting with the proxy statement/prospectus, if any, will be billed on an hourly basis at Duff & Phelps standard rates.

66

THE SPECIAL MEETING

Date, Time and Place of the Special Meetin	g			
The special meeting will be held on	, 2005, at	a.m. (Time) at	

Purpose of the Special Meeting

The purpose of the special meeting is to allow the stockholders of Holding to consider and vote on a proposal to adopt the Agreement and Plan of Merger and Reorganization, dated as of December 17, 2004, by and among Holding, EMJ, and EMJ Metals LLC, pursuant to which Holding will merge with and into EMJ Metals LLC with EMJ Metals LLC as the survivor, and EMJ will pay cash and issue shares of its common stock in exchange for the capital stock of Holding and the Holding notes. If the merger and financial restructuring is completed, each issued and outstanding share of Holding s common stock will automatically be converted into one share of our common stock, each share of Holding s series A preferred stock will automatically be converted into a combination of cash and shares of our common stock having a value of \$816.68, and each share of Holding s series B preferred stock will automatically be converted into a combination of cash and shares of our common stock having a value of \$1,000.00.

Record Date, Shares Entitled to Vote and Voting Power

Holding s board of directors has fixed the close of business on , 2005 as the record date for determining those stockholders entitled to notice of, and to vote at, the special meeting. Only holders of record on the record date are entitled to notice of, and to vote at, the special meeting. On the record date, there were 59,971 shares of series A preferred stock issued and outstanding, 28,718 shares of series B preferred stock issued and outstanding and 11,253,312 shares of Holding s common stock issued and outstanding.

Stockholders of record on the record date will be entitled to one vote per share of capital stock owned by them. Holders of Holding s common stock and series B preferred stock will vote together as a class on the merger proposal and at any adjournment or postponement of that meeting. Holders of series A preferred stock will vote as a separate class on the merger proposal and at any adjournment or postponement of that meeting.

Quorum and Vote Required

Holding s bylaws require the presence, in person or by duly executed proxy, of holders of a majority of the issued and outstanding shares of (1) Holding s common stock and series B preferred stock, voting together as a class, and (2) Holding s series A preferred stock, voting separately as a class, at the special meeting to constitute a quorum at the special meeting for such proposal. For purposes only of determining the presence or absence of a quorum for a particular proposal, Holding intends to count abstentions as present at the special meeting. Abstentions are not, however, counted as votes cast and, therefore, have the same effect as a vote AGAINST the merger.

Under the provisions of Holding s amended and restated certificate of incorporation and the Delaware General Corporation Law, approval of the merger agreement and the merger and financial restructuring requires the affirmative vote of a majority of the issued and outstanding shares of Holding s common stock and series B preferred stock voting together as a class, and a majority of the issued and outstanding shares of Holding s issued and outstanding series A preferred stock voting separately as a class. However, because of the substantial ownership of the common stock and series A preferred stock by Kelso and its affiliates, the merger agreement establishes the following thresholds requiring the affirmative vote of: (a) a majority of the issued and outstanding shares of Holding s common stock and series B preferred stock voting together as a class, (b) a majority of the issued and outstanding shares of Holding s common stock and series B preferred stock voting together as a class, excluding the shares of such stock owned by Kelso and its affiliates, (c) a majority of the issued and outstanding

shares of series A preferred stock voting separately as a class, and (d) a majority of the issued and outstanding shares of series A preferred stock voting separately as a class, excluding the shares of such stock owned by Kelso and its affiliates.

As of November 30, 2004, Kelso and its affiliates held an aggregate of 8,259,799 shares of Holding s common stock, which represented 73.4% of Holding s issued and outstanding shares of Holding s common stock and 61.9% of Holdings issued and outstanding common stock and series B preferred stock, and KIA held 24,519 shares of Holding s series A preferred stock, which represented 40.9% of issued and outstanding shares of Holding s series A preferred stock. Each of the Kelso funds has agreed to vote all of the Holding capital stock owned by it in favor of the merger and financial restructuring. As a practical matter, the determination of whether or not the merger and financial restructuring is approved will turn on the vote of the stockholders other than Kelso and its affiliates.

Participants in Holding s Stock Bonus Plan

Each participant in Holding s stock bonus plan, as a beneficial owner of shares of Holding s capital stock, is entitled to direct the trustee as to how to vote the capital stock of Holding held in his or her account. For purposes of effecting this vote, each participant will be provided with an instruction card, which he or she will be asked to complete and return to the trustee of Holding s stock bonus plan, not later than five days prior to the special meeting, through which he or she will direct the trustee of the stock bonus plan as to how his or her shares are to be voted. If a participant s capital stock has been allocated to a rollover account and the participant fails to direct the trustee as to how those shares are to be voted, the trustee will not vote those shares and the effect will be the same as a vote against the merger. IF A PARTICIPANT S CAPITAL STOCK HAS NOT BEEN ALLOCATED TO A ROLLOVER ACCOUNT AND THE PARTICIPANT FAILS TO DIRECT THE TRUSTEE AS TO HOW THOSE SHARES ARE TO BE VOTED, THE TRUSTEE WILL VOTE THOSE SHARES AT THE DIRECTION OF THE BENEFITS COMMITTEE IN FAVOR OF THE MERGER AND FINANCIAL RESTRUCTURING. At all times, the benefits committee and the trustee shall be subject to fiduciary responsibility rules of ERISA, which supercedes any otherwise applicable state laws. The fiduciary responsibility rules of ERISA require that the benefits committee and the trustee execute their duties for the exclusive benefit of the participants in Holding s stock bonus plan, in a manner that a prudent person would act under the circumstances.

Each participant may direct the trustee as to the voting of the shares of Holding s capital stock allocated to his or her stock bonus plan account by marking, executing and returning the instruction card to the trustee of Holding s stock bonus plan, at Wells Fargo Bank, 707 Wilshire Boulevard, 10th Floor, Los Angeles, California 90017, Attention:

, and it must be received by the trustee not later than five days prior to the special meeting. If a participant wishes to change his or her vote, the participant must change the vote by submitting a new instruction card to the trustee of Holding s stock bonus plan at Wells Fargo Bank, 707 Wilshire Boulevard, 10th Floor, Los Angeles, California 90017, Attention:

, and it must be received by the trustee not later than five days prior to the special meeting. To get a new instruction card a participant must call William S. Johnson at (323) 567-1162.

Proxies, Voting and Revocation

Shares of Holding s capital stock represented at the special meeting by properly executed proxies received prior to, or at, the special meeting, and not revoked, will be voted at the special meeting, and at any adjournment or postponement of that meeting, in accordance with the instructions on those proxies. If a proxy is duly executed and submitted without instructions, the shares of series A preferred stock and series B preferred stock or common stock represented by that proxy will be voted FOR the approval of the merger agreement and the merger and financial restructuring in the case of a proxy representing shares of preferred stock and/or common stock. Proxies are being solicited on behalf of Holding s board of directors.

68

Table of Contents

A proxy may be revoked at any time before it is voted at the special meeting. A proxy may be revoked by the person who executed it at, or before, the special meeting by:

delivering to our corporate secretary a written notice of revocation of a previously-delivered proxy bearing a later date than the proxy;

duly executing, dating and delivering to our secretary a subsequent proxy; or

attending the special meeting and voting in person. Attendance at the special meeting will not, in and of itself, constitute a revocation of a previously delivered proxy and the giving of a proxy will not affect a stockholder s right to attend the meting and vote in person.

Any written notice revoking a proxy should be delivered to Earle M. Jorgensen Company, 10650 Alameda Street, Lynwood, California 90262, Attention: William S. Johnson, Corporate Secretary.

Solicitation of Proxies and Expenses

Neither Holding nor EMJ has engaged the services of a proxy solicitor. We intend to use the services of our employees and others to solicit proxies on behalf of Holding, none of whom will receive additional compensation for so acting. The cost of solicitation of proxies on behalf of Holding will be borne by us.

69

MATERIAL PROVISIONS OF THE MERGER AGREEMENT AND EXCHANGE AGREEMENT

Background

The following summary describes the material terms and conditions of the merger agreement and exchange agreement, copies of which are attached as Annex A and Annex B, respectively, to this proxy statement/prospectus and are incorporated herein by reference. The rights and obligations of the parties are governed by the express terms and conditions of the merger agreement and exchange agreement, and not this summary or any other information contained in this proxy statement/prospectus. This summary is qualified in its entirety by reference to the merger agreement and exchange agreement. The stockholders of Holding are encouraged to read the entire merger agreement and exchange agreement as well as this proxy statement/prospectus before making any decisions regarding the merger or the other transactions described herein.

The Merger

The merger agreement provides that Holding will merge with and into EMJ Metals LLC, our wholly owned subsidiary, at the time the merger becomes effective. EMJ Metals LLC will be the entity surviving the merger and will remain our wholly owned subsidiary. The separate existence of Holding will cease following the merger and financial restructuring and all of the rights, privileges, property, powers and franchises of Holding shall vest in EMJ Metals LLC, and all of the debts, liabilities and duties of Holding shall become the debts, liabilities and duties of EMJ Metals LLC. The merger will become effective upon the filing of a certificate of merger with the Secretary of State of the State of Delaware.

Closing of the Merger and Financial Restructuring; Effective Time

The parties intend to complete the merger and financial restructuring as soon as possible after the special meeting and concurrently with the consummation of the public offering. However, because the parties do not know exactly when the public offering will be completed and because they must satisfy other conditions before they can close the merger and financial restructuring, the parties cannot predict exactly when they will close the merger and financial restructuring.

Consideration to be Received in the Merger

Assuming that the public offering price is \$, the mid-point of the range described on the cover of the public offering preliminary prospectus, and net proceeds of the public offering applied to payment of the cash portion of the merger and exchange consideration are \$ (as set forth under Use of Proceeds in the public offering preliminary prospectus), at the effective time of the merger and financial restructuring, each share of capital stock of Holding (other than shares held by dissenting stockholders and shares held by us, Holding or EMJ Metals LLC) automatically will be converted into the right to receive the merger consideration as follows:

each share of common stock of Holding held by any stockholder of Holding shall be converted into one share of our common stock;

each share of series A preferred stock held by any stockholder of Holding shall be converted into \$ in cash and shares of EMJ s common stock based on a per share price equal to \$816.68, which is equal to the appraised value as of March 31, 2004, including accumulated and unpaid dividends from April 1, 2004 through September 29, 2004; and

each share of series B preferred stock held by any stockholder of Holding shall be converted into \$ in cash and shares of EMJ s common stock based on a per share price equal to \$1,000, the liquidation value of each share of series B preferred stock.

Holders of capital stock of Holding will have the right under Delaware law to dissent from the merger and receive the fair value of their shares in cash, as described in Appraisal Rights on page 77. All treasury shares held by us or by Holding shall be cancelled pursuant to the merger agreement.

70

Procedures for Exchanging Holding Capital Stock

Immediately after the effective time of the merger and financial restructuring, we will mail a letter of transmittal to Holding s stockholders, which will include detailed instructions on how Holding s stockholders may exchange their share certificates for certificates representing the shares of our common stock and, with respect to preferred stockholders, cash that they are entitled to receive in connection with the merger and financial restructuring. After completion of the merger and financial restructuring, former Holding stockholders who have delivered properly completed letters of transmittal to the exchange/paying agent with their share certificates will be entitled to receive the applicable merger consideration consisting of share certificates representing our common stock and with respect to preferred stockholders, cash that each such stockholder of Holding is entitled to receive pursuant to the merger agreement. Until surrendered, such certificates evidencing the capital stock of Holding shall represent solely the right to receive the per share consideration allocable to the shares of Holding capital stock represented by such certificates. Each surrendered certificate will then be cancelled. Do not mail your stock certificates at this time. If your share certificates have been lost, stolen or destroyed, you will be entitled to the merger consideration only by signing an affidavit to that effect and delivering a reasonable indemnity to protect us against claims by another party related to your share certificates.

Treatment of Options

At the effective time all options to purchase shares of Holding common stock will be assumed by us. The number of shares of our common stock issuable upon exercise of each assumed option will be equal to the number of shares of Holding common stock issuable upon exercise of such options prior to the effective time of the merger and financial restructuring. The exercise price for such assumed options will be equal to the exercise price in effect for such options prior to the effective time and the provisions concerning the terms and vesting of such option will be substantially the same as such provisions prior to the effective time. See Management Holding Stock Option Plan at page 133.

Directors and Officers

Our directors and officers holding office immediately prior to the effective time shall continue to be our directors and officers following the merger and financial restructuring. The directors and officers of Holding will cease to hold such offices following the merger and financial restructuring.

Representations and Warranties

The merger agreement contains various customary representations and warranties from us and each of Holding and EMJ Metals LLC relating to, among other things: (1) organizational and similar matters; (2) the authorization, execution, delivery and enforceability of the merger agreement and related matters; and (3) (a) the absence of the need (except as specified) for governmental or other filings, permits, authorizations, consents or approvals with respect to the merger agreement and the transactions contemplated thereby, (b) the absence of conflicts under charter documents and bylaws (and/or operating agreement as applicable), (c) required consents and approvals and (d) the absence of violations of laws. In addition, Holding has made representations and warranties with respect to, among other things, (1) details of its capitalization, (2) accuracy and fair presentation of its financial statements, (3) lack of untrue statements or omission of material facts contained in this proxy statement and registration statement, and (4) receipt of and conclusions referenced in opinions of financial advisors to Holding s board of directors and benefits committee. We have made representations and warranties with respect to, among other things, (1) details of our capitalization, (2) documents filed with the Commission and the accuracy of information contained therein and in accompanying financial statements; (3) approvals of Holding, (4) lack of untrue statements or omission of material facts contained in this proxy statement/prospectus and registration statement, and (5) validity of shares to be issued in connection with the merger and exchange.

The representations and warranties contained in the merger agreement do not survive beyond the effective time.

71

Conduct of Business Before the Merger

We have agreed with Holding, as follows:

to cooperate to effect the prompt filing of a registration statement (of which this proxy statement/prospectus forms a part) with the Commission, and to the extent it may be necessary, to amend or supplement the registration statement;

registering the shares of our common stock to the extent it may be necessary, to amend or supplement the registration statement;

that neither we nor Holding will, with certain limited exceptions, from the date of the merger agreement through the effective time of the merger, (1) amend our respective organizational documents, except for the amendment and restatement of our certificate of incorporation and bylaws in connection with the merger, (2) declare, set aside or pay any dividend or other distribution or payment in cash, stock or property in respect of shares of our respective capital stock, or make any direct or indirect redemption, retirement, purchase or acquisition of any of our respective capital stock, except for dividends, distributions or acquisitions required in connection with existing obligations to repurchase capital stock from our employees or employees of Holding who have terminated their employment pursuant to and in accordance with the terms of the stock bonus plan or the Holding stockholders agreement, or (3) issue or agree to issue, any shares of, or rights of any kind to acquire any shares of our respective capital stock; and

to use all commercially reasonable efforts to take, or cause to be taken, all actions necessary to consummate the merger and make effective the other transactions contemplated by the merger agreement.

We have also agreed that:

the authorization of the merger agreement and approval of the merger and the transactions contemplated thereby shall require the affirmative vote of: (1) a majority of the issued and outstanding shares of Holding common stock and series B preferred stock voting together as a class, (2) a majority of the issued and outstanding shares of Holding common stock and series B preferred stock voting together as a class, excluding the shares of such stock owned by the Kelso funds or certain partners of the Kelso funds, (3) a majority of the issued and outstanding shares of Holding series A preferred stock voting separately as a class and (4) a majority of the issued and outstanding shares of Holding series A preferred stock voting separately as a class, excluding the shares of such stock owned by the Kelso funds or certain partners of the Kelso funds. The special meeting of Holding stockholders has been called for the purpose of obtaining the stockholder approvals required to consummate the merger and financial restructuring, including from any person with pass-through voting rights under the stock bonus plan of Holding.

promptly after the registration statement of which this proxy statement/prospectus is a part has been declared effective, Holding has agreed to mail to its stockholders proxy solicitation materials, including this proxy statement/prospectus and the related form of proxy.

We have also further agreed:

to take any action required to be taken under state securities or blue sky laws in connection with the issuance of our common stock to be issued in the merger and the exchange;

to assume all of the obligations of Holding under the stock bonus plan, the supplemental stock bonus plan and the former employees bonus plan;

to adopt a bonus plan providing for the payment of a bonus to active employees of Holding or EMJ on the closing of the merger and financial restructuring and public offering who are participants in the stock bonus plan in the aggregate amount of \$7.5 million, which will be allocated in the proportion that

72

Table of Contents

the number of shares of Holding common stock allocated to such an employee s stock bonus plan account on December 16, 2004 bears to the total shares of Holding common stock held by all such employees in the stock bonus plan on December 16, 2004, and to pay bonuses pursuant to such plan after the closing of the merger and financial restructuring and public offering.

to cause the shares of common stock to be issued in the merger to be approved for listing on the New York Stock Exchange, subject to official notice of issuance;

to assume all of the options issued by Holding and all related obligations;

to deliver to Holding a copy of each filing made, each notice given and each consent obtained by us during the pre-closing period;

to use commercially reasonable efforts to obtain an amendment, waiver and/or consent of or with respect to our credit agreement providing for any changes necessary in connection with the merger; and

to cause EMJ Metals LLC to be treated (at all relevant times) as a disregarded as an entity separate from the Company within the meaning of Treasury Regulation 301.7701-3(b)(ii), promulgated under the Internal Revenue Code.

Holding has agreed to:

deliver to us a letter identifying all persons and entities who, in the opinion of Holding, may be its affiliates for purposes of Rule 145 under the Securities Act; and

use its reasonable best efforts to cause the delivery to us of letter agreements from each person or entity identified in the letter delivered by Holding to us, pursuant to which each such person or entity shall, among other things, covenant and agree not to sell, transfer or otherwise dispose of the common stock received by such person or entity in the merger, except in compliance with the requirements of Rule 145 under the Securities Act.

Additionally, each party to the merger agreement has agreed to:

make all filings (if any) and give all notices (if any) required to be made and given by such party in connection with the merger and the other transactions contemplated by the merger agreement;

use all reasonable efforts to obtain each consent (if any) required to be obtained in connection with the merger or any of the other transactions contemplated by the merger agreement;

use all reasonable efforts to lift any restraint, injunction or other legal bar to the merger;

use all reasonable efforts to take all actions to consummate and make the merger and the other transactions contemplated by the merger agreement effective as soon as possible; and

take no action, directly or indirectly, that would prevent the transactions contemplated by the merger agreement and the exchange agreement from qualifying as a tax-free reorganization under section 368 of the Internal Revenue Code; take no action, directly or indirectly, inconsistent with the treatment of (1) the transactions contemplated by the merger agreement and the exchange agreement as a reorganization under section 368 of the Internal Revenue Code or (2) the exchanges contemplated by such agreements as having been effected pursuant to the plan of such reorganization.

Conditions to the Completion of the Merger under the Merger Agreement

Our obligations, and the obligations of Holding and EMJ Metals LLC to complete the merger are subject to the satisfaction or valid waiver of the following conditions, among others:

the approval of the merger agreement and the merger and financial restructuring by the holders of Holding s capital stock;

stockholders of Holding shall not have exercised dissenter s rights with respect to more than 5% of the issued and outstanding shares of any class of the capital stock of Holding;

73

Table of Contents

the absence of any legal prohibition or restraint that would prevent consummation of the merger and financial restructuring;

absence of any stop order suspending the effectiveness of the registration statement of which this proxy statement/prospectus is a part;

entering of an amended consent order with respect to the litigation brought by the Department of Labor against Holding and the stock bonus plan, which was done on , 2004;

adoption of certain amendments to the stock bonus plan, a supplemental stock bonus plan and a cash bonus plan providing for the special contribution with respect to shares of Holding common stock held by the stock bonus plan, which was done on December 17, 2004;

execution and delivery of a transfer restriction agreement by EMJ and each of its executive officers and district managers;

the public offering shall close concurrently with the merger, and the price per share in the public offering shall not be less than \$5.00 and the amount of the net cash proceeds allocated to the payment of the preferred stock and Holding notes shall be not less than \$100 million:

approval for listing of the shares of EMJ common stock to be issued in the merger and financial restructuring on the New York Stock Exchange, subject to official notice of issuance;

a tax opinion from Katten Muchin Zavis Rosenman, counsel to Holding, being received by the Company;

approval by the Holding board of directors of the price range of EMJ common stock to be set forth on the cover of the public offering preliminary prospectus;

amendment and restatement of EMJ s certificate of incorporation;

receipt of consent and/or an amendment under our credit agreement;

receipt of updated fairness opinions from Wachovia Securities and Duff & Phelps as soon as practicable prior to the closing, in each case based on the current financial information of Holding and EMJ and other industry information then-available, and in each case stating the same conclusion as to fairness as the opinions delivered when the transaction was approved by the board of directors;

assumption by EMJ of all obligations of Holding with respect to the outstanding Holding stock options and written notice to each holder of Holding stock options of such assumption;

assumption by EMJ of all obligations of Holding with respect to Holding s stock bonus plan, the supplemental stock bonus plan and a former employees bonus plan; and

all material consents and approvals of third parties including governmental authorities, of the merger and the related transactions being received.

Our obligations and the obligations of EMJ Metals LLC to complete the merger are subject to the satisfaction or valid waiver of the following additional conditions, among others:

the accuracy of all representations and warranties made by Holding in the merger agreement and in any certificate or other writing delivered by Holding pursuant to the merger agreement; and

Holding having performed in all material respects all of its covenants and obligations under the merger agreement to be performed by it at or prior to the effective time.

Holding s obligations to complete the merger are subject to the satisfaction or valid waiver of the following additional conditions, among others:

the accuracy of all representations and warranties made by us and EMJ Metals LLC in the merger agreement and in any certificate or other writing delivered by Holding pursuant to the merger agreement; and

74

each of us and EMJ Metals LLC having performed in all material respects all of its covenants and obligations under the merger agreement to be performed by it at or prior to the effective time and the Kelso funds having performed all of their respective obligations under the Exchange Agreement.

Holding s obligations to complete the merger are subject to the satisfaction of the following additional conditions, which cannot be waived:

receipt of an updated fairness opinion from Wachovia Securities stating substantially the same conclusions as to the fairness of the merger and financial restructuring as set forth in the opinion delivered on December 16, 2004, dated as of the effective time of the closing of the merger and financial restructuring; and

receipt of an updated fairness opinion from Duff & Phelps stating substantially the same conclusions as to the fairness of the merger and financial restructuring as set forth in the opinion delivered on December 16, 2004, dated as of the effective time of the closing of the merger and financial restructuring.

The obligations of KIA IV to exchange the Holding notes and warrants of Holding are subject to the concurrent consummation of the merger.

Termination of the Merger Agreement

The merger agreement may be terminated by the mutual written consent of us and Holding at any time prior to the merger.

The merger agreement may be terminated by us or Holding if:

the merger is not consummated by April 30, 2005, subject to certain limited exceptions;

if there is a legal action or proceeding in place permanently restraining, enjoining or otherwise prohibiting the merger; or

if at the special meeting or at any adjournment or postponement thereof, the stockholders of Holding shall have failed to adopt the merger agreement by (1) a majority of the issued and outstanding shares of Holding common stock and series B preferred stock voting together as a class, (2) a majority of the issued and outstanding shares of Holding common stock and series B preferred stock voting together as a class, excluding (for the purpose of counting the number of shares eligible to vote and the number of shares voted) the shares of such stock owned by the Kelso funds, (3) a majority of the issued and outstanding shares of series A preferred stock voting separately as a class, and (4) a majority of the issued and outstanding shares of series A preferred stock voting separately as a class, excluding (for the purpose of counting the number of shares eligible to vote and the number of shares voted) the shares of such stock owned by the Kelso funds.

The merger agreement may be terminated by us if Holding stockholders have exercised dissenter s rights with respect to more than five percent of the issued and outstanding capital stock of any class of Holding.

Expenses

We will be responsible for and bear all of the costs and expenses of Holding, the Kelso funds and EMJ Metals LLC, including, without limitation, expenses of legal counsel, accountants, brokers, finders and other advisors, incurred in connection with evaluating, negotiating and consummating the proposed transaction incident to the merger agreement.

Amendment or Waiver of the Merger Agreement

The parties may amend any provision of the merger agreement only through an express written instrument signed by all parties or their respective successors and permitted assigns.

75

The Exchange Agreement

For the purpose of this proxy statement/prospectus, the parties have assumed that the public offering price of the EMJ common stock will be \$, the mid-point of the range described on the cover of the public offering preliminary prospectus, and that the net proceeds of the public offering applied to the payment of the cash portion of the merger and exchange consideration are \$ (as set forth under Use of Proceeds in the preliminary prospectus). The exchange agreement was entered into concurrently with the merger agreement and provides that:

each of the Kelso funds will vote all of the shares of Holding capital stock owned by them in favor of the merger;

immediately prior to the effective time, KIA IV will exchange the Holding notes for shares of our common stock and \$ in cash based on the \$257.1 million aggregate principal amount of, and accrued but unpaid interest on, Holding notes outstanding as of September 29, 2004; and

immediately prior to the effective time, KIA IV will exchange all of the warrants of Holding for shares of our common stock based on warrants to purchase 2,937,915 shares of Holding common stock outstanding as of September 29, 2004.

Notwithstanding the foregoing, if the underwriters elect to exercise their over-allotment option to purchase additional shares of EMJ common stock in the public offering, the net proceeds received from such a sale will increase the cash amount KIA IV will receive in exchange for the Holding notes and decrease the aggregate number of shares of EMJ common stock to be received by KIA IV by a number of shares having an aggregate value based on the offering price equal to the net proceeds received by EMJ from the sale of such shares to the underwriters.

The exchange agreement contains various customary representations and warranties from us, Holding and the Kelso funds relating to, among other things: (1) organizational and similar matters; (2) the authorization, execution, delivery and enforceability of the exchange agreement and related matters; and (3) (A) absence of conflicts under charter documents and bylaws (and/or operating agreement and/or partnership agreement, as applicable), (B) absence of conflicts with or violation of laws, (C) absence of any defaults under other agreements as a consequence of becoming a party to the exchange agreement and (D) required consents and approvals having been obtained. In addition, we have also represented and warranted that (1) the common stock we will issue in the exchange will be validly issued, fully paid, non-assessable and free of liens and each recipient of such common stock will be vested with good and marketable title to such common stock and (2) the common stock we will issue in the exchange for the Holding notes and warrants will be (A) registered pursuant to an effective registration statement and (B) listed for trading on the New York Stock Exchange under the symbol JOR. Each of the Kelso funds also represented and warranted that (1) it is the record and beneficial owner of Holding s capital stock and Holding notes which are to be exchanged free and clear of any liens or encumbrances of any kind and (2) no broker, finder or investment banker is entitled to receive any fees or commissions in connection with the exchange.

The representations and warranties contained in the exchange agreement do not survive beyond the earlier of the effective time of the merger or, in the case of certain representations and warranties, termination of the merger agreement.

Pursuant to the exchange agreement, Holding, EMJ and its subsidiaries agreed to take no action, directly or indirectly, that (1) would prevent the transactions contemplated by the merger agreement and the exchange agreement from qualifying as a tax-free reorganization under section 368 of the Internal Revenue Code, or (2) would be inconsistent with the treatment of (A) the transactions contemplated by the merger agreement and this agreement as a reorganization under section 368 of the Internal Revenue Code or (B) the exchanges contemplated by such agreements as having been effected pursuant to the plan of such reorganization. EMJ further agreed to cause EMJ Metals LLC to be treated (at all relevant times) as disregarded as an entity separate

from EMJ within the meaning of Treasury Regulation 301.7701-3(b)(ii), promulgated under the Internal Revenue Code. (Relatedly, under our stockholders agreement, each stockholder agreed, for U.S. federal, state and local income and franchise tax purposes, to treat the transactions contemplated by the merger agreement and the exchange agreement as occurring pursuant to a plan of reorganization described in Section 368 of the Internal Revenue Code (or similar provision of state or local law and shall not report the transaction on any tax return in a manner inconsistent with that treatment)).

Pursuant to the exchange agreement KIA IV has agreed that from and after September 29, 2004 through the effective time, accruals of interest on the Holding notes shall be suspended, and shall not be payable at or after the effective time.

Pursuant to the exchange agreement, each of the Kelso funds has agreed to:

not sell, transfer or otherwise encumber their shares of Holding capital stock and their Holding notes;

take any action that would have the effect of preventing or disabling such stockholder from performing its obligations under the exchange agreement;

solicit or participate in any discussions or negotiations regarding any proposal that might result in a transaction other than the transaction contemplated by the merger agreement;

waive until the effective time of the merger, or if earlier, the date the merger agreement is terminated pursuant to its terms, its right to declare Holding in default and accelerate payment of all amounts due on the Holding notes on account of the failure to pay any interest or any other amounts due and payable from September 29, 2004 through the effective time of the merger (pertains to KIA IV only);

use their reasonable best efforts to take all appropriate action and all things necessary to consummate and make effective the merger agreement, the exchange agreement, the merger and financial restructuring; and

vote in favor of the merger agreement and the merger and the other transactions and undertakings contemplated thereby.

Appraisal Rights

Under Section 262 of the Delaware General Corporation Law, any holder of any class or series of Holding capital stock who does not wish to accept the shares of our common stock and cash to be issued pursuant to the merger agreement may dissent from the merger and elect to have the fair value of the stockholder s shares of Holding capital stock (exclusive of any element of value arising from the accomplishment or expectation of the merger) judicially determined and paid to the stockholder in cash, together with a fair rate of interest, if any, provided that the stockholder complies with the provisions of Section 262 of the Delaware General Corporation Law. The following discussion is not a complete statement of the law pertaining to appraisal rights under Delaware law, and is qualified in its entirety by the full text of Section 262, which is provided in its entirety as Annex H to this proxy statement/prospectus. All references in Section 262 to stockholders and in this summary to a stockholder are to the record holder of the shares of capital stock as to which appraisal rights are asserted.

A person having a beneficial interest in shares of capital stock held of record in the name of another person, such as a trustee, broker or nominee (e.g., participants in Holding s stock bonus plan), must act promptly to cause the record holder to follow properly the steps summarized below in a timely manner to perfect appraisal rights. Under Section 262, where a proposed merger is to be submitted for approval at a meeting of stockholders, as in the case of the special meeting, the corporation, not less than 20 days prior to the meeting, must notify each of its stockholders entitled to appraisal rights that the appraisal rights are available and include in the notice a copy of Section 262. This proxy statement/prospectus constitutes the notice to the holders of Holding capital stock, and the applicable Delaware law provisions are attached to this proxy statement/prospectus as Annex H. Any stockholder who wishes to exercise appraisal rights or who wishes to preserve the right to do so should review

77

carefully the following discussion and Annex H to this proxy statement/prospectus because failure to comply with the procedures specified in Section 262 in a timely and proper manner will result in the loss of appraisal rights. It is important to note that under Section 262, only the record holder of the shares of Holding capital stock is entitled to assert appraisal rights for the shares of Holding capital stock registered in that Holder s name. Because of the complexity of the procedures for exercising the right to seek appraisal of Holding shares, we recommend that stockholders who consider exercising these rights seek the advice of counsel.

Any holder of any class or series of Holding capital stock wishing to exercise the right to dissent from the merger and demand appraisal under Section 262 (whether on its own behalf or in its capacity as record holder for capital stock beneficially held by another) must satisfy each of the following conditions:

the stockholder must deliver to us a written demand for appraisal of the stockholder s shares before the vote on the merger agreement at the special meeting, which demand will be sufficient if it reasonably informs us of the identity of the stockholder and that the stockholder intends thereby to demand the appraisal of the holder s shares specifying the class or series;

the stockholder must not vote his or her shares of Holding capital stock in favor of the merger agreement. Because a proxy which does not contain voting instructions will, unless revoked, be voted in favor of the merger agreement, a stockholder who votes by proxy and who wishes to exercise appraisal rights must vote against the merger agreement or abstain from voting on the merger agreement. A stockholder who owns more than one class of Holding capital stock may vote each class of capital stock differently and may exercise dissenters rights with respect to any class of capital stock for which all of such holders shares are not voted in favor of the merger agreement; and

the stockholder must continuously hold the shares from the date of making the demand through the effective time. Accordingly, a stockholder who is the record holder of shares of Holding capital stock on the date the written demand for appraisal is made, but who thereafter transfers the shares prior to the effective time, will lose any right to appraisal in respect of that stockholder s shares.

Neither voting (in person or by proxy) against, abstaining from voting on or failing to vote on the proposal to approve and adopt the merger agreement will constitute a written demand for appraisal within the meaning of Section 262. The written demand for appraisal must be in addition to and separate from any such proxy or vote.

Only a holder of record of shares of Holding capital stock issued and outstanding immediately prior to the effective time is entitled to assert appraisal rights for the shares of Holding capital stock registered in that holder s name. A demand for appraisal should be executed by or on behalf of the stockholder of record, fully and correctly, as that stockholder s name appears in our records, should specify the stockholder s name and mailing address, the number of shares of Holding capital stock owned, including class or series, and that the stockholder intends thereby to demand appraisal of the stockholder s Holding capital stock. If the shares are owned of record in a fiduciary capacity, such as by a trustee, guardian or custodian, execution of the demand should be made in that capacity. If the shares are owned of record by more than one person, as in a joint tenancy or tenancy in common, the demand should be executed by or on behalf of all owners. An authorized agent, including one or more joint owners, may execute a demand for appraisal on behalf of a stockholder; however, the agent must identify the record owner or owners and expressly disclose the fact that, in executing the demand, the agent is duly acting as agent for the owner or owners. A record holder such as a broker who holds shares as nominee for several beneficial owners may exercise appraisal rights with respect to the shares held for one or more beneficial owners, while not exercising these rights with respect to the shares held for other beneficial owners. Participants in Holding s stock bonus plan who wish to exercise appraisal rights must direct the trustee in writing to exercise their appraisal rights with respect to shares held in their stock bonus plan accounts, which direction must be received by the trustee no later than five (5) days prior to the date of the special meeting. The trustee has advised us that it will exercise appraisal rights if directed to do so by a participant. The written demand to the record holder, including the directions to the trustee of the stock bonus plan, should set forth the number and class of shares as to which appraisal is sought. Stockholders who hold their shares in brokerage accounts or other nominee forms and who wish to exercise appraisal rights are urged to consult with their brokers to determine the appropriate procedures for the making of a demand for appraisal by a nominee.

78

Table of Contents

A stockholder who elects to exercise appraisal rights under Section 262 should mail or deliver a written demand to: Earle M. Jorgensen Holding Company, Inc., 10650 Alameda Street, Lynwood, California 90262, Attention: William S. Johnson, Corporate Secretary.

Within ten days after the effective time, the surviving company must send a notice as to the effectiveness of the merger to each former stockholder of Holding who has made a written demand for appraisal in accordance with Section 262 and who has not voted in favor of the merger agreement. Within 120 days after the effective time, but not thereafter, either the surviving company or any dissenting stockholder who has complied with the requirements of Section 262 may file a petition in the Delaware Court of Chancery demanding a determination of the value of the shares of Holding capital stock held by all dissenting stockholders. We are under no obligation to and have no present intent to file a petition for appraisal. Stockholders seeking to exercise appraisal rights should not assume that the surviving company will file such a petition or that the surviving corporation will initiate any negotiations with respect to the fair value of such shares. Accordingly, stockholders who desire to have their shares appraised should initiate any petitions necessary for the perfection of their appraisal rights within the time periods in the manner prescribed in Section 262. Inasmuch as we have no obligation to file such a petition, the failure of a stockholder to do so within the period specified could nullify that stockholder s previous written demand for appraisal. In any event, at any time within 60 days after the effective time (or at any time thereafter with the written consent of Holding), any stockholder who has demanded appraisal has the right to withdraw the demand and to accept payment of the merger consideration. Under the merger agreement, Holding has agreed to give us prompt notice of any demands for appraisal received by it, withdrawals of these demands, and any other instruments served in accordance with Delaware law and received by us and relating thereto. We shall direct all negotiations and proceedings with respect to demands for appraisal under Delaware law. We shall not, except with the prior written consent of Holding, make any payment with respect to any demands for appraisal, offer to settle, or settle any such demands.

Within 120 days after the effective time, any stockholder who has complied with the provisions of Section 262 to that point in time will be entitled to receive from the surviving corporation, upon written request, a statement setting forth the aggregate number of shares not voted in favor of the merger agreement and with respect to which demands for appraisal have been received and the aggregate number of holders of these shares. The surviving corporation must mail the statement to the stockholder within ten days of receipt of the request or within ten days after expiration of the period for delivery of demands for appraisals under Section 262, whichever is later.

A stockholder filing a timely petition for appraisal with the Delaware Court of Chancery must deliver a copy to the surviving corporation, which will then be obligated within 20 days to provide the Delaware Court of Chancery with a duly verified list containing the names and addresses of all stockholders who have demanded appraisal of their shares. After notice to these stockholders, the Delaware Court of Chancery is empowered to conduct a hearing on the petition to determine which stockholders are entitled to appraisal rights.

After determining the stockholders entitled to an appraisal, the Delaware Court of Chancery will appraise the fair value of their shares, exclusive of any element of value arising from the accomplishment or expectation of the merger, together with a fair rate of interest, if any, to be paid upon the amount determined to be the fair value. The costs of the action may be determined by the Delaware Court of Chancery and taxed upon the parties as the Delaware Court of Chancery deems equitable. Upon application of a dissenting stockholder, the Delaware Court of Chancery also may order that all or a portion of the expenses incurred by any stockholder in connection with the appraisal proceeding, including, without limitation, reasonable attorneys fees and the fees and expenses of experts, be charged pro rata against the value of all of the shares entitled to appraisal. STOCKHOLDERS CONSIDERING SEEKING APPRAISAL SHOULD BE AWARE THAT THE FAIR VALUE OF THEIR SHARES AS DETERMINED UNDER SECTION 262 COULD BE MORE THAN, THE SAME AS OR LESS THAN THE MERGER CONSIDERATION THEY WOULD RECEIVE UNDER THE MERGER AGREEMENT IF THEY DID NOT SEEK APPRAISAL OF THEIR SHARES.

79

In determining fair value and, if applicable, a fair rate of interest, the Delaware Court of Chancery is to take into account all relevant factors. In Weinberger v. UOP, Inc., 457 A.2d 701 (Del. 1983), the Delaware Supreme Court discussed the factors that could be considered in determining fair value in an appraisal proceeding, stating that proof of value by any techniques or methods that are generally considered acceptable in the financial community and otherwise admissible in court should be considered, and that fair price obviously requires consideration of all relevant factors involving the value of a company. The Delaware Supreme Court stated that, in making this determination of fair value, the court must consider market value, asset value, dividends, earnings prospects, the nature of the enterprise and any other facts that could be ascertained as of the date of the merger that throw any light on future prospects of the merged corporation. In the Weinberg case, the Delaware Supreme Court stated that elements of future value, including the nature of the enterprise, that are known or susceptible of proof as of the date of the merger and not the product of speculation, may be considered. Section 262 provides that fair value is to be exclusive of any element of value arising from the accomplishment or expectation of the merger.

Any stockholder who has duly demanded an appraisal in compliance with Section 262 will not, after the effective time, be entitled to vote the shares subject to the demand for any purpose or be entitled to the payment of dividends or other distributions on those shares (except dividends or other distributions payable to holders of record of shares as of a record date prior to the effective time).

Any stockholder may withdraw his or her demand for appraisal and accept the merger consideration by delivering to the surviving corporation a written withdrawal of the stockholder s demand for appraisal, except that (1) any such attempt to withdraw made more than 60 days after the effective time will require written approval of the surviving corporation and (2) no appraisal proceeding in the Delaware Court of Chancery shall be dismissed as to any stockholder without the approval of the Delaware Court of Chancery, and such approval may be conditioned upon terms as deemed just by the Delaware Court of Chancery. If the surviving corporation does not approve a stockholder s request to withdraw a demand for appraisal when such approval is required, or if the Delaware Court of Chancery does not approve the dismissal of an appraisal proceeding, the stockholder would be entitled to receive only the appraised value determined in any such appraisal proceeding, which value could be lower than the value of the merger consideration.

FAILURE TO COMPLY STRICTLY WITH ALL OF THE PROCEDURES SET FORTH IN SECTION 262 WILL RESULT IN THE LOSS OF A STOCKHOLDER S STATUTORY APPRAISAL RIGHTS. CONSEQUENTLY, ANY STOCKHOLDER WISHING TO EXERCISE APPRAISAL RIGHTS IS URGED TO CONSULT LEGAL COUNSEL BEFORE ATTEMPTING TO EXERCISE SUCH RIGHTS.

THE COMPANY MAY ELECT TO TERMINATE THE MERGER AGREEMENT AND REFUSE TO COMPLETE THE MERGER AND FINANCIAL RESTRUCTURING IF STOCKHOLDERS HOLDING IN EXCESS OF FIVE PERCENT OF THE ISSUED AND OUTSTANDING SHARES OF ANY CLASS OF HOLDING CAPITAL STOCK PROPERLY EXERCISE THEIR DISSENTER S RIGHTS.

Federal Securities Law Consequences

The registration statement of which this proxy statement/prospectus is a part does not cover any resales of the EMJ common stock to be received by stockholders upon completion of the merger and financial restructuring, and no person is authorized to make any use of this proxy statement/prospectus in connection with any such resale.

All shares of EMJ common stock received by Holding stockholders in the merger will be freely transferable, without restriction or further registration under the federal securities laws, except that shares of EMJ common stock received by persons who are deemed to be affiliates of Holding or EMJ within the meaning of Rule 144 under the Securities Act at the time of Holding s special meeting, may be resold by them only in accordance with the volume and manner of sale restrictions of Rule 144 or Rule 145 under the Securities Act or as otherwise

Table of Contents

permitted under the Securities Act. Persons who may be deemed affiliates generally include directors, executive officers and the holders of ten percent or more of the outstanding shares of capital stock. Shares of EMJ common stock received by Holding stockholders in the merger may also be subject to restrictions on transfer contained in lock-up agreements, the stock bonus plan and certain transfer restriction agreements.

Lock-up Agreements

In addition to the restrictions of the federal securities laws, certain stockholders have entered into lock-up agreements in connection with the public offering. Holding s stock bonus plan, each of our directors, each of our executive officers, the Kelso funds and each of their affiliates that will own EMJ common stock following the public offering, and certain other stockholders have agreed for a period of 180 days from the date of the public offering prospectus, subject to limited exceptions, not to offer, sell or otherwise dispose of any shares of EMJ common stock, options or warrants to acquire shares of EMJ common stock or securities convertible into shares of EMJ common stock owned by them, except with the prior written consent of Credit Suisse First Boston LLC and Goldman, Sachs & Co. However, in the event that either (1) during the last 17 days of the lock-up period, EMJ releases earnings results or material news or a material event relating to us occurs or (2) prior to the expiration of the lock-up period, EMJ announces that it will release earnings results during the 16-day period beginning on the last day of the lock-up period, then in either case the expiration of the lock-up will be extended until the expiration of the 18-day period beginning on the date of the release of the earnings results or the occurrence of the material news or event, as applicable, unless Credit Suisse First Boston LLC and Goldman, Sachs & Co. waive, in writing, such an extension. Each of Credit Suisse First Boston LLC and Goldman, Sachs & Co. has advised us that it has no present intention to, and has not been advised of any circumstances that would lead it to, grant an early release of this restriction. Credit Suisse First Boston LLC and Goldman, Sachs & Co. may, however, at any time without notice, release all or any portion of the shares subject to these lock-up agreements. Any early waiver of the lock-up agreements which, if granted, could permit sales of a substantial number of shares and could adversely affect the tra

Transfer Restriction Agreements

In addition to the transfer restrictions for shares held by affiliates and the lock-up agreements, our executive officers and district managers have entered into transfer restriction agreements limiting their right to sell shares of EMJ common stock beneficially owned by them directly, or indirectly through the stock bonus plan, as of and after giving effect to the consummation of the merger and financial restructuring. Pursuant to the transfer restriction agreements, our executive officers and district managers may not sell shares of EMJ common stock owned by them except as follows: up to (1) 25% of such shares at any time after the six month anniversary of the closing of the public offering until the 12 month anniversary of the closing of the public offering, (2) 50% of such shares at any time after the 12 month anniversary of the closing of the public offering until the 18 month anniversary of the public offering, (3) 75% of such shares at any time after the 18 month anniversary of the closing of the public offering, and (4) 100% of such shares after the 24 month anniversary of the closing of the public offering. Shares of stock contributed to the stock bonus plan in connection with the special contribution, when contributed, will be treated as shares owned by such employee as of the consummation of the merger and final restructuring.

Mr. Nelson has agreed that he will not sell any shares of EMJ common stock beneficially owned by him directly, or indirectly through the stock bonus plan, as of and after giving effect to the consummation of the merger and financial restructuring, until after the 24 month anniversary of the consummation of the public offering.

81

DESCRIPTION OF OUR CAPITAL STOCK, CERTIFICATE OF INCORPORATION AND BYLAWS

The following summary describes the material terms of our capital stock and is subject to, and qualified by, applicable law and the provisions of our certificate of incorporation and bylaws. We have incorporated these organizational documents by reference as exhibits to the registration statement of which this prospectus is a part.

Upon consummation of the merger and financial restructuring and the public offering, our certificate of incorporation will authorize us to issue ninety million (90,000,000) shares of capital stock, of which eighty million (80,000,000) shares are designated common stock and ten million (10,000,000) shares are designated preferred stock. We currently have 128 shares of common stock outstanding, all of which are held by Holding, and no shares of preferred stock outstanding. Upon consummation of the merger and financial restructuring and the public offering, we will have shares of common stock and no shares of preferred stock outstanding. Upon consummation of the merger and financial restructuring and the public offering, we will assume the obligations of Holding to issue up to 3,053,662 shares of its common stock under issued and outstanding stock options, and will reserve 3,053,662 shares of our common stock for issuance upon the exercise of such options. Upon consummation of the merger and financial restructuring and the public offering, we will assume the obligations of Holding to make a special contribution of up to 2,496,703 additional shares of Holding common stock or common stock equivalents in the aggregate to (1) the stock bonus plan and (2) a supplemental stock bonus plan, and will reserve 2,496,703 shares of our common stock for issuance in connection with the special contribution.

In addition, EMJ has reserved for issuance under EMJ s new stock incentive plan a number of shares of common stock that is an amount equal to 5% of the total number of shares of EMJ common stock expected to be issued and outstanding immediately after giving effect to the consummation of the merger and financial restructuring and public offering. To date, no awards have been granted under EMJ s new stock incentive plan. (See Management Stock Incentive Plan at page 134.)

Voting Rights Holders of our common stock are entitled to one vote per share. Subject to any voting rights granted to holders of any preferred stock, the affirmative vote of a majority of the shares present in person or by proxy and entitled to vote on the subject matter, other than the election of directors, will generally be required to approve matters voted on by our stockholders. Directors will be elected by plurality of the votes of the shares present in person or represented by a proxy at the meeting entitled to vote on the election of directors.

Holders of our common stock will share ratably on a per share basis in any dividends, declared from time to time by our board.

Other Rights

Dividends

Subject to the rights of holders of any outstanding preferred stock, upon our liquidation, dissolution or winding up, we will distribute any assets legally available for distribution to our stockholders, ratably among the holders of our common stock outstanding at that time. All shares of our common stock offered by us in the merger and financial restructuring and the public offering, when duly issued and paid for, will be, fully paid, nonassessable and not subject to redemption.

82

Preferred Stock

Our board of directors, without stockholder approval, may issue preferred stock in one or more series from time to time and fix or alter the designations, relative rights, priorities, preferences, qualifications, limitations and restrictions of the shares of each series, to the extent that those are not fixed in our certificate of incorporation. The rights, preferences, limitations and restrictions of different series of preferred stock may differ with respect to dividend rates, amounts payable on liquidation, voting rights, conversion rights, redemption provisions, sinking fund provisions and other matters. Our board may authorize the issuance of preferred stock that ranks senior to our common stock with respect to the payment of dividends and the distribution of assets on liquidation. In addition, our board can fix the limitations and restrictions, if any, upon the payment of dividends on common stock to be effective while any shares of preferred stock are outstanding.

Anti-Takeover Effects of Certificate of Incorporation, Bylaw, Indenture and Domestic Credit Facility Provisions

Although we have elected not to be governed by Section 203 of the Delaware General Corporation Law, our certificate of incorporation, bylaws, indenture and domestic credit facility contain provisions, summarized below, that may delay, defer or inhibit a future acquisition of us that stockholders might consider in their best interest, including takeover attempts that might result in a premium over the market price for the shares held by stockholders.

Issuance of Preferred Stock

The issuance of preferred stock pursuant to the board s authority described above may adversely affect the rights of the holders of our common stock. For example, preferred stock issued by us may rank prior to our common stock as to dividend rights, liquidation preference or both, may have full or limited voting rights and may be convertible into shares of our common stock. Accordingly, the ability of our board of directors to issue undesignated preferred stock may discourage bids for our common stock or may otherwise adversely affect the market price of our common stock. We have no present intention to issue shares of preferred stock.

Advance Notice Requirements

Our bylaws impose advance notice requirements for stockholder proposals and nominations of directors to be considered at meetings of stockholders.

Bylaw Amendments

Our certificate of incorporation permits our board of directors to amend, alter or repeal our bylaws, except to the extent otherwise provided therein, without the assent or vote of stockholders.

Indenture for Our Notes and Domestic Credit Facility

If, in the future, we experience a change of control as defined under the indenture for out 40% senior secured notes, we are required to make an offer, a change of control offer, to purchase all of out 40% senior secured notes issued and then outstanding at a purchase price equal to 101% of the principal amount thereof plus accrued interest thereon, as of the date of purchase. Any change of control under the indenture also would constitute a default under our domestic credit facility pursuant to which the lenders under the credit facility could accelerate and require immediate payment of all of the then outstanding obligations under the credit facility. These provisions may delay, defer or inhibit a future acquisition of us.

83

Table of Contents

Limitation of Liability and Indemnification Matters

Our certificate of incorporation contains provisions that eliminate the personal liability of our directors to us or our stockholders for monetary damages for breach of their fiduciary duty as a director to the fullest extent permitted by the Delaware General Corporation Law, except for liability:

for any breach of the director s duty of loyalty to us or our stockholders;

for acts or omissions not in good faith or which involve intentional misconduct or a knowing violation of law;

for unlawful payments of dividends or stock repurchases or redemptions; and

for any transaction from which the director derived an improper personal benefit.

These provisions do not affect a director s responsibilities under any other laws, including the federal securities laws or state or federal environmental laws.

Our bylaws also contain provisions that require us to indemnify our directors, and permit us to indemnify our officers and employees, to the fullest extent permitted by Delaware law. However, we are not obligated to indemnify any such person:

with respect to proceedings, claims or actions initiated or brought voluntarily by any such person and not by way of defense; or

for any amounts paid in settlement, without our prior written consent, of an action in respect of which we would otherwise indemnify such person.

We have entered into indemnification agreements with each of our directors and executive officers providing for the indemnification described above. We believe that these limitations on liability are essential to attracting and retaining qualified persons as directors and executive officers. We have directors—and officers—liability insurance and will obtain amended coverage in connection with the public offering.

Transfer Agent and Registrar

The transfer agent and registrar for our common stock is American Stock Transfer & Trust Company.

Listing

We have applied to list our common stock on The New York Stock Exchange under the symbol JOR.

Regulation M

EMJ, Holding, their affiliates and certain other persons participating in the merger and financial restructuring and public offering will be subject to liability under anti-manipulation rules of the federal securities laws and must comply with the requirements of the Securities Act and the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, or Exchange Act, including Rule 10b-5 and Regulation M under the Exchange Act. These rules and regulations may limit the timing of purchase and sales of shares of EMJ common stock. Under these rules and regulations, persons engaged in the distribution of the EMJ common stock, including issuers, selling stockholders and affiliated purchasers participating in the sale or distribution:

may not engage in any stabilization activity in connection with EMJ common stock;

must furnish each broker which offers resale shares covered by this proxy statement/prospectus with the number of copies of this proxy statement/prospectus and any supplement which are required by the broker; and

may not bid for or purchase any EMJ common stock or attempt to induce any person to purchase any EMJ common stock other than as permitted under the Exchange Act during the applicable restricted

84

Table of Contents

period, which generally speaking, begins five days prior to the date of pricing of the EMJ common stock to be issued in the public offering and continues until the person s participation in the distribution is completed.

Stock Bonus Plan

Holding maintains a stock bonus plan for the benefit of our nonunion employees who meet certain service requirements. Since April 1, 1999 (when Holding s employee stock ownership plan was amended and became the stock bonus plan), the amount of annual contributions is calculated as a percentage (as determined by our board of directors based on the achievement of our performance objectives) of total cash compensation (as defined in the stock bonus plan) and may be made by us in cash or by Holding in shares of Holding capital stock. Participants become 20% vested in their account balances after one year of continuous service. Participants vest an additional 20% for each year of service thereafter and become fully vested at age 65 or upon completion of five years of service, retirement, disability or death. Following the occurrence of a participant s termination of service (as defined in the stock bonus plan), retirement, disability, or death, the stock bonus plan is required to either distribute the vested balance in stock or in limited cases, cash depending upon the investment of the participant s plan account.

Participants in Holding s stock bonus plan are entitled to receive distribution of the shares they hold through the stock bonus plan upon termination of their employment. If termination is due to retirement, disability, death, plant closure or job elimination, distribution shall occur in a single sum as soon as is practicable on or after the March 31st, June 30th, September 30th or December 31st that is either the date of termination or first follows the date of termination. If termination occurs for any other reason, distribution shall occur as soon as is practicable after March 31st if that is the date of termination or, if termination is any other date, after the next March 31st following such date of termination.

If the merger and financial restructuring occurs, shares distributed to a participant in Holding s stock bonus plan pursuant to plan terms will be transferable subject to the following limitations: (1) shares received by any affiliate within the meaning of Rule 144 under the Securities Act may be resold only in transactions permitted by Rule 144 or Rule 145 under the Securities Act or as otherwise permitted under the Securities Act; (2) shares received by certain participants may be subject to restrictions on transfer contained in any applicable lock-up agreements entered into by such participants; and (3) shares received by certain participants may be subject to restrictions on transfer contained in any applicable transfer restriction agreements entered into by such participants.

With respect to a participant s diversification rights before benefits are distributed under the stock bonus plan, current plan provisions will be maintained and a participant will be able to diversify his or her account under the stock bonus plan after having attained age 55 and completed ten years of service. Generally, under such provisions, participants who meet these requirements can elect to diversify certain accounts invested in Holding common stock into other specified investments during an election period of six consecutive years beginning with the year in which they become first eligible for diversification. For each of the first five years in the election period, diversification may not exceed 25% of the relevant shares (less all shares previously diversified). Diversification in the last year of the election period may not exceed 50% of the relevant shares (less all shares previously diversified). Except for their diversification rights, participants may not currently sell shares in their accounts.

In addition, Holding will amend the stock bonus plan to provide that shares held in all participant accounts invested in EMJ common stock will become eligible for diversification, as follows: (1) up to 25% of such accounts at any time after the six month anniversary of the closing of the public offering; (2) up to 50% of such accounts at any time after the 12 month anniversary of the closing of the public offering until the 18 month anniversary of the public offering; (3) up to 75% of such accounts at any time after the 18 month anniversary of the public offering until the 24 month

Table of Contents

anniversary of the closing of the public offering; and (4) up to 100% of such accounts at any time after the 24 month anniversary of the closing of the public offering. The shares eligible for diversification as provided above will be those shares of EMJ common stock allocated to such accounts as of the closing of the public offering, plus additional shares contributed to the stock bonus plan pursuant to the special contributions, which will be eligible for diversification as provided above immediately following the special contributions.

Pursuant to applicable provisions of ERISA, it is permissible to eliminate any investment alternative available under the stock bonus plan, if appropriate, and therefore the shares of EMJ common stock held by the stock bonus plan may be sold at any time if such shares are eliminated as an investment alternative.

Although neither Holding nor EMJ has expressed any intent to terminate the stock bonus plan, they have the right to terminate or amend the provisions of the plan at any time. In the event of any termination, participants become fully vested to the extent of the balances in their separate accounts and receive put options with respect to Holding stock allocated to their accounts. Upon the closing of the merger and financial restructuring and the public offering, however, participants will no longer have the right to exercise their put options with respect to the common stock allocated to their accounts. Upon consummation of the merger and financial restructuring, (1) the Holding common stock allocated to participants accounts will be converted into shares of EMJ common stock; (2) the series A preferred stock allocated to participants accounts will be converted into shares of EMJ common stock and exchanged for cash; and (3) the Holding series B preferred stock will be converted into shares of EMJ common stock and cash.

In 1984, 1985 and 1986, EMJ s predecessor purchased life insurance policies to provide, among other things, a separate source for funds to repurchase capital stock, including capital stock distributed by the plan, from departing employees. Certain of these policies allow EMJ to borrow against the cash surrender value of such company owned life insurance policies. As of September 29, 2004, EMJ has borrowed \$182.3 million against the cash surrender value of such policies to fund renewal premiums, accrued interest on previous borrowings and working capital needs. The net cash surrender value available for future borrowings was approximately \$19.8 million as of September 29, 2004. EMJ s domestic credit facility and other resources are also available, subject to certain limitations, to satisfy stock repurchase obligations as they arise.

On March 8, 2002, EMJ was sued by the Department of Labor for alleged breaches of fiduciary duty by former members of our benefits committee in relying on the valuations of EMJ common stock prepared by our independent appraiser, which allegedly resulted in prohibited transactions. This matter was settled in January 2003 via a consent order and release amongst EMJ, Holding, the benefits committee and the Department of Labor. See The Amended Consent Order at page 34 and Business-Legal Proceedings at page 124 for additional information concerning the consent order and release, the amendment to the consent order and release agreed and a special contribution of additional shares of Holding common stock to the stock bonus plan.

86

COMPARISON OF SECURITIES AND STOCKHOLDER RIGHTS

Upon completion of the merger and financial restructuring, you will become stockholders of EMJ. Your rights will continue to be governed by Delaware law and will be governed by our amended and restated certificate of incorporation, amended and restated bylaws and stock bonus plan. Because both Holding and EMJ are organized under the laws of Delaware, differences in your rights arise from differences in the respective certificates of incorporation, bylaws, stockholders agreement and stock bonus plan of Holding and EMJ.

The following is a summary of the material differences between the rights of the holders of the equity securities of Holding and the holders of our common stock into which the Holding securities will be converted in the merger and financial restructuring. The summary is not a complete statement of the rights of stockholders of the two companies or a complete description of the specific provisions referred to below. The summary is qualified in its entirety by reference to the governing corporate instruments of Holding and us, which you should read. Copies of the governing corporate instruments of Holding are on file with the Commission, and the forms of our new governing corporate documents are included as annexes to this proxy statement/prospectus and were filed with the Commission as exhibits to the registration statement of which this proxy statement/prospectus is a part. To find out where you can get copies of these documents, see the section of this proxy statement/prospectus entitled Where You Can Find Additional Information About Us on page 142.

Holding Common Stock

Authorized Capital. 19,500,000 shares, \$.01 par value, are authorized for issuance and 11,253,312 shares are issued and outstanding as of November 30, 2004. Warrants to purchase 2,937,915 shares of common stock an exercise price of \$0.01 per share and options to purchase 3,053,662 shares of common stock at a weighted average exercise price of \$3.35 per share are issued and outstanding as of November 30, 2004.

EM.I Common Stock

Authorized Capital. 80,000,000 shares, \$.001 par value, are authorized for issuance and, assuming that the public offering price is \$ per share, the mid-point of the range as described on the cover of the preliminary public offering prospectus dated 2005 and the sale of shares of EMJ common stock in the offering as described on the cover of the preliminary prospectus, shares shall be issued and outstanding immediately following the merger and financial restructuring and public offering transactions. Upon consummation of the merger and financial restructuring, options to purchase 3,053,662 shares of common stock at a weighted average exercise price of \$3.35 per share will be assumed and outstanding. Upon consummation of the merger and financial restructuring and the public offering, we will assume the obligations of Holding to make a special contribution of up to 2,496,703 additional shares of Holding common stock or common stock equivalents in the aggregate to (1) the stock bonus plan and (2) a supplemental stock bonus plan, respectively, and will reserve 2,496,703 shares of our common stock for issuance in connection with the special contribution.

Upon consummation of the merger and financial restructuring and public offering, EMJ will have authorized and reserved for issuance under EMJ s new stock incentive plan shares of EMJ common stock in an aggregate amount equal to 5% of the total number of shares of EMJ common stock issued and outstanding immediately after giving effect to the merger and financial restructuring and the public offering.

Rank. Holding s common stock is junior to all series of its preferred stock with respect to dividends and rights on liquidation and winding up.

Voting. Each share of Holding s common stock is entitled to 1 vote per share.

Election of Directors. Holding s stockholders agreement provides for a board of directors consisting of at least seven members, at least two of whom are (i) to be nominated by management stockholders owning a majority of the shares of common stock owned by such management stockholders and (ii) are reasonably acceptable to Kelso, and five of whom shall be designated by Kelso.

Approval Rights. A majority vote of the holders of common stock and the series B preferred stock, voting together as a class, is required to approve any merger.

Puts and Calls. Holding s stockholders agreement provides that, upon termination of employment, management stockholders have the right to put their shares of common stock to Holding and Holding has the right to purchase their shares of common stock at fair market value; provided that management stockholders do not have a put right on voluntary termination of employment. Fair market value is equal to the most recent appraised value, until six months into a fiscal year, and thereafter, is equal to a value based on the weighted average (based on a 365 or 366 day year) of the previous appraised value and the value determined at the next appraisal. This right terminates upon the earlier of March 24, 2008 or the closing of an initial public offering of Holding s common stock.

Tag and Drag. The Holding stockholders agreement provides that (i) if Kelso and its affiliates sell more than 15% of their aggregate shares of Holding common stock to a third party or parties unaffiliated with Kelso, the employee stockholders may participate pro rata in such transaction on the same terms and conditions as Kelso and its affiliates, and (ii) if Kelso and its affiliates sell all of their common stock to a third party or parties unaffiliated with Kelso, such third party may require the employee stockholders to sell their shares to it on the same terms and conditions.

Rank. EMJ s common stock will be the only class of equity securities outstanding.

Voting. Each share of EMJ s common stock is entitled to 1 vote per share.

Election of Directors. EMJ s amended and restated bylaws provide for a board of directors consisting of not less than three nor more than nine members. Following completion of the financial restructuring and public offering transactions, EMJ s common stock will not be the subject of any stockholders agreement such as Holding s stockholders agreement. However, EMJ has agreed to enter into a nominating agreement with the Kelso funds that provides that for so long as the Kelso funds own in excess of 20% of our issued and outstanding common stock, the Kelso funds will be entitled to designate two directors, and for so long as the Kelso funds own in excess of 10% of our issued and outstanding common stock, the Kelso funds will be entitled to designate one director, to be included in the slate of directors nominated by us for election to our board of directors in our annual proxy statement. Approval Rights. A majority vote of the holders of common stock of EMJ will be required to approve any merger.

Puts and Calls. Upon completion of the merger and financial restructuring and the public offering, Holding s stockholders agreement will be terminated along with all put and call provisions contained in that stockholders agreement, and thereafter, shares of EMJ common stock will be publicly-tradable, listed on the New York Stock Exchange and not subject to any put or call provisions.

Tag and Drag. Upon completion of the merger and financial restructuring and the public offering, Holding s stockholders agreement will be terminated, along with all tag and drag provisions contained in that stockholders agreement and thereafter, shares of EMJ common stock will be publicly-tradable, listed on the New York Stock Exchange and not subject to any tag or drag provisions.

Table of Contents 186

88

Restrictions on Transfer. If an employee stockholder elects to transfer his shares to a third party, except for a permitted transfer, Holding, the stock bonus plan and other stockholders have a right of first refusal to purchase such common stock on the same terms as the proposed transaction.

Distribution and Put Rights under Stock Bonus Plan. Participants in Holding s stock bonus plan are entitled to receive distribution of the shares they hold through the stock bonus plan upon termination of their employment. If termination is due to retirement, disability, death, plant closure or job elimination, distribution shall occur in a single sum as soon as is practicable on or after March 31st, June 30th, September 30th or December 31st that is either the date of termination or follows the date of termination. If termination occurs for any other reason, distribution shall occur as soon as is practicable after March 31st if that is the date of termination or, if termination is any other date, after the next March 31st following such date of termination. In either case, following a distribution of shares from Holding s stock bonus plan to any participant, the participant has two option periods of 60 days during which the participant can put his shares to us at the appraised value as of the immediately preceding appraisal date. One option period commences on the distribution date and the second option period commences on the date as of which the appraisal for the next plan year is made available to participants.

Restrictions on Transfer. Upon completion of the merger and financial restructuring and the public offering, the shares of EMJ common stock held directly by the former Holding stockholders will not be subject to restrictions on transfer, except for certain lock-up agreements to be entered into by the directors, executive officers and district managers of EMJ and the Kelso funds, certain transfer restriction agreements to be entered into by the executive officers and district managers of EMJ, and securities law restrictions under Rules 144 and 145 under the Securities Act applicable to shares of EMJ common stock held by an affiliate of Holding or EMJ as that term is defined in Rule 144 under the Securities Act. Upon completion of the merger and financial restructuring and the public offering, the shares of EMJ common stock held by the stock bonus plan will be subject to restrictions on transfer contained in the lock-up agreements, provisions of the stock bonus plan which restrict participants from selling EMJ common stock except in connection with a termination of employment or upon satisfaction of certain diversification eligibility requirements and securities law restrictions under Rules 144 and 145 under the Securities Act applicable to shares of EMJ common stock held by an affiliate of Holding or EMJ.

Distribution and Put Rights under Stock Bonus Plan. In connection with the merger and financial restructuring and the public offering, Holding and EMJ will amend the stock bonus plan to eliminate put rights

Amendment to the DOL Consent Order and Release. The amendment to the consent order and release between Holding and the DOL, which was effective as of December , 2004 adjusted the requirements that shares of common stock contributed to the stock bonus plan as employer contributions in plan years 1994 through 2000 be repurchased at a price that is not less than \$4.25 to reflect the special contribution of Holding common stock. The floor price guaranty was reduced to \$2.15 per share of Holding common stock. In order to offset the change in appraisal methodology, Holding has committed to make special contributions over the next two years to its stock bonus plan, a new supplemental stock bonus plan and a new special cash bonus plan. The aggregate economic effect of the Holding commitment is to issue and/or pay to each stock bonus plan participant 1.0817 additional shares of common stock (or, in certain cases where the participant has left EMJ, its cash equivalent) with respect to each share of common stock now held by the stock bonus plan. The compensating contributions will be made in the form of contributions to the stock bonus plan, the allocation of units to the accounts of certain employees in a supplemental stock bonus plan and the payment of cash bonuses, in each case, in a manner that complies with the requirements of the Internal Revenue Code and ERISA.

Dividend Requirement. None.

Holding series A preferred stock

Authorized Capital. 600,000 shares, \$.01 par value, are authorized for issuance and, as of November 30, 2004, 59,971 shares are issued and outstanding.

Rank. The series A preferred stock is senior to all classes of common and preferred stock with respect to dividends and rights on liquidation and winding up. The liquidation preference entitles Holders of series A preferred stock to receive cash equal to \$100 per share, plus all accrued but unpaid dividends in the event of a voluntary or involuntary liquidation of Holding. A sale, conveyance, transfer or exchange of substantially all of the property or assets of Holding also triggers this liquidation preference.

Amendment to the DOL Consent Order and Release. Any obligations of Holding outstanding upon completion of the financial restructuring and public offering transactions in connection with the amendment to the DOL consent order and release will be assumed and performed by us in connection with our assumption of the stock bonus plan. Pursuant to the terms of the amended consent order, upon consummation of the merger and financial restructuring the floor price guaranty terminates, and upon consummation of the public offering the put rights will be eliminated and the obligation to obtain appraisals of the EMJ common stock will cease.

Dividend Requirement. None.

Authorized Capital. Holders of series A preferred stock will receive cash and shares of our common stock in the merger that will have the rights listed above, be publicly-tradable and be listed on the New York Stock Exchange. There will be no shares of series A preferred stock issued and outstanding after the merger and financial restructuring.

Table of Contents 188

90

Dividend. The series A preferred stock is entitled to receive cumulative dividends at 18% per annum (this rate was increased from 13% in December 2002), which is payable in cash only. No dividends may be declared unless the corporation possesses sufficient cash and is otherwise legally permitted to pay the dividends in cash. Dividends on the series A preferred stock are payable each December 31st. Dividends have not been declared on the series A preferred stock because Holding is unable to pay the cash portion of the dividends. Undeclared dividends have accumulated through September 29, 2004 and are reflected in the appraised value of the series A preferred stock.

Voting. The series A preferred stock is entitled to one vote per share on all matters for which such shares are entitled to vote.

Election of Directors. The holders of series A preferred stock are currently entitled to appoint 1 member to Holding s board of directors because dividends have not been timely paid. The holders of series A preferred stock will continue to appoint 1 director until all cumulative dividends on the series A preferred stock have been paid in full.

Approval Rights. The holders of the series A preferred stock have certain approval rights. Approval of a majority of the holders of series A preferred stock, voting as a single class, is required to approve a merger, if the merger consideration is something other than cash and, if the merger consideration is cash, the cash is less than the liquidation preference plus all accrued but unpaid dividends. A vote of 2/3 of the issued and outstanding shares is required to approve (1) any class of stock having priority over the series A preferred stock, (2) reclassification of any shares of stock into the series A preferred stock, (3) the authorization of any series of security authorized to purchase any of the series A preferred stock and (4) any amendment of our certificate of incorporation that adversely affects the rights of the series A preferred stock. Unanimous approval of the holders of series A preferred stock affected is required to (a) reduce or change the dividend rate, (b) reduce the liquidation value or (c) waive any obligation to pay dividends or make redemption payments. Changes to Holding s stockholders agreement affecting the rights of holders of the series A preferred stock require approval of (x) Holding and Kelso and (y) the stockholders owning a majority of the series A preferred stock.

91

Puts and calls. Holding s stockholders agreement provides that, upon termination of employment, management stockholders have the right to put their shares of series A preferred stock to Holding and Holding has the right to purchase the shares of series A preferred stock at fair market value. This right terminates upon the earlier of March 24, 2008 or the closing of an initial public offering of Holding s common stock.

Distribution and Put Rights under the Stock Bonus Plan. Participants in Holding s stock bonus plan are entitled to receive distribution of the shares they hold through the stock bonus plan upon termination of their employment. If termination is due to retirement, disability, death, plant closure or job elimination, distribution shall occur in a single sum as soon as is practicable on or after March 31st, June 30th, September 30th or December 31st that is either the date of termination or follows the date of termination. If termination occurs for any other reason, distribution shall occur as soon as is practicable after March 31st if that is the date of termination or if termination is any other date, after the next March 31st following such date of termination. In either case, following a distribution of shares from Holding s stock bonus plan to any participant, the participant has two option periods of 60 days during which the participant can put his shares to us at the appraised value as of the immediately preceding appraisal date. One option period commences on the distribution date and the second option period commences on the date as of which the appraisal for the next plan year is made available to participants.

Redemption. Holding may redeem shares of the series A preferred stock at \$100 per share plus payment of an amount equal to all accrued but unpaid dividends through the redemption date; provided unless the full cumulative dividends on all outstanding shares of series A preferred stock were paid or contemporaneously are declared and paid for all past dividend periods, no series A preferred stock may be redeemed unless all such shares are redeemed.

Holding Series B Preferred Stock

Authorized Capital. 100,000 shares, \$.01 par value, are authorized for issuance and, as of November 30, 2004, 28,718 shares are issued and outstanding.

Authorized Capital. Holders of series B preferred stock will receive cash and shares of our common stock in the merger that will have the rights listed above, be publicly-tradable and be listed on the New York Stock Exchange. There will be no shares of series B preferred stock issued and outstanding after the completion of the merger and financial restructuring.

Rank. The series B preferred stock is (1) junior to the series A preferred stock and (2) senior to the common stock, with respect to dividends and rights on liquidation and winding up.

Dividend. The series B preferred stock is entitled to receive cumulative dividends at a variable interest rate per annum. The applicable dividend rate was initially set at 15.5% of the liquidation value per annum, and is adjusted annually on or prior to each June 30 (contemporaneously with and based on the annual appraisal of the series B preferred stock held by the stock bonus plan); provided that the interest rate may not increase or decrease by more than 500 basis points from the initial rate. Dividend payments on the series B preferred stock are payable in cash or in-kind (via the issuance of common stock or series B preferred stock of equivalent value) on each March 31st, June 30th, September 30th and December 31st. Any dividends paid in-kind must be paid and have been paid at the applicable dividend rate plus 150 basis points.

Voting. The series B preferred stock is entitled to 1 vote per share on all matters for which such shares are entitled to vote.

Election of Directors. No voting rights.

Approval Rights. In the event of any amendment to Holding s certificate of incorporation adversely affecting the interests the holders of the series B

preferred stock, the holders of series B preferred stock would be entitled to vote as a class on such amendment (Section 242 of the DGCL). A majority vote of the holders of common stock and the series B preferred stock, voting together as a class is required to approve any merger.

Redemption. The Corporation may redeem shares of the series B preferred stock at \$1,000 per share plus payment of an amount equal to all accrued, but unpaid dividends through the redemption date; provided unless the full cumulative dividends on all series B preferred stock were paid or contemporaneously are declared and paid for all past dividend periods, no series A preferred stock may be redeemed unless all such shares are redeemed.

93

Distribution and Put Rights under the Stock Bonus Plan. Participants in Holding s stock bonus plan are entitled to receive distribution of the shares they hold through the stock bonus plan upon termination of their employment. If termination is due to retirement, disability, death, plant closure or job elimination, distribution shall occur in a single sum as soon as is practicable on or after March 31st, June 30th, September 30th or December 31st that is either the date of termination or follows the date of termination. If termination occurs for any other reason, distribution shall occur as soon as is practicable after March 31st if that is the date of termination or if termination is any other date, after the next March 31st following such date of termination. In either case, following a distribution of shares from Holding s stock bonus plan to any participant, the participant has two option periods of 60 days during which the participant can put his shares to us at the appraised value as of the immediately preceding appraisal date. One option period commences on the distribution date and the second option period commences on the date as of which the appraisal for the next plan year is made available to participants.

94

ACCOUNTING TREATMENT

For accounting purposes our merger and financial restructuring will be accounted for as a transfer of assets and exchange of shares between entities under common control. As such, the transaction will be accounted for in a manner similar to a pooling-of-interests. Accordingly, the financial position and results of operations of Holding will be included in our consolidated financial statements on a historical cost basis.

FEDERAL INCOME TAX CONSEQUENCES

Material Federal Income Tax Consequences

The following summary discusses the material United States federal income tax consequences of the merger to Holding stockholders. This discussion is based upon the Internal Revenue Code, Treasury regulations promulgated thereunder, administrative rulings and judicial decisions thereof, all as of the date hereof, and all of which are subject to change, possibly with retroactive effect. The discussion assumes that the Holding stockholders currently hold their Holding stock and will continue to hold that stock as a capital asset within the meaning of Section 1221 of the Internal Revenue Code. Further, the discussion does not address all aspects of United States federal income taxation that may be relevant to a particular stockholder in light of his, her or its personal circumstances or to stockholders subject to special treatment under the United States federal income tax laws, including:

insurance companies;
financial institutions or trusts;
dealers in securities or foreign currency;
traders that mark to market;
tax-exempt organizations;
pass-through entities (e.g. partnerships) or persons who hold our common stock through pass-through entities;
stockholders whose functional currency is not the U.S. dollar;
stockholders who hold their shares as part of a hedge, appreciated financial position, straddle or conversion transaction;
stockholders who hold or have acquired the Holding stock or are acquiring EMJ capital stock through the exercise of options or otherwise as compensation or through a tax-qualified retirement plan (other than Holding s stock bonus plan); and

foreign corporations, foreign partnerships or other foreign entities and individuals who are not citizens or residents of the United States.

Furthermore, this discussion does not consider the potential effects of any state, local or foreign tax laws, and does not consider the effect of the merger for United States federal alternative minimum tax purposes. Accordingly, holders of Holding stock are urged to consult their own tax advisors regarding the specific tax consequences to them of the merger, including the applicability and effect of federal, state, local and foreign income or other tax laws applicable to their particular circumstances.

The merger is intended to qualify as a reorganization within the meaning of Section 368(a) of the Internal Revenue Code. Katten Muchin Zavis Rosenman has delivered to us its opinion dated , 2005 that the merger will qualify as a reorganization pursuant to Section 368(a) of the Internal Revenue Code and that each of Holding and EMJ will be a party to such reorganization within the meaning of Section 368(b) of the Internal

95

Table of Contents

Revenue Code. Consistent with this characterization, the following discussion summarizes the material United States federal income tax consequences of the merger to the Holding stockholders. As it relates to the tax consequences of certain Holding stockholders, this discussion assumes that the series A preferred stock and series B preferred stock will be exchanged in the merger for a combination of cash and EMJ common stock.

Neither EMJ nor Holding has requested a ruling from the Internal Revenue Service with respect to any of the United States federal income tax consequences of the merger and, as a result, there can be no assurance that the Internal Revenue Service will not disagree with or successfully challenge any of the statements made below. Additionally, the tax opinion delivered to us by Katten Muchin Zavis Rosenman is predicated on the merger and financial restructuring being consummated in accordance with the terms of the merger agreement and the exchange agreement as described herein, and on certain factual representations made by us as of the effective date of the merger and financial restructuring, including, but not limited to, the representation that at least 50% of the value of Holding stock will be exchanged for EMJ stock in the merger. If the merger and financial restructuring are not consummated in accordance with the terms of the merger agreement and the exchange agreement, or if any of the factual representations made by us is inaccurate, incomplete or untrue as of the effective date of the merger and financial restructuring, the tax opinion by Katten Muchin Zavis Rosenman may be invalid and thus cannot be relied upon.

Holding Common Stock: Receipt of EMJ Common Stock

No Gain or Loss. A Holding common stockholder who, pursuant to the merger, receives only EMJ common stock in exchange for Holding common stock will not recognize any gain or loss upon such exchange, except in respect of cash received in lieu of a fractional share of EMJ common stock (as discussed below under Cash Received in Lieu of a Fractional Share of EMJ Common Stock).

Tax Basis. The aggregate adjusted tax basis of EMJ common stock received in the merger generally will be equal to the aggregate adjusted tax basis of the Holding common stock surrendered therefor, decreased by the amount of any tax basis allocable to any fractional share interest in EMJ common stock for which cash is received.

Holding Period. The holding period of EMJ common stock received in the merger will include the period during which the shares of Holding common stock were held.

Series A Preferred Stock and Series B Preferred Stock: Receipt of Cash and EMJ Common Stock

Gain But No Loss. A holder of series A preferred stock or series B preferred stock who, pursuant to the merger, receives a combination of cash and EMJ common stock in exchange for series A preferred stock or series B preferred stock will recognize gain, but not loss in an amount equal to the lesser of:

the amount of gain realized with respect to the series A preferred stock or the series B preferred stock; and

the amount of cash received (other than cash received in lieu of a fractional share of EMJ common stock, which will be taxed as discussed below under Cash Received in Lieu of a Fractional Share of EMJ Common Stock).

The amount of gain realized with respect to the series A preferred stock or series B preferred stock exchanged will equal the excess, if any, of:

the sum of the cash received plus the fair market value of EMJ common stock received, over

the Holding stockholder s adjusted tax basis in such series A preferred stock or series B preferred stock.

For this purpose, gain or loss must be calculated separately for each identifiable block of shares of series A preferred stock or series B preferred stock surrendered in the merger, and a loss realized on one block of shares

96

may not be used to offset a gain realized on another block of shares. Holders should consult their tax advisors regarding the manner in which cash and EMJ common stock shares should be allocated among different blocks of their series A preferred stock or series B preferred stock surrendered in the merger.

Any gain recognized will be treated as capital gain unless, as discussed below under Possible Treatment of Cash as a Dividend, the receipt of the cash has the effect of the distribution of a dividend for U.S. federal income tax purposes, in which case such gain will be treated as ordinary dividend income to the extent of the Holding stockholder s ratable share of accumulated earnings and profits of EMJ. Any capital gain will be long-term capital gain if, as of the date of the exchange, the holding period for the shares of series A preferred stock or series B preferred stock exchanged is more than one year. Long-term capital gains of individuals are generally eligible for reduced rates of taxation.

Tax Basis. The aggregate adjusted tax basis of EMJ common stock received in the merger generally will be equal to the aggregate adjusted tax basis of the shares of series A preferred stock or series B preferred stock (reduced by the basis in any fractional share of series A preferred stock or series B preferred stock for which cash is received) surrendered in the merger, reduced by the amount of cash received by the holder in the merger (excluding any cash received in lieu of a fractional share), and increased by the amount of gain recognized by the holder in the merger (including any portion of the gain that is treated as a dividend, as described below under Possible Treatment of Cash as a Dividend, but excluding any gain or loss resulting from fractional shares).

Holding Period. The holding period of EMJ common stock received in the merger will include the holding period of the series A preferred stock or series B preferred stock exchanged therefor.

Possible Treatment of Cash as a Dividend

For purposes of this determination of whether the gain recognized by a holder of series A preferred stock or series B preferred stock will be treated as capital gain or a dividend, the holder of series A preferred stock or series B preferred stock is treated as if it first exchanged all of its shares of series A preferred stock or series B preferred stock solely for EMJ common stock and then EMJ immediately redeemed a portion of the EMJ common stock in exchange for the cash the holder actually received (excluding cash received instead of fractional shares). The gain recognized in this deemed redemption will be treated as capital gain, and not as dividend, if the deemed redemption is (1) substantially disproportionate with respect to the holder or (2) not essentially equivalent to a dividend. The exchange would be substantially disproportionate with respect to the holder if the holder s percentage interest in EMJ common stock (including stock constructively owned by the holder) immediately after the merger (1) is less than 50% of the total voting power of EMJ common stock and (2) is less than 80% of the voting power and value, respectively, of what the percentage interest would have been if, hypothetically, the holder had received solely EMJ common stock in exchange for all series A preferred stock or series B preferred stock shares owned or constructively owned by the holder before the merger. In order for the deemed redemption to be not essentially equivalent to a dividend, the deemed redemption must result in a meaningful reduction in the holder s deemed percentage stock ownership of EMJ common stock. The Internal Revenue Service has indicated that a minority stockholder in a publicly traded corporation whose relative stock interest is minimal (an interest of less than 1% of the outstanding existing common stock should satisfy this requirement) and who exercises no control with respect to corporate affairs will experience a meaningful reduction if that stockholder experiences any reduction in its percentage stock ownership in connection with a transaction such as the merger. For purposes of these analyses, the series A preferred stock or series B preferred stock stockholder would be deemed to own any shares of EMJ common stock owned, or constructively owned, by certain persons related to such series A preferred stock or series B preferred stock stockholder or that are subject to an option held by the series A preferred stock or series B preferred stock stockholder or a related person.

These rules are complex and dependent upon the specific factual circumstances particular to each Holding stockholder. Consequently, each holder should consult its tax advisor as to the application of these rules to the

particular facts relevant to such holder. Holding stockholders that are corporations should consult their tax advisors regarding their eligibility for a dividends received deduction and the treatment of the dividend as an extraordinary dividend under section 1059 of the Internal Revenue Code. Additionally, holders of series A preferred stock and series B preferred stock should consult their tax advisors regarding the potential characterization of merger consideration that is received in respect of dividend arrearages on series A preferred stock or series B preferred stock as a dividend under section 305 of the Internal Revenue Code.

Cash Received in Lieu of a Fractional Share of EMJ Common Stock

A Holding stockholder who receives cash instead of a fractional share of EMJ common stock will generally be treated as having received such fractional share and then as having received such cash in redemption of that fractional share by EMJ. Unless, as to any Holding stockholders, the receipt of cash in lieu of a fractional share of EMJ common stock is essentially equivalent to a dividend, a Holding stockholder who receives cash in lieu of a fractional share of EMJ common stock generally will recognize gain or loss equal to the difference between the amount of cash received and the Holding stockholder s tax basis in such fractional share. Such gain or loss will be long-term capital gain or loss if, as of the date of the exchange, the holding period for such shares is more than one year.

Effect of Possible Alternative Characterization

A successful challenge by the Internal Revenue Service to the reorganization status of the merger could result in significant adverse tax consequences to Holding stockholders. A Holding stockholder would generally recognize taxable gain or loss on each share of Holding stock surrendered equal to the difference between the basis of such share and the fair market value, as of the effective time of the merger, of the EMJ stock plus any cash received in exchange therefor. In such event, a stockholder s aggregate basis in the EMJ common stock received would equal its fair market value, and the stockholder s holding period for such EMJ stock would begin the day after the effective time of the merger.

Information Reporting and Backup Withholding

Unless you comply with certain reporting and/or certification procedures or are an exempt recipient under applicable provisions of the Internal Revenue Code and Treasury regulations, cash payments in exchange for your Holding stock in the merger will be subject to backup withholding at a rate of 28% for federal income tax purposes. Any amounts withheld under the backup withholding rules may be allowed as a refund or a credit against the holder s federal income tax liability, provided the required information is furnished to the Internal Revenue Service.

Each Holding stockholder will be required to retain records and file with such stockholder s United States federal income tax return a statement setting forth certain facts relating to the merger.

The preceding summary of the U.S. federal income tax consequences of the merger does not purport to be a complete analysis or discussion of all potential tax effects relevant to the merger. This discussion may not apply to a particular stockholder in light of the stockholder is particular circumstances. You are urged to consult your own tax advisors as to the specific tax consequences to you of the merger, including tax return reporting requirements, the applicability and effect of federal, state, local, foreign and other applicable tax laws and the effect of any proposed changes in the tax laws.

98

MANAGEMENT S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION

AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS OF EMJ

The following discussion should be read in conjunction with our consolidated financial statements and the related notes included elsewhere in this proxy statement/prospectus. This discussion contains forward-looking statements that involve risks and uncertainties. Our actual results could differ materially from those anticipated in the forward-looking statements as a result of various factors, including the risks discussed in Risk Factors and elsewhere in this prospectus. See Cautionary Note Regarding Forward-Looking Statements. Our fiscal year ends March 31 of each applicable year.

Overview

We are a leading distributor of metal bar and tubular products used in North American manufacturing processes and have been in business for over 80 years. We purchase over 25,000 different metal products in large quantities from primary producers, including a broad mix of carbon steel, stainless steel and aluminum bar, tubular and plate products. We sell these metal products in smaller quantities to over 35,000 customers spanning various industries, including machine tools, industrial equipment, transportation, fluid power, oil, gas and energy, fabricated metal, and construction and agricultural equipment. We distribute our broad range of metal products and provide our customers value-added metal processing and inventory management services from our distribution network of 36 strategically located service and processing centers in the United States and Canada.

The metals service center industry is affected by market demand and metals supply. The most advantageous business conditions for the leading metals service centers in North America that have strong supply relationships with metals producers occur when domestic demand is strong and worldwide supply is limited. After many quarters of weak industrial economic conditions in the United States, the metals service center industry began to experience growth in sales volume and increases in prices during the last calendar quarter of 2003. This growth, which has continued throughout 2004, has been due to growing demand for metal products in North America and emerging countries, led by China. This significant increase in demand has changed the balance of supply and demand for metal products, which has correspondingly increased prices and reduced the supply of certain metals. Another factor currently affecting metal prices and availability in North America is favorable exchange rates that are helping end-users that export their finished products and hurting the supply of traditionally less expensive foreign raw material coming to North America.

We believe that the metals service center industry will continue to increase its role as a valuable intermediary between primary metals producers and end-users, principally as a result of (1) the metals producers efforts to increase sales to larger volume purchasers in order to increase production efficiency and (2) increased demand by end-users for value-added services and small order quantities in order to reduce their costs and capital expenditures associated with the production process. We also believe that customer demand will continue to be strong and that the availability of certain steel products will remain tight in the near future. While the tight supply of steel could disrupt our ability to meet our customers material requirements, we believe that our extensive inventory of core products, excellent customer service, excellent supplier relationships, broad network of facilities, proprietary technology, automated warehouse system and experienced management team have differentiated, and will continue to differentiate, us in the marketplace.

During the last several years, we have focused our management efforts on automating and reconfiguring our facilities to increase workflow, enhancing our information management systems to improve customer service, and streamlining our management structure, reducing headcount and decreasing corporate overhead to reduce costs. We believe our results reflect these improvements and the increased demand for our metal products. For example:

during fiscal 2004 and the first six months of fiscal 2005, we handled approximately 7,900 and 8,200 sales transactions per business day, respectively, at an average sale price of approximately \$520 and \$730 per transaction, respectively;

99

Table of Contents

our tonnage shipped during the first six months of fiscal 2005 was 27.9% higher compared to the first six months of fiscal 2004;

in the first six months of fiscal 2005, tons shipped from our facilities per employee, based on the average number of employees during the first six months, increased approximately 28% to 234 compared to the first six months of fiscal 2004;

in the six months ended September 29, 2004, our EBITDA (as defined and discussed in footnote 6 under the heading Selected Consolidated Financial and Other Data) per employee, based on the average number of employees in the period, increased 159% to \$56,421 from the first six months of fiscal 2004; and

our operating margin for the first six months of fiscal 2005 and fiscal 2004 was 11.6% and 6.4%, respectively.

Revenues

We derive substantially all of our revenues from the sale and processing of metal products. The pricing for most of our sales, which varies substantially across product lines, is set at the time of the sale. We do, however, make approximately 10% of our sales under arrangements that fix the price for a period of time. These arrangements are generally for no more than three months. When we enter into a fixed price arrangement, we typically enter into a corresponding supply arrangement with our supplier to cover the commitment to our customer. These corresponding supply arrangements limit the risk of fluctuating prices negatively impacting our margins on these fixed price arrangements.

Cost of Sales

Our cost of sales consists of the costs we pay for metals and related inbound freight charges. We account for inventory on a LIFO (last-in-first-out) basis. We calculate LIFO adjustments as of March 31 of each fiscal year. Interim estimates of the charge or credit are determined based on inflationary or deflationary purchase cost trends and inventory levels.

Gross Profit

Historically, we have attempted to maintain our gross profit margins by increasing our prices as the cost of our materials increased. As a result, if prices increase and we are successful in maintaining the same gross profit margin, we generate more gross profit dollars. Conversely, if prices decline and we are not successful in maintaining the same gross profit margin, we will typically generate fewer gross profit dollars. Our average selling price in the first six months of 2005 increased 29.9% from the first six months of 2004.

Expenses

Our expenses primarily consist of (1) warehouse and delivery expenses, which include occupancy costs, compensation and employee benefits for warehouse personnel, processing, shipping and handling costs, (2) selling expenses, which include compensation and employee benefits for sales personnel, and (3) general and administrative expenses, which include compensation for executive officers and general management, expenses for professional services primarily attributable to accounting and legal advisory services, data communication and computer hardware

and maintenance, partially offset by dividend income attributable to our company owned life insurance policies. The majority of our operating expenses are variable and fluctuate with changes in tonnage shipped. In addition, expenses in fiscal 2003 included a loss on early termination of debt, as described below.

Company Owned Life Insurance

We are the owner and beneficiary of life insurance policies on (1) all former non-union employees of a predecessor company, including certain current employees of EMJ, and (2) key man life insurance policies on

100

certain current and former executives of EMJ and predecessor companies. These policies, by providing payments to us upon the death of covered individuals and by permitting company borrowings against the cash surrender value of these policies, are designed to provide us cash to repurchase shares held by employees in Holding s stock bonus plan and shares held individually by employees following the termination of their employment. Cash surrender value of the life insurance policies, which was \$228.5 million as of September 29, 2004 (against which we have borrowed \$182.3 million), increases by a portion of the amount of premiums paid and by dividend income earned under the policies. As specified in the terms of the insurance policies, the rates for dividends payable on the policies correspondingly increase when borrowings are outstanding under the policies. This increase in dividends is greater than the increase in the associated interest expense we incur in connection with borrowing against the cash surrender value of the policies. Dividend income earned under the policies was \$17.8 million in fiscal 2004, \$17.2 million in fiscal 2003, \$13.5 million in fiscal 2002, \$9.9 million in the first six months of fiscal 2005 and \$7.9 million in the first six months of fiscal 2004 and is reported as an offset to general and administrative expenses in our consolidated statements of operations. The effect of these company owned life insurance policies on our pre-tax income, which we refer to as COLI effect, is discussed in footnote 5 under the heading. Summary Consolidated Financial and Other Data of EMJ at page 10.

Segment

We operate in one reportable segment the metals service center industry through our network of 36 service and processing centers strategically located throughout North America, including four service centers in Canada.

Critical Accounting Policies

The preparation of our consolidated financial statements in accordance with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles requires management to make estimates, assumptions and judgments that affect the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses and related disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities. Management believes the critical accounting policies and areas that require the most significant estimates, assumptions and judgments to be used in the preparation of our consolidated financial statements are revenue recognition, allowances for doubtful accounts, inventory reserves, pension and other postretirement benefits, insurance reserves, incentive compensation, contingencies and income tax accounting. Because of the uncertainty inherent in these matters actual results could differ significantly from the estimates, assumptions and judgments we use in applying these critical accounting policies.

Revenue Recognition.

We recognize revenue when products are shipped to our customers, title has passed and collectibility is reasonably assured. Revenues are shown net of returns and allowances, which historically have been less than 0.2% of gross revenues.

Allowances for Doubtful Accounts.

Accounts receivable consist primarily of amounts due to us from our normal business activities. We establish allowances for doubtful accounts based on estimates of losses related to customer receivable balances. We develop estimates by using formulas or standard quantitative measures based on accounts aging, historical losses (adjusted for current economic conditions) and, in some cases, evaluating specific customer accounts for risk of loss. We assess our allowances for doubtful accounts on a quarterly basis. Our provision for estimated losses and our write-offs for doubtful accounts recorded during each of the fiscal years ended March 31, 2002, 2003 and 2004 was less than 0.5% of each fiscal year s

revenues. However, significant changes in specific markets that we serve that result in the deterioration of the financial condition of our customers in those markets and, therefore, negatively impact those customers—ability to make payments to us, could require an increase in our allowances or cause our allowances to be insufficient to cover actual write-offs.

101

Inventory Reserves.

Inventories largely consist of raw material purchased in bulk quantities from various mill suppliers to be sold to our customers. An allowance for excess inventory is maintained to reflect the expected unsaleability of specific inventory items based on condition, recent sales activity and projected market demand. This allowance represented less than 2% of our total inventory as of March 31, 2002, 2003 and 2004.

Accounting for Stock Options.

The financial statements do not account for employee stock-based compensation plans under the recognition and measurement provisions of Accounting Principles Board Opinion No. 25, *Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees* and related Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) interpretations. Accordingly, compensation cost for employee stock options was measured as the excess, if any, of the estimated market price of Holding common stock at the date of grant over the appraised value, as of the latest valuation date, of the common stock on the date of grants.

Effective with our third quarter ending December 31, 2004, we will adopt the fair value recognition provisions of Statement of Financial Accounting Standards (SFAS) No. 123, *Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation*, under the modified-prospective transition method, for all employee awards granted, modified or settled after April 1, 2004, as permitted by SFAS No. 148, *Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation-Transition and Disclosure-An Amendment of FASB Statement No. 123*. In accordance with SFAS No. 123, we will estimate the fair value of options using an option-pricing model, which takes into account assumptions such as the dividend yield, the risk-free interest rate, and the expected life of the options. Our common stock is not currently traded on a national securities exchange or an over-the-counter market, and therefore an effectively zero percent volatility will be used. The dividend yield is excluded from the calculation, as it is our present intention to retain all future earnings. We estimate the effect of this adoption to result in a charge to expense of approximately \$1,600,000.

Pension and Other Postretirement Benefits.

We develop our pension and postretirement benefit costs and credits from actuarial valuations. Inherent in these valuations are key assumptions, including discount rates and expected return on plan assets. We are required to consider current market conditions, including changes in interest rates, in selecting these assumptions. Changes in the related pension and postretirement benefit costs or credits may occur in the future due to changes in the assumptions, in addition to changes resulting from fluctuations in our related headcount. In April 2004, we made an annual contribution of \$700,000 to our hourly employee pension plan as a result of changes in assumptions. We expect to make annual payments of \$700,000 over the next four years and \$400,000 thereafter to meet ERISA minimum pension funding requirements.

Insurance Reserves.

Our insurance for worker s compensation, general liability, vehicle liability and, to a certain extent, health care are effectively self-insured. We use third-party administrators to process all such claims. Our third-party administrators use claims for worker s compensation, along with other factors, to establish reserves required to cover our worker s compensation liability. We also maintain reserves to cover expected medical claims to be paid subsequent to the end of a plan year or upon termination of the plan. Our management reviews our reserves associated with the exposure to these self-insured liabilities for adequacy at the end of each reporting period.

Incentive Compensation.

Management incentive plans are tied to various financial performance metrics. Bonus accruals made throughout the year are based on management s best estimate of the achievement of the specific financial

102

metrics. We make adjustments to the accruals on a quarterly basis as forecasts of financial performance are updated. At year-end, we adjust the accruals to reflect the actual results achieved.

Contingencies.

We are subject to proceedings, lawsuits and other claims related to environmental, labor, product and other matters. We assess the likelihood of any adverse judgments or outcomes to these matters as well as potential ranges of probable losses. We make a determination of the amount of reserves required, if any, for these contingencies after careful analysis of each individual issue. The required reserves may change in the future due to new developments in each matter or changes in approach such as a change in settlement strategy in dealing with these matters.

Income Taxes.

We estimate our current tax liability after considering our temporary differences resulting from differing treatment of items, such as depreciation, for tax and accounting purposes. These temporary differences result in deferred tax assets and liabilities. We then assess the likelihood that our deferred tax assets will be recovered from future taxable income and to the extent we believe that recovery is not likely, we will establish a valuation allowance. To the extent we establish a valuation allowance or increase this allowance in a period, we will include and expense the allowance within the tax provision in the statement of operations. Significant management judgment is required in determining our provision for income taxes, our deferred tax assets and liabilities and any valuation allowance recorded against our net deferred tax assets.

Results of Operations

The following table sets forth selected operating results, including as a percentage of revenues, for the periods indicated:

		l Year End	eh 31,	Three Months Ended September 29,				Six Months Ended September 29,						
	2002	%	2003	%	2004	%	2003	%	2004	%	2003	%	2004	%
		(in thous							(in thou	sands)				
Statement of														
Operations Data:														
Revenues	\$ 895,058	100.0%	\$ 919,927	100.0%	\$ 1,040,367	100.0%	\$231,216	100.0%	\$ 389,270	100.0%	\$ 469,516	100.0%	\$ 750,906	100.0%
Gross profit	253,067	28.3	261,365	28.4	286,101	27.5	64,240	27.8	110,542	28.4	131,102	27.9%	216,103	28.8%
Expenses	204,713	22.9	210,277	22.9	216,629	20.8	50,249	21.7	62,849	16.1	100,870	21.5%	128,744	17.1%
Income from														
operations	48,354	5.4	51,088	5.6	69,472	6.7	13,991	6.1	47,693	12.3	30,232	6.4%	87,359	11.6%
Net interest														
expense	42,545	4.8	47,206	5.1	51,093	4.9	12,583	5.4	13,321	3.4	25,210	5.4%	26,433	3.5%
Income before														
income taxes	5,809	0.6	3,882	0.4	18,379	1.8	1,408	0.6	34,372	8.8	5,022	1.1%	60,926	8.1%
Net income	5,354	0.6	2,382	0.3	15,252	1.5	1,250	0.5	26,690	6.9	4,045	0.9%	48,647	6.5%

Three Months Ended September 29, 2004 Compared to Three Months Ended September 29, 2003

Revenues. Revenues for the second quarter of fiscal 2005 increased 68.4% to \$389.3 million, from \$231.2 million for the same period in fiscal 2004, reflecting a 28.2% increase in tonnage shipped and a 40.0% increase in average selling prices when compared to the second quarter of fiscal 2004. Revenues from our domestic operations increased 68.5% to \$365.0 million in the second quarter of fiscal 2005, from \$216.6 million for the same period in fiscal 2004. The increase was due to stronger demand for products sold to customers in certain industries we serve, including machine tools, screw machine products and fabricated metal. Revenues from our Canadian operations increased 66.4% to \$24.3 million in the second quarter of fiscal 2005, from \$14.6 million in the same period in fiscal 2004, due to increased capacity and efficiencies from newer facilities, effective marketing of core products and services and overall stronger economic conditions. The growth we experienced in

103

Table of Contents

the second quarter reflected exceptionally strong industry conditions in that, historically, the second quarter is seasonally slow due to customers summer shutdowns.

Gross Profit. Gross profit for the second quarter of fiscal 2005 increased 72.1% to \$110.5 million, from \$64.2 million for the same period in fiscal 2004, while gross margins were 28.4% and 27.8%, respectively. Our gross profit and gross margins increased due to improved customer demand and market conditions. Limited supplies of many of the products we sell allowed us to pass through increased pricing to our customers before we received higher cost metal products in our inventory. Our increased cost of metals resulted in a charge to inventory to record results on a last in first out basis (LIFO) of \$13.0 million in the second quarter of fiscal 2005, compared to no LIFO adjustment in the same period in fiscal 2004. Gross profit and gross margin from our domestic operations were \$103.8 million and 28.4%, respectively, during the second quarter of fiscal 2005, compared to \$60.6 million and 28.0%, respectively, for the same period in fiscal 2004. Gross profit and gross margin from our Canadian operations were \$6.7 million and 27.6%, respectively, during the second quarter of fiscal 2005, compared to \$3.6 million and 24.7%, respectively, for the same period in fiscal 2004.

Expenses. Total operating expenses for the second quarter of fiscal 2005 increased 25.3% to \$62.9 million, from \$50.2 million for the same period in fiscal 2004. As a percentage of revenues, operating expenses were 16.2% in the second quarter of fiscal 2005, compared to 21.7% for the same period in fiscal 2004. The increase in operating expenses generally reflects the changes in variable expenses impacted by higher tonnage shipped, rising prices for fuel and shipping, higher compensation and benefit costs and costs associated with the relocation and improvement of certain facilities. These higher expenses were partially offset by benefits realized from ongoing cost reduction efforts and improved productivity. Fiscal 2004 second quarter expenses were partially offset by income attributable to our company-owned life insurance programs.

Warehouse and delivery expenses for the second quarter of fiscal 2005 increased 17.6% to \$38.0 million, from \$32.3 million for the same period in fiscal 2004. As a percentage of revenues, warehouse delivery expenses were 9.8% in the second quarter of fiscal 2005, compared to 14.0% for the same period in fiscal 2004. The increase in these expenses resulted primarily from higher freight and shipping due to higher tonnage shipped, higher fuel prices and shipping rates, overtime and temporary labor resources.

Selling expenses for the second quarter of fiscal 2005 increased 45.1% to \$11.9 million, from \$8.2 million for the same period in fiscal 2004, and decreased as a percentage of revenues to 3.1% in the second quarter of fiscal 2005 from 3.5% in the second quarter of fiscal 2004. The increase in selling expenses resulted from higher incentive accruals for sales personnel due to record sales levels.

General and administrative expenses for the second quarter of fiscal 2005 increased 33.0% to \$12.9 million, from \$9.7 million for the same period in fiscal 2004. These expenses were 3.3% of revenues in the first quarter of fiscal 2005 and 4.2% of revenues in the same period in fiscal 2004. The increase in these expenses resulted from higher compensation and costs associated with the relocation and improvement of certain facilities associated with consolidation projects.

Net Interest Expense. Net interest expense was \$13.3 million during the second quarter of fiscal 2005 and \$12.6 million during the same period in fiscal 2004. These amounts include interest related to our long-term debt and borrowings against the cash surrender value of company owned life insurance policies we maintain, and the amortization of debt issue costs (\$0.3 million in the second quarter of fiscal 2005 and \$0.3 million in the second quarter of fiscal 2004).

During the second quarter of fiscal 2005, the average outstanding indebtedness (excluding borrowings against the cash surrender value of our company owned life insurance policies) was \$379.1 million versus \$362.4 million during the same period in fiscal 2004. The weighted-average

interest rate on such indebtedness was 7.8% versus 7.9% during the same period in fiscal 2004. The average borrowings under our domestic credit facility in

104

Table of Contents

the second quarter of fiscal 2005 increased to \$123.7 million from \$105.3 million in the same period of fiscal 2004, and the average interest rate on such borrowings was 4.30% and 3.96%, respectively. The increase in average borrowings reflected the increased demand and pricing for the products we sell.

The outstanding borrowings against the cash surrender value of our company owned life insurance policies were \$182.3 million at September 29, 2004 and \$163.6 million at September 29, 2003, and the total interest expense on these borrowings increased to \$5.4 million during the second quarter of fiscal 2005, compared to \$4.9 million for the same period in fiscal 2004. These increases resulted primarily from additional borrowings of \$17.7 million against the increased cash surrender value of our company owned life insurance policies in the second quarter of fiscal 2005 to pay annual premiums on the policies and to pay interest on previous borrowings, as described under

Liquidity and Capital Resources below.

Income Taxes. Income tax expense for the second quarter of fiscal 2005 and 2004 included provisions for state franchise and foreign income taxes. The federal tax rate for the second quarter of fiscal 2005 was 18%, and was lower that the U.S. federal statutory tax rate primarily due to the recognition of tax benefits associated with the utilization of loss carryforwards. The federal tax provision for the second quarter of fiscal 2004 was offset by the recognition of tax benefits associated with our loss carryforwards. Income tax expense has been provided for the three months ended September 29, 2004 based on our estimated effective income tax rate for fiscal 2005.

Six Months Ended September 29, 2004 Compared to Six Months Ended September 29, 2003

Revenues. Revenues for the first six months of fiscal 2005 increased 59.9% to \$750.9 million, from \$469.5 million for the same period in fiscal 2004, reflecting a 27.9% increase in tonnage shipped and a 29.9% increase in average selling prices when compared to the first six months of fiscal 2004. Revenues from our domestic operations increased 60.1% to \$703.3 million in the first six months of fiscal 2005, from \$439.2 million for the same period in fiscal 2004. The increase was due to stronger demand for products sold to customers in certain industries we serve, including machine tools, screw machine products and fabricated metal. Revenues from our Canadian operations increased 56.6% to \$47.6 million in the first six months of fiscal 2005, from \$30.4 million in the same period in fiscal 2004, due to increased capacity and efficiencies from newer facilities, effective marketing of core products and services and overall stronger economic conditions.

Gross Profit. Gross profit for the first six months of fiscal 2005 increased 64.8% to \$216.1 million, from \$131.1 million for the same period in fiscal 2004, while gross margins were 28.8% and 27.9%, respectively. Our gross profit and gross margins increased due to improved customer demand and market conditions. Limited supplies of many of the products we sell allowed us to pass through increased pricing to our customers before we received higher cost metal products in our inventory. Our increased cost of metals resulted in a charge to cost of sales to record results on a last in first out basis (LIFO) of \$24.4 million in the first six months of fiscal 2005, compared to no LIFO adjustment in the same period in fiscal 2004. Gross profit and gross margin from our domestic operations were \$202.7 million and 28.8%, respectively, during the six months of fiscal 2005, compared to \$123.8 million and 28.2%, respectively, for the same period in fiscal 2004. Gross profit and gross margin from our Canadian operations were \$13.4 million and 28.2%, respectively, during the first six months of fiscal 2005, compared to \$7.3 million and 24.0%, respectively, for the same period in fiscal 2004.

Expenses. Total operating expenses for the first six months of fiscal 2005 increased 27.6% to \$128.7 million, from \$100.9 million for the same period in fiscal 2004. As a percentage of revenues, operating expenses were 17.1% in the first six months of fiscal 2005, compared to 21.5% for the same period in fiscal 2004. The increase in operating expenses generally reflects the changes in variable expenses impacted by higher tonnage shipped, rising prices for fuel and shipping, higher compensation and benefit costs, and an increase in professional services. These higher expenses were partially offset by benefits realized from ongoing cost reduction efforts and improved productivity.

105

Warehouse and delivery expenses for the first six months of fiscal 2005 increased 17.4% to \$76.1 million, from \$64.8 million for the same period in fiscal 2004. As a percentage of revenues, warehouse delivery expenses were 10.1% in the first six months of fiscal 2005, compared to 13.8% for the same period in fiscal 2004. The increase in these expenses resulted primarily from higher freight and shipping due to higher tonnage shipped, higher fuel and shipping prices, overtime and temporary labor resources and maintenance expenses. We recorded an adjustment of \$1.1 million in the first six months of 2005 to reserve for specialized equipment operating lease obligations related to a parts fabrication contract that was terminated early by the customer.

Selling expenses for the first six months of fiscal 2005 increased 52.4% to \$25.3 million, from \$16.6 million for the same period in fiscal 2004, and decreased as a percentage of revenues to 3.4% in the first six months of fiscal 2005 from 3.5% in the first six months of fiscal 2004. The increase in selling expenses resulted from higher incentive accruals for sales personnel due to record sales levels.

General and administrative expenses for the first six months of fiscal 2005 increased 40.7% to \$27.3 million, from \$19.4 million for the same period in fiscal 2004. These expenses were 3.6% of revenues in the first six months of fiscal 2005 and 4.1% of revenues in the same period of fiscal 2004. The increase in these expenses resulted from higher compensation expense, professional services expense and costs associated with the relocation and improvement of certain facilities. The increase in professional services expense was primarily attributable to accounting, legal and financial advisory fees in connection with the financial restructuring as initially proposed. Expenses for the first six months of fiscal 2004 were partially offset by a gain on sale of surplus real estate of \$1.1 million.

Net Interest Expense. Net interest expense was \$26.4 million during the first six months of fiscal 2005 and \$25.2 million during the same period in fiscal 2004. These amounts include interest related to our long-term debt and borrowings against the cash surrender value of company owned life insurance policies we maintain, and the amortization of debt issue costs (\$0.7 million in the first six months of fiscal 2005 and 2004).

During the first six months of fiscal 2005, the average outstanding indebtedness (excluding borrowings against the cash surrender value of our company owned life insurance policies) was \$369.1 million versus \$360.2 million during the same period in fiscal 2004. The weighted average interest rate on such indebtedness was 7.9% versus 8.0% during the same period in fiscal 2004. The average borrowings under our domestic credit facility in the first six months of fiscal 2005 increased to \$113.4 million from \$102.9 million in the same period of fiscal 2004, and the average interest rate was 4.2% for the first six months of fiscal 2005 compared to 4.1% in the same period in fiscal 2004. The increase in average borrowings reflected the increased demand and pricing for the products we sell.

The outstanding borrowings against the cash surrender value of our company owned life insurance policies were \$182.3 million at September 29, 2004 and \$163.6 million at September 29, 2003, and the total interest expense on these borrowings increased to \$10.8 million during the first six months of fiscal 2005, compared to \$9.8 million for the same period in fiscal 2004. These increases resulted primarily from additional borrowings of \$17.7 million against the increased cash surrender value of our company owned life insurance policies in the first six months of fiscal 2005 to pay annual premiums on the policies and to pay interest on previous borrowings, as described under Liquidity and Capital Resources below.

Income Taxes. Income tax expense for the first six months of fiscal 2005 and 2004 included provisions for state franchise and foreign income taxes. The federal tax rate for the first six months of fiscal 2005 was 14% and was lower than the U.S. federal statutory tax rate primarily due to the recognition of tax benefits associated with the utilization of loss carryforwards. The federal tax provision for the first six months of fiscal 2004 was offset by the recognition of the tax benefits associated with loss carryforwards. Income tax expense has been provided for the six months ended September 29, 2004 based on our estimated effective income tax rate for fiscal 2005.

106

Fiscal Year Ended March 31, 2004 Compared to Fiscal Year Ended March 31, 2003

Revenues. Revenues for fiscal 2004 increased 13.1% to \$1,040.4 million, compared to \$919.9 million in fiscal 2003. Revenues from our domestic operations increased 12.1% to \$970.4 million in fiscal 2004, compared to \$865.5 million in fiscal 2003, primarily as the result of an increase in tonnage shipped. The increase in tonnage shipped by our domestic operations was attributable to increased demand for our products sold to customers in certain industries we serve, including oil, gas and energy, fluid power and machine tools, particularly during the fourth quarter of fiscal 2004. Revenues also increased in fiscal 2004 as a result of an increase in prices for the products we sold during fiscal 2004 as compared to fiscal 2003. Revenues from our Canadian operations for fiscal 2004 increased 28.7% to \$70.0 million, compared to \$54.4 million in fiscal 2003, due to increased capacity and efficiencies from new facilities, effective marketing of core products and services, overall improved economic conditions and favorable currency conversion rates.

Gross Profit. Gross profit increased 9.4% to \$286.1 million in fiscal 2004, compared to \$261.4 million in fiscal 2003. Gross margin decreased to 27.5% in fiscal 2004, compared to 28.4% in fiscal 2003. The decrease in gross margin was due to increased pricing levels and surcharges imposed by metals producers that resulted in increased costs of metals during the fourth quarter of fiscal 2004. Our increased costs of metals resulted in a LIFO charge of \$14.3 million compared to a decrease in costs of metals for fiscal 2003 resulting in a \$3.4 million LIFO credit. Gross profit and gross margin from our domestic operations were \$268.2 million and 27.6%, respectively in fiscal 2004, compared to \$249.8 million and 28.9%, respectively, for fiscal 2003. Gross profit and gross margin from our Canadian operations were \$17.9 million and 25.6%, respectively, in fiscal 2004 compared to \$11.6 million and 21.3%, respectively, in fiscal 2003.

Expenses. Total operating expenses were \$216.6 million in fiscal 2004, compared to \$210.3 million in fiscal 2003. As a percentage of revenues, operating expenses were 20.8% in fiscal 2004, compared to 22.9% in fiscal 2003. The increase in operating expenses generally reflected the changes in variable expenses impacted by higher tonnage shipped and added capacity, partially offset by no loss resulting from early termination debt in fiscal 2004 compared to a loss of \$12.3 million resulting from early termination of debt in fiscal 2003. In addition, fiscal 2004 included higher costs for healthcare and workers compensation insurance, selling and management incentives and professional services partially offset by income attributable to our company owned life insurance programs and gains on sale of surplus properties.

Warehouse and delivery expenses increased \$8.3 million to \$135.4 million in fiscal 2004, compared to \$127.1 million in fiscal 2003. As a percent of revenues, warehouse and delivery expenses were 13.0% in fiscal 2004, compared to 13.8% in fiscal 2003. The increase in these expenses was attributable to higher costs for healthcare and workers compensation insurance and increased expenses for utilities, maintenance, fuel and freight.

Selling expenses increased \$6.0 million or 18.6%, to \$38.3 million in fiscal 2004, compared to \$32.3 million in fiscal 2003, and increased as a percent of revenues to 3.7% in fiscal 2004 from 3.5% in fiscal 2003. The increase in selling expenses was attributable to higher accruals for incentive compensation due to rapid growth in revenue and gross profit in the fourth quarter of fiscal 2004, and higher healthcare insurance.

General and administrative expenses decreased \$7.9 million, or 15.5%, to \$43.0 million in fiscal 2004, compared to \$50.9 million in fiscal 2003. These expenses were 4.1% of revenues in fiscal year 2004 and 5.5% of revenues in fiscal 2003. The increase in these expenses reflected higher healthcare and casualty and liability insurance, an increase in professional services and higher accruals for management incentives, partially offset by higher income recognized in connection with our dividends earned under our company owned life insurance policies, currency exchange gains and gains on sale of surplus property. The increase in professional services was primarily attributable to accounting, legal and financial advisory fees in connection with our merger and financial restructuring as initially proposed.

107

We recognized a loss on early retirement of debt of \$12.3 million in fiscal 2003 in connection with the early retirement of our $9^{1/2}$ % senior notes and term loan, which consisted of the call premium paid, a payment to terminate an interest rate swap agreement, the write-off of deferred financing costs, and certain other expenses incurred in connection with the refinancing transaction. No tax benefit was recorded in connection with this loss due to the uncertainty in realizing the resulting deferred tax asset.

Net Interest Expense. Net interest expense was \$51.1 million in fiscal 2004 and \$47.2 million in fiscal 2003. These amounts include interest related to our long-term debt and borrowings against the cash surrender value of company owned life insurance policies we maintain, and the amortization of debt issue costs (\$1.3 million in fiscal 2004 and \$1.4 million in fiscal 2003).

During fiscal 2004, the average outstanding indebtedness (excluding borrowings against the cash surrender value of our company owned life insurance policies) was \$361.0 million versus \$355.5 million during fiscal 2003. The weighted-average interest rate on such indebtedness during both fiscal 2004 and fiscal 2003 was 8.0%. The average borrowings under our domestic credit facility in fiscal 2004 increased to \$104.3 million from \$96.4 million in fiscal 2003, and the average interest rate decreased to 4.2% from 4.7% in fiscal 2003. The increase in average borrowings reflected the increased demand and pricing for products we sell.

The outstanding borrowings against the cash surrender value of our company owned life insurance policies were \$182.6 million at March 31, 2004 and \$165.0 million at March 31, 2003, and the total interest expense on these borrowings increased to \$20.1 million in fiscal 2004, compared to \$17.8 million in fiscal 2003. These increases resulted primarily from additional borrowings of \$17.7 million against the increased cash surrender value of our company owned life insurance policies in November 2003 to pay annual premiums on the policies and to pay interest on previous borrowings.

Fiscal Year Ended March 31, 2003 Compared to Fiscal Year Ended March 31, 2002

Revenues. Revenues for fiscal 2003 increased 2.8% to \$919.9 million, compared to \$895.1 million in fiscal 2002. Revenues from our domestic operations increased 1.7% to \$865.5 million in fiscal 2003, compared to \$851.4 million in fiscal 2002, as the result of an increase in tonnage shipped. The increase in tonnage shipped by our domestic operations was attributable to increased demand for our products sold to customers in certain industries we serve, including machine tools and products, metal fabrication and wholesale, fluid power, and transportation, particularly during the fourth quarter of fiscal 2003. Revenues from our Canadian operations increased 24.5% to \$54.4 million, compared to \$43.7 million in fiscal 2002, due to increased capacity and efficiencies from new facilities, effective marketing of core products and services and overall improved economic conditions.

Gross Profit. Gross profit increased 3.3% to \$261.4 million in fiscal 2003, compared to \$253.1 million in fiscal 2002. Gross margin improved to 28.4%, compared to 28.3% in fiscal 2002. During fiscal 2002 and 2003, the metals service center industry was adversely impacted by weak economic conditions and weakened demand due to the uncertainty of an economic recovery. Costs for metal products were volatile due to competitive pressures resulting in decreased costs of metals. Our decreased costs of metals resulted in a LIFO credit of \$3.4 million in fiscal 2003 compared to a charge of \$0.6 million in fiscal 2002. Gross profit and gross margin from our domestic operations were \$249.8 million and 28.9%, respectively, in fiscal 2003, compared to \$243.6 million and 28.6%, respectively, for fiscal 2002. Gross profit and gross margin from our Canadian operations were \$11.6 million and 21.3%, respectively, in fiscal 2003, compared to \$9.5 million and 21.7%, respectively, in fiscal 2002.

Expenses. Total operating expenses were \$210.3 million in fiscal 2003, compared to \$204.7 million in fiscal 2002. As a percentage of revenues, operating expenses were 22.9% in both fiscal 2003 and in fiscal 2002. During fiscal 2003, expenses related to warehouse and delivery activities

increased as a result of higher volumes shipped and from costs associated with added capacity. However, these costs were partially offset by income attributable to our company owned life insurance policies and adjustments to workers compensation reserves. Operating

108

Table of Contents

expenses in fiscal 2003 included a \$12.3 million loss on early retirement of debt, while operating expenses in fiscal 2002 included \$1.9 million of restructuring charges associated with workforce reductions and costs incurred in connection with facility consolidations.

Warehouse and delivery expenses increased \$2.6 million, or 2.1%, to \$127.1 million in fiscal 2003, compared to \$124.5 million in fiscal 2002. As a percent of revenues, warehouse and delivery expenses were 13.8% in fiscal 2003, compared to 13.9% in fiscal 2002. The increase in these expenses was attributable to higher depreciation, property tax accruals and insurance costs, increased equipment lease and maintenance expenses, and higher freight and utilities costs. Some of the increase in these costs and expenses is attributable to the expansion and automation of our Chicago facility, which became operational in July 2002.

Selling expenses increased \$0.4 million, or 1.3%, to \$32.3 million in fiscal 2003, compared to \$31.9 million in fiscal 2002, and decreased as a percentage of revenues to 3.5% in fiscal 2003 from 3.6% in fiscal 2002. The increase in selling expenses was attributable to higher accruals for incentive compensation based on revenue and gross profit levels.

General and administrative expenses increased \$2.6 million, or 5.4%, to \$50.9 million in fiscal 2003, compared to \$48.3 million in fiscal 2002. These expenses were 5.5% of revenues in fiscal 2003 and 5.4% of revenues in fiscal 2002. The decrease in general and administrative expenses was attributable to higher income recognized in connection with our company owned life insurance policies, lower reserves required for workers compensation claims, and lower professional services and relocation expenses, partially offset by higher compensation expense, including accruals for management incentives, and higher provisions for bad debt. General and administrative expenses in fiscal 2002 also included a \$1.9 million restructuring charge associated with workforce reductions and costs incurred in connection with facility consolidations.

As disclosed above, we recognized loss on early retirement of debt of \$12.3 million in fiscal 2003 in connection with the early retirement of our $9\frac{1}{2}\%$ senior notes and term loan.

Net Interest Expense. Net interest expense was \$47.2 million in fiscal 2003 and \$42.5 million in fiscal 2002. These amounts include interest related to our long-term debt on borrowings against the cash surrender value of company owned life insurance policies we maintain, and the amortization of debt issue costs (\$1.4 million in fiscal 2003 and \$1.8 million in fiscal 2002).

During fiscal 2003, the average outstanding indebtedness (excluding borrowings against the cash surrender value of our company owned life insurance policies) was \$355.5 million versus \$310.5 million in fiscal 2002. The weighted-average interest rate on such indebtedness during fiscal 2003 was 8.0% versus 7.1% during fiscal 2002. The average borrowings under our domestic credit facility in fiscal 2003 decreased to \$96.4 million from \$99.2 million in fiscal 2002, primarily due to decreased expenditures related to the automated warehouse system installation at our Chicago facility, and the average interest rate decreased to 4.7% from 5.1% in fiscal 2002.

The outstanding borrowings against the cash surrender value of our company owned life insurance policies were \$165.0 million at March 31, 2003 and \$147.3 million at March 31, 2002, and the total interest expense on these borrowings increased to \$17.8 million in fiscal 2003, compared to \$16.0 million in fiscal 2002. These increases resulted primarily from additional borrowings of \$18.6 million against the increased cash surrender value of our company owned life insurance policies in November 2002 to pay annual premiums on the policies and to pay interest on previous borrowings.

Included in net interest expenses for fiscal 2002 was \$2.2 million of net interest paid in quarterly settlements pursuant to our interest rate swap agreement covering a notional amount of \$95.0 million under our term loan. Because the interest rate swap agreement was terminated in May 2002 in connection with the prepayment of the term loan as part of our senior debt offering, no quarterly settlements were required in fiscal 2003.

109

Quarterly Results of Operations

The following table presents our unaudited quarterly results of operations for the periods indicated. We derived these data from our unaudited consolidated interim financial statements, which, in the opinion of our management, include all adjustments necessary to present fairly the financial information for the periods presented. You should read this information along with our consolidated financial statements and their related notes in this proxy statement/prospectus. Seasonal fluctuations in our business generally occur in July, November and December, when many customers plants and production levels are impacted by retooling, vacations or holidays. Our operating results in any given quarter or series of quarters are not necessarily indicative of our results that may be expected for a full year or any future period.

	Quarter Ended										
	Mar 31, 2002	Jun 27, 2002	Sep 27, 2002	Dec 31, 2002	Mar 31, 2003	Jun 30, 2003	Sep 29, 2003	Jan 1, 2004	Mar 31, 2004	Jun 30, 2004	Sep 29, 2004
	(in thousands) (unaudited)										
Statement of Operations Data											
Revenues	\$ 224,591	\$ 225,133	\$ 225,231	\$ 223,573	\$ 245,990	\$ 238,299	\$ 231,216	\$ 248,785	\$ 322,067	\$ 361,636	\$ 389,270
Gross Profit	61,948	63,266	63,612	63,719	70,768	66,862	64,240	68,805	86,194	105,561	110,542
Expenses	50,164	60,885	49,763	49,903	49,726	50,621	50,249	54,102	61,657	65,895	62,849
Income from operations	11,784	2,381	13,849	13,816	21,042	16,241	13,991	14,703	24,537	39,666	47,693
Net interest expenses	10,767	10,368	12,189	12,529	12,120	12,628	12,583	12,995	12,888	13,112	13,321
Net income (loss)	972	(8,335)	1,556	1,153	8,008	2,794	1,250	1,237	9,970	21,957	26,690

Liquidity and Capital Resources

Working Capital. Working capital increased to \$208.2 million at September 29, 2004, from \$139.5 million at March 31, 2004. The increase was attributable to an increase in inventories of \$60.6 million, or 26.9%, due to higher prices for metal products, increased tonnage and changes in inventory mix and an increase in net accounts receivable of \$46.8 million, or 35.2%, due to the rapid growth of sales, partially offset by an increase in accounts payable and accrued liabilities. During the first six months of fiscal 2005, our primary source of cash consisted of borrowings under our credit facilities, which increased by \$41.1 million to \$94.6 million at September 29, 2004 from \$53.5 million at March 31, 2004. Our primary uses of cash in the first six months of fiscal 2005 included \$27.7 million to fund operating activities, compared to \$11.9 million in the same period of fiscal 2004, and \$14.7 million for capital expenditures, compared to \$4.3 million in the same period of fiscal 2004. The increase in cash used in operating activities was primarily attributable to the increase in inventory to support sales growth, higher prices for metal products and higher accounts receivable due to increased sales.

Working capital decreased to \$139.5 million at March 31, 2004 when compared to \$150.2 million at March 31, 2003. The decrease was attributable to an increase in our accounts payable and accrued liabilities of \$55.2 million resulting from increased demand during the fourth quarter of fiscal 2004, partially offset by higher accounts receivable of \$35.8 million and an increase in our inventory of \$11.7 million. Our primary sources of cash in fiscal 2004 consisted of funds provided by operations of \$29.5 million and proceeds from sale of assets of \$1.5 million. Our primary uses of cash in fiscal 2004 consisted of (1) capital expenditures of \$10.5 million, (2) dividends to Holding of \$5.8 million for the redemption of stock from retiring and terminated EMJ employees and (3) net payments under our credit facilities of \$19.4 million. The redemption of \$5.8 million of Holding capital stock from retiring and terminated EMJ employees was required by the terms of Holding s stock bonus plan and by the Holding s stockholders agreement. This amount was lower than the amount paid in fiscal 2003 and in fiscal 2002 due to the timing of distributions, the number and mix of shares being purchased and changes in stock prices. We expect that these redemptions for fiscal 2005 will be similar to those paid in fiscal 2004, although the amount or timing of these expenditures is not within our control and there can be no assurance in this regard.

Capital Expenditures. For fiscal 2005, we have planned approximately \$20.8 million of capital expenditures to be financed from internally generated funds and borrowings under our credit facility. Approximately \$12.8 million is for facility improvements and expansions, \$6.5 million is for routine replacement of machinery and equipment, and \$1.5 million is for further additions and enhancements to our information management systems. Planned capital expenditures in fiscal 2005 include commitments of \$10.1 million that consist of a relocation of our facility within Houston, Texas, relocation of our Chattanooga, Tennessee satellite facility to a new facility in Birmingham, Alabama, expansion of a facility in Wrightsville, Pennsylvania and upgrades to the existing automated system in our Chicago, Illinois facility. With the exception of upgrades to the existing automated warehouse system in our Chicago, Illinois facility, such projects were substantially completed in the first six months of fiscal 2005. For the first six months of fiscal 2005 our capital expenditures totaled \$14.7 million.

Sources of Liquidity. As of September 29, 2004, our primary sources of liquidity were available borrowings of \$100.8 million under our domestic credit facility, cash and cash equivalents of \$11.6 million, available borrowings of approximately \$19.8 million against the company owned life insurance policies we maintain and internally generated funds.

Domestic Credit Facility. Our domestic credit facility allows maximum borrowings of the lesser of \$200 million, including letters of credit, and an amount equal to 85% of eligible trade receivables plus 55% of eligible inventories. At September 29, 2004, we had \$92.0 million of revolving loans and \$7.3 million of letters of credit outstanding under our domestic credit facility. Borrowings under our credit facility bear interest at a base rate (generally defined as the greater of Deutsche Bank Trust Company Americas prime lending rate or 0.5% over the Federal Funds Rate) plus 1.25% or the adjusted Eurodollar rate plus 2.5%. At September 29, 2004, the bank sprime lending rate was 4.75% and the Eurodollar rate was 1.81%. Borrowings under our credit facility are secured by our domestic inventory and accounts receivable. Under the credit facility, we are obligated to pay certain fees, including an unused commitment fee of 0.5%, payable monthly in arrears, and letter of credit fees of 2.5% per year of the maximum amount available to be drawn under each letter of credit, payable quarterly in arrears, plus other standard fees. The credit facility also contains financial covenants concerning the maintenance of minimum working capital and a fixed charge coverage ratio. The credit facility also limits, among other things, the incurrence of liens and other indebtedness, mergers, consolidations, the sale of assets, annual capital expenditures, advances, investments and loans by us and our subsidiaries, dividends and other restricted payments by us and our subsidiaries in respect of capital stock, and certain transactions with affiliates. As of September 29, 2004, we were in compliance with all covenants under our domestic credit facility. However, based on our current expectations for the remainder of fiscal 2005, our capital expenditures will exceed the covenant limitations on capital expenditures for fiscal 2005. Our credit facility will mature in April 2006.

Company Owned Life Insurance Policies. As of September 29, 2004, we had borrowed \$182.3 million against the cash surrender value of the life insurance policies that we own. These policies are non-recourse and bear interest at a rate 0.5% greater than the dividend income rate on the policies. As of September 29, 2004, there was approximately \$46.2 million of cash surrender value in all life insurance policies we maintain, net of borrowings.

Industrial Revenue Bonds. We have issued industrial revenue bonds in connection with significant facility improvements and construction projects. As of September 29, 2004, our outstanding industrial revenue bond indebtedness amounted to \$0.5 million payable in one remaining installment of \$0.5 million with interest at 9.0% and \$4.3 million payable in annual installments of \$0.7 million with interest at 5.25%. As of September 29, 2004, principal payments required by our outstanding industrial revenue bond indebtedness amounted to \$0.7 million in the remainder of fiscal 2005, \$1.2 million in fiscal 2006, \$0.7 million in each of fiscal 2007, 2008 and 2009 and \$0.8 million in the aggregate thereafter through fiscal 2010.

Senior Secured Notes. As of September 29, 2004, we had \$250.0 million in aggregate principal amount of 9³/4% senior secured notes outstanding, with interest payable semi-annually on June 1 and December 1. Our

111

notes are secured by a first priority lien (subject to permitted liens) on substantially all of our current and future acquired unencumbered real property, plant and equipment. We will not be required to make any principal payments on our senior secured notes until their maturity in fiscal 2013. The indenture under which our senior secured notes are issued contains covenants that limit our ability to incur additional debt, pay dividends and make distributions, make certain investments, transfer and sell assets, create certain liens in favor of other entities, engage in sale-leaseback transactions, engage in certain transactions with affiliates, and consolidate or merge or sell all or substantially all of our assets.

Canadian Subsidiary Liquidity. Our Canadian subsidiary has available its own credit facilities of up to C\$9.0 million, consisting of a revolving credit facility of C\$5.5 million, a term financial instruments facility of C\$3.0 million to be used for hedging foreign currency and rate fluctuations, and a special credit facility of C\$0.5 million for letters of guarantee in connection with a lease for our facility in Toronto, Ontario. As of September 29, 2004, C\$3.4 million (\$2.7 million) was outstanding under the revolving credit facility and a letter of guarantee for C\$0.5 million (\$0.4 million) was issued. There were no amounts outstanding under our term financial instrument as of September 29, 2004.

Future Needs. Our ongoing cash requirements for debt service and related obligations are expected to consist primarily of interest payments under our domestic credit facility, interest payments on our 9 3/4% senior secured notes, capital expenditures and principal and interest payments on our industrial revenue bonds.

We believe our sources of liquidity and capital resources are sufficient to meet all currently anticipated short-term and long-term operating cash requirements, including debt service payments on our credit facility and 9 3/4% senior secured notes prior to their scheduled maturities in fiscal years 2007 and 2013, respectively. However, we may need to replace or to refinance all or a portion of our credit facility and the 9 3/4% senior secured notes prior to their respective maturities. If we are unable to satisfy our debt obligations or to timely refinance or replace our debt, we may need to sell assets, reduce or delay capital investments or raise additional capital to be able to effectively operate our business.

Contractual Obligations

The following table summarizes our contractual cash obligations as of March 31, 2004. Certain of these contractual obligations are reflected on our balance sheet, while others are disclosed as future obligations.

	Payments Due By Period							
Contractual Obligations	Total	Fiscal 2005	Fiscal 2006	Fiscal 2007	Fiscal 2008	Fiscal 2009	Thereafter	
Long-term debt	\$ 309,738	\$ 3,976	\$ 1,215	\$ 52,392	\$ 715	\$ 715	\$ 250,725	
Capital lease obligations								
Operating leases (1)	100,054	18,422	14,315	10,323	7,337	5,718	43,939	
Purchase obligations								
Other long-term liabilities (2)	7,638	875	900	925	950	675	3,313	
Total	\$ 417,430	\$ 23,273	\$ 16,430	\$ 63,640	\$ 9,002	\$ 7,108	\$ 297,977	

⁽¹⁾ Excludes sublease income of \$7,960, \$711, \$816, \$828, \$840, \$845 and \$3,920 for the above periods, respectively.

(2) Includes estimated annual payments based on prior years trended amounts for postretirement benefits and estimated annual payments of \$700 over the next four years and \$400 thereafter to meet ERISA minimum pension funding requirements beginning in fiscal 2004.

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements

We do not have any off-balance sheet arrangements.

112

Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk

In the ordinary course of business, we are exposed to various market risk factors caused by changes in commodity prices, interest rates and foreign currency exchange rates. We do not use financial instruments or enter into hedging transactions for speculative or trading purposes with respect to managing these market risks. However, we have used and will continue to evaluate the use of financial instruments to reduce our exposure to higher interest costs during periods of rising interest rates. At September 29, 2004 and March 31, 2004, no such financial instruments existed. Our exposure to changing interest rates is limited to our domestic credit facility such that our results of operations and cash flows during the first six months of fiscal 2005 would have been impacted by approximately \$1.0 million for each 1% increase or decrease in the applicable interest rate.

The currency used by our foreign subsidiaries is the applicable local currency. Exchange adjustments resulting from foreign currency transactions are recognized in net earnings, and adjustments resulting from the translation of financial statements are included in accumulated other comprehensive loss within our stockholder s equity (deficit). Our exposure to market risk for changes in foreign currency exchange rates is limited to our Canadian operations and the Canadian dollar. Changes in the exchange rate of the Canadian dollar have not and are not expected to have a material impact on our results of operations and cash flows. We estimate that a 10% change in the average exchange rate of the Canadian dollar during the first six months of fiscal 2005 would have impacted our results of operations by approximately \$0.5 million. We do not expect to hedge our exposure to foreign currency fluctuations in the foreseeable future.

Recent Accounting Developments

In December 2004, the FASB issued FASB No. 123 (Revised), *Share Based Payment*. Statement 123(R), which replaces FASB Statement No. 123, *Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation*, supersedes APB Opinion No. 25, *Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees* and amends FASB Statement No. 95, *Statement of Cash Flows*. Generally, the approach in Statement 123(R) is similar to the approach described in Statement 123, which the Company has adopted in December 2004. However, Statement 123(R) requires all share-based payments to employees, including grants of employee stock options, to be recognized in the financial statements based on their fair values (i.e., pro forma disclosure is no longer an alternative to financial statement recognition). Statement 123(R) is effective for public companies at the beginning of the first interim or annual period beginning after June 15, 2005. Nonpublic companies will be required to adopt the new Statement at the beginning of the first annual period beginning after December 15, 2005.

In December 2003, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) issued Statement of Financial Accounting Standards (SFAS) No. 132 (revised December 2003), *Employers Disclosures about Pensions and Other Postretirement Benefits* (SFAS 132-R). This statement amends the disclosure requirements of SFAS 132 to require more details about retirement plan assets, benefit obligations, cash flows and other relevant information. SFAS 132-R is effective for years ending after December 15, 2003, except certain benefit payment and international plan disclosures that are effective for fiscal years after June 15, 2004. The adoption of the disclosure provisions of SFAS 132-R did not have a material effect on our consolidated financial statements.

In December 2003, the FASB issued FASB Interpretation No. 46 (Revised), *Consolidation of Variable Interest Entities* (FIN No. 46-R). FIN 46-R provides the principles to consider in determining when variable interest entities must be consolidated in the financial statements of the primary beneficiary. In general, a variable interest entity used for business purposes that either (1) does not have equity investors with voting rights or (2) has equity investors that are not required to provide sufficient financial resources for the entity to support its activities without additional subordinated financial support. FIN 46-R requires a variable interest entity to be consolidated by a company if that company is subject to a majority of the risk of loss from the variable interest entity s activities or entitled to receive a majority of the entity s residual returns or both. This statement did not have an effect on our consolidated financial statements.

Table of Contents

In May 2003, the FASB issued SFAS No. 150, *Accounting for Certain Financial Instruments with Characteristics of both Liabilities and Equity*, which establishes standards for how an issuer classifies and measures certain financial instruments with characteristics of both liabilities and equities. The provisions of SFAS No. 150 are effective for financial instruments entered into or modified after May 31, 2003. The adoption of SFAS 150 has no effect on our consolidated financial statements.

In April 2003, FASB issued SFAS No. 149, *Amendment of Statement 133 on Derivative Instruments and Hedging Transactions*, which amends and clarifies financial accounting and reporting for derivative instruments, including those embedded in other contracts, and for hedging activities under SFAS No. 133, *Accounting for Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities*. The provisions of SFAS No. 149 are effective for contracts entered into or modified after June 30, 2003. As of September 29, 2004, we had no such instruments.

114

MANAGEMENT S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION

AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS OF HOLDING

General

Holding was formed in 1990, when affiliates of Kelso & Company acquired control of and combined two leading metals distributors, EMJ (founded in 1921) and Kilsby-Roberts Holding Co. (successor to C.A. Roberts Company, founded in 1915). In connection with the combination of these two companies, EMJ became a wholly-owned subsidiary of Holding. EMJ was formed for the purpose of continuing the operations of these combined entities and Holding was formed to achieve certain favorable tax and general and administrative expense savings for these combined entities.

All of the EMJ consolidated condensed income statement results are included in Holding s results, with the exception of the following:

General and Administrative Expenses. Expenses for Holding were \$(27,000), \$(20,000) and none in fiscal 2003, 2004 and the first six months of fiscal 2005, respectively. Holding expenses are charged back to EMJ with a 5% management fee added to compensation expense.

Net Interest Expense. Net interest expense was \$35.3 million, \$38.8 million and \$21.4 million in fiscal 2003, 2004 and first six months of fiscal 2005, respectively. Such amounts reflect interest under Holding s variable rate senior notes.

Income Tax Expense. For the first six months of fiscal 2005 and 2004 included provisions for state and franchise and foreign income taxes. The federal tax rate for the first six months of fiscal 2005 was 6%, and was lower than the U.S. federal statutory tax rate primarily due to the recognition of tax benefits associated with the utilization of loss carryforwards. The federal tax provision for the first six months of fiscal 2004 was offset by the recognition of tax benefits associated with loss carryforwards, which for Holding were greater than the loss carryforwards for EMJ on a consolidated basis. Income tax expense has been provided for the three and six months ended September 29, 2004 based on the Company s estimated effective income tax rate for fiscal 2005.

Please refer to Management s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations of EMJ for additional information.

115

BUSINESS

We were formed on May 3, 1990, when affiliates of Kelso & Company, L.P., a private investment firm, acquired control of and combined two leading metals distributors, Earle M. Jorgensen Company (founded in 1921) and Kilsby-Roberts Holding Co. (successor to C.A. Roberts Company, founded in 1915). In connection with the combination of these two companies, we became a wholly-owned subsidiary of Holding. After the consummation of the merger and financial restructuring, Holding will cease to exist and the noteholders and stockholders of Holding will become stockholders of EMJ.

We are a leading distributor of metal bar and tubular products used by North American manufacturing companies and have been in business for over 80 years. We purchase over 25,000 different metals products in large quantities from primary producers, including a broad mix of carbon steel, stainless steel and aluminum bar, tubular and plate products. We sell these metal products in smaller quantities to over 35,000 customers spanning various industries, including machine tools, industrial equipment, transportation, fluid power, oil, gas and energy, fabricated metal, and construction and agricultural equipment. We distribute our broad range of metal products and provide our customers value-added metal processing and inventory management services from our distribution network of 36 strategically located service and processing centers in the United States and Canada.

Our metal processing services consist of cutting to length, burning, sawing, honing, shearing, grinding, polishing and performing other similar services on most of the metal products we sell, all to customer specifications. As part of our inventory management services, we schedule deliveries in the quantities and at the times required by just-in-time manufacturing processes employed by a growing number of leading manufacturing companies and provide our customers with an on-time product delivery guarantee.

During the past several years, we have focused our management efforts on automating and reconfiguring our facilities to increase workflow, enhancing information management systems to improve customer service, and streamlining our management structure, reducing headcount, and decreasing corporate overhead to reduce costs. We believe that our efficient operating structure enables us to achieve gross profit per employee levels that are considerably higher than those of our major competitors.

Industry Overview

Metals service centers function as key intermediaries between the metals producers that desire to sell large volumes to few customers and the end-users that need specific products in smaller quantities. Primary metals producers, which manufacture and sell large volumes of steel, aluminum and specialty metals in standard sizes and configurations, generally sell only to large end-users and metals service centers that do not require processing of the products and who can order in large quantities and tolerate relatively long lead times. We believe that the role of the primary metals producers will not change in the foreseeable future and that these producers will continue to focus on providing efficient and volume-driven production of a limited number of standardized metal products. The metals distribution industry is fragmented, with approximately 1,300 participants throughout North America, the largest of which represented less than 5% of estimated industry sales in North America of \$50 billion in 2003. Based on 2003 data on the North American industry, approximately \$27.0 billion of sales were attributable to the 50 largest metals service centers in North America. The industry includes both general-line distributors, like us, that handle a wide range of metals products, and specialty distributors, that specialize in particular categories of metal products. Most of the companies in the metals distribution industry have a product mix more heavily weighted toward flat products, such as sheet and plate. The bar and tubular products that are our core products tend to be sold in smaller quantities, with shorter lead times and at higher gross margins than flat products, such as sheet and plate. Geographic coverage by metals service centers is influenced by their national, regional and local representation.

We believe that a low-cost position coupled with excellent customer service, including breadth and availability of product offerings, timely and reliable delivery and responsiveness to customer needs, are the

116

critical success factors that differentiate between various service centers. For example, metals end-users are increasingly moving to lean manufacturing models that require metal products to be delivered to them on an as-needed basis. This has increased these end-users need for service centers that can meet their delivery requirements by maintaining an extensive inventory of available metal products.

Competitive Strengths

We believe that the following factors contribute to our success in the metals service center industry:

Excellent Product Selection and Service. We are a recognized leader in the metals service center industry, with an excellent reputation for quality and service built over our 80 years in operation. We have an extensive inventory of core products, including one of the most extensive lines of bar and tubular products in North America. Over the last several years, we have implemented a program for our customers in which we guaranty on-time delivery of our products or they are free. This program, which we believe is unique among our major competitors in North America, has been very successful, with on-time performance of approximately 99% since its inception in 1999. In addition to our on-time guaranty and our broad product offering, our broad network of service and processing centers and our proprietary information management systems have been critical to our ability to guarantee our service. Further, we have received numerous quality and service awards from our customers and have consistently demonstrated our commitment to improve our business in order to better satisfy our customers needs, including being among the first in our industry to receive ISO 9002 and QS 9000 certifications and providing electronic commerce capabilities.

Excellent Supplier Relationships. We believe we are one of the largest purchasers of steel bars and tubing in North America, and one of the leading distribution customers in our core products for each of our major suppliers. These supplier relationships enable us to better meet our customers demands for metals during periods of tight supply, such as the one our industry is currently experiencing.

Broad Network of Strategically Located Facilities and Diverse Customer Base. Our 36 service and processing centers are strategically located throughout North America, generally within one day s delivery time to almost all U.S. manufacturing centers. Our broad service network enables us to provide services to national customers with multiple locations, as well as to smaller single-site customers. We serve more than 35,000 customers across a broad range of industries, with no single customer accounting for more than 2% of our revenues in fiscal 2004 or for the first six months of fiscal 2005. Our ten largest customers represented approximately 10% of our revenues in fiscal 2004, and the average length of these customer relationships was approximately 14 years. During fiscal 2004 and the first six months of fiscal 2005, we handled approximately 7,900 and 8,200 sales transactions per business day, respectively, at an average sales price of approximately \$520 and \$730 per transaction, respectively.

Focus on Information Management Systems. Through our proprietary information management systems, we track and allocate inventory among all of our locations, maintain high levels of customer service through better order and product reference data and monitor our operating results. We track our inventory on a real-time basis through our information management systems, which allows our salespeople and operating employees to have visibility into in-process orders and enables us to meet our on-time delivery guarantee. Our in-house information technology team interacts closely with our sales force and operations personnel.

Warehouse Automation. We recently completed the installation of an automated inventory storage and retrieval system in our largest facility, which is located in Chicago. This fully operational system, which we refer to as the Kasto system, allows us to streamline order filling and improve employee productivity, resulting in reduced material handling and processing costs and increased order fill rates. For example, warehouse cost per ton at our Chicago facility, which services regional customers and also supplies products to all of our other service centers, has decreased approximately 22% from \$96.33 in the second quarter of fiscal 2004, the quarter immediately preceding the completion of the

automated warehouse system s installation, to \$75.16 in the first six months of fiscal 2005.

117

Table of Contents

Experienced Management Team. Our senior management team has an average of 29 years of industry experience. Our chief executive officer, Maurice S. Nelson, Jr. has spent over 42 years in the metals industry with us and at Inland Steel Company and Alcoa Inc. Mr. Nelson was named the Service Center Executive of the Year for 2001 by Metal Center News and served as chairman of the Metal Service Center Institute during the 2002 2003 year.

Operating and Growth Strategy

Our primary business goals are to increase market share and to improve operating profits and cash flows. Our operating and growth strategies consist of the following elements:

Focus on Core Products. We believe our purchasing volumes for our core bar and tubular products enable us to achieve the lowest available product acquisition costs for these products among service centers in North America. We believe we can grow our market share and increase profitability by continuing to focus our marketing efforts on our core products and capitalizing on our procurement advantage. Leveraging our strength in our core products should enable us to establish competitive advantages in all of our local markets as well as allow us to successfully compete for larger national programs with customers.

Focus on Timely and Reliable Delivery and Value-Added Services. We believe our guarantee to provide on-time delivery service will continue to differentiate us from our competition and enable us to increase our market share. In addition, we seek to increase our margins and grow our market share by complementing our metal product sales effort with value-added services such as inventory management and processing activities, including our special stocking programs and cutting and honing operations.

Expand Satellite Operations. We believe a key aspect of serving our current customers and acquiring new customers is having a physical presence in markets that require our products and services. Accordingly, we have been implementing a strategy to target those geographic areas where we can justify opening a satellite location. These locations are managed locally by warehouse and delivery personnel, stock a limited inventory of core products and require minimal initial and maintenance capital expenditures, resulting in a low-cost opportunity to serve select markets. Each satellite operation is supported by inventory, inside salespeople and the general management of our larger service centers. During the past 12 months, we have opened satellite facilities in Orlando, Florida and northern Ontario and have successfully relocated our successful Chattanooga, Tennessee satellite facility to a larger new full service facility in Birmingham, Alabama. We continue to evaluate additional satellite locations.

Maintain Technology Leadership. We have made and will continue to make investments in technology in order to differentiate our capabilities from those of our competitors. We intend to continue to enhance our information management systems by upgrading software and hardware to improve connectivity, stability and reliability of these systems which will help us continue to improve customer service. To further improve our productivity and efficiency, we are (1) expanding the warehouse automation system in our Chicago facility and evaluating the implementation of the warehouse automation systems in our other facilities, (2) creating a centralized data warehouse to facilitate greater access to transactional information, (3) developing new electronic commerce tools for customer and vendor interfaces to offer better compatibility with various systems and (4) implementing IP Telephony to reduce costs and allow for greater customer service flexibility.

118

Products and Suppliers

We have designated certain carbon and alloy, stainless and aluminum products as core product offerings under our bar and tubular product lines. We also offer certain plate and other products. Each of our service centers stocks a broad range of shapes and sizes of each of these products, as dictated by market demand, in an effort to be a market leader in all of the core product lines in its geographic area. We process most of the metal products we sell by cutting to length, burning, sawing, honing, shearing, grinding, polishing, and performing similar services on them, all to customer specifications. These processing services save our customers time, labor and expense, which helps them better manage their manufacturing costs. As part of our inventory management services, we schedule deliveries in the quantities and at the times required by just-in-time manufacturing processes employed by a growing number of leading manufacturing companies and provide our customers with an on-time product delivery guarantee. Our inventory management services also include special stocking programs and management of inventory levels for items specified by customers based on their forecasts.

Carbon steel bar products (hot-rolled and cold-finished) and carbon plate and sheet are used in a wide-range of products and applications, including construction equipment, agricultural equipment, automotive and truck manufacturing and oil exploration. Stainless steel bar and plate are used widely in the chemical, petrochemical, and oil refining and biomedical industries where resistance to corrosion is important. Aluminum bar and plate are frequently used in aircraft and aerospace applications where weight is a factor. Different tubular products are appropriate for particular uses based on different characteristics of the tubular materials, including strength, weight, resistance to corrosion and cost. Carbon steel tubing and pipe are used in general manufacturing. Alloy tubing is used frequently in the manufacturing of oil field equipment and farm equipment. Stainless steel tubing and pipe are used in applications requiring a high resistance to corrosion, such as food processing. Aluminum tubing and pipe are used in applications that put a premium on lightweight, such as aerospace manufacturing.

The percentage of revenues generated from sales of material by product group for the fiscal years ended March 31, 2002, 2003 and 2004 and the six months ended September 29, 2003 and 2004 is as follows:

	Fis	Fiscal Year Ended March 31,			Six Months Ended September 29,	
	2002	2003	2004	2003	2004	
Bars:						
Carbon and Alloy	36.6%	37.4%	37.4%	36.5%	40.6%	
Stainless	11.9	11.3	11.7	11.6	10.9	
Aluminum	7.7	7.9	8.1	8.2	7.1	
Brass	0.7	1.0	1.4	1.2	1.5	
Total	56.9	57.6	58.6	57.5	60.1	
Tubing:						
Carbon and Alloy	24.6	24.6	23.6	24.3	23.4	
Stainless	3.0	2.9	2.8	2.9	2.3	
Aluminum	3.6	3.2	2.7	2.9	2.2	
Total	31.2	30.7	29.1	30.1	27.9	
Plate:						
Carbon and Alloy	3.9	3.5	3.2	3.1	3.8	
Stainless	1.5	1.3	1.2	1.1	1.1	
Aluminum	2.3	2.4	2.0	2.0	2.1	

Edgar Filing: JORGENSEN EARLE M CO /DE/ - Form S-4/A

Total	7.7	7.2	6.4	6.2	7.0
Other	4.2	4.5	5.9		5.0
	100.0%	100.0%	100.0%	100.0%	100.0%

The majority of our procurement activities are handled by a centralized merchandising office in our Chicago facility. Specialists in major product lines make the majority of inventory purchases on behalf of our service centers. This merchandising group develops and evaluates the working relationships with high-quality suppliers to ensure availability, quality and timely delivery of product. Because of this centralized coordination and the total volume of purchases we make, we often are a recognized distributor for major metals suppliers and believe that we are able to purchase our core products inventory at the lowest unit cost available to North American metals service centers.

The majority of our inventory purchases are made by purchase order, and we have no significant supply contracts with periods in excess of one year. We are not dependent on any single supplier for any product or for a significant portion of our purchases. In fiscal 2004 and the first six months of fiscal 2005, no single supplier represented more than 10% of our total purchases. We purchased less than 15% of our inventory from foreign-based suppliers in fiscal 2004.

Customers and Markets

We provide metal products and value-added metals processing and inventory management services to over 35,000 customers throughout North America that do business in a wide variety of industries. No customer represented more than 2% of our revenues in fiscal 2004 or the first six months of fiscal 2005. During fiscal 2004 and the first six months of fiscal 2005, we processed approximately 7,900 and 8,200 sales transactions per business day, respectively, at an average sales price of approximately \$520 and \$730 per transaction, respectively. In addition, sales of material out of our stock inventory (referred to as stock sales) represented 89.7%, 90.8%, 91.7% and 93.4% of our revenues from the sale of metal products for fiscal 2002, 2003 and 2004 and the first six months of fiscal 2005, respectively. We believe our ability to support this high proportion of stock sales is critical in growing market share and maintaining higher gross margins than would otherwise be possible. The balance of revenues represents special customer requirements that we meet by arranging mill-direct sales and by making buy-outs from other distributors of inventory items we do not maintain as stock inventory. These non-stock sales generally have lower gross margins than stock sales, but provide a valuable customer service. For information concerning the seasonal nature of our business, see Management s Discussion and Analysis and Results of Operations of EMJ Quarterly Results of Operations.

The following table provides the percentage of tonnage we sold to domestic customers in the largest industries we serve for the fiscal years ended March 31, 2002, 2003 and 2004 and the six months ended September 29, 2003 and 2004.

	Fis	Fiscal Year Ended March 31,			Six Months Ended September 29,	
	2002	2003	2004	2003	2004	
Machine Tools	27.4%	27.0%	28.1%	27.2%	29.1%	
Industrial Equipment	9.5	8.7	7.7	8.1	7.9	
Transportation	8.5	8.1	7.5	8.4	7.0	
Metal Service Centers & Wholesale Trade	4.3	4.2	5.8	6.1	6.4	
Fluid Power	8.4	7.9	5.1	5.9	6.0	
Oil, Gas & Energy	4.4	6.0	5.0	6.3	4.4	
Fabricated Metal	4.1	4.7	6.0	5.7	6.2	
Construction/Agricultural Equipment	6.3	6.6	6.1	4.9	5.3	
Screw Machine Products	6.3	6.6	5.7	4.8	5.4	
Power Transmission Equipment	2.7	3.4	3.7	3.7	3.7	
All Other Industries	18.1	16.8	19.3	18.9	18.6	

Total 100.0% 100.0% 100.0% 100.0% 100.0%

120

Table of Contents

Most of our sales originate from individual purchase orders, with the pricing set at the time of sale, and are not subject to ongoing supply contracts. When we enter into a fixed price contract, we typically enter into a corresponding supply arrangement with our supplier to cover the commitment to our customer. These corresponding supply arrangements limit the risk of fluctuating prices negatively impacting our margins on these fixed price arrangements. These arrangements provide the customer with greater certainty as to timely delivery, price stability and continuity of supply, and sometimes satisfy particular processing or inventory management requirements. In addition, these arrangements have resulted in new customer relationships and increased sales volumes, but can have a lower gross margin than our ordinary sales. These fixed price arrangements, in the aggregate, represented approximately 10% of our total revenues in fiscal 2004.

Competition

We compete with numerous national, regional and local service centers of various sizes and capabilities. Some of these service centers are general line service centers and some specialize in a narrow range of products (such as stainless bars). We compete based on inventory availability, timely delivery, price, customer service, quality and processing capabilities. We believe that our extensive inventory of core products, excellent customer service, excellent supplier relationships, broad network of facilities, proprietary technology, automated warehouse system and experienced management team enable us to compete effectively in our industry.

Information Management Systems

Our proprietary information management systems enable us to track and allocate inventory among all of our locations, improve customer service through better order and product reference data and monitor operating results. The ability to track our inventory system-wide on a real-time basis allows our salespeople to integrate ordering and scheduling, which enables us to meet our on-time delivery guarantee. Our proprietary systems have been and will continue to be upgraded, developed and implemented to improve efficiencies and customer service.

Intellectual Property and Licenses

EMJ® and E-METALS® are registered trademarks, and our name is a registered service mark in the United States and in other countries where we do or expect to do business. Other service marks, including hallmarks, logos, taglines or mottos used to conduct business are or will be registered as necessary to protect our proprietary rights.

We also own our Internet domain name, emimetals.com. We consider certain information owned by us to be trade secrets, and we take measures to protect the confidentiality and control the disclosure of such information. We believe that these safeguards adequately protect our proprietary rights. While we consider all of our intellectual property rights as a whole to be important, we do not consider any single right to be essential to our operations.

Employees

As of September 29, 2004, EMJ employed 1,673 persons, of whom 1,044 were employed in warehouse operations or shipping, 358 were employed in sales and 271 served in executive, administrative or district office capacities. Four different unions represented approximately 36% of our employees from 16 locations. Our collective bargaining agreements expire on staggered dates through 2010, including two agreements that expire in the next 12 months and cover 81 employees at two locations as of September 29, 2004. We believe we have a good overall relationship with our employees and do not expect any significant issues to arise in connection with collective bargaining agreements in the near future.

121

Properties

We currently maintain 36 strategically located service centers, including two plate processing centers, one cutting center and one tubular honing facility. Of these service centers, 32 are located in various cities throughout the United States and four are located in Canada. We are headquartered in Lynwood, California and have a sales office in Hartford, Connecticut and a merchandising office in Chicago, Illinois. Our facilities generally are capable of being utilized at higher capacities than they are currently being utilized, if necessary. Most leased facilities have initial terms of more than one year and include renewal options. While some of the leases expire in the near term, we do not believe that we will have difficulty renewing such leases or finding alternative sites. Our 9 3/4% senior secured notes are secured by a first priority lien (subject to permitted liens) on substantially all of our current and future acquired unencumbered real property.

Set forth below is a table summarizing certain information with respect to our 36 service centers.

	Owned/	Square Footage
Country/City/State or Province	Leased	(approximately)
United States:		
Birmingham, Alabama	Owned	80,000
Phoenix, Arizona	Owned	72,200
Little Rock, Arkansas	Leased	27,700
Hayward, California	Leased	91,000
Los Angeles, California (a distribution center and a plate processing center)	Owned	319,400
Denver, Colorado	Leased	77,400
Orlando, Florida(1)	Leased	29,700
Chicago, Illinois(2)	Owned	603,700
Indianapolis, Indiana (a distribution center and a cutting center)	Owned	225,000
Eldridge, Iowa	Leased	140,500
Boston, Massachusetts	Owned	63,500
Detroit, Michigan(1)	Leased	28,700
Minneapolis, Minnesota	Owned	169,200
Kansas City, Missouri	Leased	120,900
St. Louis, Missouri	Leased	108,100
Rochester, New York(1)	Leased	31,500
Charlotte, North Carolina	Owned	175,300
Cincinnati, Ohio	Leased	125,200
Cleveland, Ohio	Owned	200,200
Cleveland, Ohio	Owned	137,800
Tulsa, Oklahoma (a distribution center and tubular honing center)(3)	Owned	143,400
Portland, Oregon	Leased	33,800
Philadelphia, Pennsylvania	Leased	27,200
Wrightsville, Pennsylvania	Leased	124,500
Memphis, Tennessee	Leased	56,500
Dallas, Texas	Owned	132,800
Houston, Texas	Owned	95,200
Salt Lake City, Utah(1)	Leased	25,400
Seattle, Washington	Leased	83,600
Canada:		
Edmonton, Alberta	Leased	25,800
North Bay, Ontario(1)	Leased	10,000
Toronto, Ontario	Leased	61,800
Montréal, Quebec	Leased	82,700

- (1) We consider these locations satellite operations.
- (2) Our Chicago facility supplies products to all of our other service centers.
- (3) We also own a 108,000 square foot facility in Tulsa, Oklahoma, which is under contract for sale, the operations of which were consolidated with this facility.

122

Foreign Operations

Through our wholly owned subsidiary, Earle M. Jorgensen (Canada) Inc., a Canadian limited liability company, we operate four service centers located in Toronto, Montréal, Edmonton and North Bay. Revenues from our Canadian operations totaled \$43.7 million in fiscal 2002, \$54.4 million in fiscal 2003, \$70 million in fiscal 2004 and \$47.6 million in the first six months of fiscal 2005. Our long-lived assets located in Canada, primarily warehouse equipment, totaled \$1.9 million, \$2.4 million, \$3.0 million and \$3.3 million as of March 31, 2002, 2003 and 2004 and September 29, 2004, respectively.

Health and Safety Regulations

Our operations are governed by many laws and regulations designed to promote workplace safety and to protect the welfare of employees, including the Occupational Safety and Health Act and regulations thereunder. We believe we are in material compliance with these laws and regulations.

Environmental Matters

We are subject to extensive and changing federal, state, local and foreign laws and regulations designed to protect the environment, including those relating to the use, handling, storage, discharge and disposal of hazardous substances and the remediation of environmental contamination. Although we believe we are in material compliance with laws and regulations, we are from time to time involved in administrative and judicial proceedings and inquiries relating to environmental matters.

During fiscal years 2002, 2003 and 2004, expenditures totaling approximately \$0.1 million, \$0.2 million and \$0.2 million, respectively, were made in connection with monitoring and investigation activities at sites with contaminated soil and/or groundwater. As of December 2004, an accrual of \$0.9 million exists for future investigation activities related to the Forge and Clinton Drive sites, as discussed below. We do not consider any other pending environmental matters material.

Forge (Seattle/Kent, WA). In November 1998, we paid the purchasers of our former Forge facility and an off-site disposal site \$2.3 million as an arbitration award for liabilities related to the remediation of known contamination at the Forge facility. We continue to monitor the disposal site for environmental conditions in accordance with a consent decree issued by the Washington Department of Ecology, or Ecology. Annual costs associated with such monitoring are not significant, and we do not anticipate significant additional expenditures related to this matter.

The Forge property is located on the Lower Duwamish Waterway, which has been identified by the United States Environmental Protection Agency, or the EPA, as a Superfund Site. Under the federal Comprehensive Environmental Remediation, Compensation, and Liability Act, or CERCLA, owners or operators of facilities that have released hazardous substances to the environment may be liable for remediation costs and damages to natural resources caused by such releases. Courts have held that such liability may be joint and several; however, in many instances, the costs are allocated among the parties, primarily based on their estimated contribution to the contamination. The EPA, along with Ecology, have entered into an Administrative Order of Consent (AOC) with four major property owners with potential liability for cleanup of the Duwamish site that outlines tasks required to be completed to further investigate the nature and extent of the contamination and cleanup alternatives. In November 2001, the current owners of the Forge property notified us of a potential claim for indemnification for any liability relating to contamination of the Duwamish site. The notification stated that the Forge facility, along with other businesses located along the

Duwamish site, are expected be named as potentially responsible parties for contamination of the Duwamish site and requested that EMJ participate under a joint defense.

123

On July 10, 2003, pursuant to a request from the EPA, we executed an AOC under CERCLA to investigate certain areas of the Forge facility to determine whether it has contributed to certain contamination of the Lower Duwamish Waterway that is expected to be the subject of remedial action by a neighboring facility. A preliminary estimate of the cost of proposed work under the AOC ranges from \$0.4 million to \$0.5 million, and is subject to approval by the EPA. As of September 29, 2004, we have accrued \$0.3 million for these costs that are expected to be incurred during fiscal 2005. On April 15, 2003, we signed a funding and participation agreement with the current owners of the Forge property, which requires us to fund 85% of costs to be incurred in connection with the investigation activities to be performed under the AOC.

We are continuing to evaluate this matter and remedies we may have, including insurance recoveries for any monies to be spent as part of the investigation or cleanup of the Duwamish site. Because the Duwamish site is still being investigated and cleanup alternatives and responsibility for cleanup evaluated, we cannot determine what ultimate liability we may have relating to this matter.

Clinton Drive (Houston, TX). In connection with the sale of a surplus facility in Houston, Texas, an environmental investigation of the site detected benzene in the groundwater at the site that we believe came from previously removed diesel/gasoline underground storage tanks. Based on additional sampling and tests, traces of chlorinated solvents were also detected in the groundwater at the site. In connection with the sale of the property, on December 9, 2004, we entered into an agreement with the buyer that provides for us to do the following:

file a voluntary clean-up application with the Texas Commission for Environmental Quality, or TCEQ, that commits us to clean-up the soil and groundwater at the site for the benzene and chlorinated solvents to acceptable levels in accordance with TCEQ requirements;

fund an escrow account with \$500,000 to be available to complete estimated clean-up and subsequent monitoring costs; and

indemnify the buyer for pre-existing environmental issues on the site based on applicable TCEQ industrial/commercial standards.

We have accrued \$500,000 for the estimated liability from this issue.

Legal Proceedings

On March 8, 2002, the Department of Labor sued us, Holding, Holding s stock bonus plan and former members of Holding s benefits committee in the federal district court for the Central District of California. The Department of Labor claimed that the valuations of Holding common stock used to make annual contributions to Holding s stock bonus plan in each of the years 1994 through 2000 contained significant errors that resulted in the common stock being overvalued, and that the failure of the members of our benefits committee to detect and correct the errors was a breach of their fiduciary duty under ERISA. As a result of the alleged overvaluations, the Department of Labor contended that the contributions to Holding s stock bonus plan were prohibited transactions under ERISA. We, Holding and members of the benefits committee defended the suit vigorously and ultimately settled the suit via a consent order and release executed with the Department of Labor on January 27, 2003. The key provisions of the agreement are as follows: (1) we have been prohibited from making further Holding common stock contributions to the stock bonus plan until the stock is publicly traded; (2) we have continued to obtain annual appraisals of Holding stock using methodology consistent with prior appraisals, and have used that appraised value as the purchase price for repurchases of common stock as we have done in the past; and (3) if the annual appraisal of our common stock is less than \$4.25 per share, we are required to pay a floor price of \$4.25 per share in connection with the repurchase of common stock from departing employees for shares that were originally contributed to the stock bonus plan for the plan years 1994 through 2000. If we are required to pay the floor price in connection with the repurchase of common stock from departing employees, the settlement agreement also allows the Department of Labor to assess a penalty to EMJ equal to 20% of the amount calculated by multiplying the difference between the appraised value and th

In December 2003, we entered into agreements with Holding, a subsidiary of EMJ and the principal stockholders of Holding that provided for a financial restructuring pursuant to which Holding would become a wholly owned subsidiary of EMJ and the stockholders and noteholders of Holding would receive shares of our common stock based on a fixed exchange ratio. Prior to approval of the transaction, the Department of Labor initiated a review of the procedures followed by our benefits committee in connection with evaluation of the proposed transaction and other strategic alternatives available to Holding, as well as an assessment of whether or not the proposed transaction complied with the terms of the consent order and the legal requirements applicable to the stock bonus plan. At that time, the Department of Labor urged the benefits committee to consider a financial restructuring that would eliminate on a going-forward basis valuation methodology that was agreed upon in the consent order. These discussions with the Department of Labor resulted in delays that, combined with other transactional requirements, precluded the consummation of the financial restructuring on the terms originally proposed.

With regard to the financial restructuring described in this proxy statement/prospectus, we have concluded that it is preferable to amend the consent order to change the methodology used in preparing the annual valuations for our plan. In connection with the change in valuation methodology, Holding determined that it is in the best interests of the plan to make a special contribution of additional shares of Holding common stock with respect to the shares of Holding common stock contributed from 1994 through 2000. This contribution (which would be converted into a contribution of our common stock upon consummation of the financial restructuring) would offset the disadvantage plan participants would experience because the change in methodology would cause a significant decrease in the appraised value of the Holding common stock. We outlined the details of that proposal to representatives of the Department of Labor at a meeting in June 2004 and submitted a written explanation of the proposed amendment to the consent order and related documentation on August 18, 2004.

Various discussions between representatives of the special committee and the benefits committee and the Department of Labor followed and on December 17, 2004, Holding, the benefits committee and the Department of Labor executed an amended consent order. The amended consent order provides that:

to the extent that the stock bonus plan is required to obtain appraisals after the date of the amended consent order, the appraisals will be prepared in accordance with generally accepted appraisal principals and the stock bonus plan will no longer be required to use the appraisal methodology that historically had been employed, which as of March 31, 2004 resulted in an appraised value of \$13.76 per share of Holding common stock;

after the date of the amended consent order, all repurchases of Holding common stock from the stock bonus plan participants who elected to put shares of Holding common stock to Holding or to sell shares of Holding common stock to Holding in connection with diversification of their account will be at an appraised value based on the new methodology, which as of March 31, 2004 resulted in an appraised value of \$7.80 per share of Holding common stock;

the floor price guaranty was reduced from \$4.25 to \$2.15 per share to reflect the changes in the appraisal methodology and the effect of the special contribution, and after the date of a reorganization or similar event, the floor price guaranty will cease; and

upon completion of the merger and financial restructuring and the public offering, the shares of company stock held by the stock bonus plan will no longer be valued by appraisal and the participants will no longer have the right to put shares of company stock to Holding or EMJ.

To offset the loss of account value stock bonus plan participants who hold shares of Holding common stock will sustain as a result of the change in the appraisal methodology pursuant to of the amended consent order, Holding has decided to implement a program to make a special contribution of additional shares of Holding common stock or common stock equivalents to (1) the stock bonus plan, (2) a supplemental stock bonus plan, and (3) a cash bonus plan. See The Amended Consent Order beginning on page 34.

125

Table of Contents

On April 22, 2002, Champagne Metals, a small metals service center distributing aluminum coil products in Oklahoma brought suit against us and six other metal service centers in the federal District Court for the Western District of Oklahoma. Champagne Metals alleged that we had conspired with the other metal service centers to induce or coerce aluminum suppliers to refuse to designate Champagne Metals as a distributor in violation of federal and state antitrust laws and that such conspiracy further constituted tortious interference with business and contractual relations. Champagne Metals sought treble damages on its antitrust claims and punitive damages in addition to actual damages. EMJ and the other defendants filed motions for summary judgment, and on June 15, 2004, the federal District Court for the Western District of Oklahoma entered an order granting the motions for summary judgment of each of the defendants including EMJ and dismissed the case. Plaintiffs filed notice of appeal on July 13, 2004 and the plaintiff and defendants are in the process of briefing the appeal.

We are occasionally involved in ordinary, routine litigation incidental to our normal course of business, none of which we believe to be material to our financial condition or results of operations. We maintain various liability insurance coverages to protect our assets from losses arising out of or involving activities associated with ongoing and normal business operations. See also the discussion of environmental proceedings under Environmental Matters above.

126

MANAGEMENT

Executive Officers and Directors

The following table contains information with respect to our executive officers and directors, including their ages as of September 29, 2004. There are no family relationships between any of our executive officers or directors.

Name		Position
		
Maurice S. Nelson, Jr.	67	President, Chief Executive Officer, Chief Operating Officer and Director
R. Neil McCaffery	55	Executive Vice President
William S. Johnson	47	Vice President, Chief Financial Officer and Secretary
Frank D. Travetto	51	Vice President, Merchandising
Kenneth L. Henry	58	Executive Vice President
James D. Hoffman	46	Vice President
David M. Roderick	80	Chairman of the Board
William A. Marquard	84	Director
Earl L. Mason	57	Director
Frank T. Nickell	58	Director
John Rutledge	57	Director
David I. Wahrhaftig	47	Director
Joseph T. O Donnell, Jr.	57	Director (effective January 1, 2005)

Maurice S. Nelson, Jr. Mr. Nelson was elected President, Chief Executive Officer and Chief Operating Officer and a director of EMJ and Holding effective February 1, 1997. Before that, Mr. Nelson served as President, Chief Executive Officer and Chief Operating Officer of Inland Steel Company, a steel manufacturing company, from 1992 until April 1996. Before that, Mr. Nelson was the President of the Aerospace and Commercial division of the Aluminum Company of America (Alcoa), an aluminum manufacturing company, from 1987 to 1992.

R. Neil McCaffery. Mr. McCaffery has been our Executive Vice President since March 2001. Before that, Mr. McCaffery was our Vice President Western Region since March 1997 and our Vice President Southern Region since April 1996.

William S. Johnson. Mr. Johnson has been our Vice President and Chief Financial Officer and Secretary since January 1999. Before that, Mr. Johnson was EMJ s Controller since February 1995 and was EMJ s Assistant Controller since February 1994. Prior to that, has held various financial and accounting management positions with several distribution-related companies. Mr. Johnson is a certified public accountant and began his career at Ernst & Ernst, a predecessor of Ernst & Young LLP.

Frank D. Travetto. Mr. Travetto has been our Vice President Merchandising since March 1997. Before that, Mr. Travetto was EMJ s Vice President Western Region since 1996, EMJ s Vice President Eastern Region from 1992 to 1996, and EMJ s Division President, Canadian Operations from 1990 to 1992.

Kenneth L. Henry. Mr. Henry has been our Executive Vice President responsible for operating our Dallas, Houston and Tulsa facilities since July, 2003. Before that, Mr. Henry was our Vice President responsible for operating our Chicago and Quad Cities facilities. Before that, Mr. Henry was EMJ s Vice President Central Region since 1995. Before that, Mr. Henry was our Vice President Southern Region since 1992, and Vice President of the Kilsby-Roberts Division of EMJ from April 1990 to 1992.

James D. Hoffman. Mr. Hoffman has been our Vice President since March 2001 and has been responsible for operations of our Cleveland and Boston facilities since March 2001. Before that, Mr. Hoffman was our Vice

127

Table of Contents

President Eastern Region since July 1996. Before that, Mr. Hoffman was District Manager for our Cleveland and Buffalo operations since June 1992.

David M. Roderick. Mr. Roderick has been chairman of the board of directors of EMJ and Holding since January 21, 1998 and a director of EMJ and Holding since January 1994. Mr. Roderick also serves as a director of Citation, a casting and forging company, and Kelso & Companies, Inc. Previously, Mr. Roderick served in various capacities at USX Corporation, a steel manufacturing company. Mr. Roderick joined USX in 1959, was chairman of USX Finance Committee and a director from 1973 to 1975, was President and a director from 1975 until 1979 and was Chief Executive Officer and chairman of the board from 1979 to 1989.

William A. Marquard. Mr. Marquard has been a director of EMJ since March 1990, and a director of Holding since May 1990. Mr. Marquard also serves as a director of Kelso & Companies, Inc., and InfraReDx, Inc., a photomedical technologies company, and served as a director and chairman of the board of Arkansas Best Corporation, a transportation holding company, until July 2004.

Earl L. Mason. Mr. Mason has been a director of EMJ and Holding since January 2002 and audit committee Chairman since July 2002. Mr. Mason retired in December 2000 from Alliant Exchange (formerly the distribution business of Kraft Foods), after serving as Chief Executive Officer and President since April 1999. Before that, Mr. Mason was Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Officer of Compaq Computer Corporation from May 1996 to April 1999 and held the position of Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Officer of Inland Steel Industries from June 1991 to May 1996. Mr. Mason also served as Group Executive of Digital Equipment Corporation from June 1990 to June 1991 and as Chief Financial Officer of its European subsidiary from October 1987 to June 1990, and held various positions over 15 years at AT&T Corporation. Mr. Mason is also chairman of the board of Computer Horizons Corporation, an enterprise solutions and human capital management company.

Frank T. Nickell. Mr. Nickell has served as director of EMJ and Holding since August 1993. He has been President and a director of Kelso & Companies, Inc. since March 1989 and Chief Executive Officer of Kelso & Companies, Inc. since September 1997. He is also a director of The Bear Stearns Companies Inc., a financial services company, and BlackRock, Inc., a financial management company.

John Rutledge. Dr. Rutledge has been a director of EMJ and Holding since June 1992. Dr. Rutledge is the founder of Rutledge & Company, Inc., a merchant banking firm, and has been chairman since January 1991. He is the founder of Claremont Economics Institute, and has been chairman of its board since January 1979. Dr. Rutledge is also a director of The Amerindo Investment Fund, a financial management company, and CROM Corporation, a designer and manufacturer of prestressed concrete tanks, and served as a director of Lazard Freres Funds, a financial management company, until January 2004.

David I. Wahrhaftig. Mr. Wahrhaftig has been a director of EMJ and Holding since July 2003. Mr. Wahrhaftig has been a Managing Director of Kelso & Company and a director of Kelso & Companies, Inc. since April 1997, after joining the firm in 1987. Mr. Wahrhaftig is also a director of Endo Pharmaceuticals, Inc., a specialty pharmaceutical company, and BWAY Corporation, a general line container manufacturing company.

Joseph T. O Donnell, Jr. Mr. O Donnell has been elected to serve as a director and audit committee member commencing on January 1, 2005. Mr. O Donnell is a founding partner of Briscoe Capital Management, LLC, an investment advisory firm that manages a portfolio of senior secured debt. Mr. O Donnell is currently a director of Endo Pharmaceuticals Holdings, Inc., a director of Metzler North America Corp. and President of Van Beuren Capital, L.L.C., a private merchant banking and advisory firm. Until December 31, 2002, Mr. O Donnell was President of Metzler Corporation, the U.S.-based corporate finance affiliate of B. Metzler seel. Sohn & Co., Frankfurt, Germany. Prior to joining Metzler, Mr. O Donnell spent 26 years at various affiliates of Bankers Trust Corporation. From 1986 to 2000, he was involved in the acquisition and

leveraged finance business. Prior to 1986, he was involved in Bankers Trust s global airline and aerospace division and in middle-market financing activities in the New York Metropolitan area.

128

Board of Directors

Upon consummation of the financial restructuring and the offering, our bylaws will authorize a board of directors consisting of at least three, but not more than nine, members and the initial board of directors will consist of eight members. Our bylaws provide that each member of our board of directors serves until the next annual meeting of our stockholders. Pursuant to Holding s stockholders agreement and the terms of the Holding series A preferred stock, Mr. Nelson was designated by the management stockholders as a director, Mr. Mason was designated by the holders of Holding series A preferred stock as a director and the remaining directors were designated by KIA IV, an affiliate of Kelso & Companies, Inc. Holding s stockholders agreement will terminate upon consummation of the offering and the Holding series A preferred stock will be exchanged for cash and EMJ common stock pursuant to the financial restructuring and the rights to designate directors under the Holding arrangements will cease. We have agreed with the Kelso funds that for so long as the Kelso funds own in excess of 20% of our issued and outstanding common stock, the Kelso funds will be entitled to designate two directors, and for so long as the Kelso funds own in excess of 10% of our issued and outstanding common stock, the Kelso funds will be entitled to designate one director, to be included in the slate of directors nominated by us for election to our board of directors in our annual proxy statement.

We believe that three of our directors, Messrs. Mason, Rutledge and O Donnell (who will be a director effective January 1, 2005), are currently independent under the requirements of the New York Stock Exchange, the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 and the Commission s rules and regulations. We intend to have a board of directors comprised of a majority of independent directors within 12 months of the listing of our common stock on the New York Stock Exchange in accordance with the transition period provided by the rules of the New York Stock Exchange for issuers listing in conjunction with their initial public offering.

Committees of the Board of Directors

Our board of directors has established an audit committee, a compensation committee and a nominating and corporate governance committee. Our board may establish other committees from time to time to facilitate the management of EMJ.

Audit Committee

The audit committee will oversee our accounting and financial reporting processes, as well as the audits of our financial statements, including retaining and discharging our auditors. The audit committee will be comprised of not fewer than three directors, each of whom will be independent under the requirements of the New York Stock Exchange, the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 and the Commission s rules and regulations promulgated thereunder. Upon the closing of the financial restructuring and the offering, the audit committee will be comprised of Messrs. Mason (Chairperson), Rutledge and O Donnell. The Amended and Restated Charter of the Audit Committee, which will become effective upon the closing of the financial restructuring and the offering, is attached to this proxy statement/prospectus as Annex E.

Compensation Committee

The compensation committee will oversee the administration of our equity-based compensation plans, review and administer all compensation arrangements for executive officers and establish and review general policies relating to the compensation and benefits of our officers and employees. The compensation committee will be comprised of not fewer than two directors, each of whom will be independent under the requirements of the New York Stock Exchange. Upon the closing of the financial restructuring and the offering, the compensation committee

will be comprised of Messrs. (Chairperson) and

129

Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee

The nominating and corporate governance committee s responsibilities will be to identify and recommend to the board of directors appropriate director nominee candidates and provide oversight with respect to corporate governance matters. The nominating and corporate governance committee will be comprised of not fewer than two directors, each of whom will be independent under the requirements of The New York Stock Exchange. Upon the closing of the financial restructuring and the offering, the nominating and corporate governance committee will be comprised of Messrs. (Chairperson) and

Director Compensation

Holding granted an aggregate of 34,000 shares of Holding common stock to Mr. Roderick in consideration of his service as chairman of the board of Holding and EMJ for fiscal years 1995, 1996 and 1997. Effective April 1, 1997, April 1, 1998, April 1, 1999, April 1, 2000 and April 1, 2001, in consideration for his service as a director, chairman of the executive committee and chairman of the board, we granted Mr. Roderick options to purchase 20,000 shares of Holding common stock, in each case at their fair market value as established by the most recent appraisal available at the date of the grant. Each year, from 1998 through 2001, each other non-officer director, other than Messrs. Schuchert and Nickell, received options to purchase 10,000 shares of Holding common stock at varying exercise prices equal to their fair market value at date of grant. These options are fully vested. In addition, Holding amended its stock option plan to adjust the exercise price and the number of shares of Holding common stock that can be purchased pursuant to each stock option grant to offset the reduction in appraised value of the Holding common stock resulting from the change in valuation methodology required by the amended consent order. Upon the consummation of the merger and financial restructuring, the options held by Messrs. Roderick, Marquard and Rutledge will convert into options to purchase EMJ common stock and will be exercisable for an equal amount of our common stock at the same exercise price.

Since April 1, 2002, each of our non-officer directors has received an annual retainer of \$20,000, payable quarterly, except for (1) Mr. Roderick, who as chairman of the board has received an annual retainer of \$30,000, payable quarterly, (2) Messrs. Nickell and Wahrhaftig, who have not received compensation for their services as directors and (3) Mr. Mason, who as chairman of the audit committee has received \$25,000, payable quarterly, since April 1, 2004. On December 16, 2004 Holding authorized the payment of a bonus of \$202,640 to Mr. Roderick in consideration of his service as chairman of the board of Holding and EMJ.

Effective upon consummation of the merger and financial restructuring and the public offering, each of our non-officer directors, except Messrs. Nickell and Wahrhaftig, who will not receive compensation for their services as directors, will receive the following in consideration for their service as directors: (1) an annual retainer of \$32,000, payable quarterly, except for the chairman of the board who will receive an annual retainer of \$42,000, payable quarterly, (2) \$2,000 per meeting of our board of directors, whether in person or otherwise, payable quarterly, and (3) an annual grant of options to purchase 10,000 shares of EMJ common stock at an exercise price equal to the fair market value per share of EMJ common stock on the grant date, pursuant to and consistent with the terms of EMJ s new stock incentive plan. The options granted to our non-officer directors will vest completely on the six month anniversary of the grant date. Each member of the audit and compensation committees will also receive \$1,000 per committee meeting, whether in person or otherwise. In addition, the chairmen of the audit and compensation committees will receive \$10,000 and \$5,000 per year, respectively. All non-officer directors are entitled to reimbursement of their reasonable out-of-pocket expenses in connection with their travel to, and attendance at, meetings of our board of directors or committees thereof.

130

Compensation Committee Interlocks and Insider Participation

Upon consummation of the merger and financial restructuring and the public offering, our compensation committee will consist of Messrs.

All Prior to the merger and financial restructuring and the public offering, our executive committee, comprised of Messrs.

Nelson, Nickell and Roderick, served as our compensation committee. Mr. Nelson has served as our president, chief executive officer and chief operating officer since February 1, 1997. Mr. Nelson s compensation is described below under Executive Compensation and his equity ownership is described under Holding Stock Option Plan, Stock Incentive Plan and Security Ownership of Beneficial Owners and Management. Certain arrangements between Mr. Nelson and Holding and EMJ concerning his equity ownership and compensation are described below under Certain Relationships and Related Party Transactions. Mr. Nickell is president, chief executive officer and a director of Kelso & Companies, Inc., the general partner of Kelso. Mr. Nickell is also a general partner of Kelso Partners II, L.P., or KP I, Kelso Partners III, L.P., or KP III, and Kelso Partners IV, L.P., or KP IV, which are the general partners of KIA I, KIA III-EMJ and KIA IV, respectively. Affiliates of Kelso beneficially own shares of capital stock of Holding. See Security Ownership of Beneficial Owners and Management at page 136. KIA IV holds indebtedness of Holding representing approximately \$257.1 million as of September 29, 2004. Mr. Nickell shares investment power and voting power with respect to shares of Holding common stock and will share investment and voting power with respect to shares of our common stock that will be held by KIA I, KIA III-EMJ and KIA IV upon consummation of the merger and financial restructuring and the public offering. Mr. Roderick is a director of Kelso & Companies, Inc. As described above, we have granted Mr. Roderick options and paid him an annual cash retainer in consideration for his service as a director, chairman of the executive committee and chairman of the board.

On December 16, 2004, Holding agreed (1) to pay Mr. Roderick a bonus of \$202,640 as compensation for his service as chairman of the Holding and EMJ boards of directors, and (2) to adjust the exercise price and the number of shares of Holding common stock that can be purchased pursuant to options to purchase 100,000 shares of Holding common stock that he received as compensation for his service as chairman of the boards of directors of Holding and EMJ to offset the reduction in the appraised value of the Holding common stock resulting from the change in valuation methodology required by the amended consent order. After the adjustment described in the preceding sentence, Mr. Roderick will hold options to purchase 176,410 shares of Holding common stock at a weighted-average exercise price of \$3.32.

In connection with the formation of EMJ, we agreed to pay Kelso an annual fee of \$1,250,000 for financial advisory services and to reimburse it for out-of-pocket expenses incurred in connection with rendering these services. However, Kelso waived this annual fee for fiscal years 2000, 2001, 2002, 2003 and 2004. Amounts paid to Kelso in fiscal years 2000, 2001, 2002, 2003 and 2004 for reimbursement of expenses incurred by directors designated by KIA IV in attending our board meetings were not significant. No amounts have been paid to date in fiscal 2005 to Kelso pursuant to this agreement. We have agreed to pay Kelso a transaction and termination fee of \$6,250,000, as compensation for services rendered in connection with the merger and financial restructuring and the public offering and to terminate EMJ s obligation to pay fees to Kelso under its financial advisory agreement with Kelso. Kelso s obligations to provide financial advisory services and our obligations for reimbursement of expenses and indemnification of Kelso will survive.

See Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management and Certain Relationships and Related Party Transactions beginning on pages 136 and 139, respectively, for a description of (1) certain agreements entered into among us, Kelso & Company, L.P. and the Kelso funds, (2) the Kelso funds interest in the merger and financial restructuring and (3) the Kelso funds ownership of Holding common stock.

None of our executive officers serves as a member of the board of directors or compensation committee of any other company that has one or more executive officers serving as a member of our board of directors or compensation committee.

131

Executive Compensation

The following table sets forth compensation for the three fiscal years ended March 31, 2004 for our chief executive officer and our four most highly compensated executive officers as of March 31, 2004. Our officers receive no additional compensation for their services as officers of Holding.

Summary Compensation Table

		Annual Compens	sation	Compensation Awards		
Name and Principal Position	Year	Salary	Bonus(1)	Securities Underlying Stock Options(2)		ll Other pensation(3)
Maurice S. Nelson, Jr.						
President, Chief Executive Officer and Chief Operating Officer	2004 2003 2002	\$ 551,326 555,762 555,762	\$ 452,504 374,388 270,738		\$	55,500 52,049 47,150
Frank D. Travetto Vice President, Merchandising	2004 2003 2002	245,987 244,460 238,070	172,491 142,714 99,659	10,000 10,000		25,769 25,273 23,233
Kenneth L. Henry Executive Vice President	2004 2003 2002	245,171 235,442 226,978	177,187 136,161 94,921	10,000 10,000		28,714 27,355 25,397
R. Neil McCaffery Executive Vice President	2004 2003 2002	223,316 220,960 212,600	156,650 129,608 90,182	10,000 10,000		22,440 20,418 18,220
James D. Hoffman Vice President	2004 2003 2002	224,975 222,497 214,137	156,650 129,608 90,182	10,000 10,000		21,552 19,588 17,313

⁽¹⁾ Amounts reflect cash compensation earned by executive officers in each of the fiscal years presented, including amounts received after fiscal year end or deferred at the election of those officers. Bonus amounts include a cash bonus payable pursuant to our management incentive compensation plan, which became effective April 1, 1997.

⁽²⁾ Holding has granted executive officers options to purchase shares of Holding Common Stock at their fair market value on the date of grant. These options will become exercisable for shares of our common stock at the same exercise price upon consummation of the financial restructuring.

⁽³⁾ Amounts shown include allocations to the accounts of each of the named officers of contributions made by us to Holding s stock bonus plan and to our 401(a)(17) Supplemental Contribution Plan (401(a)(17) Plan) and of premiums paid by us for long-term disability and life insurance policies. The following allocations were made in fiscal 2004 for Messrs. Nelson, Travetto, Henry, McCaffery and Hoffman, respectively (1) 401(a)(17) Plan \$40,126, \$10,855, \$10,888, \$8,940 and \$8,940; (2) long term disability \$4,668, \$3,745, \$6,779, \$3,006 and \$2,318; (3) life insurance \$706, \$1,169, \$1,047, \$494 and \$294. The following allocations were made in fiscal 2003 for Messrs. Nelson, Travetto, Henry, McCaffery and Hoffman, respectively (1) stock bonus plan \$10,000, \$10,000, \$10,000, and \$10,000; (2)

401(a)(17) Plan \$36,220, \$9,261, \$8,372, \$7,483 and \$7,483; (3) long term disability \$4,509, \$3,745, \$6,779, \$2,133 and \$1,623; (4) life insurance \$1,603 \$2,808, \$2,731, \$994 and \$597. The following allocations were made in fiscal 2002 for Messrs. Nelson, Travetto, Henry, McCaffery and Hoffman, respectively (1) stock bonus plan \$8,500, \$8,500, \$8,500, and \$8,500; (2) 401(a)(17) Plan \$32,538, \$8,180, \$7,387, \$6,593 and \$6,593; (3) long term disability \$4,509, \$3,745, \$6,779, \$2,133 and \$1,623; (4) life insurance \$1,603, \$2,808, \$2,731, \$994 and \$597. The amounts in respect of life insurance represent the estimated value of the premiums paid by us on certain disability and life insurance policies covering each executive.

132

Some of the life insurance policies are managed on a split-dollar basis and we will receive the premiums we paid from the proceeds of such insurance. In such cases the amount of the other compensation attributed to the executive was calculated by treating the premiums paid by us as a demand loan, and the amount of compensation is equal to the imputed interest expense on the cumulative outstanding premiums paid by us, assuming an interest rate equal to the short-term federal funds rate, from time to time.

Option Grants in Fiscal 2004

Neither we nor Holding granted stock options to our chief executive officer or our next four most highly compensated executive officers during our fiscal year ended March 31, 2004.

Fiscal 2004 Option Values

The following table sets forth certain information concerning the value of unexercised stock options held as of March 31, 2004 by our chief executive officer and our next four most highly compensated executive officers. None of these individuals exercised stock options in fiscal 2004.

Fiscal Year-End Option Values

	Number of Securities	
	Underlying Options	Value of Unexercised In-the-Money Options
Name	at Fiscal Year-End (all exercisable)	at Fiscal Year-End (all exercisable)(1)
Maurice S. Nelson, Jr.	1,320,000	
Frank D. Travetto	95,000	
Kenneth L. Henry	95,000	
R. Neil McCaffery	95,000	
James D. Hoffman	95,000	

⁽¹⁾ The value of unexercised in-the-money options is based on an assumed initial public offering price of \$ the range described on the cover of the public offering preliminary prospectus.

per share, the mid-point of

Holding Stock Option Plan

In fiscal 1997, Holding s stock option plan was adopted. Our board of directors and executive committee, which was comprised of Messrs. Roderick, Nelson and Nickell, has been authorized to grant options to purchase Holding common stock under the Holding stock option plan. As of November 30, 2004, there were options outstanding to purchase an aggregate of 2,091,000 shares of Holding common stock at a weighted average exercise price of \$5.83 per share, all of which were fully vested.

Concurrently with the amendment of the consent order Holding determined to amend the Holding stock option plan to offset the adverse effects caused by the change in the methodology used to determine the appraised value of the Holding common stock. Pursuant to the amendment, the number of shares of Holding common stock issuable upon the exercise of each option was increased by a factor of 1.7641, and the exercise price of each option was reduced by multiplying the original exercise price by a factor of 0.5569. The number of shares available for grant under the Holding stock option plan was increased to 4,000,000. After giving effect to the amendment and the cashing out of some of Mr. Nelson s options as described below, there are options to purchase 3,053,662 shares of Holding common stock issued and outstanding at a weighted average exercise price of \$3.07 per share. These options, as adjusted, will be exercisable for an equal number of shares of our common stock at the same exercise prices upon consummation of the merger and financial restructuring. The stock options were granted at not less than 100% of the fair market value of Holding common stock on the date of grant and are generally exercisable for a period not exceeding ten years.

Prior to the amendment of the Holding stock option plan, Holding paid Mr. Nelson \$3,006,000 in consideration for the cancellation of options to purchase 360,000 shares of Holding common stock. The consideration paid by Holding was equal to the difference between \$13.76, the appraised value of the Holding common stock as of March 31, 2004, and \$5.41, the exercise price of the stock options for the 360,000 options that were cancelled. Holding will not grant any more options under the Holding stock option plan after consummation of the merger and financial restructuring. Our compensation committee will administer this plan with respect to the outstanding options following consummation of this offering.

Stock Incentive Plan

On December 16, 2004, we adopted a 2004 omnibus stock incentive plan, or EMJ s new stock incentive plan. Our officers, employees, consultants and directors who are not employees will be eligible to participate in this plan. The purpose of this plan is to attract and retain persons eligible to participate in the plan, motivate participants to achieve our long-term goals and further align the interests of participants with those of our stockholders. Under this plan, new shares of common stock will be available for issuance as awards to participants. Shares of EMJ common stock available for issuance under EMJ s new stock incentive plan will be in an aggregate number equal to 5% of the total number of shares of EMJ common stock issued and outstanding immediately after giving effect to the consummation of the merger and financial restructuring and public offering. EMJ s new stock incentive plan will permit grants of the following types of awards:

non-qualified and incentive stock options;
stock appreciation rights;
restricted stock; and
other stock-based awards.

Our compensation committee will administer the stock incentive plan and will have broad discretion to select the persons to whom awards may be granted, as well as the type, size and terms and conditions of each award, including when awards become exercisable or otherwise vest and the exercise price for options granted. To date, no awards have been granted under EMJ s new stock incentive plan. After the consummation of the financial restructuring and offering, we intend to file a registration statement on form S-8 covering the shares of our common stock reserved for issuance under EMJ s new stock incentive plan and under the Holding stock option plan.

Stock Bonus Plan

Holding maintains a stock bonus plan for our nonunion employees who meet certain service requirements. See Stock Bonus Plan at page 85 for a discussion of the particular provisions of Holding s stock bonus plan. At November 30, 2004, shares of Holding s series A preferred stock, series B preferred stock and Holding common stock owned by the plan totaled 35,208, 28,697, and 2,506,309 shares, respectively. Series B preferred stock shares include dividends accrued for each of the four quarters of fiscal 2004. For the fiscal years ended March 31, 2002, 2003 and 2004 and the six months ended September 29, 2004, contributions payable to the plan totaled \$2.8 million, \$2.8 million, \$2.8 million and \$4.9 million (including \$2.1 million attributed to 2005), respectively. The contributions payable for fiscal years 2002 and 2003 have been paid in cash and the 2004 contribution was paid in cash in October 2004. Upon the closing of the merger and financial restructuring and the public offering, however, participants will no longer have the right to exercise their put options with respect to the common stock allocated to their accounts. Upon consummation of the merger and financial restructuring, (1) the Holding common stock allocated to participants accounts will be converted into

shares of our common stock, (2) the series A preferred stock allocated to participants accounts will be converted into shares of our common stock and exchanged for cash and (3) the Holding series B preferred stock will be converted into shares of our common stock and cash.

134

Supplemental Plan

In fiscal 1996, we adopted a supplemental contribution plan, for contributions not allowed under Holding s stock bonus plan pursuant to limitations of Sections 401(a)(17) and 415 of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended. Participants in the supplemental plan include certain highly compensated employees and other employees who are not eligible to participate in the stock bonus plan. Contributions payable, vesting and distributions under the supplemental plan are comparable with those under the stock bonus plan. Contributions under the supplemental plan are made in cash and are held in an irrevocable trust. For the fiscal years ended March 31, 2002, 2003 and 2004, contributions payable totaled \$0.1 million, \$0.1 million and \$0.1 million, respectively.

Management Incentive Compensation Plan

Effective April 1, 1997, we adopted a management incentive compensation plan. The incentive plan provides for payment of cash bonuses to senior executives and other key management employees based on the achievement of certain operating profit and cash flow objectives determined by our board of directors or, after the consummation of the merger and financial restructuring and the public offering, our compensation committee. Bonuses awarded are based on a sliding scale based on the percentage of the objectives achieved. No bonus is payable unless at least 80% of the objectives are achieved, and the maximum bonus would be awarded for achievement of 150% or more of the established objectives. In addition, our chief executive officer may award bonuses from a discretionary pool for exemplary service. The board of directors ratified bonuses pursuant to the incentive plan aggregating \$4.0 million in fiscal 2002, \$5.6 million in fiscal 2003 and \$6.7 million in fiscal 2004.

Public Offering Bonus Plan

On December 16, 2004, we adopted a bonus plan which provides that, as soon as practicable after, and conditioned upon consummation of, the merger and financial restructuring and the public offering, EMJ will pay a taxable bonus to its employees on the closing date who are also participants in the stock bonus plan in an aggregate amount of \$7.5 million, to be allocated to such employees in the proportion that the number of shares of Holding common stock allocated to an employee s stock bonus plan account on December 16, 2004 bears to the aggregate number of shares of Holding common stock allocated to the stock bonus plan accounts of all such employees, which bonus is expected to be approximately \$3.27 per share of Holding common stock.

135

SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS AND MANAGEMENT

Our Common Stock

All of our issued and outstanding voting stock, consisting of 128 shares of common stock, is owned by Holding.

Capital Stock of Holding

The following table describes the beneficial ownership of shares of Holding common stock and series A preferred stock as of November 30, 2004, by all stockholders of Holding known to be beneficial owners of more than 5% of any such class, by each of our directors and each of our executive officers named in the Summary Compensation Table and by all directors and executive officers as a group as determined in accordance with Rule 13d-3(i) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, and adjusted for the amendment of the Holding stock option plan increasing the number of shares subject to stock options. As of November 30, 2004, 28,718 shares of series B preferred stock of Holding were issued, of which 28,697 were owned by the stock bonus plan. The table also reflects the pro forma ownership of EMJ after giving effect to the consummation of the merger and financial restructuring and the public offering.

				Percentage of		
Name and Address of Beneficial	Number of Shares of	Percentage of Shares of Holding Common Stock	Number of Shares of Series A	Shares of Series A Preferred Stock	Pro Forma Number of Shares of EMJ Common	Pro Forma Percentage of Shares of EMJ Common Stock
Owner	Holding Common Stock	Outstanding(a)	Preferred Stock	Outstanding(b)	Stock(c)	Outstanding(d)
Kelso Investment Associates, IV,						
L.P.(e)	9,462,475(f)	66.7%(f)	0	0.0%		
KIA III Earle M. Jorgensen, L.P.(e		15.1%	0	0.0%		
Joseph S. Schuchert(e)	11,167,215(f)(g)	78.7%(f)(g)	24,519(h)	40.9%(h)		
Frank T. Nickell(e)	11,187,714(f)(g)	78.8%(f)(g)	24,519(h)	40.9%(h)		
Michael B. Goldberg(e)	9,462,475(f)(g)	66.7%(f)(g)	0	0.0%		
George E. Matelich(e)	11,172,215(f)(g)	78.7%(f)(g)	24,519(h)	40.9%(h)		
Thomas R. Wall, IV(e)	11,172,215(f)(g)	78.7%(f)(g)	24,519(h)	40.9%(h)		
David I. Wahrhaftig(e)	11,167,215(f)(g)	78.7%(f)(g)	0	0.0%		
Frank K. Bynum(e)	11,167,215(f)(g)	78.7%(f)(g)	0	0.0%		
Philip E. Berney(e)	9,462,475(f)(g)	66.7%(f)(g)	0	0.0%		
Maurice S. Nelson, Jr.	1,320,000(i)	11.7%(i)	0	0.0%		
Frank D. Travetto	97,000(j)	0.9%(j)	0	0.0%		
Kenneth L. Henry	104,000(k)	0.9%(k)	704	1.2%		
R. Neil McCaffery	90,000(1)	0.8%(1)	0	0.0%		
James D. Hoffman	85,000(m)	0.8%(m)	0	0.0%		
David M. Roderick	134,000(n)	1.2%(n)	0	0.0%		
John Rutledge(o)	45,000(p)	0.4%(p)	0	0.0%		
William A. Marquard(q)	50,000(r)	0.4%(r)	0	0.0%		
Earl L. Mason	0	0.0%	0	0.0%		
Earle M. Jorgensen Company						
Stock Bonus Plan	2,484,298(s)	22.1%(s)	34,270(s)	57.1%(s)		
All directors and executive officers						
of the Company as a group	2,196,499(t)	19.5%(t)	704(u)	1.2%(u)		

(a) The percentage of shares of Holding common stock outstanding for KIA IV and Messrs. Schuchert, Nickell, Wall, Matelich, Goldberg, Wahrhaftig, Bynum and Berney was calculated assuming the total outstanding shares of Holding common stock was 14,191,227, (i) including shares of Holding common stock which would be outstanding assuming KIA IV exercised the two warrants referred to in note (d) below in succession and there have been no other dilution events prior to such exercise and 11,616 shares of Holding common stock owned by KP II, and (ii) excluding 2,091,000 shares subject to stock options as of November 30, 2004. The percentage of shares of Holding common stock outstanding for all other holders was calculated assuming the total outstanding shares of Holding common stock was 11,253,312, excluding shares subject to stock options and shares issuable upon the exercise of the warrants held by KIA IV as of November 30, 2004. The number of shares outstanding does not include 2,496,703 additional shares of Holding common stock to be issued in connection with the special contribution and 962,662 additional

136

Table of Contents

- shares of Holding common stock subject to stock options after the amendment of Holding s stock option plan approved on December 16, 2004.
- (b) The percentage of shares of series A preferred stock outstanding was calculated assuming the total outstanding shares of series A preferred stock was 59,971, excluding 187,575 shares of series A preferred stock held in the Holding treasury as of November 30, 2004.
- (c) The pro forma number of shares of EMJ common stock beneficially held by individuals or entities as referenced in this column was calculated as of November 30, 2004 assuming, as applicable, (1) each share of Holding s common stock was converted into shares of EMJ s common stock; (2) each share of Holding s series B preferred stock was converted into shares of EMJ s common stock and cash; (3) each share of series A preferred stock was converted into shares of EMJ s common stock and cash; (4) the two outstanding warrants held by KIA IV to purchase shares of Holding common stock were exchanged for shares of EMJ common stock; and (v) Holding notes in the aggregate amount of \$257,069,318 were exchanged for an aggregate of shares of EMJ common stock and cash.
- (d) The proforma percentage of shares of EMJ common stock outstanding for all holders was calculated assuming all of the capital stock and warrants of Holding and the Holding notes were converted or exchanged as described in note (c), assuming that the 2,091,000 shares subject to Holding stock options, as of November 30, 2004 are issued and outstanding and assuming that shares of EMJ common stock are issued in the merger and financial restructuring and the public offering. We have not included the shares of EMJ common stock to be issued in connection with the special contribution.
- (e) The business address for such person(s) is c/o Kelso & Company, 320 Park Avenue, 24th Floor, New York, New York, 10022.
- (f) Includes 11,616 shares of common stock owned by KEP II.
- (g) Messrs. Schuchert, Nickell, Wall, Matelich, Goldberg, Wahrhaftig, Bynum and Berney may be deemed to share beneficial ownership of shares of common stock owned of record by (1) KIA IV and an affiliated entity by virtue of their status as general partners of KP IV, the general partner of KIA IV, and such affiliate, (2) except for Messers. Goldberg and Mr. Berney, KIA III-EMJ by virtue of their status as general partners of KP III, the general partner of KIA III-EMJ and (3) except Messrs. Goldberg, Wahrhaftig, Bynum and Berney, by KIA by virtue of their status as general partners of KP I, the general partner of KIA I. Messrs. Schuchert, Nickell, Wall, Matelich, Goldberg, Wahrhaftig, Bynum and Berney share investment and voting power with respect to securities owned by the Kelso funds of which they are general partners. Messrs. Schuchert, Nickell, Wall, Matelich, Goldberg, Wahrhaftig, Bynum and Berney disclaim beneficial ownership of the shares of common stock owned by the Kelso funds.
- (h) Messrs. Schuchert, Nickell, Wall and Matelich may be deemed to share beneficial ownership of shares of Series A Preferred Stock or EMJ common stock owned of record by KIA I by virtue of their status as general partners of KP I, the general partner of KIA I. Messrs. Schuchert, Nickell, Wall and Matelich disclaim beneficial ownership of the shares of Series A Preferred Stock or EMJ common stock owned by KIA I.
- (i) Represents shares of common stock issuable upon exercise of stock options that are exercisable as of November 30, 2004.
- (j) Includes shares of common stock issuable upon exercise of stock options that are exercisable as of November 30, 2004.
- (k) Includes shares of common stock issuable upon exercise of stock options that are exercisable as of November 30, 2004.
- (1) Includes shares of common stock issuable upon exercise of stock options that are exercisable as of November 30, 2004.
- (m) Represents shares of common stock issuable upon exercise of stock options that are exercisable as of November 30, 2004.
- (n) Includes shares of common stock issuable upon exercise of stock options that are exercisable as of November 30, 2004.

137

Table of Contents

- (o) The business address for Dr. Rutledge is 29 Horseshoe Road, Cos Cob, Connecticut, 06807.
- (p) Includes shares of common stock issuable upon exercise of stock options that are exercisable as of November 30, 2004.
- (q) The business address of Mr. Marquard is 2199 Maysville Road, Carlyle, Kentucky 40311.
- (r) Includes shares of common stock issuable upon exercise of stock options that are exercisable as of November 30, 2004.
- (s) Excludes 22,011 shares of common stock held by Holding s stock bonus plan and 939 shares of series A preferred stock held by our stock bonus plan in directed accounts that are deemed to be beneficially owned by any of the directors or executive officers or other of our employees.
- (t) Excludes (1) 11,167,215 shares of common stock held by Kelso funds that may be deemed to be beneficially owned by Messrs. Nickell and Wahrhaftig, and (2) shares held by Holding s stock bonus plan, except for shares held in directed accounts that may be deemed to be beneficially owned by any of the directors and our executive officers.
- (u) Excludes (1) 24,519 shares of series A preferred stock held by KIA that may be deemed to be beneficially owned by Mr. Nickell, and (2) 34,270 shares held by Holding s stock bonus plan, except for shares held in directed account that may be deemed to be beneficially owned by any of our executive officers.

138

CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACTIONS

Certain of Holding s stockholders, directors, executive officers and employees have interests in the merger and financial restructuring that are different from, or in addition to, the interests that apply to our stockholders generally, and that may be regarded as significant in evaluating the merger and financial restructuring proposal.

Kelso

As of November 30, 2004, KIA IV, the other Kelso funds and other Kelso affiliates, including Mr. Nickell, held 8,259,799 shares of Holding common stock, which represented 73.4% of the issued and outstanding shares of Holding common stock, and 24,519 shares of Holding series A preferred stock, which represented 40.9% of the issued and outstanding shares of Holding series A preferred stock. The Kelso funds have agreed to vote all of the Holding common stock owned by them in favor of the merger agreement and the merger described above. As of September 29, 2004, KIA IV also held approximately \$257.1 million of the Holding notes (including accrued but unpaid interest) and warrants to purchase 2,937,915 shares of Holding common stock, which represented all of the outstanding Holding notes and all of the outstanding Holding warrants. Upon consummation of the merger and financial restructuring and the offering, the Kelso funds will own shares of our common stock, representing % of our issued and outstanding common stock, and receive \$ in cash, assuming an initial public offering price of \$ per share, the mid-point of the range shown on the cover of the public offering preliminary prospectus, and net proceeds of the offering of \$ (as set forth under Use of Proceeds in the public offering preliminary prospectus).

In connection with the formation of EMJ, we agreed to pay Kelso an annual fee of \$1,250,000 for financial advisory services and to reimburse it for out-of-pocket expenses incurred in connection with rendering these services. However, Kelso waived this annual fee for fiscal years 2000, 2001, 2002, 2003 and 2004. Amounts paid to Kelso in fiscal years 2000, 2001, 2002, 2003 and 2004 for reimbursement of expenses incurred by directors designated by KIA IV in attending our board meetings were not significant. No amounts have been paid to date in fiscal 2005 to Kelso pursuant to this agreement. We have agreed to pay Kelso a fee of \$6,250,000 to terminate EMJ s obligation to pay fees to Kelso under its financial advisory agreement with Kelso. Kelso s obligations to provide financial advisory services and our obligations for reimbursement of expenses and indemnification of Kelso will survive.

Two of our directors, Messrs. Nickell and Wahrhaftig, are general partners of partnerships that control KIA IV and KIA III, Kelso affiliates that collectively hold a substantial portion of Holding s common stock, all of Holding s indebtedness and the warrants to purchase Holding common stock as described above. Mr. Nickell is a general partner of KP I, KP III and KP IV. Mr. Nickell is also president, chief executive officer and a director of Kelso & Companies, Inc., which is the general partner of Kelso & Company, L.P. Mr. Wahrhaftig is a general partner of KP III and KP IV and a managing director and a member of the board of directors of Kelso & Companies, Inc. KP I, KP III and KP IV are the general partners of KIA, KIA III-EMJ and KIA IV, respectively. Messrs. Nickell and Wahrhaftig are directors of Holding and EMJ and will share investment and voting power with respect to shares of our common stock that will be held by KIA, KIA III-EMJ and KIA IV upon consummation of the merger and financial restructuring and the public offering. Each of Messrs. Roderick, Marquard and Rutledge is one of the nominees of KIA IV on our board of directors and beneficially owns the shares of Holding common stock set forth in the Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management beginning at page 136. Messrs. Roderick and Marquard are members of the board of directors of Kelso & Companies, Inc.

Pursuant to Holding s stockholders agreement among Holding, KIA III-EMJ, KEP II, KIA IV, and certain other Holding stockholders and the terms of the Holding series A preferred stock, Mr. Nelson was designated by the management stockholders as a director, Mr. Mason was designated by the holders of Holding series A preferred stock and the remaining directors were designated by KIA IV. Holding s stockholders agreement also grants put rights to certain management stockholders whereby, in certain circumstances, select stockholders may

Table of Contents

sell their shares of common stock to Holding, or should Holding so determine, to Holding s stock bonus plan, for fair market value. In addition, the agreement places certain restrictions on the sale of shares of Holding common stock to third parties by stockholders party to the agreement. Holding s stockholders agreement will terminate upon consummation of the offering and the series A preferred stock will be exchanged for cash and EMJ common stock pursuant to the merger and financial restructuring.

Prior to the consummation of the merger and financial restructuring, we will enter into an agreement with the Kelso funds and Mr. Nelson pursuant to which we will provide the Kelso funds and Mr. Nelson with certain demand and piggyback registration rights with respect to their shares of our common stock, including the shares (shares if the underwriters over-allotment option in the public offering is exercised in full) of our common stock held by them immediately following the consummation of the merger and financial restructuring and the offering. These demand and piggyback registration rights will be exercisable upon the expiration of the lock-up agreements entered into by the Kelso funds and Mr. Nelson in connection with the public offering. Pursuant to the demand registration rights, the Kelso funds may require us to prepare and file a registration statement under the Securities Act of 1933, at our expense, covering all or a portion of their shares.

We have also agreed with the Kelso funds that for so long as the Kelso funds own in excess of 20% of our issued and outstanding common stock, the Kelso funds will be entitled to designate two directors, and for so long as the Kelso funds own in excess of 10% of our issued and outstanding common stock, the Kelso funds will be entitled to designate one director, to be included in the slate of directors nominated by us for election to our board of directors in our annual proxy statement.

Maurice S. Nelson, Jr., EMJ s Chief Executive Officer

EMJ has paid Mr. Nelson a one time bonus of \$3.5 million for his services to EMJ in 2004, including, without limitation, his efforts to improve the operating performance of EMJ and his efforts to implement the merger and financial restructuring and the public offering. In addition, on December 16, 2004, Holding paid Mr. Nelson a cash payment of \$3,006,000 (equal to the difference between the appraised value of the Holding common stock as of March 31, 2004 of \$13.76 and the exercise price of \$5.41 per share) in consideration of the cancellation of options to purchase 360,000 shares of Holding common stock. Concurrently with the amendment of the consent order and after the buyout of Mr. Nelson s options, Holding amended its stock option plan to adjust the exercise price and the number of shares of Holding common stock that can be purchased pursuant to each option grant to offset the reduction in the appraised value of the Holding common stock resulting from the change in valuation methodology required by the amended consent order. As a result of this change, Mr. Nelson s options to purchase 960,000 shares of Holding common stock at \$5.41 per share were converted into options to purchase 1,693,538 shares of Holding s common stock at \$3.07 per share. In connection with the merger and financial restructuring, all of the issued and outstanding options to purchase shares of Holding common stock will be converted into options to purchase an equal number of shares of EMJ common stock at the same exercise price.

Mr. Nelson has agreed with EMJ that, until after the second anniversary of the closing of the public offering, he will continue his service as President and Chief Executive Officer of EMJ and he will not sell any shares of EMJ common stock acquired by him upon conversion of Holding capital stock in the merger and financial restructuring or by the exercise of Holding stock options that were converted in the merger and financial restructuring or granted in connection with the consummation of the public offering. In consideration of Mr. Nelson s agreement to and compliance with the transfer restrictions described above and Mr. Nelson s agreement to continue his service as President and Chief Executive Officer of EMJ, EMJ has agreed to pay Mr. Nelson a stay bonus of \$3,000,000 and to extend the exercise period of his outstanding stock options two years to January 31, 2009. See Certain Relationships and Related Transactions, at page 139.

140

Messrs. Roderick, Marquard, Rutledge and Mason

Messrs. Roderick, Marquard and Rutledge hold options to purchase 176,410, 70,564 and 70,564 shares of Holding common stock, respectively, at weighted-average exercise prices of \$3.32, \$3.39 and \$3.39, respectively (in Mr. Roderick's case, after the adjustment described in the last sentence of this paragraph). Upon consummation of the merger and financial restructuring, the options held by Messrs. Roderick, Marquard and Rutledge will be converted into an equal number of options to purchase EMJ common stock at the same exercise prices as the Holding stock options held by each of them. Upon pricing of the public offering, each of Messrs. Roderick, Marquard, Rutledge and Mason will receive a grant of options to purchase 10,000 shares of our common stock at an exercise price equal to the offering price. Such options will vest in full on the six month anniversary of the date of grant. On December 16, 2004, Holding agreed (1) to pay Mr. Roderick a bonus of \$203,000 as compensation for his service as chairman of the Holding and EMJ boards of directors, and (2) to adjust the exercise price and the number of shares of Holding common stock that can be purchased pursuant to options to purchase 100,000 shares of Holding common stock that he received as compensation for his service as chairman of the boards of directors of Holding and EMJ to offset the reduction in the appraised value of the Holding common stock resulting from the change in valuation methodology required by the amended consent order. After the adjustment described in the preceding sentence, Mr. Roderick will hold options to purchase 176,410 shares of Holding common stock at a weighted-average exercise price of \$3.32.

Holding

We entered into a management agreement with Holding as of March 8, 1993 for Holding to provide us certain management, accounting, financial advisory and consulting services. We agreed to pay Holding a fee equal to the aggregate compensation costs incurred by Holding in providing these services plus 5% of the aggregate salaries of employees providing these services, and to reimburse Holding for its accounting, legal and other fees and expenses incurred in the ordinary course of business in providing these services. The total amount payable to Holding under the management agreement for the reimbursement of accounting, legal and other fees and expenses may not exceed \$200,000 per year. We allocated to Holding \$2,095,000 during fiscal 2004 and have not made any allocations to Holding in fiscal 2005 pursuant to the management agreement. This agreement will terminate upon consummation of the financial restructuring.

We entered into a tax allocation agreement with Holding as of March 8, 1993 to allocate between us and Holding the benefits and responsibilities of filing consolidated or combined federal, state and local income tax returns. This agreement will terminate upon consummation of the merger and financial restructuring.

LEGAL MATTERS

Katten Muchin Zavis Rosenman will pass upon the validity of the shares of common stock to be issued to Holding noteholders and stockholders in the merger and financial restructuring and certain tax consequences of the merger and financial restructuring.

EXPERTS

Our consolidated financial statements and the consolidated financial statements of Holding appearing in this proxy statement/prospectus and the related registration statement, at March 31, 2003 and 2004, and for each of the three years in the period ended March 31, 2004, have been audited by Ernst & Young LLP, independent registered public accounting firm, as set forth in their reports thereon appearing elsewhere in this

proxy statement/prospectus, and are included in reliance upon such reports given on the authority of such firm as experts in accounting and auditing.

141

WHERE YOU CAN FIND ADDITIONAL INFORMATION ABOUT US

This proxy statement/prospectus is part of a registration statement on Form S-4 we filed with the Commission. This proxy statement/prospectus does not contain all of the information contained in the registration statement and all of its exhibits and schedules. For further information about us, please see the complete registration statement. Summaries of agreements or other documents in this proxy statement/prospectus are not necessarily complete. Please refer to the exhibits to the registration statement for complete copies of these documents.

You may read and copy this registration statement and all of its exhibits and schedules, our registration statement on Form S-1 filed in connection with the offering, as well as reports we have filed with the Commission, at the Commission public reference room at 450 Fifth Street, N.W., Washington, DC 20549. You may obtain information on the operation of the Commission public reference room in Washington, DC by calling the Commission at 1-800-SEC-0330. This registration statement, our registration statement on Form S-1, and reports we have filed with the Commission, are also available from the Commission s web site at http://www.sec.gov, which contains reports, proxy and information statements and other information regarding issuers that file electronically.

In addition, we make available, free of charge, on or through our web site (http://www.emjmetals.com) our annual report on Form 10-K, quarterly reports on Form 10-Q, current reports on Form 8-K and, if applicable, amendments to those reports as soon as reasonably practicable after we electronically file this material with, or furnish it to, the Commission.

142

INDEX TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

	Page
EARLE M. JORGENSEN COMPANY	
Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm	F-2
Consolidated Balance Sheets at March 31, 2003 and 2004, and September 29, 2004 (unaudited)	F-3
Consolidated Statements of Income for the years ended March 31, 2002, 2003 and 2004 and the six months ended September 29, 2003	
(unaudited) and September 29, 2004 (unaudited)	F-4
Consolidated Statements of Stockholder s Equity for the years ended March 31, 2002, 2003 and 2004 and the six months ended	
September 29, 2004 (unaudited)	F-5
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for the years ended March 31, 2002, 2003 and 2004 and the six months ended September 29,	
2003 (unaudited) and September 29, 2004 (unaudited)	F-6
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements	F-7
Schedule II Valuation and Qualifying Accounts and Reserves	II-6
EARLE M. JORGENSEN HOLDING COMPANY, INC.	
Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm	F-29
Consolidated Balance Sheets at March 31, 2003 and 2004 and September 29, 2004 (unaudited)	F-30
Consolidated Statements of Operations for the years March 31, 2002, 2003 and 2004, and the six months ended September 29, 2003	
(unaudited) and September 29, 2004 (unaudited)	F-31
Consolidated Statements of Preferred and Common Stock Subject to Redemption in Certain Circumstances, Series A Preferred Stock,	
Series B Preferred Stock, Common Stock, Capital in Excess of Par Value, Stock Subscribed, Reclassification to Value Preferred and	
Common Stock Subject to Redemption in Certain Circumstances to its Redemption Price, Accumulated Other Comprehensive (Loss)	
Income, Accumulated Deficit and Treasury Stock for the years ended March 31, 2002, 2003, and 2004 and the six months ended	
September 29, 2004 (unaudited).	F-32
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for the fiscal years ended March 31, 2002, 2003 and 2004 and six months ended September 29,	
2003 (unaudited) and September 29, 2004 (unaudited)	F-34
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements	F-35

F-1

REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

The Board of Directors and Stockholder

Earle M. Jorgensen Company

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Earle M. Jorgensen Company as of March 31, 2003 and 2004, and the related consolidated statements of income, stockholder s equity, and cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended March 31, 2004. These financial statements are the responsibility of the Company s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements and schedule based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States). Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also includes assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the consolidated financial position of Earle M. Jorgensen Company at March 31, 2003 and 2004, and the consolidated results of its operations and its cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended March 31, 2004 in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States.

/s/ ERNST & YOUNG LLP

Orange County, California

May 13, 2004

except for Note 9, as to which the date is

June 15, 2004

F-2

EARLE M. JORGENSEN COMPANY

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

 $(dollars\ in\ thousands,\ except\ share\ and\ per\ share\ data)$

ASSETS Current assets: Cash and cash equivalents \$ 20,030 \$ 15,528 \$ 11,557 Accounts receivable, less allowance for doubtful accounts 97,292 133,092 179,860 Inventories 213,590 225,248 285,844 Other current assets 6,402 7,655 8,550 Total current assets 337,314 381,523 485,811 Net property, plant and equipment, at cost 113,037 112,190 121,182 Cash surrender value of life insurance policies 31,007 34,689 46,155 Debt issue costs, net of accumulated amortization 8,232 6,909 6,249 Other assets 1,151 1,169 1,771 Total assets \$490,741 \$536,480 \$61,168
ASSETS Current assets: Cash and cash equivalents \$ 20,030 \$ 15,528 \$ 11,557 Accounts receivable, less allowance for doubtful accounts 97,292 133,092 179,860 Inventories 213,590 225,248 285,844 Other current assets 6,402 7,655 8,550 Total current assets 337,314 381,523 485,811 Net property, plant and equipment, at cost 113,037 112,190 121,182 Cash surrender value of life insurance policies 31,007 34,689 46,155 Debt issue costs, net of accumulated amortization 8,232 6,909 6,249 Other assets 1,151 1,169 1,771
Current assets: \$ 20,030 \$ 15,528 \$ 11,557 Accounts receivable, less allowance for doubtful accounts 97,292 133,092 179,860 Inventories 213,590 225,248 285,844 Other current assets 6,402 7,655 8,550 Total current assets 337,314 381,523 485,811 Net property, plant and equipment, at cost 113,037 112,190 121,182 Cash surrender value of life insurance policies 31,007 34,689 46,155 Debt issue costs, net of accumulated amortization 8,232 6,909 6,249 Other assets 1,151 1,169 1,771
Cash and cash equivalents \$ 20,030 \$ 15,528 \$ 11,557 Accounts receivable, less allowance for doubtful accounts 97,292 133,092 179,860 Inventories 213,590 225,248 285,844 Other current assets 6,402 7,655 8,550 Total current assets 337,314 381,523 485,811 Net property, plant and equipment, at cost 113,037 112,190 121,182 Cash surrender value of life insurance policies 31,007 34,689 46,155 Debt issue costs, net of accumulated amortization 8,232 6,909 6,249 Other assets 1,151 1,169 1,771
Accounts receivable, less allowance for doubtful accounts 97,292 133,092 179,860 Inventories 213,590 225,248 285,844 Other current assets 6,402 7,655 8,550 Total current assets 337,314 381,523 485,811 Net property, plant and equipment, at cost 113,037 112,190 121,182 Cash surrender value of life insurance policies 31,007 34,689 46,155 Debt issue costs, net of accumulated amortization 8,232 6,909 6,249 Other assets 1,151 1,169 1,771
Inventories 213,590 225,248 285,844 Other current assets 6,402 7,655 8,550 Total current assets 337,314 381,523 485,811 Net property, plant and equipment, at cost 113,037 112,190 121,182 Cash surrender value of life insurance policies 31,007 34,689 46,155 Debt issue costs, net of accumulated amortization 8,232 6,909 6,249 Other assets 1,151 1,169 1,771
Other current assets 6,402 7,655 8,550 Total current assets 337,314 381,523 485,811 Net property, plant and equipment, at cost 113,037 112,190 121,182 Cash surrender value of life insurance policies 31,007 34,689 46,155 Debt issue costs, net of accumulated amortization 8,232 6,909 6,249 Other assets 1,151 1,169 1,771
Total current assets 337,314 381,523 485,811 Net property, plant and equipment, at cost 113,037 112,190 121,182 Cash surrender value of life insurance policies 31,007 34,689 46,155 Debt issue costs, net of accumulated amortization 8,232 6,909 6,249 Other assets 1,151 1,169 1,771
Net property, plant and equipment, at cost 113,037 112,190 121,182 Cash surrender value of life insurance policies 31,007 34,689 46,155 Debt issue costs, net of accumulated amortization 8,232 6,909 6,249 Other assets 1,151 1,169 1,771
Cash surrender value of life insurance policies 31,007 34,689 46,155 Debt issue costs, net of accumulated amortization 8,232 6,909 6,249 Other assets 1,151 1,169 1,771
Cash surrender value of life insurance policies 31,007 34,689 46,155 Debt issue costs, net of accumulated amortization 8,232 6,909 6,249 Other assets 1,151 1,169 1,771
Cash surrender value of life insurance policies 31,007 34,689 46,155 Debt issue costs, net of accumulated amortization 8,232 6,909 6,249 Other assets 1,151 1,169 1,771
Debt issue costs, net of accumulated amortization 8,232 6,909 6,249 Other assets 1,151 1,169 1,771
Other assets 1,151 1,169 1,771
Total assets \$490,741 \$536,480 \$ 661,168

LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDER S EQUITY
Current liabilities:
Accounts payable \$119,815 \$162,648 \$ 178,438
Accrued employee compensation and related taxes 12,430 19,207 15,895
Accrued employee benefits 14,150 12,744 14,520
Accrued interest 16,186 17,352 28,073
Other accrued liabilities 2,748 8,616 19,325
Deferred income taxes 19,450 17,517 17,517
Current portion of long-term debt 2,330 3,976 3,888
Total current liabilities 187,109 242,060 277,656
200.007 205.772
Long-term debt 328,207 305,762 345,537
Deferred income taxes 15,936 17,869 17,869
Other long-term liabilities 7,505 8,148 8,458
Commitments and contingencies
Stockholder s equity:
Preferred stock, \$.01 par value; 200 shares authorized and unissued
Common stock, \$.01 par value; 2,800 shares authorized; 128 shares issued and outstanding at March 31, 2003 and 2004 and September 29, 2004 (unaudited); shares authorized
and shares issued and outstanding, pro forma
Capital in excess of par value 35,284 29,503 29,380
Accumulated other comprehensive (loss) income

Foreign currency translation adjustment	(485)	(73)	410
Additional minimum pension liability	(3,399)	(2,625)	(2,625)
Accumulated deficit	(79,416)	(64,164)	(15,517)
Total stockholders equity (deficit)	(48,016)	(37,359)	11,648
Total liabilities and stockholders equity	\$ 490,741	\$ 536,480	\$ 661,168

See accompanying notes.

EARLE M. JORGENSEN COMPANY

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF INCOME

(dollars in thousands)

	Yea	ar Ended Mar	Six Months Ended September 29,		
	2002	2003	2004	2003	2004
		·		(unau	dited)
Revenues	\$ 895,058	\$ 919,927	\$ 1,040,367	\$ 469,516	\$ 750,906
Cost of sales	641,991	658,562	754,266	338,414	534,803
Gross profit	253,067	261,365	286,101	131,102	216,103
Expenses:		,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,		, ,	, , ,
Warehouse and delivery	124,457	127,080	135,421	64,826	76,088
Selling	31,932	32,329	38,254	16,632	25,310
General and administrative	48,324	50,868	42,954	19,412	27,346
Total expenses	204,713	210,277	216,629	100,870	128,744
Income from operations	48,354	51,088	69,472	30,232	87,359
Interest expense, net	42,545	47,206	51,093	25,210	26,433
•					
Income before income taxes	5,809	3,882	18,379	5,022	60,926
Income tax expense	455	1,500	3,127	977	12,279
Net income	\$ 5,354	\$ 2,382	\$ 15,252	\$ 4,045	\$ 48,647

See accompanying notes.

EARLE M. JORGENSEN COMPANY

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF STOCKHOLDERS EQUITY

(dollars in thousands, except share data)

	Comm	on Stock	Capital in	(Accumulated other			
	Shares	Amount	excess of par value	comp	orehensive loss	Ac	cumulated deficit	Total
Balance at March 31, 2001	128	<u> </u>	\$ 85,834	\$	(1,833)	\$	(87,152)	\$ (3,151)
Comprehensive income:			,					
Net income for period							5,354	5,354
Loss on interest rate swap adjustment					(2,925)			(2,925)
Foreign currency translation adjustment					(133)			(133)
Additional minimum pension liability					32			32
Comprehensive income								2,328
Dividend to Parent			(14,963)					(14,963)
Balance at March 31, 2002	128		70,871		(4,859)		(81,798)	(15,786)
Comprehensive income:								
Net income for period							2,382	2,382
Foreign currency translation adjustment					1,200			1,200
Additional minimum pension liability					(3,150)			(3,150)
Comprehensive income								432
Dividend to Parent			(35,587)					(35,587)
Reverse loss on interest rate swap adjustment								
recognized in net income					2,925			2,925
Balance at March 31, 2003	128		35,284		(3,884)		(79,416)	(48,016)
Comprehensive income:								
Net income for period							15,252	15,252
Foreign currency translation adjustment					412			412
Additional minimum pension liability					774			774
Comprehensive income								16,438
Dividend to Parent			(5,781)					(5,781)
Balance at March 31, 2004	128		29,503		(2,698)		(64,164)	(37,359)
Comprehensive income (unaudited):								
Net income for period							48,647	48,647
Foreign currency translation adjustment					483			483
Comprehensive income								49,130
Dividend to Parent (unaudited)			(123)					(123)
Balance at September 29, 2004 (unaudited)	128	\$	\$ 29,380	\$	(2,215)	\$	(15,517)	\$ 11,648

See accompanying notes.

F-5

EARLE M. JORGENSEN COMPANY

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

(dollars in thousands)

Six Months Ended

	Year Ended March 31,			September 29,		
	2002	2003	2004	2003	2004	
Operating activities:						
Net income	\$ 5,354	\$ 2,382	\$ 15,252	\$ 4,045	\$ 48,647	
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash provided by	,	, ,,-,-	, -	. ,. ,		
(used in) operating activities:						
Loss on early retirement of debt		12,278				
Depreciation and amortization	11,449	11,369	11,284	5,645	5,737	
Amortization and write-off of debt issue costs included in	,	,	,	,	,	
interest expense	1,792	1,416	1,323	661	660	
Accrued postretirement benefits	249	498	619	375	401	
Gain on sale of property, plant and equipment	(36)	(183)	(1,335)	(1,165)	(17)	
Provision for bad debts	2,434	2,649	2,880	1,250	1,354	
Increase in cash surrender value of life insurance over	_,	_,~ .,	_,	-,	-,	
premiums paid	(2,174)	(2,242)	(5,276)	(10,606)	(10,406)	
Changes in operating assets and liabilities:	(=,-,-,	(=,= :=)	(=,=,=)	(==,==)	(,)	
Decrease (increase) in accounts receivable	15,510	(10,662)	(38,680)	(8,542)	(48,122)	
Decrease (increase) in inventories	31,712	(26,722)	(11,658)	(10,016)	(60,596)	
Decrease (increase) in other current assets	960	134	(1,932)	918	(602)	
(Decrease) increase in accounts payable and accrued liabilities	700	131	(1,732)	710	(002)	
and expenses	(53,491)	40,608	55,238	7,383	35,684	
Decrease (increase) in non-trade receivables	1,681	(1,637)	679	(1,323)	33,001	
Other	(896)	1,086	1,097	(566)	(468)	
Olici	(070)	1,000	1,007	(300)	(100)	
Net cash provided by (used in) operating activities	14,544	30,974	29,491	(11,941)	(27,728)	
Investing activities:						
Additions to property, plant and equipment	(24,531)	(15,335)	(10,530)	(4,293)	(14,668)	
Proceeds from the sale of property, plant and equipment	116	2,440	1,540	1,351	9	
Premiums paid on life insurance policies	(1,461)	(1,335)	(1,298)	(1,198)	(1,184)	
Proceeds from redemption of life insurance policies	1,124	195	2,892	1,340	124	
Net cash used in investing activities	(24,752)	(14,035)	(7,396)	(2,800)	(15,719)	
Financing activities:						
Net borrowings (payments) under revolving loan agreements	25,111	(9,958)	(19,399)	9,554	41,087	
Proceeds from issuance of senior debt	23,111	250,000	(17,377)	7,554	41,007	
Repayment of term loan		(96,000)				
Repayment of term loan Repayment of senior debt		(105,000)				
Payment of debt issue costs		(10,669)				
Other costs paid in connection with early retirement of debt		(9,596)				
Other costs paid in connection with early retirement of debt		(9,390)				

Edgar Filing: JORGENSEN EARLE M CO /DE/ - Form S-4/A

Other debt payments, net	(2,400)	(1,400)	(1,400)	(1,400)	(1,400)
Cash dividend to Parent	(14,963)	(35,587)	(5,781)	(71)	(123)
Net cash provided (used) in financing activities	7,748	(18,210)	(26,580)	8,083	39,564
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash	2	1	(17)	17	(88)
Net decrease in cash	(2,458)	(1,270)	(4,502)	(6,641)	(3,971)
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period	23,758	21,300	20,030	20,030	15,528
Cash and cash equivalents at end of period	\$ 21,300	\$ 20,030	\$ 15,528	\$ 13,389	\$ 11,557

See accompanying notes.

EARLE M. JORGENSEN COMPANY

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(Information as of September 29, 2004 and for the six months ended September 29, 2004 is unaudited)

1. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Basis of Presentation and Consolidation Earle M. Jorgensen Company (the Company) became a wholly-owned subsidiary of Earle M. Jorgensen Holding Company, Inc. (the Parent or Holding) as the result of a series of business combinations and mergers effective April 1, 1990.

The accompanying consolidated financial statements include the accounts of the Company and its wholly-owned subsidiaries: Earle M. Jorgensen (Canada) Inc. (EMJ (Canada)) and Stainless Insurance Ltd., a captive insurance subsidiary (EMJ (Bermuda)). In fiscal years 2002, 2003 and 2004 and the six months ended September 29, 2003 and 2004, EMJ (Canada) generated net income (loss) of \$(325,000), \$1,153,000, \$3,282,000, \$1,377,000 and \$3,871,000, respectively. In fiscal years 2002, 2003 and 2004, and the six months ended September 29, 2003 and 2004, EMJ (Bermuda) generated net income (loss) of \$(2,056,000), \$540,000, \$(609,000), \$(27,000) and \$(20,000), respectively, including investment income and intercompany fees. The losses in fiscal year 2002 and 2004 and first six months of fiscal 2005 were attributable to higher loss reserves established in connection with the Company s self-insured workers compensation program. All significant intercompany accounts and transactions have been eliminated.

Company Background and Segment Information The Company distributes a broad line of bar, tubing, plate and various other metal products and value added services through a network of 36 service centers and value-added processing operations strategically located throughout North America. Metals products sold by the Company are purchased from various primary metal producers and suppliers, none of which provided more than 10% of the Company s total purchases in fiscal year 2004. The Company has over 35,000 customers, none of which represented more than 2% of the Company s revenues in fiscal year 2004.

For financial reporting purposes, the Company operates in one reportable segment the metals service center industry as determined in accordance with SFAS No. 131, *Disclosures About Segments of an Enterprise and Related Information*.

Reclassification Certain amounts reported in prior years have been reclassified to conform to the 2004 presentation.

Use of Estimates The preparation of financial statements in conformity with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles requires management to make estimates and judgments that affect the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses and related disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities. Actual results could differ significantly from those estimates and judgments under different assumptions and conditions.

Interim Financial Information (Unaudited) The accompanying consolidated financial statements at September 29, 2004 and for the six months ended September 29, 2003 and 2004 are unaudited. In the opinion of management, these consolidated financial statements have been prepared on the same basis as the audited consolidated financial statements included herein and include all adjustments, consisting of only normal recurring adjustments, necessary for the fair statement of results of the interim period.

Revenue Recognition The Company recognizes revenue associated with a sales order when product is shipped, title is passed and collectibility is reasonably assured.

Shipping and Handling Costs Costs incurred in connection with shipping and handling the Company s products are classified as warehouse and delivery expenses in the accompanying statements of operations.

F-7

EARLE M. JORGENSEN COMPANY

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

Accounts Receivable and Concentration of Credit Risk The Company sells the majority of its products throughout the United States and Canada. Sales to the Company s recurring customers are generally made on open account terms while sales to occasional customers are made on a C.O.D. basis when collectibility is not assured. The Company performs periodic credit evaluations of its ongoing customers and generally does not require collateral. The Company establishes an allowance for potential credit losses based upon factors surrounding the credit risk for specific customers, historical trends and other information; such losses have been within management s expectations, and were higher in fiscal year 2004 when compared to fiscal years 2003 and 2002. The Company s allowance for doubtful accounts at March 31, 2003 and 2004 and September 29, 2004 was \$390,000, \$601,000 and \$1,208,000, respectively. Management believes there are no significant concentrations of credit risk as of March 31, 2004 and September 29, 2004.

Property, Plant and Equipment Property, plant and equipment is recorded at cost. Additions, renewals and betterments are capitalized; maintenance and repairs, which do not extend useful lives, are expensed as incurred. Gains or losses from disposals are reflected in income and the related costs and accumulated depreciation are removed from the accounts. Depreciation and amortization is computed using the straight-line method over the estimated useful lives of 10 to 40 years for buildings and improvements and three to 20 years for machinery and equipment. Leasehold improvements are amortized over the terms of the respective leases. Depreciation expense was \$9,787,000, \$9,703,000 and \$5,737,000 in fiscal 2003 and fiscal 2004 and September 29, 2004, respectively.

The Company capitalizes certain costs incurred during the development of software used internally and amortizes such costs over their estimated useful lives. During fiscal years 2002, 2003 and 2004 and the six months ended September 29, 2004, such costs totaling \$414,000, \$220,000, \$274,000 and \$109,000, respectively, were capitalized.

Long-lived assets, primarily land, buildings, leasehold improvements and certain equipment, used in operations or are expected to be disposed of are reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that full recoverability is questionable. Factors used in the evaluation include, but are not limited to, future plans for the operations, recent operating results and forecasted cash flows. When indicators of impairment are present and the undiscounted cash flows estimated to be generated by those assets are less than the carrying value of the assets, the assets are written down and an impairment loss is recognized. There were no impairment losses recorded in fiscal years 2002, 2003, and 2004 and the six months ended September 29, 2003 and 2004.

Debt Issue Costs Debt issue costs are deferred and amortized to interest expense over the life of the underlying indebtedness. For the fiscal years ended March 31, 2002, 2003 and 2004, amortization of debt issue costs was \$1,792,000, \$1,416,000 and \$1,323,000, respectively. Accumulated amortization of debt issue costs was \$1,263,000 and \$2,586,000 at March 31, 2003 and 2004, respectively.

F-8

EARLE M. JORGENSEN COMPANY

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

Stock-Based Compensation Stock options granted to directors, officers and other key employees of the Company under Holding s stock option plan adopted in January 1997 are accounted for in accordance with APB No. 25. As all stock option grants are made at fair value on the date of grant, the Company recognizes no compensation cost. Had compensation expense for stock options granted been recorded based on the fair value method under SFAS No. 123, as amended by SFAS No. 148, Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation-Transition and Disclosure, the effect on the Company s net income for fiscal years 2002, 2003 and 2004 and the six months ended September 29, 2003 and 2004 would have been as follows:

	Year Ended March 31,			Six Months Ended September 29,	
	2002	2003	2004	2003	2004
				(unaudited)	(unaudited)
Net income, as reported	\$ 5,354,000	\$ 2,382,000	\$ 15,252,000	\$ 4,045,000	\$ 48,647,000
Deduct: total stock-based compensation expense determined using fair value method for all awards,					
net of tax	(209,000)	(138,000)	(74,000)	(49,000)	(17,000)
Net income, as adjusted	\$ 5,145,000	\$ 2,244,000	\$ 15,178,000	\$ 3,996,000	\$ 48,630,000

Income Taxes The Company is included in the consolidated tax returns of Parent and calculates its tax provision as though it files on a separate basis. The consolidated tax liability of the Company and Parent is allocated to each of these entities pursuant to a Tax Allocation Agreement between the Company and Parent (Tax Allocation Agreement). Under the Tax Allocation Agreement, Parent pays all taxes and is reimbursed by the Company for the lesser of (i) the Company s allocated portion of the taxes due, or (ii) the tax that would be payable if the Company filed its own returns.

The Company records deferred taxes based upon differences between the financial statement and tax basis of assets and liabilities pursuant to SFAS No. 109, *Accounting for Income Taxes*, as though it files on a separate basis. Any differences in deferred taxes determined on a separate basis and the actual payments made or received under the Tax Allocation Agreement are accounted for as an equity adjustment between the Company and Parent. There were no such differences in fiscal year 2004. Deferred taxes are also recorded for the future benefit of Federal and state tax losses and tax credit carryforwards. Consistent with SFAS No. 109, a valuation allowance has been recognized for certain deferred tax assets, which management believes are not likely to be realized (see Note 6).

Foreign Currency Translation The financial statements of foreign subsidiaries are translated into U.S. dollars in accordance with SFAS No. 52, Foreign Currency Translation. Balance sheet accounts are translated using the year-end exchange rates while income statement amounts are translated using the average exchange rates for each year. Adjustments resulting from translation of foreign currency financial statements are included in accumulated other comprehensive loss in stockholder s equity. No significant exchange gains and losses were recorded during fiscal 2002, 2003 and 2004.

Cash and Statements of Cash Flows Cash includes disbursements and deposits not yet funded by or applied to the Company s Revolving Credit Facility as of a balance sheet date and cash and cash equivalents totaling \$2,940,000 and \$2,004,000 as of March 31, 2003 and 2004, respectively, held by EMJ (Bermuda) in connection with providing insurance to the Company. The Company considers all highly liquid investments purchased with a maturity of three months or less to be cash equivalents.

For the years ended March 31, 2002, 2003 and 2004 cash paid for interest on borrowings was \$39,942,000, \$37,674,000 and \$48,623,000, and net cash paid (refunded) for income taxes was \$403,000, \$(551,000) and \$671,000, respectively.

F-9

EARLE M. JORGENSEN COMPANY

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

Comprehensive Income Components of the Company s comprehensive income include foreign currency translation adjustments, additional minimum pension liability and accounting for certain derivatives.

Impact of Recently Issued Accounting Standards

In December 2003, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) issued Statement of Financial Accounting Standards (SFAS) No. 132 (revised December 2003), *Employers Disclosures about Pensions and Other Postretirement Benefits (SFAS 132-R)*. This statement amends the disclosure requirements of SFAS 132 to require more details about retirement plan assets, benefit obligations, cash flows and other relevant information. SFAS 132-R is effective for years ending after December 15, 2003, except certain benefit payment and international plan disclosures that are effective for fiscal years after June 15, 2004. The adoption of the disclosure provisions of SFAS 132-R did not have a material effect on the Company s consolidated financial statements.

In May 2003, the FASB issued SFAS No. 150, Accounting for Certain Financial Instruments with Characteristics of both Liabilities and Equity, which establishes standards for how an issuer classifies and measures certain financial instruments with characteristics of both liabilities and equities. The provisions of SFAS No. 150 are effective for financial instruments entered into or modified after May 31, 2003. This statement did not have an effect on the accompanying consolidated financial statements as of and for the periods ended March 31, 2004 and September 29, 2004.

In April 2003, FASB issued SFAS No. 149, Amendment of Statement 133 on Derivative Instruments and Hedging Transactions, which amends and clarifies financial accounting and reporting for derivative instruments, including those embedded in other contracts, and for hedging activities under SFAS No. 133, Accounting for Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities. The provisions of SFAS No. 149 are effective for contracts entered into or modified after September 29, 2003. As of March 31, 2004 and September 29, 2004, the Company had no such instruments.

In December 2003, FASB issued FASB Interpretation No. 46 (Revised), *Consolidation of Variable Interest Entities (FIN No. 46-R)*. FIN 46-R provides the principles to consider in determining when variable interest entities must be consolidated in the financial statements of the primary beneficiary. In general, a variable interest entity used for business purposes that either (1) does not have entity investors with voting rights or (2) has equity investors that are not required to provide sufficient financial resources for the entity to support its activities without additional subordinated financial support. FIN 46-R requires a variable interest entity to be consolidated by a company if that company is subject to a majority of the risk of loss from the variable interest entity s activities or entitled to receive a majority of the entity s residual returns or both. This statement did not have an effect on the accompanying consolidated financial statements as of and for the periods ending March 31, 2004 and September 29, 2004.

2. Inventories

Substantially all inventories are held for sale at the Company s service center locations and are valued at the lower of cost (using the last-in, first-out (LIFO) method) or market. If the Company had used the first-in, first-out (FIFO) method of inventory valuation, inventories would have been lower by \$11,786,000 at March 31, 2003 and higher by \$2,557,000 and \$26,962,000 at March 31, 2004 and September 29, 2004, respectively.

Any reduction of inventory quantities that liquidates LIFO inventories carried at costs lower or higher than costs prevailing in prior years may have a significant effect on the Company s gross profit. Such a reduction and liquidation occurred during fiscal year 2002 and fiscal year 2004, but did not have a significant effect on gross profit. There were no such reductions in fiscal year 2003.

F-10

EARLE M. JORGENSEN COMPANY

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

3. Net Property, Plant and Equipment

Property, plant and equipment (including in-process costs for assets not yet placed in service) and accumulated depreciation at March 31, 2003 and 2004 and September 29, 2004 consisted of the following:

	March 31,	March 31,	September 29,
	2003	2004	2004
			(unaudited)
Land	\$ 18,867,000	\$ 18,622,000	\$ 18,822,000
Buildings and leasehold improvements	51,056,000	52,196,000	58,253,000
Machinery and equipment	118,166,000	116,319,000	118,210,000
In-process costs	6,807,000	1,921,000	8,548,000
	194,896,000	189,058,000	203,833,000
Less accumulated depreciation	81,859,000	76,868,000	82,651,000
Net property, plant and equipment	\$ 113,037,000	\$ 112,190,000	\$ 121,182,000

The in-process costs at March 31, 2004 and September 29, 2004 are primarily attributable to progress payments made on equipment for the Company s tube honing facility and in Tulsa, Oklahoma and building renovation in the Company s Tulsa, Oklahoma service center. September 29, 2004 in-process costs also include costs associated with renovation of the Company s replacement facility in Houston, Texas, expansion of the Company s Wrightsville, Pennsylvania facility and the new construction of the Company s building in Birmingham, Alabama. As of March 31, 2004 and September 29, 2004 such costs include \$1,300,000 and \$8,200,000, respectively. Estimated remaining costs to be incurred in connection with these projects totaled \$800,000 at March 31, 2004 and at September 29, 2004 these projects were essentially completed.

4. Cash Surrender Value of Life Insurance

The Company is the owner and beneficiary of life insurance policies on all former nonunion employees of a predecessor company including certain current employees of the Company and its Parent. The Company is also the owner and beneficiary of key man life insurance policies on certain current and former executives of the Company and predecessor companies. These policies, by providing payments to the Company upon death of covered individuals, are designed to provide cash to the Company to repurchase shares held by employees in the Company s Stock Bonus Plan and shares held individually by employees upon the termination of their employment. Cash surrender value of the life insurance policies increases by a portion of the amount of premiums paid and by dividend income earned under the policies. Dividend income earned under the policies totaled \$13,521,000, \$17,156,000, \$17,751,000, \$7,915,000 and \$9,940,000 in fiscal years 2002, 2003 and 2004 and the six months ended September 29, 2003 and 2004, respectively, and is recorded as an offset to general and administrative expense in the

accompanying statements of operations.

The Company has borrowed against the cash surrender value of certain policies to pay a portion of the premiums and accrued interest on those policies and to fund working capital needs. Interest rates on borrowings under the life insurance policies are fixed at 11.76%. As of March 31, 2004 and September 29, 2004, approximately \$10,295,000 and \$19,782,000, respectively, was available for future borrowings. The following table provides the cash surrender value and the loans outstanding at March 31, 2003 and 2004.

	Surrender value before loans	Loans Outstanding	Net cash surrender value
Balance at March 31, 2003	\$ 195,976,000	\$ 164,969,000	\$ 31,007,000
Balance at March 31, 2004	217,320,000	182,631,000	34,689,000

F-11

EARLE M. JORGENSEN COMPANY

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

Interest on cash surrender value borrowings totaled \$15,996,000, \$17,796,000 and \$20,082,000, \$9,822,000 and \$10,753,000 in fiscal years 2002, 2003 and 2004 and the six months ended September 29, 2003 and 2004, respectively, and is included in net interest expense in the accompanying statements of operations.

5. Long-Term Debt

Long-term debt at March 31, 2003 and 2004 and September 29, 2004 consisted of the following:

	March 31, 2003	March 31, 2004	Sep	tember 29, 2004
				(unaudited)
Revolving Loans (including \$1,195,000, \$1,861,000 and \$2,673,000 at March 31, 2003 and 2004 and September 29,				
2004, respectively, related to a Canadian facility)	\$ 72,937,000	\$ 53,538,000	\$	94,625,000
9 ³ /4% Senior Secured Notes due June 1, 2012	250,000,000	250,000,000		250,000,000
Industrial Development Revenue Bonds:				
Payable in annual installments of \$500,000 commencing				
June 1, 1998, interest at 9%	1,500,000	1,000,000		500,000
Payable in annual installments of \$715,000 commencing				
December 1, 2004, interest at 5.25%	4,300,000	4,300,000		4,300,000
Payable in annual installments of \$900,000 commencing	, ,			
September 1, 2000, interest at 8.5%	1,800,000	900,000		
•				
	330,537,000	309,738,000		349,425,000
Less current portion	2,330,000	3,976,000		3,888,000
-			_	
	\$ 328,207,000	\$ 305,762,000	\$	345,537,000

Aggregate maturities of long-term debt are as follows: \$3,976,000 in fiscal year 2005; \$1,215,000 in fiscal year 2006; \$52,392,000 in fiscal year 2007; \$715,000 in fiscal year 2008, \$715,000 in fiscal year 2009 and \$250,725,000 thereafter.

The fair value of the Senior Secured Notes at March 31, 2004 was \$280,000,000 based on the quoted market prices as of that date. The carrying values of all other long-term debt and other financial instruments at March 31, 2004 approximate fair value.

On May 22, 2002, the Company completed the issuance and sale of 9 3/4% Senior Secured Notes due 2012 totaling \$250,000,000, the proceeds from which were used to (i) redeem \$105 million in aggregate principal amount of the outstanding 9½% senior notes, plus call premium and accrued interest, (ii) prepay \$96 million of the term loan plus accrued interest, and (iii) terminate the interest rate swap agreement. As a result of this refinancing transaction, the Company recorded a loss of \$12,278,000 related to the early retirement of debt, consisting of the call premium paid, a payment to terminate the interest rate swap agreement, the write-off of deferred financing costs, and certain other expenses incurred in connection with the refinancing transaction. No tax benefit was recorded in connection with this loss due to the uncertainty in realizing the resulting deferred tax asset.

F-12

EARLE M. JORGENSEN COMPANY

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

Credit Agreements

The Company s revolving credit facility (Credit Agreement), allows maximum borrowings of \$200 million, including letters of credit (\$8,560,000 outstanding at March 31, 2004 and \$7,252,000 outstanding at September 29, 2004). Borrowings under the Credit Agreement bear interest at a base rate (generally defined as the greater of bank s prime lending rate or 0.5% over the Federal Funds Rate) plus 1.25% or the adjusted Eurodollar rate plus 2.50%. At March 31, 2004, the bank s prime lending rate was 4.00% and the Eurodollar rate was 1.09%. In addition, borrowings under the revolving loans are limited to an amount equal to 85% of eligible trade receivables (as defined) plus 55% of eligible inventories (as defined). Unused available borrowings under the revolving loans totaled \$139,763,000 at March 31, 2004 and \$100,796,000 at September 29, 2004. The Credit Agreement matures on April 7, 2006 and is secured by a lien on all domestic inventory and accounts receivable of the Company.

Under the Credit Agreement, the Company is obligated to pay certain fees including an unused commitment fee of 0.5%, payable quarterly in arrears, and letter of credit fees of 2.50% per annum of the maximum amount available to be drawn under each letter of credit, payable quarterly in arrears, plus issuance, fronting, amendment and other standard fees. The Company paid loan commitment fees totaling \$480,000, \$584,000, \$447,000, \$225,000 and \$202,000, respectively, in fiscal years 2002, 2003 and 2004 and for the six months ended September 29, 2003 and 2004.

The Credit Agreement contains financial covenants in respect of maintenance of minimum working capital and a fixed charge coverage ratio (as defined). The Credit Agreement also limits, among other things, the incurrence of liens and other indebtedness, mergers, consolidations, the sale of assets, annual capital expenditures, advances, investments and loans by the Company and its subsidiaries, dividends and other restricted payments by the Company and its subsidiaries in respect to their capital stock, and certain transactions with affiliates.

The Company s Canadian subsidiary maintains a one year renewable credit facility (the Canadian Facility) totaling C\$9,000,000 including (i) a revolving credit facility of C\$5,500,000, (ii) a term financial instruments facility of C\$3,000,000 for hedging foreign currency and rate fluctuations (unused as of March 31, 2004), and (iii) a special credit facility for the issuance of a letter of guarantee up to C\$500,000 in connection with the lease for the Toronto facility. Borrowings under the revolving credit facility are limited to an amount equal to 80% of eligible trade receivables (as defined) plus 40% of eligible inventories (as defined, and limited to C\$1,500,000), are repayable on demand, and bear interest at the bank s annual prime lending rate plus 0.50%. At March 31, 2004, the interest rate on the revolving credit facility was 4.50%. The revolving credit facility contains financial covenants in respect of maintenance of minimum equity and a debt-to-equity ratio (as defined) and has other restrictions similar to those under the amended Credit Agreement, as described above.

Senior Secured Notes

On May 22, 2002, the Company refinanced its $9^{1}/2\%$ senior notes and variable rate term loan by issuing \$250 million of $9^{3}/4\%$ Senior Secured Notes due June 1, 2012. The $9^{3}/4\%$ Senior Secured Notes were issued at par and interest payments are made semi-annually on June 1 and December 1, commencing on December 1, 2002. The $9^{3}/4\%$ Senior Secured Notes are secured by a first-priority lien (subject to permitted liens) on substantially all of the Company s existing and future acquired unencumbered property, plant and equipment and may be redeemed by the

Company under certain conditions and with certain restrictions at varying redemption prices. The Indenture to the $9^3/4\%$ Senior Secured Notes contains certain covenants which limit, among other things, the incurrence of liens and other indebtedness, mergers, consolidations, the sale of assets, investments and loans, dividends and other distributions, and certain transactions with affiliates.

F-13

EARLE M. JORGENSEN COMPANY

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

Derivative Instrument

In June 1998, the Company entered into an interest rate swap agreement with Deutsche Bank Trust Company Americas (DBTCA) that effectively fixed the interest rate on the variable rate term loan at approximately 9.05% through June 2003 (the Fixed Rate). Such agreement required DBTCA to make payments to the Company each quarter in an amount equal to the product of the notional amount of \$95 million and the difference between the three month London Interbank Offered Rate and 3.25% (Floating LIBOR) and the Fixed Rate, if the Floating LIBOR was greater than the Fixed Rate on a per diem basis. If Floating LIBOR was lower than the Fixed Rate, the Company was required to pay DBTCA an amount equal to the product of the notional amount and the difference between the Fixed Rate and Floating LIBOR on a per diem basis. Under the provisions described above, net payments (receipts) in fiscal years 2001 and 2002 were \$(721,000) and \$2,248,000, respectively. Because the interest rate swap agreement was terminated in May 2002 in connection with the prepayment of the Company s term loan resulting from the issuance and sale of the $9^3/4\%$ Senior Secured Notes described above, no quarterly settlements were required in fiscal year 2003.

The interest rate swap agreement was considered a highly effective cash flow hedge under the provisions of SFAS No. 133, as amended, which was adopted by the Company effective April 1, 2001. Under SFAS No. 133, the effective portion of gain or loss resulting from changes in the fair value of the interest rate swap agreement is reported in other comprehensive income while the ineffective portion is recognized in net income. For the year ended March 31, 2002, a loss of \$2,925,000 was recognized in other comprehensive income and a loss of \$100,000 was recognized in net income. As of March 31, 2002, the interest rate swap agreement represented a long-term liability with a fair market value of \$3,025,000, as calculated under the provisions of SFAS No. 133. In connection with the issuance and sale of the $9^3/4\%$ Senior Secured Notes, the Company paid \$3,025,000 to terminate the interest rate swap agreement, which was recognized as part of the loss of \$12,278,000 related to the early retirement of debt.

Other

The Company s industrial revenue development bonds were issued in connection with significant facility improvements or construction projects.

6. Income Taxes

Significant components of the provision for income taxes attributable to continuing operations for the years ended March 31, 2002, 2003 and 2004 were as follows:

2002	2003	2004

Edgar Filing: JORGENSEN EARLE M CO /DE/ - Form S-4/A

Current:			
Federal	\$ (49,000)	\$ 435,000	\$
State	492,000	492,000	1,458,000
Foreign	12,000	573,000	1,669,000
Total current	455,000	1,500,000	3,127,000
Deferred:			
Federal	(3,277,000)	373,000	(1,666,000)
State	(482,000)	42,000	(995,000)
Valuation allowances	3,759,000	(415,000)	2,661,000
Total deferred			
	\$ 455,000	\$ 1,500,000	\$ 3,127,000

EARLE M. JORGENSEN COMPANY

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

The reconciliation of the income tax provision differs from that which would result from applying the U.S. statutory rate for years ended March 31, 2002, 2003 and 2004 were as follows:

	2002	2003	2004
Expected tax at Federal statutory rate	\$ 2,033,000	\$ 5,656,000	\$ 6,433,000
State franchise tax expense and capital taxes, net of Federal taxes	320,000	320,000	948,000
Expiration of capital loss carryforward		5,618,000	
Net increase in cash surrender values of life insurance	(4,732,000)	(6,005,000)	(6,213,000)
Change in valuation allowance	3,759,000	(415,000)	2,661,000
Other	(925,000)	(3,674,000)	(702,000)
Income tax provision	\$ 455,000	\$ 1,500,000	\$ 3,127,000

The change of \$2,661,000 in the valuation allowance for deferred tax assets as of March 31, 2004 was due primarily to the generation of a tax loss in fiscal year 2004.

Income before taxes consists primarily of income from the Company s domestic operations. For fiscal years 2002, 2003 and 2004, the Company s foreign operations, including the captive insurance subsidiary, generated pre-tax income (loss) of \$(2,369,000), \$2,267,000 and \$4,342,000, respectively.

Significant components of the Company s deferred income tax assets and liabilities at March 31, 2003 and 2004 were as follows:

	2003	2004
Deferred tax liabilities:		
Tax over book depreciation	\$ 7,709,000	\$ 8,893,000
Purchase price adjustments	35,846,000	35,210,000
Total deferred tax liabilities	43,555,000	44,103,000
Deferred tax assets:		
Net operating loss and credit carryforwards	19,473,000	21,142,000
Capital loss carryforward		
Workers compensation and other insurance accruals	3,011,000	3,438,000
Inventory and related reserves	4,105,000	5,024,000

Other	1,858,000	2,052,000
Valuation allowance for deferred tax assets	(20,278,000)	(22,939,000)
Net deferred tax assets	8,169,000	8,717,000
Net deferred tax liabilities	\$ 35,386,000	\$ 35,386,000

At March 31, 2004, the Company had net operating loss carryforwards of \$49,214,000 for Federal income tax purposes and \$29,870,000 for State income tax purposes. The Federal carryforwards resulted from the Company s losses during 1993, 1996 and 2002, and expire in years 2008, 2011 and 2022, respectively, while the State carryforwards were generated in various states over various years. The ultimate realization of the benefits of these loss carryforwards is dependent on future profitable operations. In addition, use of the Company s net operating loss carryforwards and other tax attributes may be substantially limited if a cumulative change in

EARLE M. JORGENSEN COMPANY

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

ownership of more than 50% occurs within any three year period subsequent to a loss year. At March 31, 2004, the Company had an alternative minimum tax carryforward of approximately \$2,364,000, which can be utilized over an indefinite period of time.

On September 11, 2002, new tax laws were enacted in California that suspend the use of net operating tax carryforwards into years beginning on or after January 1, 2002 and 2003. Accordingly, net operating losses generated in California in prior tax years cannot be used to offset the Company s taxable income for the years ended March 31, 2003 and 2004. This suspension will not apply to tax years beginning on or after January 1, 2004 and did not have a material impact on the Company s results of operations for the year ended March 31, 2004 and the six months ended September 29, 2004.

The Company has not provided for taxes on undistributed earnings from its non-U.S. subsidiaries because such earnings are intended to be re-invested indefinitely. If these earnings were distributed, foreign tax credits may become available under current tax law to reduce the resulting U.S. tax liability.

Income tax expense for the first six months of fiscal 2005 and 2004 included provisions for state franchise and foreign income taxes. The federal tax rate for the first six months of fiscal 2005 was 14%, and was lower than the U.S. federal statutory tax rate primarily due to the recognition of tax benefits associated with the utilization of loss carryforwards. The federal tax provision for the first six months of fiscal 2004 was offset by the recognition of tax benefits associated with loss carryforwards. The Company paid federal income taxes of \$1,000,000 in the first six months of fiscal 2005. Income tax expense has been provided for the six months ended September 29, 2004 based on the Company s estimated effective income tax rate for fiscal 2005.

7. Employee Benefit Plans

Stock Bonus Plan

The Company and Holding have a Stock Bonus Plan (the Plan, formerly an employee stock ownership plan (ESOP) prior to April 1, 1999) which covers nonunion employees of the Company who meet certain service requirements. The cost of the Plan is borne by the Company through annual contributions to a trust in amounts determined by the Board of Directors. Prior to an agreement reached with the Department of Labor in January 2003 (see Note 8), contributions were made in cash or shares of Holding s stock as the Holding s Board of Directors may from time to time determine. Participants vest at a rate of 20% per year of service and become fully vested at age 65 or upon retirement, disability or death. Upon the occurrence of a participant s termination (as defined), retirement, disability, or death, the Plan is required to distribute the vested balance in stock and to repurchase the vested balance for cash. If stock is distributed, it is accompanied by a put option to Holding under terms defined in the Plan. Shares of Holding s series A and B preferred and common stock owned by the Plan totaled 38,282, 28,730 and 2,652,874 at March 31, 2004, and 38,282, 30,999, and 2,652,874 at September 29, 2004, respectively. For fiscal years ended March 31, 2002, 2003 and 2004 and the six months ended September 29, 2003 and 2004, contributions accrued to the Plan s trust totaled \$2,831,000, \$2,772,000 and \$2,783,000, \$1,541,000 and \$2,070,000 which represented 5% of eligible compensation for each of the respective years. The contributions payable as of March 31, 2002, 2003 and 2004 and for the six months ended September 29, 2003 and 2004 have been or will be paid in cash. The Company

recognizes the cost of the Plan as compensation expense with a corresponding amount reflected in its capital for the value of Holding s common stock contributed to the trust by Holding, or as a dividend to Holding for contributions paid in cash.

The Company also has a supplemental stock bonus plan to include highly compensated employees and other employees, who are not eligible to participate in the Plan. Contributions payable, vesting and distributions in the supplemental plan are comparable to those under the Plan. Contributions under this supplemental plan are made

F-16

EARLE M. JORGENSEN COMPANY

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

in cash and are held in an irrevocable trust. For the fiscal years ended March 31, 2002, 2003 and 2004, contributions payable totaled \$76,000, \$78,000 and \$90,000, respectively.

Although Holding has not expressed any intent to terminate or amend the plan, it has the right to do so at any time. In the event of any termination, participants became fully vested to the extent of the balances in their separate accounts and come under the put options as previously discussed.

Pension Plans

The Company maintains a noncontributory defined benefit pension plan covering substantially all hourly union employees (the Hourly Plan). Benefits under the Hourly Plan vest after five years and are determined based on years of service and a benefit rate that is negotiated with each union. The assets of the Hourly Plan for participants are held in trust and consist of bonds, equity securities and insurance contracts. The Company contributes at least the minimum required annually under ERISA. The Company also maintains an unfunded supplemental pension plan, which provides benefits to highly compensated employees; this plan has been frozen to include only existing participants (the Supplemental Plan).

Components of net periodic pension cost (credit) associated with the Company s pension plans for years ended March 31, 2002, 2003 and 2004 and for the six months ended September 29, 2003 and 2004 are as follows:

				Six Months Ended		
	2002	2003	2004	September 29, 2003	September 29, 2004	
Service cost of benefits earned						
during the period	\$ 433,000	\$ 432,000	\$ 523,000	\$ 261,000	\$ 320,000	
Interest cost on projected benefit						
obligation	784,000	843,000	879,000	420,000	489,000	
Expected return on plan assets	(1,017,000)	(864,000)	(763,000)	(382,000)	(503,000)	
Amortization of prior service cost	(95,000)	(47,000)	(37,000)	(19,000)	37,000	
Recognized net (gain) loss	(66,000)	21,000	267,000	121,000	50,000	
Net periodic cost (credit)	\$ 39,000	\$ 385,000	\$ 869,000	\$ 401,000	\$ 393,000	

Categories of plan assets	2003	2004
Bonds	13%	14%
Stocks	87%	86%

During fiscal year 2005, a contribution of \$700,000 was made.

The Hourly Plan is 100% invested in Wells Fargo Asset Allocations Collective Investment Fund (the Fund). The Fund seeks long-term total return, consistent with reasonable risk, by shifting investments among stocks and U.S. Treasury long-term bonds using a quantitative asset allocation strategy. The Fund invests in common stocks that comprise the S&P 500 Index and bonds that comprise the Lehman Brothers 20+ Treasury Bond Index. The Fund will remain near its strategic allocation of 60% stocks and 40% bonds the majority of the time to maximize the probability of achieving its long-term risk and return objectives.

EARLE M. JORGENSEN COMPANY

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

The following provides a reconciliation of the changes in the benefit obligation and fair value of plan assets, and the funded (unfunded) status of the pension plans for the years ended March 31, 2003 and 2004.

	2003	2004
Change in Benefit Obligation:		
Benefit obligation at beginning of year	\$ 11,350,000	\$ 14,066,000
Service cost	432,000	523,000
Interest cost	843,000	879,000
Change in assumptions	1,414,000	958,000
Amendments	504,000	67,000
Benefit payments	(514,000)	(545,000)
Actuarial loss/(gain)	37,000	(157,000)
Benefit obligation at end of year	14,066,000	15,791,000
Change in Plan Assets:		
Fair value of plan assets at beginning of year	11,203,000	9,297,000
Actual return on assets	(1,434,000)	2,205,000
Benefit payments	(514,000)	(545,000)
Company contributions	92,000	793,000
Fees	(50,000)	(31,000)
Fair value of plan assets at end of year	9,297,000	11,719,000
		
Unfunded	(4,769,000)	(4,072,000)
Unrecognized prior service cost	(236,000)	(131,000)
Unrecognized net actuarial gain	3,658,000	2,780,000
·		
Net amount recognized	\$ (1,347,000)	\$ (1,423,000)

The following provides a reconciliation of the changes in the benefit obligation and fair value of plan assets, and the funded (unfunded) status of the pension plans for the years ended March 31, 2003 and 2004.

	2003	2004
Amounts recognized in balance sheets consist of:		
Prepaid cost	\$	\$
Accrued benefit liability	(4,746,000)	(4,048,000)
Accumulated comprehensive loss-additional minimum liability	3,399,000	2,625,000

Net amount recognized	\$ (1,347,000)	\$ (1,423,000)
Weighted-average assumptions as of March 31:		
Discount rate	6.50%	6.00%
Expected return on assets	8.25%	8.25%
Rate of compensation increase		
Measurement date for assets and liabilities	1/1/2003	1/1/2004

The return on assets assumption assumes a long term return of 9.0% on equity investments and 7% on government bond investments with a 60.0% equity and 40% bond target investment mix. Long-term rates of return on equity investments are trending approximately 7.0% above current CPI, while long-term rates of return on government bond investments are trending approximately 5.0% above current CPI. Current CPI has been approximately 2.0% for the last few years.

EARLE M. JORGENSEN COMPANY

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

In accordance with union agreements, the Company also contributes to multi-employer defined benefit retirement plans covering substantially all union employees of the Company. At September 29, 2004, four different unions represented approximately 608 of our employees from 16 locations (36% of total employees). Our collective bargaining agreements expire at staggered dates through March 2010; bargaining agreements that will expire in fiscal 2005 represent 5% of total employees. Expenses incurred in connection with these plans totaled \$1,015,000, \$1,295,000, \$1,798,000 and \$983,000 in fiscal years 2002, 2003, 2004 and for the six months ended September 29, 2004.

Postretirement Benefit Plan

In addition to the Company s defined benefit pension plans, the Company sponsors a defined benefit health care plan that provides postretirement medical and dental benefits to eligible full time employees and their dependents (the Postretirement Plan). The Postretirement Plan is fully insured, with retirees paying a percentage of the annual premium. Such premiums are adjusted annually based on age and length of service of active and retired participants. The Postretirement Plan contains other cost-sharing features such as deductibles and coinsurance. The Company recognizes the cost of future benefits earned by participants during their working careers, as determined using actuarial assumptions. Gains and losses realized from the remeasurement of the plan s benefit obligation are amortized to income over three years.

In December 2003, the FASB issued SFAS No. 132 (revised December 2003), *Employers Disclosures about Pensions and Other Postretirement Benefits* (SFAS 132-R). This statement amends the disclosure requirements of SFAS 132 to require more details about retirement plan assets, benefit obligations, cash flows and other relevant information. SFAS 132-R is effective for years ending after December 15, 2003, except certain benefit payment and international plan disclosures that are effective for fiscal years after June 15, 2004. The adoption of the disclosure provisions of SFAS 132-R did not have a material effect on the Company's consolidated financial statements.

Components of the net periodic pension cost (credit) associated with the Company's Postretirement Plan for years ended March 31, 2002, 2003 and 2004 and the six months ended September 29, 2003 and September 29, 2004 are as follows:

	March 31,		Six Months Ended		
				September 29,	September 29,
	2002	2003	2004	2003	2004
				(unaudited)	(unaudited)
Service cost of benefits earned during the					
period	\$ 223,000	\$ 249,000	\$ 293,000	\$ 167,000	\$ 165,000
Interest cost on projected benefit obligation	211,000	258,000	271,000	158,000	147,000
Recognized net (gain)/loss	(185,000)	(9,000)	55,000	50,000	89,000

Net periodic pension cost (credit) \$ 249,000 \$ 498,000 \$ 619,000 \$ 375,000 \$ 401,000

F-19

EARLE M. JORGENSEN COMPANY

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

The following tables provide a reconciliation of the changes in the benefit obligation and the unfunded status of the Postretirement Plan for the years ended March 31, 2003 and 2004.

	March	March 31,	
	2003	2004	
Change in Benefit Obligation:			
Benefit obligation at beginning of year	\$ 3,271,000	\$ 4,328,000	
Service cost	249,000	293,000	
Interest cost	258,000	271,000	
Change in assumptions	950,000	262,000	
Benefit payments	(208,000)	(151,000)	
Actuarial gains	(192,000)	(87,000)	
Benefit obligation at end of year	4,328,000	4,916,000	
Unfunded	(4,328,000)	(4,916,000)	
Unrecognized prior service cost			
Unrecognized net actuarial gain	358,000	478,000	
Accrued benefit cost	\$ (3,970,000)	\$ (4,438,000)	
Weighted-average assumptions as of March 31:			
Discount rate	6.50%	6.00%	
Healthcare cost trend rate	12.00%	11.00%	
Measurement date for assets and liabilities	1/1/2003	1/1/2004	

The healthcare cost trend rate of 11.0% used in the calculation of net benefit cost of the Postretirement Plan is assumed to decrease 1.0% per year to 6.0% for 2009 and remain at that level thereafter.

Assumed healthcare trend rates have a significant effect on the amounts reported for the Company s Postretirement Plan. A one-percentage-point change in assumed healthcare cost trend rates would have the following effects:

	1%	1%
	Increase	Decrease
Effect on total service and interest cost components	\$ 88,000	\$ (74,000)
Effect on postretirement benefit obligation	644,000	(550,000)

F-20

EARLE M. JORGENSEN COMPANY

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

8. Commitments and Contingencies

Lease Commitments

The Company leases, under several agreements with varying terms, certain office and warehouse facilities, equipment and vehicles. Rent expense totaled \$21,353,000, \$21,657,000 and \$22,302,000 for the years ended March 31, 2002, 2003 and 2004, respectively. Sublease income for the years ended March 31, 2002, 2003 and 2004 was \$456,000, \$632,000 and \$653,000, respectively. Minimum rentals of certain leases escalate from time to time based on certain indices.

At March 31, 2004 the Company was obligated under non-cancellable operating leases for future minimum rentals as follows:

Fiscal year:	
2005	\$ 18,422,000
2006	14,315,000
2007	10,323,000
2008	7,337,000
2009	5,718,000
Thereafter	43,939,000
Sub-total Sub-total	100,054,000
Less: Non-cancellable subleases	(7,961,000)
Net lease obligations	\$ 92,093,000

Other Commitments

On January 14, 2004, the Company announced that it had reached an agreement with Holding and Holding s principal security holders providing for a restructuring of the combined capital structure. The financial restructuring is being effected pursuant to an Agreement and Plan of Merger and Reorganization dated as of December 18, 2003 among the Company, Holding and EMJ Metals LLC, a newly-formed wholly-owned subsidiary, as well as an Exchange Agreement among the Company, Holding and Kelso Investment Associates IV, L.P. and certain of its affiliates (Kelso). The principal effect of the financial restructuring will be to convert all outstanding debt and equity securities of Holding to the Company s common stock. Kelso is the holder of Holding s outstanding Series A Variable Rate Notes and also is Holding s controlling stockholder.

On May 25, 2004 the Company announced that the proposed restructuring of the combined capital structure of Earle M. Jorgensen Company (EMJ) with Earle M. Jorgensen Holding Company, Inc. (Holding), its parent company, had been delayed. Because of the delay, additional negotiations among Holding s security holders and changes to the structure of the transaction are required before it can proceed. There is no assurance that the transaction will be successfully negotiated or, if negotiated, will be approved by the requisite votes of Holding s stockholders or that the other conditions to completion of such a transaction will be satisfied. Thus there can be no assurance that the merger will be consummated.

In connection with the 1990 merger, the Company agreed to pay Kelso, which owns the majority of Parent s common stock, an annual fee of \$1,250,000 each year for financial advisory services and to reimburse it for out-of-pocket expenses incurred in connection with rendering such services. The Company also agreed to indemnify Kelso and its affiliates against certain claims, losses, damages, liabilities, and expenses that may arise in connection with the merger. However, no such annual fee was payable for fiscal years 2002, 2003 and 2004 and other expenses paid to Kelso in fiscal years 2002, 2003 and 2004 were not significant.

F-21

EARLE M. JORGENSEN COMPANY

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

Governmental Matters

The Internal Revenue Service (the IRS) conducted an audit of the Company s employee stock ownership plan (the Plan) for the fiscal years ended March 31, 1992, through March 31, 1996, and issued a preliminary report to the Company in which the IRS asserted that certain contributions of stock by the Parent to the Plan violated provisions of the Internal Revenue Code because the securities contributed were not qualifying employer securities as defined by ERISA. In fiscal year 2002, this matter was settled without the Company admitting the allegations of the IRS, and the Company paid \$1,919,000 of excise tax to the IRS.

The Department of Labor (the DOL) also investigated the same transactions involving the Plan. In the course of its investigation, the DOL and its advisors reviewed the valuations of the Parent s common and preferred stock prepared for the Plan and challenged the methodology used in preparing the valuations.

On March 8, 2002, the DOL sued the Company, the Parent, the Plan and former members of the Company s benefits committee in the federal district court for the Central District of California. The DOL claims that the valuations of Parent s common stock used to make annual contributions to the Plan in each of the years 1994 through 2000 contained significant errors that resulted in the common stock being overvalued, and that the failure of the members of our benefits committee to detect and correct the errors was a breach of their fiduciary duty under ERISA. As a result of the alleged overvaluations, the DOL contended that the contributions to the Plan were prohibited transactions under ERISA. On January 27, 2003, the Company signed a settlement agreement will the DOL in connection with their lawsuit. The key provisions of the agreement are as follows: (i) the Company is not required to make any payments under the agreement at this time; (ii) the Company is prohibited to make further common stock contributions to the stock bonus plan; (iii) the Company will continue to obtain annual appraisals of Parent stock using methodology consistent with prior appraisals, and use that appraised value as the purchase price for repurchases of common stock as it has done in the past, and; (iv) if the annual appraisal of the Company s common stock is less than \$4.25 per share, the Company shall pay a floor price of \$4.25 per share in connection with the repurchase of common stock from departing employees for shares that were originally contributed to the stock bonus plan for the plan years 1994 through 2000.

If the Company pays the floor price in connection with the repurchase of common stock from departing employees, the agreement also allows the DOL to assess the Company a penalty equal to 20% of the amount calculated by multiplying the difference between the appraised value and the floor price by the number of shares repurchased at the floor price.

The Company does not believe the settlement will have a material impact on its financial condition or future results of operations, and believes payments under the settlement, if any, will most likely be paid in immaterial amounts which will be spread over many years.

In December 2003, the Company entered into agreements with Holding, a subsidiary and the principal stockholders of Holding providing for a merger and financial restructuring. Prior to approval of the transaction, the DOL initiated a review of the procedures followed by Holding s benefits committee in connection with evaluation of the proposed transaction and other strategic alternatives available to Holding and an assessment of whether or not the proposed transaction complied with the terms of the consent order and the legal requirements applicable to the

stock bonus plan. Such review resulted in delays that, combined with other transactional requirements, precluded the consummation of the merger and financial restructuring on the terms originally proposed. The Company is considering changes to the proposed transaction that will achieve the objectives of the original restructuring transaction, while meeting the concerns expressed by the DOL. Holding intends to review any proposed transaction with the DOL in advance under their compliance assistance program to ensure compliance with the terms of the consent order and applicable law. There can be no assurance that a revised transaction will be agreed upon, approved by the Holding stockholders and consummated.

F-22

EARLE M. JORGENSEN COMPANY

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

Environmental Contingencies

The Company is subject to extensive and changing federal, state, local and foreign laws and regulations designed to protect the environment and human health and safety, including those relating to the use, handling, storage, discharge and disposal of hazardous substances and the remediation of environmental contamination. As a result, the Company is from time to time involved in administrative and judicial proceedings and inquiries relating to environmental matters.

During fiscal years 2002, 2003 and 2004, expenditures made in connection with environmental matters totaled \$97,000, \$194,000 and \$232,000, respectively, principally for settlement of claims, and monitoring, remediation and investigation activities at sites with contaminated soil and/or groundwater and were expensed as incurred. As of March 31, 2004, an accrual of \$203,000 exists for future investigation and remediation expenditures related to the following pending environmental matters.

Forge (Seattle/Kent, WA). In November 1998, the Company paid the purchasers of its former Forge facility and an off-site disposal site \$2,250,000 as an arbitration award for liabilities related to the remediation of known contamination at the Forge facility. The Company continues to monitor the disposal site for environmental conditions in accordance with a consent decree issued by the Washington Department of Ecology (Ecology). Annual costs associated with such monitoring are not significant, and the Company does not anticipate significant additional expenditures related to this matter.

The Forge property is located on the Lower Duwamish Waterway, which has been identified by the United States Environmental Protection Agency (EPA) as a Superfund Site (the Duwamish Site). Under the Federal Comprehensive Environmental Response, Compensation, and Liability Act (CERCLA), owners or operators of facilities that have released hazardous substances to the environment may be liable for remediation costs and damages to natural resources caused by such releases. Courts have held that such liability may be joint and several; however, in many instances, the costs are allocated among the parties, primarily based on their estimated contribution to the contamination. The EPA has entered into an Administrative Order of Consent (AOC) with four major property owners with potential liability for cleanup of the Duwamish Site that outlines tasks required to be completed to further investigate the nature and extent of the contamination and cleanup alternatives. In November 2001, the current owners of the Forge property notified the Company of a potential claim for indemnification for any liability relating to contamination of the Duwamish Site. The notification stated that the Forge facility, along with other businesses located along the Duwamish Site, are expected to be named as potentially responsible parties for contamination of the Duwamish Site and requested that the Company participate under a joint defense.

On July 10, 2003, pursuant to a request from the EPA, the Company signed an AOC under CERCLA to investigate certain areas of the Duwamish site. A preliminary cost of proposed work under the AOC ranges from \$350,000 to \$450,000, and is subject to approval by the EPA. On April 15, 2003, the Company signed a funding and participation agreement with the current owners of the Forge property, which requires it to fund 85% of costs to be incurred in connection with the investigation activities to be performed under the AOC. As of March 31, 2004, the Company has accrued \$203,000 for remaining costs that are expected to be incurred in future years.

The Company is continuing to evaluate this matter and remedies it may have, including insurance recoveries for any monies to be spent as part of the investigation or cleanup of the Duwamish Site. At this time, the Company cannot determine what ultimate liability it may have relating to this matter.

Union (New Jersey). During fiscal year 1994, the Company was notified by the current owner that it has potential responsibility for the environmental contamination of a property formerly owned by a subsidiary and

F-23

EARLE M. JORGENSEN COMPANY

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

disposed of by such subsidiary prior to its acquisition by the Company. The prior owner of such subsidiary has also been notified of its potential responsibility. On March 27, 1997, the current owner of the property informed the Company that it estimated the cost of investigation and cleanup of the property at \$875,000 and requested contribution to such costs from the Company and the prior owner. The Company has contested responsibility and commented on the cleanup plan and has not received any further demands or notifications. The Company does not have sufficient information to determine what potential liability it has, if any.

Although it is possible that new information or future developments could require the Company to reassess its potential exposure relating to all pending environmental matters, management believes that, based upon all currently available information, the resolution of such environmental matters will not have a material adverse effect on the Company s financial condition, results of operations or liquidity. The possibility exists, however, that new environmental legislation and/or environmental regulations may be adopted, or other environmental conditions may be found to exist, that may require expenditures not currently anticipated and that may be material.

9. Legal

On April 22, 2002, the Company was sued by Champagne Metals, a small metals service center distributing aluminum coil products in Oklahoma, alleging that the Company had conspired with other metal service centers to induce or coerce aluminum suppliers to refuse to designate Champagne Metals as a distributor, which resulted in unspecified damages. EMJ and the other defendants filed motions for summary judgment, and on June 15, 2004, the federal District Court for the Western District of Oklahoma entered an order granting the motions for summary judgment of each of the defendants including EMJ and dismissed the case. The time for an appeal expires on July 15, 2004.

The Company is involved in other litigation or legal matters in the normal course of business. In the opinion of management, these matters will be resolved without a material impact on the Company s financial position or results of operations.

10. Subsequent Events (unaudited)

The parties to the Merger Agreement and Exchange Agreement described in Note 8 executed a Termination of Merger Agreement and Exchange Agreement dated as of July 30, 2004, terminating the Merger Agreement and the Exchange Agreement. Notwithstanding such termination, representatives of Holding s special committee, Kelso, the Company and the benefits committee continued to work on an alternative transaction to restructure the combined capital structure of Holding and the Company and have negotiated a financial restructuring transaction. This transaction will be consummated concurrently with an initial public offering and will involve a merger between Holding and a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company and an exchange of Holding s indebtedness, common stock and preferred stock for a combination of cash and common stock of the Company. The net proceeds of the initial public offering will be allocated to the payment of the cash consideration for the series A preferred stock, series B preferred stock and Holding notes upon consummation of the financial restructuring as follows: (1) all issued and outstanding shares of Holding s common stock will be converted into shares of the Company s common stock and (2) all issued and outstanding shares of series A preferred stock and series B preferred stock will be converted into a combination of cash and shares of the Company s common stock. In addition, KIA IV will exchange all of the Holding notes for a combination of cash and shares of the Company s

common stock and any right pursuant to a warrant agreement executed by Holding entitling KIA IV to purchase shares of the common stock of Holding held by it for shares of the Company s common stock.

F-24

EARLE M. JORGENSEN COMPANY

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

On September 27, 2004, the Company s board of directors authorized the issuance and sale of its common stock in an initial public offering in connection with the merger and financial restructuring.

In August 2004, the Company and the benefits committee submitted a proposal to the DOL for the amendment of the consent order and release to change the methodology used in preparing annual valuations for the stock bonus plan. This proposal was approved by the DOL on November 17, 2004. On December 16, 2004, the board of Holding approved the amended consent order and the program documents committing to make a special contribution to the stock bonus plan.

Holding has authorized a special contribution of additional shares of Holding common stock or common stock equivalents to (1) the stock bonus plan, (2) the supplemental stock bonus plan and (3) a cash bonus plan. The special contribution will consist of 1.0817 shares of Holding common stock or its equivalent with respect to each share of Holding common stock held in the stock bonus plan. This amount is equal to the difference between the appraised value as of March 31, 2004 using the old methodology and the appraised value as of March 31, 2004 using the new methodology, adjusted for the dilutive effect of such contribution. After giving effect to the special contribution, the stock bonus plan participants holding Holding common stock will continue to have shares of Holding common stock with the same aggregate value, notwithstanding the change in valuation methodology which otherwise would have had the effect of reducing the aggregate value of their equity interests. There are currently 2,506,309 shares of Holding common stock in the stock bonus plan. The special contribution will consist of 2,496,703 shares of Holding common stock or its equivalent and cash bonuses paid through the new cash bonus plan of \$1,416,905 in the aggregate to participants who are no longer employed by the Company. The Company will charge approximately \$17,920,000 in the aggregate to compensation expense with respect to the commitment to make the special contribution in December 2004.

To ensure compliance with the Internal Revenue Code and ERISA requirements, the first contribution will be made after the completion of the plan year ending March 31, 2005. Due to certain Internal Revenue Service rules limiting the amount of contributions that can be made in a single year, the contributions will be made over two years, and affected participants who are no longer employed by the Company may have to receive at least part of the program benefits in cash payments outside the stock bonus plan. Other Internal Revenue Service rules limit contributions that discriminate in favor of highly compensated employees. Holding has adopted an amendment to the stock bonus plan that provides for stock contributions for the plan years ending March 31, 2005 and March 31, 2006. To the extent legally permissible, each participant will receive the special contribution of 1.0817 additional shares of Holding common stock for each share of Holding common stock which remained in their account as of the date of the amended consent order in two contributions. To the extent participants do not receive their full allocation under the stock bonus plan over the two years, the program benefits will be provided under a cash bonus plan or through credits of units under a phantom stock plan called the supplemental stock bonus plan. The program has been designed to ensure that each participant will receive the equivalent value of their allocation of the special contribution determined as of the date of the amended consent order, whether or not they continue to be employed by the Company or continue to be a plan participant.

If the merger and financial restructuring and public offering are consummated, the Company will assume Holding s obligations under all aspects of the program and the stock contributions will be made in the Company common stock.

On December 16, 2004, the Boards of Holding and the Company approved the following actions related to the financial restructuring that will have a financial impact to the quarter-ended December 31, 2004. The Holding Board approved resolutions related to the cancellation of 360,000

common stock options for the Chief Executive Officer in consideration of a payment of \$3,000,000, which will be recorded as an equity transaction. The Holding Board approved an amendment to the stock option plan to adjust the exercise price and the number of

F-25

EARLE M. JORGENSEN COMPANY

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

shares of Holding common stock that can be purchased pursuant to each option grant to offset the reduction in the appraised value resulting from the change in appraisal methodology required by the amended consent order. Such amendment resulted in an increase to 3,053,662 in the number of options to purchase shares of Holding common stock outstanding and a reduction in the weighted average exercise price to \$3.35 per share. The EMJ Board approved a bonus for Mr. Nelson of \$3,500,000 and a bonus for Mr. Roderick of \$202,640. Further, the EMJ Board approved a \$6,250,000 termination fee to Kelso & Co., which will be charged to expense in December 2004 in connection with an amended advisory services agreement to end any future obligation the Company has to pay advisory fees under its advisory agreement aside from out of pocket costs.

Effective with our third quarter ending December 31, 2004, the Company has adopted the fair value recognition provisions of Statement of Financial Accounting Standards (SFAS) No. 123, *Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation*, under the modified-prospective transition method, for all employee awards granted, modified or settled after April 1, 2004, as permitted by SFAS No. 148, *Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation-Transition and Disclosure-An Amendment of FASB Statement No. 123*. In accordance with SFAS No. 123, the Company will estimate the fair value of options using an option-pricing model, which takes into account assumptions such as the dividend yield, the risk-free interest rate, and the expected life of the options. The Company s common stock is not currently traded on a national securities exchange or an over-the-counter market, and therefore an effectively zero percent volatility will be used. The dividend yield is excluded from the calculation, as it is our present intention to retain all future earnings. Management has estimated the effect of this adoption to be approximately \$1,600,000 for the modified options.

On December 16, 2004, the Boards of Holding and EMJ approved the merger and financial restructuring and Holding and EMJ entered into a merger agreement and an exchange agreement, each dated December 17, 2004.

The consummation of the merger and financial restructuring and the initial public offering are subject to various conditions, including the amendment of the DOL consent order and release, the approval of the financial restructuring by the holders of Holding s common stock and series B preferred stock voting together as a class, the holders of the series A preferred stock voting separately as a class, and the consent of the lenders under the Company s credit facility and are conditioned upon one another. There is no assurance that the proposed financial restructuring will be approved by the requisite vote of Holding s stockholders, that the initial public offering will be completed successfully or that the other conditions to completion of the transaction will be satisfied.

Clinton Drive (Houston, TX). In connection with the sale of a surplus facility in Houston, Texas, an environmental investigation of the site detected benzene in the groundwater at the site that the Company believes came from previously removed diesel/gasoline underground storage tanks. Based on additional sampling and tests, traces of chlorinated solvents were also detected in the groundwater at the site. In connection with the sale of the property, on December 9, 2004, the Company entered into an agreement with the buyer that provides for (1) the Company to file a voluntary clean-up application with the Texas Commission for Environmental Quality, or TCEQ, that commits the Company to clean-up the soil and groundwater at the site for the benzene and chlorinated solvents to acceptable levels in accordance with TCEQ requirements; (2) the Company to fund an escrow account with \$500,000 to be available to pay estimated clean-up and subsequent monitoring costs; and (3) the Company to indemnify the buyer for pre-existing environmental issues on the site based on applicable TCEQ industrial/commercial standards. The Company has accrued \$500,000 for the estimated liability from this issue.

F-26

EARLE M. JORGENSEN COMPANY

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

If the financial restructuring and the initial public offering contemplated by this prospectus are consummated under the terms presently anticipated as described above, the following sets forth the Company s unaudited pro forma capitalization as of September 29, 2004:

		September 29, 20	04
	Actual	Pro Forma	Pro Forma As Adjusted
		(unaudited)	
	(in thou	sands, except per s	share data)
Debt			
Short-term debt	\$ 3,888	\$ 3,888	\$ 3,888
Long-term debt			
Revolver	91,952	91,952	91,952
9 ³ /4% senior secured notes due June 1, 2012	250,000	250,000	250,000
Industrial development bonds	3,585	3,585	3,585
Variable rate senior notes due June 30, 2013		245,882	
			-
Total long-term debt	345,537	591,419	345,537
Total debt	349,425	595,307	349,425
Stockholders equity (deficit)	317,123	373,307	317,123
Preferred and common stock subject to redemption in certain circumstances		97,726	
Series A preferred stock, not subject to redemption		20,902	
Series B preferred stock, not subject to redemption		16	
Common stock		106	
Reclassification to value preferred and common stock subject to redemption in certain			
circumstances to its redemption price		(34,717)	
Treasury stock		(58,707)	
Preferred stock, \$.01 par value; 200 shares authorized and no shares issued, actual and adjusted		())	
Common stock, \$.01 par value; 2,800 shares authorized and 128 shares issued and outstanding,			
actual; shares authorized and shares issued and outstanding, as adjusted			[]
Capital in excess of par value	29,380	77,179	[]
Accumulated other comprehensive loss			
Foreign currency translation adjustment	410	410	410
Additional minimum pension liability	(2,625)	(2,625)	(2,625)
Accumulated deficit	(15,517)	(339,669)	(345,778)
Total stockholders equity (deficit)	11,648	(239,379)	[]
Total stockholders equity (deficit)	11,040	(233,313)	
m - 1 - 1/- 1/ 1/-	ф.2.C1, 0.7.С	Ф. 255.020	Ф. Г.
Total capitalization	\$ 361,073	\$ 355,928	\$ []

The pro forma capitalization gives effect to the financial restructuring to account for the transfer of assets and exchange of shares between entities, the Company and Holding, under common control. As such, the transaction will be accounted for in a manner similar to a pooling-of-interests. Accordingly, subsequent to the completion of the financial restructuring, the financial position and results of operations of Holding will be included in the Company s consolidated financial statements on a historical basis.

F-27

EARLE M. JORGENSEN COMPANY

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

The adjustments to effect the merger and financial restructuring (based on shares and values at September 29, 2004), assuming that the public offering price will be \$ per share of EMJ common stock and net proceeds of the public offering are \$, include the following:

Exchange of all issued and outstanding Holding debt and accrued interest thereon totaling \$257,069,318 for \$ in cash and shares of EMJ common stock.

Exchange of warrants to purchase 2,937,915 shares of Holding common stock for exercise price of \$0.01 per share.

Conversion of 11,399,860 issued and outstanding shares (not including 1,938,676 shares held in treasury and retired) of Holding common stock into 11,399,860 shares of EMJ common stock. The difference between the number of shares of Holding common stock converted into EMJ common stock at September 29, 2004 and the number of shares converted at the date of the merger and reorganization is attributable to the shares repurchased from former employees who cashed out their stock bonus plan and former employees who exercised put rights pursuant to Holding s stockholders agreement.

Conversion of 63,045 shares of Holding s Series A Preferred Stock (not including 184,502 shares held in treasury and retired) for \$\ in cash and \quad shares of EMJ common stock. The difference between the number of shares of Holding s Series A Preferred Stock at September 29, 2004 and the number of shares at the date of the merger and reorganization is attributable to the shares repurchased from former employees who cashed out their Stock Bonus Plan.

Conversion of 31,018 shares of Holding s series B preferred stock for \$\\$ in cash and shares of EMJ common stock. The difference between the number of shares of Holding s series B preferred Stock at September 29, 2004 and the number of shares at the date of the merger and financial restructuring is attributable to the shares repurchased from former employees who cashed out their Stock Bonus Plan.

The adjustment to the caption reclassification to value represents the cumulative changes in the market value, based on annual appraisals, related to Holding s preferred and common stock which are converted in the merger and reorganization.

Upon completion of the merger and financial restructuring, subject to the assumptions herein, will be issued and outstanding.

Contingent upon consummation of the merger and financial restructuring and public offering EMJ has committed to pay a taxable bonus to its employees in the aggregate amount of \$7,500,000, to be allocated to such employees in the proportion that the number of shares of Holding common stock allocated to an employee s stock bonus plan account on December 16, 2004 bears to the aggregate number of shares of Holding common stock allocated to the stock bonus plan accounts of all such employees, net of incomes tax at the estimated fiscal 2005 effective rate.

REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

The Board of Directors and Stockholders

Earle M. Jorgensen Holding Company, Inc.

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Earle M. Jorgensen Holding Company, Inc. as of March 31, 2003 and 2004, and the related consolidated statements of operations, consolidated statements of preferred and common stock subject to redemption in certain circumstances, series A preferred stock, series B preferred stock, common stock, capital in excess of par value, stock subscribed, reclassification to value preferred and common stock subject to redemption in certain circumstances to its redemption price, accumulated other comprehensive loss, accumulated deficit and treasury stock and cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended March 31, 2004. These financial statements are the responsibility of the Company s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with auditing standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States). Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also includes assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the consolidated financial position of Earle M. Jorgensen Holding Company, Inc. at March 31, 2003 and 2004, and the consolidated results of its operations and its cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended March 31, 2004 in conformity with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles.

/s/ ERNST & YOUNG LLP

Orange County, California

August 20, 2004

F-29

EARLE M. JORGENSEN HOLDING COMPANY, INC.

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

 $(dollars\ in\ thousands,\ except\ share\ and\ per\ share\ data)$

	Marc	ch 31,	September 29,	
	2003	2004	2004	
			(unaudited)	
ASSETS			, ,	
Current assets:				
Cash and cash equivalents	\$ 45,413	\$ 15,646	\$ 11,592	
Accounts receivable, less allowance for doubtful accounts	97,292	133,092	179,860	
Inventories	213,590	225,248	285,844	
Other current assets	6,402	7,655	8,550	
Total current assets	362,697	381,641	485,846	
Net property, plant and equipment, at cost	113,037	112,190	121,182	
Cash surrender value of life insurance policies	31,007	34,689	46,155	
Debt issue costs, net of accumulated amortization	8,232	6,909	6,249	
Other assets	1,607	1,762	2,454	
Total assets	\$ 516,580	\$ 537,191	661,886	
LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS EQUITY				
Current liabilities:				
Accounts payable	\$ 119,815	\$ 162,648	\$ 178,438	
Accrued employee compensation and related taxes	12,592	19,207	15,895	
Accrued employee benefits	10,766	12,756	14,531	
Accrued interest	25,750	27,607	39,260	
Other accrued liabilities	6,097	8,678	13,060	
Deferred income taxes	19,450	17,517	17,517	
Current portion of long-term debt	2,330	3,976	3,888	
Total current liabilities	196,800	252,389	282,589	
Long-term debt	540,747	531,135	591,419	
Deferred income taxes	15,936	17,869	17,869	
Other long-term liabilities	8,268	9,093	9,388	
Commitments and contingencies	-,	,,,,,,	7, 7, 7, 7	
Stockholders equity:				
Preferred and common stock subject to redemption in certain circumstances, stated at				
redemption price	68,336	95,525	97,726	
Series A preferred stock, \$.01 par value, 13% cumulative (liquidation value of \$24,755);	,	,	,	
600,000 shares authorized; 247,546 shares issued (206,426 and 209,023 shares at stated				
value not subject to redemption at March 31, 2003 and 2004, respectively)	20,643	20,902	20,902	
Series B preferred stock, \$.01 par value, variable rate cumulative (liquidation value of \$28,747); 100,000 shares authorized; 27,080, and 28,747 shares issued at March 31, 2003	12	14	16	

and 2004, respectively (12 and 14 shares at stated value not subject to redemption at March 31, 2003 and 2004, respectively)

51, 2005 and 2001, respectively)			
Common stock, \$.01 par value; 19,500,000 shares authorized; 13,338,536 shares issued at			
March 31, 2003 and 2004 (10,355,602 and 10,582,586 shares at \$.01 par value not subject			
to redemption at March 31, 2003 and 2004, respectively)	104	106	106
Capital in excess of par value	74,867	77,188	77,179
Reclassification to value preferred and common stock subject to redemption in certain			
circumstances to its redemption price	(6,628)	(34,735)	(34,717)
Accumulated other comprehensive (loss) income			
Foreign currency translation adjustment	(485)	(73)	410
Additional minimum pension liability	(3,399)	(2,625)	(2,625)
Accumulated deficit	(342,823)	(370,953)	(339,669)
Less treasury stock at cost (181,905 and 184,502 shares of Series A preferred stock; 0 and			
0 shares of Series B preferred stock, and; 1,701,693 and 1,933,676 shares of common			
stock at March 31, 2003 and 2004, respectively)	(55,798)	(58,644)	(58,707)
Total stockholders equity (deficit)	(245,171)	(273,295)	(239,379)
	(= :3,171)	(=:3 ,2)	(30),01)
Total liabilities and steakholdows agaits:	¢ 516 500	¢ 527 101	¢ 661 006
Total liabilities and stockholders equity	\$ 516,580	\$ 537,191	\$ 661,886

See accompanying notes.

F-30

EARLE M. JORGENSEN HOLDING COMPANY, INC.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS

(dollars in thousands)

Ye	ear Ended Marc	h 31,	Six Months Ended September 29,		
2002	2003	2004	2003	2004	
			(unau	dited)	
\$ 895,058	\$ 919,927	\$ 1,040,367	\$ 469,516	\$ 750,906	
641,991	658,562	754,266	338,414	534,803	
253,067	261,365	286,101	131,102	216,103	
124,457	127,080	135,421	64,826	76,088	
31,932	32,329	38,254	16,632	25,310	
48,295	50,841	42,934	19,398	27,346	
204,684	210,250	216,609	100,856	128,744	
48,383	51,115	69,492	30,246	87,359	
72,433	82,486	89,927	44,194	47,875	
(24,050)	(31,371)	(20,435)	(13,948)	39,484	
455	1,500	3,127	977	5,929	
\$ (24,505)	\$ (32,871)	\$ (23,562)	\$ (14,925)	\$ 33,555	
	2002 \$ 895,058 641,991 253,067 124,457 31,932 48,295 204,684 48,383 72,433 (24,050) 455	2002 2003 \$ 895,058 \$ 919,927 641,991 658,562 253,067 261,365 124,457 127,080 31,932 32,329 48,295 50,841 204,684 210,250 48,383 51,115 72,433 82,486 (24,050) (31,371) 455 1,500	\$895,058 \$919,927 \$1,040,367 641,991 658,562 754,266 253,067 261,365 286,101 124,457 127,080 135,421 31,932 32,329 38,254 48,295 50,841 42,934 204,684 210,250 216,609 48,383 51,115 69,492 72,433 82,486 89,927 (24,050) (31,371) (20,435) 455 1,500 3,127	Year Ended March 31, Septem 2002 2003 2004 2003 \$ 895,058 \$ 919,927 \$ 1,040,367 \$ 469,516 641,991 658,562 754,266 338,414 253,067 261,365 286,101 131,102 124,457 127,080 135,421 64,826 31,932 32,329 38,254 16,632 48,295 50,841 42,934 19,398 204,684 210,250 216,609 100,856 48,383 51,115 69,492 30,246 72,433 82,486 89,927 44,194 (24,050) (31,371) (20,435) (13,948) 455 1,500 3,127 977	

See accompanying notes.

EARLE M. JORGENSEN HOLDING COMPANY, INC.

Consolidated Statements of Preferred and Common Stock Subject to Redemption in Certain Circumstances, Series A Preferred Stock, Series B Preferred Stock, Common Stock, Capital in Excess of Par Value, Stock Subscribed, Reclassification to Value Preferred and Common Stock Subject to Redemption in Certain Circumstances to its Redemption Price, Accumulated Other Comprehensive (Loss)/Income, Accumulated Deficit and Treasury Stock

(dollars in thousands)

	co sul red in	and ommon stock bject to emption certain mstances	Series A preferre stock			mmor tock	•	Sto	ock	s re	lassificatio to value preferred and common stock subject to edemption in certain cumstance to lemption p	Ao Soi	(Loss)	ve Acc	cumulated Deficit	Treasury Stock	Total
Balance at March 31, 2001	\$	85,479	\$ 19,01	6 \$	9	\$ 92	\$ 63,553	\$	3	\$	(10,833)) 5	(1,833)	\$	(276,660)	\$ (39,018)	\$ (160,192)
Comprehensive loss: Net loss Foreign currency translation adjustment Minimum pension liability													(133) 32		(24,505)		(24,505) (133) 32
Comprehensive loss Adjustment to shares of common stock subscribed under stock bonus plan							3		(3)								(24,606)
Stock dividend on Series B 4,405 shares Loss on interest rate swap		4,405			(4,405)				(-)						(4,405)	4,405	
agreement Repurchase of stock for treasury Reclassification to value preferred and common stock subject to redemption in		(14,963)	99	6	5,402	9	6,525				2,029		(2,925)			(14,963)	(2,925)
certain circumstances to its redemption value		859					2,025				(2,886))					(2)
Balance at March 31, 2002		75,780	20,01	2	1,006	101	72,106				(11,690))	(4,859)		(305,570)	(49,576)	(202,690)
Comprehensive loss: Net loss Foreign currency translation adjustment Minimum pension liability													1,200 (3,150)		(32,871)		(32,871) 1,200 (3,150)

Comprehensive loss										(34,821)
Stock dividend on Series										
B 4,382 shares	4,382		(4,382)					(4,382)	4,382	
Issuance of Series B 17 shares			17						(17)	
Reversal of loss on interest										
rate swap agreement										
recognized in net loss							2,925			2,925
Repurchase of stock for										
treasury	(10,587)	631	3,371	3	2,741	3,843			(10,587)	(10,585)
Reclassification to value										
preferred and common stock										
subject to redemption in certain circumstances to its										
	(1.220)				20	1.210				
redemption value	(1,239)				20	1,219				
_										

EARLE M. JORGENSEN HOLDING COMPANY, INC.

Consolidated Statements of Preferred and Common Stock Subject to Redemption in Certain Circumstances, Series A Preferred Stock, Series B Preferred Stock, Common Stock, Capital in Excess of Par Value, Stock Subscribed, Reclassification to Value Preferred and Common Stock Subject to Redemption in Certain Circumstances to its Redemption Price, Accumulated Other Comprehensive (Loss)/Income, Accumulated Deficit and Treasury Stock (continued)

(dollars in thousands)

	Preferred and common stock subject to redemption in certain circumstances	preferred	Series B preferred stock	Common stock	•	Stock	circumstances	Accumulated Other Comprehensive		Treasury Stock	Total
Balance at March 31, 2003	68,336	20,643	12	104	74,867		(6,628)	(3,884)	(342,823)	(55,798)	(245,171)
Comprehensive loss:											
Net loss									(23,562)		(23,562)
Foreign currency translation adjustment								412			412
Minimum pension liability								774			774
Comprehensive loss											(22,376)
Stock dividend on Series											(22,570)
B 4,568 shares including the											
issuance of 1,667 shares			1,667						(4,568)	2,901	
Reclassification of stock											
dividend on Series B for											
shares subject to redemption	4,566		(4,566)								
Issuance of Series A for	1						(1)			1	1
management 2 shares Issuance of Series B for	1						(1)			1	1
management 3 shares	3		(3)							3	3
Issuance of common	3		(5)							5	5
stock 5,585 shares	31				(58)		26			31	30
Repurchase of stock for treasury	(5,754)	259	2,904	2	2,379		210			(5,782)	(5,782)
Reclassification to value preferred and common stock subject to redemption in certain circumstances to its redemption value	28,342				2,079		(28,342)			(0,702)	(0,702)
Balance at March 31, 2004	95,525	20,902	14	106	77,188		(34,735)	(2,698)	(370,953)	(58,644)	(273,295)
							-				
Comprehensive income:											

Edgar Filing: JORGENSEN EARLE M CO /DE/ - Form S-4/A

Net income						33,555	33,555
Foreign currency translation							
adjustment					483		483
Comprehensive income							34,038
Stock dividend on Series							
B 2,271 shares issued		2,271				(2,271)	
Repurchase of stock for							
treasury	(68)		51	18		(63)	(62)
Exercise of stock options			(60)				(60)
Reclassification of stock							
dividend on Series B for							
shares subject to redemption	2,269	(2,269)					
Balance at September 29,							
2004 (unaudited)	\$ 97,726	\$ 20,902 \$ 16	\$ 106 \$ 77,179	\$ \$ (34,717)	\$ (2,215) \$ (3	339,669) \$ (58,707)	\$ (239,379)

See accompanying notes.

EARLE M. JORGENSEN HOLDING COMPANY, INC.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

(dollars in thousands)

Six Months Ended

	Yea	ar Ended March	31,	September 29,		
	2002	2003	2004	2003	2004	
Operating activities:						
Net income (loss)	\$ (24,505)	\$ (32,871)	\$ (23,562)	\$ (14,925)	\$ 33,555	
Adjustments to reconcile net (loss) income to net cash provided by						
operating activities:						
Loss on early retirement of debt		12,278				
Depreciation and amortization	11,449	11,369	11,284	5,645	5,737	
Amortization and write-off of debt issue costs included in interest						
expense	1,792	1,416	1,323	661	660	
Accrued postretirement benefits	249	498	619	375	401	
Gain on sale of property, plant and equipment	(36)	(183)	(1,335)	(1,165)	(17)	
Provision for bad debts	2,434	2,649	2,880	1,250	1,354	
Increase in cash surrender value of life insurance over premiums paid	(2,174)	(2,242)	(5,276)	(10,606)	(10,406)	
Interest paid in kind on senior subordinated note principal	28,601	34,059	38,223		20,509	
Changes in operating assets and liabilities:	15 510	(10.662)	(20, (00)	(0.540)	(40, 100)	
Decrease (increase) in accounts receivable Decrease (increase) in inventories	15,510 31,712	(10,662)	(38,680)	(8,542)	(48,122)	
Decrease (increase) in inventories Decrease (increase) in other current assets	1,012	(26,722) 134	(11,658) (1,932)	(10,016) (918)	(60,596) (894)	
(Decrease) increase in accounts payable and accrued liabilities and	1,012	134	(1,932)	(918)	(894)	
expenses	(52,163)	42,090	55,912	7,246	30,288	
Decrease (increase) in non-trade receivables	1,681	(1,637)	679	(1,323)	30,288	
Other	(967)	1,109	1,144	1,254	(280)	
One		1,107		1,234	(200)	
Net cash provided by (used in) operating activities	14,595	31,285	29,621	(31,064)	(27,811)	
Investing activities:						
Additions to property, plant and equipment	(24,531)	(15,335)	(10,530)	(4,293)	(14,668)	
Proceeds from the sale of property, plant and equipment	116	2,440	1,535	1,351	9	
Premiums paid on life insurance policies	(1,461)	(1,335)	(1,298)	(1,198)	(1,184)	
Proceeds from redemption of life insurance policies	1,124	195	2,892	1,340	124	
Net cash used in investing activities	(24,752)	(14,035)	(7,401)	(2,800)	(15,719)	
Financing activities:						
Net borrowings (payments) under revolving loan agreements	25,111	(9,958)	(19,399)	9,554	41,087	
Repayment of senior subordinated notes	25,111	(5,550)	(25,390)	7,551	11,007	
Proceeds from issuance of senior notes		250,000	(20,000)			
Repayment of term loan		(96,000)				
Repayment of senior notes		(105,000)		(6,155)		
Payment of debt issue costs		(10,669)				
-						

Edgar Filing: JORGENSEN EARLE M CO /DE/ - Form S-4/A

Other costs paid in connection with early retirement of debt		(9,596)			
Other debt payments, net	(2,400)	(1,400)	(1,400)	(1,400)	(1,400)
Purchase of stock, net	(14,963)	(10,587)	(5,781)	(71)	(123)
Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities	7,748	6,790	(51,970)	1,928	39,564
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash	2	1	(17)	17	(88)
Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents	(2,407)	24,041	(29,767)	(31,919)	(4,054)
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period	23,779	21,372	45,413	45,413	15,646
Cash and cash equivalents at end of period	\$ 21,372	\$ 45,413	\$ 15,646	\$ 13,494	\$ 11,592

See accompanying notes.

F-34

EARLE M. JORGENSEN HOLDING COMPANY, INC.

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(Information as of September 29, 2004 and for the six months ended September 29, 2003 and 2004 is unaudited)

1. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Basis of Presentation and Consolidation The accompanying consolidated financial statements include the accounts of Earle M. Jorgensen Holding Company, Inc. (the Company or Parent) and its wholly-owned subsidiary Earle M. Jorgensen Company (EMJ), and EMJ s subsidiaries, Earle M. Jorgensen (Canada) Inc. (EMJ (Canada)) and Stainless Insurance Ltd., a captive insurance subsidiary (EMJ (Bermuda)). In fiscal years 2002, 2003, 2004 and the six months ended September 29, 2003 and 2004, EMJ (Canada) generated net income (loss) of \$(325,000), \$1,153,000, \$3,282,000, \$1,377,000 and \$3,871,000, respectively. In fiscal years 2002, 2003 and 2004 and the six months ended September 29, 2003 and 2004, EMJ (Bermuda) generated net income (loss) of \$(2,056,000), \$540,000, \$(609,000), \$(27,000) and \$(20,000), respectively, including investment income and intercompany fees. The loss in fiscal years 2002 and 2004 and first six months of fiscal years 2004 and 2005 was attributable to higher loss reserves established in connection with the Company s self-insured workers compensation program. All significant intercompany accounts and transactions have been eliminated.

Company Background and Segment Information EMJ distributes a broad line of bar, tubing, plate and various other metal products and value added services through a network of 36 service centers and value-added processing operations strategically located throughout North America. Metals products sold by EMJ are purchased from various primary metal producers and suppliers, none of which provided more than 10% of EMJ s total purchases in fiscal year 2004. EMJ has over 35,000 customers, none of which represented more than 2% of EMJ s gross revenues in fiscal year 2004.

For financial reporting purposes, EMJ operates in one reportable segment the metals service center industry as determined in accordance with SFAS No. 131, Disclosures About Segments of an Enterprise and Related Information.

Reclassification Certain amounts reported in prior years have been reclassified to conform to the 2004 presentation.

Use of Estimates The preparation of financial statements in conformity with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles requires management to make estimates and judgments that affect the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses and related disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities. Actual results could differ significantly from those estimates and judgments under different assumptions and conditions.

Interim Financial Information (Unaudited) The accompanying consolidated financial statements at September 29, 2004 and for the six months ended September 29, 2003 and 2004 are unaudited. In the opinion of management, these consolidated financial statements have been prepared on the same basis as the audited consolidated financial statements included herein and include all adjustments, consisting of only normal

recurring adjustments, necessary for the fair statement of results of the interim period.

Revenue Recognition EMJ recognizes revenue associated with a sales order when product is shipped, title is passed and collectibility is reasonably assured.

Shipping and Handling Costs Costs incurred in connection with shipping and handling EMJ s products are classified as warehouse and delivery expenses in the accompanying statements of operations.

Accounts Receivable and Concentration of Credit Risk EMJ sells the majority of its products throughout the United States and Canada. Sales to EMJ s recurring customers are generally made on open account terms while sales to occasional customers are made on a C.O.D. basis when collectibility is not assured. EMJ performs periodic credit evaluations of its ongoing customers and generally does not require collateral. EMJ establishes an

F-35

EARLE M. JORGENSEN HOLDING COMPANY, INC.

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

allowance for potential credit losses based upon factors surrounding the credit risk for specific customers, historical trends and other information; such losses have been within management s expectations, and were higher in fiscal year 2004 when compared to fiscal years 2002 and 2003. EMJ s allowance for doubtful accounts at March 31, 2003 and 2004 and at September 29, 2004, was \$390,000, \$601,000 and \$1,208,000, respectively. Management believes there are no significant concentrations of credit risk as of March 31, 2004 and September 29, 2004.

Property, Plant and Equipment Property, plant and equipment is recorded at cost. Additions, renewals and betterments are capitalized; maintenance and repairs, which do not extend useful lives, are expensed as incurred. Gains or losses from disposals are reflected in income and the related costs and accumulated depreciation are removed from the accounts. Depreciation and amortization is computed using the straight-line method over the estimated useful lives of 10 to 40 years for buildings and improvements and three to 20 years for machinery and equipment. Leasehold improvements are amortized over the terms of the respective leases. Depreciation expense was \$9,787,000, \$9,703,000 and \$5,737,000 in fiscal 2003 and 2004 and September 29, 2004, respectively.

EMJ capitalizes certain costs incurred during the development of software used internally and amortizes such costs over their estimated useful lives. During fiscal years 2002, 2003, 2004 and for the three months ended September 29, 2004 such costs totaling \$414,000, \$220,000, \$274,000 and \$109,000, respectively, were capitalized.

Long-lived assets, primarily land, buildings, leasehold improvements and certain equipment, used in operations or which are expected to be disposed of are reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that full recoverability is questionable. Factors used in the evaluation include, but are not limited to, future plans for the operations, recent operating results and forecasted cash flows. When indicators of impairment are present and the undiscounted cash flows estimated to be generated by those assets are less than the carrying value of the assets, the assets are written down and an impairment loss is recognized. There were no impairment losses recorded in fiscal years 2002, 2003, 2004 and the first six months ended September 29, 2004.

Debt Issue Costs Debt issue costs are deferred and amortized to interest expense over the life of the underlying indebtedness. For the fiscal years ended March 31, 2002, 2003 and 2004, amortization of debt issue costs were \$1,792,000, \$1,416,000 and \$1,323,000, respectively. Accumulated amortization of debt issue costs was \$1,263,000 and \$2,586,000 at March 31, 2003 and 2004, respectively.

Stock-Based Compensation Stock options granted to directors, officers and other key employees of the Company under the stock option plan adopted in January 1997 are accounted for in accordance with APB No. 25. As all stock option grants were made at fair value on the date of grant, EMJ recognizes no compensation cost has been recognized by the Company for the fiscal years ended March 31, 2001, 2002 and 2003. Had compensation expense for stock options granted been recorded based on the fair value method under SFAS No. 123, as amended by SFAS No. 148, Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation Transition and Disclosure, the effect on the Company s net income for fiscal years 2002, 2003, 2004 and the six months ended September 29, 2003 and 2004 would have been as follows:

Six Month Ended

	Ye	ar Ended March 3	31,	September 29,		
	2002	2003	2004	2003	2004	
				(unaud	lited)	
Net (loss) income, as reported	\$ (24,505,000)	\$ (32,871,000)	\$ (23,562,000)	\$ (14,925,000)	\$ 33,555,000	
Deduct: total stock-based compensation expense determined using fair value method for all awards,						
net of tax	(209,000)	(138,000)	(74,000)	(49,000)	(17,000)	
Net (loss) income, as adjusted	\$ (24,714,000)	\$ (33,009,000)	\$ (23,636,000)	\$ (14,974,000)	\$ 33,538,000	

EARLE M. JORGENSEN HOLDING COMPANY, INC.

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

Income Taxes The Company includes EMJ in its consolidated tax returns and calculates its tax provision as though it files on a separate basis. The consolidated tax liability of the Company and EMJ is allocated to each of these entities pursuant to a Tax Allocation Agreement between the Company and EMJ (Tax Allocation Agreement). Under the Tax Allocation Agreement, the Company pays all taxes and is reimbursed by EMJ for the lesser of (i) EMJ s allocated portion of taxes due, or (ii) the tax that would be payable if EMJ filed its own returns.

The Company records deferred taxes based upon differences between the financial statement and tax basis of assets and liabilities pursuant to SFAS No. 109, *Accounting for Income Taxes*, as though it files on a separate basis. Any differences in deferred taxes determined on a separate basis and the actual payments made or received under the Tax Allocation Agreement are accounted for as an equity adjustment between the Company and EMJ. There were no such differences in fiscal year 2004. Deferred taxes are also recorded for the future benefit of Federal and state tax losses and tax credit carryforwards. Consistent with SFAS No. 109, a valuation allowance has been recognized for certain deferred tax assets, which management believes are not likely to be realized (see Note 6).

Foreign Currency Translation The financial statements of foreign subsidiaries are translated into U.S. dollars in accordance with SFAS No. 52, Foreign Currency Translation. Balance sheet accounts are translated using the period-end exchange rates while income statement amounts are translated using the average exchange rates for each year. Adjustments resulting from translation of foreign currency financial statements are included in accumulated other comprehensive loss in stockholders equity. No significant exchange gains and losses were recorded during fiscal 2002, 2003 and 2004.

Cash and Statements of Cash Flows Cash includes disbursements and deposits not yet funded by or applied to EMJ s Revolving Credit Facility as of a balance sheet date and cash and cash equivalents totaling \$2,940,000 and \$2,004,000 as of March 31, 2003 and 2004, respectively, held by EMJ (Bermuda) in connection with providing insurance to EMJ. EMJ considers all highly liquid investments purchased with a maturity of three months or less to be cash equivalents.

For the years ended March 31, 2002, 2003 and 2004 cash paid for interest on borrowings was \$39,942,000, \$37,674,000, and \$48,623,000 and net cash paid (refunded) for income taxes was \$403,000, \$(551,000) and \$671,000, respectively.

Comprehensive Income Components of the EMJ s comprehensive income include foreign currency translation adjustments, additional minimum pension liability and accounting for certain derivatives.

Impact of Recently Issued Accounting Standards

In December 2003, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) issued Statement of Financial Accounting Standards (SFAS) No. 132 (revised December 2003), *Employers Disclosures about Pensions and Other Postretirement Benefits (SFAS 132-R)*. This statement amends the disclosure requirements of SFAS 132 to require more details about retirement plan assets, benefit obligations, cash flows and other relevant information. SFAS 132-R is effective for years ending after December 15, 2003, except certain benefit payment and international plan disclosures that are effective for fiscal years after June 15, 2004. The adoption of the disclosure provisions of SFAS 132-R did not have a material effect on the Company s consolidated financial statements.

In May 2003, the FASB issued SFAS No. 150, Accounting for Certain Financial Instruments with Characteristics of both Liabilities and Equity, for how an issuer classifies and measures certain financial instruments with characteristics of both liabilities and equities. The provisions of SFAS No. 150 are effective for

F-37

EARLE M. JORGENSEN HOLDING COMPANY, INC.

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

financial instruments entered into or modified after May 31, 2003. This statement did not have an effect on the accompanying consolidated condensed financial statements as of and for the periods ending March 31, 2004 and September 29, 2004.

In April 2003, FASB issued SFAS No. 149, *Amendment of Statement 133 on Derivative Instruments and Hedging Transaction*, which amends and clarifies financial accounting and reporting for derivative instruments, including those embedded in other contracts, and for hedging activities under SFAS No. 133, *Accounting for Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities*. The provisions of SFAS No. 149 are effective for contracts entered into or modified after June 30, 2003. As of March 31, 2004 and September 29, 2004, the Company had no such instruments.

In December 2003, the FASB issued FASB Interpretation No. 46 (Revised), *Consolidation of Variable Interest Entities* (FIN No. 46-R). FIN 46-R provides the principles to consider in determining when variable interest entities must be consolidated in the financial statements of the primary beneficiary. In general, a variable interest entity used for business purposes that either (1) does not have equity investors with voting rights or (2) has equity investors that are not required to provide sufficient financial resources for the entity to support its activities without additional subordinated financial support. FIN 46-R requires a variable interest entity to be consolidated by a company if that company is subject to a majority of the risk of loss from the variable interest entity s activities or entitled to receive a majority of the entity s residual returns or both. This statement did not have an effect on the accompanying consolidated financial statements as of and for the periods ended March 31, 2004 and September 29, 2004.

2. Inventories

Substantially all inventories are held for sale at EMJ s service center locations and are valued at the lower of cost (using the last-in, first-out (LIFO) method) or market. If the Company had used the first-in, first-out (FIFO) method of inventory valuation, inventories would have been lower by \$11,786,000 at March 31, 2003 and higher by \$2,557,000 and \$26,962,000 at March 31, 2004 and September 29, 2004, respectively.

Any reduction of inventory quantities that liquidates LIFO inventories carried at costs lower or higher than costs prevailing in prior years may have a significant effect on EMJ s gross profit. Such a reduction and liquidation occurred during fiscal year 2002 and fiscal year 2004 but did not have a significant effect on gross profit. There were no such reductions in fiscal year 2003.

3. Net Property, Plant and Equipment

Property, plant and equipment (including in-process costs for assets not yet placed in service) and accumulated depreciation at March 31, 2003 and 2004 and September 29, 2004 consisted of the following:

	March 31,	March 31,	September 29,
	2003	2004	2004
			(unaudited)
Land	\$ 18,867,000	\$ 18,622,000	\$ 18,822,000
Buildings and leasehold improvements	51,056,000	52,196,000	58,253,000
Machinery and equipment	118,166,000	116,319,000	118,210,000
In-process costs	6,807,000	1,921,000	8,548,000
	194,896,000	189,058,000	203,833,000
Less accumulated depreciation	81,859,000	76,868,000	82,651,000
Net property, plant and equipment	\$ 113,037,000	\$ 112,190,000	\$ 121,182,000

EARLE M. JORGENSEN HOLDING COMPANY, INC.

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

The in-process costs at March 31, 2004 and September 29, 2004 are primarily attributable to progress payments made on equipment for EMJ s tube honing facility in Tulsa, Oklahoma and building renovation in EMJ s Tulsa, Oklahoma service center. September 29, 2004 in-process costs also include costs associated with renovation of the Company s replacement facility in Houston, Texas, expansion of EMJ s Wrightsville, Pennsylvania facility and the new construction of EMJ s building in Birmingham, Alabama. As of March 31, 2004 and September 29, 2004 such costs include \$1,300,000 and \$8,222,000, respectively. Estimated remaining costs to be incurred in connection with these projects totaled \$800,000 at March 31, 2004 and at September 29, 2004 these projects were essentially completed.

4. Cash Surrender Value of Life Insurance

EMJ is the owner and beneficiary of life insurance policies on all former nonunion employees of a predecessor company including certain current employees of EMJ. EMJ is also the owner and beneficiary of key man life insurance policies on certain current and former executives of EMJ and predecessor companies. These policies are designed to provide cash to EMJ to repurchase shares held by employees in the Plan and shares held individually by employees upon the termination of their employment. Cash surrender value of the life insurance policies increases by a portion of the amount of premiums paid and by dividend income earned under the policies. Dividend income earned under the policies totaled \$13,521,000, \$17,156,000, \$17,751,000, \$7,915,000 and \$9,940,000 in fiscal years 2002, 2003, 2004 and the six months ended September 29, 2003 and 2004, respectively, and is recorded as an offset to general and administrative expense in the accompanying statements of operations.

EMJ has borrowed against the cash surrender value of certain policies to pay a portion of the premiums and accrued interest on those policies and to fund working capital needs. Interest rates on borrowings under the life insurance policies are fixed at 11.76%. As of March 31, 2004 and September 29, 2004, approximately \$10,295,000 and \$19,782,000, respectively, was available for future borrowings. The following table provides the cash surrender value and the loans outstanding at March 31, 2003 and 2004.

	Cash Surrender		Net cash
	value before loans	Loans Outstanding	surrender value
Balance at March 31, 2003	\$ 195,976,000	\$ 164,969,000	\$ 31,007,000
Balance at March 31, 2004	217,320,000	182,631,000	34,689,000

Interest on cash surrender value borrowings totaled \$15,996,000, \$17,796,000, \$20,082,000, \$9,822,000 and \$10,753,000 in fiscal years 2002, 2003, 2004 and the six months ended September 29, 2003 and 2004, respectively, and is included in net interest expense in the accompanying statements of operations.

EARLE M. JORGENSEN HOLDING COMPANY, INC.

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

5. Long-Term Debt

Long-term debt at March 31, 2003 and 2004 and September 29, 2004 consisted of the following:

	March 31, 2003	March 31, 2004	September 29, 2004
			(unaudited)
Revolving Loans (including \$1,195,000, \$1,861,000 and			
\$2,673,000 at March 31, 2003 and 2004 and September 29, 2004,			
respectively, related to a Canadian facility)	\$ 72,937,000	\$ 53,538,000	\$ 94,625,000
9 ³ /4% Senior Secured Notes due June 1, 2012	250,000,000	250,000,000	250,000,000
Variable Rate Senior Notes due June 30, 2013	212,540,000	225,373,000	245,882,000
Industrial Development Revenue Bonds:			
Payable in annual installments of \$500,000 commencing June 1,			
1998, interest at 9%	1,500,000	1,000,000	500,000
Payable in annual installments of \$715,000 commencing December			
1, 2004, interest at 5.25%	4,300,000	4,300,000	4,300,000
Payable in annual installments of \$900,000 commencing			
September 1, 2000, interest at 8.5%	1,800,000	900,000	
	543,077,000	535,111,000	595,307,000
Less current portion	2,330,000	3,976,000	3,888,000
•			
	\$ 540,747,000	\$ 531,135,000	\$ 591,419,000

Aggregate maturities of long-term debt are as follows: \$3,976,000 in fiscal year 2005; \$1,215,000 in fiscal year 2006; \$52,392,000 in fiscal year 2007, \$715,000 in fiscal year 2008, \$715,000 in 2009 and \$476,098,000 thereafter.

The fair value of the 9³/4% Senior Secured Notes at March 31, 2004 was \$280,000,000 based on the quoted market prices as of that date. The carrying values of all other long-term debt and other financial instruments at March 31, 2004 approximate fair value.

On May 22, 2002, EMJ completed the issuance and sale of 9³/4% senior secured notes due 2012 totaling \$250,000,000, the proceeds from which were used to (i) redeem \$105 million in aggregate principal amount of the outstanding 9¹/2% senior secured notes, plus call premium and accrued interest, (ii) prepay \$96 million of the term loan plus accrued interest, (iii) terminate the interest rate swap agreement. As a result of this refinancing transaction, EMJ recorded a loss of \$12,278,000 related to the early retirement of debt, consisting of the call premium paid, a payment to terminate the interest rate swap agreement, the write-off of deferred financing costs, and certain other expenses incurred in

connection with the refinancing transaction. No tax benefit was recorded in connection with this loss due to the uncertainty in realizing the resulting deferred tax asset.

Credit Agreements

EMJ s revolving credit facility (Credit Agreement), allows maximum borrowings of \$200 million, including letters of credit (\$8,560,000 outstanding at March 31, 2004 and \$7,252,000 outstanding at September 29, 2004). Borrowings under the Credit Agreement bear interest at a base rate (generally defined as the greater of the bank s prime lending rate or 0.5% over the Federal Funds Rate) plus 1.25% or the adjusted Eurodollar rate plus 2.50%. At March 31, 2004, the bank s prime lending rate was 4.00% and the Eurodollar rate was 1.09%. In addition,

F-40

EARLE M. JORGENSEN HOLDING COMPANY, INC.

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

borrowings under the revolving loans are limited to an amount equal to 85% of eligible trade receivables (as defined) plus 55% of eligible inventories (as defined). Unused available borrowings under the revolving loans totaled \$139,763,000 at March 31, 2004 and \$100,796,000 at September 29, 2004. The Credit Agreement matures on April 7, 2006 and is secured by a lien on all domestic inventory and accounts receivable of EMJ.

Under the Credit Agreement, EMJ is obligated to pay certain fees including an unused commitment fee of 0.5%, payable quarterly in arrears, and letter of credit fees of 2.50% per annum of the maximum amount available to be drawn under each letter of credit, payable quarterly in arrears, plus issuance, fronting, amendment and other standard fees. EMJ paid loan commitment fees totaling \$480,000, \$584,000, \$447,000, \$225,000 and \$202,000, respectively, in fiscal years 2002, 2003, 2004 and for the six months ended September 29, 2003 and 2004.

The Credit Agreement contains financial covenants in respect of maintenance of minimum working capital and a fixed charge coverage ratio (as defined). The Credit Agreement also limits, among other things, the incurrence of liens and other indebtedness, mergers, consolidations, the sale of assets, annual capital expenditures, advances, investments and loans by EMJ and its subsidiaries, dividends and other restricted payments by EMJ and its subsidiaries in respect to their capital stock, and certain transactions with affiliates.

EMJ s Canadian subsidiary maintains a one year renewable credit facility (the Canadian Facility) totaling C\$9,000,000 including (i) a revolving credit facility of C\$5,500,000, (ii) a term financial instruments facility of C\$3,000,000 for hedging foreign currency and rate fluctuations (unused as of March 31, 2004), and (iii) a special credit facility for the issuance of a letter of guarantee up to C\$500,000 in connection with the lease for the Toronto facility. Borrowings under the revolving credit facility are limited to an amount equal to 80% of eligible trade receivables (as defined) plus 40% of eligible inventories (as defined, and limited to C\$1,500,000), are repayable on demand, and bear interest at the bank s annual prime lending rate plus 0.50%. At March 31, 2004, the interest rate on the revolving credit facility was 4.50%. The revolving credit facility contains financial covenants in respect of maintenance of minimum equity and a debt-to-equity ratio (as defined) and has other restrictions similar to those under the amended Credit Agreement, as described above.

Senior Secured Notes

On May 22, 2002, EMJ refinanced its 9 \(^{1}/2\%\) senior notes and variable rate term loan by issuing \(^{2}50\) million of 9 \(^{3}/4\%\) Senior Secured Notes due June 2012. The 9 \(^{3}/4\%\) Senior Secured Notes were issued at par and interest payments are made semi-annually on June 1 and December 1, commencing on December 1, 2002. The 9 \(^{3}/4\%\) Senior Secured Notes are secured by a first-priority lien (subject to permitted liens) on substantially all of EMJ s existing and future acquired unencumbered property, plant and equipment and may be redeemed by EMJ under certain conditions and with certain restrictions at varying redemption prices. The Indenture to the 9 \(^{3}/4\%\) Senior Secured Notes contains certain covenants which limit, among other things, the incurrence of liens and other indebtedness, mergers, consolidations, the sale of assets, investments and loans, dividends and other distributions, and certain transactions with affiliates.

Variable Rate Senior Notes

In fiscal 1993, the Company and EMJ entered into an agreement with Kelso Investment Associates IV, LP (KIA IV), wherein KIA IV agreed to surrender \$55 million of subordinated notes issued by EMJ in fiscal 1991 in exchange for \$55 million in principal amount of variable rate senior notes due March 20, 2001 (Old Notes) issued by the Company and warrants entitling KIA IV to purchase up to 10% of the common stock of the Company on a fully diluted basis at an exercise price of \$.01 per share, exercisable immediately. On March 24, 1998, an amendment to the agreement between the Company and KIA IV was consummated, whereby the Old

F-41

EARLE M. JORGENSEN HOLDING COMPANY, INC.

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

Notes, including interest paid in kind, were exchanged for two variable rate senior notes totaling \$92,181,000 (Notes). The Notes are due on June 30, 2013 and bear interest at a variable rate ranging from 18% to 20% (18% as of March 31, 2004). The Notes are structurally subordinated to the indebtedness of EMJ and payments of principal and interest on the Notes is dependent on the ability of EMJ to make dividends to the Company, which ability is restricted by covenants contained in the Credit Agreement and the indenture governing the Senior Secured Notes. The Company pledged all of the outstanding common stock of EMJ as collateral securing the repayment of the Notes.

Derivative Instrument

In June 1998, EMJ entered into an interest rate swap agreement with Deutsche Bank Trust Company Americas (DBTCA) that effectively fixed the interest rate on the variable rate term loan at approximately 9.05% through June 2003 (the Fixed Rate). Such agreement required DBTCA to make payments to EMJ each quarter in an amount equal to the product of the notional amount of \$95 million and the difference between the three month London Interbank Offered Rate and 3.25% (Floating LIBOR) and the Fixed Rate, if the Floating LIBOR was greater than the Fixed Rate on a per diem basis. If Floating LIBOR was lower than the Fixed Rate, EMJ was required to pay DBTCA an amount equal to the product of the notional amount and the difference between the Fixed Rate and Floating LIBOR on a per diem basis. Under the provisions described above, net payments (receipts) in fiscal years 2001 and 2002 were \$(721,000) and \$2,248,000, respectively. Because the interest rate swap agreement was terminated in May 2002 in connection with the prepayment of EMJ s term loan resulting from the issuance and sale of the \$\frac{9}{4}\% senior secured notes described above, no quarterly settlements were required in fiscal year 2003.

The interest rate swap agreement was considered a highly effective cash flow hedge under the provisions of SFAS No. 133, as amended, which was adopted by EMJ effective April 1, 2001. Under SFAS No. 133, the effective portion of gain or loss resulting from changes in the fair value of the interest rate swap agreement is reported in other comprehensive income while the ineffective portion is recognized in net income. For the year ended March 31, 2002, a loss of \$2,925,000 was recognized in other comprehensive income and a loss of \$100,000 was recognized in net income. As of March 31, 2002, the interest rate swap agreement represented a long-term liability with a fair market value of \$3,025,000, as calculated under the provisions of SFAS No. 133. In connection with the issuance and sale of the 9 3/4% senior secured notes, EMJ paid \$3,025,000 to terminate the interest rate swap agreement, which was recognized as part of the loss of \$12,278,000 related to the early retirement of debt.

Other

EMJ s industrial revenue development bonds were issued in connection with significant facility improvements or construction projects.

F-42

EARLE M. JORGENSEN HOLDING COMPANY, INC.

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

6. Income Taxes

Significant components of the provision for income taxes attributable to continuing operations for the years ended March 31, 2001, 2002 and 2003 were as follows:

	2002	2003	2004
Current:			
Federal	\$ (49,000)	\$ 435,000	\$
State	492,000	492,000	1,458,000
Foreign	12,000	573,000	1,669,000
Total current	455,000	1,500,000	3,127,000
Deferred:			
Federal	(8,957,000)	(998,000)	(10,267,000)
State	(1,067,000)	(623,000)	(733,000)
Valuation allowances	10,024,000	1,621,000	11,000,000
Total deferred			
	\$ 455,000	\$ 1,500,000	\$ 3,127,000

The reconciliation of the income tax provision differs from that which would result from applying the U.S. statutory rate for the years ended March 31, 2002, 2003 and 2004 were as follows:

	2002	2003	2004
Expected tax (benefit) at Federal statutory rate	\$ (8,426,000)	\$ (6,683,000)	\$ (7,152,000)
State franchise tax expense and capital taxes, net of Federal taxes	320,000	320,000	947,000
Disallowed applicable high yield debt interest expense	4,136,000	4,925,000	5,385,000
Expiration of capital loss carryforward		5,618,000	
Net increase in cash surrender values of life insurance	(4,732,000)	(6,005,000)	(6,213,000)
Change in valuation allowance	10,024,000	1,621,000	11,000,000
Other	(867,000)	1,704,000	(840,000)

Income tax provision \$ 455,000 \$ 1,500,000 \$ 3,127,000

The change of \$11,000,000 in the valuation allowance for deferred tax assets as of March 31, 2004 was due to the generation of a current year tax loss, offset by the expiration of a capital loss carryforward in fiscal year 2004.

Income before taxes consists primarily of income from EMJ s domestic operations. For fiscal years 2002, 2003 and 2004, the Company s foreign operations, including the captive insurance subsidiary, generated pre-tax income (loss) of \$(2,369,000), \$2,267,000 and \$4,342,000, respectively.

F-43

EARLE M. JORGENSEN HOLDING COMPANY, INC.

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

Significant components of the Company s deferred income tax assets and liabilities at March 31, 2003 and 2004 were as follows:

	2003	2004
Deferred tax liabilities:		
Tax over book depreciation	\$ 7,342,000	\$ 8,889,000
Purchase price adjustments	35,846,000	35,210,000
Total deferred tax liabilities	43,188,000	44,099,000
Deferred tax assets:		
Applicable high yield debt interest	36,690,000	39,678,000
Net operating loss and credit carryforwards	22,860,000	31,625,000
Workers compensation and other insurance accruals	4,278,000	3,438,000
Inventory and related reserves	4,105,000	5,024,000
Other	1,096,000	1,175,000
Valuation allowance for deferred tax assets	(61,227,000)	(72,227,000)
Net deferred tax assets	7,802,000	8,713,000
Net deferred tax liabilities	\$ 35,386,000	\$ 35,386,000

At March 31, 2004, EMJ had net operating loss carryforwards of \$79,167,000 for Federal income tax purposes and \$29,870,000 for State income tax purposes. The Federal carryforwards resulted from EMJ s losses during 1993, 1996, 2002 and 2003, and expire in years 2008, 2011, 2022 and 2023, respectively, while the State carryforwards were generated in various states over various years. The ultimate realization of the benefits of these loss carryforwards is dependent on future profitable operations. In addition, use of EMJ s net operating loss carryforwards and other tax attributes may be substantially limited if a cumulative change in ownership of more than 50% occurs within any three year period subsequent to a loss year. At March 31, 2004, EMJ had an alternative minimum tax carryforward of approximately \$2,116,000 which can be utilized over an indefinite period of time.

On September 11, 2002, new tax laws were enacted in California that suspend the use of net operating tax carryforwards into years beginning on or after January 1, 2002 and 2003. Accordingly, net operating losses generated in California in prior tax years cannot be used to offset EMJ s taxable income for the years ending March 31, 2003 and 2004. This suspension will not apply to tax years beginning on or after January 1, 2004 and did not have material impact on EMJ s results of operations for the year ended March 31, 2004.

The Company has not provided for taxes on undistributed earnings from its non-U.S. subsidiaries because such earnings are intended to be re-invested indefinitely. If these earnings were distributed, foreign tax credits may become available under current tax law to reduce the resulting U.S. tax liability.

Income tax expense for the first six months of fiscal 2005 and 2004 included provisions for state and franchise and foreign income taxes. The federal tax rate for the first six months of fiscal 2005 was 6%, and was lower than the U.S. federal statutory tax rate primarily due to the recognition of tax benefits associated with the utilization of loss carryforwards. The federal tax provision for the first six months of fiscal 2004 was offset by the recognition of tax benefits associated with loss carryforwards, which for Holding were greater than the loss carryforwards for EMJ on a consolidated basis. Income tax expense has been provided for the three and six months ended September 29, 2004 based on the Company s estimated effective income tax rate for fiscal 2005.

F-44

EARLE M. JORGENSEN HOLDING COMPANY, INC.

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

7. Employee Benefit Plans

Stock Bonus Plan

The Company has a stock bonus plan (the Plan, formerly an employee stock ownership plan (ESOP) prior to April 1, 1999) which covers nonunion employees of EMJ who meet certain service requirements. The cost of the Plan is borne by EMJ through annual contributions to a trust in amounts determined by the Board of Directors. Prior to an agreement reached with the Department of Labor in January 2003 (see Note 10), contributions were made in cash or shares of the Company's stock as the Company's Board of Directors may from time to time determine. Participants vest at a rate of 20% per year of service and become fully vested at age 65 or upon retirement, disability or death. Upon the occurrence of a participant stermination (as defined), retirement, disability, or death, the Plan is required to distribute the vested balance in stock and to repurchase the vested balance for cash. If stock is distributed, it is accompanied by a put option to the Company under terms defined in the Plan. Shares of the Company's Series A and B preferred and common stock owned by the Plan totaled 38,282, 28,730 and 2,652,874 at March 31, 2004, and 38,282, 30,999, 2,652,874 at September 29, 2004, respectively. For fiscal years ended March 31, 2002, 2003, 2004 and the six months ended September 29, 2003 and 2004, contributions accrued to the Plan's trust totaled \$2,831,000, \$2,772,000, \$2,783,000, \$1,541,000 and \$2,070,000 which represented 5% of eligible compensation for each of the respective periods. The contributions payable as of March 31, 2002, 2003, 2004, have been or will be paid in cash. EMJ recognizes the cost of the Plan as compensation expense with a corresponding amount reflected in its capital for value of the Company's common stock contributed to the trust by the Company, or as a dividend to the Company for contributions paid in cash.

Although the Company has not expressed any intent to terminate or amend the plan, it has the right to do so at any time. In the event of any termination, participants become fully vested to the extent of the balances in their separate accounts and come under the put options as previously discussed.

Pension Plans

EMJ maintains a noncontributory defined benefit pension plan covering substantially all hourly union employees (the Hourly Plan). Benefits under the Hourly Plan are vested after five years and are determined based on years of service and a benefit rate that is negotiated with each union. The assets of the Hourly Plan for participants are held in trust and consist of bonds, equity securities and insurance contracts. EMJ contributes at least the minimum required annually under ERISA. EMJ also maintains an unfunded supplemental pension plan, which provides benefits to highly compensated employees; this plan has been frozen to include only existing participants (the Supplemental Plan).

EARLE M. JORGENSEN HOLDING COMPANY, INC.

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

Components of net periodic pension cost (credit) associated with EMJ s pension plans for years ended March 31, 2002, 2003, 2004 and six months ended September 29, 2003 and 2004 are as follows:

Six Months Ended

		2003	2004	September 29,	
	2002			2003	2004
				(unau	dited)
Service cost of benefits earned during the					
period	\$ 433,000	\$ 432,000	\$ 523,000	\$ 261,000	\$ 320,000
Interest cost on projected benefit obligation	784,000	843,000	879,000	420,000	489,000
Expected return on plan assets	(1,017,000)	(864,000)	(763,000)	(382,000)	(503,000)
Amortization of prior service cost	(95,000)	(47,000)	(37,000)	(19,000)	37,000
Recognized net (gain) loss	(66,000)	21,000	267,000	121,000	50,000
Net periodic pension cost (credit)	\$ 39,000	\$ 385,000	\$ 869,000	\$ 401,000	\$ 393,000

Categories of Plan assets	2003	2004
Bonds	13%	14%
Stocks	87%	86%

During fiscal year 2005, a contribution of \$700,000 was made.

The plan is 100% invested in Wells Fargo Asset Allocations Collective Investment Fund (the Fund). The Fund seeks long-term total return, consistent with reasonable risk, by shifting investments among stocks and U.S. Treasury long-term bonds using a quantitative asset allocation strategy. The Fund invests in common stocks that comprise the S&P 500 Index and bonds that comprise the Lehman Brothers 20+ Treasury Index. The Fund will remain near its strategic allocation of 60% stocks and 40% bonds them majority of the time to maximize the probability of achieving its long-term risk and return objectives.

EARLE M. JORGENSEN HOLDING COMPANY, INC.

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

The following provides a reconciliation of the changes in the benefit obligation and fair value of plan assets, and the funded (unfunded) status of the pension plans for the years ended March 31, 2003 and 2004.

	2003	2004
Change in Projected Benefit Obligation:		
Benefit obligation at beginning of year	\$ 11,350,000	\$ 14,066,000
Service cost	432,000	523,000
Interest cost	843,000	879,000
Change in assumptions	1,414,000	958,000
Amendments	504,000	67,000
Benefit payments	(514,000)	(545,000)
Actuarial losses/(gain)	37,000	(157,000)
Benefit obligation at end of year	14,066,000	15,791,000
Change in Plan Assets:		
Fair value of plan assets at beginning of year	11,203,000	9,297,000
Actual return on assets	(1,434,000)	2,205,000
Benefit payments	(514,000)	(545,000)
Company contributions	92,000	793,000
Fees	(50,000)	(31,000)
Fair value of plan assets at end of year	9,297,000	11,719,000
Unfunded	(4,769,000)	(4,072,000)
Unrecognized prior service cost	(236,000)	(131,000)
Unrecognized net actuarial gain	3,658,000	2,780,000
Net amount recognized	\$ (1,347,000)	(1,423,000)

The following provides a reconciliation of the changes in the benefit obligation and fair value of plan assets, and the funded (unfunded) status of the pension plans for the years ended March 31, 2003 and 2004:

	2003	2004
Amounts recognized in balance sheets consist of:		
Prepaid cost	\$	

Accrued benefit liability	(4,746,000)	(4,048,000)
Accumulated comprehensive loss additional minimum liability	3,399,000	2,625,000
Net amount recognized	\$ (1,347,000)	(1,423,000)
Weighted-average assumptions as of March 31:		
Discount rate	6.50%	6.00%
Expected return on assets	8.25%	8.25%
Rate of compensation increase		
Measurement date for assets and liabilities	1/1/2003	1/1/2004

The return on assets assumption assumes a long-term return of 9% on equity investments and 7% on government bond investments with 60% equity and 40% bond target investment mix. Long-term rates of return on equity investments are trending approximately 7% above current CPI, while long-term rates of return on government bong investments are trending approximately 5% above current CPI. Current CPI has been approximately 2% for the last few years.

EARLE M. JORGENSEN HOLDING COMPANY, INC.

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

In accordance with union agreements, EMJ also contributes to multi-employer defined benefit retirement plans covering substantially all union employees of EMJ. At September 29, 2004, four different unions represented approximately 608 of our employees from 16 locations (36% of total employees). Our collective bargaining agreements expire at staggered dates through March 2010; bargaining agreements that will expire in fiscal 2005 represent 5% of total employees. Expenses incurred in connection with these plans totaled \$1,015,000, \$1,295,000, \$1,798,000 and \$983,000 in fiscal years 2002, 2003, and 2004 and for the first six months ended September 29, 2004, respectively.

Postretirement Benefit Plan

In addition to EMJ s defined benefit pension plans, EMJ sponsors a defined benefit health care plan that provides postretirement medical and dental benefits to eligible full time employees and their dependents (the Postretirement Plan). The Postretirement Plan is fully insured, with retirees paying a percentage of the annual premium. Such premiums are adjusted annually based on age and length of service of active and retired participants. The Postretirement Plan contains other cost-sharing features such as deductibles and coinsurance. EMJ recognizes the cost of future benefits earned by participants during their working careers, as determined using actuarial assumptions. Gains and losses realized from the remeasurement of the plan s benefit obligation are amortized to income over three years.

In December 2003, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) issued Statement of Financial Accounting Standards (SFAS) No. 132 (revised December 2003), *Employers Disclosures about Pensions and Other Postretirement Benefits (SFAS 132-R)*. This statement amends the disclosure requirements of SFAS 132 to require more details about retirement plan assets, benefit obligations, cash flows and other relevant information. SFAS 132-R is effective for years ending after December 15, 2003, except certain benefit payment and international plan disclosures that are effective for fiscal years after June 15, 2004. The adoption of the disclosure provisions of SFAS 132-R did not have a material effect on the Company s consolidated financial statements.

Components of the net periodic pension cost (credit) associated with EMJ s Postretirement Plan for years ended March 31, 2002, 2003, 2004 and the six months ended September 29, 2003 an September 29, 2004 are as follows:

Six Months Ended

				Septem	iber 29,
	2002	2003	2004	2003	2004
				(unau	dited)
Service cost of benefits earned during the period	\$ 223,000	\$ 249,000	\$ 293,000	\$ 167,000	\$ 165,000
Interest cost on projected benefit obligation	211,000	258,000	271,000	158,000	147,000
Recognized net (gain)/loss	(185,000)	(9,000)	55,000	50,000	89,000

Net periodic pension cost (credit)

\$ 249,000

\$498,000

\$ 619,000 \$ 375,000

\$ 401,000

F-48

EARLE M. JORGENSEN HOLDING COMPANY, INC.

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

The following tables provide a reconciliation of the changes in the benefit obligation and the unfunded status of the Postretirement Plan for the years ended March 31, 2003 and 2004.

	March	
	2003	2004
Change in Projected Benefit Obligation:		
Benefit obligation at beginning of year	\$ 3,271,000	\$ 4,328,000
Service cost	249,000	293,000
Interest cost	258,000	271,000
Change in assumptions	950,000	262,000
Benefit payments	(208,000)	(151,000)
Actuarial gains	(192,000)	(87,000)
Benefit obligation at end of year	4,328,000	4,916,000
Unfunded	(4,328,000)	(4,916,000)
Unrecognized prior service cost	, , ,	
Unrecognized net actuarial gain	358,000	478,000
Accrued benefit cost	\$ (3,970,000)	\$ (4,438,000)
Weighted-average assumptions as of March 31:		
Discount rate	6.50%	6.00%
Healthcare cost trend rate	12.00%	11.00%
Measurement date for assets and liabilities	1/1/2003	1/1/2004

The healthcare cost trend rate of 11.0% used in the calculation of net benefit cost of the Postretirement Plan is assumed to decrease 1.0% per year to 6.0% for 2009 and remain at that level thereafter.

Assumed healthcare trend rates have a significant effect on the amounts reported for EMJ s Postretirement Plan. A one-percentage-point change in assumed healthcare cost trend rates would have the following effects:

1% Increase 1% Decrease

Effect on total service and interest cost components	\$ 88,000	\$ (74,000)
Effect on postretirement benefit obligation	644,000	(550,000)

8. Stockholders Equity

Preferred and Common Stock Subject to Redemption

Preferred stock and common stock subject to put rights , which are exercisable under certain limited circumstances under EMJ s stock bonus plan and under an agreement entered into with certain employees who purchased shares of the Company s common and preferred stock (the Stockholders Agreement), are presented separately from preferred stock and common stock which are not subject to put rights in order to distinguish the shares from permanent capital in the legal sense. Further, the Company is required to present such shares in the financial statements at the amount which would be paid if the shares were to be redeemed. Accordingly, in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets, Preferred and common stock subject to redemption has been stated at its redemption price. The account Reclassification to value preferred and common stock subject to redemption in certain circumstances is adjusted annually as a result of changes in the market value of the related stock based on annual appraisals.

F-49

EARLE M. JORGENSEN HOLDING COMPANY, INC.

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

At March 31, 2004 a total of 38,524 shares of Series A Preferred Stock, 28,733 shares of Series B Preferred Stock and 2,755,950 shares of common stock and at September 29, 2004 a total of 38,524 shares of series A preferred stock, 31,003 shares of series B preferred stock and 2,750,950 shares of common stock are subject to put rights in the event of the death, disability, retirement, (or termination in certain circumstances) of an employee holding shares beneficially or directly under either the Plan or the Stockholders Agreement.

EMJ has life insurance policies on the lives of certain management stockholders and stock bonus plan participants to provide funding for share repurchases in the event of a stockholder s death; these policies had a net cash surrender value of approximately \$31,007,000 at March 31, 2003, \$34,689,000 at March 31, 2004 and \$46,155,000 at September 29, 2004 (see Note 4).

Series A Preferred Stock

Series A preferred stock is senior to series B preferred stock and common stock with respect to dividends and liquidation preferences and to any other preferred stock which may be issued by the Company from time to time. The series A preferred stock may be redeemed at the Company s option at any time at its stated value of \$100 per share plus cumulative unpaid dividends.

Shares of series A preferred stock have a stated liquidation value of \$100 per share and were entitled to a minimum cumulative 13% dividend, based on such stated liquidation value. Because the series A preferred stock was not redeemed on or prior to the eleventh anniversary of its original issuance, the dividend rate increased 500 basis points (to 18%) beginning fiscal 2002, and such rate will remain in effect until the series A preferred stock is redeemed. Dividends may be paid in cash or shares of preferred stock provided that not less than 35% of any dividend must be paid in cash. Undeclared dividends in arrears totaled \$33,429,000 and \$36,955,000 at March 31, 2004 and September 29, 2004, respectively. The Notes, the Credit Agreement and the 9³/4% Senior Secured Notes preclude the payment of any cash dividends on series A preferred stock. At any time when the Company has not paid dividends on the series A preferred stock for two consecutive periods, the holders of the series A preferred stock are entitled to elect one director to the Board of Directors of the Company. The holders of the series A preferred stock have elected a director to the Board of Directors of the Company.

The series A preferred stock has no right to vote except for certain matters that would affect the preferential rights of the series A preferred stockholders or in matters related to mergers, consolidations or other business combinations (as defined).

Series B Preferred Stock

Series B preferred stock is senior to the common stock with respect to dividends and liquidation preferences. The series B preferred stock has a stated liquidation value of \$1,000 per share. The series B preferred stock may be redeemed at the Company s stated value of \$1,000 per share plus cumulative unpaid dividends.

Shares of series B preferred stock are entitled to cumulative dividends at varying rates (15.0% at March 31, 2004 and 14.0% at September 29, 2004) payable quarterly in additional shares of series B preferred stock, common stock or cash. The dividend rate of the series B preferred stock is reset annually in advance as of each April 1 to a rate that would maintain its fair market value at an amount equal to its stated value. Beginning with the quarter ended March 31, 1997, such dividend rate shall be increased by 150 basis points for dividends not paid in cash (to an effective rate of 16.5% at March 31, 2004 and 15.5% at September 29, 2004). The Notes, the Credit Agreement and the 9 3/4% Senior Secured Notes preclude the payment of cash dividends on the series B preferred stock and therefore all dividends declared were paid in kind as of March 31, 2004. Undeclared but accumulated dividend in arrears totaling \$2,287,000 at March 31, 2004 were declared and paid in July 2004.

F-50

EARLE M. JORGENSEN HOLDING COMPANY, INC.

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

Undeclared but accumulated dividend in arrears totaling \$1,157,000 at September 29, 2004 were declared and paid in August 2004. Series B preferred stock is not entitled to any voting rights except as provided by law.

Common Stock

Each outstanding share is entitled to one vote on each matter submitted to a vote of stockholders except as otherwise provided in the Stockholders. Agreement with respect to the election of directors. Holders of the common stock are entitled to share equally in such cash dividends as may be declared by the Board of Directors out of funds legally available therefore, and upon liquidation will be entitled to receive pro rata all assets of the Company available for distribution to such holders. The Notes, the Credit Agreement and the 9 3/4% senior secured notes preclude payment of any cash dividends on EMJ common stock. The Series A and Series B preferred stock prohibit the payment of cash dividends on the Company common stock unless all accumulated preferred dividends have been paid.

9. Stock Option Plan

In January 1997, the Company adopted a stock option plan that provides the granting of qualified and nonqualified options to purchase shares of the Company s common stock to directors, consultants, officers and other key employees at a price not less than the fair market value on the date of grant. Options are generally granted for a period not to exceed ten years and are exercisable under terms and conditions as determined by the Company s Executive Committee. Since adopting the stock option plan, the Company has only granted options to directors, officers and other key employees.

The maximum number of shares of the Company s common stock to be issued under the stock option plan is 2,500,000, subject to adjustment upon the occurrence of certain events. The following table summarizes activity for shares subject to options as of and for the fiscal years ended March 31, 2002, 2003, 2004 and September 29, 2004:

	Number of Shares	Av Ex	Weighted Average Exercise Price	
Outstanding at March 31, 2001	1,962,500	\$	5.60	
Granted	168,500	\$	8.06	
Exercised, Canceled or Expired	(88,000)	\$	5.93	

Edgar Filing: JORGENSEN EARLE M CO /DE/ - Form S-4/A

Outstanding at March 31, 2002	2,043,000	\$	5.79
Granted	121,000	\$	7.78
Exercised, Canceled or Expired	(27,500)	\$	8.05
		_	
Outstanding at March 31, 2003	2,136,500	\$	5.87
Granted			
Exercised, Canceled or Expired	(35,500)	\$	7.83
		_	
Outstanding at March 31, 2004	2,101,000	\$	5.84
Granted			
Exercised, Canceled or Expired	(10,000)		7.81
		_	
Outstanding at September 29, 2004	2,091,000	\$	5.83

Exercise prices for options outstanding as of March 31, 2004 and September 29, 2004 ranged from \$3.34 to \$8.16. The weighted-average remaining contractual life of those options is 3.91 years at March 31, 2004 and 3.90

EARLE M. JORGENSEN HOLDING COMPANY, INC.

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

years at September 29, 2004. As of March 31, 2004, there were 399,000 options available for future grants and 1,994,000 options exercisable at a weighted average exercise price of \$5.73 per share. At September 29, 2004 there were 409,000 options available for future grants and 2,091,000 options exercisable at a weighted average exercise price of \$5.83 per share.

Had compensation cost for the stock option plan been determined based on the fair value of the options at the grant date in accordance with SFAS No. 123, *Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation*, the Company s net income (loss) for fiscal years 2002, 2003, 2004 and the six months ended September 29, 2003 and September 29, 2004 would have been \$(24,714,000), \$(33,009,000), \$(23,636,000), \$(14,974,000) and \$27,188,000, respectively. Such proforma effects are not likely to be indicative of the effects on the Company s results in future years.

Under SFAS No. 123, the fair value of each option is estimated on the date of grant using a Black-Scholes option pricing model with the following weighted average assumptions for fiscal years 2002 and 2003, respectively: risk-free interest rate 4.37% and 3.00%; no dividend yield; no volatility factor; and an expected life of four years. There were no stock options issued in fiscal year 2004 and during the first six months of fiscal 2005. Using these assumptions, the weighted average fair value of options granted during fiscal years 2002 and 2003 was \$1.29 and \$0.88, respectively.

10. Commitments and Contingencies

Lease Commitments

EMJ leases, under several agreements with varying terms, certain office and warehouse facilities, equipment and vehicles. Rent expense totaled \$21,353,000, \$21,657,000 and \$22,302,000 for the years ended March 31, 2002, 2003 and 2004, respectively. Sublease income for the years ended March 31, 2002, 2003 and 2004 was \$456,000, \$632,000 and \$653,000, respectively. Minimum rentals of certain leases escalate from time to time based on certain indices.

At March 31, 2004 EMJ was obligated under non-cancellable operating leases for future minimum rentals as follows:

Fiscal year:	
2005	\$ 18,422,000
2006	14,315,000
2007	10,323,000
2008	7,337,000

2009 Thereafter	5,718,000 43,939,000
Thoreacti	
Sub-total	100,054,000
Less: Non-cancellable subleases	(7,961,000)
Net lease obligations	\$ 92,093,000
-	

Other Commitments

On January 14, 2004, the Company announced that it had reached an agreement with Holding and Holding s principal security holders providing for a restructuring of the combined capital structure. The financial restructuring is being effected pursuant to an Agreement and Plan of Merger and Reorganization dated as of

EARLE M. JORGENSEN HOLDING COMPANY, INC.

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

December 18, 2003 among the Company, Holding and EMJ Metals LLC, a newly-formed wholly-owned subsidiary, as well as an Exchange Agreement among the Company, Holding and Kelso Investment Associates IV, L.P. and certain of its affiliates (Kelso). The principal effect of the financial restructuring will be to convert all outstanding debt and equity securities of Holding to the Company s common stock. Kelso is the holder of Holding s outstanding Series A Variable Rate Notes and also is Holding s controlling stockholder.

On May 25, 2004 the Company announced that the proposed restructuring of the combined capital structure of Earle M. Jorgensen Company (EMJ) with Earle M. Jorgensen Holding Company, Inc. (Holding), its parent company, had been delayed. Because of the delay, additional negotiations among Holding s security holders and changes to the structure of the transaction are required before it can proceed. There is no assurance that the transaction will be successfully negotiated or, if negotiated, will be approved by the requisite votes of Holding s stockholders or that the other conditions to completion of such a transaction will be satisfied. Thus there can be no assurance that the merger will be consummated.

In connection with the 1990 merger, EMJ agreed to pay Kelso, which owns the majority of Parent s common stock, an annual fee of \$1,250,000 each year for financial advisory services and to reimburse it for out-of-pocket expenses incurred in connection with rendering such services. EMJ also agreed to indemnify Kelso and its affiliates against certain claims, losses, damages, liabilities, and expenses that may arise in connection with the merger. However, no such annual fee was payable for fiscal years 2002, 2003, and 2004 and other expenses paid to Kelso in fiscal years 2002, 2003 and 2004 were not significant.

Governmental Matters

The Internal Revenue Service (the IRS) conducted an audit of the Company s employee stock ownership plan (the Plan) for the fiscal years ended March 31, 1992, through March 31, 1996, and issued a preliminary report to the Company in which the IRS asserted that certain contributions of stock by the Parent to the Plan violated provisions of the Internal Revenue Code because the securities contributed were not qualifying employer securities as defined by ERISA. In fiscal year 2002, this matter was settled without the Company admitting the allegations of the IRS, and the Company paid \$1,919,000 of excise tax to the IRS.

The Department of Labor (the DOL) also investigated the same transactions involving the Plan. In the course of its investigation, the DOL and its advisors reviewed the valuations of the Company s common and preferred stock prepared for the Plan and challenged the methodology used in preparing the valuations.

On March 8, 2002, the DOL sued the Company, EMJ, the Plan and former members of the Company s benefits committee in the federal district court for the Central District of California. The DOL claimed that the valuations of Company s common stock used to make annual contributions to the Plan in each of the years 1994 through 2000 contained significant errors that resulted in the common stock being overvalued, and that the failure of the members of our benefits committee to detect and correct the errors was a breach of their fiduciary duty under ERISA. As a result of

the alleged overvaluations, the DOL contended that the contributions to the Plan were prohibited transactions under ERISA. On January 27, 2003, the Company signed a settlement agreement with the DOL in connection with the lawsuit. The key provisions of the agreement are as follows: (i) the Company has not been required to make any payments under the agreement at this time; (ii) the Company is prohibited to make further common stock contributions to the Plan; (iii) the Company will continue to obtain annual appraisals of Company stock using methodology consistent with prior appraisals, and use that appraised value as the purchase price for repurchases of common stock as it has done in the past, and; (iv) if the annual appraisal of the Company s common stock is less than \$4.25 per share, the Company shall pay a floor price of \$4.25 per share in connection with the repurchase of common stock from departing employees for shares that were originally contributed to the Plan for the plan years 1994 through 2000.

F-53

EARLE M. JORGENSEN HOLDING COMPANY, INC.

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

If the Company pays the floor price in connection with the repurchase of common stock from departing employees, the agreement also allows the DOL to assess the Company a penalty equal to 20% of the amount calculated by multiplying the difference between the appraised value and the floor price by the number of shares repurchased at the floor price.

The Company does not believe the settlement will have a material impact on its financial condition or future results of operations, and we believe payments under the settlement, if any, will most likely be paid in immaterial amounts which will be spread over many years.

In December 2003, the Company entered into agreements with EMJ, a subsidiary and the principal stockholders of Holding providing for a merger and financial restructuring. Prior to approval of the transaction, the DOL initiated a review of the procedures followed by the Company s benefits committee in connection with evaluation of the proposed transaction and other strategic alternatives available to the Company and an assessment of whether or not the proposed transaction complied with the terms of the consent order and the legal requirements applicable to the stock bonus plan. Such review resulted in delays that, combined with other transactional requirements, precluded the consummation of the merger and financial restructuring on the terms originally proposed. The Company is considering changes to the proposed transaction that will achieve the objectives of the original restructuring transaction, while meeting the concerns expressed by the DOL. The Company intends to review any proposed transaction with the DOL in advance under their compliance assistance program to ensure compliance with the terms of the consent order and applicable law. There can be no assurance that a revised transaction will be agreed upon, approved by the Company s stockholders and consummated.

Environmental Contingencies

EMJ is subject to extensive and changing federal, state, local and foreign laws and regulations designed to protect the environment and human health and safety, including those relating to the use, handling, storage, discharge and disposal of hazardous substances and the remediation of environmental contamination. As a result, EMJ is from time to time involved in administrative and judicial proceedings and inquiries relating to environmental matters.

During fiscal years 2002, 2003 and 2004, expenditures made in connection with environmental matters totaled \$97,000, \$194,000 and \$232,000, respectively, principally for settlement of claims, and monitoring, remediation and investigation activities at sites with contaminated soil and/or groundwater and were expensed as incurred. As of March 31, 2004, an accrual of \$203,000 exists for future investigation and remediation expenditures related to the following pending environmental matters.

Forge (Seattle/Kent, WA). In November 1998, EMJ paid the purchasers of its former Forge facility and an off-site disposal site \$2,250,000 as an indemnification settlement for liabilities related to the remediation of known contamination at the Forge facility. EMJ continues to monitor the disposal site for environmental conditions in accordance with a consent decree issued by the Washington Department of Ecology (Ecology). Annual costs associated with such monitoring are not significant, and EMJ does not anticipate significant additional expenditures related to this

matter.

The Forge property is located on the Lower Duwamish Waterway, which has been identified by the United States Environmental Protection Agency (EPA) as a Superfund Site (the Duwamish Site). Under the Federal Comprehensive Environmental Response, Compensation, and Liability Act (CERCLA), owners or operators of facilities that have released hazardous substances to the environment may be liable for remediation costs. Courts have held that such liability may be joint and several; however, in many instances, the costs are allocated among the parties, primarily based on their estimated contribution to the contamination. The EPA, along with Ecology,

F-54

EARLE M. JORGENSEN HOLDING COMPANY, INC.

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

have entered into an Administrative Order of Consent (AOC) with four major property owners with potential liability for cleanup of the Duwamish Site that outlines tasks required to be completed to further investigate the nature and extent of the contamination and cleanup alternatives. In November 2001, the current owners of the Forge property notified the Company of a potential claim for indemnification for any liability relating to contamination of the Duwamish Site. The notification stated that the Forge facility, along with other businesses located along the Duwamish Site, are expected to be named as potentially responsible parties for contamination of the Duwamish Site and requested that EMJ participate under a joint defense.

On July 10, 2003, EMJ received a request from the EPA to sign an AOC under CERCLA to investigate certain areas of the Duwamish Site. A preliminary cost of proposed work under the AOC ranges from \$350,000 to \$450,000, and is subject to approval by the EPA. On April 15, 2003, the Company signed a funding and participation agreement with the current owners of the Forge property, which requires it to fund 85% of costs to be incurred in connection with the investigation activities to be performed under the AOC. As of March 31, 2004 EMJ has accrued \$203,000 for remaining costs that are expected to be incurred in future years.

EMJ is continuing to evaluate this matter and remedies it may have, including insurance recoveries for any monies to be spent as part of the investigation or cleanup of the Duwamish Site. At this time, EMJ cannot determine what ultimate liability it may have relating to this matter.

Union (New Jersey). During fiscal year 1994, EMJ was notified by the current owner that it has potential responsibility for the environmental contamination of a property formerly owned by a subsidiary and disposed of by such subsidiary prior to its acquisition by EMJ. The prior owner of such subsidiary has also been notified of its potential responsibility. On March 27, 1997, the current owner of the property informed the Company that it estimated the cost of investigation and cleanup of the property at \$875,000 and requested contribution to such costs from EMJ and the prior owner. EMJ has contested responsibility and commented on the cleanup plan and has not received any further demands. EMJ does not have sufficient information to determine what potential liability it has, if any.

Although it is possible that new information or future developments could require EMJ to reassess its potential exposure relating to all pending environmental matters, management believes that, based upon all currently available information, the resolution of such environmental matters will not have a material adverse effect on EMJ s financial condition, results of operations or liquidity. The possibility exists, however, that new environmental legislation and/or environmental regulations may be adopted, or other environmental conditions may be found to exist, that may require expenditures not currently anticipated and that may be material.

11. Legal

On April 22, 2002, EMJ was sued by Champagne Metals, a small metals service center distributing aluminum coil products in Oklahoma, alleging that the Company had conspired with other metal service centers to induce or coerce aluminum suppliers to refuse to designate Champagne Metals as a distributor, which resulted in unspecified damages. EMJ and the other defendants filed motions for summary judgment,

and on June 15, 2004, the federal District Court for the Western District of Oklahoma entered an order granting the motions for summary judgment of each of the defendants including EMJ and dismissed the case. The time for an appeal expires on July 15, 2004.

The Company is involved in other litigation or legal matters in the normal course of business. In the opinion of management, these matters will be resolved without a material impact on the Company s financial position or results of operations.

F-55

EARLE M. JORGENSEN HOLDING COMPANY, INC.

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

12. Subsequent Events (unaudited)

The parties to the Merger Agreement and Exchange Agreement described in Note 10 executed a Termination of Merger Agreement and Exchange Agreement and the Exchange Agreement. Notwithstanding such termination, representatives of the Company's special committee, Kelso, EMJ and the benefits committee continued to work on an alternative transaction to restructure the combined capital structure of the Company and EMJ and have negotiated a financial restructuring transaction. This transaction will be consummated concurrently with an initial public offering and will involve a merger between the Company and a wholly owned subsidiary of EMJ and an exchange of the Company's indebtedness, common stock and preferred stock for a combination of cash and common stock of EMJ. The net proceeds of the initial public offering will be allocated to the payment of the cash consideration for the series A preferred stock, series B preferred stock and Holding notes upon consummation of the financial restructuring as follows: (1) all issued and outstanding shares of Holding shares of Holding shares of Series A preferred stock and series B preferred stock will be converted into a combination of cash and shares of EMJ is common stock. In addition, KIA IV will exchange all of the Holding notes for a combination of cash and shares of the Company's common stock. With respect to any right pursuant to a related warrant agreement executed by Holding entitling KIA IV to purchase shares of the common stock of Holding held by it for shares of the EMJ is common stock.

On September 27, 2004, EMJ s board of directors authorized the issuance and sale of its common stock in an initial public offering in connection with the financial restructuring. On October 1, 2004, EMJ filed a registration statement on Form S-1 with the Securities Exchange Commission in connection with its initial public offering.

In August 2004, EMJ and the benefits committee submitted a proposal to the DOL for the amendment of the consent order and release to change the methodology used in preparing annual valuations for the stock bonus plan. This proposal was approved by the DOL on November 17, 2004. On December 16, 2004, the Holding board approved the amended consent order and the program documents committing to make a special contribution to the stock bonus plan.

Holding has authorized a program to make a special contribution of additional shares of Holding common stock or common stock equivalents to (1) the stock bonus plan, (2) the supplemental stock bonus plan and (3) a cash bonus plan. The special contribution will consist of 1.0817 shares of Holding common stock or its equivalent with respect to each share of Holding common stock held in the stock bonus plan. This amount is equal to the difference between the appraised value as of March 31, 2004 using the old methodology and the appraised value as of March 31, 2004 using the new methodology, adjusted for the dilutive effect of such contribution. After giving effect to the special contribution, the stock bonus plan participants holding Holding common stock will continue to have shares of Holding common stock with the same aggregate value, notwithstanding the change in valuation methodology which otherwise would have had the effect of reducing the aggregate value of their equity interests. There are currently 2,506,309 shares of Holding common stock in the stock bonus plan. The special contribution will consist of 2,496,703 shares of Holding common stock or its equivalent and cash bonuses paid through the new cash bonus plan of \$1,416,905 in the aggregate to participants who are no longer employed by EMJ. EMJ will charge approximately \$17,920,000 in the aggregate to compensation expense with respect to the commitment to make the special contribution in December 2004.

To ensure compliance with the Internal Revenue Code and ERISA requirements, the first contribution will be made after the completion of the plan year ending March 31, 2005. Due to certain Internal Revenue Service rules limiting the amount of contributions that can be made in a single year, the contributions will be made over two years, and affected participants who are no longer employed by EMJ may have to receive at least part of the

F-56

EARLE M. JORGENSEN HOLDING COMPANY, INC.

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

program benefits in cash payments outside the stock bonus plan. Other Internal Revenue Service rules limit contributions that discriminate in favor of highly compensated employees. Holding has adopted an amendment to the stock bonus plan that provides for stock contributions for the plan years ending March 31, 2005 and March 31, 2006. To the extent legally permissible, each participant will receive the special contribution of 1.0817 additional shares of Holding common stock for each share of Holding common stock which remained in their account as of the date of the amended consent order in two contributions. To the extent participants do not receive their full allocation under the stock bonus plan over the two years, the program benefits will be provided under a cash bonus plan or through credits of units under a phantom stock plan called the supplemental stock bonus plan. The program has been designed to ensure that each participant will receive the equivalent value of their allocation of the special contribution determined as of the date of the amended consent order, whether or not they continue to be employed by EMJ or continue to be a plan participant.

If the merger and financial restructuring and public offering are consummated, EMJ will assume Holding s obligations under all aspects of the program and the stock contributions will be made in EMJ common stock.

On December 16, 2004, the Boards of Holding and EMJ approved the following actions related to the financial restructuring that will have a financial impact to the quarter-ended December 31, 2004. The Holding Board approved resolutions related to the cancellation of 360,000 common stock options for the Chief Executive Officer in consideration of \$3,006,000, which will be recorded as an equity transaction. The Holding Board approved an amendment to the stock option plan to adjust the exercise price and the number of shares of Holding common stock that can be purchased pursuant to each option grant to offset the reduction in the appraised value resulting from the change in appraisal methodology required by the amended consent order. Such amendment resulted in an increase to 3,053,662 in the number of options to purchase shares of Holding common stock outstanding and at a reduction in the weighted average exercise price to \$3.35 per share. The EMJ Board approved a bonus for Mr. Nelson of \$3,500,000 and a bonus to Mr. Roderick of \$202,640. Further, the EMJ Board approved a \$6,250,000 termination fee to Kelso & Co., which will be charged to expense in December 2004 in connection with an amended advisory services agreement to end any future financial obligation EMJ has to pay advisory fees under its advisory agreement aside from out of pocket costs.

Effective with our third quarter ending December 31, 2004, the Company has adopted the fair value recognition provisions of Statement of Financial Accounting Standards (SFAS) No. 123, *Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation*, under the modified-prospective transition method, for all employee awards granted, modified or settled after April 1, 2004, as permitted by SFAS No. 148, *Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation-Transition and Disclosure-An Amendment of FASB Statement No. 123*. In accordance with SFAS No. 123, the Company will estimate the fair value of options using an option-pricing model, which takes into account assumptions such as the dividend yield, the risk-free interest rate, and the expected life of the options. The Company s common stock was not currently traded on a national securities exchange or an over-the-counter market, and therefore an effectively zero percent volatility will be used. The dividend yield is excluded from the calculation, as it is our present intention to retain all future earnings. Management has estimated the effect of this adoption to be approximately \$1,600,000 for the modified options.

On December 16, 2004, the Boards of Holding and EMJ approved the merger and financial restructuring and Holding and EMJ entered into a merger agreement and an exchange agreement, each dated December 17, 2004.

The consummation of the financial restructuring and the initial public offering are subject to various conditions, the approval of the financial restructuring by the holders of the Company s common stock and series B preferred stock voting together as a class, and the consent of the lenders under EMJ s credit facility and are conditioned upon one another. There is no assurance that the proposed financial restructuring will be

F-57

EARLE M. JORGENSEN HOLDING COMPANY, INC.

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

approved by the requisite vote of the Company s stockholders, that the initial public offering will be completed successfully or that the other conditions to completion of the transaction will be satisfied.

For accounting purposes, the restructuring will be accounted for as a transfer of assets and exchange of shares between entities, EMJ and the Company, under common control. As such, the transaction will be accounted for in a manner similar to a pooling-of-interests. Accordingly, subsequent to the completion of the financial restructuring, the financial position and results of operations of the Company will be included in EMJ s consolidated financial statements on a historical basis.

Pursuant to the financial restructuring, assuming that the public offering price will be \$ per share of EMJ common stock and net proceeds of the public offering are \$ the following will occur:

Exchange of all outstanding Company debt and accrued interest thereon totaling \$257,069,000 for \$ in cash from initial public offering proceeds and shares of EMJ s common stock.

Exchange of warrants to purchase 2,937,915 shares of Company common stock for 2,935,780 shares of EMJ s common stock, net of the exercise price of \$0.01 per share.

Conversion of 11,253,312 issued and outstanding shares (not including 2,085,224 shares held in treasury and retired) of Company common stock into 11,253,312 shares of EMJ common stock. The difference between the number of shares of Company common stock converted into EMJ common stock on November 30, 2004 and the number of shares converted at the date of the financial restructuring is attributable to the shares repurchased from former employees who exercised put rights pursuant to Holding s stockholders agreement.

Exchange of 59,971 shares of the Company s series A preferred stock (not including 187,575 shares held in treasury and retired) for \$ cash from initial public offering proceeds.

Exchange of 28,718 shares of the Company s series B preferred stock (not including 2,299 shares held in treasury) for \$ in cash from initial public offering proceeds and shares of EMJ s common stock.

The adjustment to the caption reclassification to value represents the cumulative changes in the market value, based on annual appraisals, related to the shares of the Company s preferred stock and common stock that will be redeemed in the financial restructuring. This will be eliminated as a result of the existing Company preferred stock and common stock being exchanged for a combination of cash and EMJ s common stock.

Upon completion of the financial restructuring, subject to the assumptions herein, shares of EMJ s common stock will be issued and outstanding.

F-58

ANNEX A

AGREEMENT AND PLAN OF MERGER AND REORGANIZATION

by and among

EARLE M. JORGENSEN HOLDING COMPANY, INC.,

EARLE M. JORGENSEN COMPANY,

AND

EMJ METALS LLC

Dated as of December 17, 2004

TABLE OF CONTENTS

		Page
ARTICLE 1 DEFINIT	CIONS	2
Section 1.1	Defined Terms	2
Section 1.1 Section 1.2	Other Defined Terms	9
ARTICLE 2 THE ME		9
Section 2.1	The Merger; Effect of the Merger	9
Section 2.2	Effective Time: Filing of Certificate of Merger	9
Section 2.3	Merger Consideration	9
Section 2.4	Outstanding Holding Stock Options	10
Section 2.5	Distributions with respect to Shares of Holding Capital Stock	10
Section 2.6	Conversion Procedures	10
Section 2.7	<u>Transfers of Ownership</u>	11
Section 2.8	No Liability	11
Section 2.9	<u>Transfer of Shares after the Effective Time</u>	11
Section 2.10	Lost, Stolen or Destroyed Certificates	11
Section 2.11	Appraisal Rights	11
Section 2.12	Fractional Shares	12
Section 2.13	Withholding Rights	12
ARTICLE 3 THE SUI	RVIVING COMPANY	12
Section 3.1	Certificate of Formation of EMJ Metals LLC	12
Section 3.2	Operating Agreement of EMJ Metals LLC	12
Section 3.3	Managing Member of EMJ Metals LLC	12
Section 3.4	Additional Actions	12
ARTICLE 4 THE CO	MPANY	13
Section 4.1	Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation of the Company	13
Section 4.2	Bylaws	13
Section 4.3	Directors and Officers of the Company	13
Section 4.4	Stock Bonus Plan of the Company	13
Section 4.5	Supplemental Stock Bonus Plan of the Company	13
Section 4.6	Former Employee Bonus Plan of the Company	13
Section 4.7	Stockholders Agreement	13
Section 4.8	Stock Options	13
Section 4.9	Additional Actions	13
ARTICLE 5 REPRES	ENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES OF HOLDING	14
Section 5.1	Organization and Qualification of Holding	14
Section 5.2	Power and Authority	14
Section 5.3	Authorization; Due Execution and Delivery; Binding Obligations	14
Section 5.4	Non-Contravention; Consents	14
Section 5.5	Capitalization	15
Section 5.6	Financial Statements	15
Section 5.7	Recommendation of Special Committee and Board of Directors	16
Section 5.8	Opinion of Holding s Financial Advisor	16
Section 5.9	Opinion of Benefits Committee Financial Advisor	16
Section 5.10	Financial Advisor	16
Section 5.11	S-4 Registration Statement and Proxy Statement-Prospectus	16
ARTICLE 6 REPRES	ENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES OF THE COMPANY	17
Section 6.1	Organization	17
Section 6.2	Power and Authority	17
		1,

A-i

Table of Contents

			Page
	Section 6.3	Authorization; Due Execution and Delivery; Binding Obligations	17
	Section 6.4	Non-Contravention; Consents	17
	Section 6.5	Capitalization, Etc	18
	Section 6.6	Holding Approval	18
	Section 6.7	SEC Filings; Financial Statements	18
	Section 6.8	Registration Statement	19
	Section 6.9	Validity of Shares	19
ARTIO	CLE 7 REPRESI	ENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES OF EMJ METALS LLC	19
	Section 7.1	Organization	19
	Section 7.2	Power and Authority	19
	Section 7.3	Authorization; Due Execution and Delivery; Binding Obligations	20
	Section 7.4	No Conflict or Violation	20
	Section 7.5	Consents and Approvals	20
ARTIO	CLE 8 SECURIT	TIES LAW MATTERS	20
	Section 8.1	Restrictive Legends on the Common Stock	20
ARTIO	CLE 9 COVENA	ANTS OF THE PARTIES	20
	Section 9.1	Proxy Statement-Prospectus; Registration Statement	20
	Section 9.2	Prospectus; IPO Registration Statement	21
	Section 9.3	Amendments or Supplements to the Proxy Statement-Prospectus, the IPO Prospectus; or the Registration	
		<u>Statements</u>	22
	Section 9.4	Stockholders Meeting	22
	Section 9.5	Certain Actions Relating to Capital Stock	22
	Section 9.6	Accruals of Interest on the Series A Variable Rate Senior Notes	22
	Section 9.7	Assumption of Stock Bonus Plan	23
	Section 9.8	Assumption of Holding Options	23
	Section 9.9	Amendment of the Company s Credit Agreement	23
	Section 9.10	Stock Exchange Listing	23
	Section 9.11	Certain Filings	23
	Section 9.12	<u>Affiliates</u>	23
	Section 9.13	Additional Agreements	24
	Section 9.14	Commercially Reasonable Efforts	24
	Section 9.15	Tax Treatment	24
	Section 9.16	Application of Proceeds of Green Shoe	24
	Section 9.17	Payment of IPO Bonus	24
ARTI	CLE 10 CONDIT	TIONS PRECEDENT TO THE MERGER	25
	Section 10.1	Conditions Precedent to Each Party s Obligation to Effect the Merger	25
	Section 10.2	Conditions Precedent to Obligations of the Company and EMJ Metals LLC	26
	Section 10.3	Conditions Precedent to Holding s Obligation to Effect the Merger	27
ARTI	CLE 11 CLOSIN	<u>1G</u>	27
	Section 11.1	Time and Place	27
	Section 11.2	<u>Deliveries of the Company</u>	27
	Section 11.3	Deliveries of Holding	28
	Section 11.4	Deliveries of EMJ Metals LLC	28
	Section 11.5	Deliveries of the Kelso Entities	29
	Section 11.6	Simultaneous Closing	29

A-ii

Table of Contents

		Page
	NATION PRIOR TO CLOSING	29
Section 12.1 Section 12.2	Termination Effect of Termination	29 30
Section 12.2 Section 12.3	Effect of Obligations	30
ARTICLE 13 POST C		30
Section 13.1	Tax Treatment	30
Section 13.2	Expenses	30
	LLANEOUS PROVISIONS	30
Section 14.1	Entire Agreement	30
Section 14.2	Governing Law and Choice of Forum	30
Section 14.3	<u>Interpretation</u>	31
Section 14.4	Waiver and Amendment	31
Section 14.5	Assignment	31
Section 14.6	Successors and Assigns	31
Section 14.7	<u>Notices</u>	31
Section 14.8	Severability	31
Section 14.9	Specific Performance	31
Section 14.10	<u>Cumulative Remedies</u>	32
Section 14.11	Warranty of Authority	32
Section 14.12	Third Parties	32
Section 14.13	<u>Counterparts</u>	32
SCHEDULES		
Schedule 5.4	Noncontravention; Consents Required for Holding	
Schedule 6.4	Noncontravention; Consents Required for the Company	
EXHIBITS		
Exhibit A	Exchange Agreement	
Exhibit B	Certificate of Formation of EMJ Metals LLC	
Exhibit C	Operating Agreement of EMJ Metals LLC	
Exhibit D	Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation of the Earle M. Jorgensen Company	
Exhibit E	Amended and Restated Bylaws of the Earle M. Jorgensen Company	
Exhibit F	Stock Bonus Plan Assumption Agreement	
Exhibit G	Supplemental Stock Bonus Plan	
Exhibit H	Supplemental Stock Bonus Plan Assumption Agreement	
Exhibit I	Former Employee Bonus Plan	
Exhibit J	Former Employee Bonus Plan Assumption Agreement	
Exhibit K	Stock Option Assumption Notice Letter	
Exhibit L-1	Sixth Amendment to Stock Bonus Plan	
Exhibit L-2	Seventh Amendment to Stock Bonus Plan	
Exhibit M	Transfer Restriction Agreement	
Exhibit M-1	List of Management Employees to Execute Transfer Restriction Agreement	
Exhibit N	Nelson Stockholders Agreement	

A-iii

AGREEMENT AND PLAN OF MERGER AND REORGANIZATION

THIS AGREEMENT AND PLAN OF MERGER AND REORGANIZATION (the Agreement) is made as of December 17, 2004, by and among Earle M. Jorgensen Holding Company, Inc., a Delaware corporation (Holding), Earle M. Jorgensen Company, a Delaware corporation (the Company), and EMJ Metals LLC, a Delaware limited liability company (EMJ Metals LLC).

RECITALS

A. WHEREAS, Holding and the Company desire to engage in a financial restructuring transaction in which Holding will be merged with and into EMJ Metals LLC, with EMJ Metals LLC surviving (the Merger), and pursuant to the Merger (a) all issued and outstanding shares of Holding common stock, \$0.01 par value (Holding Common Stock) will be converted into shares of common stock, par value \$.001 per share, of the Company (the Common Stock), and (b) all issued and outstanding shares of Holding s 13% Cumulative Preferred Stock, \$0.01 par value (the Series A Preferred Stock) and Holding s Variable Rate Cumulative Preferred Stock, \$0.01 par value (the Series B Preferred Stock), will be converted into a combination of cash and Common Stock, as specified below.

- B. WHEREAS, pursuant to an exchange agreement (the Exchange Agreement) in the form of *Exhibit A*, Kelso Investment Associates IV, L.P., a Delaware limited partnership (KIA IV), has agreed with Holding and the Company that concurrently with and subject to the completion of the Merger, KIA IV will exchange all of the outstanding Series A Variable Rate Notes of Holding (the Series A Variable Rate Notes) and Holding Warrants (as defined below) held by it for a combination of shares of Common Stock and cash, as specified in the Exchange Agreement (the Exchange), and KIA IV and each of Kelso Investment Associates, L.P., a Delaware limited partnership (KIA), Kelso Equity Partners II, L.P., a Delaware limited partnership (KIA III and collectively with KIA, KEP II, and KIA IV, the Kelso Entities), have agreed with Holding and the Company that they will vote all shares of capital stock of Holding held by the Kelso Entities in favor of the adoption and approval of this Agreement and the Merger and financial restructuring.
- C. WHEREAS, in connection with and immediately prior to the completion of the Merger, the Company will amend and restate its certificate of incorporation and its bylaws.
- D. WHEREAS, Holding currently maintains (a) a Stock Bonus Plan (as defined in Section 1.1) and (b) a Stock Option Plan (as defined in Section 1.1) for the benefit of certain employees of the Company, and in connection with the Merger, the Company will assume all of the obligations of Holding under the Stock Bonus Plan and will assume the obligations of Holding with respect to the options outstanding under the Stock Option Plan.
- E. WHEREAS, the Company has filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission (the Commission) a Registration Statement on Form S-1 to register its initial public offering of Common Stock (the **IPO**), which offering will close simultaneously with the closing of the Merger.
- F. WHEREAS, Holding and the United States Department of Labor (the **DOL**) have agreed to an amendment to that certain Consent Order and Release dated January 27, 2003, entered in connection with Civil Action No. SACV 02 257 DOL (MLGx).

G. WHEREAS, Holding has committed to make contributions of Holding Common Stock to its Stock Bonus Plan, credit certain Stock Bonus Plan participants with units representing the cash value of shares of Holding Common Stock under a supplemental stock bonus plan and pay cash bonuses directly to certain former employees who are still participants in the Stock Bonus Plan. The maximum aggregate number of shares to be contributed to the Stock Bonus Plan and units that would be credited under a supplemental stock bonus plan would be 2,496,703 shares of Holding Common Stock, and the amount of cash bonuses paid to Stock Bonus Plan participants who were former employees as of March 31, 2004, was \$1,416,905 (collectively, the Special SBP Contribution).

A-1

Table of Contents

- H. WHEREAS, in connection with the Merger and the IPO the Company will adopt a stock incentive plan for the benefit of its employees, directors and consultants.
- I. WHEREAS, the respective boards of directors of Holding and the Company and the sole member of EMJ Metals LLC have approved this Agreement and approved the Merger and the other actions contemplated by this Agreement; and
- J. WHEREAS, this Agreement and the Exchange Agreement are intended to constitute a single plan of reorganization within the meaning of Section 368 of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (the **Code**), and the transactions contemplated by this Agreement and the transactions contemplated by the Exchange Agreement are intended to be made pursuant to that plan of reorganization.

AGREEMENT

In consideration of the foregoing recitals and the respective covenants, agreements, representations and warranties contained herein, the parties, intending to be legally bound, agree as follows:

ARTICLE 1

DEFINITIONS

Section 1.1 Defined Terms. For purposes of this Agreement, the following terms shall have the following meanings:

Action shall mean any action, claim, suit, litigation, proceeding, arbitration, mediation or other dispute.

Aggregate Conversion Value of the Series A Preferred Stock means the aggregate Appraised Value of the Series A Preferred Stock for all shares of Series A Preferred Stock issued and outstanding as of the Effective Time, plus accumulated and unpaid dividends thereon from April 1, 2004 through September 29, 2004.

Aggregate Conversion Value of the Series B Preferred Stock means the aggregate Liquidation Value of the Series B Preferred Stock for all shares of Series B Preferred Stock issued and outstanding as of the Effective Time.

Aggregate Prepayment Amount of the Holding Notes means the aggregate unpaid principal amount of all of the Series A Variable Rate Notes, plus all accrued and unpaid interest, if any, payable thereon through September 29, 2004.

Amended and Restated Second Amendment to Second Amended and Restated Credit Agreement and Consents shall mean the Amended and Restated Second Amendment to Second Amended and Restated Credit Agreement and Consents, dated as of December , 2004, and entered into by and among Holding, the Company, the banks and other financial institutions signatory thereto that are parties as lenders to the Credit Agreement, and Deutsche Bank Trust Company Americas (formerly known as Bankers Trust Company), as agent for the lenders.

Amended Certificate of Incorporation of Holding shall mean the Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation of Holding as filed with the Secretary of State of the State of Delaware on March 8, 1990, as amended.

Amended DOL Consent Order shall mean that certain Amended Consent Order entered as of December , 2004 amending the DOL Consent Order.

A-2

Annual Repurchases from Former Employees shall mean the annual repurchases of Holding capital stock from former employees of the Company and Holding pursuant to and in accordance with the Stock Bonus Plan and the Holding Stockholders Agreement that occur each year in or about September, after the receipt of the annual appraisal of Holding capital stock required by the Stock Bonus Plan.

Ancillary Agreements shall mean the Company Stock Incentive Plan, Sixth Amendment to the Stock Bonus Plan, the Seventh Amendment to the Stock Bonus Plan, Stock Bonus Plan Assumption Agreement, the Former Employees Bonus Plan, the Former Employees Bonus Plan Assumption Agreement, the Supplemental Stock Bonus Plan Assumption Agreement, the Stock Option Assumption Notice Letter, the Exchange Agreement, the Transfer Restriction Agreement and the Operating Agreement, each as defined below.

Appraised Value of the Series A Preferred Stock means the appraised value of a share of Series A Preferred Stock as specified in the March 31, 2004 appraisal by Duff & Phelps for the Stock Bonus Plan, or \$749.42.

Assumed Options shall have the meaning set forth in Section 2.4.

Benefits Committee shall mean the Benefits Committee of Holding.

Books and Records shall mean all books, ledgers, files, records, manuals and other materials (in any form or medium) related to the business of Holding or the Company.

Cash Proceeds Allocated to Preferred Stock means the product of (a) the Cash Proceeds Allocated to Preferred Stock and Holding Notes and (b) the fraction determined by dividing (x) the sum of the Aggregate Conversion Value of the Series A Preferred Stock plus the Aggregate Conversion Value of the Series B Preferred Stock by (y) the sum of the Aggregate Conversion Value of the Series A Preferred Stock, the Aggregate Conversion Value of the Series B Preferred Stock and the Aggregate Prepayment Amount of the Holding Notes, without giving effect to Section 9.16 or the transactions contemplated therein.

Cash Proceeds Allocated to Series A Preferred Stock means the product of (a) the Cash Proceeds Allocated to Preferred Stock and Holding Notes and (b) the fraction determined by dividing (i) the Aggregate Conversion Value of the Series A Preferred Stock by (ii) the sum of the Aggregate Conversion Value of the Series B Preferred Stock and the Aggregate Prepayment Amount of the Holding Notes without giving effect to Section 9.16 or the transactions contemplated therein.

Cash Proceeds Allocated to Series B Preferred Stock means the product of (a) the Cash Proceeds Allocated to Preferred Stock and Holding Notes and (b) the fraction determined by dividing (i) the Aggregate Conversion Value of the Series B Preferred Stock by (ii) the sum of the Aggregate Conversion Value of the Series B Preferred Stock and the Aggregate Prepayment Amount of the Holding Notes without giving effect to Section 9.16 or the transactions contemplated therein.

Cash Proceeds Allocated to Preferred Stock and Holding Notes means the net cash proceeds of the IPO that are allocated to the redemption of the Preferred Stock of Holding and the repurchase of the Series A Variable Rate Notes, as determined by the Company and the managing

underwriters for the IPO and without giving effect to Section 9.16 or the transactions contemplated therein.

Certificate of Designation of the Series B Preferred Stock means the Certificate of Designation as filed with the Secretary of State of the State of Delaware on December 13, 1991.

Certificate of Formation shall have the meaning set forth in Section 3.1.

A-3

Table of Contents

Certificate of Incorporation shall have the meaning set forth in Section 4.1.
Certificate of Merger shall have the meaning set forth in Section 2.2.
Certificates shall have the meaning set forth in Section 2.6.
Closing shall have the meaning set forth in Section 11.1.
Closing Date shall have the meaning set forth in Section 11.1.
Code shall have the meanings set forth in the last whereas clause of the opening recitals.
Commission shall mean the United States Securities and Exchange Commission.
Common Stock shall have the meaning set forth in the first whereas clause of the opening recitals.
Company SEC Documents shall have the meaning set forth in Section 6.7.
Company Stock Incentive Plan shall mean that certain 2004 Stock Incentive Plan of the Company dated as of December 17, 2004.
Consents shall mean any approval, consent, ratification, permission, waiver or authorization (including any Governmental Authorization).
Contract shall mean any written, oral or other agreement, contract, subcontract, lease, understanding, instrument, note, option, warranty, purchase order, license, sublicense, insurance policy, benefit plan or legally binding commitment or undertaking of any nature.

Credit Agreement shall mean that Second Amended and Restated Credit Agreement by and among Holding, the Company, various financial institutions, Bankers Trust Company (as agent) and Deutsche Bank Securities Inc. (as lead arranger and sole book runner) dated as of March 3, 1993, amended and restated as of March 24, 1998 and further amended and restated as of April 12, 2002, as further amended to the date hereof.

Damages shall mean any claim, demand, loss, liability, damage or expense, including, without limitation, interest, penalties and reasonable attorneys, accountants and experts fees and costs of investigation incurred as a result thereof.

Dissenting Shares shall have the meaning set forth in Section 2.12.

DGCL shall mean the Delaware General Corporation Law.

DOL Consent Order shall mean that certain Consent Order and Release dated January 27, 2003, entered in connection with Civil Action No. SACV 02 257 DOL (MLGx).

Duff & Phelps shall mean Duff & Phelps, LLC, the independent financial advisor to the Benefits Committee as fiduciary of the Stock Bonus Plan.

Duff & Phelps Opinion shall have the meaning set forth in Section 5.9.

Effective Time shall have the meaning set forth in Section 2.2.

Entity shall mean any corporation (including any non-profit corporation), general partnership, limited partnership, limited liability partnership, joint venture, estate, trust, company (including any company limited by shares, limited liability company or joint stock company), firm, society or other enterprise, association, organization or entity.

A-4

Table of Contents

ERISA shall mean the Employee Retirement Income Security Act of 1974, as amended from time to time, and any successor statute, including the rules and regulations promulgated thereunder.

Exchange shall have the meaning set forth in the second whereas clause of the opening recitals.

Exchange Act shall mean the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, and the rules and regulations promulgated thereunder.

Exchange Agreement means that certain Exchange Agreement, dated as of the date hereof, among Holding, the Company, each of the Kelso Entities and the Stockholders, in the form attached hereto as *Exhibit A*.

Financial Advisory Agreement shall mean that certain letter agreement, dated as of March 19, 1990, by and between Kelso and the Company, pursuant to which Kelso provides certain consulting and advisory services to the Company.

Former Employees Bonus Plan shall mean that certain Former Employees Bonus Plan of Holding, dated as of December 17, 2004, attached hereto as *Exhibit I*.

Former Employees Bonus Plan Assumption Agreement shall mean that certain Former Employees Bonus Plan Assumption Agreement, dated as of , 2005, between Holding and the Company, attached hereto as *Exhibit J*.

Governmental Authorization shall mean any: (a) permit, license, certificate, franchise, permission, variance, clearance, registration, qualification or authorization issued, granted, given or otherwise made available by or under the authority of any Governmental Body or pursuant to any Law; or (b) right under any Contract with any Governmental Body.

Governmental Body shall mean any: (a) nation, state, commonwealth, province, territory, county, municipality, district or other jurisdiction of any nature; (b) federal, state, local, municipal, foreign or other government; or (c) governmental or quasi-governmental authority of any nature (including any governmental division, department, agency, commission, instrumentality, official, organization, unit, body or entity and any court or other tribunal).

Holding shall have the meaning set forth in the opening paragraph.

Holding Common Stock shall have the meaning set forth in the first whereas clause of the opening recitals.

Holding Option shall mean each option to purchase Holding Common Stock issued by Holding to any participant of the Holding Stock Option Plan.

Holding Stock Option Plan shall mean the Earle M. Jorgensen Holding Company, Inc. Stock Option Plan effective January 30, 1997, as amended to the date hereof.

Holding Stock Option Plan Amendment shall mean that certain Amendment to the Earle M. Jorgensen Holding Company, Inc. Option Plan, dated December 16, 2004, to the Holding Stock Option Plan, attached hereto as *Exhibit O*.

Holding Stockholders Agreement shall mean that certain Amended and Restated Stockholders Agreement of Holding dated as of September 14, 1990, as amended.

Holding Warrant shall mean any right pursuant to a warrant agreement executed by Holding entitling the recipient thereof to purchase shares of Holding Common Stock.

A-5

Table of Contents

Table of Contents
Indenture shall mean that certain Indenture Agreement by and between the Company and The Bank of New York dated as of May 22, 2002.
IPO shall have the meaning set forth in the fifth whereas clause of the opening recitals.
IPO Prospectus shall have the meaning set forth in Section 9.2
IPO Price shall mean the price of a share of Common Stock sold to the public in the IPO before deducting underwriters discounts and commissions.
IPO Registration Statement shall have the meaning set forth in Section 9.2
KIA shall have the meaning set forth in the second whereas clause of the opening recitals.
KIA III shall have the meaning set forth in the second whereas clause of the opening recitals.
KIA IV shall have the meaning set forth in the second whereas clause of the opening recitals.
Kelso shall mean Kelso & Company, L.P., a Delaware limited partnership.
Kalso Entities shall have the meaning set forth in the second whereas clause of the opening recitals

KEP II shall have the meaning set forth in the second whereas clause of the opening recitals.

Laws shall mean all foreign, federal, state or local statutes, regulations, ordinances, orders, decrees, or any other laws, common law theories or reported decisions of any foreign, federal or state court including, without limitation, now or at any time hereafter in effect.

Liens shall mean any mortgage, pledge, hypothecation, right of others, claim, security interest, encumbrance, lease, sublease, license, occupancy agreement, adverse claim or interest, easement, covenant, encroachment, burden, title defect, title retention agreement, voting trust agreement, interest, equity, option, lien, right of first refusal, charge or other restrictions or limitations of any nature whatsoever, other than restrictions on the offer and sale of securities under federal and state securities laws.

Liquidation Value of the Series B Preferred Stock means the Liquidation Value of a share of Series B Preferred Stock as specified in Section 4 of the Certificate of Designation of the Series B Preferred Stock, or \$1,000.00.
Merger shall have the meaning set forth in the first whereas clause of the opening recitals.
Merger Consideration shall mean the cash and/or shares of Common Stock to be received as consideration pursuant to the Merger with respect to each share of Holding Common Stock, Series A Preferred Stock and Series B Preferred Stock.
Merger Registration Statement shall have the meaning set forth in Section 9.1.
Nelson Stockholder Agreement means the stockholder agreement between the Company and Maurice S. Nelson, Jr. attached hereto as <i>Exhibi</i> N.
Operating Agreement means the operating agreement of EMJ Metals LLC, dated as of December 17, 2003 and as referenced in Section 3.2.
Participant shall have the meaning assigned thereto in the Stock Bonus Plan.
A-6

Table of Contents
Person shall mean any individual, Entity or Governmental Body.
Pledged Shares shall have the meaning set forth in Section 11.5(g).
Preferred Stock shall mean the Series A Preferred Stock and the Series B Preferred Stock.
Preliminary IPO Price shall mean the preliminary price of a share of Common Stock to be sold to the public in the IPO before deducting underwriters discounts and commissions, as estimated by the underwriters at the time the Proxy Statement-Prospectus is mailed to the Holding stockholders, which shall be the mid-point of the range of prices set forth on the cover of the Preliminary IPO Prospectus at such time of mailing.
Preliminary IPO Prospectus shall mean that certain preliminary IPO prospectus, which reflects the anticipated selling price per share of EMJ common stock in the IPO and the estimated net proceeds to be raised by the Company in the IPO, and will be used by the underwriters in connection with their marketing efforts on behalf of the IPO (commonly referred to as the red herring prospectus).
Proxy Statement-Prospectus shall have the meaning set forth in Section 9.1.
Registration Statements shall mean that certain Merger Registration Statement on Form S-4 and that certain IPO Registration Statement on Form S-1, each as filed with the Commission by the Company in connection with the transactions contemplated by this Agreement.
Representatives shall mean any officer, director, principal, stockholder, partner, attorney, accountant, advisor, agent, trustee, employee or other representative of a party.
Required Vote shall have the meaning set forth in Section 9.4(b).
Restated Bylaws shall have the meaning set forth in Section 4.2.
Restated Certificate shall have the meaning set forth in Section 4.1.

amended to the date hereof.

Restructuring Agreement shall mean that certain Restructuring Agreement by and between Holding and KIA IV dated as of March 3, 1993, as

Securities Act shall mean the Securities Exchange Act of 1933, as amended, and the rules and regulations promulgated thereunder.

Series A Merger Consideration means a combination of cash and Common Stock (valued at the IPO Price) that is equal to \$816.68. The cash portion of the Series A Merger Consideration will be equal to the quotient determined by dividing (a) the Cash Proceeds Allocated to the Series A Preferred Stock by (b) the number of shares of Series A Preferred Stock issued and outstanding as of the Effective Time. The number of shares of Common Stock to be issued as Series A Merger Consideration in respect of each share of Series A Preferred Stock outstanding as of the Effective Time will be equal to the quotient determined by dividing (a) the difference of \$816.68, less (ii) the cash portion of the Series A Merger Consideration determined pursuant to the preceding sentence by (b) the IPO Price.

Series B Merger Consideration means a combination of cash and Common Stock (valued at the IPO Price) that is equal to the Liquidation Value of a share of the Series B Preferred Stock. The cash portion of the Series B Merger Consideration will be equal to the quotient determined by dividing (a) the Cash Proceeds Allocated to the Series B Preferred Stock by (b) the number of shares of Series B Preferred Stock issued and outstanding as of the Effective Time. The number of shares of Common Stock to be issued as Series B Merger Consideration in respect of each share of Series B Preferred Stock outstanding as of the Effective Time will be

A-7

Table of Contents

equal to the quot	ient determined by	dividing (a) the	difference of	(i) the Li	quidation `	Value of the	Series B	Preferred :	Stock less ((ii) the cash
portion of the Se	ries B Merger Con	sideration deter	nined pursuar	nt to the p	receding se	entence by (b) the IP	O Price.		

Series A Preferred Stock shall have the meaning set forth in the first whereas clause of the opening recitals.

Series A Variable Rate Notes shall have the meaning set forth in the second whereas clause of the opening recitals.

Series B Preferred Stock shall have the meaning set forth in the first whereas clause of the opening recitals.

Seventh Amendment to Stock Bonus Plan shall mean that certain Seventh Amendment to the Earle M. Jorgensen Employee Stock Ownership Plan (as amended and restated effective as of April 1, 2001), dated as of December 17, 2004, attached hereto as *Exhibit L-2*.

Shares shall mean collectively all of the issued and outstanding shares of Series A Preferred Stock, Series B Preferred Stock and Holding Common Stock.

Sixth Amendment to Stock Bonus Plan shall mean that certain Sixth Amendment to the Earle M. Jorgensen Employee Stock Ownership Plan (as amended and restated effective as of April 1, 2001), dated as of December 17, 2004, attached hereto as *Exhibit L-1*.

Special Committee shall mean the Special Committee on Recapitalization of the board of directors of Holding.

Staff shall having the meaning set forth in Section 9.1.

Stock Bonus Plan shall mean that certain Amended and Restated Employee Stock Ownership Plan of Holding, effective as of April 1, 2001, as amended from time to time.

Stock Bonus Plan Assumption Agreement shall mean that certain Stock Bonus Plan Assumption Agreement, by and between Holding and the Company to be dated as of the Closing Date and attached hereto at *Exhibit F*.

Stock Option Assumption Notice Letter shall mean that certain letter from the Company to each holder of Holding Options, dated as of the Effective Time, in substantially the form attached hereto at *Exhibit K*.

Stock Pledge Agreement shall mean that certain Stock Pledge Agreement, dated as of March 11, 1993, between Holding and KIA IV.

Subsidiary shall mean any corporation, partnership, limited liability company or partnership, joint venture or other entity in which a party either owns capital stock or is a partner or is in some other manner directly or indirectly affiliated through a direct or indirect investment or participation in the equity of such entity and Subsidiaries shall mean all such entities in which a party has any interest.

Supplemental Stock Bonus Plan shall mean that certain Supplement Stock Bonus Plan of Holding, dated as of December 17, 2004 and attached hereto as *Exhibit G*.

Supplemental Stock Bonus Plan Assumption Agreement shall mean that certain Supplemental Stock Bonus Plan Assumption Agreement, by and between Holding and the Company, to be dated as of the Closing Date and attached hereto as *Exhibit H*.

A-8

Table of Contents

Surviving Company shall have the meaning set forth in Section 2.1.

Transfer Restriction Agreement means that certain agreement, dated as of the date of this Agreement and effective as of the Closing Date, to be entered into by and between the Company and certain stockholders of Holding who are members of management of the Company, in substantially the form attached hereto as *Exhibit M*.

Trustee means the trustee of the Stock Bonus Plan.

Wachovia Opinion shall have the meaning set forth in Section 5.8.

Wachovia Securities shall mean Wachovia Capital Markets, LLC, the financial advisor to the Special Committee.

Section 1.2 Other Defined Terms. All other capitalized terms referenced above, but not defined, shall have the meanings given to them as referenced elsewhere in this Agreement.

ARTICLE 2

THE MERGER

Section 2.1 *The Merger; Effect of the Merger.* Upon the terms and subject to the conditions set forth in this Agreement and in accordance with the DGCL, at the Effective Time, Holding shall be merged with and into EMJ Metals LLC and the separate corporate existence of Holding shall cease, and EMJ Metals LLC shall be the surviving entity in the Merger (in such capacity, the **Surviving Company**). The Merger shall be pursuant to the provisions of, and shall be with the effect provided in the DGCL. In accordance with the DGCL and except as otherwise set forth herein, all of the rights, privileges, property, powers and franchises of Holding and EMJ Metals LLC shall vest in the Surviving Company, and all of the debts, liabilities and duties of Holding and EMJ Metals LLC shall become the debts, liabilities and duties of the Surviving Company.

Section 2.2 Effective Time; Filing of Certificate of Merger. Subject to the terms of this Agreement, the parties shall cause the Merger to be consummated by filing a properly executed certificate of merger with the Secretary of State of the State of Delaware satisfying the applicable requirements of the DGCL (the Certificate of Merger). The Merger shall become effective at the time of such filing of the Certificate of Merger with the Secretary of State of the State of Delaware or at such later date or time as Holding and EMJ Metals LLC shall agree and specify in the Certificate of Merger (the Effective Time).

Section 2.3 *Merger Consideration*. At the Effective Time, by virtue of the Merger and without any action on the part of Holding, the Company, EMJ Metals LLC, or any stockholder of Holding:

(a) Each issued and outstanding share of Holding Common Stock held by any stockholder of Holding (other than Holding, the Company or any Subsidiary of the Company or any stockholder who has properly exercised and perfected dissenter s rights under Section 262 of the DGCL) immediately prior to the Effective Time shall by virtue of the Merger and without any action on the part of any Person become and be converted into one validly issued, fully paid and non-assessable share of Common Stock. Each stock certificate of Holding evidencing ownership of shares of Holding Common Stock held by any such stockholder of Holding shall, following the Merger, evidence ownership by such stockholder of an equal number of shares of Common Stock.

(b) Each issued and outstanding share of Series A Preferred Stock held by any stockholder of Holding (other than Holding, the Company or any Subsidiary of the Company or any stockholder who has properly exercised and perfected dissenter s rights under Section 262 of the DGCL) immediately prior to the Effective Time shall by virtue of the Merger and without any action on the part of any party become and be converted into the right to receive the Series A Merger Consideration. Each stock certificate of Holding evidencing ownership of shares of Series A Preferred Stock shall, following the Merger, evidence ownership by such stockholder of the Series A Merger Consideration.

A-9

Table of Contents

- (c) Each issued and outstanding share of Series B Preferred Stock held by any stockholder of Holding (other than Holding, the Company or any Subsidiary of the Company or any stockholder who has properly exercised and perfected dissenter s rights under Section 262 of the DGCL) immediately prior to the Effective Time shall by virtue of the Merger and without any action on the part of any party become and be converted into the right to receive the Series B Merger Consideration. Each stock certificate of Holding evidencing ownership of any such shares of Series B Preferred Stock shall, following the Merger, evidence ownership by such stockholder of the Series B Merger Consideration.
- (d) Each share of Holding Common Stock, Series A Preferred Stock and Series B Preferred Stock held by Holding, the Company or any Subsidiary of the Company (or held in the treasury of Holding) immediately prior to the Effective Time shall be canceled and retired and shall cease to exist, and no consideration shall be delivered in exchange therefor.
- (e) Each share of Common Stock held by Holding, the Company or any Subsidiary of the Company (or held in the Company s treasury) immediately prior to the Effective Time shall be canceled and retired and shall cease to exist, and no consideration shall be delivered in exchange therefor.

Section 2.4 *Outstanding Holding Stock Options*. At the Effective Time, each Holding Option, whether vested or unvested, that is then outstanding and unexercised pursuant to Holding s Stock Option Plan shall be assumed by the Company and become an option to purchase an equal number of shares of Common Stock, at a per share exercise price equal to the exercise price of such Holding Option (an **Assumed Option**). The Company shall reserve a sufficient number of shares of Common Stock for issuance upon exercise of the Assumed Options.

Section 2.5 Distributions with respect to Shares of Holding Capital Stock. No dividends or other distributions on Holding capital stock having a record date after September 29, 2004 and payable to the holders of record thereof after September 29, 2004 will be paid to persons entitled by reason of the Merger to receive Common Stock.

Section 2.6 Conversion Procedures.

- (a) Prior to the Effective Time, the Company shall appoint an exchange/paying agent reasonably acceptable to Holding (the Exchange Agent) for the purpose of exchanging Certificates (as defined below) for the Merger Consideration. At or prior to the Effective Time, the Company shall deposit, or cause to be deposited, with the Exchange Agent the certificates representing the shares of Common Stock comprising the non-cash portion of the aggregate Merger Consideration. The Company agrees to make available to the Exchange Agent, from time to time as needed, cash sufficient to pay the cash portion of the aggregate Merger Consideration, provided that such amount shall be reduced to the extent of any deduction or withholding required by any provision of federal, state, local or foreign tax law.
- (b) Promptly after the Effective Time, the Company shall mail, or cause the Exchange Agent to mail, to each holder of record of a certificate or certificates that immediately prior to the Effective Time represented outstanding Shares (the **Certificates**) (i) a form of letter of transmittal, in a form reasonably satisfactory to the parties (which shall specify that delivery shall be effected, and risk of loss and title to the Certificates shall pass, only upon proper delivery of the Certificates to the Company) and (ii) instructions for use in effecting the surrender of the Certificates in exchange for the Merger Consideration. Upon surrender of Certificates for cancellation to the Company, together with such letter of transmittal, each duly executed, and any other reasonably required documents, the holder of such Certificates shall be entitled to receive for each of the Shares represented by such Certificates, the per share Merger Consideration as set forth in Section 2.3, without interest, allocable to such Certificates and the Certificates so surrendered shall forthwith be canceled. Until surrendered as contemplated by this Section 2.6, such Certificates shall represent solely the right to receive the Merger Consideration allocable to such Certificates.

A-10

Table of Contents

Section 2.7 *Transfers of Ownership*. If any portion of the Merger Consideration is to be paid to a Person other than that in which the Certificate surrendered in exchange therefor is registered, it shall be a condition of such exchange that the Certificate so surrendered shall be properly endorsed and otherwise in proper form for transfer and that the person requesting such exchange shall pay to the Company any transfer or other taxes required by reason of the issuance of certificates for such Shares in a name other than that of the registered holder of the Certificate surrendered, or shall establish to the satisfaction of the Company that such tax has been paid or is not applicable.

Section 2.8 *No Liability*. Neither the Company nor the Surviving Company shall be liable to any holder or former holder of Shares or to any other Person with respect to any shares of Common Stock (or dividends or distributions with respect thereto), or for any amounts, delivered to any public official pursuant to any applicable abandoned property law, escheat law or similar Laws.

Section 2.9 *Transfer of Shares after the Effective Time*. All applicable per share Merger Consideration issued upon the surrender for exchange of Shares in accordance with the terms hereof (including any cash paid in respect thereof) shall be deemed to have been issued in full satisfaction of all rights pertaining to such Shares and, as of and after the Effective Time, no further registration of transfers of shares of Holding shall be made. If, after the Effective Time, Certificates are presented to Holding, the Company or EMJ Metals LLC for any reason, they shall be canceled and exchanged for the applicable per share consideration as provided in this Article 2.

Section 2.10 Lost, Stolen or Destroyed Certificates. In the event any Certificates evidencing Shares shall have been lost, stolen or destroyed, the Company shall issue in exchange for such lost, stolen or destroyed certificates, upon the making of an affidavit of that fact by the holder thereof, the applicable per share consideration with respect thereto, and any dividends or other distributions to which the holders thereof are entitled; provided, however, that the Company may, in its reasonable discretion and as a condition precedent to the issuance thereof, require the owner of such lost, stolen or destroyed certificates to deliver a customary bond in such sum as it may reasonably direct as indemnity against any claim that may be made against the Company or the Surviving Corporation with respect to the Certificates alleged to have been lost, stolen or destroyed.

Section 2.11 Appraisal Rights.

- (a) Notwithstanding any provision of this Agreement to the contrary, any Shares outstanding immediately prior to the Effective Time and that are held by Persons who shall have properly delivered a written demand for payment of the fair cash value of such Shares in accordance with Section 262 of the DGCL (collectively, the **Dissenting Shares**) shall not be converted into or represent the right to receive the applicable Merger Consideration as provided in Section 2.3. Such Persons shall be entitled only to such rights as are granted under Section 262 of the DGCL, except that all Dissenting Shares held by persons who fail to perfect or who effectively withdraw or lose their rights as dissenting shareholders in respect of such shares under Section 262 of the DGCL shall thereupon be deemed to have been converted, as of the Effective Time, into the right to receive the applicable Merger Consideration without interest thereon, upon surrender of the Certificate therefor in the manner provided above.
- (b) Holding shall give the Company (i) prompt notice of any demands by dissenting shareholders received by Holding, withdrawals of such demands and any other instruments served on Holding in accordance with Delaware law and any material correspondence received by Holding in connection with such demands and (ii) the opportunity to participate in all negotiations and proceedings with respect to such demands occurring prior to the Effective Time. Prior to the Effective time, Holding shall not, except with the prior written consent of the Company, make any payment with respect to any demands for appraisal or offer to settle or settle any such demands. Any funds paid to dissenting shareholders shall be paid solely out of the assets of the Company and Holding shall not contribute funds to fund payments to dissenting shareholders, assume the Surviving Corporation sobligation to make such payment, or otherwise reimburse the Company or EMJ Metals LLC, directly or indirectly, for such payment.

A-11

Table of Contents

Section 2.12 Fractional Shares.

- (a) No fractional shares of Common Stock shall be issued in connection with the Merger and no dividend or distribution with respect to shares of Common Stock shall be payable on or with respect to any fractional share, and such fractional share interests shall not entitle the owner thereof to any rights as a stockholder of the Company.
- (b) The Company shall pay to the Exchange Agent an amount in cash sufficient for the Exchange Agent to pay each holder of Holding Common Stock, Series A Preferred Stock and Series B Preferred Stock an amount in cash equal to: the product of (A) the fractional share interest of a share of Common Stock to which such holder otherwise would be entitled (after taking into account all shares of Holding Common Stock, Series A Preferred Stock and Series B Preferred Stock held at the Effective Time by such holder) multiplied by (B) the IPO Price.
- (c) As soon as practicable after the determination of the amount of cash, if any, to be paid to holders of Holding Common Stock, Series A Preferred Stock and Series B Preferred Stock with respect to any fractional share interests, the Exchange Agent shall promptly request such amount from the Company and promptly upon receipt thereof pay such amounts to such holders of Holding Common Stock, Series A Preferred Stock and Series B Preferred Stock.

Section 2.13 Withholding Rights. Each of Holding, the Surviving Company and the Company shall be entitled to deduct and withhold from the Merger Consideration otherwise payable to any Person pursuant to this Article II such amounts as it is required to deduct and withhold with respect to the making of such payment under any provision of federal, state, local or foreign tax law including any withholding from any payment that is treated as wages or compensation for the performance of services. The Company or the Surviving Company, as the case may be, shall effect such withholdings by withholding sufficient cash for (i) federal income tax at the supplemental wage rate and (ii) at the rate provided under any applicable state law, with respect to stock disbursements under Article II. To the extent that amounts are so withheld by the Surviving Company or the Company, as the case may be, such withheld amounts shall be paid over to the applicable taxing authority and shall be treated for all purposes of this Agreement as having been paid to the holder of the shares of Holding Common Stock, Series A Preferred Stock and Series B Preferred Stock in respect of which such deduction and withholding was made by the Surviving Company or the Company.

ARTICLE 3

THE SURVIVING COMPANY

Section 3.1 *Certificate of Formation of EMJ Metals LLC*. The certificate of formation of the Surviving Company (the **Certificate of Formation**) shall be the Certificate of Formation of EMJ Metals LLC attached hereto as *Exhibit B*.

Section 3.2 *Operating Agreement of EMJ Metals LLC*. The Operating Agreement of the Surviving Company shall be the operating agreement of EMJ Metals LLC attached hereto as *Exhibit C*.

Section 3.3 *Managing Member of EMJ Metals LLC*. The managing member of EMJ Metals LLC immediately prior to the Effective Time shall be the managing member of the Surviving Company after the Effective Time.

Section 3.4 Additional Actions. If, at any time after the Effective Time, the Surviving Company shall consider or be advised that consistent with the terms of this Agreement any further assignments or assurances in law or any other acts are necessary or desirable (a) to vest, perfect or confirm, of record or otherwise, in the Surviving Company, title to and possession of any property or right of Holding acquired or to be acquired by reason of, or as a result of, the Merger, or (b) otherwise to carry out the purposes of this Agreement, then, subject to the terms and conditions of this Agreement, Holding and its officers and directors shall be deemed to have

A-12

Table of Contents

granted to the Surviving Company an irrevocable power of attorney to execute and deliver all such deeds, assignments and assurances in law and to do all acts necessary or proper to vest, perfect or confirm title to and possession of such property or rights in the Surviving Company and otherwise to carry out the purposes of this Agreement, and the managing member of the Surviving Company is fully authorized in the name of Holding to take any and all such action.

ARTICLE 4

THE COMPANY

Section 4.1 Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation of the Company. The certificate of incorporation of the Company (the Certificate of Incorporation) shall have been amended and restated as of the Effective Time to conform to Exhibit D attached hereto (the Restated Certificate).

Section 4.2 *Bylaws*. The bylaws of the Company shall have been amended and restated as of the Effective Time to conform to *Exhibit E* (the **Restated Bylaws**).

Section 4.3 *Directors and Officers of the Company*. The directors and officers of the Company in office immediately prior to the Effective Time shall continue to be the directors and the officers of the Company.

Section 4.4 Stock Bonus Plan of the Company. At the Effective Time, the Stock Bonus Plan of Holding in effect immediately prior to the Effective Time shall have been assumed by the Company pursuant to Stock Bonus Plan Assumption Agreement in the form attached hereto as *Exhibit F* and shall continue in full force and effect until amended and changed in the manner prescribed by the provisions of the Stock Bonus Plan.

Section 4.5 Supplemental Stock Bonus Plan of the Company. At the Effective Time, the Supplemental Stock Bonus Plan of Holding, attached hereto as *Exhibit G*, in effect immediately prior to the Effective Time shall have been assumed by the Company pursuant to the Supplemental Stock Bonus Plan Assumption Agreement in the form attached hereto as *Exhibit H* and shall continue in full force and effect until amended and changed in the manner prescribed by the provisions of the Supplemental Stock Bonus Plan.

Section 4.6 Former Employee Bonus Plan of the Company. At the Effective Time, the Former Employee Bonus Plan of Holding, attached hereto as *Exhibit I*, in effect immediately prior to the Effective Time shall have been assumed by the Company pursuant to Former Employee Bonus Plan Assumption Agreement in the form attached hereto as *Exhibit J* and shall continue in full force and effect until amended and changed in the manner prescribed by the provisions of the Former Employee Bonus Plan.

Section 4.7 Stockholders Agreement. At the Effective Time, the Amended and Restated Stockholders Agreement of Holding, as amended and in effect immediately prior to the Effective Time (the **Holding Stockholders Agreement**), shall have been terminated and deemed to be of no further force and effect.

Section 4.8 *Stock Options*. At the Effective Time, the Holding Options issued pursuant to the Holding Stock Option Plan and the obligations of Holding thereunder shall have been assumed by and become obligations of the Company pursuant to Stock Option Assumption Notice Letters in the form attached hereto as *Exhibit K* and shall continue in full force and effect until amended and changed in the manner prescribed by the provisions of such option agreements.

Section 4.9 Additional Actions. If, at any time after the Effective Time, the Company shall consider or be advised that consistent with the terms of this Agreement any further assignments or assurances in law or any other acts are necessary or desirable to carry out the purposes of this Agreement, then, subject to the terms and conditions of this Agreement, Holding and its officers and directors shall be deemed to have granted to the Company an irrevocable power of attorney to execute and deliver all such deeds, assignments and assurances in

A-13

Table of Contents

law and to do all acts necessary or proper to vest, perfect or confirm title to and possession of such property or rights in the Company and otherwise to carry out the purposes of this Agreement, and the Company s directors and officers are fully authorized in the name of Holding to take any and all such action.

ARTICLE 5

REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES OF HOLDING

Holding hereby represents and warrants to the Company and EMJ Metals LLC that the following statements are true and complete and not misleading as of the date of this Agreement:

Section 5.1 Organization and Qualification of Holding. Holding is a corporation duly organized, validly existing and in good standing under the Laws of the State of Delaware.

Section 5.2 *Power and Authority*. Holding has the requisite corporate power, authority and legal right and capacity to enter into this Agreement and the Ancillary Agreements to which Holding is a party, to perform its obligations hereunder and thereunder and to consummate the transactions contemplated hereby and thereby. Holding has the requisite power, authority and legal right and capacity (i) to conduct its business in the manner in which its business is currently being conducted; (ii) to own and use its assets in the manner in which its assets are currently owned and used; and (iii) to perform its obligations under all Contracts by which it is bound.

Section 5.3 Authorization; Due Execution and Delivery; Binding Obligations. Except for the approval of this Agreement and the Merger by the stockholders of Holding required by the DGCL and the certificate of incorporation of Holding, the execution, delivery and performance by Holding of this Agreement and the Ancillary Agreements to which it is a party have been duly authorized by all necessary corporate action on the part of Holding to make this Agreement and the Ancillary Agreements to which Holding is a party valid and binding upon Holding in accordance with its respective terms. Except for the approval of the stockholders of Holding, no further corporate action is necessary on the part of Holding to make this Agreement and the Ancillary Agreements to which it is a party valid and binding upon Holding in accordance with its respective terms. This Agreement has been and, at the Effective Time, each of the Ancillary Agreements to which Holding is a party shall be, duly executed and delivered by Holding. This Agreement constitutes and, at the Effective Time, each of the Ancillary Agreements to which Holding is a party shall constitute, the legal, valid and binding agreement and obligation of Holding, enforceable against Holding in accordance with its respective terms, except as enforcement may be limited by bankruptcy, insolvency, reorganization, moratorium, fraudulent transfer or conveyance or similar Laws relating to or limiting creditors rights generally or by equitable principles relating to enforceability and except as rights of indemnity or contribution may be limited by federal or state securities or other Laws or the public policy underlying such Laws.

Section 5.4 *Non-Contravention; Consents*. Except for and subject to the receipt of the Consents set forth on **Schedule 5.4** and for filings that may be required by the Securities Act, the Exchange Act, state securities or blue sky laws, or the DGCL, neither the execution or delivery of this Agreement or any of the Ancillary Agreements by Holding, nor the consummation of the Merger or any of the other transactions contemplated by this Agreement, will directly or indirectly (with or without notice or lapse of time):

(a) contravene, conflict with or result in a violation of (i) any of the provisions of the certificate of incorporation, bylaws or other charter or organizational documents of Holding, or (ii) any resolution adopted by the stockholders, the board of directors or any committee of the board of

directors of Holding;

(b) contravene, conflict with or result in a violation of, or give any Governmental Body or other Person the right to challenge the Merger or any of the other transactions contemplated by this Agreement or to exercise any remedy or obtain any relief under, any Law or any order, writ, injunction, judgment or decree to which Holding, or any of the assets owned or used by Holding is subject;

A-14

Table of Contents

(c) contravene, conflict with or result in a violation of any of the terms or requirements of, or give any Governmental Body the right to revoke, withdraw, suspend, cancel, terminate or modify, any Governmental Authorization that is held by Holding or that otherwise relates to the business of Holding or to any of the assets owned or used by Holding;

(d) contravene, conflict with or result in a violation or breach of, or result in a default under, any provision of any Contract of Holding that is or would constitute a material Contract, or give any Person the right to (i) declare a default or exercise any remedy under any such Contract of Holding, (ii) a rebate, chargeback, penalty or change in delivery schedule under any such Contract of Holding, (iii) accelerate the maturity or performance of any such Contract of Holding, or (iv) cancel, terminate or modify any term of such Contract of Holding; or

(e) result in the imposition or creation of any Lien upon or with respect to any asset owned or used by Holding (except for minor Liens that will not, in any case or in the aggregate, materially detract from the value of the assets subject thereto or materially impair the operations of Holding).

Section 5.5 Capitalization. The authorized capital stock of Holding consists of (i) 19,500,000 shares of Holding Common Stock, (ii) 600,000 shares of Series A Preferred Stock and (iii) 100,000 shares of Series B Preferred Stock. As of the close of business on November 30, 2004, after giving effect to the 2004 Annual Repurchases From Former Employees (i) 11,253,312 shares of Holding Common Stock were issued and outstanding and 2,085,225 shares of Holding Common Stock were held in Holding s treasury, (ii) 59,971 shares of Series A Preferred Stock were issued and outstanding and 187,575 shares of Series A Preferred Stock were held in Holding s treasury and (iii) 28,718 shares of Series B Preferred Stock were issued and outstanding and 2,295 shares of Series B Preferred Stock were held in Holding s treasury and (iv) no other shares of capital stock or other voting securities of Holding were issued or outstanding. As of the date of this Agreement and after giving affect to the Holding Stock Option Plan Amendment, except for (a) Holding Options to acquire 3,053,662 shares of Holding Common Stock at a weighted average exercise price of \$3.35 per share, issued pursuant to the Holding Stock Option Plan; (b) warrants to purchase 2,937,915 shares of Holding Common Stock at an exercise price of \$0.01 per share (the Holding Warrants) and (c) commitments by Holding, pursuant to Articles III and IV of that certain Sixth Amendment to the Stock Bonus Plan, to make additional employer contributions of shares of Holding Common Stock for Plan Years ending March 31, 2005 and March 31, 2006 (any undefined terms used in this clause shall have such meanings as are set forth in the Stock Bonus Plan), there were no outstanding options, warrants or other rights to acquire capital stock from Holding, and no preemptive or similar rights, subscriptions or arrangements or commitments of any character, relating to Holding capital stock, obligating Holding to issue, transfer or sell any capital stock, voting securities or securities convertibl

Section 5.6 *Financial Statements*. Holding has furnished to the Kelso Entities, the Company and the Surviving Company copies of: (a) the audited balance sheets of Holding (on a consolidated basis) as of March 31, 2004, 2003 and 2002, and the related statements of income, stockholders equity and cash flows for the periods ended March 31, 2004 and 2003, together with the related notes thereto and the auditors report thereon (collectively, the **Holding Audited Financial Statements**), and (b) Holding s unaudited balance sheets on a quarterly basis as of June 30, 2004 and September 29, 2004, and the related statements of income for the period then ended (collectively, the **Holding Unaudited Financial Statements**). All Holding Audited Financial Statements and Holding Unaudited Financial Statements referred to in this Section 5.6 (the **Holding Financial Statements**) are complete and correct, have been prepared in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles applied on a consistent basis during the respective periods, and fairly present the financial condition of Holding and its Subsidiaries as at the respective dates thereof and the results of operations of Holding and its Subsidiaries for the respective periods covered by the statements of income contained therein, except that the Holding Unaudited Financial Statements may not contain footnotes and are subject to normal and recurring year-end audit adjustments which were not or are not expected to be material in amount. All reserves and accruals made by Holding in the Financial Statements are appropriate and adequate for all known or anticipated liabilities.

A-15

Table of Contents

Section 5.7 Recommendation of Special Committee and Board of Directors.

(a) The Special Committee has unanimously determined that approval and adoption of the Merger Agreement and the Merger is advisable and in the best interests of Holding and its stockholders and recommended that Holding s board of directors (i) approve and adopt the Merger Agreement, the Merger, the Exchange and the transactions contemplated hereby and (ii) recommend that the Company s stockholders approve and adopt the Merger Agreement, the Merger, the Exchange and the transactions contemplated hereby.

(b) Holding s board of directors, at a meeting duly called and held on December 16, 2004, has (i) unanimously determined that the Merger is advisable and fair to and in the best interests of the stockholders of Holding; (ii) unanimously approved and adopted and authorized the execution, delivery and performance of this Agreement and each of the Ancillary Agreements to which Holding is a party by Holding and unanimously approved the Merger, the Exchange and the other transactions contemplated hereby; and (iii) unanimously recommended that the stockholders of Holding approve and adopt this Agreement, the Merger, the Exchange and the transactions contemplated hereby.

Section 5.8 *Opinion of Holding s Financial Advisor*. Holding has received the written opinion of Wachovia Securities (the **Wachovia Opinion**), dated December 16, 2004, to the effect that, as of such date, the aggregate Merger Consideration to be received by the stockholders of Holding, other than the Kelso Entities, in connection with the Merger pursuant to this Agreement, is fair to such stockholders of Holding from a financial point of view. Holding has furnished an accurate and complete copy of this written opinion to the parties.

Section 5.9 *Opinion of Benefits Committee Financial Advisor*. The Benefits Committee, the Special Committee and the Board of Directors of Holding has received the written opinion of Duff & Phelps (the **Duff & Phelps Opinion**) dated December 16, 2004, to the effect that, as of such date, (1) the Merger Consideration to be received by the Stock Bonus Plan in connection with the Merger and financial restructuring of Holding and its subsidiaries and IPO pursuant to Section 2.3 of this Agreement, assuming concurrent consummation of the Exchange and the IPO, is fair to the Stock Bonus Plan and its participants from a financial point of view, (2) the Merger Consideration to be received by the Stock Bonus Plan pursuant to Section 2.3 of this Agreement in exchange for the (a) the Series A Preferred Stock, (b) Series B Preferred Stock and (c) the Holding Common Stock, considered independently in each case, is not less than the respective fair market value of such securities.

Section 5.10 *Financial Advisor*. Except for Wachovia Securities and Duff & Phelps, no broker, finder or investment banker is entitled to any brokerage, finder s or other fee or commission in connection with the Merger or any of the other transactions contemplated by this Agreement (other than the IPO) based upon arrangements made by or on behalf of Holding.

Section 5.11 *S-4 Registration Statement and Proxy Statement-Prospectus*. None of the information supplied or to be supplied by or on behalf of Holding for inclusion or incorporation by reference in the Merger Registration Statement will, at the time the Merger Registration Statement becomes effective under the Securities Act, contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state any material fact required to be stated therein or necessary in order to make the statements therein, in light of the circumstances under which they are made, not misleading. None of the information to be supplied by or on behalf of Holding for inclusion in the Proxy Statement-Prospectus will, at the time the Proxy Statement-Prospectus is mailed to the stockholders of Holding or the stockholders of the Company or at the time of the Holding s stockholders meeting and at the Effective Time, contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state any material fact required to be stated therein or necessary in order to make the statements therein, in light of the circumstances under which they are made, not misleading. If at any time prior to the Effective Time any event with respect to Holding, its Subsidiaries, or any of their respective affiliates, officers and directors should occur which is required to be described in an amendment of, or a supplement to, the Proxy Statement-Prospectus, Holding shall promptly inform the other parties, so that such event may be so described and such amendment or supplement to the Merger Registration Statement and the Proxy Statement-Prospectus shall be promptly filed with the Commission

A-16

Table of Contents

and, as required by law, disseminated to the stockholders of Holding. The Proxy Statement-Prospectus will (with respect to Holding and its Subsidiaries) comply as to form in all material respects with the requirements of the Exchange Act. Notwithstanding the foregoing, Holding makes no representation or warranty with respect to any information supplied by, or related to, the Company or EMJ Metals LLC or any of their affiliates or advisors which is contained in any of the foregoing documents.

ARTICLE 6

REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES OF THE COMPANY

The Company hereby represents and warrants to Holding and EMJ Metals LLC that the following statements are true and complete and not misleading as of the date of this Agreement:

Section 6.1 *Organization*. The Company is a corporation duly incorporated, validly existing and in good standing under the Laws of the State of Delaware.

Section 6.2 *Power and Authority*. The Company has the requisite corporate power, authority and legal right and capacity to enter into this Agreement and each of the Ancillary Agreements to which the Company is a party, to perform its obligations hereunder and thereunder and to consummate the transactions contemplated hereby and thereby. The Company has the requisite power, authority and legal right and capacity: (a) to conduct its business in the manner in which its business is currently being conducted; (b) to own and use its assets in the manner in which its assets are currently owned and used; and (c) to perform its obligations under all Contracts by which it is bound.

Section 6.3 *Authorization; Due Execution and Delivery; Binding Obligations.* The execution, delivery and performance by the Company of this Agreement and each of the Ancillary Agreements to which it is a party have been duly authorized by all necessary action on the part of the Company and its stockholders to make this Agreement and the Ancillary Agreements to which the Company is a party valid and binding upon the Company in accordance with its respective terms. This Agreement has been and, at the Effective Date, each of the Ancillary Agreements (to which the Company is a party) shall be, duly executed and delivered by the Company. This Agreement constitutes and, at the Effective Time, each of the Ancillary Agreements to which the Company is a party shall constitute the valid and binding obligation of Company, enforceable against it in accordance with its respective terms, except as enforcement may be limited by bankruptcy, insolvency, reorganization, moratorium, fraudulent transfer or conveyance or similar Laws relating to or limiting creditors—rights generally or by equitable principles relating to enforceability and except as rights of indemnity or contribution may be limited by federal or state securities or other Laws or the public policy underlying such Laws.

Section 6.4 *Non-Contravention; Consents*. Except for and subject to the receipt of the Consents set forth on **Schedule 6.4** and for filings that may be required by the Securities Act, the Exchange Act, state securities or blue sky laws, the New York Stock Exchange, the National Association of Securities Dealers, Inc. or the DGCL, neither the execution and delivery of this Agreement by the Company or any of the Ancillary Agreements by the Company nor the consummation of the Merger or any of the other transactions contemplated by this Agreement will directly or indirectly (with or without notice or lapse of time):

(a) contravene, conflict with or result in a violation of (i) any provision of the certificate of incorporation, bylaws or other charter or organizational documents of the Company or (ii) any resolution adopted by the stockholders, the board of directors or any committee of the

board of directors of the Company;

(b) contravene, conflict with or result in a violation of, or give any Governmental Body or other Person the right to challenge the Merger or any of the other transactions contemplated by this Agreement or to exercise any remedy or obtain any relief under, any Law or any order, writ, injunction, judgment or decree to which the Company, or any of the assets owned or used by the Company, is subject;

A-17

Table of Contents

(c) contravene, conflict with or result in a violation of any of the terms or requirements of, or give any Governmental Body the right to revoke, withdraw, suspend, cancel, terminate or modify, any Governmental Authorization that is held by the Company or that otherwise relates to the business of the Company or to any of the assets owned or used by the Company;

(d) contravene, conflict with or result in a violation or breach of, or result in a default under, any provision of any Contract of the Company that is or would constitute a material Contract, or give any Person the right to (i) declare a default or exercise any remedy under any such Contract of the Company, (ii) a rebate, chargeback, penalty or change in delivery schedule under any such Contract of the Company, (iii) accelerate the maturity or performance of any such Contract of the Company, or (iv) cancel, terminate or modify any term of such Contract of the Company; or

(e) result in the imposition or creation of any Lien upon or with respect to any asset owned or used by the Company (except for minor liens that will not, in any case or in the aggregate, materially detract from the value of the assets subject thereto or materially impair the operations of the Company.

Section 6.5 Capitalization, Etc.

- (a) The authorized capital stock of the Company consists of: (i) 2800 shares of Common Stock; and (ii) 200 shares of preferred stock, \$0.01 par value (the **Preferred Stock**). As of November 30, 2004, 128 shares of Common Stock were issued and outstanding and no shares of Common Stock were held in the treasury. As of the date of this Agreement, no shares of Preferred Stock are issued or outstanding and no shares of Preferred Stock were held in the treasury. All of the outstanding shares of Common Stock have been duly authorized and validly issued, and are fully paid and nonassessable. As of the date of this Agreement, there were no outstanding options, warrants or other rights to acquire capital stock from the Company and no preemptive or similar rights, subscriptions or arrangements or commitments of any character relating to the company s capital stock, voting securities or securities convertible into or exchangeable for capital stock.
- (b) The Restated Certificate will provide for authorized capital stock of 90,000,000 shares divided into 80,000,000 shares of Common Stock, and 10,000,000 shares of preferred stock, \$0.001 par value. Immediately prior to the Effective Time the Company will file the Restated Certificate.
- (c) On or prior to the Effective Date, the Company shall have taken all necessary corporate action to adopt the Company Stock Incentive Plan and authorize for issuance thereunder options to purchase shares of Common Stock (a) at an exercise price per share equal to the IPO Price and (b) in an aggregate amount equal to five percent (5%) of the aggregate number of shares of Common Stock issued by the Company upon completion of the Merger and financial restructuring and IPO. On or prior to the Effective Date, the Company shall have granted, pursuant to the Company Stock Incentive Plan, options to purchase up to [] shares of Common Stock at an exercise price per share equal to the IPO Price, effective Oate. On or prior to the Effective Date, the Company shall have reserved for issuance up to 3,053,662 shares of Common Stock for issuance upon the exercise of the Assumed Options and up to 2,496,703 shares of Common Stock for issuance as contributions to the Stock Bonus Plan pursuant to the Sixth Amendment to Stock Bonus Plan.

Section 6.6 *Holding Approval*. Holding is the sole stockholder of the Company and, in its capacity as such, has authorized, approved, ratified or confirmed (a) the Merger, (b) this Agreement and the execution and delivery thereof by the Company, (c) the Restated Certificate and the filing thereof with the Secretary of State of the State of Delaware, (d) the amendment and restatement of the bylaws of the Company, (e) the assumption of Holding s obligations in the Stock Bonus Plan, the Supplemental Stock Bonus Plan and the Former Employees Bonus Plan, (f) the assumption of Holding s obligations under the Holding Options, and (g) the Company Stock Incentive Plan.

Section 6.7 SEC Filings; Financial Statements.

(a) The Company has delivered or made available to Holding accurate and complete copies (excluding copies of exhibits) of each report and registration statement filed by the Company with the Commission

A-18

Table of Contents

since April 1, 2002 (the **Company SEC Documents**). All statements, reports, schedules, forms and other documents required to have been filed by the Company with the Commission have been so filed on a timely basis. As of the time it was filed with the Commission (or, if amended or superseded by a filing prior to the date of this Agreement, then on the date of such filing): (i) each of the Company SEC Documents complied in all material respects with the applicable requirements of the Securities Act or the Exchange Act (as the case may be); and (ii) none of the Company SEC Documents contained any untrue statement of a material fact or omitted to state a material fact required to be stated therein or necessary in order to make the statements therein, in the light of the circumstances under which they were made, not misleading.

(b) The consolidated financial statements contained in the Company SEC Documents: (i) complied as to form in all material respects with the published rules and regulations of the Commission applicable thereto; (ii) were prepared in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles applied on a consistent basis throughout the periods covered (except as may be indicated in the notes to such financial statements and, in the case of unaudited statements, as permitted by Form 10-Q of the Commission, and except that unaudited financial statements may not contain footnotes and are subject to normal and recurring year-end audit adjustments which were not and are not expected to be material in amount); and (iii) fairly present the consolidated financial position of the Company and its subsidiaries as of the respective dates thereof and the consolidated results of operations of the Company and its subsidiaries for the periods covered thereby.

Section 6.8 Registration Statement. None of the information to be supplied by or on behalf of the Company for inclusion in the Merger Registration Statement will, at the time the Merger Registration Statement becomes effective under the Securities Act, contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state any material fact required to be stated therein or necessary in order to make the statements therein, in the light of the circumstances under which they are made, not misleading. None of the information to be supplied by or on behalf of the Company for inclusion in the Proxy Statement-Prospectus will, at the time the Proxy Statement-Prospectus is mailed to the stockholders of Holding or at the time of Holding s stockholders meeting, as referenced in the Proxy Statement-Prospectus, and at the Effective Time, contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state any material fact required to be stated therein or necessary in order to make the statements therein, in the light of the circumstances under which they are made, not misleading. The Proxy Statement-Prospectus will comply as to form in all material respects with the provisions of the Securities Act and the Exchange Act and the rules and regulations promulgated by the SEC thereunder, except that no representation or warranty is made by the Company with respect to statements made or incorporated by reference therein based on information supplied by Holding for inclusion or incorporation by reference in the Proxy Statement-Prospectus.

Section 6.9 *Validity of Shares*. The Common Stock issuable upon conversion of the Shares pursuant to the Merger, and the Common Stock issuable in exchange for the Series A Variable Rate Notes and the Holding Warrants when issued in accordance with the provisions of the Exchange Agreement, will be duly and validly issued, fully paid and non-assessable.

ARTICLE 7

REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES OF EMJ METALS LLC

EMJ Metals LLC hereby represents and warrants to Holding and the Company that the following statements are true and complete and not misleading as of the date of this Agreement:

Section 7.1 *Organization*. EMJ Metals LLC is a limited liability company duly formed and validly existing under the laws of the State of Delaware.

Section 7.2 *Power and Authority*. EMJ Metals LLC has the requisite limited liability company power, authority and legal right and capacity to enter into this Agreement and the Ancillary Agreements to which it is a party, to perform its obligations hereunder and the consummate the transactions contemplated hereby and thereby.

A-19

Table of Contents

Section 7.3 Authorization; Due Execution and Delivery; Binding Obligations. The execution, delivery and performance by EMJ Metals LLC of this Agreement and the Ancillary Agreements to which it is a party, have been duly authorized by all necessary action on the part of EMJ Metals LLC to make this Agreement and the Ancillary Agreements to which EMJ Metals LLC is a party valid and binding upon EMJ Metals LLC in accordance with their respective terms. This Agreement has been and, at the Effective Time, the Ancillary Agreements (to the extent EMJ Metals LLC is a party thereto) shall be, duly executed and delivered by EMJ Metals LLC and constitute the valid and binding obligations of EMJ Metals LLC, enforceable against EMJ Metals LLC in accordance with their respective terms, except as enforcement may be limited by bankruptcy, insolvency, reorganization, moratorium, fraudulent transfer or conveyance or similar Laws relating to or limiting creditors rights generally or by equitable principles relating to enforceability and except as rights of indemnity or contribution may be limited by federal or state securities or other Laws or the public policy underlying such Laws.

Section 7.4 *No Conflict or Violation*. Neither the execution and delivery of this Agreement and the Ancillary Agreements by EMJ Metals LLC, to which it is a party, nor the consummation of the transactions contemplated hereby and thereby, will result in (a) a violation of, or a conflict with the EMJ Metals LLC s Certificate of Formation or Operating Agreement; (b) a violation by EMJ Metals LLC of any order, judgment, writ, injunction decree or award to which the EMJ Metals LLC is subject.

Section 7.5 Consents and Approvals. No Consent, permit, approval or Governmental Authorization of, or declaration, filing, application, transfer, registration with, any Governmental Body or regulatory authority, or any other person or entity is required to be made or obtained by the EMJ Metals LLC by virtue of EMJ Metals LLC s execution, delivery and performance of this Agreement or any of the Ancillary Agreements.

ARTICLE 8

SECURITIES LAW MATTERS

Section 8.1 *Restrictive Legends on the Common Stock*. Each certificate representing the Common Stock issued by the Company pursuant to this Agreement and delivered to Persons deemed to be affiliates of Holding for purposes of Rule 145 under the Securities Act shall bear a legend substantially in the following form:

THE SECURITIES REPRESENTED BY THIS CERTIFICATE WERE ISSUED IN A TRANSACTION TO WHICH RULE 145 PROMULGATED UNDER THE SECURITIES ACT OF 1933, AS AMENDED (THE ACT.), APPLIES AND MAY ONLY BE SOLD, OR OTHERWISE TRANSFERRED IN COMPLIANCE WITH THE REQUIREMENTS OF RULE 145, PURSUANT TO AN EFFECTIVE REGISTRATION STATEMENT UNDER THE ACT OR UPON EVIDENCE SATISFACTORY TO THE ISSUER (WHICH, IN THE DISCRETION OF THE ISSUER, MAY INCLUDE A WRITTEN OPINION OF COUNSEL, REASONABLY ACCEPTABLE TO THE ISSUER IN FORM AND SUBSTANCE) THAT SUCH TRANSFER IS EXEMPT FROM REGISTRATION UNDER THE ACT.

ARTICLE 9

COVENANTS OF THE PARTIES

Section 9.1 Proxy Statement-Prospectus; Registration Statement.

(a) As soon as reasonably practicable after the date of this Agreement, Holding and the Company shall prepare and file with the Commission under the Securities Act, a second amendment to the Registration Statement on Form S-4 (the **Merger Registration Statement**) first filed with the Commission on January 13, 2004 (Registration No. 333-111882) and amended as of April 8, 2004, for the purpose of registering the

A-20

Table of Contents

sale of the shares of Common Stock to be issued in the Merger and the Exchange. The Merger Registration Statement shall include as a part thereof a prospectus relating to the shares of Common Stock to be issued in the Merger and the Exchange and a proxy statement of Holding (the Proxy Statement-Prospectus) to be used in connection with the solicitation of proxies for the voting of Shares of Holding at the meeting of the stockholders of Holding to be called to approve this Agreement and the Merger. Holding and the Company shall use their respective reasonable efforts to respond as soon as reasonably practicable to the comments of the staff of the Commission (the Staff) and, taking into account the IPO, have the Merger Registration Statement declared effective under the Securities Act. The Company shall also take any action required to be taken under state securities or blue sky laws in connection with the issuance of the Common Stock to be issued in the Merger and the Exchange. Holding shall cooperate with the Company in the prompt preparation and filing of the Merger Registration Statement. Each of Holding and the Company covenants and agrees that the information provided and to be provided by Holding or the Company, as the case may be, specifically for use in the Proxy Statement-Prospectus and the Merger Registration Statement shall not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state any material fact required to be stated therein or necessary in order to make the statements therein, in light of the circumstances under which they were made, not materially misleading. The Company shall notify Holding promptly of the receipt of any comments from the Staff and of any request by the Staff for amendments or supplements to the Merger Registration Statement or for additional information, and shall supply Holding with copies of all correspondence between the Company or its Representatives, on the one hand, and the Commission or members of the Staff, on the other hand, with respect to the Merger Registration Statement or the transactions contemplated hereby. When mailed to the stockholders of Holding, the Proxy Statement-Prospectus shall state the Preliminary IPO Price and the anticipated amount of Cash Proceeds Allocated to Preferred Stock and Holding Notes, and shall provide that an IPO Price of not less than Five Dollars (\$5.00) and Cash Proceeds Allocated to Preferred Stock and Holding Notes of not less than One Hundred Million Dollars (\$100,000,000) shall be conditions to closing of the Merger. Promptly after the Merger Registration Statement has been declared effective, Holding shall mail to its stockholders proxy solicitation materials, including the Proxy Statement-Prospectus and related form of proxy.

(b) Prior to the mailing of the Proxy Statement-Prospectus to the Holding stockholders, the Holding Board of Directors shall be informed of the anticipated price range to be included in the Preliminary IPO Prospectus, as of the date of such mailing and the anticipated net proceeds expected to be received by the Company based on the mid-point of such range and to be included in the Preliminary IPO Prospectus. The Proxy Statement-Prospectus shall not be so mailed until the Holding Board of Directors has ratified and confirmed its approval of this Merger Agreement, the Exchange Agreement and the transactions contemplated hereby and thereby.

Section 9.2 Prospectus; IPO Registration Statement. The Company shall prepare and file with the Commission under the Securities Act, an amendment to the registration statement on Form S-1 (the IPO Registration Statement) first filed with the Commission on October 1, 2004 (Registration No. 333-119434), for the purpose of registering the sale of the shares of Common Stock to be issued in the IPO that will close concurrently with the Merger. The IPO Registration Statement shall include as a part thereof a prospectus relating to the shares of Common Stock to be issued in the IPO (the IPO Prospectus) to be used in connection with sale of the shares of Common Stock in the IPO. The Company shall use its reasonable efforts to respond as soon as reasonably practicable to the comments, if any, of the Staff and, after the Required Vote is obtained, have the IPO Registration Statement declared effective under the Securities Act. The Company shall also take any action required to be taken under state securities or blue sky laws in connection with the issuance of the Common Stock to be issued in the IPO. Holding shall cooperate with the Company in the prompt preparation and filing of any amendments to the IPO Registration Statement. Each of Holding and the Company covenants and agrees that the information provided and to be provided by Holding or the Company, as the case may be, specifically for use in the IPO Prospectus and the IPO Registration Statement shall not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state any material fact required to be stated therein or necessary in order to make the statements therein, in light of the circumstances under which they were made, not materially misleading. The Company shall notify Holding promptly of the receipt of any comments from the Staff and of

A-21

Table of Contents

any request by the Staff for amendments or supplements to the IPO Registration Statement or for additional information, and shall supply Holding with copies of all correspondence between the Company or its Representatives, on the one hand, and the Commission or members of the Staff, on the other hand, with respect to the IPO Registration Statement or the transactions contemplated hereby.

Section 9.3 Amendments or Supplements to the Proxy Statement-Prospectus, the IPO Prospectus; or the Registration Statements. If at any time prior to the Effective Time any event with respect to the Company or Holding or their respective officers and directors or any of their Subsidiaries shall occur which is required to be described in the Proxy Statement-Prospectus, the IPO Prospectus or the Registration Statements, Holding and the Company, to the extent necessary, shall cooperate to prepare an amendment or supplement in which such event shall be so described, and such amendment or supplement shall be promptly filed with the Commission and, as required by Law, distributed to the stockholders of Holding or the IPO offerees, as the case may be. The Registration Statements will comply as to form in all material respects with the provisions of the Securities Act.

Section 9.4 Stockholders Meeting.

- (a) Holding shall duly take all lawful action to call, give notice of, convene and hold a meeting of its stockholders, wherein this Agreement shall be submitted for approval to the stockholders of Holding, including any Person with pass-through voting rights under the Stock Bonus Plan of Holding, which meeting shall be held, as soon as practicable after the Merger Registration Statement has been declared effective by the Commission, but in accordance with the DGCL and the certificate of incorporation and bylaws of Holding.
- (b) The Holding board of directors has determined that the authorization of this Agreement and approval of the Merger and the transactions contemplated hereby shall require the affirmative vote of: (i) a majority of the issued and outstanding shares of Holding Common Stock and Series B Preferred Stock voting together as a class, (ii) a majority of the issued and outstanding shares of Holding Series A Preferred Stock voting separately as a class, (iii) a majority of the issued and outstanding shares of Holding Common Stock and Series B Preferred Stock voting together as a class, excluding (for the purpose of counting the number of shares eligible to vote and the number of shares voted) the shares of such stock owned by the Kelso Entities or the Stockholders and (iv) a majority of the issued and outstanding shares of Holding Series A Preferred Stock voting separately as a class, excluding (for the purpose of counting the number of shares eligible to vote and the number of shares voted) the shares of such stock owned by the Kelso Entities or the Stockholders (the **Required Vote**).

Section 9.5 Certain Actions Relating to Capital Stock. From and after the date of this Agreement through the Effective Time, neither Holding nor the Company shall, without the prior written consent of the other, (i) amend its organizational documents, except for the amendment and restatement of the Company s Certificate of Incorporation and bylaws in connection with the Merger as contemplated by Article 4, (ii) declare, set aside or pay any dividend or other distribution or payment in cash, stock or property in respect of shares of its capital stock, or make any direct or indirect redemption, retirement, purchase or acquisition of any of its capital stock, except for dividends, distributions or acquisitions of the Company or Holding required in connection with the repurchase of Shares from employees of the Company or Holding who have terminated their employment pursuant to and in accordance with the terms of the Stock Bonus Plan or the Holding Stockholders Agreement, (iii) split, combine or reclassify its outstanding shares of capital stock, or (iv) issue or agree to issue, any shares of, or rights of any kind to acquire any shares of its capital stock, except as contemplated by this Agreement. From and after September 29, 2004, dividends shall not accrue on the Series A Preferred Stock or the Series B Preferred Stock and Holding shall not declare any dividends thereon unless this Agreement is terminated pursuant to Section 12.1, provided, further, that in the event of any such termination the right to dividends shall be reinstated with effect from September 29, 2004.

Section 9.6 Accruals of Interest on the Series A Variable Rate Senior Notes. KIA IV shall agree to waive its right to declare Holding in default and accelerate payment of all amounts due on the Series A Variable Rate

A-22

Table of Contents

Senior Notes on account of the failure to pay any interest or any other amounts due and payable from September 29, 2004 through the Effective Time unless this Agreement is terminated pursuant to Section 12.1, provided, further, that in the event of any such termination the right to accrue interest shall be reinstated with effect from September 29, 2004.

Section 9.7 Assumption of Stock Bonus Plan. At the Effective Time, the Company shall assume the obligations of Holding (a) under the Stock Bonus Plan by executing the Stock Bonus Plan Assumption Agreement, (b) under the Supplemental Stock Bonus Plan by executing the Supplemental Stock Bonus Plan Assumption Agreement, and (c) under the Former Employees Bonus Plan by executing the Former Employees Bonus Plan Assumption Agreement.

Section 9.8 Assumption of Holding Options.

(a) At the Effective Time, all rights with respect to Holding Common Stock under each Holding Option then outstanding shall be converted into and become rights to purchase Common Stock, and the Company shall assume each Holding Option and the related option agreement in accordance with the terms (as in effect as of the date of this Agreement) of the Holding Stock Option Plan and the terms of the stock option agreement by which it is evidenced. From and after the Effective Time, (i) each Assumed Option may be exercised solely for shares of Common Stock, (ii) the number of shares of Common Stock subject to each such Assumed Option shall be equal to the number of shares of Holding Common Stock subject to such Assumed Option immediately prior to the Effective Time, (iii) the per share exercise price under each Assumed Option shall be the per share exercise price under such Assumed Option and (iv) any restriction on the exercise of any such Assumed Option shall continue in full force and effect and the term, exercisability, vesting schedule and other provisions of such Assumed Option shall otherwise remain unchanged; provided, however, that each Assumed Option shall, in accordance with its terms, be subject to further adjustment as appropriate to reflect any stock split, stock dividend, reverse stock split, reclassification, recapitalization or other similar transaction subsequent to the Effective Time to the same extent as provided in the Holding Stock Option Plan and the option agreements issued thereunder.

(b) Prior to the Effective Time, Holding shall take all action that may be necessary (under the plans pursuant to which Holding Options are outstanding and otherwise) to effectuate the provisions of this Section 9.8 and to ensure that, from and after the Effective Time, holders of Holding Options have no rights with respect thereto other than those specifically provided in this Section 9.8.

Section 9.9 Amendment of the Company s Credit Agreement. The Company shall use all commercially reasonable efforts to obtain such amendment, waiver and/or Consent of or with respect to its Credit Agreement providing for any changes, waivers or Consents necessary in connection with the Merger.

Section 9.10 *Stock Exchange Listing*. The Company shall cause the shares of Common Stock to be issued in connection with the Merger to be approved for listing on the New York Stock Exchange, subject to official notice of issuance.

Section 9.11 *Certain Filings*. The Company shall promptly take any actions required to be taken under foreign or state securities or Blue Sky laws in connection with the issuance of Common Stock in connection with the Merger. Holding and the Company shall cooperate with one another (a) in determining whether any action by or in respect of, or filing with, any Governmental Authority is required, or any actions, consents, approvals or waivers are required to be obtained from parties to any material contracts, in connection with the consummation of the transactions contemplated by this Agreement and (b) in seeking any such actions, consents, approvals or waivers or making any such filings, furnishing information required in connection therewith or with the Proxy Statement/Prospectus or the Merger Registration Statement and seeking timely to obtain any such actions, consents, approvals or waivers.

Section 9.12 *Affiliates*. As soon as practicable after the date hereof and in any event not less than 30 days prior to the Effective Time, Holding shall deliver to the Company a letter identifying all Persons who, in the

A-23

Table of Contents

opinion of Holding, may be, as of the date of such delivery, its affiliates for purposes of Rule 145 under the Securities Act and such letter shall be updated to reflect changes from the date thereof. Holding shall use its reasonable best efforts to cause the delivery to the Company of letter agreements in form and substance reasonably satisfactory to the Company from each Person identified in the letter delivered by Holding pursuant to the preceding sentence, pursuant to which each such Person shall covenant and agree not to sell, transfer, or otherwise dispose of the Common Stock received by such person in the Merger except in compliance with the requirements of Rule 145 promulgated under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, as well as other matters customarily addressed in such affiliate letter agreements. The Company shall not be required to maintain the effectiveness of the Merger Registration Statement for purposes of resale of Common Stock received in the Merger by such affiliates.

Section 9.13 *Additional Agreements*. The Company, Holding and EMJ Metals LLC shall use all reasonable efforts to take, or cause to be taken, all actions necessary to consummate the Merger and make effective the other transactions contemplated by this Agreement. Without limiting the generality of the foregoing, but subject to Section 9.14, each party to this Agreement (i) shall make all filings (if any) and give all notices (if any) required to be made and given by such party in connection with the Merger and the other transactions contemplated by this Agreement, (ii) shall use all reasonable efforts to obtain each Consent (if any) required to be obtained (pursuant to any applicable Law or Contract, or otherwise) by such party in connection with the Merger or any of the other transactions contemplated by this Agreement, and (iii) shall use all reasonable efforts to cause to be lifted any restraint, injunction or other legal bar to the Merger. The Company shall promptly deliver to Holding a copy of each such filing made, each such notice given and each such Consent obtained by the Company during the pre-closing period.

Section 9.14 *Commercially Reasonable Efforts*. Subject to the terms and conditions hereof, each of the parties agrees to use their commercially reasonable efforts to take, or cause to be taken, all action and to do, or cause to be done, all things necessary to satisfy the conditions set forth herein as soon as practicable. No party will take any action for the purpose of delaying, impairing or impeding the receipt of any required Consent, Governmental Authorization, order or approval or the making of any required filing or registration.

Section 9.15 *Tax Treatment*. None of Holding, the Company or any of its Subsidiaries shall (i) take any action, directly or indirectly, that would prevent the transactions contemplated by this Agreement and the Exchange Agreement from qualifying as a tax-free reorganization under section 368 of the Code, or (ii) take any action, directly or indirectly, inconsistent with the treatment of (A) the transactions contemplated by this Agreement and the Exchange Agreement as a reorganization under section 368 of the Code or (B) the exchanges contemplated by such agreements as having been effected pursuant to the plan of such reorganization. The Company shall cause EMJ Metals LLC to be treated (at all relevant times) as disregarded as an entity separate from the Company within the meaning of Treasury Regulation 301.7701-3(b)(ii), promulgated under the Code.

Section 9.16 Application of Proceeds of Green Shoe. Notwithstanding anything contained herein to the contrary, in the event that after the Effective Time the underwriters elect to exercise their over-allotment option to purchase additional shares of Common Stock in the IPO, the net proceeds received by the Company from the sale of such shares shall be applied to the payment of the Holding Notes in lieu of the issuance of shares of Common Stock pursuant to the Exchange Agreement. The Kelso Entities and EMJ agree to defer the delivery of such number of shares of Common Stock, valued on a per share basis at the IPO Price, in exchange for Holding Notes, which are equal in aggregate value to the net proceeds that would be received by EMJ, assuming the underwriters elected to exercise their over-allotment option in full.

Section 9.17 *Payment of IPO Bonus*. The Company shall adopt a bonus plan providing for the payment of a bonus to active employees of Holding or the Company on the Closing Date who are participants in the Stock Bonus Plan in the aggregate amount of Seven Million Five Hundred Thousand Dollars (\$7,500,000), which shall be allocated in the proportion that the number of shares of Holding Common Stock held by such employees in their Stock Bonus Plan accounts on December 16, 2004 bears to the total shares of Holding Common Stock held by all such employees in the Stock Bonus Plan on December 16, 2004, and shall pay bonuses pursuant to such plan after the Closing.

A-24

ARTICLE 10

CONDITIONS PRECEDENT TO THE MERGER

Section 10.1 <i>Conditions Precedent to Each Party s Obligation to Effect the Merger</i> . The respective obligations of each party to effect the Merger shall be subject to the fulfillment at or prior to the Effective Date of the following conditions:
(a) Amended Consent Order. The Amended DOL Consent Order shall have been issued and entered, with counsel for each of the parties thereto consenting to the entry of that order.
(b) Adoption of the Sixth Amendment to Stock Bonus Plan and Related Documents by Holding. Holding shall have adopted the Sixth Amendment to Stock Bonus Plan, the Supplemental Stock Bonus Plan and the Former Employees Bonus Plan.
(c) Adoption of the Seventh Amendment to Stock Bonus Plan by Holding. Holding shall have adopted the Seventh Amendment to Stock Bonus Plan.
(d) Execution and Delivery of Transfer Restriction Agreement. The Company and each of the management employees of the Company listed on Exhibit M-1 shall have executed and delivered a Transfer Restriction Agreement.
(e) <i>Board Ratification and Confirmation</i> . The board of directors of Holding shall have ratified and confirmed its approval of this Agreement, the Exchange Agreement and the transactions contemplated hereby and thereby as contemplated by Section 9.1(b).
(f) <i>The Merger Registration Statement</i> . The Merger Registration Statement shall have been declared effective, and no stop order suspending the effectiveness of the Merger Registration Statement shall have been issued by the Commission or shall be continuing to be in effect, and no proceedings for that purpose shall have been initiated or threatened by the Commission.
(g) Stockholder Approval. The stockholders of Holding shall have adopted this Agreement by the Required Vote.
(h) <i>Appraisal Rights</i> . Stockholders of Holding shall not have exercised appraisal rights with respect to more than five percent (5%) of the issued and outstanding capital stock of any class of Holding.

Table of Contents 434

(i) Restated Certificate. The Company shall have caused the Company s Certificate of Incorporation to be amended and restated by filing the

Restated Certificate with the Secretary of State of the State of Delaware.

(j) Completion of the IPO, the IPO Price and the Amount of Cash Proceeds Allocated to Redemption and Repurchase. The IPO shall close concurrently with the Merger, the IPO Price shall be not less than Five Dollars (\$5.00), and the amount of Cash Proceeds Allocated to Preferred Stock and Holding Notes shall be not less than One Hundred Million Dollars (\$100,000,000).
(k) Assumption of Stock Bonus Plan, Supplemental Stock Bonus Plan and Former Employees Bonus Plan by the Company. The Company shall have assumed all obligations of Holding with respect to the Stock Bonus Plan, the Supplemental Stock Bonus Plan and the Former Employees Bonus Plan.
(l) Exchange Listing. The shares of Common Stock to be issued in the Merger and the Exchange shall have been approved for listing on the New York Stock Exchange subject to official notice of issuance.
(m) Adoption and Assumption of Stock Options by the Company. The Company shall have assumed all obligations of Holding with respect to the Assumed Options and shall have provided written notice to each holder of Holding Options of such assumption.
(n) Adoption of Company Stock Incentive Plan. The Company shall have adopted the Company Stock Incentive Plan and granted options for issuance thereunder in compliance with Section 6.5(c).
(o) Execution and Delivery of Nelson Stockholder Agreement. The Company and Maurice S. Nelson, Jr. shall have executed and delivered the Nelson Stockholder Agreement.
A-25

Table of Contents

- (p) Payment of Transaction and Termination Fee to Kelso and Termination of Financial Advisory Agreement. The Company shall have paid Kelso a fee in the aggregate amount of Six Million Two Hundred Fifty Thousand Dollars (\$6,250,000) in consideration of Kelso s services concerning the Merger and financial restructuring and Kelso s agreement to terminate the Financial Advisory Agreement and Kelso and the Company shall have executed and delivered all documentation necessary to terminate the Financial Advisory Agreement.
- (q) Other Governmental Approvals. (A) All required approvals or Consents of any Governmental Authority in connection with the Merger and the consummation of the other transactions contemplated hereby shall have been obtained (and all relevant statutory, regulatory or other governmental waiting periods, whether domestic, foreign or supranational, shall have expired) unless the failure to receive any such approvals or consents would not, individual or in the aggregate, reasonably be expected to have a material adverse effect on the Company (including the Surviving Corporation) at or after the Effective Time and (B) all such approvals and consents which have been obtained shall be on terms that would not, individually or in the aggregate, reasonably be expected to have a material adverse effect on the Company (including the Surviving Corporation) at or after the Effective Time.
- (r) *Tax Opinion*. The Company shall have received from Katten Muchin Zavis Rosenman (i) an opinion, on the basis of representations and assumptions set forth in such opinion, that the Merger should be treated for federal income tax purposes as a reorganization within the meaning of Section 368(a) of the Code, and (ii) an opinion, on the basis of representations and assumptions set forth in such opinion, that each of Holding, EMJ Metals LLC and the Company should be a party to the reorganization within the meaning of Section 368(b) of the Code, and neither opinion shall have been withdrawn as of the Effective Time. In rendering its opinion, counsel shall be entitled to rely upon representations of officers of Holding and the Company that are provided pursuant to an officers certificate.
- (s) *No Injunctions*. No United States or state governmental authority or other agency or commission or United States or state court of competent jurisdiction shall have enacted, issued, promulgated, enforced or entered any statute, rule, regulation, injunction or other order (whether temporary, preliminary or permanent) which is in effect and has the effect of making illegal or otherwise prohibiting or restraining consummation of the transactions contemplated by this Agreement.
- (t) No Proceedings. There shall not have been instituted or pending any action or proceeding by or before any court or governmental authority or other regulatory or administrative agency or commission, domestic or foreign, by any government or governmental authority, nor shall there have been or be any determination by any government, governmental authority, regulatory or administrative agency or commission which, in either case, would require either party to take any action or do anything in connection with the foregoing which would result in a material adverse effect to their respective businesses.
- (u) Certificate of Merger. The Certificate of Merger shall have been properly filed with the Secretary of State of the State of Delaware and shall have satisfied the applicable requirements of the DGCL.

Section 10.2 Conditions Precedent to Obligations of the Company and EMJ Metals LLC. The obligations of the Company and EMJ Metals LLC to effect the Merger and otherwise consummate the transactions contemplated by this Agreement are subject to the satisfaction, at or prior to the Closing, of each of the following conditions:

(a) Accuracy of Representations. The representations and warranties of Holding contained in this Agreement shall be accurate in all respects as of the Closing Date as if made on and as of the Closing Date, except that any inaccuracies in such representations and warranties will be disregarded if the circumstances giving rise to all such inaccuracies (considered collectively) do not constitute, and would not reasonably be expected to have, a material adverse effect on the Company after Closing.

(b) *Performance of Covenants*. Each covenant or obligation that Holding is required to comply with or to perform at or prior to the Closing shall have been complied with and performed in all material respects. The Kelso Entities shall have performed all of their obligations under the Exchange Agreement.

A-26

Table of Contents

(c) Consents. All material Consents required to be obtained by Holding in connection with the Merger and the other transactions contemplated by this Agreement shall have been obtained and shall be in full force and effect.

Section 10.3 *Conditions Precedent to Holding s Obligation to Effect the Merger*. The obligations of Holding to effect the Merger shall be subject to the fulfillment at or prior to the Effective Time of the following conditions, provided that the conditions contained in clauses (c) and (d) shall not be waivable:

- (a) Accuracy of Representations. The representations and warranties of the Company and EMJ Metals LLC contained in this Agreement shall be accurate in all respects as of the Closing Date as if made on and as of the Closing Date, except that any inaccuracies in such representations and warranties will be disregarded if the circumstances giving rise to all such inaccuracies (considered collectively) do not constitute, and would not reasonably be expected to have, a material adverse effect on the Company after Closing.
- (b) *Performance of Covenants*. All of the covenants and obligations that the Company and EMJ Metals LLC are required to comply with or to perform at or prior to the Closing shall have been complied with and performed in all material respects, and the Kelso Entities shall have performed all of their respective covenants and obligations under the Note Exchange Agreement and shall have made their respective deliveries contemplated by Section 11.5 hereof.
- (c) *Opinion of Financial Advisor*. Holding shall have received a redelivery of the Wachovia Opinion stating substantially the same conclusions as to the fairness of the Merger as set forth in the opinion delivered on the date hereof, dated as of the Effective Time.
- (d) *Opinion of Benefits Committee Financial Advisor*. Holding shall have received a redelivery of the Duff & Phelps Opinion stating substantially the same conclusions as to the fairness of the Merger as set forth in the opinion delivered on the date hereof, dated as of the Effective Time.
- (e) Consents. All material Consents required to be obtained by the Company or EMJ Metals LLC in connection with the Merger and the other transactions contemplated by this Agreement shall have been obtained and shall be in full force and effect.

ARTICLE 11

CLOSING

Section 11.1 *Time and Place*. The closing of the transactions that are the subject of this Agreement (the **Closing**) shall occur as soon as practicable after the meeting of stockholders of Holding to vote upon the Merger (the **Closing Date**) so long as all of (a) this Agreement and the Ancillary Agreements have been duly authorized and executed by the appropriate parties, and (b) the conditions to Closing set forth in Article 10 are satisfied on or prior to the Closing Date. The Closing shall occur at the offices of Katten Muchin Zavis Rosenman, 2029 Century Park East, Ste. 2600, Los Angeles, California 90067 (or at such other place as the parties may mutually agree).

Section 11.2 Deliveries of the Company. At the Closing, the Company shall deliver each of the following:

(a) Certificate of Secretary. A certificate of the Secretary of the Company certifying copies of the Certificate of Incorporation and Bylaws of the Company as in effect prior to the Restated Certificate and the Restated Bylaws, and resolutions of the board of directors and stockholder of the Company duly authorizing (i) the execution, delivery and performance of this Agreement and each of the other agreements contemplated hereby, (ii) approval of the Merger and (iii) the consummation of all other transactions contemplated by this Agreement;

(b) Good Standing Certificate. A certificate evidencing the good standing of the Company issued by the Delaware Secretary of State not more than five (5) days prior to the Closing;

A-27

Table of Contents

(c) Certified Copy of Restated Certificate. Evidence of filing of the Restated Certificate of the Company with the Secretary of State of the State of Delaware.
(d) Company Stock Certificates. Share certificates representing the Common Stock issued to the Kelso Entities in replacement of the Shares held by the Kelso Entities, as Merger Consideration or in exchange for the Series A Variable Rate Notes and Holding Warrants, as the case may be.
(e) <i>Officer s Certificate</i> . A certificate executed on behalf of the Company by an executive officer of the Company, confirming that conditions with respect to the Company set forth in paragraphs 10.2(a) and (b) have been duly satisfied.
(f) Company Stock Incentive Plan. A copy of the Company Stock Incentive Plan as adopted by the board of directors of the Company.
(g) Assumption Agreements. Executed counterparts of the Stock Bonus Plan Assumption Agreement, the Supplemental Stock Bonus Plan Assumption Agreement and the Former Employees Bonus Plan Assumption Agreement.
(h) <i>Option Agreements</i> . Copies of notices of assumption as sent to the holders of Holding Options with respect to the Holding Options and as Merger consideration.
(i) Consents and Filings. Copies of all third party Consents and filings required in connection with the consummation of the transactions by the Company hereunder, if any; and
(j) Other Documents. Such other documents relating to the transactions contemplated by this Agreement as the other Parties or their counsel may reasonably request.
Section 11.3 Deliveries of Holding. At the Closing, Holding shall deliver each of the following:
(a) Certificate of Secretary. Certificate of the Secretary of Holding certifying copies of the amended and restated certificate of incorporation and bylaws of Holding as in effect at the Closing and resolutions of the board of directors and stockholders of Holding duly authorizing on its behalf its (i) execution, delivery and performance of this Agreement and each of the other agreements contemplated hereby, (ii) approval of the Merger and (iii) consummation of all other transactions contemplated by this Agreement.
(b) <i>Good Standing Certificate</i> . A certificate evidencing the good standing of Holding issued by the Delaware Secretary of State not more than five (5) days prior to the Closing.

Edgar Filling. GottaEt Voet Victor Wilder Victor Vi
(c) <i>Holding s Officer s Certificate</i> . A certificate executed on behalf of Holding by its President and Chief Executive Officer confirming that the conditions set forth in paragraphs 10.3(a), (b) and (c) have been duly satisfied shall have been executed and delivered to the parties.
(d) Consents and Filings. Copies of all third party Consents and filings required in connection with the consummation of the transactions by Holding hereunder, if any; and
(e) <i>Other Documents</i> . Such other documents relating to the transactions contemplated by this Agreement as the other Parties or their counsel may reasonably request.
Section 11.4 Deliveries of EMJ Metals LLC. At the Closing, EMJ Metals LLC shall deliver each of the following:
(a) <i>Certificate of Secretary</i> . Copies of the Certificate of Formation and Operating Agreement of EMJ Metals LLC as in effect at the Closing and resolutions of EMJ Metals LLC s member duly authorizing the (i) execution, delivery and performance of this Agreement and each of the other agreements contemplated hereby, and (ii) consummation of all other transactions contemplated by this Agreement certified by the Secretary of EMJ Metals LLC.
(b) <i>Consents</i> . Copies of all third party Consents and filings required in connection with the consummation of the transactions by EMJ Metals LLC hereunder, if any.
A-28

Table of Contents

(c) Officer s Certificate. A certificate executed on behalf of EMJ Metals LLC by its sole member confirming that conditions with respect to EMJ Metals LLC set forth in paragraphs 10.3(a), (b) and (c) have been duly satisfied.
(d) <i>Other Documents</i> . Such other documents relating to the transactions contemplated by this Agreement as the other parties or their counsel may reasonably request.
Section 11.5 Deliveries of the Kelso Entities. At the Closing, each of the Kelso Entities shall deliver the following:
(a) <i>Incumbency Certificate</i> . A certificate of an officer of each Kelso Entity to the effect that the Person taking action on behalf of such Kelso Entity is the Person authorized on behalf of such Kelso Entity to take such action and the agreements executed by such Person constitute the binding obligations of such Kelso Entity.
(b) Series A Variable Rate Notes. Originals of all Series A Variable Rate Notes which are to be exchanged for cash and Common Stock and cancelled as provided herein.
(c) Holding Warrants. The originals of the Holding Warrants with completed forms of subscriptions attached thereto.
(d) Certificates Representing the Shares. The Certificates representing the Shares held by the Kelso Entities duly endorsed in blank, or accompanied by stock powers duly executed in blank, by each of the Kelso Entities transferring the same to the Company.
(e) <i>Termination of Stock Pledge Agreement</i> . Written documentation executed and delivered on behalf of KIA IV, terminating the Stock Pledge Agreement.
(f) Surrender of Pledged Shares. Surrender of 128 shares of Common Stock of the Company issued to Holding and pledged by Holding to KIA IV pursuant to the Stock Pledge Agreement (the Pledged Shares) and delivery to EMJ Metals LLC of certificates representing the Pledged Shares.
(g) Consents. Copies of all third party Consents and filings, if any, required of any of the entities comprising the Kelso Entities in connection with the consummation of the transactions by any of them hereunder; and
(h) <i>Other Documents</i> . Such other documents relating to the transactions contemplated by this Agreement as the other Parties or their counsel may reasonably request.

Section 11.6 Simultaneous Closing. All actions taken and documents delivered prior to or at the Closing shall be deemed to have been taken simultaneously at the time the last of any such action is taken and any such document is delivered unless any such action or document, by its terms or the terms of this Agreement, requires an earlier effective date or effective time. No delivery by any Party hereto at the Closing shall be effective against such Party until the actions and documents required of the other Parties at the Closing under this Agreement are taken and delivered.

ARTICLE 12

TERMINATION PRIOR TO CLOSING

Section 12.1 *Termination*. This Agreement may be terminated and the Merger contemplated herein may be abandoned at any time prior to the Effective Date:

- (a) By the mutual written Consent of Holding and the Company;
- (b) By the Company or Holding, if the Merger shall not have been consummated by March 31, 2005 (unless the failure to consummate the Merger is attributable to a failure on the part of the party seeking to terminate this Agreement to perform any material obligation required to be performed by such party at or prior to the Effective Time);

A-29

Table of Contents

- (c) By the Company or Holding, if a court of competent jurisdiction or other Governmental Body shall have issued a final and nonappealable order, decree or ruling, or shall have taken any other action, having the effect of permanently restraining, enjoining or otherwise prohibiting the Merger;
- (d) By the Company or Holding, if the Holding stockholders meeting (including any adjournments and postponements thereof) shall have been held and completed, Holdings stockholders shall have taken a final vote on a proposal to adopt this Agreement, and this Agreement shall not have been adopted at such meeting by the Required Vote (and shall not have been adopted at any adjournment or postponement thereof); or
- (e) By the Company, if Holding Stockholders have exercised Dissenter s Rights with respect to more than five percent (5%) of the issued and outstanding capital stock of any class of Holding.

Section 12.2 *Effect of Termination*. In the event of any termination of this Agreement pursuant to Section 12.1 above, no party (or any of its directors or officers) shall have any liability or further obligation to any other party to this Agreement.

Section 12.3 *Effect of Obligations*. Termination of this Agreement pursuant to Section 12.1, above, shall terminate all obligations of the parties hereunder and this Agreement shall become void and have no effect without any liability on the part of any party or the stockholders, directors, officers or partners in respect thereof.

ARTICLE 13

POST CLOSING

Section 13.1 *Tax Treatment*. None of Holding, the Company or any of its Subsidiaries shall (i) take any action, directly or indirectly, that would prevent the transactions contemplated by this Agreement and the Exchange Agreement from qualifying as a tax-free reorganization under section 368 of the Code, or (ii) take any action, directly or indirectly, inconsistent with the treatment of (A) the transactions contemplated by this Agreement and the Exchange Agreement as a reorganization under section 368 of the Code or (B) the exchanges contemplated by such agreements as having been effected pursuant to the plan of such reorganization. The Company shall cause EMJ Metals LLC to be treated (at all relevant times) as disregarded as an entity separate from the Company within the meaning of Treasury Regulation 301.7701-3(b)(ii), promulgated under the Code.

Section 13.2 *Expenses*. The Company will be responsible for and bear all of the costs and reasonable out-of-pocket expenses of Holding, the Stock Bonus Plan, the Kelso Entities and EMJ Metals LLC, including, without limitation, expenses of legal counsel, accountants, brokers, finders and other advisors, incurred in connection with evaluating, negotiating and consummating the proposed transaction incident to this Agreement.

ARTICLE 14

MISCELLANEOUS PROVISIONS

Section 14.1 *Entire Agreement*. This Agreement, together with the agreements referred to herein and in the schedules and exhibits hereto and thereto, set forth the entire agreement between the parties with regard to the subject matter of this Agreement. All agreements, covenants, representations and warranties, express or implied, oral and written, of the parties with regard to the subject matter of this Agreement are contained in this Agreement, in the schedules and exhibits to this Agreement, and the documents referred to or implementing the provisions of this Agreement. This is an integrated agreement.

Section 14.2 Governing Law and Choice of Forum. The validity, construction and performance of this Agreement, and any Action arising out of or relating to this Agreement or any of the Ancillary Agreements, shall be governed by the Laws, without regard to the Laws as to choice or conflict of Laws, of the State of New York. Any Action arising out of or relating hereto or thereto, or the interpretation, performance or breach hereof or

A-30

Table of Contents

thereof, shall be instituted in the United States District Court for the Southern District of New York or any court of the State of New York located in the Borough of Manhattan, and each party irrevocably submits to the jurisdiction of those courts and waives any and all objections to jurisdiction or venue that it may have under the Laws of the State of New York or otherwise in those courts in any such Action. Each party agrees to accept service of process in any such Action in the manner provided for in Section 14.7, below.

Section 14.3 *Interpretation*. The language in all parts of this Agreement and each of the other Ancillary Agreements shall be in all cases construed simply according to its fair meaning and not strictly for or against any party. Whenever the context requires, all words used in the singular will be construed to have been used in the plural, and vice versa, and each gender will include any other gender. The captions of the sections and subsections of this Agreement are for convenience only and shall not affect the construction or interpretation of any of the provisions of this Agreement.

Section 14.4 Waiver and Amendment. This Agreement may be amended, supplemented, modified and/or rescinded only through an express written instrument signed by all parties or their respective successors and permitted assigns. Any party may specifically and expressly waive in writing any portion of this Agreement or any breach hereof, but only to the extent such provision is for the benefit of the waiving party, and no such waiver shall constitute a further or continuing waiver of any preceding or succeeding breach of the same or any other provision. The consent by one party to any act for which such consent was required shall not be deemed to imply consent or waiver of the necessity of obtaining such consent for the same or similar acts in the future, and no forbearance by a party to seek a remedy for noncompliance or breach by another party shall be construed as a waiver of any right or remedy with respect to such noncompliance or breach.

Section 14.5 *Assignment*. Except as specifically provided otherwise in this Agreement, neither this Agreement nor any interest herein shall be assignable (voluntarily, involuntarily, by judicial process, operation of Law or otherwise), in whole or in part, by any party without the prior written consent of all other parties. Any attempt at such an assignment without such consent shall be void and, at the option of the non-consenting party, shall be an incurable breach of this Agreement resulting in the termination of this Agreement.

Section 14.6 *Successors and Assigns*. Each of the terms, provisions and obligations of this Agreement shall be binding upon, shall inure to the benefit of, and shall be enforceable by the parties and their respective legal representatives, successors and permitted assigns.

Section 14.7 *Notices*. All notices, requests, demands and other communications made under this Agreement shall be in writing, correctly addressed to the recipient at the addresses set forth under such recipient s signature on the signature page hereto and shall be deemed to have been duly given; (a) upon delivery, if served personally on the party to whom notice is to be given; or (b) on the date or receipt, refusal or non-delivery indicated on the receipt if mailed to the party to whom notice is to be given by first class mail, registered or certified, postage prepaid, or by air courier. Any party may give written notice of a change of address in accordance with the provisions of this Section 14.7 and after such notice of change has been received, any subsequent notice shall be given to such party in the manner described at such new address.

Section 14.8 Severability. Each provision of this Agreement is intended to be severable. Should any provision of this Agreement or the application thereof be judicially declared to be or becomes illegal, invalid, unenforceable or void, the remainder of this Agreement will continue in full force and effect and the application of such provision to other persons or circumstances will be interpreted so as reasonably to effect the intent of the parties.

Section 14.9 Specific Performance. Each party s obligations under this Agreement are unique. If any party should default in any of its obligations under this Agreement, the parties each acknowledge that it would be impracticable to measure the resulting damages. Accordingly, without prejudice to the right to seek and recover monetary damages, each nondefaulting party shall be entitled to sue in equity for specific performance

of this Agreement or other injunctive relief, and each party hereby waives any defense that a remedy in damages would be adequate.

A-31

Table of Contents

Section 14.10 *Cumulative Remedies*. No remedy made available hereunder by any of the provisions of this Agreement is intended to be exclusive of any other remedy, and each and every remedy shall be cumulative and shall be in addition to every other remedy given hereunder or now or hereafter existing at law or in equity or by statute or otherwise.

Section 14.11 Warranty of Authority. Each of the individuals signing this Agreement on behalf of a party hereto warrants and represents that such individual is duly authorized and empowered to enter into this Agreement and bind such party hereto.

Section 14.12 *Third Parties*. Nothing expressed or implied in this Agreement is intended or shall be construed to confer upon or give to any Person, other than the parties to this Agreement and their respective permitted successors and assigns any rights or remedies under or by reason of this Agreement.

Section 14.13 *Counterparts*. This Agreement may be executed in one or more counterparts, each of which shall be deemed an original, but all of which together shall constitute a single agreement.

[The remainder of this page is blank.]

A-32

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, this Agreement has been duly executed and delivered by the duly authorized officers of the parties hereto on the date first written above.

EARLE M. JORGENSEN HOLDING COMPANY, INC.

INC.

By: /s/ Maurice S. Nelson, Jr.

Name: Maurice S. Nelson, Jr.

Title: President, Chief Executive Officer and
Chief Operating Officer

EARLE M. JORGENSEN COMPANY

By: /s/ Maurice S. Nelson, Jr.

Name: Maurice S. Nelson, Jr.
Title: President, Chief Executive Officer and
Chief Operating Officer

EMJ METALS LLC, by its sole member Earle M. Jorgensen Company

By: /s/ Maurice S. Nelson, Jr.

Name: Maurice S. Nelson, Jr.

Title: President, Chief Executive Officer and
Chief Operating Officer

ANNEX B

EXCHANGE AGREEMENT

dated as of December 17, 2004

by and among

EARLE M. JORGENSEN HOLDING COMPANY, INC.,

EARLE M. JORGENSEN COMPANY,

KELSO INVESTMENT ASSOCIATES, L.P.,

KELSO EQUITY PARTNERS II, LP,

KIA-III-EARLE M. JORGENSEN, L.P.,

and

KELSO INVESTMENT ASSOCIATES IV, L.P.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

		Page
ARTICLE I VOTING AC	GREEMENT	1
SECTION 1.1	Voting Agreement	1
SECTION 1.2	Irrevocable Proxy	2
ARTICI E II EXCHANG	EE OF SERIES A VARIABLE RATE NOTES AND HOLDING WARRANTS	,
SECTION 2.1	Exchange of Series A Variable Rate Notes	
SECTION 2.2	Cancellation of Series A Variable Rate Notes	-
SECTION 2.3	Exchange of Holding Warrants	4
	NTATIONS AND WARRANTIES OF THE STOCKHOLDERS	
SECTION 3.1	Organization, Authority and Qualification	
SECTION 3.2	No Conflict; Required Filings and Consents	
SECTION 3.3	Ownership of Shares	2
SECTION 3.4	<u>Title to Series A Variable Rate Notes</u>	2
SECTION 3.5	<u>Brokers</u>	2
	NTATIONS AND WARRANTIES OF HOLDING	2
SECTION 4.1	Organization, Authority and Qualification	2
SECTION 4.2	No Conflict; Required Filings and Consents	;
	NTATIONS AND WARRANTIES OF EMJ	4
SECTION 5.1	Organization, Authority and Qualification	4
SECTION 5.2	No Conflict; Required Filings and Consents	
SECTION 5.3	<u>Validity of Shares</u>	(
	NTS OF THE STOCKHOLDERS, HOLDING AND EMJ	(
SECTION 6.1	No Disposition or Encumbrance of Shares	(
SECTION 6.2	No Solicitation of Transactions	(
SECTION 6.3	Accruals of Interest on the Series A Variable Rate Senior Notes	(
SECTION 6.4	<u>Tax Treatment</u>	(
SECTION 6.5	Registration and Listing of Shares	7
SECTION 6.6	Application of Proceeds of Green Shoe	7
SECTION 6.7	<u>Closing Deliveries</u>	7
SECTION 6.8	Further Action; Reasonable Best Efforts	
ARTICLE VII CONDITI	ONS TO CLOSING	7
ARTICLE VIII TERMIN	IATION	Ç
SECTION 8.1	<u>Termination</u>	Ģ
ARTICLE IX MISCELL	ANEOUS	Ģ
SECTION 9.1	<u>Notices</u>	g
SECTION 9.2	<u>Severability</u>	10
SECTION 9.3	Entire Agreement; Assignment	10
SECTION 9.4	Parties in Interest	10
SECTION 9.5	Specific Performance	10
SECTION 9.6	Governing Law	11
SECTION 9.7	Waiver of Jury Trial	11
SECTION 9.8	<u>Headings</u>	11
SECTION 9.9	Counterparts	11
SECTION 9.10	<u>Amendment</u>	11
SECTION 9.11	Waiver	11
SECTION 9.12	Costs and Expenses of This Agreement	11
SECTION 9.13	<u>Adjustments</u>	11

B-i

EXCHANGE AGREEMENT

EXCHANGE AGREEMENT, dated as of December 17, 2004 (this **Agreement**), by and among Earle M. Jorgensen Holding Company, Inc., a Delaware corporation (**Holding**), Earle M. Jorgensen Company (**EMJ**), Kelso Investment Associates, L.P., a Delaware limited partnership (**KIA**), Kelso Equity Partners II, L.P., a Delaware limited partnership (**KEP II**), KIA III-Earle M. Jorgensen, L.P., a Delaware limited partnership (**KIA III**), and Kelso Investment Associates IV, L.P., a Delaware limited partnership (**KIA IV**). Each of KIA, KEP II, KIA III, and KIA IV may sometimes individually be referred to as a **Stockholder** and collectively referred to as the **Stockholders**. Capitalized terms used but not defined in this Agreement have the meanings attributed to them in the Merger Agreement (as defined below).

WHEREAS, each of the Stockholders is the record or beneficial owner of the number of shares of the capital stock of Holding set forth on *Schedule A* hereto opposite such Stockholder s name (all such shares of capital stock and any shares of capital stock of Holding hereafter acquired by the Stockholders and/or any securities issued or issuable in respect thereof prior to termination of this Agreement being, the **Shares**);

WHEREAS, Holding and EMJ are entering into an Agreement and Plan of Merger and Reorganization dated as of the date hereof (as amended from time to time, the **Merger Agreement**), by and among EMJ, EMJ Metals LLC (**EMJ Metals LLC**), and Holding, pursuant to which (a) Holding will be merged with and into EMJ Metals LLC, with EMJ Metals LLC surviving (the **Surviving Entity** and such merger, the **Merger**), (b) all issued and outstanding shares of Holding common stock, \$0.01 par value (**Holding Common Stock**) will be converted into shares of common stock, par value \$.001 per share, of the Company (the **Common Stock**), and (c) all issued and outstanding shares of Holding s 13% Cumulative Preferred Stock \$0.01 par value (the **Series A Preferred Stock**) and Holding s Variable Rate Cumulative Preferred Stock, \$0.01 par value (the **Series B Preferred Stock**), will be converted into a combination of cash and Common Stock, as specified in the Merger Agreement;

WHEREAS, the Merger Agreement requires as a condition to the Merger that KIA IV agree to exchange, convey, assign, transfer and deliver all of the outstanding Series A Variable Rate Notes issued by Holding to KIA IV, which are due June 30, 2013 (the Series A Variable Rate Notes), free and clear of any Liens, and in exchange therefor, receive a combination of shares of Common Stock and cash, as specified below (collectively, the Note Exchange);

WHEREAS, the Merger Agreement requires as a condition to the Merger that KIA IV agree to exchange, convey, assign, transfer and deliver all of the outstanding Holding Warrants, free and clear of any Liens, and in exchange therefor, receive newly issued shares of Common Stock valued at the purchase price of a share of Common Stock in the IPO (together with the Note Exchange, the **Exchange**);

WHEREAS, as a condition to entering into the Merger Agreement and incurring the obligations set forth therein, Holding and EMJ required that the Stockholders agree to enter into this Agreement;

WHEREAS, the Stockholders wish to induce Holding and EMJ to enter into the Merger Agreement and, therefore, the Stockholders are willing to enter into this Agreement; and

WHEREAS, this Agreement and the Merger Agreement are intended to constitute a single plan of reorganization within the meaning of Section 368 of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (the **Code**), and the transactions contemplated by the Merger Agreement and the transactions contemplated by this Agreement are intended to be made pursuant to that plan of reorganization.

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the foregoing and the mutual covenants and agreements contained herein, and intending to be legally bound hereby, the parties hereto agree as follows:

ARTICLE I

VOTING AGREEMENT

SECTION 1.1 *Voting Agreement*. Each Stockholder hereby agrees that, from and after the date hereof and until the earliest to occur of (x) the Effective Time and (y) the termination of this Agreement pursuant to

B-1

Section 7.1, at any meeting of the stockholders of Holding (whether annual or special and whether or not an adjourned or postponed meeting), however called, and in any action by consent of the stockholders of Holding, such Stockholder shall vote (or cause to be voted) all such Stockholder s Shares (i) in favor of adoption and approval of the Merger Agreement, the Merger and Exchange and all the transactions contemplated by the Merger Agreement and this Agreement and otherwise in such manner as may be necessary to consummate the Merger and Exchange; (ii) against any action, proposal, agreement or transaction that would result in a breach of any covenant, obligation, agreement, representation or warranty of any party under the Merger Agreement or of such Stockholder contained in this Agreement; and (iii) against any action, agreement, transaction (other than the Merger Agreement, the Merger and Exchange or the transactions contemplated thereby) or proposal (including any proposal relating to an Alternative Transaction (as defined below)) that could reasonably be expected to result in any of the conditions to Holding s obligations under the Merger Agreement, the Merger or the Exchange not being fulfilled or that is intended, or could reasonably be expected, to impede, interfere, delay, discourage or adversely affect the Merger Agreement, the Merger and Exchange or this Agreement or adversely affect Holding, EMJ or the Surviving Entity. Any vote by such Stockholder that is not in accordance with this Section 1.1 shall be considered null and void, and the provisions of Section 1.2 shall be deemed to take immediate effect.

SECTION 1.2 *Irrevocable Proxy*. If, and only if, a Stockholder fails to comply with the provisions of Section 1.1, such Stockholder hereby agrees that such failure shall result, without any further action by such Stockholder effective as of the date of such failure, in the constitution and appointment of Holding and each of its executive officers from and after the date of such failure until the earlier to occur of (x) the Effective Time, (y) the termination of this Agreement pursuant to Section 7.1 (at which point such constitution and appointment shall automatically be revoked) as such Stockholder s attorney, agent and proxy (such constitution and appointment, the **Irrevocable Proxy**), with full power of substitution, to vote and otherwise act with respect to all such Stockholder s Shares at any meeting of the stockholders of Holding (whether annual or special and whether or not an adjourned or postponed meeting), and in any action by written consent of the stockholders of Holding, on the matters and in the manner specified in Section 1.1. THIS PROXY AND POWER OF ATTORNEY ARE IRREVOCABLE AND COUPLED WITH AN INTEREST AND, TO THE EXTENT PERMITTED UNDER APPLICABLE LAW, SHALL BE VALID AND BINDING ON ANY PERSON TO WHOM A STOCKHOLDER MAY TRANSFER ANY OF ITS SHARES IN BREACH OF THIS AGREEMENT. Each Stockholder hereby revokes all other proxies and powers of attorney with respect to all such Stockholder s Shares that may have heretofore been appointed or granted, and no subsequent proxy or power of attorney shall be given (and if given, shall not be effective) by such Stockholder with respect thereto. All authority herein conferred or agreed to be conferred and any obligation of such Stockholder under this Agreement shall be binding upon the representatives, successors and assigns of such Stockholder.

ARTICLE II

EXCHANGE OF SERIES A VARIABLE RATE NOTES

AND HOLDING WARRANTS

SECTION 2.1 Exchange of Series A Variable Rate Notes. Subject to the concurrent consummation of the Merger, at the Effective Time, KIA IV shall exchange, convey, assign, transfer and deliver to EMJ all of the issued and outstanding Series A Variable Rate Notes, including any and all interest accrued thereon and any other obligations thereunder or in respect thereof to the date of Closing, free and clear of any and all Liens, and in exchange therefor, shall receive a combination of cash and Common Stock (valued at the IPO Price) that is equal to the Aggregate Prepayment Amount of the Series A Variable Rate Notes, prior to giving effect to Section 6.6 or the transactions contemplated thereby. For purposes herein, the Aggregate Prepayment Amount of the Holding Notes means the aggregate unpaid principal amount of all of the Series A Variable Rate Notes, plus all accrued and unpaid interest, if any, due thereon through September 29, 2004 or \$257,069,318. The cash portion of the Aggregate Prepayment Amount of the Holding Notes will be equal to the product of (a) the Cash Proceeds Allocated to Preferred Stock and Holding Notes multiplied by (b) the fraction that is (i) the Aggregate Prepayment Amount of the Holding Notes divided by (ii) the sum of the Aggregate Conversion Value of the Series B Preferred Stock and the Aggregate

Prepayment Amount of the Holding Notes, prior to giving effect to Section 6.6 or the transactions contemplated thereby. The cash portion of the Aggregate Prepayment Amount of the Holding Notes will be allocated first to the accrued and unpaid interest on the Series A Variable Rate Notes since July 1, 2004, next to the Series A Variable Rate Notes representing interest paid-in-kind and last to the payment of principal on the Series A Variable Rate Notes. The number of shares of Common Stock to be issued in consideration for the Series A Variable Rate Notes will be equal to the quotient determined by dividing (a) the difference of (i) the Aggregate Prepayment Amount of the Series A Variable Rate Notes less (ii) the cash portion of the Aggregate Prepayment Amount of the Series A Variable Rate Notes determined pursuant to the second preceding sentence of this Section 2.1 by (b) the IPO Price, prior to giving effect to Section 6.6 or the transactions contemplated thereby. The stock portion of the Aggregate Prepayment Amount of the Holding Notes will be allocated first to the payment of principal on the Series A Variable Rate Notes, next to the Series A Variable Rate Notes representing interest paid-in-kind and last to the assumed and unpaid interest on the Series A Variable Rate Notes since July 1, 2004.

SECTION 2.2 *Cancellation of Series A Variable Rate Notes*. Effective as of the Effective Time, (a) the Series A Variable Rate Notes shall be surrendered and cancelled and have no further force or effect and (b) the Restructuring Agreement and the respective parties rights, liabilities and obligations thereunder shall be terminated, and the Restructuring Agreement shall not have any further force or effect.

SECTION 2.3 Exchange of Holding Warrants. Subject to the concurrent consummation of the Merger, at the Effective Time, KIA IV shall exchange, convey, assign, transfer and deliver to EMJ all of the issued and outstanding Holding Warrants, free and clear of any and all Liens, and in exchange therefor, shall receive shares of Common Stock on a net exercise basis. The exchange of the Holding Warrants contemplated by this Agreement shall be deemed to have occurred immediately before (but in connection with) the Merger.

ARTICLE III

REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES OF THE STOCKHOLDERS

Each Stockholder hereby, severally and not jointly, represents and warrants with respect to itself only to Holding and to EMJ as follows:

SECTION 3.1 Organization, Authority and Qualification. Each Stockholder is duly organized, validly existing and in good standing under the laws of the jurisdiction of its organization or formation and has all necessary power and authority to enter into this Agreement, to carry out its obligations hereunder and to consummate the transactions contemplated hereby. Each Stockholder is duly licensed or qualified to do business and is in good standing in each jurisdiction in which the properties owned or leased by it or the operation of its business makes such licensing or qualification necessary, except to the extent that the failure to be so licensed or qualified would not prevent or materially delay the ability of such Stockholder to carry out its obligations under, and to consummate the transactions contemplated by, this Agreement. The execution and delivery of this Agreement by each Stockholder, the performance by each Stockholder of its obligations hereunder and the consummation by each Stockholder of the transactions contemplated hereby have been duly authorized by all requisite action on the part of each Stockholder. This Agreement has been duly and validly executed and delivered by each Stockholder and (assuming due authorization, execution and delivery by Holding) this Agreement constitutes a legal, valid and binding obligation of each Stockholder enforceable against each Stockholder in accordance with its terms.

SECTION 3.2 *No Conflict; Required Filings and Consents*. (a) The execution and delivery of this Agreement by each Stockholder do not, and the performance of this Agreement by each Stockholder will not, (i) conflict with or violate the agreement of limited partnership or equivalent organizational documents, as the case may be, of such Stockholder, (ii) assuming satisfaction of the requirements set forth in 3.2(b) below, conflict with or violate any Laws applicable to such Stockholder or by which any property or asset of such Stockholder is bound or affected or

(iii) result in any breach of, or constitute a default (or event that with notice or lapse of time

B-3

Table of Contents

or both would become a default) under, or give to others any rights of termination, amendment, acceleration or cancellation of, or result in the creation of a Lien on any Shares (other than pursuant to this Agreement) pursuant to, any note, bond, mortgage, indenture, contract, agreement, lease, license, permit, franchise or other instrument or obligation of such Stockholder, except for any such conflicts, violations, breaches, defaults or other occurrences that would not prevent or materially delay the ability of such Stockholder to carry out its obligations under, and to consummate the transactions contemplated by, this Agreement.

(b) Except for the Merger Registration Statement, the IPO Registration Statement, the filing of a certificate of merger in the State of Delaware, and the entry of the Amended DOL Consent Order, the execution and delivery of this Agreement by each Stockholder do not, and the performance of this Agreement by each Stockholder will not, require any consent, approval, authorization or permit of, or filing with, or notification to, any Governmental Body, except where the failure to obtain such consents, approvals, authorizations or permits, or to make such filings or notifications, would not prevent or materially delay the ability of such Stockholder to carry out its obligations under, and to consummate the transactions contemplated by, this Agreement.

SECTION 3.3 Ownership of Shares. As of the date hereof, each Stockholder is the record and beneficial owner of, and has good title to, the number of Shares set forth opposite such Stockholder s name on **Schedule A** hereto. Except as set forth on **Schedule A**, such Shares are all of the equity securities of Holding owned, either of record or beneficially, by such Stockholder as of the date hereof and such Stockholder does not have any warrant, option or other right to acquire any other securities of Holding. The Shares owned by such Stockholder are owned free and clear of all Liens, other than any Liens created by this Agreement and that certain Stockholders Agreement of Holding dated as of September 30, 1990, as amended. Except pursuant to this Agreement, such Stockholder has not appointed or granted any proxy, which appointment or grant is still effective, with respect to the Shares owned by such Stockholder.

SECTION 3.4 *Title to Series A Variable Rate Notes*. KIA IV owns all right, title and interest in and to those Series A Variable Rate Notes in the principal amount set forth on *Schedule A* hereto, free and clear of all Liens and/or agreements or commitments to any third party to sell, transfer, convey, assign or pledge such Series A Variable Rate Notes.

SECTION 3.5 *Brokers*. No broker, finder or investment banker is entitled to any brokerage, finder s or other fee or commission in connection with the transactions contemplated by this Agreement based upon arrangements made by or on behalf of any of the Stockholders.

ARTICLE IV

REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES OF HOLDING

Holding hereby represents and warrants to the Stockholders as follows:

SECTION 4.1 *Organization, Authority and Qualification.* Holding is duly organized, validly existing and in good standing under the laws of the jurisdiction of its incorporation and has all necessary power and authority to enter into this Agreement, to carry out its obligations hereunder and to consummate the transactions contemplated hereby. Holding is duly licensed or qualified to do business and is in good standing in each jurisdiction in which the operation of its business makes such licensing or qualification necessary, except to the extent that the failure to be so licensed or qualified would not prevent or materially delay the ability of Holding to carry out its obligations under, and to consummate the transactions contemplated by, this Agreement. The execution and delivery of this Agreement by Holding, the performance by Holding of its

obligations hereunder and the consummation by Holding of the transactions contemplated hereby have been duly authorized by all requisite action on the part of Holding. This Agreement has been duly and validly executed and delivered by Holding and (assuming due authorization, execution and delivery by each Stockholder) this Agreement constitutes a legal, valid and binding obligation of Holding enforceable against Holding in accordance with its terms.

B-4

SECTION 4.2 *No Conflict; Required Filings and Consents*. (a) Except as set forth on *Schedule 5.4* of the Merger Agreement, the execution and delivery of this Agreement by Holding does not, and the performance of this Agreement by Holding will not, (i) conflict with or violate the certificate of incorporation or by-laws of Holding, (ii) assuming satisfaction of the requirements set forth in Section 4.2(b) below, conflict with or violate any Laws applicable to Holding or by which any property or asset of Holding is bound or affected or (iii) result in any breach of, or constitute a default (or event that with notice or lapse of time or both would become a default) under, or give to others any rights of termination, amendment, acceleration or cancellation of, any note, bond, mortgage, indenture, contract, agreement, lease, license, permit, franchise or other instrument or obligation of Holding, except for any such conflicts, violations, breaches, defaults or other occurrences that would not prevent or materially delay the ability of Holding to carry out its obligations under, and to consummate the transactions contemplated by, this Agreement.

(b) Except for the Merger Registration Statement, the IPO Registration Statement, the filing of a certificate of merger in the State of Delaware, and the entry of the Amended DOL Consent Order, the execution and delivery of this Agreement by Holding does not, and the performance of this Agreement by Holding will not, require any consent, approval, authorization or permit of, or filing with, or notification to, any Governmental Body, except where the failure to obtain such consents, approvals, authorizations or permits, or to make such filings or notifications, would not prevent or materially delay the ability of Holding to carry out its obligations under, and to consummate the transactions contemplated by, this Agreement.

ARTICLE V

REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES OF EMJ

EMJ hereby represents and warrants to the Stockholders as follows:

SECTION 5.1 *Organization, Authority and Qualification*. EMJ is duly organized, validly existing and in good standing under the laws of the jurisdiction of its incorporation and has all necessary power and authority to enter into this Agreement, to carry out its obligations hereunder and to consummate the transactions contemplated hereby. EMJ is duly licensed or qualified to do business and is in good standing in each jurisdiction in which the operation of its business makes such licensing or qualification necessary, except to the extent that the failure to be so licensed or qualified would not prevent or materially delay the ability of EMJ to carry out its obligations under, and to consummate the transactions contemplated by, this Agreement. The execution and delivery of this Agreement by EMJ, the performance by EMJ of its obligations hereunder and the consummation by EMJ of the transactions contemplated hereby have been duly authorized by all requisite action on the part of EMJ. This Agreement has been duly and validly executed and delivered by EMJ and (assuming due authorization, execution and delivery by each Stockholder) this Agreement constitutes a legal, valid and binding obligation of EMJ enforceable against EMJ in accordance with its terms.

SECTION 5.2 No Conflict; Required Filings and Consents. (a) Except as set forth on Schedule 6.4 of the Merger Agreement, the execution and delivery of this Agreement by EMJ does not, and the performance of this Agreement by EMJ will not, (i) conflict with or violate the certificate of incorporation or by-laws of EMJ, (ii) assuming satisfaction of the requirements set forth in Section 5.2(b) below, conflict with or violate any Laws applicable to EMJ or by which any property or asset of EMJ is bound or affected or (iii) result in any breach of, or constitute a default (or event that with notice or lapse of time or both would become a default) under, or give to others any rights of termination, amendment, acceleration or cancellation of, any note, bond, mortgage, indenture, contract, agreement, lease, license, permit, franchise or other instrument or obligation of EMJ, except for any such conflicts, violations, breaches, defaults or other occurrences that would not prevent or materially delay the ability of EMJ to carry out its obligations under, and to consummate the transactions contemplated by, this Agreement.

(b) Except for the Merger Registration Statement, the IPO Registration Statement, the filing of a certificate of merger in the State of Delaware and the entry of the Amended DOL Consent Order, the execution and delivery

B-5

of this Agreement by EMJ does not, and the performance of this Agreement by EMJ will not, require any consent, approval, authorization or permit of, or filing with, or notification to, any Governmental Body, except where the failure to obtain such consents, approvals, authorizations or permits, or to make such filings or notifications, would not prevent or materially delay the ability of EMJ to carry out its obligations under, and to consummate the transactions contemplated by, this Agreement.

SECTION 5.3 *Validity of Shares*. The Common Stock issued in exchange for the Series A Variable Rate Notes and the Holding Warrants, when issued in accordance with the provisions of this Agreement, will be duly and validly issued, fully paid and non-assessable.

ARTICLE VI

COVENANTS OF THE STOCKHOLDERS, HOLDING AND EMJ

SECTION 6.1 *No Disposition or Encumbrance of Shares*. Each Stockholder hereby agrees that, except as contemplated by this Agreement, such Stockholder shall not (i) sell, transfer, tender (except into the Merger), pledge, assign, contribute to the capital of any entity, hypothecate, give or otherwise dispose of, grant a proxy or power of attorney with respect to (other than the Irrevocable Proxy), deposit into any voting trust, enter into any voting agreement, or create or permit to exist any Liens of any nature whatsoever (other than pursuant to this Agreement) with respect to, any of such Stockholder s Shares or any right, title or interest therein or thereto (or agree or consent to, or offer to do, any of the foregoing), or (ii) take any action that would make any representation or warranty of such Stockholder herein untrue or incorrect in any material respect or have the effect of preventing or disabling such Stockholder from performing such Stockholder s obligations hereunder.

SECTION 6.2 No Solicitation of Transactions. None of the Stockholders shall, directly or indirectly, through any director, officer, affiliate, employee, representative, agent or otherwise, (i) solicit, initiate, endorse, accept or encourage the submission of any Alternative Transaction, or (ii) participate in any discussions or negotiations regarding, or furnish to any person any information with respect to, or otherwise cooperate in any way with respect to, or participate in, assist, facilitate, endorse or encourage any proposal that constitutes, or may reasonably be expected to lead to, an Alternative Transaction. Each Stockholder shall, and shall direct or cause its directors, officers, employees, representatives and agents to, and shall use its reasonable efforts to cause its affiliates to, immediately cease and cause to be terminated any discussions or negotiations with any parties that may be ongoing with respect to an Alternative Transaction. For purposes herein, an Alternative Transaction shall mean any proposal to approve and adopt any merger agreement or merger (other than the Merger Agreement, the Merger and Exchange), consolidation, sale or purchase of any assets, reorganization, recapitalization, liquidation or winding up of EMJ, other than the transactions contemplated by the Merger Agreement, Merger and Exchange or any other transaction of any nature that would interfere or restrict the consummation of the Merger and Exchange.

SECTION 6.3 Accruals of Interest on the Series A Variable Rate Senior Notes. KIA IV agrees to waive until the Effective Time or, if earlier, the date the Merger Agreement is terminated pursuant to Section 12.1 of the Merger Agreement, its right to declare Holding in default and accelerate payment of all amounts due on the Series A Variable Rate Notes on account of the failure to pay any interest or any other amounts due and payable from September 30, 2004 through the Effective Time.

SECTION 6.4 *Tax Treatment*. None of Holding, EMJ or any of its Subsidiaries shall (i) take any action, directly or indirectly, that would prevent the transactions contemplated by the Merger Agreement and this Agreement from qualifying as a tax-free reorganization under section 368 of the Code, or (ii) take any action, directly or indirectly, inconsistent with the treatment of (A) the transactions contemplated by the Merger Agreement and this Agreement as a reorganization under section 368 of the Code or (B) the exchanges contemplated by such agreements as having been effected pursuant to the plan of such reorganization. EMJ shall cause EMJ Metals LLC to be treated (at all relevant times) as

disregarded as an entity separate from EMJ within the meaning of Treasury Regulation 301.7701-3(b)(ii), promulgated under the Code.

B-6

Table of Contents

SECTION 6.5 Registration and Listing of Shares. EMJ agrees the Common Stock issued in exchange for the Series A Variable Rate Notes and the Holding Warrants, pursuant to Article II, at the time of issuance, will be (i) registered under the Securities Act pursuant to the Merger Registration Statement and (ii) listed for trading on the New York Stock Exchange.

SECTION 6.6 Application of Proceeds of Green Shoe. Notwithstanding anything contained herein to the contrary, in the event that after the Effective Time the underwriters elect to exercise their over-allotment option to purchase additional shares of Common Stock in the IPO, the net proceeds received by the Company from the sale of such shares shall be applied to the payment of the Holding Notes in lieu of the issuance of shares of Common Stock pursuant to the Exchange Agreement. The Stockholders and EMJ agree to defer the delivery of such number of shares of Common Stock, valued on a per share basis at the IPO Price, in exchange for Holding Notes, which are equal in aggregate value to the net proceeds that would be received by EMJ, assuming the underwriters elected to exercise their over-allotment option in full.

SECTION 6.7 *Closing Deliveries*. Each Stockholder hereby agrees to deliver at Closing the agreements, documents, instruments and certificates specified to be delivered by it in Section 11.5 of the Merger Agreement.

SECTION 6.8 Further Action; Reasonable Best Efforts. Upon the terms and subject to the conditions hereof, EMJ and each Stockholder shall use their reasonable best efforts to take, or cause to be taken, all appropriate action, and to do, or cause to be done, all things necessary, proper or advisable under applicable laws and regulations to consummate and make effective this Agreement, the Merger Agreement, the Merger and Exchange.

ARTICLE VII

CONDITIONS TO CLOSING

SECTION 7.1 Conditions Precedent to Each Party s Obligation to Effect the Exchange. The respective obligations of each party to effect the Exchange shall be subject to the fulfillment at or prior to the Effective Date of the following conditions:

- (a) Amended Consent Order. The Amended DOL Consent Order shall have been issued and entered, with counsel for each of the parties thereto consenting to the entry of that order.
- (b) Adoption of the Sixth Amendment to Stock Bonus Plan by Holding. Holding shall have adopted the Sixth Amendment to Stock Bonus Plan, the Supplemental Stock Bonus Plan and the Former Employees Bonus Plan.
- (c) Adoption of the Seventh Amendment to Stock Bonus Plan by Holding. Holding shall have adopted the Seventh Amendment to Stock Bonus Plan.

- (d) Execution and Delivery of Transfer Restriction Agreement. The Company and each of the management employees of the Company listed on Exhibit M-1 shall have executed and delivered the Transfer Restriction Agreement.
- (e) *Board Ratification and Confirmation*. The board of directors of Holding shall have ratified and confirmed its approval of this Agreement, the Merger Agreement and the transactions contemplated hereby and thereby as contemplated by Section 9.1(b) of the Merger Agreement.
- (f) *The Merger Registration Statement*. The Merger Registration Statement shall have been declared effective, and no stop order suspending the effectiveness of the Merger Registration Statement shall have been issued by the Commission or shall be continuing to be in effect, and no proceedings for that purpose shall have been initiated or threatened by the Commission.
- (g) Stockholder Approval. The stockholders of Holding shall have adopted the Merger Agreement by the Required Vote.

B-7

Table of Contents

- (h) Appraisal Rights. Stockholders of Holding shall not have exercised Appraisal Rights with respect to more than five percent (5%) of the issued and outstanding capital stock of any class of Holding.
- (i) Restated Certificate. The Company shall have caused the Company s Certificate of Incorporation to be amended and restated by filing the Restated Certificate with the Secretary of State of the State of Delaware.
- (j) Completion of the IPO, the IPO Price and the Amount of Cash Proceeds Allocated to Redemption and Repurchase. The IPO shall close concurrently with the Merger, the IPO Price shall be not less than Five Dollars (\$5.00), and the amount of Cash Proceeds Allocated to Preferred Stock and Holding Notes shall be not less than One Hundred Million Dollars (\$100,000,000).
- (k) Assumption of Stock Bonus Plan, Supplemental Stock Bonus Plan and Former Employees Bonus Plan by the Company. The Company shall have assumed all obligations of Holding with respect to the Stock Bonus Plan, the Supplemental Stock Bonus Plan and the Former Employees Bonus Plan.
- (1) Exchange Listing. The shares of Common Stock to be issued in the Merger and the Exchange shall have been approved for listing on the New York Stock Exchange subject to official notice of issuance.
- (m) Adoption and Assumption of Stock Options by the Company. The Company shall have assumed all obligations of Holding with respect to the Assumed Options and shall have provided written notice to each holder of Holding Options of such assumption.
- (n) Adoption of Company Stock Incentive Plan. The Company shall have adopted the Company Stock Incentive Plan and granted options for issuance thereunder in compliance with Section 6.5(c) of the Merger Agreement.
- (o) Execution and Delivery of Nelson Stockholder s Agreement. The Company and Maurice S. Nelson, Jr. shall have executed and delivered the Nelson Stockholder s Agreement.
- (p) Other Governmental Approvals. (i) All required approvals or Consents of any Governmental Authority in connection with the Merger and the consummation of the other transactions contemplated hereby shall have been obtained (and all relevant statutory, regulatory or other governmental waiting periods, whether domestic, foreign or supranational, shall have expired) unless the failure to receive any such approvals or consents would not, individual or in the aggregate, reasonably be expected to have a material adverse effect on the Company (including the Surviving Corporation) at or after the Effective Time and (ii) all such approvals and consents which have been obtained shall be on terms that would not, individually or in the aggregate, reasonably be expected to have a material adverse effect on the Company (including the Surviving Corporation) at or after the Effective Time.
- (q) *Tax Opinion*. The Company shall have received from Katten Muchin Zavis Rosenman (i) an opinion, on the basis of representations and assumptions set forth in such opinion, that the Merger should be treated for federal income tax purposes as a reorganization within the meaning of Section 368(a) of the Code, and (ii) an opinion, on the basis of representations and assumptions set forth in such opinion, that each of

Holding, EMJ Metals LLC and the Company should be a party to the reorganization within the meaning of Section 368(b) of the Code, and neither opinion shall have been withdrawn as of the Effective Time. In rendering its opinion, counsel shall be entitled to rely upon representations of officers of Holding and the Company that are provided pursuant to an officers certificate.

(r) *No Injunctions*. No United States or state governmental authority or other agency or commission or United States or state court of competent jurisdiction shall have enacted, issued, promulgated, enforced or entered any statute, rule, regulation, injunction or other order (whether temporary, preliminary or permanent) which is in effect and has the effect of making illegal or otherwise prohibiting or restraining consummation of the transactions contemplated by this Agreement.

(s) *No Proceedings*. There shall not have been instituted or pending any action or proceeding by or before any court or governmental authority or other regulatory or administrative agency or commission, domestic or foreign, by any government or governmental authority, nor shall there have been or be any

B-8

Table of Contents

determination by any government, governmental authority, regulatory or administrative agency or commission which, in either case, would require either party to take any action or do anything in connection with the foregoing which would result in a material adverse effect to their respective businesses.

- (t) Certificate of Merger. The Certificate of Merger shall have been properly filed with the Secretary of State of the State of Delaware and shall have satisfied the applicable requirements of the DGCL.
- (u) Accuracy of Representations. The representations and warranties of each other Party contained in this Agreement and the Merger Agreement shall be accurate in all respects as of the Closing Date as if made on and as of the Closing Date, except that any inaccuracies in such representations and warranties will be disregarded if the circumstances giving rise to all such inaccuracies (considered collectively) do not constitute, and would not reasonably be expected to have, a material adverse effect on the Company after Closing.
- (v) *Performance of Covenants*. Each covenant or obligation that each other Party is required to comply with or to perform at or prior to the Closing shall have been complied with and performed in all material respects.
- (w) Consents. All material Consents required to be obtained by each other Party in connection with the Merger and the other transactions contemplated by the Merger Agreement shall have been obtained and shall be in full force and effect.
- (x) Registration Rights Agreement, Nominating Agreement and Amendment to Advisory Agreement. The Company and each other party thereto shall have executed and delivered the Registration Rights Agreement, the Nominating Agreement and the Amendment to Advisory Agreement, in each case in substantially the form approved by the Board of Directors of the Company on October 22, 2004.

ARTICLE VIII

TERMINATION

SECTION 8.1 *Termination*. Except with respect to Section 6.4 hereof, which shall survive the termination of this Agreement and remain in full force and effect thereafter, all of the provisions of this Agreement shall terminate, and no party shall have any rights or obligations hereunder, and this Agreement shall become null and void and have no further force or effect upon the earlier to occur of (1) the Effective Time and (2) the termination of the Merger Agreement; *provided*, *however*, that in the case of clause (1) of this Section 7.1, Sections 3.3, 3.4, 4.2, 5.1, 5.2 and 5.3 hereof shall survive the termination of this Agreement and remain in full force and effect.

ARTICLE IX

MISCELLANEOUS

SECTION 9.1 *Notices*. All notices, requests, claims, demands and other communications hereunder shall be in writing and shall be given (and shall be deemed to have been duly given upon receipt) by delivery in person, by telecopy or by registered or certified mail (postage prepaid, return receipt requested) to the respective parties at the following addresses (or at such other address for a party as shall be specified in a notice given in accordance with this Section 9.1):

if to the Stockholders:

Kelso & Company, L.P.

320 Park Avenue, 24th Floor

New York, NY 10022

Facsimile No: (212) 223-2379

Attention: James J. Connors II, Esq.

B-9

Table of Contents if to Holding: Earle M. Jorgensen Holding Company, Inc. 10650 Alameda Street Lynwood, CA 90262 (323) 567-1122 Attention: William S. Johnson with a copy to: Katten Muchin Zavis Rosenman 2029 Century Park East, Suite 2600 Los Angeles, CA 90067 Attention: Mark A. Conley, Esq. if to EMJ: Earle M. Jorgensen Company 10650 Alameda Street Lynwood, CA 90262 (323) 567-1122 Attention: William S. Johnson with a copy to: Katten Muchin Zavis Rosenman

Table of Contents 470

2029 Century Park East, Suite 2600

Los Angeles, CA 90067

Attention: Mark A. Conley, Esq.

SECTION 9.2 Severability. If any term or other provision of this Agreement is invalid, illegal or incapable of being enforced by any Laws, or public policy, all other conditions and provisions of this Agreement shall nevertheless remain in full force and effect so long as the economic or legal substance of the transactions contemplated hereby and by the Merger Agreement are not affected in any manner materially adverse to any party. Upon such determination that any term or other provision is invalid, illegal or incapable of being enforced, the parties hereto shall negotiate in good faith to modify this Agreement so as to effect the original intent of the parties as closely as possible in a mutually acceptable manner in order that such transactions be consummated as originally contemplated to the fullest extent possible.

SECTION 9.3 *Entire Agreement; Assignment*. This Agreement constitutes the entire agreement among the parties with respect to the subject matter hereof and supersedes all prior agreements and undertakings, both written and oral, among the parties, or any of them, with respect to the subject matter hereof. This Agreement shall not be assigned by operation of law or otherwise, except that Holding may assign all or any of their rights and obligations hereunder to any successor of Holding, *provided* that no such assignment shall relieve Holding of its obligations hereunder.

SECTION 9.4 *Parties in Interest*. This Agreement shall be binding upon and inure solely to the benefit of each party hereto and, except as set forth in Section 9.3 hereof, nothing in this Agreement, express or implied, is intended to or shall confer upon any other person any right, benefit or remedy of any nature whatsoever under or by reason of this Agreement.

SECTION 9.5 Specific Performance. The parties hereto agree that irreparable damage would occur in the event any provision of this Agreement were not performed in accordance with the terms hereof and that the parties shall be entitled to specific performance of the terms hereof, in addition to any other remedy at law or in equity.

B-10

Table of Contents

SECTION 9.6 Governing Law. This Agreement shall be governed by, and construed in accordance with, the laws of the State of Delaware applicable to contracts executed in and to be performed in that State.

SECTION 9.7 Waiver of Jury Trial. Each of the parties hereto hereby waives to the fullest extent permitted by applicable Laws any right it may have to a trial by jury with respect to any litigation directly or indirectly arising out of, under or in connection with this Agreement. Each of the parties hereto (a) certifies that no representative, agent or attorney of any other party has represented, expressly or otherwise, that such other party would not, in the event of litigation, seek to enforce that foregoing waiver and (b) acknowledges that it and the other parties hereto have been induced to enter into this Agreement by, among other things, the mutual waivers and certifications in this Section 9.7.

SECTION 9.8 *Headings*. The descriptive headings contained in this Agreement are included for convenience of reference only and shall not affect in any way the meaning or interpretation of this Agreement.

SECTION 9.9 *Counterparts*. This Agreement may be executed and delivered (including by facsimile transmission) in one or more counterparts, and by the different parties hereto in separate counterparts, each of which when executed shall be deemed to be an original but all of which taken together shall constitute one and the same agreement.

SECTION 9.10 *Amendment*. This Agreement may not be amended except by an instrument in writing signed by all the parties hereto. Notwithstanding the foregoing, the provisions of this Agreement shall not be amended without the prior written consent of Holding.

SECTION 9.11 *Waiver*. Any party to this Agreement may (i) extend the time for the performance of any obligation or other act of any other party hereto, (ii) waive any inaccuracy in the representations and warranties of another party contained herein or in any document delivered pursuant hereto and (iii) waive compliance with any agreement of another party contained herein. Any such extension or waiver shall be valid if set forth in an instrument in writing signed by the party or parties to be bound thereby.

SECTION 9.12 *Costs and Expenses of This Agreement*. All costs and expenses of the parties hereto, including, without limitation, fees and disbursements of counsel, financial advisors and accountants, incurred in connection with this Agreement and the transactions contemplated hereby shall be paid by EMJ, whether or not the Closing shall have occurred. Notwithstanding, the prevailing party in any dispute to enforce this Agreement shall be entitled to recover from the losing party its costs and a reasonable attorney sie to be determined by the court.

SECTION 9.13 *Adjustments*. (a) In the event (i) of any increase or decrease or other change in the Shares by reason of stock dividend, stock split, recapitalizations, combinations, exchanges of shares or the like or (ii) that a Stockholder becomes the beneficial owner of any additional shares of capital stock or other securities of Holding, then the terms of this Agreement shall apply to the shares of capital stock and other securities of Holding held by the Stockholders immediately following the effectiveness of the events described in clause (i), or such Stockholder becoming the beneficial owner thereof pursuant to clause (ii).

(b) Each Stockholder hereby agrees to promptly notify Holding of the number of any new capital stock of Holding or other securities acquired by such Stockholder, if any, after the date hereof.

Edgar Filing: JORGENSEN EARLE M CO /DE/ - Form S-4/A [BALANCE OF PAGE LEFT BLANK INTENTIONALLY]

Table of Contents

COMPANY, INC.

EARLE M. JORGENSEN HOLDING

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties have duly executed this Agreement as of the day and year first above written.

By /s/ Maurice S. Nelson, Jr. Maurice S. Nelson, Jr. Name: Title: President, Chief Executive Officer and **Chief Operating Officer** EARLE M. JORGENSEN COMPANY By: /s/ Maurice S. Nelson, Jr Name: Maurice S. Nelson, Jr. Title: President, Chief Executive Officer and **Chief Operating Officer** KELSO INVESTMENT ASSOCIATES, L.P. Kelso Partners, L.P., General Partner /s/ Frank T. Nickell By: **General Partner** KELSO EQUITY PARTNERS II, L.P. /s/ Frank T. Nickell By:

KELSO INVESTMENT ASSOCIATES IV, L.P.

KIA III-EARLE M. JORGENSEN, L.P.

By:

By:

By: Kelso Partners IV, L.P. General Partner

/s/ Frank T. Nickell

By: General Partner

General Partner

Kelso Partners III, L.P., General Partner
/s/ Frank T. Nickell

General Partner

Table of Contents
ANNEX
AMENDED AND RESTATED
CERTIFICATE OF INCORPORATION
OF
EARLE M. JORGENSEN COMPANY
Earle M. Jorgensen Company, a corporation organized and existing under and by virtue of the General Corporation Law of the State of Delawa (the Act), DOES HEREBY CERTIFY THAT:
(me Net), Bollo Herebi Certii i iiirii.
1. In accordance with the provisions of Sections 242 and 245 of the Act, this amendment and restatement of the Certificate of Incorporation of
the Earle M. Jorgensen Company has been duly adopted by the sole stockholder of this Corporation by written consent in accordance with Sections 228(a) of the Act, and by the Board of Directors acting at a meeting by unanimous vote approving a resolution setting forth the
Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation, declaring its adoption advisable and submitting it to the sole stockholder entitled to vote in respect thereof for its consideration. The original Certificate of Incorporation was filed with the Secretary of State of the State of Delaware on
February 28, 1975.
2. This amendment and restatement amends and restates this Corporation s Certificate of Incorporation to read in its entirety as follows:

Section 3. The nature of the business of the Corporation and its purpose is to engage in any lawful act or activity for which a corporation may be organized under the Act.

Section 2. The address of the registered office of the Corporation in the State of Delaware is 1209 Orange Street, City of Wilmington, County of

Section 1. The name of the Corporation is the Earle M. Jorgensen Company (hereinafter the Corporation).

New Castle, 19801. The name of its registered agent at such address is The Corporation Trust Company.

Section 4.

- (a) The total number of shares of stock which the Corporation shall have the authority to issue is eighty million (80,000,000) shares of common stock, each having a par value of one tenth of a cent (\$0.001) (the Common Stock), and ten million (10,000,000) shares of preferred stock, each having a par value of one tenth of a cent (\$0.001) (Preferred Stock). No share shall be issued until it has been paid for, and all shares, when and as issued, shall thereafter be nonassessable.
- (b) The following is a description of the preferences, conversion and other rights, voting powers, restrictions, limitations as to dividends, qualifications and terms and conditions of redemption of the Common Stock of the Corporation:
- (i) Each share of Common Stock shall have one vote, and, except as otherwise provided in respect of any other class of stock hereafter classified or reclassified, the exclusive voting power for all purposes shall be vested in the holders of the Common Stock. Shares of Common Stock shall not have cumulative voting rights.
- (ii) Subject to the provisions of law and any preferences of any Preferred Stock or any other class of stock hereafter classified or reclassified, dividends, including dividends payable in shares of another class of the Corporation s stock, may be paid ratably on the Common Stock at such time and in such amounts as the Board or Directors may deem advisable.

C-1

Table of Contents

(iii) In the event of any liquidation, dissolution or winding up of the Corporation, whether voluntary or involuntary, the holders of the Common Stock shall be entitled, together with the holders of any other class of stock hereafter classified or reclassified not having a preference on distributions in the liquidation, dissolution or winding up of the Corporation, to share ratably in the net assets of the Corporation remaining, after payment or provision for payment of the debts and other liabilities of the Corporation and the amount to which the holders of any class of stock hereafter classified or reclassified having a preference on distributions in the liquidation, dissolution or winding up of the Corporation shall be entitled.

(c) The Board of Directors is expressly authorized to provide for the issuance of all or any shares of the Preferred Stock in one or more classes or series, and to fix for each such class or series such voting powers, full or limited, or no voting powers, and such distinctive designations, preferences and relative, participating, optional or other special rights and such qualifications, limitations or restrictions thereof, as shall be stated and expressed in the resolution or resolutions adopted by the Board of Directors providing for the issuance of such class or series and as may be permitted by the Act, including, without limitation, the authority to provide that any such class or series may be (i) subject to redemption at such time or times and at such price or prices; (ii) entitled to receive dividends (which may be cumulative or non-cumulative) at such rates, on such conditions, and at such times, and payable in preference to, or in such relation to, the dividends payable on any other class or classes or any other series; (iii) entitled to such rights upon the dissolution of, or upon any distribution of the assets of, the Corporation; or (iv) convertible into, or exchangeable for, shares of any other class or classes of stock, or of any other series of the same or any other class or classes of stock, of the Corporation at such price or prices or at such rates of exchange and with such adjustments; all as may be stated in such resolution or resolutions. Subject to the express terms of any other series of Preferred Stock outstanding at the time, the Board of Directors may increase or decrease the number of shares or alter the designation or classify or reclassify any unissued shares of a particular series of Preferred Stock by fixing or altering in any one or more respect from time to time before issuing the shares any terms, rights, restrictions and qualification of the shares.

Section 5. The number of directors of the Corporation shall be fixed and may be altered from time to time in the manner provided in the Bylaws of the Corporation (the Bylaws), and vacancies in the Board of Directors and newly created directorships resulting from any increase in the authorized number of directors may be filled and directors may be removed as provided in the Bylaws.

Section 6. All corporate powers and authority of the Corporation (except as at the time otherwise provided by law, by this Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation or by the Bylaws) shall be vested in and exercised by the Board of Directors.

Section 7. The election of directors may be conducted in any manner approved by the stockholders at the time when the election is held and need not be by ballot, unless the Bylaws of the Corporation provide otherwise.

Section 8. The stockholders of the Corporation shall not be entitled to preemptive rights to purchase, subscribe for, or otherwise acquire any unissued or treasury shares of capital stock of the Corporation, or any options or warrants to purchase shares, or any shares, bonds, notes, debentures or other securities convertible into or carrying options or warrants to purchase, subscribe for or otherwise acquire any such unissued or treasury shares.

Section 9. A majority of the shares entitled to vote, represented in person or by proxy, shall constitute a quorum at a meeting of stockholders. Except as otherwise provided by this Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation or the Act, if a quorum is present, the affirmative vote of a majority of the shares entitled to vote on the subject matter (and present in person or represented by proxy at the meeting) other than the election of directors, shall be the act of the stockholders. Directors shall be elected by plurality of the votes of the shares present in person or represented by a proxy at the meeting entitled to vote on the election of directors.

C-2

Table of Contents

Section 10. Any action required or permitted to be taken at any annual or special meeting of stockholders of the Corporation may be taken without a meeting, without prior notice and without a vote, if a consent or consents in writing, setting forth the action so taken, shall be signed by the holders of all the outstanding stock having not less than the minimum number of votes that would be necessary to authorize or take such action at a meeting at which all shares entitled to vote thereon and shall be delivered to the Corporation by delivery to its registered office in the State of Delaware, its principal place of business, or an officer or agent of the Corporation having custody of the book in which proceedings of meetings of stockholders are recorded. Delivery made to the Corporation s registered office shall be by hand or by certified registered mail, return receipt requested. Every written consent shall bear the date of signature of each stockholder who signs the consent and no written consent shall be effective to take the corporate action referred to therein unless, within sixty (60) days of the earliest dated consent delivered in the manner required by this Section 10 to the Corporation, written consents signed by a sufficient number of holders to take action are delivered to the Corporation by delivery to its registered office in the State of Delaware, its principal place of business, or an officer or agent of the Corporation having custody of the book in which proceeding of meetings are recorded. Prompt notice of the taking of the corporate action without a meeting by less than unanimous written consent shall be given to those stockholders who have not consented in writing and who, if the action had been taken at a meeting, would have been entitled to notice of the meeting if the record date for such meeting had been the date that written consents signed by a sufficient number of holders to take the action were delivered to the Corporation as provided above in this Section.

Section 11. The Corporation shall, to the fullest extent permitted by the provisions of the Act, as now or hereafter in effect, indemnify all persons whom it may indemnify under such provisions. The indemnification provided by this Section shall not limit or exclude any rights, indemnities or limitations of liability to which any person may be entitled whether as a matter of law, under the Bylaws of the Corporation, by agreement, vote of the stockholders or disinterested directors of the Corporation or otherwise.

Section 12. No director of the Corporation shall be personally liable to the Corporation or its stockholders for monetary damages for breach of fiduciary duty as a director, except for liability (i) for any breach of the director s duty of loyalty to the Corporation or its stockholders, (ii) for acts or omissions not in good faith or which involve intentional misconduct or a knowing violation of law, (iii) under Section 174 of the Act, as the same exists or hereafter may be amended, or (iv) for any transaction from which the director derived an improper personal benefit. If the Act is amended to authorize the further elimination or limitation of liability of directors, then the liability of a director of the Corporation, in addition to the limitation on personal liability provided herein, shall be limited to the fullest extent permitted by the amended Act. Any repeal or modification of this Section 12 by the stockholders of the Corporation shall be prospective only and shall not adversely affect any limitation on the personal liability of a director of the Corporation existing at the time of such repeal or modification.

Section 13. The Corporation shall not be governed by Section 203 of the Act.

Section 14. The Corporation reserves the right to amend, alter, change, or repeal any provision contained in this Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation in any manner now or hereafter prescribed or permitted by the Act and does further authorize at any time prior to the filing of such amendment with the Delaware Secretary of State, notwithstanding authorization of the proposed amendment by the stockholders of the Corporation, the Board of Directors may abandon such proposed amendment without further action by the stockholders.

Section 15. The Board of Directors shall have the power without the assent or vote of the stockholders of the Corporation to adopt, amend, alter or repeal the Bylaws, except to the extent that the Bylaws or the Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation otherwise provide.

C-3

Table of Contents

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, I, William S. Johnson, Vice President, Chief Financial Officer and Secretary of the Corporation, have executed this Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation on behalf of the Corporation as of the day of , 2005, and DO HEREBY CERTIFY under the penalties of perjury that the facts stated in this Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation are true.

EARLE M. JORGENSEN COMPANY

By:

Name: William S. Johnson

Title: Vice President, Chief Financial Officer and Secretary

C-4

	Tal	ole	of	Contents
--	-----	-----	----	----------

ANNEX I

AMENDED AND RESTATED BYLAWS

EARLE M. JORGENSEN COMPANY

ARTICLE I.

OFFICES

The principal office of the corporation shall be located at the principal place of business or such other place as the Board of Directors of the corporation (Board) may designate. The corporation may have such other offices, either within or without the State of Delaware, as the Board may designate or as the business of the corporation may require from time to time.

ARTICLE II.

STOCKHOLDERS

- 2.1 Annual Meeting. The annual meeting of the stockholders shall be held on a date and at a time designated by the Board for the purpose of electing directors and transacting such other business as may properly come before the meeting. If the day fixed for the annual meeting is a legal holiday, the meeting shall be held on the next succeeding business day. If the annual meeting is not held on the date designated therefor, the Board shall cause the meeting to be held as soon thereafter as may be convenient.
- 2.2 Special Meetings. The President (or in the event of his absence or disability, the Executive Vice President), the Board, or the holders of not less than twenty percent (20%) of all the outstanding shares of the corporation entitled to vote at the meeting, may call special meetings of the stockholders for any purpose.
- 2.3 *Place of Meeting*. All meetings, including special meetings of the stockholders, shall be held at the principal office of the corporation or at such other place within or without the State of Delaware designated by the Board or the President.
- 2.4 *Notice of Meeting*. The President, the Secretary or the Board calling an annual or special meeting of stockholders as provided for herein, shall cause to be delivered to each stockholder entitled to vote at the meeting either personally, by mail or by electronic transmission, not less than ten (10) nor more than sixty (60) days before the meeting, written notice stating the place, if any, day and hour of the meeting, the means of

remote communication, if any, and, in the case of a special meeting, the purpose or purposes for which the meeting is called. At any time, upon written request of the holders of not less than twenty percent (20%) of all of the outstanding shares of the corporation entitled to vote at the meeting, it shall be the duty of the Secretary to call a special meeting of stockholders to be held at the principal office or such other place within or without the State of Delaware as the Board or President shall designate, at such time as the Board or the President may fix, not less than ten (10) nor more than sixty (60) days after receipt of said request, and if the Secretary shall neglect or refuse to issue such call, or if the notice of meeting described in this Section 2.4 shall otherwise not state the purpose or purposes for which such meeting is called in a manner acceptable to the stockholders calling such meeting, the person making the request to call such meeting may do so and may fix the date for such meeting. If such notice is mailed or sent by courier, it shall be deemed delivered when deposited in the official government mail or with such courier properly addressed to the stockholder at his or her address as it appears on the stock transfer books of the corporation with postage prepaid. If notice is given by facsimile transmission, notice is deemed to be given when directed to an electronic mail address at which the stockholder has consented to receive notice. If notice is given by electronic mail, notice is given by posting on an electronic network together with separate notice to the stockholder of such specific posting notice is deemed to be given upon the later of (a) such posting and (b) the giving of such separate notice. If notice is given by any other means of electronic transmission, notice is deemed to be given when directed to the stockholder. Consent shall be deemed to be given

D-1

Table of Contents

by any stockholder that provides an e-mail, facsimile or other electronic transmission address to the corporation and consents to receiving notice in the form of such method of electronic transmission. Any such consent is revocable by the stockholder by written notice to the corporation. Any such consent shall be deemed to be revoked if (a) the corporation is unable to deliver two consecutive notices by e-mail, facsimile or electronic transmission and (b) such inability becomes known to the Secretary, any assistant secretary or the transfer agent or such other person responsible for giving notice, provided however that the inadvertent failure to treat such inability as a revocation shall not invalidate any meeting or other action.

- 2.5 Waiver of Notice.
- 2.5.1 Whenever any notice is required to be given to any stockholder under the provisions of these Bylaws, the certificate of incorporation of the corporation as currently in effect (the Certificate of Incorporation), or the General Corporation Law of Delaware (the DGCL), a waiver thereof in writing, signed by the person or persons entitled to such notice, or a waiver by electronic transmission by the person or persons entitled to notice, whether before or after the time stated therein, shall be deemed equivalent to the giving of such notice. Neither the business to be transacted at, nor the purpose of, any regular or special meeting of stockholders need be specified in any written waiver of notice or any waiver by electronic transmission.
- 2.5.2 The attendance of a stockholder at a meeting shall constitute a waiver of notice of such meeting, except when a stockholder attends a meeting for the express purpose of objecting, at the beginning of the meeting, to the transaction of any business because the meeting is not lawfully called or convened.
- 2.6 Stockholder Proposals and Nominations for Annual Meetings. Nominations of persons for election to the Board and the proposal of business to be transacted by the stockholders at an annual meeting of stockholders may be made (a) pursuant to the corporation s notice with respect to such meeting, (b) by, or at the direction of, the Board or (c) by any stockholder of record of the corporation who was a stockholder of record at the time of the giving of the notice provided for in the following paragraph, who is entitled to vote at the meeting and who has complied with the notice procedures set forth in this Article II, Section 2.6.

For nominations or other business to be properly brought before an annual meeting by a stockholder pursuant to clause (c) of the foregoing paragraph, (i) the stockholder must have given timely notice thereof in writing to the Secretary of the corporation at the principal executive offices of the corporation, (ii) such business must be a proper matter for stockholder action under the DGCL, (iii) if the stockholder, or the beneficial owner on whose behalf any such proposal or nomination is made, has provided the corporation with a Solicitation Notice, as that term is defined in this Article II, Section 2.6, such stockholder or beneficial owner must, in the case of a proposal, have delivered a proxy statement and form of proxy to holders of at least the percentage of the corporation s voting shares required under applicable law to carry any such proposal, or, in the case of a nomination or nominations, have delivered a proxy statement and form of proxy to holders of a percentage of the corporation s voting shares reasonably believed by such stockholder or beneficial holder to be sufficient to elect the nominee or nominees proposed to be nominated by such stockholder (the number of voting shares required to carry the proposal or elect the nominees being the Required Number), and must, in either case, have included in such materials the Solicitation Notice and (iv) if no Solicitation Notice relating

Required Number), and must, in either case, have included in such materials the Solicitation Notice and (iv) if no Solicitation Notice relating thereto has been timely provided pursuant to this Article II, Section 2.6, the stockholder or beneficial owner proposing such business or nomination must not have solicited proxies for a number of shares equal to or greater than the Required Number. To be timely, a stockholder s notice shall be delivered to the Secretary of the corporation at the principal executive offices of the corporation not less than ninety (90) days prior to the first anniversary (the Anniversary) of the date on which the corporation first mailed its proxy materials for the preceding year s annual meeting of stockholders; provided, however, that if the date of the annual meeting is advanced more than thirty (30) days prior to, or delayed by more than thirty (30) days after, the anniversary of the preceding year s annual meeting, notice by the stockholder to be timely must be so delivered not later than the close of business on the later of (a) the sixtieth (60th) day prior to such annual meeting or (b) the tenth (10th) day following the day on which public announcement of the date of such annual meeting is first made. Such stockholder s notice shall set forth (i) as to each person whom the stockholder proposes to nominate for election or reelection as a

D-2

Table of Contents

director, all information relating to such person as would be required to be disclosed in solicitations of proxies for the election of such nominee as a director pursuant to Regulation 14A under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the Exchange Act), and such person s written consent to serve as a director if elected; (ii) as to any other business that the stockholder proposes to bring before the meeting, a brief description of such business, the reasons for conducting such business at the meeting and any material interest in such business of such stockholder and the beneficial owner, if any, on whose behalf the proposal is made; and (iii) as to the stockholder giving the notice and the beneficial owner, if any, on whose behalf the nomination or proposal is made (A) the name and address of such stockholder, as they appear on the corporation s books, and of such beneficial owner, (B) the class and number of shares of the corporation that are owned beneficially and of record by such stockholder and such beneficial owner and (C) whether either such stockholder or such beneficial owner intends to deliver a proxy statement and form of proxy to holders of, in the case of a proposal, at least the percentage of the corporation s voting shares required under applicable law to carry the proposal or, in the case of a nomination or nominations, a sufficient number of holders of the corporation s voting shares to elect such nominee or nominees (an affirmative statement of such intent being referred to as a Solicitation Notice).

Notwithstanding anything in the second sentence of the second paragraph of this Article II, Section 2.6 to the contrary, in the event that the number of directors to be elected to the Board is increased and there is no public announcement naming all of the nominees for director or specifying the size of the increased Board made by the corporation at least one hundred (100) days prior to the Anniversary, a stockholder s notice required by these Bylaws shall also be considered timely, but only with respect to nominees for any new positions created by such increase, if it shall be delivered to the Secretary of the corporation at the principal executive offices of the corporation not later than the close of business on the tenth (10th) day following the day on which such public announcement is first made by the corporation.

Only persons nominated in accordance with the procedures set forth in this Article II, Section 2.6 shall be eligible to serve as directors, and only such business shall be conducted at an annual meeting of stockholders as shall have been brought before the meeting in accordance with the procedures set forth in this Article II, Section 2.6. The chair of the meeting shall have the power and the duty to determine whether a nomination or any business proposed to be brought before the meeting has been made in accordance with the procedures set forth in these Bylaws and, if any proposed nomination or business is not in compliance with these Bylaws, to declare that such defective proposed business or nomination shall not be presented for stockholder action at the meeting and shall be disregarded.

Notwithstanding the foregoing provisions of this Article II, Section 2.6, a stockholder shall also comply with all applicable requirements of the Exchange Act and the rules and regulations thereunder with respect to matters set forth in this Article II, Section 2.6. Nothing in this Article II, Section 2.6 shall be deemed to affect any rights of stockholders to request inclusion of proposals in the Corporation s proxy statement pursuant to Rule 14a-8 under the Exchange Act.

For purposes of these Bylaws, public announcement shall mean disclosure in a press release reported by the Dow Jones News Service, Associated Press, PR Newswire, Business Wire or a comparable national news service or in a document publicly filed by the corporation with the Securities and Exchange Commission pursuant to Section 13, 14 or 15(d) of the Exchange Act.

- 2.7 Business at Special Meetings. Only such business shall be conducted at a special meeting of stockholders as shall have been brought before the meeting pursuant to the notice of meeting described in Section 2.4.
- 2.8 Stockholder Nominations for Special Meetings. Nominations of persons for election to the Board may be made at a special meeting of stockholders at which directors are to be elected pursuant to the Corporation s notice of meeting (a) by or at the direction of the Board or (b) by any stockholder of record of the corporation who is a stockholder of record at the time of giving notice provided for in this paragraph, who shall be entitled to vote at the meeting and who complies with the notice procedures set forth in Article II, Section 2.6. Nominations

Table of Contents

by stockholders of persons for election to the Board may be made at such a special meeting of stockholders if the stockholder s notice required by the second paragraph of Article II, Section 2.6 shall be delivered to the Secretary of the corporation at the principal executive offices of the corporation not later than the close of business on the later of the ninetieth (90th) day prior to such special meeting or the tenth (10th) day following the day on which public announcement is first made of the date of the special meeting and of the nominees proposed by the Board to be elected at such meeting.

Notwithstanding the foregoing provisions of this Article II, Section 2.8, a stockholder shall also comply with all applicable requirements of the Exchange Act and the rules and regulations thereunder with respect to matters set forth in this Article II, Section 2.8.

- 2.9 Fixing of Record Date for Determining Stockholders. For the purpose of determining stockholders entitled to notice of, or to vote at, any meeting of stockholders or any adjournment thereof, the Board may fix in advance a date as the record date for any such determination. Such record date shall be not more than sixty (60) days, nor less than ten (10) days prior to the date of such meeting. If no record date is fixed, the record date for determining stockholders entitled to notice of or to vote at a meeting of stockholders shall be the close of business on the day next preceding the day on which notice is given or, if notice is waived, at the close of business on the day next preceding the day on which the meeting is held, and the record date for determining stockholders for any other purpose shall be at the close of business on the day on which the Board adopts the resolution relating thereto. Such a determination shall apply to any adjournment of the meeting; provided, however, the Board may fix a new record date for any adjourned meeting.
- 2.10 *Voting List.* At least ten (10) days before each meeting of stockholders, a complete list of stockholders entitled to vote at such meeting, or any adjournment thereof, shall be made, arranged in alphabetical order with the address of and number of shares registered in the name of each stockholder. Unless otherwise required by law, the corporation shall not be required to include electronic mail or other electronic contact information in such list of stockholders. This list shall be kept open for the inspection of any stockholder, for any purposes germane to the meeting, during ordinary business hours, for a period of at least ten (10) days prior to the meeting, either (a) on a reasonably accessible electronic network, provided that the information required to gain access to such list is provided with the notice of the meeting, or (b) during ordinary business hours at the principal place of business of the corporation. In the event that the corporation determines to make the list available on an electronic network, the corporation may take reasonable steps to ensure that such information is available only to stockholders of the corporation. If the meeting is to be held at a place, then the list shall be produced and kept at the place of the meeting during the whole time thereof, and may be inspected by any stockholder that is present. If the meeting is to be held solely by means of remote communication, then the list shall also be open to the examination of any stockholder during the whole time of the meeting on a reasonably accessible electronic network, and the information required to access such list shall be provided with the notice of the meeting.
- 2.11 *Quorum.* A majority of the outstanding shares of the corporation entitled to vote, represented in person or by proxy, shall constitute a quorum at a meeting of the stockholders. If less than a majority of the outstanding shares entitled to vote are represented at a meeting, a majority of the shares so represented may adjourn the meeting from time to time without further notice. If a quorum is present or represented at a reconvened meeting following such an adjournment, any business may be transacted that might have been transacted at the meeting as originally called. The stockholders present at a duly organized meeting may continue to transact business until adjournment, notwithstanding the withdrawal of enough stockholders to leave less than a quorum.
- 2.12 *Proxy*. A stockholder may vote by proxy executed in writing by the stockholder or by his or her attorney-in-fact. Such proxy shall be filed with the Secretary of the corporation before or at the time of the meeting. A proxy shall become invalid three (3) years after the date of its execution, unless otherwise provided in that proxy. A proxy with respect to a specified meeting shall entitle the holder thereof to vote at any adjournment of such meeting but shall not be valid after the final adjournment thereof.

Table of Contents 487

D-4

Table of Contents

2.13 Conducting Meetings. Meetings of the stockholders shall be conducted in a fair manner but need not be governed by any prescribed rules of order. The Chairman of the Board or, in his or her absence, the officer presiding at the meeting shall establish an agenda for the meeting. The Chairman of the Board s or such other presiding officer s rulings on procedural matters shall be final. The Chairman of the Board or such other presiding officer is authorized to impose reasonable time limits on the remarks of individual stockholders and may take such steps as such officer may deem necessary or appropriate to assure that the business of the meeting is conducted in a fair and orderly manner.

ARTICLE III.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

3.2 *Number and Qualification*. The Board shall be composed of not less than three (3) nor more than nine (9) directors, the specific number to be

3.1 General Powers. The business and affairs of the corporation shall be managed by the Board.

- set by resolution of the Board or the stockholders. No reduction of the authorized number of directors shall have the effect of removing any director before that director s term of office expires. Directors shall be natural persons of the age of eighteen years or older, but need not be residents of the State of Delaware or stockholders of the corporation.
- 3.3 *Election and Term.* Except as otherwise provided by law or these Bylaws, directors shall be elected at the annual meeting of the stockholders or at a special meeting of the stockholders called for that purpose. The directors shall hold office until their respective successors are duly elected and qualified or until their earlier death, resignation or removal.
- 3.4 Annual and Regular Meetings. An annual Board meeting shall be held without notice immediately after and at the same place as the annual meeting of stockholders. By resolution, the Board may specify the time and place either within or without the State of Delaware for holding regular meetings without other notice than such resolution, or by resolution the Board may determine that the meeting shall not be held in any place, but by means of remote communication
- 3.5 Special Meetings. Special Board meetings may be called by or at the request of the President or any one director. The person or persons authorized to call special meetings may fix any place either within or without the State of Delaware as the place for holding any special Board meeting called by them, or such person or persons may determine that the meeting shall not be held in any place, but by means of remote communication.
- 3.6 *Meetings by Telephone*. Members of the Board or any committee designated by the Board may participate in a meeting of such Board or committee by means of conference telephone or similar communications equipment by means of which all persons participating in the meeting can hear each other. Participation by such means shall constitute presence in person at a meeting.
- 3.7 *Notice of Special Meetings*. Notice of a special Board meeting shall be given to a director either in writing or by electronic transmission to each director at his or her address shown on the records of the corporation. Neither the business to be transacted at, nor the purpose of, any

special meeting need be specified in the notice of such meeting.

3.7.1 *Personal Delivery*. If delivery is by personal service, the notice shall be effective if delivered at such address at least two (2) days before the meeting.

3.7.2 *Delivery by Mail*. If notice is delivered by mail or by courier, the notice shall be deemed effective if deposited in the official government mail or with such courier properly addressed with postage prepaid at least five (5) days before the meeting.

D-5

Table of Contents

3.7.3 <i>Delivery by Electronic Transmission</i> . If sent by e-mail or other electronic transmission, such notice shall be deemed to be given upon direction to the e-mail or other electronic address of record of the director.
3.8 Waiver of Notice.
3.8.1 Whenever any notice is required to be given to any director under the provisions of these Bylaws, the Certificate of Incorporation or the DGCL, a waiver thereof in writing, signed by the person or persons entitled to such notice, or a waiver by electronic transmission by the person or persons entitled to notice, whether before or after the time stated therein, shall be deemed equivalent to the giving of such notice. Neither the business to be transacted at, nor the purpose of, any regular or special meeting of the Board need be specified in the waiver of notice of such meeting.
3.8.2 The attendance of a director at a meeting shall constitute a waiver of notice of such meeting, except when a director attends a meeting for the express purpose of objecting, at the beginning of the meeting, to the transaction of any business because the meeting is not lawfully called or convened.
3.9 <i>Quorum</i> . A majority of the total number of directors shall constitute a quorum for the transaction of business at any Board meeting but, if less than a majority is present at a meeting, a majority of the directors present may adjourn the meeting from time to time without further notice.
3.10 <i>Manner of Acting</i> . The act of the majority of the directors present at a meeting at which there is a quorum shall be the act of the Board, unless the vote of a greater number is required by these Bylaws, the Certificate of Incorporation or the DGCL.
3.11 <i>Presumption of Assent</i> . A director of the corporation present at a Board meeting at which action on any corporate matter is taken shall be presumed to have assented to the action taken unless his or her dissent is entered in the minutes of the meeting, or unless such director files a written dissent to such action with the person acting as the secretary of the meeting before the adjournment thereof, or forwards such dissent by registered mail to the Secretary of the corporation immediately after the adjournment of the meeting. A director who voted in favor of such action may not dissent.
3.12 Action by Board or Committees Without a Meeting. Any action which could be taken at a meeting of the Board or of any committee appointed by the Board may be taken without a meeting if all members of the Board or committee, as the case may be, consent thereto in writing or by electronic transmission, and the writing or writings or electronic transmission or transmissions are inserted in the minute book as if it were the minutes of a Board or a committee meeting. Such filings shall be in paper form if the minutes are maintained in paper form and in electronic form if the minutes are maintained in electronic form.
3.13 <i>Resignation</i> . Any director may resign at any time by delivering notice to the corporation. Any such resignation shall take effect at the time specified therein, or if the time is not specified, upon delivery thereof and, unless otherwise specified therein, the acceptance of such resignation shall not be necessary to make it effective.

- 3.14 *Removal*. Any director or the entire Board may be removed, with or without cause, by the holders of a majority of the shares entitled to vote at an election of directors.
- 3.15 *Vacancies*. Any vacancy occurring on the Board may be filled by the affirmative vote of a majority of the remaining directors though less than a quorum of the Board. A director elected to fill a vacancy shall be elected for the unexpired term of his or her predecessor in office.
- 3.16 Committees.
- 3.16.1 *Appointment*. The Board, by resolution passed by a majority of the whole Board, may from time to time appoint from among its members one or more committees, each of which shall consist of one or more directors and, to the extent provided in such resolution, shall have and may exercise all of the authority of the Board. The Board may designate one or more directors as alternate members of any committee, who

D-6

Table of Contents

may replace any absent or disqualified member at any meeting of the committee. In the absence or disqualification of a member of a committee, the member or members thereof present at a meeting and that are not disqualified from voting, whether or not such member or members constitute a quorum, may unanimously appoint another member of the Board to act at the meeting in the place of any such absent or disqualified member.

- 3.16.2 *Authority*. No committee created pursuant to Article 3.16.1 hereof shall have the authority to: (1) declare dividends or distributions, except at a rate or in periodic amount determined by the Board, (2) approve or recommend to stockholders actions or proposals required by the DGCL to be approved by stockholders, (3) fill vacancies on the Board or any committee thereof, (4) amend these Bylaws, (5) authorize or approve the reacquisition of shares unless pursuant to general formula or method specified by the Board, (6) approve a plan of merger, consolidation, or exchange of shares not requiring stockholder approval, (7) reduce earned or capital surplus, (8) appoint other committees of the Board or members thereof, (9) amend the Certificate of Incorporation (except that a committee may, to the extent authorized in the resolution or resolutions providing for the issuance of shares of stock adopted by the Board as provided in Section 151(a) of the DGCL, fix the designations and any of the preferences or rights of such shares relating to dividends, redemption, dissolution, any distribution of assets of the corporation or the conversion into, or the exchange of such shares for, shares of any other class or classes or any other series of the same or any other class or classes of stock of the corporation or fix the number of shares of any series of stock or authorize the increase or decrease of the shares of any series), (10) recommend to the stockholders the sale, lease or exchange of all or substantially all of the corporation s property and assets, (11) recommend to the stockholders a dissolution of the corporation or a revocation of a dissolution, (12) authorize the issuance of stock, or (14) adopt a certificate of ownership and merger pursuant to Section 253 of the DGCL.
- 3.16.3 *Minutes of Meetings*. All committees so appointed shall keep regular minutes of their meetings and shall cause them to be recorded in books kept for that purpose.
- 3.16.4 *Resignation*. Any member of any committee may resign at any time by delivering written notice thereof to the President, the Secretary, the Board or the Chairman of such committee. Any such resignation shall take effect at the time specified therein, or if the time is not specified, upon delivery thereof and, unless otherwise specified therein, the acceptance of such resignation shall not be necessary to make it effective.
- 3.16.5 *Removal*. The Board may remove from office any member of any committee elected or appointed by it, but only by the affirmative vote of not less than a majority of the whole Board.
- 3.17 *Compensation*. By Board resolution, directors and committee members may be paid their expenses, if any, for attendance at each Board or committee meeting or for all or portions of days spent working at the request of the corporation on its affairs, or a fixed sum for attendance at each Board or committee meeting or for all or portions of days spent working at the request of the corporation on its affairs, or a stated salary as director or a committee member, or a combination of the foregoing. No such payment shall preclude any director or committee member from serving the corporation in any other capacity and receiving compensation therefor.
- 3.18 *The Chairman of the Board*. The Board at its first meeting after each annual meeting of the stockholders shall choose from among its members a Chairman of the Board. Except as otherwise provided by these Bylaws, the Chairman of the Board shall preside at all meetings of the stockholders and of the Board. The Chairman of the Board shall have such other powers and perform such other duties as are provided in these Bylaws and, in addition thereto, as the Board may from time to time determine.

ARTICLE IV.

OFFICERS

4.1 *Number*. The officers of the corporation shall be a President, a Secretary and a Chief Financial Officer, each of whom shall be elected by the Board. One or more Executive Vice Presidents and such other officers and assistant officers, may be elected or appointed by the Board, such officers and assistant officers to hold office for

D-7

Table of Contents

such period, have such authority and perform such duties as are provided in these Bylaws or as may be provided by resolution of the Board. Any officer may be assigned by the Board any additional title that the Board deems appropriate. The Board may delegate to any officer or agent the power to appoint any such subordinate officers or agents and to prescribe their respective terms of office, authority and duties. Any two (2) or more offices may be held by the same person.

- 4.2 *Election and Term of Office*. The officers of the corporation shall be elected annually by the Board at the Board meeting held after the annual meeting of the stockholders. If the election of officers is not held at such meeting, such election shall be held as soon thereafter as a Board meeting conveniently may be held. Unless an officer dies, resigns, or is removed, he or she shall hold office until the next annual meeting of the Board or until his or her successor is elected.
- 4.3 *Resignation*. Any officer may resign at any time by delivering written notice to the corporation. Any such resignation shall take effect at the time specified therein, or if the time is not specified, upon delivery thereof and, unless otherwise specified therein, the acceptance of such resignation shall not be necessary to make it effective.
- 4.4 *Removal*. Any officer or agent elected or appointed by the Board may be removed by the Board whenever in its judgment the best interests of the corporation would be served thereby, but such removal shall be without prejudice to the contract rights, if any, of the person so removed.
- 4.5 *Vacancies*. A vacancy in any office because of death, resignation, removal, creation of a new office or any other cause may be filled by the Board for the unexpired portion of the term, or for a new term established by the Board.
- 4.6 *President*. The President shall be the chief executive officer of the corporation unless some other officer is so designated by the Board, and subject to the Board s control, shall supervise and control all of the assets, business and affairs of the corporation.
- 4.7 Executive Vice President. An Executive Vice President shall perform all duties and exercise all powers as may from time to time be assigned to him or her by the President or by the Board. In the absence or disability of the President, the duties of the President shall be performed and his powers may be exercised by an Executive Vice President.
- 4.8 *Vice President*. Any Vice President appointed by the Board shall perform such duties as from time to time may be assigned to him or her by the President or by the Board.
- 4.9 Secretary. The Secretary shall: (a) keep the minutes of meetings of the stockholders and the Board in one or more books provided for that purpose; (b) see that all notices are duly given in accordance with the provisions of these Bylaws or as required by law; (c) be custodian of the corporate records and seal of the corporation; (d) keep registers of the post office address of each stockholder and director; (e) sign certificates for shares of the corporation; (f) have general charge of the stock transfer books of the corporation; (g) sign with the President, or other officer authorized by the Board, deeds, mortgages, bonds, contracts, or other instruments; and (h) in general perform all duties incident to the office of Secretary and such other duties as from time to time may be assigned to him or her by the President or by the Board. In the absence of the Secretary, an Assistant Secretary may perform the duties of the Secretary.

4.10 *Chief Financial Officer*. The Chief Financial Officer shall be the principal financial officer of the corporation and shall (a) have charge and custody of and be responsible for all funds and securities of the corporation; (b) receive and give receipts for moneys due and payable to the corporation from any source whatsoever and deposit all such moneys in the name of the corporation in such banks, savings and loan associations, trust companies or other depositories; and (c) in general perform all the duties incident to the office of Chief Financial Officer and such other duties as from time to time may be assigned to the Chief Financial Officer by the President or the Board.

D-8

Table of Contents

4.11 *Salaries*. The salaries of the officers shall be fixed from time to time by the Board or by any person or persons to whom the Board has delegated such authority. No officer shall be prevented from receiving such salary by reason of the fact that he or she is also a director of the corporation.

ARTICLE V.

CONTRACTS, LOANS, CHECKS AND DEPOSITS

- 5.1 *Contracts*. The Board may authorize any officer or officers, or agent or agents, to enter into any contract or execute and deliver any instrument in the name of and on behalf of the corporation. Such authority may be general or confined to specific instances.
- 5.2 *Loans*. No loans shall be contracted on behalf of the corporation and no evidences of indebtedness shall be issued in its name unless authorized by a resolution of the Board. Such authority may be general or confined to specific instances.
- 5.3 Checks, Drafts, Etc. All checks, drafts or other orders for the payment of money, notes or other evidences of indebtedness issued in the name of the corporation shall be signed by such officer or officers, or agent or agents, of the corporation and in such manner as is from time to time determined by resolution of the Board.
- 5.4 *Deposits*. All funds of the corporation not otherwise employed shall be deposited from time to time to the credit of the corporation in such banks, trust companies or other depositories as the Board may select.

ARTICLE VI.

CERTIFICATES FOR SHARES AND THEIR TRANSFER DIVIDENDS

- 6.1 *Issuance of Shares*. No shares of the corporation shall be issued unless authorized by the Board, which authorization shall include the maximum number of shares to be issued and the consideration to be received for each share.
- 6.2 Dividends. No dividends to stockholders of the corporation shall be declared unless authorized by the Board. For the purpose of determining the stockholders entitled to receive payment of any dividend or other distribution or allotment of any rights or the stockholders entitled to exercise any rights in respect to any change, conversion or exchange of stock, or for the purpose of any other lawful action, the Board may fix the record date, which record date shall not precede the date upon which the resolution fixing the record date is adopted, and which record date shall be not more than sixty (60) days prior to such action. If no record date is fixed, the record date for determining the stockholders for any such purpose shall be the close of business on the day on which the Board adopts the resolution relating thereto.

6.3 Certificates for Shares. Certificates representing shares of the corporation shall be signed by or bear the facsimile signature of the President or a Vice President and by the Treasurer or an Assistant Treasurer or the Secretary or an Assistant Secretary and shall include on their face written notice of any restrictions which may be imposed on the transferability of such shares. In case any officer, transfer agent, or registrar who has signed or whose facsimile signature has been placed upon a certificate shall have ceased to be such officer, transfer agent, or registrar before such certificate is issued, it may be issued by the corporation with the same effect as if such person was such officer, transfer agent, or registrar at the date of issue. All certificates shall be consecutively numbered or otherwise identified.

6.4 Transfer Agents and Registrars. The Board may, in its discretion, appoint responsible banks or trust companies in such city or cities as the Board may deem advisable, from time to time, to act as transfer agents and registrars of the stock of the corporation and, when such appointments shall have been made, no stock certificate shall be valid until countersigned by one of such transfer agents and registered by one of such registrars.

D-9

Table of Contents

6.5 Transfer of Shares. Shares may be transferred by delivery of the certificates therefor, accompanied either by an assignment in writing on the back of the certificates or by written power-of-attorney to sell, assign and transfer the same, signed by the record holder thereof; but no transfer shall affect the right of the corporation to pay any dividend upon the shares to the holder of record thereof, or to treat the holder of record as the holder in fact thereof for all purposes, and no transfer shall be valid, except between the parties thereto, until such transfer shall have been made upon the books of the corporation. All certificates surrendered to the corporation for transfer shall be cancelled and no new certificate shall be issued until the former certificates for a like number of shares shall have been surrendered and cancelled.

6.6 Lost or Destroyed Certificates. In the case of a lost, destroyed or mutilated certificate, a new certificate may be issued therefor upon such terms and indemnity to the corporation as the Board may prescribe.

ARTICLE VII.

BOOKS AND RECORDS

The corporation shall keep correct and complete books and records of account, stock transfer books, minutes of the proceedings of its stockholders and Board and such other records as may be necessary or advisable.

ARTICLE VIII.

FISCAL YEAR

The fiscal year of the corporation shall be established by resolution of the Board.

ARTICLE IX.

SEAL

The seal of the corporation, if any, shall be in such form as required by law and as shall be approved by the Board.

ARTICLE X.

INDEMNIFICATION

10.1 Indemnification of Directors, Officers, Employees and Agents. The Corporation shall:

10.1.1 indemnify, to the fullest extent permitted by the DGCL, any present or former director of the corporation, and may indemnify any present or former officer, employee or agent of the corporation selected by, and to the extent determined by, the Board for indemnification, such selection to be evidenced by an indemnification agreement, who was or is a party or is threatened to be made a party to any threatened, pending or completed action, suit or proceeding, whether civil, criminal, administrative or investigative (other than an action by, or in the right of, the corporation), by reason of the fact that such person is or was a director, officer, employee or agent of the corporation, or is or was serving at the request of the corporation as a director, officer, employee or agent of another corporation, partnership, joint venture, trust or other enterprise, against expenses (including attorneys fees), judgments, fines and amounts paid in settlement actually and reasonably incurred by such person in connection with such action, suit or proceeding if such person acted in good faith and in a manner such person reasonably believed to be in or not opposed to the best interests of the corporation and, with respect to any criminal action or proceeding, had no reasonable cause to believe such person reasonably believed to be in, or not opposed to, the best interests of the corporation and, with respect to any criminal action or proceeding, had reasonable cause to believe that such person s conduct was unlawful; and

D-10

Table of Contents

10.1.2 indemnify any present or former director of the corporation, and may indemnify any present or former officer, employee or agent of the corporation selected by, and to the extent determined by, the Board for indemnification, such selection to be evidenced by an indemnification agreement, who was or is a party or is threatened to be made a party to any threatened, pending or completed action or suit by, or in the right of, the corporation to procure a judgment in its favor by reason of the fact that such person is or was a director, officer, employee or agent of the corporation, or is or was serving at the request of the corporation as a director, officer, employee or agent of another corporation, partnership, joint venture, trust or other enterprise, against expenses (including attorneys fees) actually and reasonably incurred by such person in connection with the defense or settlement of such action or suit if such person acted in good faith and in a manner such person reasonably believed to be in, or not opposed to, the best interests of the corporation and except that no indemnification shall be made in respect of any claim, issue or matter as to which such person shall have been adjudged to be liable to the corporation, unless and only to the extent that the Court of Chancery or the court in which such action or suit was brought shall determine upon application that, despite the adjudication of liability but in view of all the circumstances of the case, such person is fairly and reasonably entitled to indemnity for such expenses which the Court of Chancery or such other court shall deem proper; and

10.1.3 indemnify any present or former director or officer, and may indemnify any present or former employee or agent of the corporation selected by, and to the extent determined by, the Board for indemnification, such selection to be evidenced by an indemnification agreement, against expenses (including attorneys fees) actually and reasonably incurred by such person in connection therewith, to the extent that such person has been successful on the merits or otherwise in defense of any action, suit or proceeding referred to in Article X, Sections 10.1.1 and 10.1.2, or in defense of any claim, issue or matter therein; and

10.1.4 pay expenses incurred by a director, or an officer who is entitled to indemnification hereunder, in defending a civil, criminal, administrative or investigative action, suit or proceeding in advance of the final disposition of such action, suit or proceeding upon receipt of an undertaking by or on behalf of such director or officer to repay such amount if it shall ultimately be determined that such director or officer is not entitled to be indemnified by the corporation as authorized in this Article X; and

10.1.5 notwithstanding the foregoing provisions and except as required by the DGCL, the Corporation shall not be obligated to indemnify or pay expenses incurred by any person with respect to any threatened, pending, or completed claims, suits or actions, whether civil, criminal, administrative, investigative or otherwise (Proceedings), initiated or brought voluntarily by such person and not by way of defense (other than Proceedings brought to establish or enforce a right to indemnification under the provisions of this Article X, unless a court of competent jurisdiction determines that each of the material assertions made by such person in such Proceedings were not made in good faith or were frivolous). The corporation shall not be obligated to indemnify such person for any amount paid in settlement of a Proceeding covered hereby without the prior written consent of the corporation to such settlement; and

10.1.6 not deem the indemnification and advancement of expenses provided by, or granted pursuant to, the other subsections of this Article X as exclusive of any other rights to which those seeking indemnification or advancement of expenses may be entitled under any Bylaw, agreement or vote of stockholders or disinterested directors, or otherwise, both as to action in such director s or officer s official capacity and as to action in another capacity while holding such office; and

10.1.7 have the right, authority and power to purchase and maintain insurance on behalf of any person who is or was a director, officer, employee or agent of the corporation, or is or was serving at the request of the corporation as a director, officer, employee or agent of another corporation, partnership, joint venture, trust or other enterprise against any liability asserted against such person and incurred by such person in any such capacity, or arising out of such person status as such, whether or not the corporation would have the power to indemnify such person against such liability under the provisions of this Article X; and

Table of Contents 500

D-11

Table of Contents

10.1.8 deem the provisions of this Article X to be a contract between the corporation and each director, or appropriately designated officer, employee or agent, who serves in such capacity at any time while this Article X is in effect, and any repeal or modification of this Article X shall not affect any rights or obligations then existing with respect to any state of facts then or theretofore existing or any action, suit or proceeding theretofore or thereafter brought or threatened based in whole or in part upon such state of facts; provided, however, that the provisions of this Article X shall not be deemed to be a contract between the corporation and any directors, officers, employees or agents of any other corporation (the Second Corporation) that shall merge into or consolidate with the corporation where the corporation shall be the surviving or resulting corporation, and any such directors, officers, employees or agents of the Second Corporation shall be indemnified to the extent required under the DGCL at the discretion of the Board; and continue the indemnification and advancement of expenses provided by, or granted pursuant to, this Article X, unless otherwise provided when authorized or ratified, as to a person who has ceased to be a director, officer, employee or agent of the corporation, and the indemnification and advancement of expenses provided by, or granted pursuant to, this Article X shall inure to the benefit of the heirs, executors and administrators of such a person.

ARTICLE XI.

CONFLICTS OF INTEREST

- 11.1 Contract or Relationship Not Void. No contract or transaction between the corporation and one or more of its directors or officers, or between the corporation and any other corporation, partnership, association or other organization in which one or more of its directors or officers are directors or officers or have a financial interest shall be void or voidable solely for this reason, or solely because such director or officer is present at, or participates in, the meeting of the Board or committee thereof which authorizes the contract or transaction, or solely because such director s or officer s vote is counted for such purpose, if:
- 11.1.1 the material facts as to such director s or officer s relationship or interest and as to the contract or transaction are disclosed or are known to the Board or the committee, and the Board or committee in good faith authorizes the contract or transaction by the affirmative vote of a majority of the disinterested directors, even though the disinterested directors be less than a quorum; or
- 11.1.2 the material facts as to such director s or officer s relationship or interest and as to the contract or transaction are disclosed or are known to the stockholders entitled to vote thereon, and the contract or transaction is specifically approved in good faith by vote of the stockholders; or
- 11.1.3 the contract or transaction is fair as to the corporation as of the time it is authorized, approved or ratified by the Board, a committee thereof, or the stockholders.
- 11.2 *Quorum*. Common or interested directors may be counted in determining the presence of a quorum at a meeting of the Board or of a committee which authorizes the contract or transaction.

ARTICLE XII.

AMENDMENTS

These Bylaws may be altered, amended or repealed and new bylaws may be adopted by a majority vote of the Board at any regular or special meeting of the Board, subject to the power of the stockholders to make, amend or repeal such Bylaws by the affirmative vote of the holders of a majority of the outstanding shares of the corporation entitled to vote thereon at any annual meeting or at a special meeting called for that purpose or by written consent.

D-12

Table of Contents	
ARTICLE XIII.	
CONSTRUCTION	
In the event of any conflict between the provisions of these Bylaws as in effect from tim Incorporation of the corporation as in effect from time to time, the provisions of such Co	
The foregoing Amended and Restated Bylaws were adopted by the Board on the day	y of , 2005.
	Secretary
D-13	

Table of Conte	ents
----------------	------

ANNEX E

EARLE M. JORGENSEN COMPANY

AMENDED AND RESTATED

AUDIT COMMITTEE CHARTER

A. Purpose

The Audit Committee (the <u>Committee</u>) is appointed by the Board of Directors (the <u>Board of Direc</u>tors or the Board) of Earle M. Jorgensen Company (the <u>Company</u>) for purposes of assisting Board oversight of (a) the integrity of the Company s financial statements; (b) the Company s compliance with legal and regulatory requirements; (c) the qualifications and independence of the registered public accounting firm that audits the Company s financial statements (the <u>Auditors</u>); and (d) the performance of the Company s internal audit function and of the Auditors. In so doing, it shall be the goal of the Committee to maintain free and open means of communication between the members of the Board, the Auditors, the Company s internal auditors, and the Company s management. The Committee shall each year, in conjunction with the preparation of the Audit Committee Report to the Company s stockholders, discussed further below, annually evaluate its own performance in light of the foregoing purposes and implement such structural or operational changes as it deems necessary and appropriate following such review.

The functions of the Committee are enumerated in Section C of this Charter.

While the Committee has the functions set forth in this Charter, it is not the duty of the Committee to plan or conduct audits or to determine that the Company s financial statements are complete and accurate or are in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles (GAAP). The responsibility to plan and conduct audits is that of the Auditors. The Company s management has the responsibility to determine that the Company s financial statements are complete and accurate and in accordance with GAAP. It is also not the duty of the Committee to assure the Company s compliance with laws and regulations. The primary responsibility for these matters rests with the Company s management. The Committee shall obtain the advice and assistance, as appropriate, of independent counsel and other advisors as necessary to fulfill the responsibilities of the Committee.

In its oversight capacity, the Committee is neither intended nor equipped to guarantee with certainty to the full Board and stockholders the accuracy and quality of the Company s financial statements and accounting practices. The Committee can do no more than rely upon information it receives, questions and assesses in fulfilling its functions.

B. Composition.

1. Composition and Qualification.

a. The Committee shall have at least three (3) members, each of whom shall be approved by the Board. Each member of the Committee shall be independent within the judgment of the Board pursuant to the criteria set forth in the Company's Corporate Governance Guidelines, a copy of which is available under the section titled Corporate Governance on the Company's website at www.emjmetals.com. Furthermore, a person may serve on the Committee only if the Board determines he or she satisfies the requirements, including independence and experience, of (i) the rules of the New York Stock Exchange (the NYSE), (ii) Section 10A(m)(3) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the Exchange Act), and any rules promulgated by the SEC thereunder and (iii) any other laws and regulations applicable to the Company.

b. All members of the Committee must be financially literate, as determined in the business judgment of the Board. At least one member of the Committee shall have accounting or related financial management

E-1

Table of Contents

expertise, as determined in the business judgment of the Board, and at least one member shall qualify as an audit committee financial expert, within the meaning of Section 407 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 and the rules promulgated by the SEC pursuant thereto.
c. The Committee shall be appointed and replaced by the Board on recommendation of the Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee. The Committee Chairman shall be designated by the full Board of Directors upon the recommendation of the Chairman of the Board.
d. No Committee member may simultaneously serve on the audit committees of more than three (3) public companies, including the Company.
e. Other directors may attend and participate as nonvoting members at any meeting of the Committee, subject to exclusion at the request of the Chairman of the Committee if matters sensitive to conflicts of interest or independence are to be discussed. Members of management may attend meetings of the Committee at the invitation of the Committee.
C. Functions.
The Committee s oversight functions may be divided into the following general categories: (1) general duties, (2) assessing internal controls system established by management, (3) evaluating independent audit processes and (4) overseeing financial reporting. The Committee shall:
1. General Duties.
a. Assist the Board of Directors of the Company in fulfilling its oversight functions with respect to the quality and integrity of the Company s financial statements.
b. Review periodically the Company s procedures for assuring compliance with laws and regulations throughout the Company, including, but not limited to, compliance with the Company s Code of Ethics for Senior Financial Officers and Principal Executive Officer and the Code of Business Conduct and Ethics.
c. Review this Charter at least annually or as conditions dictate, submit the Charter with any recommended changes to the Board for approval and have the then-current document published in accordance with the rules of the NYSE and applicable law.
d. Review periodically with management the status of pending litigation, taxation matters and other areas of oversight of compliance with applicable laws and regulations as may be appropriate.

Table of Contents 506

e. Perform such other functions as assigned by law, the Company s certificate of incorporation or bylaws, or the Board of Directors.

- 2. Internal Controls Process.
- a. Review with the Auditors and the internal auditors the adequacy of the Company s system of internal controls and disclosure controls and procedures, including information system controls and security, and any related significant findings and recommendations of the Auditors and the internal auditors, together with management s responses thereto.
- b. Establish procedures for (i) the receipt, retention, and treatment of complaints received by the Company regarding accounting, internal accounting controls, or auditing matters, (ii) the confidential, anonymous submission by employees of the Company of concerns regarding questionable accounting or auditing matters, and (iii) the dissemination of the procedures developed pursuant to clause (ii) above in a manner reasonably calculated to make them known to all Company employees.

E-2

Table of Contents

- c. The Committee shall have the authority to investigate any matter brought to its attention and to retain, at the Company s expense, outside counsel for this purpose if it believes it to be appropriate.
- d. Establish policies and procedures to ensure that management regularly and appropriately assesses the Company s major financial risk exposure and implements plans to monitor and mitigate such risks.
- e. Review and approve as may be required by the rules of the NYSE and applicable law, related party transactions and potential conflicts of interest between Board members or senior management or members of their immediate families, on the one hand, and the Company, on the other hand (including all transactions required to be disclosed by Item 404(a) of Regulation S-K).
- f. Review periodically policies and procedures covering officers expense accounts, perquisites and the use of corporate assets and discuss the results of such review with the Auditors.
- 3. Relationship with Independent Auditors and the Audit Process.
- a. The Auditors shall be independent as determined under Rule 10A-3 of the Exchange Act.
- b. The Committee shall be directly responsible for the appointment, replacement or termination, compensation and oversight of the work of any registered public accounting firm, including the Auditors (including resolution of disagreements between management of the Company and the Auditors regarding financial reporting), engaged for the purpose of preparing or issuing an audit report or performing other audit, review or attest services for the Company, and each such registered public accounting firm shall report directly to the Committee. The Committee shall review and approve engagement letters between the Company and the Auditors. All auditing services and permitted non-audit services provided to the Company by the Auditors shall be preapproved by the Committee, as permitted by Section 10A of the Exchange Act and the rules and regulations promulgated by the SEC thereunder, in accordance with such rules, limitations, policies or procedures the Committee adopts. The Committee may delegate, subject to any rules or limitations it may deem appropriate, to one or more designated members of the Committee the authority to grant such preapprovals; provided, however, that the decisions of any member to whom authority is so delegated to preapprove an activity shall be presented to the full Committee at its next scheduled meeting. The Committee may delegate to one of its members the authority to preapprove accounting/auditing/tax services involving fees less than \$100,000.
- c. The Committee shall review and discuss with the Auditors all significant relationships the Auditors have or are proposed to have with the Company to determine the Auditors independence and effectiveness, and obtain and review a report from the Auditors describing the Auditors internal quality control procedures; any material issues raised by the most recent internal quality-control review, or peer review, of the firm, or by any inquiry or investigation by governmental or professional authorities, within the preceding five (5) years, respecting one or more independent audits carried out by the firm, and any steps taken to deal with any such issues. The Committee shall obtain a formal written statement from the Auditors not less than annually delineating all relationships between the Company and the Auditors, consistent with Independence Standards Board Standard 1, and confirming their independence, and actively engage in dialogue regarding disclosed relationships or services, which may impact the objectivity and independence between the Auditors and the Company. The Committee shall also take appropriate action to ensure the independence of the Auditors. In considering the independence of the Auditors, the Committee will review the nature of the services provided by the Auditor s firm and the fees charged, and such other matters as the Committee deems appropriate.

d. Review with the Auditors and management the audit plan of the Auditors, including scope, staffing, locations, reliance upon management, internal audit and general audit approach and the content of all audit-related services, for the current year and the following year.

e. Review with the Auditors, the internal auditors and financial and accounting personnel the adequacy and effectiveness of the accounting, financial and information systems controls of the Company.

E-3

Table of Contents

f. Review the experience and qualifications of the senior members of the Auditor s team.
g. Review the performance of the Auditors and discharge the Auditors when circumstances warrant.
h. Discuss with the Auditors the matters required to be discussed by Statement on Auditing Standards No. 61 relating to the conduct of the audit.
i. Review with the Auditors and management the extent to which changes or improvements in financial or accounting practices, as approved by the Committee, have been implemented.
j. The Committee shall establish a regular schedule of meetings with the Auditors without management present to discuss candidly any audit problems or difficulties and management s responses to the Auditors efforts to resolve such problems or difficulties, including any significant disagreements between management and the Auditors in connection with the preparation of the Company s financial statements, any adjustments proposed by the Auditors that were rejected by management on any basis, matters referred by the Auditors to their national offices for additional review, the contents of any management/internal control letters issued or pending by the Auditors and the Auditors candid assessment of the responsibilities, budget and staffing of the Company s internal audit function.
k. Obtain and review a report from the Auditors at least annually as to (a) all critical accounting policies to be used, (b) all alternative treatments of financial information within GAAP that have been discussed with management of the Company, the ramifications of the use of such alternative disclosures and treatments and the treatment preferred by the Auditors, and (c) other material written communications between the Auditors and management of the Company, including management letters and schedules of unadjusted differences.
l. Arrange for the Auditors to be available to the full Board of Directors at least annually to help provide an open avenue of communication among the Auditors, management and the Board of Directors.
m. Establish clear, formal procedures for the hiring of employees and former employees of the Auditor with the goal of preventing the prospect of future employment with the Company from influencing the current performance of the independent auditor function.
n. At least every five years, the Committee shall require the rotation of the Auditor s lead audit partner and reviewing audit partner, and consider the costs and benefits of switching to another firm of independent auditors.
4. Reporting Process.
a. Review with management and the Auditors the Company s annual audited and quarterly unaudited financial statements prior to release. This review should include discussion of significant issues regarding accounting principles, practices, and judgment, including the assessments of financial performance and critical accounting policies proposed to be set forth in the Management s Discussion and Analysis of Financial

Condition and Results of Operations. The Committee shall recommend to the Board whether the financial statements should be included in the Company's periodic reports filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC). For purposes of the interim financial statements to be included in the Company's Quarterly Reports on Form 10-Q, the Chairman of the Committee may represent the entire Committee for purposes of this review.

b. Review all of the Company s earnings releases, as well as financial information and earnings guidance provided to analysts and rating agencies, with management and the Auditors prior to release. The Chairman of the Committee may represent the entire Committee for purposes of this review.

c. Discuss with the Auditors their judgments about the quality, not just the acceptability, of the Company s accounting principles and financial disclosure practices used or proposed and the appropriateness of significant management judgments.

E-4

Table of Contents

d. Review any analyses prepared by management or the Auditors regarding significant financial reporting issues, specifically including the judgments made by management as to the application of GAAP to the Company s financial reporting in light of alternative GAAP applications and the use of pro forma information not prepared in accordance with GAAP. e. Discuss with management and the Auditors the effect of regulatory and accounting initiatives as well as off-balance sheet structures on the Company s financial statements. f. Report periodically on Committee activities to the full Board and based upon discussions with, and reliance upon, management and the Auditors, issue the report required by the SEC rules to be included in the Company s annual proxy statement. In addition, the Committee will provide any other audit committee-related disclosure, in filings with the SEC or otherwise required by applicable securities laws, rules and regulations or by the rules of the NYSE. D. Funding. The Company shall provide for appropriate funding, as determined by the Committee for payment of: a. Compensation to any registered public accounting firm engaged for the purpose of preparing or issuing an audit report or performing other audit, review or attest services for the Company. b. Compensation to any advisers employed by the Committee whose employ is deemed necessary by the Committee to carry out its duties. c. Ordinary administrative expenses of the Committee that are necessary or appropriate in carrying out its duties. E. Meetings.

The Committee shall meet at least four (4) times per year, once to review the audit plan of the internal auditors, once to review the audit plan of the Auditors, once to review the Company s annual audited financial statements prior to their issuance, and once to review the post-audit findings of the Auditors and the internal auditors. The Committee shall meet more frequently as circumstances require and shall hold special meetings as may be called by the Chairman of the Committee or at the request of the Auditors, the internal auditors or management. Members of senior management, the Auditors, the internal auditors or others may attend meetings of the Committee at the invitation of the Committee and shall provide pertinent information as necessary. The Committee shall meet with the Auditors, the internal auditors and management in separate executive sessions as needed to discuss any matters that the Committee or these groups believe should be discussed privately with the Committee. Meetings may be by telephone.

The Chairman of the Committee shall set the agenda of each meeting and arrange for the distribution of the agenda, together with supporting material, to the Committee members prior to each meeting. Chairman will also cause minutes of each meeting to be prepared and circulated to the Committee Members.

F. Communication with the Board of Directors.

The Committee shall, after each meeting, report its activities, findings and conclusions to the full Board of Directors and shall periodically report to the Board on significant results of its activities pursuant to Section C of this Charter. The Committee shall review with the Board any issues that arise with respect to the quality or integrity of the Company s financial statements, the Company s compliance with legal or regulatory requirements, the performance and independence of the Auditors, or the performance of the internal audit function.

Adopted by Board of Directors on October 22, 2004

E-5

ANNEX F

Wachovia Capital Markets, LLC

301 South College Street

Charlotte, NC 28288

WACHOVIA SECURITIES

December 16, 2004

The Special Committee of the Board of Directors

Earle M. Jorgensen Holding Company, Inc.

10650 South Alameda

Lynwood, California 90262

Attention: Mr. Maurice S. Nelson, Jr.

President, Chief Executive Officer and Chief Operating Officer

Gentlemen:

You have asked Wachovia Capital Markets, LLC (*Wachovia Securities*), to advise you with respect to the fairness, from a financial point of view, to the stockholders of Earle M. Jorgensen Holding Company, Inc., a Delaware corporation (*Holding*), other than the Kelso Entities (as defined below), of the aggregate consideration to be received in connection with the Merger (as defined below), by such stockholders of Holding pursuant to the Agreement and Plan of Merger and Reorganization, dated as of December 17, 2004 (the *Agreement*), by and among Holding, Earle M. Jorgensen Company, a Delaware corporation (the *Company*), and EMJ Metals LLC, a Delaware limited liability company (*EMJ Metals LLC*).

Pursuant to the Agreement, Holding will be merged with and into EMJ Metals LLC, with EMJ Metals LLC being the surviving entity (the *Merger*), and (a) all issued and outstanding shares of common stock, \$0.01 par value per share, of Holding (the *Holding Common Stock*) will be converted into shares of common stock, \$0.001 per share, of the Company (the Common Stock), and (b) all issued and outstanding shares of Holding s 13% Cumulative Preferred Stock, \$0.01 par value per share (the *Series A Preferred Stock*), and Holding s Variable Rate Cumulative Preferred Stock, \$0.01 par value per share (the *Series B Preferred Stock*), will be converted into a combination of cash and Common Stock, as

specified therein. Concurrently with, and subject to the completion of, the Merger, pursuant to an Exchange Agreement (the Exchange Agreement), of even date with the Agreement, among Holding, the Company, Kelso Investment Associates, L.P., a Delaware limited partnership (KIA), Kelso Equity Partners II, L.P., a Delaware limited partnership (KIA), KIA III-Earle M. Jorgensen, L.P., a Delaware limited partnership (KIAIII), and Kelso Investment Associates IV, L.P., a Delaware limited partnership (KIAIV), and together with KIA, KP II, and KIA III, collectively, the Kelso Entities), KIA IV will exchange all of the outstanding Series A Variable Rate Notes of Holding (the Series A Variable Rate Notes) and warrants (the Holding Warrants) to purchase Holding Common Stock held by it for a combination of shares of Common Stock and cash, as specified therein. Terms used, but not defined, herein shall have the meanings ascribed to them in the Agreement. For purposes of calculating the merger consideration the Common Stock will be valued at the IPO price.

As condition to the closing of the Merger, the Company must have completed an initial public offering of its common stock (the IPO) at a price (the IPO Price) per share not less than \$5.00 and the amount of Cash Proceeds Allocated to Preferred Stock and Holding Notes shall not be less than \$100,000,000.00.

F-1

The Special Committee of the Board of Directors

Earle M. Jorgensen Holding Company, Inc.

December 18, 2003

Page 2

In arriving at our opinion, we have, among other things:

Reviewed the Agreement and the Exchange Agreement, including the financial terms of the Merger and the Exchange.

Reviewed the draft Form S-1 (dated 10/1/2004) for the proposed IPO and the draft Form S-4 (dated 11/19/2004) for the proposed Merger.

Reviewed certain business, financial, and other information regarding the Company that was publicly available.

Reviewed certain business, financial, and other information regarding Holding and its prospects that was furnished to us by, and that we have discussed with, the management of Holding.

Reviewed certain business, financial, and other information regarding the Company and its prospects that was furnished to us by, and that we have discussed with, the management of the Company.

Compared certain business, financial, and other information regarding Holding with similar information regarding certain publicly traded companies that we deemed relevant.

Compared the proposed financial terms of the Agreement and the Exchange Agreement with the financial terms of certain other business combinations and transactions that we deemed relevant.

Developed discounted cash flow models for Holding based upon management estimates.

Reviewed the potential pro forma impact of the merger on the Company s financial statements.

Reviewed the valuation of Holding s capital stock as of March 31, 2003 prepared by Houlihan Lokey Howard & Zukin.

Reviewed the valuation of Holding s capital stock as of March 31, 2004 prepared by Duff & Phelps, LLC.

Considered other information such as financial studies, analyses, and investigations as well as financial, economic and market criteria that we deemed relevant.

In connection with our review, we have relied upon the accuracy and completeness of the foregoing financial and other information we have obtained and reviewed for the purpose of our opinion, and we have not assumed any responsibility for any independent verification of such information. We have relied upon assurances of the management of Holding and the Company that they are not aware of any facts or circumstances that would make such information about Holding or the Company inaccurate or misleading. With respect to projections and financial forecasts, we have relied on estimates prepared by the management of Holding and the Company and have discussed with the management of Holding and the Company such projections, financial forecasts and estimates, as well as the assumptions upon which they are based. We have assumed that the projections, financial forecasts, estimates, judgments, and all assumptions expressed by management of Holding and the Company have been reasonably formulated and that they are the best currently available projections, financial forecasts, estimates, and judgments of the management of Holding and the Company. While we have discussed with management of Holding and the Company, such projections, financial forecasts, estimates and judgments, as well as the assumptions on which they are based, we assume no responsibility for and express no view as to any such projections, financial forecasts, estimates or judgments, or the assumptions upon which they are based. In arriving at our opinion, we have not conducted any physical inspection or assessment of the facilities of the Company, and we have not made or been provided with any evaluations or appraisals of the assets and liabilities of either Holding or the Company. We have relied on advice of counsel to Holding as to all legal matters with respect to Holding and the transactions contemplated in the Agreement.

F-2

Table of Contents

The Special Committee of the Board of Directors

Earle M. Jorgensen Holding Company, Inc.

December 18, 2003

Page 3

In rendering our opinion, we have assumed that the transactions contemplated by the Agreement will be consummated on the terms described in the Agreement and the Exchange Agreement, without waiver of any material terms or conditions, and that in the course of obtaining any necessary legal, regulatory or third party consents and/or approvals, no restrictions will be imposed that will have a material adverse effect on such transactions or other actions contemplated by the Agreement. Our opinion is necessarily based on economic, market, financial and other conditions as they exist on and can be evaluated as of the date hereof. Although subsequent developments may affect this opinion, we do not have any obligation to update, revise or reaffirm this opinion. Our opinion does not address the relative merits of the transactions contemplated by the Agreement compared with other business strategies that may have been considered by Holding s management or its Board of Directors (including the Special Committee), nor does our opinion address the merits of the underlying decision by Holding to enter into the Agreement. Our opinion does not take into account any risks associated with Holding s obligation to consummate the transactions contemplated by the Agreement. Finally, our opinion does not address the relative values, rights or priorities of the Holding Common Stock, the Series A Preferred Stock or the Series B Preferred Stock compared to either or both such other class or classes.

Wachovia Securities is an investment banking subsidiary and affiliate of Wachovia Corporation. We have been engaged to render this opinion to the Special Committee in connection with the Agreement and will receive a fee for such service. We have also been engaged to render certain financial advisory services to the Special Committee of the Board of Directors of the Company in connection with the Agreement and will receive a fee for such services, the principal portion of which is payable upon consummation of the Merger. In addition, the Company has agreed to reimburse our expenses and indemnify us against certain liabilities arising out of our engagement. We call to your attention that Wachovia Securities and our affiliates provide a full range of financial advisory, securities and lending services in the ordinary course of business for which we receive customary fees. In 2003, Wachovia Securities sold its limited partner position in Kelso Investment Associates VI, L.P., a Delaware limited partnership (*KIA VI*), and currently has outstanding loan commitments to several portfolio companies of Kelso & Company. We may provide banking services, including, but not limited to, investment banking services, to Holding, EMJ Metals LLC, the Company or the Kelso Entities in the future for which we would also be paid fees.

This opinion is solely for the information and use of the Special Committee and the Board of Directors of Holding. This opinion shall not confer any rights or remedies upon the shareholders of Holding, or the Company, or the member of EMJ Metals LLC or any of its or their shareholders or any other person (including, without limitation, the Trustee of Holding s stock bonus plan) or be used or relied on for any other purpose. Our opinion may not be disclosed, summarized, excerpted from, or otherwise publicly referred to without our prior written consent; provided, however, that our opinion may be included in any proxy statement or other similar communication to stockholders of Holding in connection with the Merger and may be disclosed to any stockholder of Holding, the members of Holding s benefits committee or the Trustee of Holding s stock bonus plan, and provided further that, in connection with any such disclosure, our opinion must be reproduced in full and any description or summary thereof, or reference to Wachovia Securities or its engagement hereunder, must be, in form and substance, acceptable to Wachovia Securities and its legal counsel, which acceptance will not be unreasonably withheld.

F-3

Table of Contents The Special Committee of the Board of Directors Earle M. Jorgensen Holding Company, Inc. December 18, 2003 Page 4 Subject to the foregoing and based upon our experience as investment bankers, our work as described above, and other factors we deem relevant, we are of the opinion that, as of the date hereof, the aggregate consideration to be received by the stockholders of Holding, other than the Kelso Entities, in connection with the Merger pursuant to the Agreement is fair, from a financial point of view, to such stockholders of Holding. Very truly yours, /s/ Wachovia Capital Markets, LLC WACHOVIA CAPITAL MARKETS, LLC

F-4

Table of Contents ANNEX G n 2029 CENTURY PARK EAST, SUITE 820 n LOS ANGELES, CA 90067 n 310-284-8008 n FAX 310-284-8130 December 16, 2004 Benefits Committee Earle M. Jorgensen Holding Company, Inc. 10650 South Alameda Street Lynwood, California 90262

The Benefits Committee of Earle M. Jorgensen Holding Company, Inc. (Holding) has engaged Duff & Phelps, LLC (Duff & Phelps) as its independent financial advisor to provide an opinion (the Opinion) in connection with a proposed merger and financial restructuring transaction concurrent with an initial public offering (Proposed Transaction). Specifically, Duff & Phelps has been asked to provide its opinion as to the fairness of the Proposed Transaction to Holding s Employee Stock Ownership Plan (to be renamed the Earle M. Jorgensen Stock Bonus Plan (Stock Bonus Plan)) and its participants (without giving effect to any impact of the Proposed Transaction on any particular shareholder other than in its capacity as a shareholder).

Description of the Proposed Transaction

Gentlemen:

The Proposed Transaction consists of multiple parts, but is described below as comprising two main components. The first component is the amendment of the terms set forth in a consent order (Consent Order) between Holding and the U.S. Department of Labor (DOL), and a related contribution of cash and stock to the Stock Bonus Plan. The second component consists of a merger and financial restructuring concurrent with an initial public offering. Although the second component is dependent upon completion of the first, it is Duff & Phelps understanding that the amendment of the Consent Order is independent of, and in no way contingent on, the remainder of the Proposed Transaction.

Consent Order and Special Contribution

Since early 2003, administration of the Stock Bonus Plan has been subject to the terms set forth in a Consent Order between Holding and the DOL. In part, the Consent Order requires that capital stock appraisals prepared for Stock Bonus Plan purposes be performed in a manner that is consistent with past appraisals. Specifically, among other things, the Consent Order requires that such appraisals include the application of a 30% control premium, and a consistent methodology in valuing Holding s corporate-owned life insurance policies (COLI).

Prior to consummation of the merger and financial restructuring, Holding and the DOL expect to execute an amendment to the Consent Order. Under the terms of the amended Consent Order, future appraisals prepared for the Stock Bonus Plan will no longer be required to include the application of a 30% control premium or the use of prior methodology for valuation of the COLI.

In order to offset the effect on Stock Bonus Plan participants of the changes contemplated by the amended Consent Order, Holding has agreed to make an additional contribution to the Stock Bonus Plan (the Special Contribution). The Special Contribution will consist of 2,496,703 shares of common stock for current participants (or the equivalent in stock units or cash through a supplemental plan) and \$1,416,905 in cash for participants who have already terminated employment at EMJ.

G-1

Table of Contents

Benefits Committee

Earle M. Jorgensen Holding Company, Inc.

December 16, 2003

Page 2

Merger and Financial Restructuring

It is our understanding that the Merger and Financial Restructuring can be summarized as follows:

Prior to the Proposed Transaction, Holding holds a 100% equity interest in Earle M. Jorgensen Company (EMJ or the Company);

As of the effective date of the Proposed Transaction, Holding will be merged with and into EMJ LLC, a newly formed wholly owned subsidiary of EMJ, with EMJ LLC as the surviving entity;

EMJ will consummate an initial public offering of its common stock, subject to a minimum gross offering size of \$100 million and a minimum offering price of \$5.00 per share;

After payment of certain transaction-related expenses, net proceeds from the IPO (excluding proceeds, if any, from the exercise of the underwriters over-allotment option) will be used to redeem, on a pro-rata basis, a portion of Holding s subordinated debt and both classes of its preferred stock (the Series A Preferred Stock and the Series B Preferred Stock);

To the extent that net proceeds from the IPO are insufficient to redeem all such securities, the remaining balances of subordinated debt and preferred stock will be exchanged for common stock of EMJ;

All accrual of interest and dividends on Holding s subordinated debt and preferred securities will terminate as of September 29, 2004 and the accrued values as of that date (defined as fair market value for preferred securities) will be used to calculate repayment and conversion obligations;

Conversions of debt and preferred stock into new common stock will take place at a conversion price equal to the public offering price in the IPO;

Existing shares of Holding common stock will be converted to EMJ common stock on a one-for-one basis;

Existing warrants to purchase Holding common stock will be exercised on a cashless basis, with the resulting shares then converted to EMJ common stock; and

Existing options to purchase Holding common stock will be converted into options to purchase EMJ common stock, with the terms of such options adjusted to reflect the amendment of the Consent Order and the Special Contribution to the Stock Bonus Plan.

Scope of Analysis

In connection with this Opinion, we have made such reviews, analyses, and inquiries as we have deemed necessary and appropriate under the circumstances. Our due diligence with regards to the Proposed Transaction included, but was not limited to, the items summarized below.

Visited EMJ s headquarters in Lynwood, California;

Conducted interviews with the management including: Mr. Maurice S. Nelson, Jr., President and Chief Executive Officer; Mr. Neil McCaffery, Executive Vice President; and Mr. Bill Johnson, Chief Financial Officer;

Subsequent telephonic discussions were held with EMJ management; members of the Benefits Committee; O Melveny and Myers, legal counsel to the Benefits Committee; members of the Special Committee of Holding s Board of Directors; Katten Muchin Zavis Rosenman, legal counsel to the Special Committee; and Wachovia Securities, financial advisor to the Special Committee.

G-2

Benefits Committee

Earle M. Jorgensen Holding Company, Inc.

December 16, 2003

Page 3

Reviewed relevant documents and agreements, including but not limited to:

Agreement and Plan of Merger and Reorganization (draft - dated November 9, 2004);

Exchange Agreement (draft dated November 10, 2004);

Form S-4 Registration Statement, including Amendments thereto (latest draft dated December 16, 2004);

Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation of Earle M. Jorgensen Company;

Stockholders Agreement of Earle M. Jorgensen Company;

Consent Order and Release by and between Elaine L. Chao, Secretary of the United States Department of Labor, Holding, EMJ and affiliates, dated January 27, 2003;

Amended Consent Order (draft as of November 17, 2004)

Lock-Up Agreement (draft dated October 2004)

Reviewed the valuation of Holding capital stock as of March 31, 2003 and March 31, 2004 prepared by Houlihan, Lokey, Howard and Zukin (HLHZ) and Duff & Phelps, respectively;

Reviewed EMJ s financial statements and SEC filings, including the annual report on Form 10-K for the years ended March 31, 2001 through 2004 and quarterly reports on Form 10-Q for the periods ended September 29, 2003 and 2004;

Reviewed Holding s audited financial statements for the fiscal years ended March 31, 2001 through 2004;

Reviewed Holding s internal financial statements for the fiscal years ended March 31, 2001 through 2004 and the six-month periods ended September 29, 2003 and 2004;

Reviewed financial projections prepared by Holding management for the fiscal years ended March 31, 2005 through 2008 and the calendar year ended December 31, 2005;

Reviewed and analyzed market trading prices and indicated valuation metrics for comparable public companies;

Reviewed other operating, financial and legal information regarding EMJ and Holding;

Reviewed pertinent economic and industry information; and

Reviewed and prepared other studies, analyses and investigations as we deemed appropriate.

Duff & Phelps also took into account its assessment of general economic, market and financial conditions, as well as its experience in securities and business valuation, in general, and with respect to merger, acquisition and financing transactions, in particular. Duff & Phelps did not make any independent evaluation, appraisal or physical inspection of Holding s or the Company s solvency or of any specific assets or liabilities (contingent or otherwise). This Opinion should not be construed as a credit rating, solvency opinion, an analysis of Holding s or the Company s credit worthiness or otherwise as tax advice or as accounting advice. In rendering this Opinion, Duff & Phelps relied upon the fact that the Benefits Committee and the Company have been advised by counsel as to all legal matters with respect to the Proposed Transaction, including whether all procedures required by law to be taken in connection with the Proposed Transaction have been duly, validly and timely taken; and Duff & Phelps has not made, and assumes no responsibility to make, any representation, or render any opinion, as to any legal matter.

In preparing its forecasts, performing its analysis and rendering its Opinion with respect to the Proposed Transaction, Duff & Phelps: (i) relied upon the accuracy, completeness, and fair presentation of all information,

G-3

Benefits Committee

Earle M. Jorgensen Holding Company, Inc.

December 16, 2003

Page 4

data, advice, opinions and representations obtained from public sources or provided to it from private sources, including Holding and Company management, and did not attempt to independently verify such information, (ii) assumed that any estimates, evaluations and projections furnished to Duff & Phelps were reasonably prepared and based upon the last currently available information and good faith judgment of the person furnishing the same, and (iii) assumed that the final versions of all documents reviewed by us in draft form conform in all material respects to the drafts reviewed. Duff & Phelps Opinion further assumes that information supplied and representations made by Holding and Company management are substantially accurate regarding Holding, the Company and the Proposed Transaction. Neither management nor Holding s Board of Directors placed any limitation upon Duff & Phelps with respect to the procedures followed or factors considered by Duff & Phelps in rendering its Opinion.

In our analysis and in connection with the preparation of this Opinion, Duff & Phelps has made numerous assumptions with respect to industry performance, general business, market and economic conditions and other matters, many of which are beyond the control of any party involved in the Proposed Transaction. Duff & Phelps has also assumed that all of the conditions precedent required to implement the Proposed Transaction will be satisfied and that the Proposed Transaction will be completed in accordance with the Exchange Agreement and the Agreement and Plan of Merger and Reorganization that were provided for our review.

The basis and methodology for this Opinion have been designed specifically for the express purposes of the Benefits Committee, the Special Committee, and the Board of Directors, and may not translate to any other purposes.

To the extent that any of the foregoing assumptions or any of the facts on which this Opinion is based proves to be untrue in any material respect, this Opinion cannot and should not be relied upon.

Duff & Phelps has prepared this Opinion effective as of December 16, 2004. The Opinion is necessarily based upon market, economic, financial and other conditions as they exist and can be evaluated as of such date, and Duff & Phelps disclaims any undertaking or obligation to advise any person of any change in any fact or matter affecting the Opinion which may come or be brought to the attention of Duff & Phelps after the date hereof.

This letter should not be construed as creating any fiduciary duty on Duff & Phelps part to any party.

It is understood that this Opinion is only for the information of the Benefits Committee, the Special Committee, the Company, and the Board of Directors in connection with its consideration of the Proposed Transaction. This Opinion is not a recommendation as to how any stockholder should vote or act with respect to any matters relating to the Proposed Transaction, or whether to proceed with the Proposed Transaction or any related transaction, nor does it indicate that the consideration received is the best possible attainable under any circumstances. The decision as to whether to proceed with the Proposed Transaction or any related transaction may depend on an assessment of factors unrelated to the financial

analysis on which this Opinion is based. Notwithstanding the foregoing, Duff & Phelps expressly acknowledges that the members of Holding s Board of Directors, including the Special Committee, may rely upon this Opinion as one of the factors they considered in evaluating the Proposed Transaction.

This Opinion may be included in its entirety in any proxy statement or other document distributed to shareholders of Holding and the Company in connection with the Proposed Transaction or required by law or regulation to be filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission, and you may summarize or otherwise reference the existence of this Opinion in such documents provided that any such summary or reference language shall be subject to prior approval by Duff & Phelps. Said approval shall not be unreasonably withheld. Except as described above, without our prior consent, this Opinion may not be quoted or referred to, in whole or in part, in any written document, relied upon by any person other than the Benefits Committee, the Special Committee, the Company, or the Board of Directors, or used for any other purpose.

G-4

Benefits Committee

Earle M. Jorgensen Holding Company, Inc.

December 16, 2003

Page 5

Conclusion

Based upon and subject to the foregoing, Duff & Phelps is of the opinion that as of the date of this Opinion: (1) the aggregate consideration to be received by the Stock Bonus Plan in the Proposed Transaction is fair to the Stock Bonus Plan and its participants from a financial point of view, and (2) the consideration to be received by the Stock Bonus Plan pursuant to Section 2.3 of the Agreement and Plan of Merger and Reorganization in exchange for the (a) Series A Preferred Stock, (b) Series B Preferred Stock and (c) Holding common stock, considered independently in each case, is not less than the respective fair market value of such securities.

Respectfully submitted,

G-5

ANNEX H

DELAWARE GENERAL CORPORATION LAW

TITLE 8. CORPORATIONS

CHAPTER 1. GENERAL CORPORATION LAW

SUBCHAPTER IX. MERGER, CONSOLIDATION OR CONVERSION

§ 262 Appraisal rights.

- (a) Any stockholder of a corporation of this State who holds shares of stock on the date of the making of a demand pursuant to subsection (d) of this section with respect to such shares, who continuously holds such shares through the effective date of the merger or consolidation, who has otherwise complied with subsection (d) of this section and who has neither voted in favor of the merger or consolidation nor consented thereto in writing pursuant to § 228 of this title shall be entitled to an appraisal by the Court of Chancery of the fair value of the stockholder s shares of stock under the circumstances described in subsections (b) and (c) of this section. As used in this section, the word stockholder means a holder of record of stock in a stock corporation and also a member of record of a nonstock corporation; the words stock and share mean and include what is ordinarily meant by those words and also membership or membership interest of a member of a nonstock corporation; and the words depository receipt mean a receipt or other instrument issued by a depository representing an interest in one or more shares, or fractions thereof, solely of stock of a corporation, which stock is deposited with the depository.
- (b) Appraisal rights shall be available for the shares of any class or series of stock of a constituent corporation in a merger or consolidation to be effected pursuant to § 251 (other than a merger effected pursuant to § 251(g) of this title), § 252, § 254, § 257, § 258, § 263 or § 264 of this title:
- (1) Provided, however, that no appraisal rights under this section shall be available for the shares of any class or series of stock, which stock, or depository receipts in respect thereof, at the record date fixed to determine the stockholders entitled to receive notice of and to vote at the meeting of stockholders to act upon the agreement of merger or consolidation, were either (i) listed on a national securities exchange or designated as a national market system security on an interdealer quotation system by the National Association of Securities Dealers, Inc. or (ii) held of record by more than 2,000 holders; and further provided that no appraisal rights shall be available for any shares of stock of the constituent corporation surviving a merger if the merger did not require for its approval the vote of the stockholders of the surviving corporation as provided in subsection (f) of § 251 of this title.
- (2) Notwithstanding paragraph (1) of this subsection, appraisal rights under this section shall be available for the shares of any class or series of stock of a constituent corporation if the holders thereof are required by the terms of an agreement of merger or consolidation pursuant to § § 251, 252, 254, 257, 258, 263 and 264 of this title to accept for such stock anything except:
- a. Shares of stock of the corporation surviving or resulting from such merger or consolidation, or depository receipts in respect thereof;
- b. Shares of stock of any other corporation, or depository receipts in respect thereof, which shares of stock (or depository receipts in respect thereof) or depository receipts at the effective date of the merger or consolidation will be either listed on a national securities exchange or

designated as a national market system security on an interdealer quotation system by the National Association of Securities Dealers, Inc. or held of record by more than 2,000 holders;

c. Cash in lieu of fractional shares or fractional depository receipts described in the foregoing subparagraphs a. and b. of this paragraph; or

H-1

Table of Contents

- d. Any combination of the shares of stock, depository receipts and cash in lieu of fractional shares or fractional depository receipts described in the foregoing subparagraphs a., b. and c. of this paragraph.
- (3) In the event all of the stock of a subsidiary Delaware corporation party to a merger effected under § 253 of this title is not owned by the parent corporation immediately prior to the merger, appraisal rights shall be available for the shares of the subsidiary Delaware corporation.
- (c) Any corporation may provide in its certificate of incorporation that appraisal rights under this section shall be available for the shares of any class or series of its stock as a result of an amendment to its certificate of incorporation, any merger or consolidation in which the corporation is a constituent corporation or the sale of all or substantially all of the assets of the corporation. If the certificate of incorporation contains such a provision, the procedures of this section, including those set forth in subsections (d) and (e) of this section, shall apply as nearly as is practicable.
- (d) Appraisal rights shall be perfected as follows:
- (1) If a proposed merger or consolidation for which appraisal rights are provided under this section is to be submitted for approval at a meeting of stockholders, the corporation, not less than 20 days prior to the meeting, shall notify each of its stockholders who was such on the record date for such meeting with respect to shares for which appraisal rights are available pursuant to subsection (b) or (c) hereof that appraisal rights are available for any or all of the shares of the constituent corporations, and shall include in such notice a copy of this section. Each stockholder electing to demand the appraisal of such stockholder s shares shall deliver to the corporation, before the taking of the vote on the merger or consolidation, a written demand for appraisal of such stockholder s shares. Such demand will be sufficient if it reasonably informs the corporation of the identity of the stockholder and that the stockholder intends thereby to demand the appraisal of such stockholder s shares. A proxy or vote against the merger or consolidation shall not constitute such a demand. A stockholder electing to take such action must do so by a separate written demand as herein provided. Within 10 days after the effective date of such merger or consolidation, the surviving or resulting corporation shall notify each stockholder of each constituent corporation who has complied with this subsection and has not voted in favor of or consented to the merger or consolidation of the date that the merger or consolidation has become effective; or
- (2) If the merger or consolidation was approved pursuant to § 228 or § 253 of this title, then either a constituent corporation before the effective date of the merger or consolidation or the surviving or resulting corporation within 10 days thereafter shall notify each of the holders of any class or series of stock of such constituent corporation who are entitled to appraisal rights of the approval of the merger or consolidation and that appraisal rights are available for any or all shares of such class or series of stock of such constituent corporation, and shall include in such notice a copy of this section. Such notice may, and, if given on or after the effective date of the merger or consolidation, shall, also notify such stockholders of the effective date of the merger or consolidation. Any stockholder entitled to appraisal rights may, within 20 days after the date of mailing of such notice, demand in writing from the surviving or resulting corporation the appraisal of such holder s shares. Such demand will be sufficient if it reasonably informs the corporation of the identity of the stockholder and that the stockholder intends thereby to demand the appraisal of such holder s shares. If such notice did not notify stockholders of the effective date of the merger or consolidation, either (i) each such constituent corporation shall send a second notice before the effective date of the merger or consolidation notifying each of the holders of any class or series of stock of such constituent corporation that are entitled to appraisal rights of the effective date of the merger or consolidation or (ii) the surviving or resulting corporation shall send such a second notice to all such holders on or within 10 days after such effective date; provided, however, that if such second notice is sent more than 20 days following the sending of the first notice, such second notice need only be sent to each stockholder who is entitled to appraisal rights and who has demanded appraisal of such holder s shares in accordance wi

H-2

the corporation that is required to give either notice that such notice has been given shall, in the absence of fraud, be prima facie evidence of the facts stated therein. For purposes of determining the stockholders entitled to receive either notice, each constituent corporation may fix, in advance, a record date that shall be not more than 10 days prior to the date the notice is given, provided, that if the notice is given on or after the effective date of the merger or consolidation, the record date shall be such effective date. If no record date is fixed and the notice is given prior to the effective date, the record date shall be the close of business on the day next preceding the day on which the notice is given.

- (e) Within 120 days after the effective date of the merger or consolidation, the surviving or resulting corporation or any stockholder who has complied with subsections (a) and (d) hereof and who is otherwise entitled to appraisal rights, may file a petition in the Court of Chancery demanding a determination of the value of the stock of all such stockholders. Notwithstanding the foregoing, at any time within 60 days after the effective date of the merger or consolidation, any stockholder shall have the right to withdraw such stockholder s demand for appraisal and to accept the terms offered upon the merger or consolidation. Within 120 days after the effective date of the merger or consolidation, any stockholder who has complied with the requirements of subsections (a) and (d) hereof, upon written request, shall be entitled to receive from the corporation surviving the merger or resulting from the consolidation a statement setting forth the aggregate number of shares not voted in favor of the merger or consolidation and with respect to which demands for appraisal have been received and the aggregate number of holders of such shares. Such written statement shall be mailed to the stockholder within 10 days after such stockholder s written request for such a statement is received by the surviving or resulting corporation or within 10 days after expiration of the period for delivery of demands for appraisal under subsection (d) hereof, whichever is later.
- (f) Upon the filing of any such petition by a stockholder, service of a copy thereof shall be made upon the surviving or resulting corporation, which shall within 20 days after such service file in the office of the Register in Chancery in which the petition was filed a duly verified list containing the names and addresses of all stockholders who have demanded payment for their shares and with whom agreements as to the value of their shares have not been reached by the surviving or resulting corporation. If the petition shall be filed by the surviving or resulting corporation, the petition shall be accompanied by such a duly verified list. The Register in Chancery, if so ordered by the Court, shall give notice of the time and place fixed for the hearing of such petition by registered or certified mail to the surviving or resulting corporation and to the stockholders shown on the list at the addresses therein stated. Such notice shall also be given by 1 or more publications at least 1 week before the day of the hearing, in a newspaper of general circulation published in the City of Wilmington, Delaware or such publication as the Court deems advisable. The forms of the notices by mail and by publication shall be approved by the Court, and the costs thereof shall be borne by the surviving or resulting corporation.
- (g) At the hearing on such petition, the Court shall determine the stockholders who have complied with this section and who have become entitled to appraisal rights. The Court may require the stockholders who have demanded an appraisal for their shares and who hold stock represented by certificates to submit their certificates of stock to the Register in Chancery for notation thereon of the pendency of the appraisal proceedings; and if any stockholder fails to comply with such direction, the Court may dismiss the proceedings as to such stockholder.
- (h) After determining the stockholders entitled to an appraisal, the Court shall appraise the shares, determining their fair value exclusive of any element of value arising from the accomplishment or expectation of the merger or consolidation, together with a fair rate of interest, if any, to be paid upon the amount determined to be the fair value. In determining such fair value, the Court shall take into account all relevant factors. In determining the fair rate of interest, the Court may consider all relevant factors, including the rate of interest which the surviving or resulting corporation would have had to pay to borrow money during the pendency of the proceeding. Upon application by the surviving or resulting corporation or by any stockholder entitled to participate in the appraisal proceeding, the Court may, in its discretion, permit discovery or other pretrial proceedings and may proceed to trial upon the appraisal prior to the final determination of the stockholder entitled to an appraisal. Any stockholder whose name appears on the list filed by the surviving or resulting

H-3

Table of Contents

corporation pursuant to subsection (f) of this section and who has submitted such stockholder s certificates of stock to the Register in Chancery, if such is required, may participate fully in all proceedings until it is finally determined that such stockholder is not entitled to appraisal rights under this section.

- (i) The Court shall direct the payment of the fair value of the shares, together with interest, if any, by the surviving or resulting corporation to the stockholders entitled thereto. Interest may be simple or compound, as the Court may direct. Payment shall be so made to each such stockholder, in the case of holders of uncertificated stock forthwith, and the case of holders of shares represented by certificates upon the surrender to the corporation of the certificates representing such stock. The Court s decree may be enforced as other decrees in the Court of Chancery may be enforced, whether such surviving or resulting corporation be a corporation of this State or of any state.
- (j) The costs of the proceeding may be determined by the Court and taxed upon the parties as the Court deems equitable in the circumstances. Upon application of a stockholder, the Court may order all or a portion of the expenses incurred by any stockholder in connection with the appraisal proceeding, including, without limitation, reasonable attorney s fees and the fees and expenses of experts, to be charged pro rata against the value of all the shares entitled to an appraisal.
- (k) From and after the effective date of the merger or consolidation, no stockholder who has demanded appraisal rights as provided in subsection (d) of this section shall be entitled to vote such stock for any purpose or to receive payment of dividends or other distributions on the stock (except dividends or other distributions payable to stockholders of record at a date which is prior to the effective date of the merger or consolidation); provided, however, that if no petition for an appraisal shall be filed within the time provided in subsection (e) of this section, or if such stockholder shall deliver to the surviving or resulting corporation a written withdrawal of such stockholder s demand for an appraisal and an acceptance of the merger or consolidation, either within 60 days after the effective date of the merger or consolidation as provided in subsection (e) of this section or thereafter with the written approval of the corporation, then the right of such stockholder to an appraisal shall cease.

 Notwithstanding the foregoing, no appraisal proceeding in the Court of Chancery shall be dismissed as to any stockholder without the approval of the Court, and such approval may be conditioned upon such terms as the Court deems just.
- (1) The shares of the surviving or resulting corporation to which the shares of such objecting stockholders would have been converted had they assented to the merger or consolidation shall have the status of authorized and unissued shares of the surviving or resulting corporation.

H-4

PART II

INFORMATION NOT REQUIRED IN PROSPECTUS

Item 20. INDEMNIFICATION OF DIRECTORS AND OFFICERS

The registrant s certificate of incorporation provides that the registrant shall indemnify, to the fullest extent permitted by the provisions of the Delaware General Corporation Law, as now or hereafter in effect, all persons whom it may indemnify under such provisions, including directors and officers. The registrant s bylaws, however, provide that the registrant shall not be obligated to indemnify any such person (1) with respect to any threatened, pending or completed claims, suits or actions, whether civil, criminal, investigative or otherwise (Proceedings) initiated or brought voluntarily by any such person and not by way of defense (other than, subject to certain exceptions, proceedings brought to establish or enforce a right to indemnification under the bylaws), or (2) for any amounts paid in settlement of a Proceeding without the prior written consent of the registrant. The registrant has entered into indemnification agreements with each of its directors and officers. These agreements may require the registrant, among other things, to indemnify such directors or officers against certain liabilities that may arise by reason of their status or service as directors or officers, to advance expenses to them as they are incurred, provided that they undertake to repay the amount advanced if it is ultimately determined that such director or officer is not entitled to indemnification, and to obtain directors—and officers—liability insurance whether or not the registrant would have the power to indemnify such director or officer under the applicable provisions of the registrants charter or bylaws. The registrant has directors—and officers—liability insurance and will obtain amended coverage in connection with the merger and financial restructuring and the public offering.

In addition, the registrant s certificate of incorporation provides that a director of the registrant shall not be personally liable to the registrant or its stockholders for monetary damages for breach of his or her fiduciary duty as a director, except for liability (1) for any breach of the director s duty of loyalty to the registrant or its stockholders, (2) for acts or omissions not in good faith or which involve intentional misconduct or a knowing violation of law, (3) for willful or negligent conduct in paying dividends or repurchasing stock out of other than lawfully available funds, or (4) for any transaction from which the director derives an improper personal benefit.

Reference is made to Section 145 of the Delaware General Corporation Law which provides for indemnification of directors and officers in certain circumstances.

II-1

Item 21. EXHIBITS AND FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES

(a) Exhibits. The following exhibits are filed with this Registration Statement or incorporated by reference herein:

Exhibit Number	Description		
2.1*	Agreement and Plan of Merger and Reorganization dated as of December 17, 2004, by and among Earle M. Jorgensen Company (the Company), Earle M. Jorgensen Holding Company, Inc. (Holding), and EMJ Metals LLC (attached to this document as Annex A and incorporated by reference herein).		
2.2*	Exchange Agreement, dated as of December 17, 2004, by and among the Company, Holding, Kelso Investment Associates, L.P. (KIA II), Kelso Equity Partners II, L.P. (KEP II), KIA III-Earle M. Jorgensen, L.P. (KIA III-EMJ), and Kelso Investment Associates IV, L.P. (KIA) (attached to this document as Annex B and incorporated by reference herein).		
3.1*	Form of Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation of the Company (attached to this document as Annex C and incorporated by reference herein).		
3.2*	Form of Amended and Restated Bylaws of the Company (attached to this document as Annex D and incorporated by reference herein).		
4.1**	Specimen stock certificate representing the Company s common stock.		
4.2	Form of Restructuring Agreement among Holding, the Company and KIA IV. Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.25 to Amendment No. 3 filed on March 3, 1993 (Amendment No. 3) to the Company s 1993 Registration Statement on Form S-1 as filed on January 15, 1993 (Registration No. 33-57134) (the Company s 1993 Registration Statement).		
4.3	Amendment to Restructuring Agreement, dated as of March 3, 1993, and amended as of March 24, 1998, by and between Holding and KIA IV. Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.8 to the Company s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended March 31, 1998.		
4.4	Second Amendment to the Restructuring Agreement, dated as of March 3, 1993, and amended as of May 22, 2002, by and between Holding and KIA IV. Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.3 to the Company s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended March 31, 2003 (the Company s 2003 Form 10-K).		
4.5	Second Amendment to the Restructuring Agreement, dated as of March 3, 1993, and amended as of May 22, 2002, by and between Holding and KIA IV. Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.4 to the Company s 2003 Form 10-K.		
4.6	Third Amendment to the Restructuring Agreement, dated as of March 3, 1993, and amended as of June 28, 2002, by and between Holding and KIA IV. Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.5 to the Company s 2003 Form 10-K.		
4.7	Fourth Amendment to the Restructuring Agreement, dated as of March 3, 1993, and amended as of September 30, 2002, by and between Holding and KIA IV. Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.6 to the Company s 2003 Form 10-K.		
4.8	Fifth Amendment to the Restructuring Agreement, dated as of March 3, 1993, and amended as of December 31, 2002, by and between Holding and KIA IV. Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.7 to the Company s 2003 Form 10-K.		
4.9	Second Amended and Restated Credit Agreement, dated as of March 3, 1993, amended and restated as of March 24, 1998, and further amended and restated as of April 12, 2002 (the Credit Agreement), by and among the Company, Holding, Various Financial Institutions, BT Commercial Corporation, as agents, and Deutsche Bank Alex. Brown Incorporated, as Lead Arranger and Sole Book Runner. Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.16 to the Company s Registration Statement on Form S-4 as filed on July 3, 2002 (Registration No. 333-91866) (the Company s 2002 Registration Statement).		
4.10	Form of Indenture with respect to the Company s 3/4% Senior Secured Notes due 2012. Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.17 to the Company s 2002 Registration Statement.		
4.11			

), and

Form of certificate for EMJ s 9/4% Senior Secured Notes, Series A, \$248,435,000. Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.18(a) to the Company s 2002 Registration Statement.

- 4.12 Form of certificate for EMJ s 9/4% Senior Secured Notes, Series A, \$1,565,000. Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.18(b) to the Company s 2002 Registration Statement.
- 4.13 Purchase Agreement, dated as of May 17, 2002, by and among the Company, Credit Suisse First Boston Corporation, Deutsche Bank Securities, Inc. and J.P. Morgan Securities, Inc., for an aggregate of \$250,000,000 in principal amount of EMJ s 9/4% Senior Notes due 2012. Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.19 of the Company s 2002 Registration Statement.

II-2

Exhibit Number	Description			
4.14	First Amendment to the Credit Agreement and Consent, dated as of May 22, 2002, by and among the Company Holding, the banks and other financial institutions signatory thereto and Deutsche Bank Trust Company Americas, as agent. Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.21 of the Company s 2002 Registration Statement.			
4.15	Security Agreement, dated as of May 22, 2002, by and among the Company and other Grantors signatory thereto and The Bank of New York, as trustee. Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.22 to the Company s 2002 Registration Statement.			
4.16	Intercreditor Amendment, dated as of May 22, 2002, by and among The Bank of New York, as Trustee under the Indenture with respect to EMJ s 9/4% Senior Notes, and Deutsche Bank Trust Company Americas, as agent under the Credit Agreement. Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.23 to the Company s 2002 Registration Statement.			
4.17*	Form of Amended and Restated Second Amendment to Second Amended and Restated Credit Agreement and Consents, dated as of December 14, 2004, by and among the Company, Holding, the banks and other financial institutions signatory thereto and Deutsche Bank Trust Company Americas, as agent.			
5*	Opinion of Katten Muchin Zavis Rosenman as to the legality of the securities being registered (including consent).			
8*	Opinion of Katten Muchin Zavis Rosenman concerning tax matters (including consent).			
10.1	Stockholders Agreement, amended and restated as of September 14, 1990, by and among Holding, KIA III-EMJ, KIA IV, KP II and the Management Stockholders and Other Investors named therein. Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 to Holding s Post-Effective Amendment No. 1 to Holding s Registration Statement as filed on October 12, 1990 (Registration No. 33-35022).			
10.2	Amendment to the Stockholders Agreement, dated as of January 20, 1992. Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to Amendment No. 3.			
10.3	Second Amendment to the Stockholders Agreement, dated as of September 30, 1994. Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.41 to Amendment No. 1 filed June 2, 1995 to Holding s Registration Statement on Form S-1 as filed on October 19, 1994 (Registration No. 33-85364).			
10.4	Third Amendment to the Stockholders Agreement, dated as of July 23, 1998. Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.4 to the Company s 2003 Form 10-K.			
10.5	Services Agreement, dated as of March 19, 1990, by and between EMJ Acquisition, Inc. and Kelso. Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to Holding s Registration Statement on Form S-1 as filed May 30, 1990 (Registration No. 33-35022).			
10.6	Holding s ESOP Trust Agreement. Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.32 to Holding s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended March 31, 1991.			
10.7	Lease and Agreement, dated as of August 1, 1991, by and between Advantage Corporate Income Fund L.P. and the Company, relating to the sale and lease-back of Kilsby s Kansas City, Missouri property. Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.30 to Amendment No. 3.			
10.8	Industrial Building Lease, dated as of October 16, 1991, by and between Ira Houston Jones and Helen Mansfield Jones, Roderick M. Jones and Cherilyn Jones, Roger G. Jones and Norma Jean Jones, Robert M. Jones and Olga F. Jones and the Company, relating to the sale and lease-back of the Alameda Street property in Lynwood, California. Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.32 to Amendment No. 3.			
10.9	Stock Purchase Agreement, dated as of June 30, 1992, by and among Forge Acquisition Corporation, The Jorgensen Forge Corporation and the Company, relating to the sale of the Company s Forge division. Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.35 to Amendment No. 3.			
10.10	Form of Management Agreement between the Company and Holding. Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.46 to Amendment No. 2 filed on February 24, 1993 to the Company s 1993 Registration Statement.			
10.11	Form of Tax Allocation Agreement between the Company and Holding. Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.47 to Amendment No. 3.			
10.12	Holding s $401(a)(17)$ Supplemental Contribution Plan, effective April 1, 1994. Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.54 to the Company s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended March 31, 1995 (the Company s 1995 Form 10-K).			

Holding s Deferred Compensation Plan, effective April 1, 1994. Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.55 to the Company s 1995 Form 10-K.

II-3

Exhibit Number	Description		
10.14	Holding Stock Option Plan effective January 30, 1997. Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.57 to the Company s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended March 31, 1997 (the Company s 1997 Form 10-K).		
10.15	Form of Holding Incentive and Non-Qualified Stock Option Agreement. Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.58 to the Company s 1997 Form 10-K.		
10.16	Earle M. Jorgensen Company Management Incentive Compensation Plan. Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.62 to the Company s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the fiscal quarter ended December 31, 1997.		
10.17	Earle M. Jorgensen Company Employee Stock Ownership Plan, as amended and restated effective as of April 1, 2001. Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.57 to the Company s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the fiscal quarter ended December 31, 2002 (the Company s December 31, 2002 Form 10-Q).		
10.18	First Amendment to the Earle M. Jorgensen Company Employee Stock Ownership Plan (as amended and restated effective as of April 1, 2001), effective as of January 15, 2002. Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.58 to the Company s December 31, 2002 Form 10-Q.		
10.19	Second Amendment to the Earle M. Jorgensen Company Employee Stock Ownership Plan (as amended and restated effective as of April 1, 2001), effective as of April 1, 2001. Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.59 to the Company s December 31, 2002 Form 10-Q.		
10.20	Third Amendment to the Earle M. Jorgensen Company Employee Stock Ownership Plan (as amended and restated effective as of April 1, 2001), effective as of January 1, 2002. Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.60 to the Company s December 31, 2002 Form 10-Q.		
10.21	Registration Rights Agreement, dated as of May 17, 2002, by and among the Company, Credit Suisse First Boston Corporation, Deutsche Bank Securities, Inc. and J.P. Morgan Securities, Inc. Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.20 to the Company s 2002 Registration Statement.		
10.22	Fourth Amendment to the Earle M. Jorgensen Company Employee Stock Ownership Plan (as amended and restated effective as of April 1, 2001), effective as of April 1, 2003. Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.21 to the Company s 2003 Form 10-K.		
10.23	Fifth Amendment to the Earle M. Jorgensen Employee Stock Ownership Plan (as amended and restated effective as of April 1, 2001), effective as of April 1, 2004. Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.23 to the Company s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the fiscal quarter ended September 29, 2004.		
10.24	Lease and Agreement, dated as of September 1, 1991, by and between Advantage Corporate Income Fund L.P. and the Company, relating to the sale and lease-back of the Cincinnati, Ohio property. Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.31 to the Company s 1993 Registration Statement.		
10.25	Amendment to Holding s Stock Bonus Plan Trust Agreement, dated as of November 18, 2003. Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Company s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the fiscal quarter ended September 29, 2003.		
10.26	Form of Indemnification Agreement of the Company. Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.3 to Amendment No. 1 filed on April 8, 2004 to the Company s Registration Statement on Form S-4 as filed on January 13, 2004 (Registration No. 33-111882) (the Company s 2004 Registration Statement).		
10.27*	Earle M. Jorgensen Company 2004 Stock Incentive Plan.		
10.28*	Form of Incentive Stock Option Agreement under the Earle M. Jorgensen Company 2004 Stock Incentive Plan.		
10.29*	Form of Non-Qualified Stock Option Agreement under the Earle M. Jorgensen Company 2004 Stock Incentive Plan.		
10.30*	Form of Restricted Stock Agreement under the Earle M. Jorgensen Company 2004 Stock Incentive Plan.		
10.31*	Form of Registration Rights Agreement, dated as of , 2005, by and among the Company, Maurice S. Nelson, Jr., KIA, KEP II, KIA III-EMJ and KIA IV.		
10.32*	Nominating Agreement, dated as of , 2005, by and among the Company, KIA, KPII, KIA III-EMJ and KIA IV.		
10.33*	Amendment to Advisory Agreement, dated as of December 17, 2004, by and between the Company and Kelso & Company, L.P.		

II-4

Exhibit Number	Description
10.34	Termination of Merger Agreement and Exchange Agreement, dated as of July 30, 2004. Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.28 to the Company s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q Commission File No. 1-7537 for the fiscal quarter ended June 30, 2004.
10.35*	Sixth Amendment to the Earle M. Jorgensen Company Employee Stock Ownership Plan (as amended and restated effective as of April 1, 2001), effective as of April 1, 2004.
10.36*	Seventh Amendment to the Earle M. Jorgensen Stock Bonus Plan (as amended and restated effective as of April 1, 2001), effective as of 3005.
10.37*	Supplemental SBP of Earle M. Jorgensen Holding Company, Inc., effective as of March 31, 2006.
10.38*	Amended Consent Order and Release, dated as of December, 2004, by and among the Company, Holding, the Earle M. Jorgensen Employee Stock Ownership Plan, the Benefits Committee of Holding s Board of Directors, and the United States Department of Labor, as filed on December, 2004 with the United States District Court for the Central District of California.
10.39*	Retention Bonus; Transfer Restrictions Letter, dated as of December 17, 2004, by and between the Company and Maurice S. Nelson, Jr.
10.40*	Amendment to the Earle M. Jorgensen Holding Company, Inc. Option Plan, effective as of December 16, 2004.
10.41*	Adjustment to Outstanding Stock Option Letter, dated as of December 17, 2004, by and between the Company and Maurice S. Nelson, Jr.
10.42*	Form of Adjustment to Outstanding Stock Options Letter from the Company to Option Holders of Holding.
10.43*	Form of Transfer Restriction Agreement.
10.44*	Form of Disposition of Stock Options Letter from the Company to Option Holders of Holdings.
12*	Statement of Computation of Ratio of Earnings to Fixed Charges.
21	Subsidiaries of the Company. Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 21 to the Company s 2004 Form 10-K.
23.1*	Consent of Ernst & Young LLP, Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm.
23.2*	Consents of Katten Muchin Zavis Rosenman (included in text of opinion of Katten Muchin Zavis Rosenman concerning the legality of the securities being registered, included at Exhibit 5 and in text of tax opinion of Katten Muchin Zavis Rosenman, included at Exhibit 8).
24.1	Power of Attorney. Incorporated by reference to the Company s 2004 Registration Statement.
99.1*	Form of Holding Proxy Card.
99.2*	Form of Transmittal Letter to Earle M. Jorgensen Holding Company, Inc. Amended and Restated Employee Stock Ownership Plan Participants.
99.3*	Form of Instruction Card from Earle M. Jorgensen Holding Company, Inc. Amended and Restated Employee Stock Ownership Plan Participants to the Trustee of the Earle M. Jorgensen Employee Stock Ownership Plan.
99.4**	Consent of Wachovia Capital Markets, LLC.
99.5**	Consent of Duff & Phelps, LLC.

^{*} Included in this filing.

(b) Financial Statement Schedule

^{**} To be filed by amendment.

Edgar Filing: JORGENSEN EARLE M CO /DE/ - Form S-4/A

Schedule

Number Description of Schedules*

Schedule II Valuation and Qualifying Accounts and Reserves

II-5

^{*} All other schedules are omitted as required information is inapplicable or the information is presented in the financial statements or related notes.

EARLE M. JORGENSEN COMPANY

SCHEDULE II VALUATION AND QUALIFYING ACCOUNTS AND RESERVES

Column A	Column B	Column C	Column D	Column E
Description	Balance at beginning of period	Charges to costs and expenses	Amounts charged off (net of recoveries)	Balance at end of period
Allowance for doubtful accounts				
Year ended March 31, 2002	\$ 427,000	\$ 2,434,000	\$ (2,409,000)	\$ 452,000
Year ended March 31, 2003	452,000	2,649,000	(2,711,000)	390,000
Year ended March 31, 2004	390,000	2,880,000	(2,669,000)	601,000
Reserve for inventory				
Year ended March 31, 2002	\$ 2,231,000	\$ 2,705,000	\$ (2,411,000)	\$ 2,525,000
Year ended March 31, 2003	2,525,000	2,321,000	(1,669,000)	3,177,000
Year ended March 31, 2004	3,177,000	1,123,000	(912,000)	3,388,000

II-6

Item 22. UNDERTAKINGS

- (a) The undersigned registrant hereby undertakes that, for purposes of determining any liability under the Securities Act of 1933, each filing of the registrant s annual report pursuant to Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (and, where applicable, each filing of an employee benefit plan s annual report pursuant to Section 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934) that is incorporated by reference in the registration statement shall be deemed to be a new registration statement relating to the securities offered therein, and the offering of such securities at that time shall be deemed to be the initial bona fide offering thereof.
- (b) The undersigned registrant hereby undertakes to deliver or cause to be delivered with the prospectus, to each person to whom the prospectus is sent or given, the latest annual report to security holders that is incorporated by reference in the prospectus and furnished pursuant to and meeting the requirements of Rule 14a-3 or Rule 14c-3 under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and, where interim financial information required to be presented by Article 3 of Regulation S-X is not set forth in the prospectus, to deliver, or cause to be delivered to each person to whom the prospectus is sent or given, the latest quarterly report that is specifically incorporated by reference in the prospectus to provide such interim financial information.
- (c) (1) The undersigned registrant hereby undertakes as follows: that prior to any public reoffering of the securities registered hereunder through use of a prospectus which is a part of this registration statement, by any person or party who is deemed to be an underwriter within the meaning of Rule 145(c), the issuer undertakes that such reoffering prospectus will contain the information called for by the applicable registration form with respect to reofferings by persons who may be deemed underwriters, in addition to the information called for by the other items for the applicable form.
- (2) The registrant undertakes that every prospectus (i) that is filed pursuant to paragraph (1) immediately preceding, or (ii) that purports to meet the requirements of Section 10(a)(3) of the Act and is used in connection with an offering of securities subject to Rule 415, will be filed as part of an amendment to the registration statement and will not be used until such amendment is effective, and that, for purposes of determining any liability under the Securities Act of 1933, each such post-effective amendment shall be deemed to be a new registration statement relating to the securities offered therein, and the offering of such securities at the time shall be deemed to be the initial bona fide offering thereof.
- (d) Insofar as indemnification for liabilities arising under the Securities Act of 1933 may be permitted to directors, officers and controlling persons of the registrant pursuant to the foregoing provisions, or otherwise, the registrant has been advised that in the opinion of the Securities and Exchange Commission such indemnification is against public policy as expressed in the Act and is, therefore, unenforceable. In the event that a claim for indemnification against such liabilities (other than the payment by the registrant of expenses incurred or paid by a director, officer or controlling person of the registrant in the successful defense of any action, suit or proceeding) is asserted by such director, officer or controlling person in connection with the securities being registered, the registrant will, unless in the opinion of its counsel the matter has been settled by controlling precedent, submit to a court of appropriate jurisdiction the question whether such indemnification by it is against public policy as expressed by the Act and will be governed by the final adjudication of such issue.
- (e) The undersigned registrant hereby undertakes to respond to requests for information that is incorporated by reference into the prospectus pursuant to Item 4, 10(b), 11, or 13 of this Form, within one business day of receipt of such request, and to send the incorporated documents by first class mail or other equally prompt means. This includes information continued in documents filed subsequent to the effective date of the registration statement through the date of responding to the request.

(f) The undersigned registrant hereby undertakes to supply by means of a post-effective amendment all information concerning a transaction, and the company being acquired involved therein, that was not the subject of and included in the registration statement when it became effective.

II-7

SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Act of 1933, the Registrant has duly caused this registration statement to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized, in the city of Lynwood, State of California, on December 21, 2004.

EARLE M. JORGENSEN COMPANY

By: /s/ William S. Johnson William S. Johnson

Chief Financial Officer

and Vice President

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Act of 1933, this Registration Statement has been signed by the following persons on 2004 in the capacities indicated.

Signature	Title		
*	Chairman of the Board and Director		
David M. Roderick			
/s/ Maurice S. Nelson, Jr.	Chief Executive Officer, Chief Operating Officer and President		
Maurice S. Nelson, Jr.	(Principal Executive Officer)		
William S. Johnson	Chief Financial Officer, Vice President and Secretary (Principal Financial Officer and Accounting Officer)		
*	Director		
Frank T. Nickell			
*	Director		
William A. Marquard			
*	Director		
John Rutledge			
*	Director		

Earl L. Mason

* Director

David I. Wahrhaftig

*By: /s/ WILLIAM S. JOHNSON

William S. Johnson

(Attorney-in-fact)

II-8